
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
Acrobat 9 or Adobe Reader 9, or later.

Get Adobe Reader Now!

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 
 


PRRIP GC Meeting Agenda  Page 1 of 2 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 


Governance Committee Meeting Agenda – June 12-13, 2012 
Wyoming Water Development Commission – Cheyenne, WY 


 


START TIME 
(Duration) 


TUESDAY, JUNE 12
th
 (ALL TIMES MOUNTAIN) 


TOPIC, PRESENTER, & PROGRAM PURPOSE 


DOCUMENT # - 
DOCUMENT 


2:00 p.m. 
(:15) 


Welcome and Administrative 
Mike Thabault, GC Chair 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 Introductions/Attendance Roster/Agenda Modifications 


 APPROVE MARCH 2012 GC MINUTES 


01 – GC Agenda 
02 – GC March 2012 


Minutes 


2:15 p.m. 
(:15) 


Program Committee Updates 
Information & Discussion 


 LAC – Mark Czaplewski, CPNRD (Chair) 


 WAC – Cory Steinke, CNPPID (Chair) 


 TAC – Mike Besson, State of WY (Chair) 


 FC – Gary Campbell, BOR (Chair) 


03 – LAC Minutes 
04 – WAC Minutes 
05 – TAC Minutes 
06 – FC Minutes 


2:30 p.m. 
(:10) 


Program Outreach Update 
Bridget Barron, ED Office 
Information & Discussion 


 Program presentations, outreach, and media 


 


2:40 p.m. 
(:20) 


PRRIP Budget Items 
Jerry Kenny, ED/ED Office Staff 
Information & Discussion 


 Discuss FY 2012 budget and contract status 


07 – Budget Status Report 
08 – Budget Spreadsheet 


09 – Budget Action 
Summary Table 


3:00 p.m. 
(:15) 


Water Action Plan Scoring 
Beorn Courtney, ED Office 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 APPROVE RECONVENING WATER ACTION PLAN 
SCORING COMMITTEE 


10 – Groundwater 
Recharge Workgroup 


Memo 


3:15 p.m. 
(:35) 


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review 
Chad Smith, ED Office 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 GC DECISION ON STAGE CHANGE STUDY PEER REVIEW 
AND STAGE CHANGE STUDY REPORT 


11 – Stage Change Study 
Memo 


3:50 p.m. (:10) BREAK 


4:00 p.m. 
(:60) 


2012 State of the Platte 
Chad Smith, ED Office 
Information & Discussion 


 Presentation on initial 2012 Big Question Assessments 


 Discussion with GC about format and content of assessments 
for use in decision-making 


12 – 2012 State of the 
Platte Report – Executive 


Summary 


5:00 p.m. 
(:15) 


PRRIP Permits 
Jerry Kenny, ED 
Information & Discussion 


 Update on USACE and NDEQ permits 


 


5:15 p.m. 
(:30) 


Platte Basin Time-Lapse Project 
Michael Forsberg/Michael Farrell, NET 
Information & Discussion 


 Update on status of time-lapse project 


 http://plattebasintimelapse.com/ 


 


5:45 p.m. ADJOURN & DINNER 



http://plattebasintimelapse.com/





PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 
 


PRRIP GC Meeting Agenda  Page 2 of 2 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 


Governance Committee Meeting Agenda – June 12-13, 2012 
Wyoming Water Development Commission – Cheyenne, WY 


 


START TIME 
(Duration) 


WEDNESDAY, JUNE 13
th
 (ALL TIMES MOUNTAIN) 


TOPIC, PRESENTER, & PROGRAM PURPOSE
 


DOCUMENT # - 
DOCUMENT 


8:00 a.m. 
(:10) 


Welcome and Administrative 
Mike Thabault, GC Chair 
Information & Discussion 


 Introductions/Attendance Roster 


 


8:10 a.m. 
(:50) 


Platte River Caddisfly 
David Galat, Independent Scientific Advisory Committee 
Information & Discussion 


 Presentation on ISAC input on caddisfly project 


13 – ISAC Comments on 
Caddisfly Project 


9:00 a.m. 
(:20) 


Downstream Water Users Charter 
Mark Czaplewski, CPNRD 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 APPROVE PROPOSED REVISIONS TO CHARTER 


14 – DWU Charter 
Revisions 


9:20 a.m. 
(:15) 


J-2 Project Update 
Mike Purcell, State of Wyoming 
Information & Discussion 


 Status update on J-2 agreement 


 


9:35 a.m. 
(:10) 


North Platte Choke Point Update 
Jerry Kenny, ED 
Information & Discussion 


 Status update on choke point 


 


9:45 a.m. 
(:35) 


Land-Related Action items 
Bruce Sackett, EDO 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 APPROVE LAND PLANS FOR TRACTS 2010002, 2010003, 
2010004, 20110001, AND SHOEMAKER ISLAND COMPLEX 


 APPROVE AMENDED PUBLIC ACCESS POLICY 


 APPROVE AMENDED ACCESS AGREEMENT CONTRACT 


 APPROVE LAND DISPOSAL PLAN 


15 – 2010002 Land Plan 
16 – 2010003 Land Plan 
17 – 2010004 Land Plan 


18 – 20110001 Land Plan 
19 – Shoemaker Island 


Complex Plan 
20 – Public Access Policy 


21 – NGPC Contract 
22 – Land Disposal Plan 


10:20 a.m. (:10) PUBLIC COMMENT & BREAK 


10:30 a.m. 
(:45) 


GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Program Land Tracts & Issues 
Bruce Sackett, ED Office 
Information & Discussion 


 Tract 1210 – complex land; appraisal and negotiations 


 Tract 1114 – non-complex land; appraisal and negotiations 


 Tract 2009008 – lease extension 


23 – Tract 1210 Memo 
24 – Tract 1114 Memo 


25 – Tract 2009008 Memo 


11:15 a.m. 
(:10) 


Program Land Tracts & Issues 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 MOTIONS FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 


 


 11:25 a.m. 
(:05) 


Future Meetings & Closing Business 
Information & Discussion 


 Next GC meeting – September 11-12, 2012 @ Kearney, NE 


 


11:30 a.m. GC MEETING WRAP-UP & ADJOURN 


 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/15/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Governance Committee before approval.   
PRRIP GC Meeting Minutes  Page 1 of 8 


 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 
Governance Committee Meeting Minutes 2 
Executive Director’s Office – Kearney, NE 3 


March 13-14, 2012 4 
 5 


Tuesday, March 13, 2012 6 
 7 


Meeting Attendees 8 
 9 


Governance Committee (GC) Table   Executive Director’s Office (EDO) Staff 10 
State of Wyoming     Jerry Kenny, Executive Director (ED) 11 
Mike Purcell – Member     Dave Baasch 12 
Mike Besson – Alternate     Bridget Barron     13 
       Justin Brei     14 
State of Colorado     Beorn Courtney 15 
Don Ament – Member     Jason Farnsworth 16 
Suzanne Sellers – Alternate    Julie Liakos 17 


Bruce Sackett 18 
State of Nebraska     Chad Smith 19 
Jesse Bradley – Alternate 20 
       Audience Members 21 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service)  Tom Econopouly – Service 22 
Michael Thabault – Member    Pat Engelbert – HDR  23 


Mike Drain – CNPPID 24 
Bureau of Reclamation (BOR)    Pat Goltl – Nebraska DNR 25 
Gary Campbell – Member    Mary Harner – Platte River Trust 26 


John Kolanz – Colorado Water Users 27 
Environmental Entities    Kevin Urie – Colorado Water Users 28 
John Heaston – Member     Brock Merrill – BOR 29 
Marian Langan – Member    Jeff Runge – Service 30 
Duane Hovorka – Alternate     Matt Rabbe – Service 31 
       Harry LaBonde – State of Wyoming 32 
Upper Platte Water Users     Dale Schlautman – EA Engineering 33 
Dennis Strauch – Member     Greg Glunz – URS  34 
Doug Chamberlain – Member     Andrea Parker – URS  35 
        Ed Toms – URS  36 
Colorado Water Users 37 
Alan Berryman – Member 38 
 39 
Downstream Water Users 40 
Brian Barels – Member 41 
Don Kraus – Member 42 
Kent Miller – Member 43 
Mark Czaplewski – Proxy for Ron Bishop, Member 44 
 45 
 46 
 47 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/15/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Governance Committee before approval.   
PRRIP GC Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 8 


 


 


Welcome & Administrative 48 
Thabault called the meeting to order.  The group proceeded with introductions.  Kenny noted an agenda 49 
modification adding Merrill to talk about indexing at the end of the day. 50 
 51 
Purcell moved to approve the December 2011 GC minutes; Berryman seconded.  Minutes approved. 52 
 53 
Smith noted that on February 1, 2012 all GC parties voted unanimously via e-mail poll to approve the 54 
Program’s sediment augmentation peer review panel and associated scope of work. 55 
 56 
Program Committee Updates 57 
Land Advisory Committee (LAC) 58 
Czaplewski provided an update on the latest LAC activities.  The LAC met on February 1 and accepted 59 
recommendations on Tracts 1202 and 1203; recommended the GC reappraise Tract 0837; and received an 60 
update on the Public Access Program.  The LAC met again on February 24 to discuss a recommendation 61 
related to Tract 092008.  The next LAC meeting is April 24 in Kearney. 62 
 63 
Water Advisory Committee (WAC) 64 
Courtney provided an update on the latest WAC activities.  The WAC met on February 7 in Ogallala and 65 
Cory Steinke was re-elected WAC chair.  The EDO gave an update on the J-2 reservoir project and 66 
related scoring.  The EDO and Bill Hahn gave a presentation on the groundwater recharge project.  There 67 
was discussion about a possible Tri-Basin NRD groundwater management project, and there was an 68 
update on the choke points in North Platte and Kearney.  After the WAC meeting, there was a workgroup 69 
meeting on water leasing.  The next WAC meeting is May 8 in Ogallala. 70 
 71 
Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) 72 
Besson provided an update on the latest TAC activities.  The TAC met on January 12.  Much of the 73 
discussion focused on habitat availability assessments for the target species and extending tern and plover 74 
work to whooping cranes.  The Wet Meadows Working Group met on February 15 to discuss wet 75 
meadow habitat criteria for whooping crane use.  The next TAC meeting is on April 18 in Kearney. 76 
 77 
Finance Committee (FC) 78 
Purcell provided an update on the latest FC activities.  The FC met on January 30 and approved the fire 79 
services RFP and a contract amendment for the Program database.  The FC met on March 2 and approved 80 
the sediment augmentation bid package (subject to acquisition of proper permits); approved the fire 81 
services contract; approved the water quality monitoring contract, subject to GC approval of a budget 82 
revision; approved the Elm Creek FSM contract amendment; and approved a motion to move the sole-83 
source agreement on to the GC for further discussion. 84 
 85 
Program Outreach Update 86 
PRESENTATIONS 87 
 On February 27, 2012 Steve Smith presented to the “Silver Jackets”, a group of Nebraska flood 88 


managers on the Program and specifically about the Program objectives related to potential flooding 89 
in North Platte, Nebraska.  90 


 91 
EXHIBITS/SPONSORSHIPS  92 
 The Program sponsored the Four States Irrigation Council in Fort Collins, Colorado on January 11 – 93 


13, 2012 at the Friend level.  94 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/15/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Governance Committee before approval.   
PRRIP GC Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 8 


 


 


 The Program exhibited at the Nebraska Weed Management Association annual conference in 95 
Kearney, Nebraska on January 17 & 18, 2012. We made 177 contacts over the course of the two days.  96 


 The Program exhibited at the Colorado Water Congress Annual Convention in Denver, Colorado 97 
January 25 - 27, 2012. We made 162 contacts over the course of the three days.  98 


 The Program exhibited at the Rainwater Basin Joint Venture 17
th
 Annual Informational Seminar on 99 


February 8, 2012 in Hastings, Nebraska. We made 120 contacts during that event.  100 
 101 
UPCOMING EXHIBITS/PRESENTATIONS 102 
 The Program was invited by the Colorado Division of Parks and Wildlife to share exhibit space with 103 


them at the Irrigationist’s Symposium on March 14 & 15, 2012 in Loveland, Colorado. The 104 
Symposium is sponsored by the Colorado Division of Water Resources.  105 


 The Program will be exhibiting at the Rivers and Wildlife Conference in Kearney, Nebraska on 106 
March 16 & 17, 2012.  107 


 The Program will have PRRIP informational materials at both Rowe Sanctuary and the Nebraska 108 
Nature and Visitor’s Center throughout migration season.  109 


 Jerry Kenny will be presenting on the Program at the Crane Trust Nature & Visitor Center in Alda, 110 
NE on March 25, 2012 as part of the “Wild about Nebraska” speaker series at the Center.  111 


 Beorn Courtney will be presenting on the Program to the Water Resources and Management in the 112 
US West class at the University of Colorado in Boulder, Colorado on March 19, 2012.   113 


 Mike Thabault, Gary Campbell, Don Kraus, Jerry Kenny, Chad Smith, and David Freeman will be 114 
presenting on the Program to the National Research Council Committee on Sustainability Linkages in 115 
the Federal Government in Omaha, Nebraska on April 12, 2012. The committee is charged with 116 
identifying the linkages among areas such as energy, water, health, agricultural production, and 117 
biodiversity that are critical to promoting and encouraging long term sustainability within the federal 118 
policy framework. The April meeting is focusing on the land, water, and energy linkages in nonurban 119 
areas using the Mojave Desert and the PRRIP as case study sites.  120 


 121 
MEDIA/PRESS COVERAGE  122 
 The Program was a Silver Sponsor of Prairie Fire’s “Nebraska Skies 2012” series. The January, 123 


February, and March issues of Prairie Fire highlighted birding migration and wildlife viewing in 124 
Central Nebraska. Sponsorship included an ad in the February, March, and April editions of Prairie 125 
Fire, listing on the Prairie Fire and Crane Trust Nature & Visitor Center websites, and signage in the 126 
blinds at the Center. The February issue has a pull-out section, “Field Guide to Nebraska Birding”. 127 


 The proposed J-2 reservoir and sediment augmentation were the focus of an article in the Omaha 128 
World Herald on March 1, 2012. Jerry Kenny, Cory Steinke, and Jeff Buettner were interviewed and 129 
quoted in the article.  130 


 131 
PRRIP Budget Items 132 
Kenny discussed the status of the FY 2012 Program budget, expenditures, and action items from the year.  133 
Campbell discussed a $1 million grant in BOR funds that has been allocated to the Program in 2012.  134 
Kenny reminded the GC that at the December 2011 GC meeting all 2012 expenditures will come from 135 
federal dollars.  Purcell asked about the President’s budget.  Campbell said that budget is about $8 million 136 
for 2013.  Purcell said it seems likely that a budget will not be approved until after the election so we may 137 
be operating under a Continuing Resolution.  The Reid bill that established the Super Committee will 138 
sequester $1 trillion starting in 2013 if an agreement cannot be reached, and $500 billion of that will come 139 
from discretionary spending.  Colorado and Wyoming do not plan to write letters to Congress or make a 140 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/15/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Governance Committee before approval.   
PRRIP GC Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 8 


 


 


trip to Washington, DC.  There may be a need to do some additional research into alternative funding.  141 
Kenny said he would do that additional research and communicate his findings to the GC. 142 
 143 
Water Quality Monitoring 144 
Smith discussed the water quality monitoring contract and the requested Program budget shift.  145 
Chamberlain asked what kind of events this money will be spent on.  Smith said for Program action-based 146 
water quality monitoring, such as monitoring before, during, and after sediment augmentation.  147 
Chamberlain asked if the money is shifted, does it stay in the new line item even if that money is not 148 
spent.  Purcell said yes, but you could request moving the money back to the original line item if 149 
necessary. 150 
 151 
Miller moved to approve the budget revision associated with the water quality monitoring contract; 152 
Campbell seconded.  Budget revision approved. 153 
 154 
Habitat Availability Assessment 155 
Smith discussed the habitat availability assessment work and the requested sole-source agreement.  156 
Czaplewski asked about hardware needs for this project and if the Program would get this hardware back 157 
at the end of the agreement.  Brei said this is more like use, wear, and tear.  Kraus asked if this is the price 158 
for equipment.  Brei said no, this is more like a use fee.  Purcell said make sure in negotiations that the 159 
Program is not paying for this twice. 160 
 161 
Miller moved to approve the sole-source agreement; Purcell seconded.  Sole-source agreement 162 
approved. 163 
 164 
ISAC Membership 165 
Smith discussed the proposal for rotating membership on the Independent Scientific Advisory Committee 166 
(ISAC).  Miller asked if it is clear that current members cannot be re-appointed.  Ament said there may be 167 
cases where you want to bring someone back.  Purcell said the TAC and GC should have the option to 168 
recommend reappointments if necessary.  Thabault said one good piece of the proposal is that ISAC 169 
members are identified by areas of expertise so that new areas of expertise can be brought on when 170 
necessary.  Hovorka said the rotation seems fine, but will people be rotating off too quickly based on the 171 
learning curve?  Besson said the way this is set up, at least a few members will have good experience to 172 
help the new appointees.  Purcell said it is good business to consider this each year and implement the 173 
rotation plan but be able to keep members that are very beneficial. 174 
 175 
Heaston moved to approve the ISAC rotating membership plan; Ament seconded.  Rotating membership 176 
plan approved. 177 
 178 
Barels asked for an e-mail to the GC any time an ISAC meeting is scheduled so that GC members can 179 
attend if they are interested and available.  Smith agreed.  Czaplewski reiterated the importance of 180 
delivering technical information to the GC.  Thabault said:  1) maybe there should be a block of time at an 181 
upcoming GC meeting for face time with the ISAC, and 2) maybe there should be an exit interview for 182 
members rotating off the ISAC to pick their brains one last time.  Smith agreed.   183 
 184 
 185 
 186 
 187 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/15/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Governance Committee before approval.   
PRRIP GC Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 8 


 


 


Winter Whooping Crane Monitoring 188 
Baasch gave a presentation on winter whooping crane monitoring efforts.  Miller asked how many WC 189 
are on the river now.  Baasch said one as of today.  Berryman asked about the maximum number 190 
observed.  Baasch said 12 in one day, but one could have been a leucistic Sandhill crane. 191 
 192 
2012 AOP Update 193 
Runge provided an update on the EA releases made in 2012 and plans for the remainder of the year.  The 194 
February 15-March 15 pulse flow release just concluded.  There was a lot of effort put into coordination 195 
to abide by the Good Neighbor Policy – canal operators, flood managers, city officials, county officials, 196 
etc.  Flows started late to avoid icing problems, and the release ended early on March 6 because of 197 
concerns about flood stage.  Total flow release was less than 20,000 acre-feet.  The Service will develop a 198 
report on the release and all work and coordination during the water year.  Miller asked if there are more 199 
planned releases.  Runge said there will be a 2,400 cfs WC release in the spring, a 2,400 cfs or less WC 200 
release in the fall, and a 1,200 cfs release in the summer.  Berryman asked how much water is now left in 201 
the EA.  Runge said it is difficult to tell, but probably around 120,000 acre-feet.  Bradley asked when the 202 
spring flow decision will be made.  Runge said the Service does not have a schedule yet for making that 203 
decision.  Besson asked about the duration of summertime releases.  Runge said it will depend on how 204 
much of what is released actually gets to the central Platte based on capacities. 205 
 206 
Thabault said two things have come up in his mind relative to this:  1) EA operators left a lot of water on 207 
the table last year that was lost, and 2) the North Platte choke point is limiting the ability to utilize EA 208 
water so he wants to elevate making progress at the choke point.  Purcell asked about the status of the 209 
choke point.  Kenny said capacity at flood stage was about 2,300 cfs last year, but now flows have 210 
receded after the high flows and because of areas filling in we are back to 1,600-1,700 cfs.  Additional 211 
vegetation and root ball removal is now occurring.  The alternative that is being considered is mechanical 212 
dredging or similar activities that will have to be repeated periodically because Phragmites and other 213 
invasives lead to channel areas filling in quickly. 214 
 215 
2011 Tiered Platte River Biological Opinions 216 
Rabbe talked about 2011 tiered biological opinions.  Sellers asked about the last column (“Not Covered 217 
by MOA”).  Rabbe said he thinks the first MOA was in 2009, but those first three projects on the list were 218 
not covered by the MOA.  Econopouly agreed and said he would get back to Suzanne with an answer. 219 
 220 
Other Business 221 
Merrill discussed indexing of Program funds for 2011.  Merrill said last year, the BOR construction cost 222 
trends showed land values declining in Nebraska, but Sackett reports land values are going up.  Purcell 223 
said the GC has not accepted that is the way to do business.  Merrill said it would probably require 224 
development of a new process that would have to be taken back for evaluation and approval.  Purcell 225 
asked if this process was suggested from on high.  Merrill said it was suggested to keep this as close as 226 
possible to Reclamation’s process.  Purcell asked if this causes any adjustment to the budget or if we are 227 
going to move ahead with the budget as approved.  Kenny said he did not anticipate making any 228 
adjustments this year.  Sellers said Colorado is considering making payments for the J-2 project in a 229 
manner that might be out of the negotiated percentage allocation – in effect, pre-paying Colorado’s share 230 
of the project.  The effect would be those funds would no longer accrue interest.  So, Colorado is 231 
considering bringing to the GC in June a proposal on how to mitigate that problem for Colorado.  This 232 
might mean adjusting Colorado’s index, or estimating the amount of interest we may have received.  233 
Thabault asked if it would be brought to the GC cold or if it will be shared ahead of time.  Sellers said 234 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/15/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Governance Committee before approval.   
PRRIP GC Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 8 


 


 


they would not bring it cold to the GC meeting.  Purcell asked if the money is spent, would Colorado 235 
have to take any inflation indicators in the future.  Merrill said it only applies to the unspent amount.  236 
Thabault said it might be good to have an ad hoc group work through this.  Purcell said the Finance 237 
Committee is the place to discuss this. 238 
 239 
PRRIP Permits 240 
Kenny and Farnsworth talked about permitting issues related to construction of in-channel tern and plover 241 
nesting islands and sediment augmentation.  Besson asked if there is a water quality variance required on 242 
pushing sand.  Kenny said no, just for the sand pumping.  Barels noted that the Corps could not get a 243 
permit from their own agency to build islands on the Missouri River, so they just did it to comply with the 244 
ESA.  Thabault said he is thinking maybe a quick letter to the Corps that could be signed by all GC 245 
members in attendance before leaving tomorrow could be a useful tool.  Kenny said the EDO will draft a 246 
letter for review and signature tomorrow during the GC meeting. 247 
 248 
Meeting adjourned at 5:00 p.m. Central time. 249 
 250 


Wednesday, March 14, 2012 251 
 252 
Welcome and Introduction 253 
Thabault called the meeting to order and the group proceeded with a roll call.  Kenny noted additions to 254 
the agenda:  1) discuss Tract 1115; and 2) discuss Tract 1117. 255 
 256 
Platte River Recreation Access Program 257 
Matt Steffl and Ryan Chramosta from the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission gave a presentation on 258 
the first year of implementation of the Recreation Access Program.  Kraus asked about multiple people 259 
hunting the same site and how that gets worked out.  Steffl said the policy calls for an opportunity to 260 
resolve the issue among themselves or else access will be restricted.  Farnsworth said for rifle season, all 261 
successful lottery applicants were given contact information for other hunters.  Chamberlain asked about 262 
landowner liability.  Steffl said a full page waiver of liability was added to the agreement to make sure all 263 
parties were covered.  Hovorka asked about when the deer season lottery would be held.  Steffl said they 264 
hope to have the lottery in October so there is some more time for scouting.  Heaston asked if we could 265 
require all rifle hunters to report their harvest to keep track of numbers.  Steffl said a better route would 266 
be to follow up with hunters with a phone call or other direct communication.  Hovorka thanked the 267 
NGPC for their oversight and implementation of the access program and said he was glad to see the 268 
Program allow recreation access on Program lands.  Czaplewski said the LAC has a subcommittee 269 
evaluating the access plan and related issues to help suggest next steps.  Langan said if this expands it 270 
may become onerous to be calling all hunters to get information.  Steffl said if we are only talking about 271 
rifle deer season it will be a manageable number.  Langan said we could ask hunters to report and then 272 
follow up with a call if they don’t report.  Steffl agreed. 273 
 274 
Public Comment 275 
Thabault asked for public comment; none offered. 276 
 277 
Executive Session 278 
Purcell moved to enter Executive Session to discuss land issues; Langan seconded.  GC entered 279 
Executive Session at 8:56 a.m. Central time. 280 
 281 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/15/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Governance Committee before approval.   
PRRIP GC Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 8 


 


 


Heaston moved to end Executive Session; Strauch seconded.  GC ended Executive Session at 10:47 a.m. 282 
Central time. 283 
 284 
Program Land Tracts & Issues 285 
Purcell moved and Berryman seconded: 286 
 To authorize continued appraisal and negotiation of Tract 0837 as complex habitat. 287 
 To approve allowing the ED Office to seek appraisal of and begin negotiations for acquisition of 288 


Tracts 1202 & 1203 as non-complex habitat, and to allow acquisition of adjacent properties for 289 
access consideration if available. 290 


 To approve acquisition of Tracts 1101 and 1102 as complex habitat. 291 
 To authorize the ED Office to pursue abandonment of Road I at Tract 2010001. 292 
 To authorize the ED Office to seek appraisal for sale of surplus land at Tract 2009008 and to seek 293 


input from the WAC on disposition of irrigated acres at this Tract. 294 
 To authorize the ED Office to enter into an easement on Tract 1115 in exchange for settling a 295 


boundary line including exchanging quit claim deeds to define the boundary.  296 
 To authorize the ED Office to negotiate terms for the sale of Tract 1117 at 2011001East with a no-297 


build deed reservation.  298 
Motion approved. 299 
 300 
Future Meetings & Closing Business 301 
Upcoming GC meetings: 302 
 June 12-13, 2012 @ Cheyenne, WY @ Wyoming Water Development Commission 303 
 September 11-12, 2012 @ Kearney, NE 304 
 December 4-5, 2012 @ Denver, CO 305 
 306 
Strauch moved to adjourn; Heaston seconded.  Meeting adjourned at 11:00 a.m. Central time. 307 
 308 
Summary of Action Items/Decisions from March 2012 GC meeting 309 
1) Approved December 2011 GC minutes. 310 
2) Approved budget revision of $13,800 for water quality monitoring. 311 
3) Approve sole-source agreement for habitat availability assessments. 312 
4) Approved the rotating membership plan for the Independent Scientific Advisory Committee. 313 
5) The Executive Director’s Office agreed to alert the GC via e-mail about all upcoming ISAC meetings, 314 


to set up time at upcoming GC meetings for ISAC members to be present, and to establish a system of 315 
“exit interviews” for all ISAC members rotating off the panel. 316 


6) Approved a motion to: 317 
 To authorize continued appraisal and negotiation of Tract 0837 as complex habitat. 318 


 To approve allowing the ED Office to seek appraisal of and begin negotiations for acquisition of 319 


Tracts 1202 & 1203 as non-complex habitat, and to allow acquisition of adjacent properties for 320 


access consideration if available. 321 


 To approve acquisition of Tracts 1101 and 1102 as complex habitat. 322 


 To authorize the ED Office to pursue abandonment of Road I at Tract 2010001. 323 


 To authorize the ED Office to seek appraisal for sale of surplus land at Tract 2009008 and to seek 324 


input from the WAC on disposition of irrigated acres at this Tract. 325 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/15/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Governance Committee before approval.   
PRRIP GC Meeting Minutes  Page 8 of 8 


 


 


 To authorize the ED Office to enter into an easement on Tract 1115 in exchange for settling a 326 


boundary line including exchanging quit claim deeds to define the boundary.  327 


 To authorize the ED Office to negotiate terms for the sale of Tract 1117 at 2011001East with a 328 


no-build deed reservation.  329 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/18/2012 
 


 Page 1 of 5 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 
Land Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 


Executive Director’s Office Conference Room – Kearney, NE 
April 24, 2012 


 
Meeting Participants 


Land Advisory Committee (LAC)   
State of Wyoming    


Harry LaBonde – Member, Wyoming State Engineer’s 
Office 


 
State of Colorado     


Suzanne Sellers – Member, Colorado Water 
Conservation Board (via phone) 


Kevin Urie – Alternate, Denver Water (via phone) 
 
State of Nebraska    


Ted LaGrange – Member, Nebraska Game & Parks 
Commission (via phone) 


 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS)   


Matt Rabbe – Member, USFWS  
 
U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (USBOR) 


Brock Merrill – Member, USBOR (via phone) 
 
Power Districts    


John Shadle – Member (Vice-chair), Nebraska Public 
Power District 


 
Environmental Entities    


John Heaston – Member, The Nature Conservancy 
 
Local Nebraska Rep. – Central Platte Natural 
Resources District (CPNRD) 


Mark Czaplewski – Member (Chair), CPNRD Staff 
 
Local Nebraska Rep. – Tri-Basin Natural Resources 
District (TBNRD) 


-- 
 
Local Nebraska Rep. – Joint CPNRD/TBNRD 


-- 
 


Executive Director’s Office (EDO) 
Jerry Kenny, Executive Director 
Jason Farnsworth 
Justin Brei 
Bruce Sackett 


 
Other Participants 
Mark Morten, The Crane Trust 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/18/2012 
 


 Page 2 of 5 
 


Welcome and Administrative 1 
Chairman Czaplewski called the meeting to order at 9:00 am Central Time and the group 2 
proceeded with introductions.  3 
 4 
Czaplewski asked for agenda modifications.  No modifications requested. 5 
 6 
LaBonde made a motion to approve the minutes from the February 1, 2012 and February 7 
24, 2012 LAC meetings. The motion was seconded by Rabbe and passed unanimously. 8 
 9 
GC Update and Other Committee Coordination Information 10 
GC Update 11 
Czaplewski updated the LAC on recent GC activities.  The GC met on March 13 & 14, 2012 in 12 
Kearney, NE.   13 
 14 
The GC approved a rotating membership plan for the Program’s Independent Scientific Advisory 15 
Committee (ISAC), where members will be rotated out after three years of service.  The GC also 16 
approved a sole source agreement with Rainwater Basin Joint Venture to perform a GIS habitat 17 
availability analysis for whooping cranes. 18 
 19 
In land-related issues, the GC received a presentation from NGPC on the first year of the Platte 20 
River Recreation Access program.  Appraisals were authorized for tracts 0837, 1202, and 1203.  21 
Final acquisition was approved for tracts 1101 and 1102.  The GC authorized the ED office to 22 
pursue the closure of “I” road in Phelps County, which dead-ends in the center of tract 2010001.  23 
The approach for disposal of excess land at tracts 2009008 and 2011001 was approved.  The 24 
WAC will be involved in decision making for the irrigated acres present on the surplus of 25 
2009008.  The GC approved an easement for tract 1115 (part of tract 2009003) given in 26 
exchange for a quit-claim deed received by the Program to settle the boundary in the river.  27 
 28 
The next GC meeting will be held on June 12 & 13, 2012 in Cheyenne, WY. 29 
 30 
Other Committee Coordination 31 
Farnsworth updated the LAC on recent TAC activities.  The TAC last met on April 18.  The 32 
primary topic of discussion at that meeting was developing a Program approach to examining 33 
target flows.  The ED office and TAC will work to develop target flow objectives.  The TAC 34 
also approved an RFP for a FSM proof of concept experiment at the Shoemaker Island Complex. 35 
 36 
Kenny updated the LAC on recent WAC activities.  The WAC is still working to find solutions 37 
to increase the capacity through the North Platte chokepoint.  The groundwater recharge 38 
monitoring and data analysis is being finished up and a scoring approach for this project is being 39 
developed.  The WAC is in the final stages of completing the feasibility investigation for the J2 40 
reregulating reservoir.  A subgroup of the WAC is looking at water leasing, particularly the 41 
transfer of surface water irrigation to instream flow on acres that will be groundwater irrigated in 42 
the future.  The WAC meets next on May 7 in Ogallala, and the focus will be on state depletions 43 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/18/2012 
 


 Page 3 of 5 
 


plans.  LaBonde asked for the status of the ownership and management agreement for the J2 44 
reservoir.  Kenny said the hope is to bring an agreement before the GC in June. 45 
 46 
Sackett updated the LAC on discussions from the WAC/LAC subgroup working on the excess of 47 
irrigated land at 2009008.  This group is working on a decision tree to assist the LAC in deciding 48 
when the WAC should be involved in the process. 49 
 50 
Heaston updated the LAC on the activities of the LAC subgroup working on the disposal of 51 
excess Program lands.  This group is partially waiting for the outcome of the discussions of the 52 
WAC/LAC subgroup to deal with the water, but is very close to a recommendation for tract 53 
2009008.  If NGPC as a preferred buyer is unable to complete the purchase of the majority of the 54 
excess, as first intended, the subgroup will reconvene to decide how to approach private sale. 55 
 56 
Present Work in Progress 57 
Farnsworth provided the LAC with a 2011 Program Work Report that summarized expenditures 58 
for 2011 on land activities.  Farnsworth said a large part of the difference between budgeted and 59 
actual expenditures was the continued lack of 404 permits for work at the Elm Creek Complex.  60 
Czaplewski asked that non-complex and complex tracts/expenditures be more clearly identified 61 
in the report, and that there be a separation of the types of income (ie. ag income vs. sand & 62 
gravel income).  Shadle asked which channels on Cottonwood Ranch are subject to the flow 63 
consolidation.  Farnsworth said both north and south channels will be worked on to achieve pre-64 
2010 conditions.  The ED office is still working with the consultant on feasibility.  The 65 
implementation design will be approved by the TAC once completed.  Likely 2012 construction 66 
activities are installation of channel plugs which were breached in 2010.  New flow 67 
consolidation construction is likely to occur in 2013.  Shadle asked if the downstream landowner 68 
is agreeable to the proposed activities.  Sackett said the ED office is still working with that 69 
landowner, and so far there are scenarios available that may work for both parties.  Negotiations 70 
can proceed once implementation design is completed. 71 
 72 
Farnsworth then walked through work completed, in progress, and upcoming.  A new hangup in 73 
spraying activities this year is the need for a DEQ permit for herbicide application.  LaGrange 74 
said national legislation required the EPA to regulate herbicide application on rivers, and the 75 
state became responsible for part of this process.  It is a work in progress, and they are working 76 
to expedite this process for the future.  The other large activity on Program lands was the 77 
execution of a number of prescribed burns.  A contractor from California won the bid for this 78 
project and burned almost 1,500 acres for the Program in three weeks.  Having a professional 79 
burning contractor for this project was instrumental in getting these burns completed.  The 80 
contractor was very professional, and had excellent coordination with local fire chiefs.  Tim 81 
Tunnell developed good burn plans and visited fire chiefs with the contractor.  The contractor 82 
even offered their services to local fire departments if they needed help.  Two fire departments 83 
accepted this offer and the contractor assisted in fighting two rural wildfires.  In addition to 84 
Program lands, time allowed the contractor to burn a property for Ducks Unlimited.  On days 85 
with unfavorable burning weather, the contractor did work on Program lands such as chain 86 
sawing, clearing fences, etc. 87 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/18/2012 
 


 Page 4 of 5 
 


 88 
Land Offering Reviews 89 
Heaston moved to go into executive session with LAC members, alternates, and technical 90 
staff to review details of land offerings.  The motion was seconded by LaBonde. The motion 91 
carried and the committee entered executive session at 10:09 a.m. 92 
 93 
Heaston moved to come out of executive session.  LaBonde seconded and the motion 94 
carried. The committee came out of executive session at 11:26 a.m. 95 
 96 
Shadle moved to table tract 1209, accept the evaluation team recommendation for tract 97 
1210 as complex land and tract 1114 as non-complex land, and to recommend the GC 98 
pursue appraisal and negotiations for 1210 and 1114.  Motion seconded by LaBonde and 99 
passed unanimously.   100 
 101 
Land Plans 102 
Brei talked with the LAC about land management plans distributed before the meeting.  Land 103 
management plans were developed in cooperation with a subgroup of LAC members, and were 104 
presented to the LAC for comment.  Rabbe said that the start date for the migratory bird treaty 105 
act in the land plans should be changed to April 15.  Czaplewski said there is a discrepancy in the 106 
acres mentioned throughout the 2010002 plan – it should be consistently 15 acres.   107 
 108 
Any further LAC comments were requested by April 27.  Final drafts will be distributed to the 109 
LAC and TAC for comment, with final LAC approval scheduled for a conference call on May 110 
18, 2012 from 9-11am central time.   111 
 112 
Extension of Pumping at 2009008 113 
Sackett discussed an agreement for extension of pumping activities with the sand and gravel 114 
contractor operating at 2009008.  The contractor would like a longer commitment so they can 115 
better plan how to continue mining the east pit.  Czaplewski asked if the agreements reference 116 
MSHA responsibility – ie. is the Program bound in any way by this agreement to MSHA, 117 
insurance, or liability.  Sackett and Heaston said that is not the case.  The contractor is asking for 118 
a three-year rolling agreement (rolls to additional year at the end of each year to maintain a 3-119 
year agreement).  Czaplewski says he does not see any major biological advantage to having the 120 
contractor move faster w/ the amount of habitat already available just to the west.  Sackett 121 
recommends approval of the proposed agreement.   122 
 123 
Rabbe moved to recommend GC approval of the 3-year rolling agreement extension for 124 
pumping activities at 2009008.  Seconded by Czaplewski and passed unanimously. 125 
   126 
Public Access Program Review 127 
Heaston discussed activities of the LAC subgroup reviewing the current public access policy.  128 
The 2011 season with NGPC went very well.  To ensure stability, the subgroup recommends 129 
moving from an annual agreement for access program implementation to a 3-year agreement.  130 
Additionally, the subgroup recommends adding waterfowl hunting and upland bird/small game 131 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/18/2012 
 


 Page 5 of 5 
 


hunting as allowed uses on tract 2010001 and, subject a TAC/LAC review of compatible use, on 132 
tract 2012002.  Heaston also discussed the need for a landowner representative on the subgroup.  133 
The public access policy is slated to be reviewed annually, and it was proposed that this be 134 
formalized to occur by the June GC meeting each year.  Czaplewski said that, in entering a 135 
longer agreement, we must make sure the agreement includes the standard clauses pertaining to 136 
Program budget availability, performance, escape, etc.  Sackett discussed a request by the 137 
landowner to the west of 2012002 that no hunting be allowed within 100 yards of the shared 138 
boundary, and that deer hunting be doe-only.  Heaston and  LaGrange said that sets a poor 139 
precedent for the Program access policy, and that it is beyond the scope of the Good Neighbor 140 
Policy to make these kinds of concessions.  LaBonde said we do not want to generate a different 141 
set of hunting regulations for the NGPC to enforce.   142 
 143 
Sackett will assemble a modified public access policy document and memo for approval on the 144 
May 18 conference call. 145 
 146 


Chairman Czaplewski asked for public comments, none were offered. 148 
Public Forum/Next Meeting 147 


 149 
The next meeting of the LAC will be held via conference call on Friday, May 18, 2012 at 150 
9:00 a.m. central time.   151 
 152 
Closing Business 153 
With no further business, the meeting was adjourned by Chairman Czaplewski at 12:17 p.m. 154 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/29/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different 


if corrections are made by the Land Advisory Committee before approval. Page 1 of 3 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 


Land Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 


Conference Call 


9:00 a.m. CDST 


May 18, 2012 


 


Meeting Participants (all via phone) 


Land Advisory Committee (LAC)   


State of Wyoming    
Harry LaBonde – Member, Wyoming State Engineer’s 


Office 


 


State of Colorado     
Suzanne Sellers – Member, Colorado Water 


Conservation Board  


Kevin Urie – Alternate, Denver Water  


 


State of Nebraska    
Jennifer Schellpeper – Alternate, Nebraska DNR 


 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS)   
Kirk Schroeder – Alternate, USFWS  


 


U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (USBOR) 


Brock Merrill – Member, USBOR 


 


Power Districts    
John Shadle – Member (Vice-chair), Nebraska Public 


Power District 


 


Environmental Entities    
 – 


 


Local Nebraska Rep. – Central Platte Natural 


Resources District (CPNRD) 


Mark Czaplewski – Member (Chair), CPNRD Staff^ 


 


Local Nebraska Rep. – Tri-Basin Natural Resources 


District (TBNRD) 


-- 


 


Local Nebraska Rep. – Joint CPNRD/TBNRD 
    -- 


Executive Director’s Office (EDO) 


Tim Tunnell 


Jason Farnsworth 


Bruce Sackett 


 


Other Participants 


     -- 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/29/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different 


if corrections are made by the Land Advisory Committee before approval. Page 2 of 3 


 


Welcome and Administrative 1 


Chairman Czaplewski called the meeting to order at 9:00 am Central Time and the group 2 


proceeded with introductions.  3 


 4 


Czaplewski asked for agenda modifications.  No modifications requested. 5 


 6 


LaBonde made a motion to approve the minutes from the April 24, 2012 LAC meeting. The 7 


motion was seconded by Shadle and passed unanimously. 8 


 9 


Land Plans 10 


Jason Farnsworth discussed the methodology for preparing plans. Final draft of these five plans 11 


went to LAC and TAC for final review. No comments were received from either group about the 12 


final plans. There was a question regarding the naming system used in the management plans and 13 


the system is explained here. 14 


 15 


Four types of documents make up the land planning system. 16 


1. Operations and Maintenance Plan – This plan is developed for every individual Program 17 


tract that is part of a larger “Complex Restoration and Management Plan”.  This O&M 18 


plan typically details operations activities (infrastructure, weed control, etc) and species 19 


habitat activities that are not necessarily associated with complex-level (many tracts) 20 


goals and objectives.  This document is revisited and updated every 5 years. 21 


2. Complex Restoration and Management Plan – This plan typically details larger-scope 22 


adaptive management and species habitat goals, objectives, and activities that occur 23 


across several tracts in a Program “complex”.  Operations and Maintenance Plans for 24 


tracts covered by a Complex Plan are included as appendices to this Complex Plan.  25 


Complex plans also include standard language drawing attention to the various state and 26 


federal laws observed on the properties (ie. Endangered Species Act, Migratory Bird 27 


Treaty Act, SHPO, etc).  This document is revisited and updated every 5 years. 28 


3. Restoration and Maintenance Plan – This plan is created for tracts that are not part of a 29 


larger “Complex Restoration and Management Plan”.  This typically includes non-30 


complex (sandpit or palustrine wetland) tracts, and complex (riverine/wet meadow) tracts 31 


that are currently stand-alone and not included as part of larger land complex for planning 32 


purposes.  This plan covers a single tract and combines the items in 1. and 2. above 33 


(operations activities, species habitat activities, adaptive management goals and 34 


objectives, standard language regarding state and federal laws, etc).  This document is 35 


revisited and updated every 5 years. 36 


4. Annual Work Plan – This document is created for and appended to each “Complex Restoration 37 


and Management Plan” and “Restoration and Management Plan”.  This document is created 38 


annually and details specific activities and associated costs for the upcoming budget year.  This 39 


document is created annually prior to each budget year. 40 


 41 


Shadle made a motion to accept the land plans for 2010002, 2010003, 2010004, 2011001 and 42 


Shoemaker Island Complex and forward to the GC for approval. The motion was seconded 43 


by LaBonde and passed unanimously. 44 


 45 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/29/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different 


if corrections are made by the Land Advisory Committee before approval. Page 3 of 3 


 


Public Access Review 46 


Bruce Sackett presented the workgroup recommended changes to the Public Access Policy 47 


following the annual review of the Public Access Program. The word “game” should be included 48 


into the accepted practices under Appendix B – List of Compatible Uses number 6. Now to read: 49 


“6. upland game hunting”.  50 


 51 


LaBonde made a motion that the Public Access Policy changes be forwarded to the GC 52 


with a recommendation to approve these changes. The motion was seconded by Shadle and 53 


passed unanimously. 54 


 55 


Jim Bendfeldt was appointed as a landowner representative on the Public Access Policy 56 


workgroup to fill the position previously held by Scott Woodman.   57 


 58 


Bruce Sackett presented the Public Access workgroup recommended changes, following the 59 


review of the contract with the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, providing oversight of 60 


the public access on Program lands. Czaplewski suggested adjustments to page 3 “Terms and 61 


Conditions” paragraph “G” removing the portion …“, after the first year of the agreement,”… 62 


The remaining red line changes are acceptable.  63 


 64 


Urie made a motion that the recommended Access Agreement Contract with Nebraska 65 


Game and Parks Commission changes be forwarded to the GC with a recommendation to 66 


approve these changes. The motion was seconded by Merrill and passed unanimously. 67 


 68 


Land Disposal Memo 69 


Bruce Sackett presented the Memo to the GC outlining the disposal plan for excess land on 70 


2009008. Discussion occurred over the WAC response and negotiations with NGPC along with 71 


how those items crafted the final form of the memo. 72 


  73 


Urie made a motion that the Land Disposal Plan Memo for 2009008 be forwarded to the 74 


GC with a recommendation to approve. The motion was seconded by LaBonde and passed 75 


unanimously. 76 


 77 


Closing Business 78 


With no further business, the meeting was adjourned by Chairman Czaplewski at 9:54 a.m. 79 





		2012 April LAC Minutes

		2012 May LAC Draft Minutes






PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 1 of 10 


 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 
Water Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 2 


Lake McConaughy Visitors Center – Ogallala, NE 3 
May 8, 2012 4 


 5 
 6 


Meeting Attendees 7 
 8 


Water Advisory Committee (WAC)   Executive Director’s Office (ED Office) 9 
State of Wyoming     Jerry Kenny, Executive Director (ED) 10 
Matt Hoobler – Alternate    Beorn Courtney 11 
                            Steve Smith 12 
State of Colorado      Matthew Welsh 13 
Suzanne Sellers  - Member     Bruce Sackett (call-in) 14 
    15 
State of Nebraska                          Contractors 16 
Pat Goltl – Alternate      Bill Hahn – Hahn Water Resources 17 
       Greg Glunz – URS 18 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS)  Pat Engelbert – HDR 19 
Tom Econopouly – Member     Erin Gleason – AECOM 20 
Jeff Runge – Alternate     Mike Applegate – Applegate Group 21 
Mike George 22 
Matt Rabbe 23 
        24 
Bureau of Reclamation (BOR) 25 
Mahonri Williams – Member 26 
Brock Merrill – Alternate 27 
 28 
Downstream Water Users 29 
Cory Steinke – Member (WAC Chair)  30 
Duane Woodward – Member 31 
Jeff Shafer – Member 32 
Mike Drain – Alternate 33 
Tyler Thulin  34 
Rich Holloway – (call-in) 35 
 36 
Colorado Water Users 37 
Jon Altenhofen – Member 38 
 39 
Environmental Groups 40 
Bill Taddicken – Member 41 
Duane Hovorka – Alternate (call-in) 42 
Larry Hutchinson 43 
Greg Wingfield  44 
 45 
 46 
 47 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 10 


 


 


Welcome and Administrative:  Cory Steinke, WAC Chair 48 


Introductions were made. There were no agenda modifications. The February 2012 WAC 49 


Minutes were approved with the modifications by Hallum in the current version. 50 


 51 
Choke Point Update:  Steve Smith, ED Office 52 


Smith provided an update on the current capacity at National Weather Service (NWS) flood 53 


stage for the North Platte River at North Platte and the Platte River at Kearney gages. High flows 54 


in 2011 caused temporary increases in capacity at both locations, but the increased capacity at 55 


both locations has since subsided. No modifications are planned for either rating table at this 56 


time.  57 


 58 


Root mass ripping of the phragmites is being planned for this year at North Platte with the 59 


objective of loosening roots to allow future high flows to more effectively remove sediment and 60 


increase hydraulic capacity. Based on a recommendation from Runge, the ED Office will 61 


attempt to coordinate the timing of tillage operations with the USFWS to optimize flow 62 
conditions.  63 


 64 


Smith explained that engineering and institutional approaches are being considered to increase 65 


hydraulic capacity at NWS flood stage closer to 3,000 cfs at North Platte. Engineering 66 


approaches include dredging, bank stabilization, a sediment collector, and jetties and/or dikes. 67 


Smith noted that some of these approaches may be cost prohibitive, and permits for in-channel 68 


work may be difficult to obtain.  69 


 70 


Institutional approaches (flood-proofing and/or property buyouts) may help support the NWS to 71 


increase the flood stage designation, which is currently 6.0 feet. Smith and Kenny met with local 72 


NWS staff in North Platte on May 7, 2012, and NWS expressed a willingness to consider a flood 73 


stage increase if drainage improvements were completed. NWS told Smith and Kenny that their 74 


policy is to set flood stage according to stage when flow leaves the channel (i.e., not based on 75 


high groundwater levels). River flows begin to go over-bank at a stage of about 6.5 feet based on 76 


hydraulic modeling and NWS observations during 2011 high flows. If flood-proofing projects 77 


prompt NWS to raise flood stage to 6.5 feet, then the capacity at North Platte would increase to 78 


about 2,400 cfs. Therefore, some level of engineered projects would still be required to achieve a 79 


capacity of 3,000 cfs. 80 


  81 


Smith discussed engineering options to achieve higher capacity through the choke point: 82 


 Dredging approximately 100,000 cubic yards between Highway 83 and the UPRR bridge 83 


every 2 to 3 years to maintain 3,000 cfs flood stage capacity. Cost would be about 84 


$500,000 each time dredging was completed. 85 


 Jetties, in combination with some dredging, would increase flow velocity and result in 86 


greater longevity for increased capacity. Cost estimates for dredging 150’ pilot channel 87 


from Highway 83 to UPRR and installing jetties would be about $1.3M. 88 


 Sediment collector may accomplish sediment removal without dredging. A demonstration 89 


project on Fountain Creek has been successful in Colorado.  Cost of that project was 90 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 10 


 


 


about $550,000 for installation and $300,000 for a year of O&M including costs for 91 


hauling material off site. 92 


 93 


Drain asked about whether the sediment collector would potentially cause backwater upstream of 94 


the device and decrease capacity in another location. Smith said the device could be located 95 


upstream of flooded areas to prevent those unwanted effects. 96 


  97 


Smith explained flood-proofing projects recently discussed with NWS, City of North Platte, and 98 


Lincoln County. Smith noted that engineering and permitting for the following projects would 99 


cost about $50,000: 100 


 Re-connecting the ‘State Channel’ in the floodplain west and south of impacted 101 


properties along North River Road to divert surface flows to the North Platte River and 102 


away from impacted properties. Cost would be about $20,000 for construction. 103 


 Installing a culvert and/or ground water pump outlet from Dr. Connell’s property along 104 


the north bank of the North Platte River and just east of Highway 83 would minimize 105 


flooding on Connell’s property and help improve drainage of high ground water levels at 106 


impacted properties along North River Road. Cost would be about $26,000 for 107 


construction.  108 


 Installing about 12 driveway culverts along north side of North River Road west of 109 


Highway 83 would allow the existing road ditch to work more effectively at draining 110 


high ground water levels. Water would drain east down Hall School Road about two 111 


miles to Whitehorse Creek, where it would return to the North Platte River. Cost estimate 112 


for these culverts would be approximately $30,000. 113 


 114 


NWS is considering developing an MOU with the Program about what the flood-proofing 115 


actions (State Channel, Connell outlet, and North River Road culverts drainage to Whitehorse 116 


Creek) would provide in terms of increasing minor flood stage to 6.5 feet, where the flow would 117 


be 2,400 cfs. 118 


 119 


Another institutional option is to buy out potentially affected properties.  Based on the Lincoln 120 


County Assessor’s website, Smith estimated total property values of potentially affected 121 


properties at $2.5M ($2.9M with 20% markup).  This would not be a cheap option, and the area 122 


of buyout may need to be larger than estimated. Hoobler noted that these values do not include 123 


structure removal. Runge thought that FEMA support may be available towards property buy 124 


outs.  125 


 126 


Altenhofen is encouraged by the discussion with the NWS, and thinks the expenditure of 127 


$150,000 would be worthwhile to see if the NWS flood stage could be elevated to 6.5 feet. Drain 128 


expressed concerns about the NWS reducing the flood stage at a later date. FEMA funds were 129 


dispersed to landowners in the area after 2011 flooding was declared a disaster by FEMA. 130 


FEMA hazard funding, which requires a 25% local match, may be available for flood-proofing 131 


efforts. 132 


 133 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 10 


 


 


Altenhofen made the motion to support the expenditure of $150,000 for institutional 134 
initiatives. George agreed with Altenhofen. Steinke suggested that the Program demonstrate the 135 


mitigated effects of a flood at a stage of 6.5 feet by making a release. Econopouly asked what the 136 


$150,000 would get the Program. Steinke responded that the expenditure would hopefully 137 


compel the NWS to raise the flood stage to 6.5 feet (2,400 cfs), but noted there are no 138 


guarantees. Wingfield said the expenditure of $150,000 was reasonable, and noted that a 139 


workgroup would be useful for evaluating the need for more intensive engineering initiatives. 140 


George seconded the motion of support made by Altenhofen to expend $150,000 on flood-141 
proofing efforts, unanimous support. Drain requested that Kenny outline the risks to the GC 142 


that there is no guarantee the flood-proofing projects would result in an increase in flood stage. 143 


Kenny suggested that we use TC Engineering and SEH for this work; both firms previously 144 


completed work for the Program and were selected through a competitive process at that time. 145 


 146 


Runge inquired about the status of the Kearney choke point investigation. Kenny said the ED 147 


Office has been unable to get a contractor to perform the vegetation removal, but the work is 148 


budgeted for and planned for 2012. The workgroup will focus on the North Platte choke point, 149 


but will also address the Kearney choke point. 150 


 151 


A choke point workgroup was formed with the following WAC members: Econopouly, 152 


Taddackin, Steinke, Goltl, Shafer, and Kent Miller. 153 


 154 


Hydroclimatic Indices: Jerry Kenny, ED 155 


Kenny discussed the potential use of hydroclimatic indices for providing longer-term predictions 156 


of streamflow conditions in the South Platte, North Platte, and Central Platte basins. There are 157 


approximately one-half dozen hydroclimatic oscillations that are the driving force of our 158 


weather. Indices include the Multivariate El Niño/Southern Oscillation, the Pacific Decadal 159 


Oscillation, and the North Atlantic Oscillation, among others. The periodicity of these indices 160 


allows for their use to generate forecasts. The indices have been used to predict spring runoff 161 


based on observations in the fall with reasonable success in other river basins, although they tend 162 


to be better predictors of extreme conditions. 163 


 164 


Kenny requested input from the WAC regarding the level of interest in evaluating correlations 165 


between available hydroclimatic indices and South Platte, North Platte, and Central Platte 166 


streamflow conditions. The flood protection section of the Colorado Water Conservation Board 167 


(CWCB) is considering pursuing a related investigation, and they have offered to expand the 168 


scope of their project to include areas of interest to the Program for a one-time cost of $25,000. 169 


The end product would be a relatively simple tool that the Program could use in the fall to 170 


predict runoff in the following spring. Separate relationships for the North Platte, South Platte, 171 


and Central Platte would be developed if needed. The predictive tools may be useful for the 172 


USFWS in determining how to manage EA releases.   173 


 174 


The ED Office will post a white paper describing the use of hydroclimatic indices to the 175 
Program website for review by the WAC and will request feedback. The white paper was 176 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 10 


 


 


written by John Henz of Dewberry, who has developed similar predictive relationships for other 177 


western river basins.  178 


 179 


Altenhofen asked whether the NWS uses hydroclimatic indices for weather and streamflow 180 


predictions. Econopouly said the NWS typically limits forecasts to a period of 90 days and bases 181 


them on historical statistics, which is much shorter than what was described by Kenny. 182 


Altenhofen asked how the hydroclimatic indices predictions would complement the Natural 183 


Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) streamflow predictions. Kenny noted that NRCS 184 


forecasts are typically provided in the winter and spring, and suggested that NRCS forecasts 185 


could be used to refine the earlier hydroclimatic predictions. Altenhofen asked how the new tools 186 


would affect the current hydrologic condition assessments. The hydrologic condition 187 


assessments provided by the ED Office pertain to a much shorter time period than what would be 188 


derived from the hydroclimatic indices. Altenhofen suggested that the Program consider using 189 


the Browning Newsletter that provides quarterly predictions of weather and streamflow 190 


forecasts.  191 


 192 


Hutchinson inquired about the total project cost. Kenny indicated the total project cost would be 193 


$50,000, with $25,000 being provided by CWCB and the remaining $25,000 provided by the 194 


Program to expand the original scope and the expenditure would require approval by the Finance 195 


Committee (FC). Altenhofen asked whether the tools would need to be periodically updated. 196 


Kenny stated that updates would not be required, and noted that the ED Office would download 197 


the necessary indices information and provide summaries of forecasted conditions, similar to the 198 


current approach for disseminating hydrologic condition information. Shafer expressed concerns 199 


over hydroclimatic index methods being applied to the High Plains region. Kenny acknowledged 200 


that the indices may be a better predictor for the North Platte and South Platte basins, but noted 201 


longer term predictions for those areas would be beneficial for the Program. Drain expressed 202 


support given the relatively low project cost. Kenny would like to provide the FC a summary of 203 


the WAC’s opinion on this matter for their consideration. Depending on the speed at which 204 


CWCB advances the project, the WAC may need to vote via email in favor or against the 205 


expenditure. Alternatively, voting will be conducted at the next WAC meeting in August.  206 
 207 


WAP Project Updates: Beorn Courtney, ED Office 208 


Courtney provided a brief update on WAP projects that are not being discussed in more detail 209 


later in the meeting.  210 


 211 


Wyoming expects to have 4,800 acre-feet available to the Program in 2012 from the Pathfinder 212 


Municipal Account. Wyoming will re-evaluate and confirm the yield available for lease to the 213 


Program before June 15
th


.  214 


 215 


A Request for Proposal (RFP) has been issued for an independent engineering review of the pre-216 


feasibility study completed by Olsson Associates for the J-2 Regulating Reservoir project. 217 


Proposals are due on June 7
th


. The engineering review will be completed before the end of the 218 


year at the latest. Runge asked whether the construction date will be delayed by the engineering 219 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 10 


 


 


reviewis the project completion date is still in line with earlier estimates. Courtney stated that 220 


construction is still expected to be completed by 2015. The operating agreement is still being 221 


negotiated, and will hopefully be finalized at the GC meeting in June. Runge noted that it will be 222 


helpful to understand the project schedulecharacterize time frames for the J-2 Reregulating 223 


Reservoir and chokepoint improvements at for consideration at the future EA planning meetings 224 


such as the target flow planning workshop on May 21, 2012.  Steinke noted CNPPID’s support 225 


for getting a secondary engineering review of the costs and proposed project design. Olsson has 226 


provided the final pre-feasibility report to the ED Office, which is being provided to firms 227 


interested in proposing on the project. The expected budget for the RFP is $200,000. 228 


 229 


Groundwater Recharge Project Scoring: Beorn Courtney, ED Office and Bill Hahn, ED Office 230 


Special Advisor 231 


The ED Office and Hahn have been evaluating the potential score of groundwater recharge 232 


operations along with Phelps Canal, using information obtained during the feasibility study 233 


demonstration project. The feasibility study showed that groundwater recharge operations will 234 


need to be coordinated based on observed groundwater levels. The ED Office and Hahn will 235 


continue to evaluate groundwater management projects that may be able to mitigate high 236 


groundwater levels and improve the efficiency of recharge operations. Today, the ED Office is 237 


soliciting WAC input on moving forward with a fall 2012 recharge project. 238 


 239 


The numerical model that was developed for the pre-feasibility study was calibrated using field 240 


data from the demonstration project, and the revised model is being used to predict return flows 241 


for preliminary project scoring. Hahn stated that the model has provided reasonable predictions 242 


and attributes the differences between model and observed levels to pumping conditions being 243 


imported from the COHYST model, and the cell size used in the model. The model is better a 244 


predictor of water levels over a larger area than at a particular point such as a monitoring well. 245 


While the timing and volume of return flows could be evaluated using the Alluvial Water 246 


Accounting System (AWAS) model, the numerical model also provides water level information 247 


that will be critical for evaluating operational thresholds to mitigate high groundwater levels. 248 


 249 


The preliminary scoring analysis was based on recharge operations being conducted during the 250 


entire non-irrigation season from October through April. The recharged volumes were based on 251 


the availability of excesses to target flows, as determined using the OpStudy hydrology dataset at 252 


Grand Island. Excesses are available more often in December and January than other non-253 


irrigation months. Hahn evaluated whether recharge operations could be timed to maximize 254 


accretions at times of shortages to excess flows. The analysis shows that water recharged in 255 


January and February is more likely to accrue at times with shortages, but the “efficiency” only 256 


ranges from about 30% to 45% across all non-irrigation months. Drain suggested that water be 257 


recharged whenever it is available since the range of monthly efficiency values is not very large. 258 


Courtney noted that operations may be simplified by starting recharge in October so that an ice 259 


cap could be built up.  260 


 261 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 10 


 


 


Courtney reviewed scoring questions that have been identified by the ED Office. The 262 


preliminary scoring analyses have been based on the methods used for the J-2 Regulating 263 


Reservoir, although at a monthly time-step instead of daily, resulting in a score of 1,840 acre-feet 264 


at Grand Island prior to any discounting. During the scoring of the J-2 Regulating Reservoir, 265 


USFWS indicated that score discounts would be required for water projects that do not benefit 266 


the entire Overton to Duncan reach. If recharge terminates at the Phelps Canal mile 9.7, then the 267 


return flows accrue approximately 1.5 miles downstream of Overton, on average. Using the 268 


Overton to Grand Island reach (downstream extent of the WMC Loss Model) results in about a 269 


2% score reduction, or about 1,800 acre-feet on average. Extending recharge east will result in 270 


further downstream returns but prorating to Duncan would result in a lower percentage score 271 


reduction. It may be possible to limit score reductions by having Tri-Basin NRD use the return 272 


flows that accrue below Overton for their offset requirements as opposed to WAP projects.  273 


 274 


The ED Office completed a preliminary evaluation of the effects associated with diverting excess 275 


flows to groundwater recharge on the score of the J-2 project. Preferentially diverting flows to 276 


groundwater recharge may reduce the J-2 reservoir score by about 2% but an optimized scenario 277 


still needs to be modeled. As more WAP projects are implemented, it will be increasing difficult 278 


to assign scores to individual projects. The ED Office hopes that COHYST 2010 will allow for 279 


the scoring of multiple projects. 280 


 281 


Drain does not believe scoring decisions are a responsibility of the WAC, and suggested that a 282 


sub-committee of the GC be formed to address scoring questions identified by the ED Office. 283 


Altenhofen noted that water leasing has similar scoring questions.  The ED Office will request 284 


that the GC form a scoring sub-committee at their June meeting.  285 
 286 


Steinke said that it would be easier for CNPPID to support recharge projects if groundwater 287 


management projects were also in place to provide mitigation of high groundwater levels if 288 


necessary. Monitoring wells installed for the demonstration project could be used to monitor 289 


water levels. Wingfield asked about objectives for 2012 and Kenny said that sufficient 290 


background information has been obtained through the feasibility study and demonstration 291 


project, and it is time to start reducing shortages to target flows. If recharge operations are 292 


extended from the Phelps Canal 9.7 mile return to the 13.2 mile return, then additional 293 


monitoring wells may be required and Hahn may need to expand the area covered by the 294 


numerical model.  295 


 296 


Steinke noted that it will take time to obtain the necessary permanent permits from NDNR, and 297 


expects that a one-year temporary permit will be required for 2012 recharge operations. 298 


Woodward said that NDNR is working on implementing an expedited permitting process for 299 


recharge projects that will hopefully be completed before fall 2012. Drain said that CNPPID’s 300 


concerns related to recharge could probably be addressed in the operating contract with the 301 


Program. Kenny asked if diversions to recharge would be limited to excesses to target flows, or 302 


would include EA releases. Drain believes the legal issues that encumbered the use of EA 303 


releases for recharge have been addressed, and believes the end use of EA releases will be as 304 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 8 of 10 


 


 


directed by the EA Manager. Leased water from Pathfinder Reservoir could also be used for 305 


recharge since it can be added to the EA.  306 


 307 


Woodward stated that many canal companies are interested in conducting recharge operations 308 


next fall as part of their depletion plan offsets. Altenhofen would like to continue discussions 309 


about the Program leasing surplus accretions from NDNR. Goltl said that NDNR is still 310 


summarizing 2011 recharge operations. Woodward viewed a Draft 2011 recharge summary at a 311 


Platte Basin Habitat Enhancement Project (PBHEP) meeting last week. Woodward will send a 312 


copy of the Draft summary to Kenny, but asked that the summary not be provided to the 313 
entire WAC until finalized by NDNR. Goltl believes approximately 80,000 acre-feet and 314 


120,000 acre-feet were recharged in the spring and fall, respectively, but river accretions values 315 


are still being refined. 316 


 317 


The WAC supports the development of an agreement with CNPPID for 2012 recharge 318 


operations and supports extending recharge to mile 13.2. CNPPID will file a temporary 319 


recharge permit application with NDNR. The ED Office will work with Hahn to determine 320 


if additional monitoring wells would be required and Hahn will evaluate whether the model 321 


area needs to be expanded to the east.  322 


 323 
Surplus Land and Water Leasing: Beorn Courtney and Matt Welsh, ED Office 324 


Courtney explained that the 2012 start date for Nebraska Water Leasing identified in the 2009 325 


WAP Update was postponed until 2016 during the 2012 budget approval to ensure adequate 326 


funding for the J-2 Regulating Reservoir. While the water leasing implementation date has been 327 


postponed, the ED Office has continued to work with the Water Leasing Workgroup to develop 328 


analysis methodologies. The methods that have been developed to date also apply to situations 329 


where the Program must decide whether water associated with historically irrigated surplus lands 330 


should be reserved for WAP projects. The GC is requesting input from the WAC on one surplus 331 


land situation, which will be presented today. 332 


 333 


Members of the Land Advisory Committee (LAC) and WAC have discussed the development of 334 


a “decision tree” that could be used to expedite the evaluation of water associated with surplus 335 


land sales and other land transactions. Courtney explained the decision tree process and 336 


associated WAC hydrological review. A critical step of the decision tree requires input from the 337 


scoring sub-committee that will be requested at the June GC meeting, so no recommendation on 338 


the decision tree process was requested from the WAC at this time.  339 


 340 


Welsh provided an overview of the surplus land project at the Broadfoot-Newark property 341 


southeast of Kearney. The surplus land includes 117 acres that were historically irrigated using 342 


groundwater. The PBHEP offset calculator indicates that if the parcel was retired from irrigation, 343 


then the average annual accretion to the Platte River would be 29.3 acre-feet/year, based on the 344 


50-year depletion percentages from the COHYST model. If Central Platte NRD were interested 345 


in acquiring the water for their Water Bank, then they would base the transaction on the 346 


accretion value from the PBHEP calculator.  347 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 9 of 10 


 


 


 348 


In the process of evaluating water leasing projects that involve future groundwater irrigation, the 349 


Water Leasing Workgroup requested that the ED Office complete continuous long-term analyses 350 


that showed the accretion to the river at an annual time step. The accretion from the surplus land 351 


dry-up would increase over time and yield accrues downstream of Kearney so input on how to 352 


score the project is needed from the scoring sub-committee. The scoring questions will be 353 


addressed with the GC scoring sub-committee. 354 
 355 


The surplus land was appraised in April 2012, and the land value is $2,400 more per acre when 356 


water is included in the sale. Based on the yield of 0.25 acre-feet/acre (29.3 acre-feet/year ÷ 117 357 


acres) and a price difference of $2,400, reserving the water for WAP projects would cost 358 


approximately $9,600/acre-foot, which does not include any price increases for score discounts. 359 


 360 


Drain said the water should be sold with the surplus land, and noted that water could be 361 


purchased at another location at a later time if needed. Drain said that the GC has intentionally 362 


postponed other WAP projects with much lower unit costs. Runge, George, and Hutchinson feel 363 


the GC should consider retaining the water from the surplus since it would not require any 364 


additional expenditures. George noted that the Program hasn’t had the opportunity to buy other 365 


water, and feels that reserving this water would start accretions to the river now while other 366 


projects are pursued. George is not comfortable making a recommendation to sell the water with 367 


the surplus land. Kenny noted that water is available to be purchased elsewhere, so that money 368 


generated by the sale of the water near Minden could be used to purchase water closer to the 369 


upstream end of the associated habitat reach. The Program recently purchased irrigated land 370 


upstream near Elm Creek as part of a habitat acquisition. The WAC recommended the ED 371 


Office provide the economic summary to the GC to assist with their decision. 372 
 373 


Federal Depletions Plan Update: Matt Rabbe, USFWS 374 


Rabbe reviewed the federal depletions plan packet that had been provided to the WAC prior to 375 


the meeting. Hoobler said the first Wyoming project with a federal nexus will likely be initiated 376 


in 2012.  377 


 378 


Nebraska Depletion Plan Update: Pat Goltl, NDNR 379 


Goltl provided a summary of the two documents that were provided to the WAC prior to the 380 


meeting. The forecast of net effects assumes that the J-2 Regulating Reservoir will be online in 381 


2014. NDNR is still developing robust accounting procedures that will be finalized in the next 382 


couple of months. Altenhofen inquired whether the Program would be able to lease any of the 383 


accretions in excess of post-1997 depletions. Woodward noted that Nebraska also needs to 384 


achieve a fully-appropriated status, so there are not as many excesses as suggested in the NDNR 385 


depletion plan reports.  386 


 387 


Wyoming Depletion Plan Update: Matt Hoobler, Wyoming State Engineer’s Office 388 


Hoobler reviewed the 2011 Wyoming Depletions Report that was provided to the WAC prior to 389 


the meeting. Hoobler discussed municipal water sales for oil and gas development. Temporary 390 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/14/2012 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 10 of 10 


 


 


Water Use Agreements, which are essentially dry-up agreements, have been used to ensure no 391 


expansion of water use. Municipalities have also been selling water for oil and gas operations 392 


from fire hydrants. Hoobler discussed laws against transporting water across state lines. The 393 


municipalities of Elk Mountain and Saratoga have switched from surface water supplies to non-394 


hydrologically connected groundwater. The supply conversion now produces an accretion to the 395 


river. 396 


 397 


Colorado Depletion Plan Update: Suzanne Sellers, CWCB & Jon Altenhofen, Northern 398 


Colorado Water 399 


Sellers reviewed the North Platte Annual Accounting that was provided to the WAC prior to the 400 


meeting. The new industrial use water right for 108 acre-feet per year is scheduled to be 401 


dismissed. Altenhofen reviewed the Colorado Plan for Future Depletions for the South Platte 402 


basin that was provided during the meeting. Population growth has average 2% per year; the 403 


original estimate was 1.5% per year. No changes to the calculation assumptions are proposed. 404 


Runge asked whether Colorado would provide a summary of Tamarack I operations. Altenhofen 405 


offered to provide a separate summary of Tamarack I accretions along with the 2012 summary 406 


next year. The trial for the Tamarack water rights case is schedule for July 2012.  407 


 408 


Additional Business:  Cory Steinke, WAC Chair 409 


The draft 2012 meeting schedule was discussed. The next WAC meeting is scheduled for 410 


August 14, 2012, from 9:30 am – 3 pm (Mountain Time) at the Lake McConaughy Visitors 411 
Center.  No changes were requested. 412 


 413 


Action Items 414 
General WAC 415 


 Vote regarding support of expenditure of $25,000 for hydroclimatic indices investigation 416 


via email, if needed. 417 


 CNPPID will file a temporary recharge permit application with NDNR. 418 


 419 


ED Office 420 


 Attempt to coordinate the timing of tillage operations at the North Platte choke point with 421 


the USFWS so that EA releases may be timed to aid the phragmites removal effort. 422 


 Post hydroclimatic indices white paper to the Program website for review by the WAC. 423 


 Request the formation of a scoring sub-committee at the June GC meeting. 424 


 Coordinate with Hahn to determine if additional modeling and monitoring wells would be 425 


required to expand Phelps Canal recharge operations to the return at mile 13.2. 426 


 Provide the surplus land economic summary to the LAC and GC to assist with their 427 


decision of whether to reserve the water for WAP projects. 428 


 429 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 1 of 10 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 
Technical Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 


Executive Director’s Office Conference Room – Kearney, NE 
April 18, 2012 


 
Meeting Participants 


Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) Table 


State of Wyoming    
Mike Besson – Member (Chair) 


 


State of Colorado     
Suzanne Sellers – Member 


 


State of Nebraska    
Mike Fritz – Member 


 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service)   
Matt Rabbe – Member 


Jeff Runge – Alternate 


 


Bureau of Reclamation (BOR)  


Brock Merrill – Member 


 


Environmental Entities    
Rich Walters – Member 


Mary Harner – Alternate  


 


Upper Platte Water Users 


 


Colorado Water Users 


Kevin Urie – Member 


 


Downstream Water Users 
Mark Czaplewski – Member 


Jim Jenniges – Member 


Mark Peyton – Member 


Executive Director’s Office (EDO) 


Jerry Kenny – Executive Director (ED) 


Chad Smith 


Dave Baasch 


Jason Farnsworth 


Dave Zorn 


Steve Smith 


Beorn Courtney (Conference Line) 


 


Other Participants 


Mike George (FWS) 


Jesse Bradley (NGPC) 


Greg Wright (Trust) 


Tyler Thulin (CNPPID) 


Rich Holloway (Tri-Basin NRD) 


Cory Steinke (CNPPID) 


Ryan Urie  


Welcome and Administrative 


Besson called the meeting to order and the group proceeded with a roll call. Besson asked for 


agenda modifications; none offered. 


August, 2011 – April, 2012 TAC Minutes  


Besson asked the group if there were any changes to the August 2011 TAC meeting minutes, 


October 2011 TAC meeting minutes, November 2011 TAC conference call minutes, November 


2011 TAC/ISAC meeting minutes, January, 2012 WC Minimum Habitat Criteria Workshop 


minutes, or February, 2012 Wet Meadow Workshop minutes.  Jenniges stated he believe minutes 


from August 2011 TAC meeting were approved during the October TAC meeting and asked if 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 10 


those minutes had changed.  Baasch stated no changes were made to the August TAC minutes.  


Sellers moved to approve minutes from previous TAC meetings, conference calls, and 


workshops; Czaplewski seconded the motion; all approved.  October 2011 TAC meeting 


minutes, November 2011 TAC conference call minutes, November 2011 TAC/ISAC 


meeting minutes, January 2012 WC Minimum Habitat Criteria Workshop minutes, and 


February 2012 Wet Meadow Workshop minutes Approved (August 2011 TAC meeting 


minutes were approved by the TAC in October 2011 as Jenniges stated). 


 


2011 IMRP Reports Update  


Baasch informed the group that the 2011 LTPP Report was about 2/3 completed and that he 


plans to have a draft out for TAC review soon.  Baasch stated he received the WC Database, 


User Manual, and updated Report from EALP and would post those for TAC Review as well.  


Harner asked if Karine Gil-Weir planned to incorporate TAC suggestions/revisions; Baasch 


stated Karine would incorporate any suggestion the TAC may have as the contract has not been 


paid in full.  


C. Smith stated the Fall WC Monitoring Report was previously reviewed by the TAC and that 


future versions would include summary figures, graphs, and tables that incorporate data collected 


since 2007 and possibly 2001.  Rabbe suggested adding information in the report indicating it 


appears that one of the fall WC locations was on a sandbar that was previously created/manage 


as a tern and plover island by Partners for Fish and Wildlife (FWS) program which was 


subsequently eroded into a submerged bar.  Baasch asked if this information should be included 


in other areas such as Rowe Sanctuary as well.  Rabbe said we should look at recent aerial 


imagery and if we can still discern the bar then we should include the information in the report.  


Jenniges asked if the Partners had documentation that identified where the islands were located; 


Rabbe stated he mapped the islands during 2009 and has the information.  Baasch stated 


management actions taken to create the tern and plover islands are included in LTPP Reports.  


Jenniges suggested we evaluate whooping crane use relative to management actions.  Harner 


asked if non-Program management actions are archived anywhere.  Walters said he had digitized 


layers for all known private-lands work conducted since the 1980’s.  Farnsworth stated the 


Program obtained a copy of the digitized layer and is tracking management actions taken by the 


Program.  Besson asked if the group wanted to approve the report as final or if this change is 


needed.  C. Smith and Jenniges suggested we add a sentence in the report stating Matt Rabbe 


(FWS) indicated the whooping crane observation at the Trust was located on what was formerly 


the managed tern and plover islands (now submerged sandbars) that existed in 2009; the group 


agreed.  The TAC approved the Fall 2011 Whooping Crane Report, with the change 


suggested by Rabbe during the meeting, as final; Baasch will make the suggested change.      


C. Smith stated the 2011 Geomorphology & Vegetation Monitoring Report was the first draft has 


reviewed and offered the TAC additional time to review the report if needed.  Walters provided 


comments to C. Smith prior to the meeting that will be submitted to the contractor to address.  


Walters stated he wasn’t comfortable with language in Section 3 that essentially accused another 


contractor of wrong doing.  He stated he didn’t want Program Reports to be a vetting process for 


Program contractors.  C. Smith stated the paragraph on the bottom of page 3.5 and top of page 


3.6 would be removed.  Rabbe stated reporting the sum of all unvegetated channel widths at an 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 10 


anchor point is not the same as reporting channel widths for whooping cranes.  Farnsworth 


agreed and stated the reported measures apply to geomorphic features and that there are separate 


measures for whooping cranes that will be addressed in the data analysis plan.  Rabbe stated he 


was fine with approving the Report as final so long as the assessments Farnsworth described 


would be conducted.  Walters made a motion to approve the 2011 Geomorphology and 


Vegetation Monitoring Report with Walters’ suggested change made; Rabbe seconded the 


motion; all approved.  The TAC approved the Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring 


Report as final conditioned on the removal of the paragraph on the bottom of page 3.5 and 


top of 3.6. 


    


Elm Creek 404 Permit (Agenda modification)  


Farnsworth stated it was likely that the Program would obtain a 404 permit to construct nesting-


islands in the Elm Creek Complex and asked the TAC if there was any objection to beginning 


work below the Diversion this summer.  Fritz and Rabbe stated we would need to follow 


disturbance guidelines to ensure we don’t interfere with tern, plover, and other migratory bird 


nesting.  Rabbe and Runge stated so long as we follow: 1) guidelines in the Program’s Land 


Management Plan for the Elm Creek Complex; 2) Service written comments on the land 


management plans; and 3) terms and conditions described in the Programmatic Biological 


Opinion there would be coverage for any impacts to the referenced bird species from land 


management activities..  Farnsworth stated we would begin work as soon as possible and will do 


whatever work we can within the guidelines laid out in the Land Management Plans.  


     


2012 Tern and Plover Monitoring Update  


Baasch led the discussion and informed the group that we planned to implement tern and plover 


monitoring as we did during 2011 (monitor sites twice/week from inside and outside, USGS 


band tern and plover adults and chicks, etc).  The EDO hired a technician (Tony Jenniges) to 


conduct outside counts at all sites Jenniges and Czaplewski didn’t monitor and that an effort 


would be made to keep all counts as independent as possible.  The new Leaman East sandpit, 


Binfield Islands, and Mid-Nebraska pit near Alda would be monitored by EDO staff and our 


technician and that Czaplewski and Jenniges planned to monitor the pits they have in the past; 


Jenniges will also monitor the sandpit located north of I-80 by Lexington.  USGS plans to 


increase efforts to document banded birds during 2012 (e.g., additional observations from blinds, 


boats, etc).  Program staff, technician, and USGS crew planned to conduct all river surveys 


between Lexington and Chapman.  Peyton asked if the Program planned to apply pre-emergent 


herbicide to our nesting areas during 2012; Baasch stated all Program managed sandpits and 


river islands had been sprayed.  MSHA training will be conducted at the EDO conference room 


on April 30, 2012. 


 


Shoemaker Island FSM Proof of Concept RFP  


Farnsworth led the Discussion.  The TAC was provided the RFP for the Shoemaker Island FSM 


Proof of Concept work and informed the group there was less detail in the scope of work so that 


the contractors could provide some additional ideas to consider.  Jenniges stated the selection 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 10 


committee would need to make sure the data collected at the Elm Creek and Shoemaker Island 


Complexes was comparable even if methods of collecting the data were different.  C. Smith 


mentioned that the Program clearly specified performance measures so we would be able to 


relate the metrics in both areas.  Rabbe suggested we ensure the data was collected during similar 


timeframes at both sites; Farnsworth agreed.  Czaplewski asked if we had land management 


agreements in place for conducting the work at the Shoemaker Island Complex; Farnsworth 


stated we were working with the neighboring landowners to establish agreements.  Czaplewski 


said the RFP should reflect the fact that we didn’t have Agreements in place yet; Farnsworth 


agreed.  Harner pointed out an editorial error in line 178 of the RFP; Farnsworth said he would 


make the correction.  Merrill asked if the information in line 277 of the RFP could be stated to 


reflect the hierarchy of the Program; Farnsworth said he would rephrase that sentence so that the 


option to renew, re-compete, or cancel would be at the discretion of the Program rather than the 


ED Office.  Czaplewski moved to support the Shoemaker Island FSM Proof of Concept 


RFP with amendments suggested by Czaplewski, Merrill, and Harner; Merrill seconded 


the motion; all approved.   


 


Whooping Crane Proposal  


Baasch led the discussion and informed the group that Walter Wehtje presented a proposal to 


Kenny and Baasch to collect additional information at whooping crane stopover locations in 


Nebraska and that the Trust had submitted a similar proposal that the TAC was provided to 


review.  Baasch presented a map showing the distribution of stopover locations within Nebraska 


that included a 25-mile buffer along the Platte River, southern Nebraska, and northern Nebraska.  


Baasch stated the Program and Trust planned to collaborate in the research effort and would 


collect data at a handful of locations near the Platte River and would expand this area if 


time/resources allow.  The objectives of the study are to determine if the data collected at non-


Platte data can be used to inform Platte River management actions, determine if more data 


collection efforts are warranted in the future, and to assess landowner willingness to allow access 


to their lands if we decided to conduct a larger-scale study.  Baasch briefly described some of the 


data that we planned to collect (distances to obstruction, disturbance, river, etc; water area and 


dept at wetland sites; etc), but informed the group that the Trust and EDO hadn’t discussed data 


collection in a lot of detail; Harner added that the Trust would also be interested in information 


on potential prey base in each stopover area.  Fritz stated prey base changes quickly so we would 


need to consider that when interpreting the data; Wright said we planned to collect the data as 


soon after use occurs as possible which would help address this issue. 


Peyton and Besson asked what the significance of the 25-mile buffer was; Baasch stated the 25-


mile buffer wasn’t a set area, but included a lot of the Loup River locations and generally 


excluded the Sandhill and southern regions that are markedly different than the Platte.  The area 


surrounding the Platte would also allow us to collect data in habitats that are more similar to the 


Platte River and to collect information at stopover areas in less time during the pilot study.  


Walters stated we should define areas based on ecotypes rather than a set distance.  Fritz stated 


there are several decades of data on observational use of the Loup, Niobrara, and other areas and 


suggested we target those areas to conduct evaluations.  Wright asked if we would be biasing our 


data if we targeted areas where public access is less limited.  Rabbe and others suggested we 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 10 


evaluate GPS locations as proposed so that we do not introduce bias into the data.  Peyton said 


the proposed study appeared to contain about 4 studies wrapped into 1; landowner 


attitude/awareness, river system comparison, non-riverine roost evaluation, and upland site 


evaluation.  Harner stated the study has gone through several iterations and we started with a 


very large and expensive study and have whittled it down to a pilot study to look at applicability 


of data to the Platte River as well as the feasibility and potential cost of conducting a large scale 


study.  Baasch stated he felt we need to put a lot of thought into what data would potentially be 


collected in a larger scale study so that we wouldn’t need to go back to the sites we visit in the 


pilot study to collected additional data that we hadn’t thought about.  Jenniges suggested we visit 


as many sites as possible and collect what we feel is the most important data.  Peyton said we 


need to determine how many sites we can evaluate given time constraints, select the telemetry 


sites we plan to visit and possibly evaluate historic stopover areas around these locations while 


we are near each area.  Jenniges suggested we randomly sample the telemetry locations to 


determine which sites to evaluate if we could only look at a subset of the stopover locations and 


evaluate a few additional stopover sites around the more remote locations to make the effort 


worthwhile.  Besson asked what we meant by the study being a collaborative effort; Baasch 


stated the Trust and Program were both contributing time and resources to the study, but no 


money would be exchanged to conduct the work.  Czaplewski expressed support for conducting 


the pilot study, but was concerned about having so many whooping crane studies going on at the 


same time (telemetry, database, IGERT, monitoring protocol, etc) and having the EDO 


participate in an expanded study because of the timing of whooping crane use, site evaluations, 


and tern and plover monitoring.   


C. Smith asked if the Whooping Crane Recovery Team or anyone was working on a Conceptual 


Ecological Model for Whooping Cranes.  TAC members weren’t aware if this was happening or 


not, but Harner stated the next Whooping Crane Telemetry Project meeting was schedule to be 


held the same time as the Recovery Team meeting so we would try to have a joint session to 


discuss this.  C. Smith said Program staff and TAC will likely need to spend time developing a 


CEM for the target species so we can address the big question related to how the Platte fits into 


the larger picture.  


  


Channel Change Assessment 


Runge gave a short presentation and suggested the Program should be monitoring and evaluating 


changes in channel features such as channel width, unobstructed view widths, etc through time.  


Farnsworth and S. Smith stated the Geomorphology/Vegetation Monitoring contractor would be 


conducting a system-scale assessment of channel widths, unvegetated width, depth, etc.  Data 


collected at anchor points is similar to what the Whooping Crane Monitoring contractor collects 


at use locations so we will be able to evaluate use versus availability on the system scale.  Runge 


stated the assessment Farnsworth and S. Smith described was actually better than what he had 


envisioned using the GIS approach.   


C. Smith stated the EDO has began to write the data analysis plans for target species and 


geomorphology and vegetation monitoring and once those are fully developed everyone should 


have a better idea about how all the data and analyses fit into the larger picture. 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 10 


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review 


C. Smith presented information on results of the Stage Change Study Peer Review and stated the 


peer review process occurred after the Stage Change Study Report was accepted by the TAC and 


GC as Final.  All 5 peer reviewers indicated the Program should accept the study as ‘Final;’ 


however, 3 of the peer reviewers indicated revisions should be made if possible.  Several of the 


comments provided by the peer reviewer would push the study beyond the scope of the original 


Stage Change Study and other comments were editorial changes that could be made if the 


Program decided to issue a revised Stage Change Study Report.  General consensus of the peer 


reviewers was that the study addressed what it was supposed to, but a larger scale study would be 


needed to address some of the objectives of the study that related to pallid sturgeon.  Runge 


concurred that replicating this study in other parts of the river would change the scope and 


require more work and money, but stated that the task at hand is the recommendation to accept 


the report as final or not accept the report. Discussion on additional studies, document revisions, 


or other types of work that may affect the conclusion of the study would need to come though the 


direction of the GC. 


C. Smith drafted an initial motion for the TAC to consider “Recommend the GC accept the 


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review and accept the Final Lower Platte River 


Stage Change Study as complete without revision;” however, the TAC could consider other 


motions as well.  If the TAC concurs, this motion would be presented to the GC for 


consideration during the June 2012 GC meeting in Cheyenne, WY.  Similar to the LAC if there 


is a majority and minority opinion, the motion would be explained to the GC by one TAC 


representative supporting the motion and one TAC representative opposing the motion. 


 Besson asked how peer review comments related to conducting a larger scale study and looking 


at other river reaches related to whether the Program should accept or reject the Stage Change 


Study and peer review.  Runge cited information provided in an email he sent to the EDO 


(included below). 


Information copied from a Service email: 


 Stage Change Study Objective - The Study objective was to develop information needed 


to evaluate the potential effects of Program water management activities on water stage and 


how those stage changes might affect the physical characteristics of the lower Platte River. 


 Stage Change Study Conclusion - Finally, the increase in discharge does not move the 


conductivity, turbidity, temperature, or dissolved oxygen outside the typical range 


preferred by pallid sturgeon (Figures 42 and 43). 


 Heisel peer review comment - No. Determination of differences in water quality 


parameters using Analysis of Variance is flawed because the serial correlation in the data 


was not accounted for. The current analysis is not sufficient to determine whether there are 


significant impacts for these parameters. 


 Guy peer review comment - "Finally, the increase in discharge does not move the 


conductivity, turbidity, temperature, or dissolved oxygen outside the typical range 


preferred by pallid sturgeon (Figures 42 and 43)." Not sure we know what typical is for 


pallid. Can you reword to avoid 'typical' and 'preferred?' 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 10 


Runge identified that the peer review comments represent one of many comments from peer 


reviewers, but elected to focus on the subset of comments as one example for discussion. Runge 


stated peer review comments that relate to overall conclusions such as these are significant and 


should be addressed.  Runge added 3 of the 5 peer reviewers suggested do not accept unless 


revised, so he felt the Stage Change Study should be revised. Any manuscript that is submitted 


for publication in a peer reviewed journal must address peer review comments prior to 


acceptance, and Runge promoted this standard as one the Program should adopt. 


Peyton suggested we make the suggested editorial changes and include a statement in report 


stating the conclusions may be different if a larger scale study was conducted.  C. Smith 


indicated there currently was no money budgeted for having the research team revised the 


document, however, we would have the report revised if the TAC and GC decide the peer review 


comments should be incorporated into the document.   


Peyton moved to accept the peer review and Stage Change Study as Final without 


revisions; Walters seconded the motion; the motion was not approved unanimously.  A 


minority/majority report will be provided to the GC with the recommendation.     


Farnsworth stated the Service should document specific measures that need to be taken in order 


for the Service to accept the Peer Review and Stage Change Study as Final.  Runge agreed to 


assist Service TAC representative, Rabbe, with a Service minority opinion. Baasch asked the 


group if the motion should be broken into 2 parts; 1) accept the Peer Review and 2) accept the 


Stage Change Study.  Rabbe said the documentation would indicate the Service accepts the Peer 


Review. 


Besson suggested the TAC consider modifications to the Peer Review Process.  Czaplewski 


stated the questions asked of the Peer Review panels need to be articulated clearly so peer review 


comments are direct and on point.  The group agreed the EDO should try to set the peer review 


process up in the future so the review is conducted while contractors are still under contract (and 


within budget) and before reports are accepted as final.  Several TAC members suggested we 


have 1 of the peer review panel members serve as an ‘editor’ so comments we receive aren’t 


contradictory.    


 


LUNCH BREAK 


 


Target Flow Discussion 


C. Smith led the discussion and presented information on recent EDO-Service discussions, the 


various target flow objectives as defined by Bowman, D.B. (1994), and steps that will be 


required to establish a rigorous adaptive management process for target flows.   


Runge stated current target flows are likely wrong where they were based river habitat data that 


does not reflect current conditions.  Even if the species use the habitats in the same manner as 


past, a change in river conditions would likely change flows needed to benefit the species (i.e., 


target flows). Runge also stated that certain target flows were not intended to optimize conditions 


for a single species.  Jenniges stated the Service should have clear objectives if they are releasing 


water (e.g., a release of 2,400cfs should be to accomplish a set objective).  George said the 


Biological Opinion includes qualitative measures of species’ benefit and the TAC would need to 


Comment [RJ1]: It is difficult to recall 
discussions of the meeting, but I remember stating 
that I would help out with developing a minority 
opinion. I also recall saying that my involvement 
beyond that point (e.g., measures needed to 
address peer review comments) would be limited 
until I know how the GC votes on this topic. There is 
no point in putting extra effort into this until we 
know the position of the GC. - Runge 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 8 of 10 


establish qualitative measures to describe the qualitative benefits if we wanted to test specific 


hypotheses.  The overall goal of target flow releases should be to figure out what the ‘right 


amount of water’ for the species really is.  Jenniges said getting water past the choke point(s) is 


an adaptive management issue; if we can’t get water through the system, the Program will have 


to change management actions (remove choke point, come up with different water objectives, 


etc) and those decisions would be made by the WAC or LAC.  Czaplewski said another issue is 


addressing biological problems and this is the area the TAC should weigh-in on.  Besson agreed 


both issues need to be addressed and stated we have to figure if/how we can get water through 


before we go down the road of establishing species’ hypotheses.  Kenny stated currently the only 


way to get 3,000cfs through the choke point would be to dredge the channel 1.25 – 1.5 feet on an 


annual or near-annual basis and that not a viable option for the city of North Platte.  One option 


they were amenable to would be that if we could keep water away from the houses along North 


River Road, the city of North Platte would help us have the National Weather Service raise the 


minor flood warning level.  S. Smith is modeling what a new potential minor flood stage needs 


to be to push 3,000cfs through this area. The big issue will be obtaining 404 permits to restore a 


state channel (now a wetland) that runs through this area so it conveys more water.  S. Smith and 


Kenny stated at best, the choke point issue probably won’t be resolved until summer/fall of 2013.  


The other potential option to better time and control releases will be the J-2 Reregulating 


Reservoir, but that realistically will not be available until 2016.  Besson stated, while we are 


figuring out how to address the choke point issues and developing ways to get the water through 


the system, the TAC/WAC could spend this time figuring out what the objectives of target flows 


are and to define what success is.  Besson expressed concern about the time it would require the 


EDO to develop new monitoring protocols, etc and asked if some of the current monitoring 


efforts could be used to address the target flow objectives.   


Czaplewski stated target flow objectives need to be established in order to score or operate any 


of the water projects such as the J-2 Reregulating Reservoir.  George stated if monitoring is in 


place, there are opportunities to capitalize on natural flow events to help determine what optimal 


target flows might be.  Jenniges stated we could evaluate cause and effect relationships once we 


know the effects we are supposed to monitor.  Czaplewski stated that if we don’t establish 


objectives and parameters to monitor to update the target flows, the second increment’s 


Biological Opinion would be based on the same out-dated science; George agreed.  George 


stated we have 20 years of whooping crane data that could be mined to determine what 


whooping cranes prefer and could evaluated how much water would be needed to create similar 


conditions throughout the system.  Besson stated regardless of what the species’ water needs are, 


if we can’t get water through the choke point it may not matter until we get that problem 


addressed.  George said we may have to consider looking at a combination of North and South 


Platte flows to meet species’ water needs.  Besson asked George if we should focus on what we 


can do with 1,200-1,700cfs of flow or eliminating the choke point; George indicated we should 


focus on the choke point.  Besson suggested we continue to focus on the choke point, but come 


up with monitoring protocols to learn about species response to current water conditions and 


natural events.  Steinke stated not much monitoring and learning was done during the 2011 high 


flow event so we should do additional monitoring to learn from the natural events.  Kenny stated 


the Program monitored the heck out of the system during 2011 and asked what additional 


monitoring the TAC felt was needed.  Runge said it may not be a question of what else we 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 9 of 10 


should monitor, but rather how else can we evaluate the data we have to address target flow 


questions.  C. Smith stated the Program collected a lot of data last year, as well as in the past, 


that should be mined to inform future decisions.  C. Smith asked what additional monitoring 


would be need during 2013 if the Services’ Annual Operating Plan is similar to 2012.  George 


stated experiments shouldn’t necessarily be designed around target flows because target flows 


are a ‘default position’ in the absence of another study so target flows can be adjusted to 


accommodate the various studies the Program has in place.  Farnsworth stated the direction 


forward hinges on having concrete objectives and stated we can evaluate flows that maximize 


whooping crane habitat availability (March 23 – May Target Flow objective), however ‘channel 


maintenance’ (February 15 – March 15 Target Flow Objective) is not a quantitative objective.  


We need to establish quantitative ways to measure channel maintenance in order to determine 


whether the required data is being collected under current monitoring protocols or if we should 


design an experiment or implement additional monitoring the obtain the data needed to address 


the objective.   


Besson, Farnsworth, Czaplewski, and others indicated the next step for the TAC should be to 


establish concrete and measurable objectives.  Farnsworth stated the objectives should be ‘to 


support and maintain a channel that meets the species needs’ and suggested we mine the data to 


establish probability of use curves.  Besson suggested the EDO establish the curves for the TAC 


to weigh-in on.  Farnsworth said the curves could be developed, but the TAC ultimately would 


need to decide where we need to be along the use curves so we have a discrete channel 


maintenance objective.  Besson suggested a group of TAC members and EDO get together to 


establish measurable target flow objectives that can be discussed with the ISAC during July.  


Farnsworth and C. Smith stated FSM and Target Flow objectives would be the same where we 


are trying to achieve the same conditions.   


The TAC selected a target flow subcommittee to develop target flow objectives for the TAC and 


ISAC to weigh-in on during the July ISAC meeting.  The subcommittee includes EDO staff, 


Runge, Urie, Jenniges, Peyton, Czaplewski, Fritz, and Besson. 


The plan is to focus the July 2012 ISAC meeting on Target Flows.   


 


Closing Business 


C. Smith will coordinate the Target Flow subcommittee meeting via email/Doodle Poll  


The next TAC meeting was scheduled for July 10-11 as a joint ISAC/TAC meeting  


Next GC meeting is scheduled for June 12-13 in Cheyenne  


 


Meeting adjourned at 3:15pm Central time. 


 


Summary of Decisions from April 2012 TAC Meeting 


1) The TAC approved minutes from the October 2011 TAC meeting, November 2011 TAC 


conference call, November 2011 TAC/ISAC meeting, January 2012 WC Minimum Habitat 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
PRRIP TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 10 of 10 


Criteria Workshop, and February 2012 Wet Meadow Workshop; minutes from the August 


2011 TAC meeting were approved in October 2011. 


2) The TAC approved the Fall 2011 Whooping Crane Report, with a sentence added to the 


report indicating the whooping crane observation at the Trust was located in an area where 


tern and plover islands existed in 2009; Baasch will make this change. 


3) The TAC approved the Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring Report as final 


conditioned on the removal of the paragraph on the bottom of page 3.5 and top of 3.6; 


contractor will make this change. 


4) The TAC supported the Shoemaker Island FSM Proof of Concept RFP conditioned on the 


following amendments: 


 the RFP reflect that we don’t have land management agreements in place yet;  


 correct the editorial error in line 178 of the RFP; and 


 the RFP state that the option to renew, re-compete, or cancel would be at the discretion of 


the Program rather than the ED Office.  


5) A majority of the TAC approved the Stage Change Study as Final without revisions; a 


minority (Service) opposed to the motion.  All TAC members approved the peer review. 


 The Service will prepare a minority report with recommendations related to the Stage 


Change Study. 


 The GC will be asked to make a decision during the June meeting on whether the 


Program should accept the Stage Change Study and Peer Review as final or not.  If 


the Stage Change Study and/or Peer Review are not accepted as final, the GC will be 


asked to provide guidance on what the next steps should be. 


6) The TAC suggested we make adjustments to the peer review process so the review is 


conducted while contractors are still under contract (and within budget) and before reports 


are accepted as final and suggested consideration of an “editor” (possibly a peer review panel 


member) in order to streamline and sync peer review comments to the greatest degree 


possible. 


7) The TAC selected a target flow subcommittee to develop target flow objectives for the TAC 


and ISAC to weigh-in on during the July ISAC meeting.  The subcommittee included EDO 


staff, Runge, Urie, Jenniges, Peyton, Czaplewski, Fritz, and Besson. 


8) C. Smith will coordinate a Target Flow subcommittee meeting via email/Doodle Poll  


9) The next TAC meeting was scheduled for July 10-11 as a joint ISAC/TAC meeting 


  


 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/01/2012 


 


PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 1 of 2 


 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 
Finance Committee Special Session Meeting Minutes 2 


Country Inn & Suites DIA 3 
Denver, CO 4 


April 11, 2012 5 
 6 


Meeting Attendees 7 
 8 
Finance Committee (FC)    Executive Director’s Office (EDO) Staff 9 
State of Wyoming     Jerry Kenny, Executive Director (ED) 10 
Mike Purcell – Member  (Chair)    Beorn Courtney 11 
Mike Besson 12 
      13 
State of Colorado 14 
Suzanne Sellers – Member 15 
Ted Kowalski 16 
Don Ament 17 
 18 
State of Nebraska 19 
Jim Schneider – Member      20 
 21 
Bureau of Reclamation (BOR) 22 
Gary Campbell – Member 23 
Brock Merrill 24 
 25 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) 26 
Tom Econopouly- Alternate 27 
 28 
Environmental Entities 29 
John Heaston - Alternate 30 
 31 
Colorado Water Users 32 
Alan Berryman – Member 33 
 34 
Downstream Water Users 35 
Don Kraus – Member 36 
Mike Drain 37 
 38 
Welcome and Administrative 39 
Finance Committee Chair Purcell called the Special Session meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. Mountain time.  40 
The purpose of the Special Session was to authorize development and release a RFP for a 90-day review 41 
and value engineering on preliminary design work completed thus far on the J-2 Reregulating Reservoir. 42 
The RFP should provide notice that the team awarded the review/value engineering may also advance to 43 
final project design, depending on their performance of the review/value engineering.  A budget of up to 44 
$250,000 was approved. 45 
 46 
Purcell moved to approve the RFP; Schneider seconded.  RFP approved. 47 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/01/2012 


 


PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 2 of 2 


 
 


The FC appointed a Proposal Selection Panel for the RFP consisting of staff from the Executive 48 
Director’s Office (jerry Kenny and Beorn Kenny), Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District 49 
(Mike Drain and Corey Steinke), and the Bureau of Reclamation (Brock Merrill). 50 
 51 
FC Special Session meeting adjourned at 3:00p.m. Mountain Time. 52 
 53 
Summary of Action Items/Decisions from April 11, 2012 FC meeting 54 
1) Approved RFP for J-2 reservoir review and value engineering. 55 
2) Appointed a Proposal Selection Panel for the J-2 reservoir RFP. 56 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/02/2012 


 


PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 1 of 5 


 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 
Finance Committee Conference Call Minutes 2 


May 1, 2012 3 
 4 


Meeting Attendees 5 
 6 
Finance Committee (FC)    Executive Director’s Office (EDO) Staff 7 
State of Wyoming     Jerry Kenny, Executive Director (ED) 8 
Mike Purcell – Member  (Chair)    Beorn Courtney 9 
       Jason Farnsworth 10 
State of Colorado     Chad Smith 11 
Suzanne Sellers – Member    Steve Smith 12 
       Larry Schulz, Consultant 13 
State of Nebraska 14 
Jim Schneider – Member      15 
 16 
Bureau of Reclamation (BOR) 17 
Gary Campbell – Member 18 
Brock Merrill 19 
 20 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) 21 
Mike George – Member 22 
 23 
Environmental Entities 24 
No participants 25 
 26 
Colorado Water Users 27 
Alan Berryman – Member 28 
Kevin Urie – Alternate 29 
 30 
Downstream Water Users 31 
Don Kraus – Member 32 
Brian Barels 33 
 34 
Welcome and Administrative 35 
Finance Committee Chair Purcell called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. Central time.  Purcell said the 36 
State of Colorado submitted a couple proposals pertaining to the J-2 Reservoir.  Kenny said we would 37 
tackle those at the end of the meeting. 38 
 39 
Urie moved to approve the March 2, 2012 and April 11, 2012 FC minutes; Schneider seconded.  Minutes 40 
approved. 41 
 42 
Shoemaker Island FSM RFP 43 
Farnsworth discussed the RFP.  Schneider asked if out-year budgets would be similar.  Farnsworth said 44 
yes, but possibly smaller.   45 
 46 
Schneider moved to approve the Shoemaker Island FSM RFP subject to GC approval of the multi-year 47 
RFP; Campbell seconded.  RFP approved. 48 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/02/2012 


 


PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 2 of 5 


 
 


 49 
Independent Science Review Services 50 
Chad Smith discussed the contract amendment.  Urie asked what the total budget would be for this 51 
contract.  Smith said the total would now be $44,000.  Urie asked why this was more than the usual 52 
$5,000 Atkins spends on searches.  Smith said because it costs around $5,000 to find members for peer 53 
review panels but that it takes more time and effort to find replacement ISAC members.  Campbell asked 54 
if the original estimate was for just $5,000 for this task.  Smith said yes but that estimate was made in 55 
2011 without knowing how many ISAC members would need to be replaced and what kind of effort it 56 
would take to fill two ISAC slots. 57 
 58 
Urie moved to approve the Independent Science Review Services contract amendment; Kraus seconded.  59 
Contract amendment approved. 60 
 61 
Geomorphology/In-Channel Vegetation Monitoring and Data Analysis 62 
Steve Smith discussed the contract with Tetra Tech for geomorphology/in-channel vegetation monitoring 63 
and data analysis.  Purcell asked if split invoicing will cause problems with what was originally 64 
anticipated to be done under IMRP-2.  Smith said no, these activities are related plus we will likely have 65 
extra money left in IMRP-2.  Chad Smith agreed and said the bird cognition white paper listed in that line 66 
item will likely not get done in 2012.  Campbell asked if out-year budgets will be similar.  Steve Smith 67 
said yes, annual budgets will probably be somewhere in the $400,000 range.  Urie asked if the FC is 68 
being asked to approve the four-year contract and the 2012 budget and then will be asked to approve 69 
annual budgets under the contract.  Smith said yes. 70 
 71 
Berryman moved to approve the geomorphology/in-channel vegetation monitoring contract; Kraus 72 
seconded.  Contract approved. 73 
  74 
J-2 Reservoir RFP 75 
Courtney discussed the RFP for review of feasibility engineering for the J-2 reservoir project.  Courtney 76 
said Sellers brought up some questions last week that she addressed via e-mail.  Sellers said it would be 77 
good to discuss them with the FC.  Courtney and Sellers discussed: 78 
 79 
1) How many bridges and siphons would need to be replaced? – One bridge replaced, siphon and outlet 80 


modified. 81 
2) Project kick-off meeting in the scope; Sellers thought it would be good if consultant could come to J-82 


2 subcommittee meeting before committing funds.  Sellers said her thought was if different J-2 83 
members have questions that would be a good forum to address them with the contractor.  Kenny 84 
asked if that adds a meeting or this would occur at a scheduled subcommittee meeting.  Purcell said 85 
rather than a J-2 subcommittee, we want the GC to give the FC an additional task of doing what is 86 
envisioned for the J-2 subcommittee.  Courtney said the kick-off meeting was intended to be a small 87 
group to make sure the contractor understands what the Program wants then there were additional 88 
meetings scheduled with the WAC.  Sellers said we could invite interested FC parties to that WAC 89 
meeting.  Purcell said the draft report needs to be reviewed by the FC.  Kraus said the idea of 90 
attending the WAC meeting should cover the base.  Sellers agreed.  Courtney said the FC would be 91 
invited to this WAC meeting. 92 


3) Land – Sellers’ question is whether to add something to review the location and see if land upstream 93 
or downstream needs to be evaluated for addition to the project for possibly a more cost-effective 94 
approach.  Courtney said this has been addressed by Olsson as well as by additional work with the 95 
Program and the consultant, to the extent possible without additional geotech data.  If something 96 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/02/2012 


 


PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 3 of 5 


 
 


comes out in the review with the reservoir size or other items, that might be the time to look at 97 
evaluating something like this.  It could be discussed with the consultant once on board.  Sellers asked 98 
what the qualities of the site are that led to its selection.  Courtney said if you move east, you get 99 
more distance between the river and the canal.  Sellers asked what about going west and using a more 100 
oblong shape, or siting the reservoir closer to the Tri-County Canal.  Courtney said this was addressed 101 
in the pre-feasibility study and that work led to choosing a preferred site at this point.  Sellers said to 102 
justify the location she wants to be able to tell her superiors why the current site is being looked at as 103 
the preferred location.  Kenny said the further west you move, you run into Plum Creek which brings 104 
up many issues with permitting for water rights and environmental purposes.  Courtney said she could 105 
gather this previous information together in a memo for Sellers.  Sellers said that could be forwarded 106 
to her and kept confidential.  She wants to put together the case for why Colorado will go along with 107 
this.  Purcell asked how much of this work would need to be done before the new consultant could 108 
look at site selection.  Courtney said this will happen in the first month of the project.  Purcell said he 109 
wants the scope to reflect that the consultant will get back to the Program as quickly as possible on 110 
the suitability of the site so we can proceed with land acquisition.  Courtney said could be added as 111 
“C” under Task #3.   112 


 113 
Purcell said under costs (Line 273) he wants it to be clear that the new consultant is not looking at the cost 114 
of land.  Courtney said this could be added. 115 
 116 
Kraus asked about the terminology of the reservoir and whether J-2 was ever identified as a project.  117 
Courtney said J-2 was not specifically identified, just regulating reservoirs, and “J-2” will be taken out 118 
of the Water Management Study history section. 119 
 120 
Campbell asked if we need to add something in about confidentiality.  Purcell said we could not do that 121 
with the other ones.  To the best we can, preliminary documents should be marked as “Preliminary Work 122 
Products”.  Kenny asked if we are talking about the report this consultant will be writing, or the 123 
information we are providing to the consultant.  Purcell said let’s have a discussion about finalizing the 124 
Olsson report.  Kenny said all contracts have a confidentiality clause. 125 
 126 
Campbell moved to approve the J-2 Reservoir RFP, with changes; Schneider seconded.  Kraus abstained.  127 
RFP approved. 128 
 129 
Cottonwood Ranch Flow Consolidation 130 
Farnsworth discussed the contract amendment.  Purcell asked what the original contract amount is.  131 
Farnsworth said $199,000.  Purcell asked if this work was envisioned in the original contract.  Farnsworth 132 
said yes we would move forward with this unless there was a fatal flaw.  Purcell asked what the 133 
expiration date is on the original contract.  Farnsworth said May of 2011, but it took longer than 134 
anticipated to get the original work done.  Purcell said as a matter of form on the amendments, consider 135 
including the original contract amount, the new total, the original expiration date, the new expiration date, 136 
etc.  Kraus asked under the scope of work what it means that the investigation will “seek to ensure” what 137 
consolidation will do.  On the one hand we are developing a model and evaluating the ability of 138 
consolidation to establish bars, but are we really saying consolidation “will establish”?  Farnsworth said 139 
the current wording is probably too strong.  It would be better to state it as “the degree to which 140 
consolidation will establish”.  Farnsworth said that change will be made. 141 
 142 
Kraus moved to approve the Cottonwood Ranch flow consolidation contract amendment with a change; 143 
Urie seconded.  Contract amendment approved. 144 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/02/2012 


 


PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 4 of 5 


 
 


J-2 Reservoir Items 145 
Purcell said let’s talk about the proposed motions.  They seem to be a GC matter and not a FC matter.  146 
Sellers said the motions are broken into two subjects.  Section 1 deals with how we apply the BOR index.  147 
This ultimately belongs to the GC but on Item B, it may need to be a FC recommendation to the GC.  148 
Colorado did not want to skip any proper procedures.  Purcell asked for an explanation of 1B.  Sellers 149 
said it states that BOR will cover the indexing differential if that happens and if they don’t have enough 150 
money to do that they can seek additional appropriations if necessary.  Once you pay, that money stops 151 
being indexed.  Purcell asked why the DOI would do this.  Sellers said the other option is Colorado would 152 
not pay early and the Program would be under-funded.  This would help DOI cover their potential under-153 
funding.  Kraus said he does not understand any of this.  Sellers said the BOR applies the index based on 154 
total Program expenditures for each year.  If that index is applied evenly when somebody pre-pays (for a 155 
project like J-2) that entity won’t get full credit under indexing and will lose out on interest.  If Colorado 156 
gets ahead of the DOI, they don’t want to get dinged on the interest.  Kraus said he is not sure there is an 157 
indexing impact if all money is put in up front. 158 
 159 
Merrill said it seems the intent is that if money is paid up front by Colorado, indexing would not be 160 
applied to that funding.  The same would be true for Wyoming as well.  Campbell said DOI cannot pre-161 
pay.  Merrill said from an indexing perspective, there is the potential to spend $35 million in 2012 (if 162 
Colorado pre-pays $10 million) which would have a significant effect on future indexing.  Kraus asked if 163 
Merrill could put together an example to better explain this to the GC.  Merrill said he could do that.  164 
Purcell asked if the obligation for Wyoming is $6 million plus inflation.  Merrill said what has been spent 165 
to date does have an influence on indexing.  Purcell said it seems like DOI is pre-paying this year because 166 
they are picking up the bills in 2012.  Campbell said no because that funding is appropriations for this 167 
year plus available funds for previous years.  Sellers said we did discuss the indexing issue when the 168 
decision was made to go with only federal funds in 2012.  Merrill said total cash funding to be expended 169 
by the Program is indexed.  Barels said if you no longer index Colorado’s funds after it is spent there may 170 
be less available to the Program by year 2019.  So, why does anything have to change?  Merrill said it 171 
seems like the question is what happens with indexing if Colorado pre-pays for the J-2 project.  He will 172 
develop an example along these lines to help with this discussion.  Sellers said calculate it based on how 173 
you do it now as well as Colorado’s new proposal. 174 
 175 
Purcell said he is nervous about having a J-2 committee.  He asked if a J-2 committee is referenced in the 176 
draft agreement being developed with Central.  Sellers said no.  The Program needs some ability to 177 
respond to Central, so the proposal is Colorado’s attempt to provide a structure for that response.  Purcell 178 
asked how the proposal links the Program to the Nebraska Community Foundation (NCF).  There needs 179 
to be a link that tells the NCF how we will interplay with them.  Kenny said we work with the NCF to 180 
make sure they are happy with contract documents, so before we bring them to the FC or GC for approval 181 
the NCF is happy with them.  Program staff interacts with working groups, various committees, and the 182 
contract parties to get contract documents developed.  Sellers said her thought is that this committee 183 
would be like any other committee that is part of the discussion about a contract.  Kenny said he sees it as 184 
like a workgroup that we have in the TAC or WAC.  Purcell said he does not see the J-2 committee would 185 
not be talking directly to Central; that would go through the EDO.  186 
 187 
Purcell asked if the J-2 committee would be any different than the FC.  Sellers said the proposal makes it 188 
clear what the committee is supposed to do so it might be easier to respond to issues than using the full 189 
FC.  Colorado would want to know the GC decision on the first proposal before they decide to pre-pay for 190 
the J-2 project.  The J-2 committee needs to be decided before the first decision is made relative to the J-2 191 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/02/2012 


 


PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 5 of 5 


 
 


agreement.  Purcell asked if these two items should be discussed at the June GC meeting.  Kenny said 192 
yes. 193 
 194 
Closing Business 195 
The next FC meeting is Thursday, May 31 from 2:00 p.m.-4:00 p.m. Central time. 196 
 197 
FC meeting adjourned at 11:46 a.m. Central time. 198 
 199 
Summary of Action Items/Decisions from May 1, 2012 FC meeting 200 
1) Approved March 2, 2012 FC minutes. 201 
2) Approved the April 11, 2012 FC minutes. 202 
3) Approved the Shoemaker Island FSM RFP, subject to GC approval of the multi-year RFP. 203 
4) Approved the Independent Science Review Services contract amendment. 204 
5) Approved the geomorphology/in-channel vegetation monitoring contract. 205 
6) Approved the J-2 Reservoir RFP, with the following changes: 206 


 Add “C” under Task 3 to have the consultant get back to the Program as quickly as possible 207 
with an evaluation of site suitability. 208 


 Make it clear this consultant is not looking at the cost of land. 209 
 Remove the specific reference to “J-2” in the history section of the RFP. 210 


7) The FC will be invited to the WAC meeting where the work under the J-2 RFP will be discussed. 211 
8) Approved the Cottonwood Ranch Flow Consolidation RFP with the following change: 212 


 Remove “ensure” and replace with “the degree to which”. 213 
9) Agreed to future discussion of indexing examples from BOR. 214 
10) Agreed to bring the two J-2 related proposals from Colorado to the GC in June for discussion. 215 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/31/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are made by the 


Finance Committee before approval.  
PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 1 of 3 


 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 
Finance Committee Conference Call Minutes 2 


May 31, 2012 3 
 4 


Meeting Attendees 5 
 6 
Finance Committee (FC)    Executive Director’s Office (EDO) Staff 7 
State of Wyoming     Jerry Kenny, Executive Director (ED) 8 
Mike Purcell – Member  (Chair)    Chad Smith 9 
 10 
State of Colorado      11 
Don Ament – Alternate 12 
 13 
State of Nebraska 14 
Jim Schneider – Member      15 
 16 
Bureau of Reclamation (BOR) 17 
Gary Campbell – Member 18 
Brock Merrill 19 
 20 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) 21 
Mike George – Member 22 
 23 
Environmental Entities 24 
No participants 25 
 26 
Colorado Water Users 27 
Alan Berryman – Member 28 
 29 
Downstream Water Users 30 
Don Kraus – Member 31 
Brian Barels 32 
 33 
Welcome and Administrative 34 
Finance Committee Chair Purcell called the meeting to order at 2:03 p.m. Central time.  Purcell said when 35 
John Lawson was with the Program he was in line for the next FC Chair, so Campbell would be a good 36 
choice for the new Chair.  Wyoming has the indexing issue worked out with Colorado so it seems to rest 37 
on the Department of the Interior (DOI). 38 
 39 
Purcell moved to elect Campbell as FC Chair; Ament seconded.  Campbell elected.  Campbell said he 40 
would pass those duties on to Coleman Smith with BOR when he becomes involved in the Program at the 41 
end of 2012.  Purcell said Harry LaBonde would be filling in for him on the FC and GC until the State of 42 
Wyoming appoints a new director.  Purcell signed off. 43 
 44 
Kraus moved to approve the May 1, 2012 FC minutes; Berryman seconded.  Minutes approved. 45 
 46 
 47 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/31/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are made by the 


Finance Committee before approval.  
PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 2 of 3 


 
 


Choke Point Contractor 48 
Kenny said at the last WAC meeting, the WAC provided guidance on the direction to head on further 49 
work on the choke point.  To get to 3,000 cfs capacity, it will likely take expensive, hard engineering (e.g. 50 
dredging, cost could be $500,000 a year and would have to be done probably every other year) solutions.  51 
The alternative to the structural approach is an institutional approach.  The National Weather Service has 52 
entertained the idea of raising flood stage to 6.5 feet assuming there is city and county support.  The 53 
Program would have to take the lead on 2-3 flood-proofing projects.  That will get us to 2,400 cfs and 54 
these solutions are quicker, less expensive, and easier in terms of permitting.  Examples include 55 
improving culverts, re-establishing a segment of the state channel berm, etc.  We will need an engineering 56 
firm to do design and permitting.  Initial discussions with a couple of firms led to higher than anticipated 57 
estimates meaning we will need to advertise a RFP to do this work.  The RFP should be ready for FC 58 
review and approval at the next meeting.  Berryman asked about the 3,000 cfs in the longer term.  Kenny 59 
said he has not given up hope and some options are being explored to eventually get there. 60 
 61 
Indexing Projections 62 
Merrill discussed the indexing example spreadsheet related to Colorado’s motions on the J-2 project.  The 63 
ceiling remains the same but there is about a $300,000 difference in how it is split among the parties.  64 
Given our discussions on J-2, when that payment is made is going to have a significant effect regardless.  65 
Kraus asked about the established method and the proposed method.  Under the established method on the 66 
first page of the spreadsheet, it isn’t in the same format as the proposed method.  Merrill said he had to 67 
break things out differently on the proposed method spreadsheet.  Kraus said it appears projections show 68 
Colorado spending about $10 million by September 30.  Merrill said that is correct, but it is the timing of 69 
that payment that is most significant.  Kraus asked if Colorado would be putting less under the established 70 
method.  Merrill said that is correct.  Kraus asked if all of Colorado’s money is at the Foundation.  Ament 71 
said Colorado still owes about $2 million, but most of it is there.  Kraus said then that means the funding 72 
would be committed early and Colorado would lose out on interest.  Berryman said that is correct. 73 
 74 
Berryman asked if Wyoming was not concerned because that state would be drawing interest.  Kenny said 75 
that is correct, it is basically a wash for Wyoming.  Kraus asked if another adjustment would be made in 76 
the future if Colorado was going to put more money in again.  Merrill and Campbell said that means their 77 
funding would drop off.  Kraus asked if there would have to be any further adjustments to the formulas.  78 
Merrill said he didn’t thing so but he would think about it. 79 
 80 
Kraus asked if DOI is OK with this.  Campbell said he is totally against this.  This shifts a burden of 81 
about $275,000 a year more to DOI.  The DOI cannot earn interest on federal dollars by law.  We are 82 
looking at a change mid-way through the Program when a method was agreed to in the past.  Campbell 83 
said he cannot agree to take on additional burden for federal taxpayers on this issue.  Schneider asked 84 
about the incorrect cell in the spreadsheet for the proposed method.  Merrill said it is just a typo in a 85 
formula that did not carry over and he could fix that and re-send the full spreadsheet.  Schneider said he is 86 
having trouble figuring out why this is an issue if the percentage of cost share remains the same.  It is still 87 
represented as not shifting the burden. 88 
 89 
Campbell said the spreadsheets can definitely be updated but his concerns remain.  Kenny asked how 90 
things might change if the formula errors are fixed in the spreadsheet and will there really be a cost share 91 
change.  Merrill said the numbers will be very close.  Schneider said then it seems like there won’t 92 
ultimately be a change in the percentage of cost share breakdown.  Kenny said it seems like we would be 93 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/31/2012 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are made by the 


Finance Committee before approval.  
PRRIP FC Minutes  Page 3 of 3 


 
 


going through year-to-year machinations only to end up at the same point.  Ament asked about 94 
discussions regarding cash flows issues related to J-2.  Kenny said the discussion was Colorado and 95 
Wyoming money coming in big chunks for the J-2 project and thus the states would have expended most 96 
of their money early on and remaining funds would have to be DOI.  Kenny said he had not addressed in 97 
his cash flow analysis this issue of indexing. 98 
 99 
Kenny said what has been done here is essentially a one-year analysis and maybe carrying out the 100 
analysis for more years might be too arduous.  We maybe don’t need to go through that full exercise to 101 
determine if the burden does or does not shift.  Maybe looking at the completed spreadsheet and re-102 
grouping on this might be the best way to go.  Kraus asked if Step D is where the index gets applied.  103 
Merrill said that is correct (amount of Program funding remaining to be expended).  Kenny asked Ament 104 
if without this Colorado will not expend money in big blocks moving forward.  Ament said that is a 105 
concern by the Legislature and the Governor’s office and they are trying to work through this.  Berryman 106 
calculated how much money we are really talking about.  Kenny asked if the magnitude of the numbers in 107 
Merrill’s spreadsheet is what Colorado was expecting.  Ament said they seemed lower than what he was 108 
expecting but that he was not sure of what Kowalski was thinking about the implications.  Campbell said 109 
his understanding was since DOI dollars were being spent this year he thought Colorado was concerned 110 
about that state paying more in the future because of indexing.  Kenny said that is part of it, but also if a 111 
large chunk of Colorado funds comes out now for J-2 they will lose out on accruing interest on that big 112 
chunk over time. 113 
 114 
Merrill said at 100% federal funding this year, we can’t go back to the usual percentages at the beginning 115 
of 2013 because now the amount of money left is different.  It might be worth exploring those 116 
implications because Colorado might be losing interest but they won’t have as high of indexing 117 
implications because if they spend a chunk on J-2 now their percentage of all future disbursements will be 118 
smaller.  Berryman said Kowalski’s main concern is losing out on interest for the remainder of the 119 
Program.  Kraus said it would be good to look at the difference between losing out on interest for 120 
Colorado versus the benefit they get from reduced indexing.  Kenny said he would work with Merrill and 121 
Berryman to evaluate this.  Schneider said this also doesn’t seem to reflect that DOI is getting ahead now 122 
because they are paying all the bills in 2012.  Merrill said that you could probably look at this way. 123 
 124 
Kenny said the thought was to bring this before the GC in June, but that doesn’t seem likely to happen yet 125 
given the complexity of the calculations and the need for further FC discussion.  Kraus said we could 126 
raise the issue with the GC but not to get into too much detail until the FC has more time to look at other 127 
options.  Ament agreed.  Kenny said he would call Merrill shortly and coordinate how to work together to 128 
move this along.  Merrill said he would have an updated spreadsheet by June 15 for distribution to the FC 129 
for further review. 130 
 131 
Closing Business 132 
The next FC meeting is Thursday, June 28, 2012 from 10:00 a.m. to Noon Central time. 133 
 134 
FC meeting adjourned at 3:04 p.m. Central time. 135 
 136 
Summary of Action Items/Decisions from May 31, 2012 FC meeting 137 
1) Elected Gary Campbell, BOR, as FC Chair to replace Mike Purcell, State of Wyoming. 138 
2) Approved the May 1, 2012 FC minutes. 139 
3) Set the next meeting for June 28 to continue discussion on the indexing issue. 140 





		FINAL FC April 11 2012 minutes

		FINAL FC May 1 2012 minutes

		DRAFT FC May 31 2012 minutes




Status Report Form  



				 PLATTE RIVER IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM                                                                                                                                                                                                              



				Governance Committee Monthly Financial Status Report

				May 26, 2012

						Description		 Expenditures Through CY 2011		CY 2012  Budget                1/1/12 - 12/31/12		Budgets to Date		CY 2012 Expenditures to Date		Budget Remaining           1/1/11 - 12/31/11



								a		b		c		d		e

						Executive Director's Office		$   7,292,830.91		$   2,020,000		9,312,830.91		$   794,530.91		$   1,225,469.09



						Gov Comm/Finance Committee		$   960,883.77		$   521,500		1,482,383.77		$   202,437.70		$   319,062.30



						Program Advisory Committees 		$   6,991.68		$   3,000		9,991.68		$   3,343.34		$   (343.34)



						Land Plan Implementation		$   16,953,948.62		$   5,579,800		22,533,748.62		$   3,587,726.03		$   1,992,073.97



						Water Plan Implementation		$   3,132,776.87		$   12,700,000		15,832,776.87		$   2,285,541.35		$   10,414,458.65



						AMP Experimental Design:		$   1,357,236.04		$   1,114,888		2,472,124.04		$   60,751.31		$   1,054,136.69



						AMP Implementation Activities		$   1,749,559.78		$   855,345		2,604,904.78		$   242,244.41		$   613,100.59



						Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities		$   5,822,418.19		$   2,718,476		8,540,894.19		$   402,629.51		$   2,315,846.49



						AMP Independent Science Review		$   587,663.23		$   300,000		887,663.23		$   89,191.28		$   210,808.72



						TOTAL		$   37,864,309.09		$   25,813,009.00		63,677,318.09		$   7,668,395.84		$   18,144,613.16



						BUDGET SUMMARY:

								BudgetsAdjusted Through CY 2011*				$   37,864,309.09		a

								CY 2012 Budget				$   25,813,009.00		b

								Budgets to Date:				$   63,677,318.09		c

								Expenditures to Date:				$   45,532,704.93		d

								"Available" Budget				$   18,144,613.16		e



						CASHFLOW SUMMARY:

						Program Contributions, Income, and expenditures to Date:

								Contributions		Income		Total		Expenditures		Balance

						Colorado		$   23,929,395.06		$   558,327.85		$   24,487,722.91		$   4,856,477.19		$   19,631,245.72

						Interior		$   39,113,565.40		$   415,911.19		$   39,529,476.59		$   39,460,215.04		$   69,261.54

						Wyoming 		$   1,493,652.36		$   25,091.26		$   1,518,743.62		$   1,216,013.26		$   302,730.36

								$   64,536,612.82		$   999,330.29		$   65,535,943.11		$   45,532,705.49		$   20,003,237.62



								* Budgets adjusted to equal expenditures







&D  &T  &F		





BUDGET2012

		PRRIP Project ID		Status		PRRIP Project ID		Status		PRRIP Project Description		FY 2007 Final Budget		FY 2007 Expenditures		FY 2008 Budget (New Money + FY 2007 UO)		FY 2008 Expenditures		FY 2009 Budget (New Money + FY 2008 UO)		FY 2009 Expenditures		FY 2010 Budget (New Money + FY 2009 UO)		FY 2010 Expenditures		FY 2011 Budget (New Money)		FY 2011 Expenditures		FY 2012 Estimated New Money		FY2012 Expenditures		"Quick Reference" Comments on FY 2012 Estimated New Money Budget Numbers (see FY 2012 Work Plan for Full Description)		FY 2013 Estimated New Money		FY 2014 Estimated New Money		FY 2015 Estimated New Money		FY 2016 Estimated New Money		FY 2017 Estimated New Money		FY 2018 Estimated New Money		FY 2019 Estimated New Money

												Column A		Column B		Column C		Column D		Column E		Column F		Column G		Column H		Column I		Column J		Column K						Column L		Column M		Column N		Column O		Column P		Column Q		Column R

		Executive Director's Office (ED)				Executive Director's Office (ED)

		ED-1		O		ED-1		O		Salaries/Travel/Office Expenditures (FY08-FY19)		$   192,688.00		$   210,292.78		$   1,110,600.00		$   1,220,138.33		$   1,427,759.00		$   1,535,891.24		$   1,599,900.00		$   1,650,847.77		$   1,600,000.00		$   1,725,903.82		$   1,800,000.00		$   680,248.15		Salaries, travel, and other direct costs associated with ED and staff in ED Office		$   1,850,000.00		$   1,900,000.00		$   1,900,000.00		$   1,900,000.00		$   1,900,000.00		$   1,900,000.00		$   1,900,000.00

		ED-2		O		ED-2		O		Administrative and Other Support Services (FY08-FY19)		$   411,861.00		$   348,673.30		$   170,614.52		$   87,493.91		$   250,000.00		$   156,323.84		$   200,000.00		$   84,983.03		$   200,000.00		$   152,262.30		$   150,000.00		$   57,024.01		Public notices, title searches, land and water specialty attorneys, boundary surveyors, appraisals, and miscellaneous services required to support ED efforts		$   125,000.00		$   90,000.00		$   80,000.00		$   70,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00

		ED-3		O		ED-3		O		Public Outreach (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   30,000.00		$   30,310.63		$   40,000.00		$   39,328.38		$   50,000.00		$   50,381.58		$70,000		$   57,258.75		$25K NET/Forsberg time-lapse; $10K Hydrologic Cycle @ Lincoln Children's Museum; $5K Rowe Sanctuary; $5K NE Nature & Visitor's Center; $5K Prairie Loft Center; $20K exhibitor fees, publications, and promotional materials		$50,000		$45,000		$40,000		$35,000		$35,000		$40,000		$50,000

										Sub-Total		$   604,549.00		$   558,966.08		$   1,281,214.52		$   1,307,632.24		$   1,707,759.00		$   1,722,525.71		$   1,839,900.00		$   1,775,159.18		$   1,850,000.00		$   1,928,547.70		$   2,020,000.00		$   794,530.91		$   23,372,830.91		$   2,025,000.00		$   2,035,000.00		$   2,020,000.00		$   2,005,000.00		$   1,985,000.00		$   1,990,000.00		$   2,000,000.00



		Governance Committee/Finance Committee (GFC)				Governance Committee/Finance Committee (GFC)

		GFC-1		O		GFC-1		O		NCF Fees (FY08-FY19)		$   75,000.00		$   22,147.61		$   100,000.00		$   77,178.48		$   255,000.00		$   235,881.20		$   260,000.00		$   206,470.89		$   300,000.00		$   177,770.31		$   450,000.00		$   133,917.45		Annual fees for Financial Management Entity (sliding scale percentage of $ amount disbursed); assumes expenditures over $20 million		$   450,000.00		$   450,000.00		$   450,000.00		$   375,000.00		$   375,000.00		$   375,000.00		$   375,000.00

		GFC-2		O		GFC-2		O		Pulse Flow and Other Insurance (FY08-FY19)		$   100,000.00		$   2,448.21		$   50,000.00		$   41,834.00		$   60,000.00		$   56,394.00		$   70,000.00		$   62,632.00		$   75,000.00		$   69,026.00		$   70,000.00		$   64,870.55		Program insurance for pulse flow and liability; insurance for vehicles and liability for airboat now on Headwaters		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00

		GFC-3		O		GFC-3		O		Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY08-FY19)		$   5,000.00		$   1,001.82		$   5,000.00		$   1,500.12		$   5,000.00		$   3,378.95		$   5,000.00		$   499.92		$   1,000.00		$   2,720.26		$   1,500.00		$   3,649.70		GC meetings $500 x 3 = $1500		$   1,500.00		$   1,500.00		$   1,500.00		$   1,500.00		$   1,500.00		$   1,500.00		$   1,500.00

		GFC-4		O		GFC-4		O		Pulse Flow Reserve (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   1,000,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Annual reserve for potential EA bypass-related costs		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

										Sub-Total		$   180,000.00		$   25,597.64		$   155,000.00		$   120,512.60		$   1,320,000.00		$   295,654.15		$   335,000.00		$   269,602.81		$   376,000.00		$   249,516.57		$   521,500.00		$   202,437.70		$   4,867,883.77		$   526,500.00		$   526,500.00		$   526,500.00		$   451,500.00		$   451,500.00		$   451,500.00		$   451,500.00



		Program Advisory Committees				Program Advisory Committees

		LAC-1		O		LAC-1		O		Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY08-FY19)		$   7,500.00		$   201.36		$   7,500.00		$   414.04		$   7,500.00		$   245.56		$   7,500.00		$   - 0		$   1,000.00		$   785.40		$   1,000.00		$   497.86		Meeting rooms for LAC meetings; other associated costs		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00

		WAC-1		O		WAC-1		O		Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY08-FY19)		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   5,000.00		$   23.56		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   1,000.00		$   2,330.90		$   1,000.00		$   1,572.56		Meeting rooms for WAC meetings; other associated costs		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00

		TAC-1		O		TAC-1		O		Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY08-FY19)		$   5,000.00		$   820.00		$   5,000.00		$   75.00		$   5,000.00		$   864.30		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   1,000.00		$   1,231.56		$   1,000.00		$   1,272.92		Meeting rooms for TAC meetings; other associated costs		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00		$   1,000.00

										Sub-Total		$   17,500.00		$   1,021.36		$   17,500.00		$   512.60		$   17,500.00		$   1,109.86		$   17,500.00		$   - 0		$   3,000.00		$   4,347.86		$   3,000.00		$   3,343.34		$   30,991.68		$   3,000.00		$   3,000.00		$   3,000.00		$   3,000.00		$   3,000.00		$   3,000.00		$   3,000.00



		Land Plan Implementation (LP)				Land Plan Implementation (LP)

		-		C		-		C		Land Interest Holding Entity Negotiations & Start-Up (FY07)		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		LP-2(a)		C		LP-2(a)		C		Cottonwood Ranch Maintenance & Enhancement (FY07-FY08)		$   75,000.00		$   - 0		$   550,000.00		$   251,710.10		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		LP-2(b)		C		LP-2(b)		C		Pre-2007 Cottonwood Ranch Maintenance & Enhancement (FY08)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   850,000.00		$   848,836.22		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   1,846.34		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		LP-3		O		LP-3		O		Pre-2007 Cottonwood Ranch Maintenance & Enhancement (FY08)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   6,000,000.00		$   57,235.61		$   7,000,000.00		$   8,870,729.13		$   6,000,000.00		$   3,335,269.11		$   5,000,000.00		$   2,108,612.42		$   5,000,000.00		$   3,528,248.25		Land acquisition costs; annual LIHE fees; property taxes and other annual fees		$   5,000,000.00		$   1,000,000.00		$   500,000.00		$   500,000.00		$   500,000.00		$   500,000.00		$   500,000.00

		LP-4		O		LP-4		O		Land Management (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   500,000.00		$   141,792.29		$   588,800.00		$   584,316.41		$   365,500.00		$   366,316.52		$   409,800.00		$   48,795.37		Basic land operations and maintenance including road, fence, and building upkeep, noxious weed control, mowing, etc. Agricultural input costs for share cropping agreements including seed, fertilizer and herbicide application, crop insurance, etc. 		$   560,000.00		$   575,000.00		$   590,000.00		$   600,000.00		$   600,000.00		$   600,000.00		$   600,000.00

		LP-5		O		LP-5		O		Cottonwood Ranch Bridge Final Design & Construction (FY10)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   250,000.00		$   55,010.64		$   250,000.00		$   165,596.77		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		LP-6		O		LP-6		O		Land Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   59,115.02		$   150,000.00		$   48,726.16		$   120,000.00		$   10,682.41		Continued land management will be needed by American Realty and Agriaffiliates for the transformation from cropland at Fox, Hostetler, Morse, and Binfield. FSA records need to be adjusted next year to move into grass. Broadfoot will still be a corn crop with marketing and input costs but will finish at the end of 2012. Continued grassland leases for haying and grazing on all properties will happen next year and annually to the end of the first increment. At a point the combined costs will reduce to a maintenance level and with multiple year leases those numbers can become stable.		$   80,000.00		$   80,000.00		$   80,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00

		LP-7		N		LP-7		N		Public Access Management (FY11-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		This program will need to plan for additional costs as the first year ends. If successful it will have additional land in upcoming years and we need to prepare for increases in costs from the provider Nebraska Game and Parks Commission. 		$   55,000.00		$   60,000.00		$   65,000.00		$   70,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00

										Sub-Total		$   85,000.00		$   - 0		$   7,400,000.00		$   1,157,781.93		$   7,500,000.00		$   9,012,521.42		$   6,888,800.00		$   4,035,557.52		$   5,815,500.00		$   2,739,251.87		$   5,579,800.00		$   3,587,726.03		$   36,164,912.74		$   5,695,000.00		$   1,715,000.00		$   1,235,000.00		$   1,245,000.00		$   1,250,000.00		$   1,250,000.00		$   1,250,000.00



		Water Plan Implementation (WP)				Water Plan Implementation (WP)

		WP-1(a)		O		WP-1(a)		O		Active Channel Capacity Improvements (N Platte Channel above CNPPID Diversion Dam)		$   241,000.00		$   110,690.94		$   153,210.00		$   10,805.50		$   161,529.50		$   149,886.60		$   61,642.90		$   24,205.58		$   250,000.00		$   34,504.65		$   200,000.00		$   - 0		Increasing channel capacity upstream of the CNPPID diversion dam to at least 3,000 cfs. Additional technical and/or contracting services will be engaged to update the assessment of ongoing channel issues, recommendations for further efforts, and implementing recommendations.		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WP-1(b)		O		WP-1(b)		O		Active Channel Capacity Improvements (CNPPID Diversion Dam to Grand Island)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   400,000.00		$   400,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		Cost share with Platte Valley and West Central Weed Management Areas to clear biomass from the river channel between Kingsley Dam and Chapman.		$   100,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00

		WP-2(a)		C		WP-2(a)		C		Water Management Study Phase 1 (FY07-FY08)		$   124,000.00		$   119,016.12		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WP-2(b)		C		WP-2(b)		C		Water Management Study Phase II (FY08)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   157,000.00		$   155,969.84		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WP-3		C		WP-3		C		Test Flow Routing Model/2008 EA Augmented SDHF Pilot Study (FY09)		$   75,000.00		$   23,471.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WP-4		O		WP-4		O		Water Action Plan (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   250,000.00		$   29,272.57		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   5,100,000.00		$   - 0		$   9,200,000.00		$   - 0		Advancing Water Action Plan projects from feasibility: $9M for reregulating reservoir land acquisition, geotechnical, design, and construction; $200K for ground water management/recharge project permitting and O&M associated with canal recharge.		$   15,000,000.00		$   15,000,000.00		$   15,000,000.00		$   5,000,000.00		$   5,000,000.00		$   5,000,000.00		$   5,000,000.00

		WP-5		O		WP-5		O		 Management Tool (FY10)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   100,000.00		$   - 0		$   200,000.00		$   - 0		$   200,000.00		$   - 0		Cooperation with agencies developing the COHYST model: consultant fees for model ehancements/analyses specifically related to the PRRIP and/or training ED Office staff, software, etc.		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WP-6		O		WP-6		O		Feasibility Studies (FY09)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   500,000.00		$   392,539.35		$   2,050,000.00		$   458,135.81		$   600,000.00		$   639,081.12		$   200,000.00		$   92,893.45		Water Action Plan feasibility studies: $50K for Water Leasing; $50K for Water Management Incentives; $100K for Groundwater Management.		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WP-7		O		WP-7		O		Water Acquisition (FY09-FY11)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   500,000.00		$   - 0		$   500,000.00		$   - 0		$   300,000.00		$   - 0		$   2,500,000.00		$   1,958,400.00		Establish reserve fund for water acquisitions purchase or lease arrangements, as needed ($500K); Pathfinder municipal agreement up front lum some payment of 38,400AF ($1,958,400).		$   500,000.00		$   1,000,000.00		$   2,000,000.00		$   2,000,000.00		$   1,500,000.00		$   1,500,000.00		$   1,500,000.00

		WP-8		O		WP-8		O		Water Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   150,000.00		$   160,661.33		$   200,000.00		$   127,431.51		$   150,000.00		$   28,063.66		Advisors on water-related specialty topics such as economics, hydro-geology/ground water, structural, water project permitting, and economics.		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   50,000.00

		WP-9		O		WP-9		O		Miscellaneous Water Resources Studies (FY10)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   200,000.00		$   30,109.77		$   100,000.00		$   17,147.85		$   50,000.00		$   6,184.24		Investigations to better define fundamental hydrologic and water balance components such as ET of non-crop areas, channel loss/bank storage, and SW/GW interactions; EA flow routing/management.		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		-		C		-		C		Legal Review for North Platte Channel Capacity Project (FY08)		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   5,000.00		$   2,975.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

										Sub-Total		$   450,000.00		$   253,178.06		$   315,210.00		$   169,750.34		$   1,411,529.50		$   571,698.52		$   3,461,642.90		$   1,073,112.49		$   6,950,000.00		$   1,018,165.13		$   12,700,000.00		$   2,285,541.35		$   92,910,904.54		$   16,000,000.00		$   16,475,000.00		$   17,400,000.00		$   7,350,000.00		$   6,650,000.00		$   6,650,000.00		$   6,600,000.00



		AMP Experimental Design				AMP Experimental Design

		PD-4		C		PD-4		C		AMP Workshops (FY09-FY19)		$   50,000.00		$   9,599.55		$   75,000.00		$   49,025.72		$   10,000.00		$   274.09		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from a PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-12		O		PD-12		O		Model Application (FY09-FY12)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   360,000.00		$   - 0		$   390,000.00		$   403,940.25		$   150,000.00		$   179,752.53		$   20,000.00		$   - 0		Model now complete; funding for technical support for application of 1-D model		$   20,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-13		O		PD-13		O		Sediment Augmentation Feasibility Analysis, Design, and Permitting (FY09-FY12)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   400,000.00		$   89,208.79		$   520,791.21		$   242,272.75		$   350,000.00		$   145,831.72		$   540,888.00		$   48,332.05		Estimate for implementation of second year of pilot-scale management action (augmentation at Cook/Dyer and CWR); Flatwater contracted through August 2012; need fourth amendment and contract through August 2013 for final year of implementation, data analysis, and final reporting		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00

		PD-14		C		PD-14		C		Whooping Crane Conservation Action Plan (CAP) Development (FY09)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   20,000.00		$   20,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-19		O		PD-19		O		Flow Consolidation Conceptual Design (FY10-11)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   200,000.00		$   81,677.06		$   200,000.00		$   104,277.64		$   230,000.00		$   12,419.26		Final design, permitting, and construction of channel plugs; evaluation of outcomes/performance		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-20		O		PD-20		O		Wet Meadow Restoration  on Tract 2009001 (FY11-FY12)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   31,375.94		$   324,000.00		$   - 0		Groundwater level monitoring and construction/conversion of Fox Tract to wet meadow / grassland		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		-		C		-		C		Develop Mgmt.-Level Hypothesis Testing for FSM/Clear-Level Plow (FY07)		$   25,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

										Sub-Total		$   75,000.00		$   9,599.55		$   75,000.00		$   49,025.72		$   790,000.00		$   109,482.88		$   1,120,791.21		$   727,890.06		$   760,000.00		$   461,237.83		$   1,114,888.00		$   60,751.31				$   450,000.00		$   420,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   220,000.00

		AMP Implementation Activities				AMP Implementation Activities

		-		C		-		C		AMWG Assistance & Operating Expenses		$   - 0		$   13,620.15		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		LP-2		O		LP-2		O		FSM/MCM Actions at Habitat Complexes (FY08-FY19)		$   25,000.00		$   3,675.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   350,000.00		$   187,879.35		$   1,270,000.00		$   488,274.11		$   483,000.00		$   656,119.61		$   639,130.00		$   204,335.22		Estimate for activities at 5 Program complexes and activities at new properties		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-7		C		PD-7		C		Program Anchor Points (FY09)		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-15		O		PD-15		O		AMP Permits (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   41,696.85		$   200,000.00		$   127,993.21		$   150,000.00		$   15,909.19		Additional HDR permitting work for in-channel and sediment augmentation through Regional General Permit and/or additional Individual Permits		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   20,000.00		$   20,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-16		C		PD-16		C		Invasives Strategy (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   100,000.00		$   - 0		$   100,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-18		C		PD-18		C		AMP-Related Equipment (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   140,000.00		$   130,697.22		$   50,000.00		$   33,419.07		$   55,000.00		$   1,983.66		$   66,215.00		$   22,000.00		Equipment for vehicles and equipment necessary to implement Program habitat rehabilitation and adaptive management monitoring activities, use rate charge estimates documented in Equipment Memo provided to FC and GC		$   70,000.00		$   70,000.00		$   70,000.00		$   70,000.00		$   70,000.00		$   70,000.00		$   70,000.00

		WP-10		O		WP-10		O		Environmental Account SDHF (FY08-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   250,000.00		$   46,872.33		$   350,000.00		$   67,876.55		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   150,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		No SDHF in 2012		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   - 0		$   150,000.00		$   - 0		$   150,000.00		$   - 0

										Sub-Total		$   75,000.00		$   17,295.15		$   300,000.00		$   46,872.33		$   1,000,000.00		$   386,453.12		$   1,470,000.00		$   563,390.03		$   888,000.00		$   786,096.48		$   855,345.00		$   242,244.41				$   470,000.00		$   470,000.00		$   320,000.00		$   290,000.00		$   140,000.00		$   220,000.00		$   70,000.00

		Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities				Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities

		G-1		O		G-1		O		LiDAR Implementation (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   260,000.00		$   250,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   75,000.00		$   41,000.00		$   118,100.00		$   41,050.00		RFP in 2011 for combined LiDAR and aerial photography; under contract through 2014		$   118,100.00		$   118,100.00		$   118,100.00		$   118,100.00		$   118,100.00		$   118,100.00		$   118,100.00

		G-2		O		G-2		O		Aerial Photography (FY08-FY19)		$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00		$   20,000.00		$   10,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   20,850.00		$   21,000.00		$   22,309.50		$   25,000.00		$   26,827.00				$   - 0

		G-3		C		G-3		C		Revise & Update Geomorphology Monitoring Protocol (FY07-FY08)		$   27,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		G-4		C		G-4		C		Develop Scope of Work for 2008 System-Level Geomorphic Monitoring		$   7,500.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		G-5		O		G-5		O		Geomorphology/In-Channel Vegetation Monitoring (FY09-FY19)		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   95,000.00		$   - 0		$   395,000.00		$   380,500.00		$   300,000.00		$   320,163.00		$   447,500.00		$   410,136.75		$   450,000.00		$   39,682.75		RFP for new contract in December 2011; estimate based on past budgets		$   450,000.00		$   450,000.00		$   450,000.00		$   450,000.00		$   450,000.00		$   450,000.00		$   450,000.00

		H-2		C		H-2		C		Program Stream Gages (FY08-FY19)		$   14,500.00		$   6,885.00		$   29,500.00		$   20,807.14		$   30,000.00		$   23,194.24		$   50,000.00		$   47,150.49		$   50,000.00		$   32,994.01		$   40,000.00		$   537.62		Two new gages, maintenance, CWR gage		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00

		H-4,5		C		H-4,5		C		Unsteady Flow Model Calibration (FY07)		$   23,500.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		IMRP-1		C		IMRP-1		C		SDHF Monitoring (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		IMRP-2		O		IMRP-2		O		AMP Directed Research Projects (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   700,000.00		$   93,684.44		$   325,000.00		$   38,712.82		$   450,000.00		$   221,712.19		$   335,000.00		$   14,516.23		Detailed report on relationship between bird cognition and habitat selection; monitoring/research on wet meadow and channel impacts relative to planned 2012 EA releases		$   400,000.00		$   400,000.00		$   400,000.00		$   400,000.00		$   300,000.00		$   300,000.00		$   300,000.00

		IMRP-3		O		IMRP-3		O		Adaptive Management Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   150,000.00		$   127,732.32		$   150,000.00		$   129,371.60		$   140,000.00		$   4,773.00		$60,000 for Brad Anderson and Chester Watson (geomorphology and Kearney Canal water quality); $40,000 for Natasha Bankhead and Andrew Simon (vegetation); $40,000 for Darcy Pickard (experimental design and statistics)		$   140,000.00		$   140,000.00		$   140,000.00		$   140,000.00		$   140,000.00		$   140,000.00		$   140,000.00

		IMRP-4		O		IMRP-4		O		FSM "Proof of Concept" Activities @ Elm Creek Complex (FY11-FY16)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   250,000.00		$   248,828.11		$   203,185.00		$   48,697.42		Year 2 of contract (May 2012 to May 2013); $100,000 for two monitoring events; $70,000 for model updates, data analysis/reporting, experimental design		$   170,000.00		$   170,000.00		$   170,000.00		$   170,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		IMRP-5		N		IMRP-5		N		FSM "Proof of Concept" Activities @ Shoemaker Island Complex (FY12-FY16)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   250,000.00		$   - 0		Replicate of FSM activities at Shoemaker Island Complex		$   210,000.00		$   170,000.00		$   170,000.00		$   170,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		IMRP-6		N		IMRP-6		N		Habitat Availability Analysis (FY11-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   200,000.00		$   20,000.00		Sole-source cost proposal from RBJV for 2012-2015 work to be discussed at GC meeting in December 2011; scope in 2012 includes completing 2007-2012 habitat availability analysis for terns/plovers and conducting 2007-2012 habitat availability analysis for whooping cranes		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00

		PD-8		O		PD-8		O		Database Management System Development & Maintenance (FY08-FY19)		$   150,000.00		$   - 0		$   159,000.00		$   125,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   72,849.67		$   572,150.33		$   453,767.64		$   140,000.00		$   154,925.53		$   200,000.00		$   40,612.22		Ongoing database development and management by Riverside Technologies		$   100,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   100,000.00

		PS-1		C		PS-1		C		Pallid Sturgeon Existing Information Review/Summary (FY08)		$   32,400.00		$   - 0		$   32,400.00		$   30,979.25		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PS-2		C		PS-2		C		Lower Platte River Stage Change Study (FY08-FY09)		$   200,000.00		$   2,336.36		$   200,000.00		$   46,458.42		$   182,634.74		$   178,202.31		$   54,432.43		$   10,633.70		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		TP-1		O		TP-1		O		Tern & Plover Monitoring (FY08-FY19)		$   14,000.00		$   - 0		$   20,000.00		$   - 0		$   100,000.00		$   - 0		$   150,000.00		$   47,599.56		$   300,000.00		$   210,105.04		$   215,000.00		$   23,052.19		Monitoring costs - USGS crew contracted through summer of 2013; includes USDA trapping costs and additional Program costs (fencing, etc.)		$   235,000.00		$   235,000.00		$   235,000.00		$   235,000.00		$   235,000.00		$   235,000.00		$   235,000.00

		TP-2		C		TP-2		C		Finish Forage Fish Monitoring Protocol (FY07-FY08)		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		TP-3		C		TP-3		C		Forage Fish Monitoring (FY08-FY19)		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   7,500.00		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint; Districts will continue to implement existing monitoring protocol; ED Office will synthesize data in FY 2011 and recommend potential next steps		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		TP-4		C		TP-4		C		Tern & Plover Foraging Habits Study (FY09-FY10)		$   120,000.00		$   - 0		$   40,000.00		$   - 0		$   105,000.00		$   100,355.96		$   144,644.04		$   139,645.92		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint; remaining FY 2010 funds will be held as UO to complete final reporting and publication in FY 2011		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		TP-5		C		TP-5		C		Analysis of CA-Collected Tern/Plover Monitoring Data (FY08)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   35,000.00		$   37,638.22		$   16,035.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WC-1		O		WC-1		O		Whooping Crane Monitoring (FY08-FY19)		$   130,000.00		$   126,521.20		$   130,000.00		$   111,438.30		$   150,000.00		$   125,630.37		$   150,000.00		$   132,917.31		$   170,000.00		$   186,779.28		$   225,091.00		$   54,111.56		Under contract through spring 2015; funding for spring and fall monitoring, data analysis, and reporting		$   225,091.00		$   225,091.00		$   225,091.00		$   225,091.00		$   225,091.00		$   225,091.00		$   225,091.00

		WC-2		C		WC-2		C		Analysis of CA-Collected Whooping Crane Monitoring Data (FY08)		$   25,000.00		$   32,497.42		$   6,454.48		$   6,454.48		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WC-3		O		WC-3		O		Whooping Crane Telemetry Tracking (FY09-FY12)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   125,000.00		$   - 0		$   125,000.00		$   125,000.00		$   125,000.00		$   125,000.00		$   125,000.00		$   41,999.99		$   167,100.00		$   61,468.00		PRRIP share of project budget for helicopter time, GPS transmitters, and data costs		$   63,000.00		$   14,400.00		$   11,400.00		$   7,200.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WC-4		C		WC-4		C		Water Surface Estimation at Crane Use Sites (FY07-FY08)		$   18,312.00		$   4,360.00		$   23,120.00		$   23,120.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WC-5		N		WC-5		N		IGERT Whooping Crane Habitat Selection Project (FY12-FY13)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   25,000.00		$   - 0		One-time payment to UNL for IGERT PhD student project		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WMV-1		C		WMV-1		C		Vegetation Mapping Effort (FY07-FY08)		$   25,000.00		$   10,334.40		$   14,665.00		$   5,196.36		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WMV-2		C		WMV-2		C		Wet Meadows Information Review and CEM Refinement (FY10)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   32,400.00		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   - 0				Complete from a PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		WQ-1		O		WQ-1		O		Water Quality Monitoring (FY09-FY11)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   40,000.00		$   40,000.00		$   184,000.00		$   175,043.20		$   188,956.80		$   176,747.30		$   280,000.00		$   225,022.39		$   150,000.00		$   54,128.52		Estimated budget from EA for Kearney Canal and central Platte monitoring		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   150,000.00

										Sub-Total		$   817,212.00		$   192,934.38		$   1,270,039.48		$   707,092.17		$   2,377,669.74		$   1,295,310.19		$   2,331,183.60		$   1,647,379.56		$   2,462,500.00		$   1,979,701.89		$   2,718,476.00		$   402,629.51				$   2,341,191.00		$   2,252,591.00		$   2,249,591.00		$   2,245,391.00		$   1,798,191.00		$   1,798,191.00		$   1,798,191.00

		AMP Independent Science Review				AMP Independent Science Review

		ISAC-1		O		ISAC-1		O		ISAC Stipends & Expenses (FY09-FY19)		$   80,000.00		$   - 0		$   115,000.00		$   - 0		$   142,000.00		$   138,306.72		$   150,000.00		$   129,192.07		$   185,000.00		$   179,285.70		$   185,000.00		$   71,986.81		Annual stipends for three, 3-day meeetings for six ISAC members; $10,000 additional stipend for chair to write annual report; 10 days of document review per ISAC member; travel expenses		$   185,000.00		$   185,000.00		$   185,000.00		$   185,000.00		$   185,000.00		$   185,000.00		$   185,000.00

		ISAC-2		C		ISAC-2		C		Meetings, Expenses, etc. (FY08)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		ISAC-3		C		ISAC-3		C		Initial Establishment /Planning Session Expenses (FY08)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   5,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0				Complete from PRRIP budget standpoint		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

		PD-3		O		PD-3		O		AMP & IMRP Peer Review (FY09-FY19)		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   105,000.00		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   49,500.00		$   50,000.00		$   - 0		$   115,000.00		$   59,845.50		$   90,000.00		$   9,575.00		Funding for peer review of up to four documents		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00

		PD-11		O		PD-11		O		AMP Reporting (FY09-FY19)		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   70,000.00		$   24,340.91		$   25,000.00		$   7,192.33		$   25,000.00		$   7,629.47		Meeting costs for 2012 AMP Reporting Session in March 2012		$   25,000.00		$   25,000.00		$   25,000.00		$   25,000.00		$   25,000.00		$   25,000.00		$   25,000.00

										Sub-Total		$   130,000.00		$   - 0		$   240,000.00		$   - 0		$   202,000.00		$   187,806.72		$   270,000.00		$   153,532.98		$   325,000.00		$   246,323.53		$   300,000.00		$   89,191.28				$   260,000.00		$   260,000.00		$   260,000.00		$   260,000.00		$   260,000.00		$   260,000.00		$   260,000.00

										AMP Sub-Total		$   1,097,212.00		$   219,829.08		$   1,885,039.48		$   802,990.22		$   4,369,669.74		$   1,979,052.91		$   5,191,974.81		$   3,092,192.63		$   4,435,500.00		$   3,473,359.73		$   4,988,709.00		$   794,816.51		$   34,809,470.57		$   3,521,191.00		$   3,402,591.00		$   3,049,591.00		$   3,015,391.00		$   2,418,191.00		$   2,498,191.00		$   2,348,191.00

												Column A		Column B		Column C		Column D		Column E		Column F		Column G		Column H		Column I		Column J		Column K				Estimated First Increment Total ($187M available in 2005 dollars)		Column L		Column M		Column N		Column O		Column P		Column Q		Column R

		PRRIP BUDGET TOTALS										$   2,434,261.00		$   1,058,592.22		$   11,053,964.00		$   3,559,179.93		$   16,326,458.24		$   13,582,562.57		$   17,734,817.71		$   10,245,624.63		$   19,430,000.00		$   9,413,188.86		$   25,813,009.00		$   7,668,395.84		$   192,156,994.21		$   27,770,691.00		$   24,157,091.00		$   24,234,091.00		$   14,069,891.00		$   12,757,691.00		$   12,842,691.00		$   12,652,691.00



		Status Label				Status Label				* All budget numbers in 2005 dollars

		O = Ongoing, N = New, C = Complete				O = Ongoing, N = New, C = Complete



		AMP Project ID Labels:				AMP Project ID Labels:

		G = Geomorphology				G = Geomorphology

		H = Hydrology				H = Hydrology

		IMRP = Integrated Monitoring and Research Plan				IMRP = Integrated Monitoring and Research Plan

		PD = General Activities/Program Development				PD = General Activities/Program Development

		PS = Pallid Sturgeon				PS = Pallid Sturgeon

		TP = Terns/Plovers				TP = Terns/Plovers

		WC = Whooping Cranes				WC = Whooping Cranes

		WMV = Wet Meadows/Vegetation				WMV = Wet Meadows/Vegetation

		WQ = Water Quality				WQ = Water Quality











Transactions-Cost Detail 



																																																						COST ACCOUNTS                                              COST ACCOUNTS                                            COST ACCOUNTS                                         COST ACCOUNTS                                                        COST ACCOUNTS                                                     COST ACCOUNTS                                                                            COST ACCOUNTS                                                                 COST ACCOUNTS                                     COST ACCOUNTS                                                                                                    COST ACCOUNTS

																																																						EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR								Governance Committee / Finance Committee										Program  Advisory Committees								Land Plan Implementation																Water Plan Implementation																										Adaptive Management Plan Experimental Design														Adaptive Management Plan (AMP) Implementation Activities																		Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities																																																								AMP Independent Science Review

																																																						Salaries/Travel/Office Expenditures		Administrative and Other Support Services		Public Outreach		Executive Director Sub Totals		NCF Fees		Pulse Flow and Other Insurance		Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc		Pulse Flow Reserve		Subtotal GC/FC		Land Advisory Committee		Water Advisory Committee		Technical Advisory Committee		Subtotal AdvisoryCommittees		Cottonwood Ranch Maintenance & Enhancement (FY07-FY08)		Pre-2007 Cottonwood Ranch Maintenance & Enhancement (FY08)		Land Acquisition (FY09-FY12)		Land Management (FY09-FY19)		Cottonwood Ranch Bridge Final Design & Construction (FY10)		Land Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19)		Public Access Management (FY11-Fy19)		Subtotal Land Plan Implement-ation		Active Channel Capacity Improvements (N Platte Channel above CNPPID Diversion Dam)		Active Channel Capacity Improvements (CNPPID Diversion Dam to Grand Island)		Water Management Study Phase 1 (FY07-FY08)		Water Management Study Phase II (FY08)		Test Flow Routing Model/2008 EA Augmented SDHF Pilot Study (FY09)		Water Action Plan (FY09-FY19)		 Management Tool (FY10)		Feasibility Studies (FY09)		Water Acquisition (FY09-FY11)		Water Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19)		Miscellaneous Water Resources Studies (FY10)		North Platte Channel Capacity Project -- Legal Review		Subtotal Water Plan Implement-ation		AMP Workshops (FY09-FY19)		Modeling Various		Sediment Augmentation Experiment		CAP		Flow Consolidation Conceptual Design (FY10-11)		Wet Meadow Restoration  on Tract 2009001 (FY11-FY12)		Subtotal AMP Experimental Design		AMWG Assistance and Operating Expenses		FSM/MCM Actions at Habitat Complexes 		Landowner access agreements		Apply, Renew Required Permits		Invasives Strategy (FY09-FY19)		AMP Related Equipment		Environmental Account SDHF		Bypass, Associated Costs for Pulse Flows		Subtotal AMP Implementation Activities		LiDAR Implementation		Aerial Photography		Implement monitoring protocol; 		Maintain Existing Cottonwood Ranch Gage 		Identify Existing/ New Gages Important to the Program		Add Temperature Monitoring Probes to USGS Gages		Implement Monitoring Pulse Flows		AMP-related research/investigations		Adaptive Management Plan Special Advisors		FSM "Proof of Concept" Activities @ Elm Creek Complex (FY11-FY16)		FSM "Proof of Concept" Activities @ Shoemaker Island Complex (FY12-FY16)		Habitat Availability Analysis (FY11-FY19)		Database Management System Development & Maintenance		Review existing vegetation mapping effort (need to update 1998 map)		Wet Meadows Existing Information Review/Summary		Monitor Spring and Fall Whooping Crane Occurrence and Habitat Use		Analysis of CA Collected Whooping Crane Monitoring Data		Whooping Crane Telemetry Tracking 		Water Surface Estimation at Crane Use Sites - Pilot and Full Analysis		IGERT Whooping Crane Habitat Selection Project 		Implement Monitoring Protocol & Produce Annual Report		Implement Forage Fish Protocol		Finalize, Peer Review, and Implement Tern/Plover Foraging Protocol		Analysis of CA-Collected Tern/Plover Monitoring Data		Pallid Sturgeon Information Review / Summary		Lower Platte River Stage Change Study (Year 1 of 3)		Platte River Water Quality Monitoring		IMRP SUBTOTAL		Salary, Stipend, Travel Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc		IMRP Protocols Peer Review		Annual AMP Reporting Workshop/ Conference/ Symposium		ISR Subtotal		Line Totals

				Post		Request    Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #								Description				Program Transactions						CLEARING/LAND HOLDING				INTERIOR								COLORADO						WYOMING 

																								Payment		Contribution		Interest Income		LIHT Payments		LIHT Related Income		Payment     83.97%		ASAP AUTHORIZATIONS		Contributions		Income		Payment   12.82%		Contributions		Income		Payment 3.21%		Contribu- tions		Income		ED-1		ED-2		ED-3				GFC-1		GFC-2		GFC-3		GFC-4				LAC-1		WAC-1		TAC-1				LP-2(A)		LP-2(b)		LP-3		LP-4		LP-5		LP-6		LP-7				WP-1(a)		WP-1(b)		WP-2(a)		WP-2(b)		WP-3		WP-4		WP-5		WP-6		WP-7		WP-8		WP-9						PD-4, PD-5		PD-12		PD-13		PD-14		PD-19		PD-20						LP-2		PD-7		PD-15		PD-16		PD-18		WP-10						G-I		G-2		G-5		H-1		H-2		H-3		IMRP-1		IMRP-2		IMRP-3		IMRP-4		IMRP-5		IMRP-6		PD-8		WMV-1		WMV-2		WC-1		WC-2		WC-3		WC-4		WC-5		TP-1		TP-3		TP-4		TP-5		PS-1		PS-2		WQ-1				ISAC-1 & 2		PD-3		PD-11

																				CY 2007 (Program Year One) Data				$   1,058,592.22		1,956,496.66		10,729.29						883,861.71				1,462,852.81		8,940.57		139,742.27		394,791.90		1,430.53		34,988.24		98,851.95		358.19		$   210,292.78		$   348,673.30		$   - 0		$   558,966.08		$   22,147.61		$   2,448.21		$   1,001.82		$   - 0		$   25,597.64		$   201.36		$   - 0		$   820.00		$   1,021.36		$   - 0		$   3,675.00		$   - 0										$   3,675.00		$   110,690.94				$   119,016.12		$   - 0		$   23,471.00		$   - 0														$   253,178.06		$   9,599.55												$   9,599.55		$   13,620.15				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   13,620.15		$   - 0		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   6,885.00		$   - 0		$   - 0														$   - 0		$   10,334.40				$   126,521.20		$   32,497.42		$   4,360.00		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   2,336.36				$   192,934.38		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   1,058,592.22				$   - 0

																				CY 2008 (Program Year Two) Data 				$   3,559,179.93		$   14,738,923.35		$   83,652.84						$   2,993,692.09				$   6,700,391.99		$   50,862.27		$   452,247.68		$   7,707,951.50		$   31,224.95		$   113,240.17		$   330,580.03		$   1,565.62		$   1,220,138.33		$   87,493.91		$   -		$   1,307,632.24		$   77,178.48		$   41,834.00		$   1,500.12		$   - 0		$   120,512.60		$   414.04		$   23.56		$   75.00		$   512.60		$   251,710.10		$   848,836.22		$   57,235.61										$   1,157,781.93		$   10,805.50						$   155,969.84		$   46,872.33														$   2,975.00		$   216,622.67		$   49,025.72		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   49,025.72		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   250,000.00		$   10,000.00		$   - 0		$   7,035.00		$   13,772.14		$   - 0														$   125,000.00		$   5,196.36		$   - 0		$   111,438.30		$   6,454.48		$   - 0		$   23,120.00				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   37,638.22		$   30,979.25		$   46,458.42		$   40,000.00		$   707,092.17		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,559,179.93

																				CY 2009 (Pr0gram Year Three) Data				$   13,587,723.45		$   15,180,890.18		$   28,657.63		$   - 0				$   11,409,611.38				$   7,334,652.50		$   (25,279.23)		$   1,741,946.15		$   7,700,000.00		$   52,416.17		$   436,165.91		$   146,237.60		$   1,520.59		$   1,535,891.24		$   156,323.84		$   30,310.63		$   1,722,525.71		$   235,881.20		$   56,394.00		$   3,378.95				$   295,654.15		$   245.56				$   864.30		$   1,109.86						$   8,875,890.01		$   141,792.29								$   9,017,682.30		$   149,886.60		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   29,272.57		$   - 0		$   392,539.35										$   571,698.52		$   274.09				$   89,208.79		$   20,000.00						$   109,482.88		$   187,879.35		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   130,697.22		$   67,876.55				$   386,453.12		$   - 0		$   20,850.00		$   380,500.00		$   - 0		$   23,194.24						$   93,684.44										$   72,849.67						$   125,630.37		$   - 0		$   125,000.00		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   100,355.96						$   178,202.31		$   175,043.20		$   1,295,310.19		$   138,306.72		$   49,500.00				$   187,806.72		$   13,587,723.45

																				CY 2010 (Prgram Year Four) Data				$   10,245,625.00		$   13,221,900.76		$   178,924.25		$   - 0		$   171,374.22		$   8,603,251.11				$   7,419,866.95		$   142,987.12		$   1,313,489.01		$   5,250,131.29		$   199,011.77		$   328,884.25		$   551,902.51		$   8,298.90		$   1,650,847.77		$   84,983.03		$   39,328.38		$   1,775,159.18		$   206,470.89		$   62,632.00		$   499.92		$   - 0		$   269,602.81		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   1,846.34		$   3,335,269.11		$   584,316.41		$   55,010.64		$   59,115.02				$   4,035,557.52		$   24,205.58		$   400,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   458,135.81		$   - 0		$   160,661.33		$   30,109.77				$   1,073,112.49		$   - 0		$   403,940.25		$   242,272.75		$   - 0		$   81,677.06				$   727,890.06		$   - 0		$   488,274.11		$   - 0		$   41,696.85		$   - 0		$   33,419.07		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   563,390.03		$   - 0		$   22,309.50		$   320,163.00		$   - 0		$   47,150.49		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   38,712.82		$   127,732.32								$   453,767.64		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   132,917.31		$   - 0		$   125,000.00		$   - 0				$   47,599.56		$   5,000.00		$   139,645.92		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   10,633.70		$   176,747.30		$   1,647,379.56		$   129,192.07		$   - 0		$   24,340.91		$   153,532.98		$   10,245,624.63

																				CY 2011 (Prgram Year Five) Data				$   9,413,189.13		$   10,662,131.31		$   183,227.01		$   - 0		$   230,635.61		$   7,904,255.48				$   7,853,349.52		$   188,586.63		$   1,206,770.84		$   1,836,520.33		$   214,655.31		$   302,163.46		$   366,080.25		$   10,620.77		$   1,725,903.82		$   152,262.30		$   50,381.58		$   1,928,547.70		$   177,770.31		$   69,026.00		$   2,720.26		$   - 0		$   249,516.57		$   785.40		$   2,330.90		$   1,231.56		$   4,347.86		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   2,108,612.42		$   366,316.52		$   165,596.77		$   48,726.16		$   50,000.00		$   2,739,251.87		$   34,504.65		$   200,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   639,081.12				$   127,431.51		$   17,147.85				$   1,018,165.13		$   - 0		$   179,752.53		$   145,831.72		$   - 0		$   104,277.64		$   31,375.94		$   461,237.83		$   - 0		$   656,119.61		$   - 0		$   127,993.21				$   1,983.66		$   - 0				$   786,096.48		$   41,000.00		$   26,827.00		$   410,136.75		$   - 0		$   32,994.01						$   221,712.19		$   129,371.60		$   248,828.11						$   154,925.53		$   - 0		$   50,000.00		$   186,779.28		$   - 0		$   41,999.99		$   - 0				$   210,105.04		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   225,022.39		$   1,979,701.89		$   179,285.70		$   59,845.50		$   7,192.33		$   246,323.53		$   9,413,188.86

																				Total Years 1 thru 5 Data				$   37,864,309.73		$   55,760,342.26		$   485,191.02		$   - 0		$   402,009.83		$   31,794,671.76		$   - 0		$   30,771,113.77		$   366,097.36		$   4,854,195.94		$   22,889,395.02		$   498,738.73		$   1,215,442.03		$   1,493,652.34		$   22,364.07		$   6,343,073.94		$   829,736.38		$   120,020.59		$   7,292,830.91		$   719,448.49		$   232,334.21		$   9,101.07		$   - 0		$   960,883.77		$   1,646.36		$   2,354.46		$   2,990.86		$   6,991.68		$   251,710.10		$   854,357.56		$   14,377,007.15		$   1,092,425.22		$   220,607.41		$   107,841.18		$   50,000.00		$   16,953,948.62		$   330,093.27		$   600,000.00		$   119,016.12		$   155,969.84		$   70,343.33		$   29,272.57		$   - 0		$   1,489,756.28		$   - 0		$   288,092.84		$   47,257.62		$   2,975.00		$   3,132,776.87		$   58,899.36		$   583,692.78		$   477,313.26		$   20,000.00		$   185,954.70		$   31,375.94		$   1,357,236.04		$   201,499.50		$   1,144,393.72		$   - 0		$   169,690.06		$   - 0		$   166,099.95		$   67,876.55				$   1,749,559.78		$   291,000.00		$   89,986.50		$   1,110,799.75		$   13,920.00		$   117,110.88		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   354,109.45		$   257,103.92		$   248,828.11		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   806,542.84		$   15,530.76		$   50,000.00		$   683,286.46		$   38,951.90		$   296,359.99		$   23,120.00		$   - 0		$   257,704.60		$   5,000.00		$   240,001.88		$   37,638.22		$   30,979.25		$   237,630.79		$   616,812.89		$   5,822,418.19		$   446,784.49		$   109,345.50		$   31,533.24		$   587,663.23		$   37,864,309.09

																				CY 2012 (Prgram YearSix) Budget																																		$   1,600,000		$   200,000		$50,000		$   1,850,000.00		$   300,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   1,000.00		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!		$   1,000		$   1,000		$   1,000		$   3,000		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!		$   5,000,000.00		$   365,500.00		$   250,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   50,000.00		$   5,815,500.00		$   250,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   - 0						$   5,100,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   600,000.00		$   300,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   100,000.00		$   - 0		$   6,950,000.00		$   10,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   350,000.00		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!		$   50,000.00		ERROR:#REF!		$   - 0		$   483,000.00		$   - 0		$   200,000.00				$   55,000.00		$   150,000.00				$   888,000.00		$   75,000.00		$   25,000.00		$   447,500.00				$   50,000.00		$   - 0		ERROR:#REF!		$   450,000.00		ERROR:#REF!		$   250,000.00						$   140,000.00		ERROR:#REF!				$   170,000.00		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!		$   25,000.00		$   300,000.00												$   280,000.00		ERROR:#REF!		$   185,000.00		$   115,000.00		$   25,000.00		$   325,000.00		ERROR:#REF!

														DESCRIPTION		ITEM		TASKID		CONTRACTOR/SOURCE		Transaction Reference		Payment

						12/29/11		JAN		ASAP		252								Bureau of Reclamation						$   122,804.75										$   122,804.75		$   122,804.75				$   - 0						$   - 0												$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

								JAN		ASAP		254								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter 				$   121,923.26										$   121,923.26		$   121,923.26				$   - 0						$   - 0												$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   - 0

						1/23/12		FEB		ASAP		255								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   96,711.19										$   96,711.19		$   96,711.19																																																																																																$   - 0

						1/6/12		JAN		Cont										State of Colorado						$   1,040,000.00																		$   1,040,000.00

						1/31/12		JAN		INC										Nebraska Community Foundation		Direct Interest						$   9,051.53												$   44.22						$   8,857.62						$   149.39

						1/31/12		JAN		DISB								GFC-1		Nebraska Community Foundation		Admin Fees		$   8,316.14										$   6,983.06								$   1,066.13						$   266.95														$   8,316.14								$   8,316.14																																																																																																																																																				$   8,316.14

																						Adjust for Rounding				$   0.01																		$   0.02				$   0.01																						$   8,316.14

																				January 2011 Subtotals				$   8,316.14		$   1,381,439.21		$   9,051.53				$   - 0		$   6,983.06				$   341,439.20		$   44.22		$   1,066.13		$   1,040,000.02		$   8,857.62		$   266.96		$   - 0		$   149.39										$   8,316.14								$   8,316.14																																																																																																																																																				$   8,316.14

																										$   20,049,724.61												$   88,911.63						$   19,644,611.17						$   316,201.50

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		259						ED-1		Headwaters Corporation		86		$   150,601.07										$   150,601.07																				$   150,601.07						$   150,601.07																																																																																																																																																														$   150,601.07

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						ED-2		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   5,068.50										$   5,068.50																						$   5,068.50				$   5,068.50																																																																										$   - 0																																																																																				$   5,068.50

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						ED-3		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   2,496.40										$   2,496.40																								$   2,496.40		$   2,496.40																																																																										$   - 0																																																																																				$   2,496.40

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						LP-4		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   654.56										$   654.56																										$   - 0																										$   654.56								$   654.56																																								$   - 0																																																																																				$   654.56

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						H-2		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   119.56										$   119.56																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																																								$   - 0																												$   119.56																																														$   119.56										$   119.56

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						PD-18		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   5,500.00										$   5,500.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																																								$   - 0												$   5,500.00						$   5,500.00																																																								$   - 0										$   5,500.00

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						ISAC-2		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   750.00										$   750.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																																								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0		$   750.00						$   750.00		$   750.00

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						GFC-1		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   762.00										$   762.00																										$   - 0						$   762.00				$   762.00																								$   - 0																																								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   762.00

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						TAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   205.92										$   205.92																										$   - 0										$   - 0						$   205.92		$   205.92																$   - 0																																								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   205.92

						2/8/12		FEB		DISB		260						WAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		87		$   660.00										$   660.00																										$   - 0										$   - 0				$   660.00				$   660.00																$   - 0																																								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   660.00

						2/10/12		FEB		CONT		258								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   269,686.80												$   269,686.80																																																																																																																																																																																				$   - 0

						2/22/12		FEB		ASAP		260								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   16,216.94										$   16,216.94																																																																																																																																																																																						$   - 0

						2/29/12		FEB		CONT		259								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   150,601.07								$   - 0				$   150,601.07				$   - 0						$   - 0																																																																																																																																																																										$   - 0

						2/29/12		FEB		CONT		260								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter												$   - 0				$   16,216.94				$   - 0						$   - 0																																																																																																																																																																										$   - 0

						2/29/12		FEB		CONT										Bureau of Reclamation		ASAP DOI Feb DISB Fees				$   9,956.74												$   9,956.74																																																																																																																																																																																				$   - 0

						2/29/12		FEB		INC										Nebraska Community Foundation		DirectInterest						$   8,996.43						$   - 0						$   26.13		$   - 0				$   8,830.88		$   - 0				$   139.42																																																																																																																																																																						$   - 0

						2/29/12		FEB		INC										Nebraska Community Foundation		LIHT Income										$   9,132.23		$   - 0						$   7,668.33		$   - 0				$   1,170.75		$   - 0				$   293.15								$   - 0										$   - 0																								$   - 0																																								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   - 0

						2/29/12		FEB		DISB								GFC-1		Nebraska Community Foundation		2/29/2012 @ 2%		$   10,125.41										$   8,976.83								$   918.58						$   230.00														$   10,125.41								$   10,125.41																																																																																																																																																				$   10,125.41

						2/29/12		FEB		DISB								GFC-1		Nebraska Community Foundation		2/29/2012 @ 1.75%		$   1,125.87										$   998.15								$   102.14						$   25.58												$   - 0		$   1,125.87								$   1,125.87																								$   - 0																																																																																																																		$   - 0										$   1,125.87

																						Adjust for Rounding																$   0.28						$   0.02						$   0.02										$   158,165.97																		$   865.92																$   654.56																																																										$   5,500.00																																																								$   119.56								$   750.00		$   178,069.29

																				February 2011 Subtotals				$   178,069.29		$   446,461.55		$   8,996.43		$   - 0		$   9,132.23		$   176,792.99		$   16,216.94		$   446,461.83		$   7,694.46		$   1,020.72		$   0.02		$   10,001.63		$   255.58		$   0.02		$   432.57		$   150,601.07		$   5,068.50		$   2,496.40		$   158,165.97		$   11,251.28		$   - 0		$   762.00				$   12,013.28		$   - 0		$   660.00		$   205.92		$   865.92		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   654.56								$   654.56		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   5,500.00		$   - 0				$   5,500.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   119.56		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0										$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   119.56		$   750.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   750.00		$   178,069.29

																								$   403,788.03										$   339,060.81				$   27,214.12				$   51,765.63		$   19,601,826.47				$   12,961.60		$   303,416.91

																								$   581,857.32		$   19,932,457.50								$   515,853.80								$   52,786.35						$   13,217.18

																																										$   - 0																																																																																												$   - 0

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						ED-3		Nebraska Nature and Visitor Center		1/5/12		$   5,000.00										$   5,000.00																								$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00																																																																										$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   5,000.00

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						ED-3		NET Foundation for Television 		2/8/12		$   25,000.00										$   25,000.00																								$   25,000.00		$   25,000.00																																																																										$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   25,000.00

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						ED-3		Prairie Loft		1/4/12		$   5,000.00										$   5,000.00																								$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00																																																																										$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   5,000.00

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						ED-3		Rowe Sanctuary		1/14/12		$   5,000.00										$   5,000.00																								$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00																																																																										$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   5,000.00

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						ED-3		Jack Lederman Company		55608		$   111.84										$   111.84																								$   111.84		$   111.84																																																																										$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   111.84

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						LP-2		Jack Lederman Company		55608		$   395.46										$   395.46																										$   - 0		$   - 0																																																																								$   - 0				$   395.46														$   395.46																																																								$   - 0										$   395.46

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						LP-3		Investment Property Exchange		2510		$   4,000.00										$   4,000.00																										$   - 0		$   - 0																						$   4,000.00										$   4,000.00																																								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   4,000.00

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						WP-9		In-Situ Inc. 		79302		$   1,880.30										$   1,880.30																										$   - 0		$   - 0																																																						$   1,880.30				$   1,880.30														$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   1,880.30

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						LP-2		Tree Amigos		211		$   46,300.00										$   46,300.00																										$   - 0		$   - 0																																																																								$   - 0				$   46,300.00														$   46,300.00																																																								$   - 0										$   46,300.00

				X		2/14/12		MAR		DISB		262						IMRP-2		Kearney Aviation Center		1/31/12		$   118.16										$   118.16																										$   - 0		$   - 0																																																																								$   - 0																																		$   118.16																																								$   118.16										$   118.16

						2/23/12		MAR		ASAP		262								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   92,805.76								$   - 0		$   92,805.76		$   92,805.76				$   - 0						$   - 0												$   - 0		$   - 0																																																																								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   - 0

						3/2/12		MAR		ASAP		261								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   52,640.33												$   52,640.33

						3/2/12		MAR		ASAP		263								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   20,152.80												$   20,152.80

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						ED-2		Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP		205626		$   12,736.51										$   12,736.51																						$   12,736.51				$   12,736.51																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																																		$   12,736.51

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						LP-4		Tillotson Enterprises		1595		$   2,166.00										$   2,166.00																																																				$   2,166.00								$   2,166.00																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   2,166.00

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						LP-4		Electrical Services		1816		$   166.16										$   166.16																																																				$   166.16								$   166.16																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   166.16

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						LP-4		PAC's Painting and Handyman Services		1222		$   866.93										$   866.93																																																				$   866.93								$   866.93																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   866.93

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						LP-4		Jack Lederman Company		55824		$   44.14										$   44.14																																																				$   44.14								$   44.14																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   44.14

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						LP-4		ComforTech Service		1600		$   5,067.90										$   5,067.90																																																				$   5,067.90								$   5,067.90																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   5,067.90

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						WP-6		Olsson and Associates		169768		$   19,217.10										$   19,217.10																																																												$   - 0																$   19,217.10										$   19,217.10														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   19,217.10

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						WP-6		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		72638		$   11,783.96										$   11,783.96																																																												$   - 0																$   11,783.96										$   11,783.96														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   11,783.96

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						WP-8		Hahn Water Resources, LLC		223		$   7,112.92										$   7,112.92																																																												$   - 0																				$   7,112.92						$   7,112.92														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   7,112.92

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						WP-8		Tessara Water, LLC		116		$   937.50										$   937.50																																																												$   - 0																				$   937.50						$   937.50														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   937.50

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						WP-9		In-Situ Inc. 		79682		$   3,735.98										$   3,735.98																																																												$   - 0																						$   3,735.98				$   3,735.98														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   3,735.98

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						PD-19		Inter-fluve, Inc.		10-04-14-17		$   2,639.05										$   2,639.05																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0										$   2,639.05				$   2,639.05																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   2,639.05

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						LP-2		Root, Tim		2222012		$   5,299.10										$   5,299.10																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   5,299.10														$   5,299.10																																																								$   - 0										$   5,299.10

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						G-5		Ayres and Associates		143984		$   5,316.75										$   5,316.75																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0						$   5,316.75																																																		$   5,316.75										$   5,316.75

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						G-5		Ayres and Associates		143985		$   10,545.00										$   10,545.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0						$   10,545.00																																																		$   10,545.00										$   10,545.00

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						IMRP-3		Ecosystems Advisors		2/24/12		$   2,000.00										$   2,000.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																		$   2,000.00																																						$   2,000.00										$   2,000.00

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						PD-8		Riverside Technology, Inc.		4733		$   12,870.74										$   12,870.74																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																										$   12,870.74																														$   12,870.74										$   12,870.74

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						WC-1		West, Inc		35611		$   21,515.19										$   21,515.19																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																$   21,515.19																								$   21,515.19										$   21,515.19

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						WQ-1		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		72658		$   31,266.68										$   31,266.68																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																						$   31,266.68		$   31,266.68										$   31,266.68

				X		3/8/12				DISB		264						PD-3		Atkins		1135062		$   4,575.00										$   4,575.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0				$   4,575.00				$   4,575.00		$   4,575.00

						3/13/12				ASAP		264								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   159,862.61								$   - 0		$   159,862.61		$   159,862.61

				X		3/8/12				DISB		265						ED-3		Headwaters Corporation		88		$   3,451.99										$   3,451.99																								$   3,451.99		$   3,451.99																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   3,451.99

				X		3/8/12				DISB		265						GFC-3		Headwaters Corporation		88		$   2,628.54										$   2,628.54																																$   2,628.54				$   2,628.54																								$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   2,628.54

				X		3/8/12				DISB		265						LAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		88		$   88.22										$   88.22																																						$   88.22						$   88.22																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   88.22

				X		3/8/12				DISB		265						TAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		88		$   275.00										$   275.00																																										$   275.00		$   275.00																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   275.00

				X		3/8/12				DISB		265						WAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		88		$   327.14										$   327.14																																								$   327.14				$   327.14																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   327.14

				X		3/8/12				DISB		265						PD-18		Headwaters Corporation		88		$   5,500.00										$   5,500.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0												$   5,500.00						$   5,500.00																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   5,500.00

				X		3/8/12				DISB		265						LP-4		Headwaters Corporation		88		$   437.49										$   437.49																																																				$   437.49								$   437.49																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   437.49

				X		3/8/12				DISB		265						H-2		Headwaters Corporation		88		$   139.20										$   139.20																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0										$   139.20																																														$   139.20								$   - 0		$   139.20

						3/16/12				CONT		265								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   12,847.58								$   - 0		$   12,847.58		$   12,847.58

				X		3/8/12				DISB		266						ED-1		Headwaters Corporation		89		$   163,315.31										$   163,315.31																				$   163,315.31						$   163,315.31																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   163,315.31

				X		3/16/12				CONT		266								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   163,315.31								$   - 0		$   163,315.31		$   163,315.31

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						ED-3		Lincoln Children's Museum		40984		$   10,000.00										$   10,000.00																								$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   10,000.00

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						GFC-2		Dunbar Insurance Agency		17251		$   64,870.55										$   64,870.55																										$   - 0				$   64,870.55						$   64,870.55																								$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   64,870.55

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						LP-3		Investment Property Exchange		2520		$   2,500.00										$   2,500.00																										$   - 0																								$   2,500.00										$   2,500.00																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   2,500.00

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						WP-6		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		73335		$   7,911.59										$   7,911.59																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																$   7,911.59										$   7,911.59														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   7,911.59

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						WP-7		Wyoming Water Development Commission		40983		$   1,958,400.00										$   1,958,400.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																		$   1,958,400.00								$   1,958,400.00														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   1,958,400.00

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						WP-8		Carnevale Environmental Consulting, LLC		1002		$   6,628.00										$   6,628.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																				$   6,628.00						$   6,628.00														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   6,628.00

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						IMRP-2		Kearney Aviation Center		40968		$   484.74										$   484.74																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   484.74																																								$   484.74								$   - 0		$   484.74

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						IMRP-3		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc		14801		$   1,023.00										$   1,023.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																		$   1,023.00																																						$   1,023.00								$   - 0		$   1,023.00

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						PD-8		Riverside Technology, Inc.		4744		$   12,870.74										$   12,870.74																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																										$   12,870.74																														$   12,870.74								$   - 0		$   12,870.74

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						WQ-1		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		73278		$   11,629.36										$   11,629.36																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																						$   11,629.36		$   11,629.36								$   - 0		$   11,629.36

				X		3/19/12				DISB		267						ISAC-1		ESSA Technologies		1775		$   1,507.19										$   1,507.19																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   1,507.19						$   1,507.19		$   1,507.19

				x		3/19/12				DISB		267						ISAC-1		ESSA Technologies		1774		$   7,800.00										$   7,800.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   7,800.00						$   7,800.00		$   7,800.00

						3/22/12				ASAP		267								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   2,085,625.17								$   - 0		$   2,085,625.17		$   2,085,625.17																																																																																																																																																																																				$   - 0

				X		3/31/12		MAR		FEE								GFC-1		Nebraska Community Foundation		Mar-12		$   45,520.05		$   45,276.87								$   45,276.87				$   45,276.87				$   194.49						$   48.70														$   45,520.05								$   45,520.05																																																																																																																																																				$   45,520.05

						3/2/12		MAR		INC										Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation		Crop Rent										$   6,316.85								$   5,304.26						$   809.82						$   202.77

						3/2/12		MAR		INC										Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation												$   15,111.39								$   12,689.03						$   1,937.28						$   485.08

						3/2/12		MAR		INC										Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation												$   11,758.37								$   9,873.50						$   1,507.42						$   377.45

						3/2/12		MAR		INC										Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation												$   500.00								$   419.85						$   64.10						$   16.05

						3/2/12		MAR		INC										Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation												$   750.00								$   629.78						$   96.15						$   24.07

						3/31/12		MAR		INC										Nebraska Community Foundation		March Report						$   25,818.53												$   76.89						25339.43						$   402.41								$   - 0		$   - 0																																																																								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0										$   - 0

																						Adjust for Rounding				$   (0.01)												$   0.24				$   (0.09)						$   (0.01)												$   229,615.65										$   113,019.14								$   690.36																$   15,248.62																										$   2,017,607.35														$   2,639.05																		$   57,494.56																																																								$   109,779.56								$   13,882.19		$   2,559,976.48

																				March 2011 Subtotals				$   2,559,976.48		$   2,632,526.42		$   25,818.53		$   - 0		$   34,436.61		$   2,559,733.30				$   2,632,526.67		$   28,993.31		$   194.40		$   - 0		$   29,754.20		$   48.69		$   - 0		$   1,507.83		$   163,315.31		$   12,736.51		$   53,563.83		$   229,615.65		$   45,520.05		$   64,870.55		$   2,628.54		$   - 0		$   113,019.14		$   88.22		$   327.14		$   275.00		$   690.36		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   6,500.00		$   8,748.62		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   15,248.62		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   38,912.65		$   1,958,400.00		$   14,678.42		$   5,616.28		$   - 0		$   2,017,607.35		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   2,639.05				$   2,639.05		$   - 0		$   51,994.56		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   5,500.00		$   - 0				$   57,494.56		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   15,861.75		$   - 0		$   139.20		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   602.90		$   3,023.00		$   - 0						$   25,741.48		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   21,515.19		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   42,896.04		$   109,779.56		$   9,307.19		$   4,575.00		$   - 0		$   13,882.19		$   2,559,976.48

																								$   2,646,665.93		$   19,978,573.13								$   2,632,526.88				$   56,207.22				$   11,308.06		$   19,620,272.61				$   2,831.44		$   302,093.30





																																																																																																																																						$   - 0

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		620492000		$   98.18										$   98.18																										$   - 0																								$   98.18										$   98.18																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   98.18

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		620516000		$   21.70										$   21.70																										$   - 0																								$   21.70										$   21.70																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   21.70

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		620493000		$   3,138.38										$   3,138.38																																																		$   3,138.38										$   3,138.38																																																																																																																												$   3,138.38

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		620508000		$   3,626.74										$   3,626.74																																																		$   3,626.74										$   3,626.74																																																																																																																												$   3,626.74

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		500067100		$   4,605.70										$   4,605.70																																																		$   4,605.70										$   4,605.70																																																																																																																												$   4,605.70

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		620502101		$   5,843.38										$   5,843.38																																																		$   5,843.38										$   5,843.38																																																																																																																												$   5,843.38

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		620510000		$   5,343.78										$   5,343.78																																																		$   5,343.78										$   5,343.78																																																																																																																												$   5,343.78

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		620510040		$   484.32										$   484.32																																																		$   484.32										$   484.32																																																																																																																												$   484.32

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		620510030		$   493.26										$   493.26																																																		$   493.26										$   493.26																																																																																																																												$   493.26

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		5001220000		$   1,642.12										$   1,642.12																																																		$   1,642.12										$   1,642.12																																																																																																																												$   1,642.12

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		720119000		$   4,918.48										$   4,918.48																																																		$   4,918.48										$   4,918.48																																																																																																																												$   4,918.48

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		720115000		$   3,136.70										$   3,136.70																																																		$   3,136.70										$   3,136.70																																																																																																																												$   3,136.70

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Buffalo County Treasurer		72012600		$   4,980.76										$   4,980.76																																																		$   4,980.76										$   4,980.76																																																																																																																												$   4,980.76

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		4800		$   90.72										$   90.72																																																		$   90.72										$   90.72																																																																																																																												$   90.72

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		4808		$   3,906.62										$   3,906.62																																																		$   3,906.62										$   3,906.62																																																																																																																												$   3,906.62

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		4807		$   2,520.12										$   2,520.12																																																		$   2,520.12										$   2,520.12																																																																																																																												$   2,520.12

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		7448		$   519.26										$   519.26																																																		$   519.26										$   519.26																																																																																																																												$   519.26

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		7449		$   340.08										$   340.08																																																		$   340.08										$   340.08																																																																																																																												$   340.08

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		7326		$   503.14										$   503.14																																																		$   503.14										$   503.14																																																																																																																												$   503.14

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		7329		$   2,690.08										$   2,690.08																																																		$   2,690.08										$   2,690.08																																																																																																																												$   2,690.08

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		7463		$   1,018.86										$   1,018.86																																																		$   1,018.86										$   1,018.86																																																																																																																												$   1,018.86

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		7465		$   1,504.98										$   1,504.98																										$   - 0																								$   1,504.98										$   1,504.98																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   1,504.98

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		2		$   1,294.00										$   1,294.00																										$   - 0																								$   1,294.00										$   1,294.00																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   1,294.00

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		4		$   2,340.32										$   2,340.32																										$   - 0																								$   2,340.32										$   2,340.32																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   2,340.32

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Phelps County Treasurer		7465		$   63.36										$   63.36																										$   - 0																								$   63.36										$   63.36																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   63.36

						3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Dawson County Treasurer		240214879		$   1,396.60										$   1,396.60																										$   - 0																								$   1,396.60										$   1,396.60																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   1,396.60

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		400229412		$   5,228.38										$   5,228.38																										$   - 0																								$   5,228.38										$   5,228.38																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   5,228.38

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		400229536		$   5,096.12										$   5,096.12																																																		$   5,096.12										$   5,096.12																																																																																																																												$   5,096.12

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		40229757		$   2,418.92										$   2,418.92																										$   - 0																								$   2,418.92										$   2,418.92																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   2,418.92

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		400229846		$   768.64										$   768.64																										$   - 0																								$   768.64										$   768.64																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   768.64

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		400229490		$   2,964.32										$   2,964.32																										$   - 0																								$   2,964.32										$   2,964.32																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   2,964.32

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		400229947		$   746.20										$   746.20																										$   - 0																								$   746.20										$   746.20																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   746.20

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		400227286		$   3.66										$   3.66																										$   - 0																								$   3.66										$   3.66																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   3.66

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		400229878		$   11.84										$   11.84																										$   - 0																								$   11.84										$   11.84																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   11.84

				X		3/20/12				DISB		268						LP-3		Hall County Treasurer		400229884		$   16.42										$   16.42																										$   - 0																								$   16.42										$   16.42																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   16.42

				X		3/22/12				ASAP		268								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   73,766.14								$   - 0		$   73,766.14		$   73,766.14																						$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						ED-2		Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP		207070		$   25,687.00										$   25,687.00																						$   25,687.00				$   25,687.00																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   25,687.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						LP-4		Tree Amigos		214		$   7,830.00										$   7,830.00																										$   - 0																										$   7,830.00								$   7,830.00																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   7,830.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						LP-4		Chandler Well Service		15087		$   377.67										$   377.67																										$   - 0																										$   377.67								$   377.67																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   377.67

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						LP-4		Reichert, Jerry		3/15/12		$   100.00										$   100.00																										$   - 0																										$   100.00								$   100.00																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   100.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						LP-2		Tree Amigos		213		$   11,790.00										$   11,790.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   11,790.00														$   11,790.00																																																								$   - 0										$   11,790.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						LP-2		Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc		6494		$   26,180.00										$   26,180.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   26,180.00														$   26,180.00																																																								$   - 0										$   26,180.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						LP-2		Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc		6462		$   34,600.00										$   34,600.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   34,600.00														$   34,600.00																																																								$   - 0										$   34,600.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						LP-4		Nebraska Community Foundation		3/2/12		$   483.56										$   483.56																										$   - 0																										$   483.56								$   483.56																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   483.56

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						LP-6		American Real Estate		3/1/12		$   6,943.80										$   6,943.80																										$   - 0																														$   6,943.80				$   6,943.80																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   6,943.80

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						WP-1(b)		Platte Valley Weed Management Area		4/2/12		$   200,000.00										$   200,000.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0				$   200,000.00																						$   200,000.00														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   200,000.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						WP-6		Jim Ostgren Const. Co., Inc.		2057244		$   800.00										$   800.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																$   800.00										$   800.00														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   800.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						WP-8		Hahn Water Resources, LLC		229		$   6,267.74										$   6,267.74																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																				$   6,267.74						$   6,267.74														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   6,267.74

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						PD-19		Inter-fluve, Inc.		10-04-14-19		$   1,139.50										$   1,139.50																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0										$   1,139.50				$   1,139.50																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   1,139.50

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						G-1		Kucera International, Inc.		20996		$   24,000.00										$   24,000.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0		$   24,000.00																																																						$   24,000.00										$   24,000.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						G-5		Ayres and Associates		144361		$   4,635.00										$   4,635.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0						$   4,635.00																																																		$   4,635.00										$   4,635.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						G-5		Ayres and Associates		144360		$   8,896.00										$   8,896.00																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0						$   8,896.00																																																		$   8,896.00										$   8,896.00

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						IMRP-2		AIM Environmental Consultants		1		$   9,860.22										$   9,860.22																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   9,860.22																																								$   9,860.22										$   9,860.22

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						IMRP-4		Tetra Tech, Division		27605.1		$   13,270.54										$   13,270.54																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																				$   13,270.54																																				$   13,270.54										$   13,270.54

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						TP-1		Nebraska Community Foundation		3/2/12		$   188.50										$   188.50																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																										$   188.50														$   188.50										$   188.50

				X		4/3/12				DISB		269						WC-1		West, Inc		35822		$   3,801.11										$   3,801.11																										$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																$   3,801.11																								$   3,801.11										$   3,801.11

						4/5/12				ASAP		269								Bureau of Reclamation		4/5/12				$   386,850.64								$   - 0		$   386,850.64		$   386,850.64																						$   - 0																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   - 0

				X		4/5/12				DISB		270						ED-1		Headwaters Corporation		90		$   154,731.05										$   154,731.05																				$   154,731.05						$   154,731.05																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   154,731.05

						4/12/12				ASAP		270								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   154,731.05										$   154,731.05		$   154,731.05

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						ED-3		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   963.77										$   963.77																								$   963.77		$   963.77																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   963.77

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						GFC-3		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   259.16										$   259.16																										$   - 0						$   259.16				$   259.16																								$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   259.16

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						LAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   329.34										$   329.34																										$   - 0												$   329.34						$   329.34																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   329.34

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						TAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   36.52										$   36.52																										$   - 0														$   36.52				$   36.52																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   36.52

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						WAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   746.68										$   746.68																										$   - 0																$   746.68		$   746.68																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   746.68

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						LP-4		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   1,070.21										$   1,070.21																										$   - 0																		$   - 0								$   1,070.21								$   1,070.21																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   1,070.21

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271		271				TP-1		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   16.05										$   16.05		$   - 0																								$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																								$   - 0		$   - 0												$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																																								$   16.05														$   16.05										$   16.05

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						PD-11		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   1,367.33										$   1,367.33		$   - 0																								$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																								$   - 0		$   - 0												$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																																																						$   - 0		$   - 0				$   1,367.33		$   1,367.33		$   1,367.33

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						PD-18		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   5,500.00										$   5,500.00		$   - 0																								$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																								$   - 0		$   - 0												$   - 0		$   - 0										$   5,500.00						$   5,500.00																																																								$   - 0		$   - 0								$   5,500.00

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						H-2		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   139.66										$   139.66		$   - 0								$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																								$   - 0		$   - 0												$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0								$   139.66																																														$   139.66										$   139.66

				X		4/5/12				DISB		271						WP-9		Headwaters Corporation		91		$   567.96										$   567.96		$   - 0								$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0																				$   567.96				$   567.96														$   - 0		$   - 0																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   567.96

						4/12/12				ASAP		271								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   10,996.68										$   10,996.68		$   10,996.68																																																								$   - 0																																																																																																																												$   - 0

						4/18/12				DISB		273						LP-3		Tri County Title and Escrow Company		4/20/12		$   3,419,857.61										$   3,419,857.61																																																		$   3,419,857.61										$   3,419,857.61																																																																																																																												$   3,419,857.61

						4/28/12				ASAP		273								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   3,419,857.61										$   3,419,857.61		$   3,419,857.61																																																								$   - 0																																																																																																																												$   - 0

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						LP-3		Investment Property Exchange		2519		$   4,500.00										$   4,500.00																																																		$   4,500.00										$   4,500.00																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   4,500.00

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						LP-4		Tracy Cook Construction, LLC		62		$   8,411.25										$   8,411.25																																																				$   8,411.25								$   8,411.25																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   8,411.25

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						LP-6		American Real Estate		4/1/12		$   3,738.61										$   3,738.61																																																								$   3,738.61				$   3,738.61																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   3,738.61

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						WP-6		Jim Ostgren Const. Co., Inc.		1057249		$   8,105.00										$   8,105.00																																																												$   - 0																$   8,105.00										$   8,105.00														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   8,105.00

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						PD-13		Flatwater Group, The		12-1320		$   48,332.05										$   48,332.05																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0						$   48,332.05								$   48,332.05																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   48,332.05

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						LP-2		Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.		12036		$   381.25										$   381.25																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   381.25														$   381.25																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   381.25

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						LP-2		Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.		12037		$   381.25										$   381.25																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   381.25														$   381.25																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   381.25

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						LP-2		Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.		12038		$   395.25										$   395.25																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   395.25														$   395.25																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   395.25

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						LP-2		Dawson County Weed Control		5105		$   8,055.51										$   8,055.51																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   8,055.51														$   8,055.51																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   8,055.51

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						LP-2		Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc		6509		$   28,330.00										$   28,330.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   28,330.00														$   28,330.00																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   28,330.00

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						PD-15		Flatwater Group, The		12-1319		$   15,909.19										$   15,909.19																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0								$   15,909.19										$   15,909.19																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   15,909.19

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						IMRP-2		Kearney Aviation Center		3/12/12		$   896.00										$   896.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   896.00																																								$   896.00								$   - 0		$   896.00

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						PD-8		Audubon Nebraska		021112		$   2,000.00										$   2,000.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																										$   2,000.00																														$   2,000.00								$   - 0		$   2,000.00

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						ISAC-1		Nestler, John M		3/26/12		$   7,800.00										$   7,800.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   7,800.00						$   7,800.00		$   7,800.00

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						ISAC-1		Nestler, John M		3/26/12		$   1,078.38										$   1,078.38																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   1,078.38						$   1,078.38		$   1,078.38

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						ISAC-1		SynInt, Inc.		PRRIP ISAC-09		$   9,764.63										$   9,764.63																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   9,764.63						$   9,764.63		$   9,764.63

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						ISAC-1		Dixon, Phillip M.		3/12 Meeting		$   960.65										$   960.65																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   960.65						$   960.65		$   960.65

				X		4/17/12				DISB		272						PD-3		Fluvial Consulting 		2012-2		$   5,000.00										$   5,000.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0				$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00

						4/19/12				ASAP		272								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter		.		$   154,039.02										$   154,039.02		$   154,039.02																																																								$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

						4/30/12				FEE								GFC-1		Nebraska Community Foundation		At 1.75%		$   40,854.08		$   40,854.08								$   40,854.08																												$   40,854.08								$   40,854.08																																																																																																																																																				$   40,854.08

						4/30/12				FEE								GFC-1		Nebraska Community Foundation		at1.50%		$   27,975.90		$   27,975.90								$   27,975.20				$   40,854.08																								$   27,975.90								$   27,975.90																																																																																																																																																				$   27,975.90

						4/30/12				INC										Nebraska Community Foundation		Direct Interest						$   9,149.91										$   27,975.90		$   28.71						$   8,982.79						$   138.41																																																																																																																																																																						$   - 0

						4/26/12				INC										LIHT 		Rent Irrigation										$   15,545.00								$   13,053.13						$   1,992.88						$   498.99																																																																																																																																																																						$   - 0

																																																																																																																																																																																																																										$   - 0

																																																																																																																																																																																																																										$   - 0

																																				$   - 0								$   - 0						$   - 0										$   181,381.82										$   69,089.14								$   1,112.54																$   3,527,088.85																										$   215,740.70														$   49,471.55																		$   131,522.45																																																								$   67,703.08								$   25,970.99		$   4,269,081.12

																				April 2012 Subtotals				$   4,269,081.12		$   4,269,071.12		$   9,149.91		$   - 0		$   15,545.00		$   4,269,080.42		$   4,200,241.14		$   4,269,071.12		$   13,081.84		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   10,975.67		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   637.40		$   154,731.05		$   25,687.00		$   963.77		$   181,381.82		$   68,829.98		$   - 0		$   259.16		$   - 0		$   69,089.14		$   329.34		$   36.52		$   746.68		$   1,112.54		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,498,133.75		$   18,272.69		$   - 0		$   10,682.41		$   - 0		$   3,527,088.85		$   - 0		$   200,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   8,905.00		$   - 0		$   6,267.74		$   567.96		$   - 0		$   215,740.70		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   48,332.05		$   - 0		$   1,139.50		$   - 0		$   49,471.55		$   - 0		$   110,113.26		$   - 0		$   15,909.19		$   - 0		$   5,500.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   131,522.45		$   24,000.00		$   - 0		$   13,531.00		$   - 0		$   139.66		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   10,756.22		$   - 0		$   13,270.54		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   2,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,801.11		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   204.55		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   67,703.08		$   19,603.66		$   5,000.00		$   1,367.33		$   25,970.99		$   4,269,081.12

																										$   20,003,258.04												$   69,279.76						$   19,631,248.28						$   302,730.70





																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																										$   - 0				$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																				May 2012 Subtotals				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0





				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				1		LP-3		$   154,039.02		2536		$   3,000.00										$   3,000.00																																																		$   3,000.00										$   3,000.00																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   3,000.00

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				2		LP-3		Investment Property Exchange		2537		$   3,000.00										$   3,000.00																																																		$   3,000.00										$   3,000.00																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   3,000.00

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				3		LP-3		Investment Property Exchange		2538		$   3,000.00										$   3,000.00																																																		$   3,000.00										$   3,000.00																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   3,000.00

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				4		LP-3		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation		P20120301		$   14,614.50										$   14,614.50																																																		$   14,614.50										$   14,614.50																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   14,614.50

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				5		WP-6		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		74105		$   15,377.88										$   15,377.88																																																												$   - 0																$   15,377.88										$   15,377.88																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   15,377.88

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				6		WP-8		Tessara Water, LLC		124		$   1,237.50										$   1,237.50																																																												$   - 0																				$   1,237.50						$   1,237.50																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   1,237.50

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				7		LP-2		Root, Tim		9109		$   7,354.00										$   7,354.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																		$   7,354.00														$   7,354.00																																																								$   - 0										$   7,354.00

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				8		G-1		Kucera International, Inc.		21047		$   17,050.00										$   17,050.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0		$   17,050.00																																																						$   17,050.00										$   17,050.00

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				9		G-5		Ayres and Associates		144650		$   3,475.00										$   3,475.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0						$   3,475.00																																																		$   3,475.00										$   3,475.00

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				10		G-5		Ayres and Associates		144651		$   5,077.50										$   5,077.50																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0						$   5,077.50																																																		$   5,077.50										$   5,077.50

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				11		IMRP-2		University of Nebraska Kearney		4/19/12		$   2,499.11										$   2,499.11																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																$   2,499.11																																								$   2,499.11										$   2,499.11

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				12		IMRP-3		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc		14842		$   658.00										$   658.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																$   658.00																																								$   658.00										$   658.00

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				13		PD-8		Riverside Technology, Inc.		4816		$   12,870.74										$   12,870.74																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																										$   12,870.74																														$   12,870.74										$   12,870.74

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				14		TP-1		US Geological Survey		90086915		$   20,359.20										$   20,359.20																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																										$   20,359.20														$   20,359.20										$   20,359.20

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				15		WQ-1		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		74022		$   3,330.00										$   3,330.00																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																						$   3,330.00		$   3,330.00										$   3,330.00

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				16		WQ-1		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		74024		$   7,902.48										$   7,902.48																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																						$   7,902.48		$   7,902.48										$   7,902.48

				X		4/30/12		MAY		DISB		274				17		ISAC-1		Galat, David		4/29/12		$   961.82										$   961.82																																																												$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   961.82						$   961.82		$   961.82

						4/30/12		MAY		ASAP		274								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   121,767.73												$   121,767.73																																																								$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   - 0

				X		5/9/12				DISB		275				1		ED-1		Headwaters Corporation		92		$   211,600.72										$   211,600.72																				$   211,600.72						$   211,600.72																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   211,600.72

																																																												$   - 0

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		ED-3		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   234.75										$   234.75																								$   234.75		$   234.75																																		$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   234.75

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		LAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   80.30										$   80.30																										$   - 0												$   80.30						$   80.30																$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   80.30

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		TAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   45.32										$   45.32																										$   - 0																$   45.32		$   45.32																$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   45.32

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		WAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   548.90										$   548.90																										$   - 0														$   548.90				$   548.90																$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   548.90

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		LP-4		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   1,374.15										$   1,374.15																										$   - 0																		$   - 0								$   1,374.15								$   1,374.15																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   1,374.15

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		TP-1		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   1,093.98										$   1,093.98																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																										$   1,093.98														$   1,093.98										$   1,093.98

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		PD-11		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   6,262.14										$   6,262.14																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0						$   6,262.14		$   6,262.14		$   6,262.14

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		PD-18		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   5,500.00										$   5,500.00																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0																										$   5,500.00						$   5,500.00																																																								$   - 0										$   5,500.00

				X		5/9/12				DISB		276				1		H-2		Headwaters Corporation		93		$   139.20										$   139.20																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0										$   139.20																																														$   139.20										$   139.20

																																																												$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   - 0

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				1		ED-2		Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP		208674		$   13,532.00										$   13,532.00																						$   13,532.00				$   13,532.00																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   13,532.00

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				2		LP-4		Cook Construction		5/6/12		$   2,550.00										$   2,550.00																										$   - 0																		$   - 0								$   2,550.00								$   2,550.00																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   2,550.00

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				3		LP-4		Aurora Cooperative		664935		$   3,609.75										$   3,609.75																										$   - 0																		$   - 0								$   3,609.75								$   3,609.75																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   3,609.75

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				4		LP-4		Cook Construction		5/6/12		$   7,665.60										$   7,665.60																										$   - 0																		$   - 0								$   7,665.60								$   7,665.60																										$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   7,665.60

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				5		LP-2		Cook Construction		5/6/12		$   16,142.50										$   16,142.50																										$   - 0																																																																														$   16,142.50														$   16,142.50																																																																		$   16,142.50

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				6		WP-8		Hahn Water Resources, LLC		232		$   5,880.00										$   5,880.00																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																				$   5,880.00						$   5,880.00																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   5,880.00

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				7		WP-6		Olsson and Associates		171269		$   8,130.05										$   8,130.05																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																$   8,130.05										$   8,130.05																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   8,130.05

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				8		WP-6		Olsson and Associates		172022		$   8,345.93										$   8,345.93																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																$   8,345.93										$   8,345.93																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   8,345.93

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				9		PD-19		Inter-fluve, Inc.		10-4-14-20		$   8,640.71										$   8,640.71																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0										$   8,640.71				$   8,640.71																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   8,640.71

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				10		LP-4		Root, Tim		42412		$   5,920.00										$   5,920.00																										$   - 0																		$   - 0								$   5,920.00								$   5,920.00																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   5,920.00

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				11		LP-2		Root, Tim		42312		$   8,480.40										$   8,480.40																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0				$   8,480.40														$   8,480.40																																																								$   - 0										$   8,480.40

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				12		TP-1		Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd.		SM893517		$   1,394.46										$   1,394.46																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																										$   1,394.46														$   1,394.46										$   1,394.46

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				13		IMRP-3		Ecosystems Advisors		4/16/12		$   1,750.00										$   1,750.00																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																		$   1,750.00																																						$   1,750.00										$   1,750.00

				X		5/9/12				DISB		277				14		IMRP-6		Rainwater Joint Venture		21-Dec		$   20,000.00										$   20,000.00																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																								$   20,000.00																																$   20,000.00										$   20,000.00

						5/9/12				DISB		277				15		WC-3		North Star Science and Technilogy, LLC,		2182		$   61,468.00										$   61,468.00																										$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																				$   61,468.00																				$   61,468.00										$   61,468.00

										ASAP		277								Bureau of Reclamation

				X		5/17/12		JUN		DISB		278				1		WP-6		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		74375		$   13,221.94										$   13,221.94																																																																												$   13,221.94										$   13,221.94																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   13,221.94

				X		5/17/12		JUN		DISB		278				2		LP-2		Hooker Brothers Construction Company		911		$   10,250.50										$   10,250.50																																																																																						$   - 0																		$   10,250.50														$   10,250.50																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   10,250.50

				X		5/17/12		JUN		DISB		278				3		G-5		Ayres and Associates		144971		$   1,737.50										$   1,737.50																																																																																						$   - 0																																$   - 0						$   1,737.50																																																		$   1,737.50								$   - 0		$   1,737.50

				X		5/17/12		JUN		DISB		278				4		WC-1		West, Inc		36190		$   28,795.26										$   28,795.26																																																																																						$   - 0																																$   - 0																																$   28,795.26																								$   28,795.26								$   - 0		$   28,795.26

				X		5/17/12		JUN		DISB		278				5		IMRP-4		Tetra Tech, Division		27605 Year2-1		$   35,426.88										$   35,426.88																																																																																						$   - 0																																$   - 0																				$   35,426.88																																				$   35,426.88								$   - 0		$   35,426.88

				X		5/17/12		JUN		DISB		278				6		ISAC-1		ESSA Technologies		1862		$   1,497.14										$   1,497.14																																																																																						$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   1,497.14						$   1,497.14		$   1,497.14

				X		5/17/12		JUN		DISB		278				7		ISAC-1		ESSA Technologies		1861		$   11,567.00										$   11,567.00																																																																																						$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   11,567.00						$   11,567.00		$   11,567.00

						5/17/12		JUN		DISB		278				8		ISAC-1		US Geological Survey		90091080		$   28,300.00										$   28,300.00																																																																																						$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0		$   28,300.00						$   28,300.00		$   28,300.00

								JUN		DISB		278								Bureau of Reclamation		Letter				$   130,796.22										$   130,796.22																																																																																				$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0



																																																												$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   - 0

																																																												$   - 0																		$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   - 0

																																																												$   225,367.47																		$   674.52																$   44,734.00																										$   52,193.30														$   8,640.71																		$   47,727.40																																																								$   225,027.31								$   48,588.10		$   652,952.81

																				June 2012 Totals				$   652,952.81		$   252,563.95		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   652,952.81				$   121,767.73		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   211,600.72		$   13,532.00		$   234.75		$   225,367.47		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   80.30		$   548.90		$   45.32		$   674.52		$   - 0		$   - 0		23,614.50		21,119.50		- 0		- 0		- 0		$   44,734.00		$   - 0						$   - 0						$   - 0		$   45,075.80		$   - 0		$   7,117.50		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   52,193.30		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   8,640.71		$   - 0		$   8,640.71		$   - 0		$   42,227.40		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   5,500.00		$   - 0				$   47,727.40		$   17,050.00		$   - 0		$   10,290.00		$   - 0		$   139.20		$   - 0				$   3,157.11		$   1,750.00		$   35,426.88				$   20,000.00		$   12,870.74		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   28,795.26		$   - 0		$   61,468.00		$   - 0				$   22,847.64		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   11,232.48		$   225,027.31		$   42,325.96		$   - 0		$   6,262.14		$   48,588.10		$   652,952.81

																										$   (400,388.86)				$   - 0								$   (531,185.08)						$   - 0						$   - 0																				$   - 0								$   - 0																$   - 0																																																										$   - 0																																																																$   - 0		$   - 0



																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0

																																																																																																																								$   - 0																																$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0

																				July 2012 Subtotals																																																																																										$   - 0										$   - 0																		$   - 0														$   - 0						$   - 0														$   - 0												$   - 0																								$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0





















































































































																				August 2011 Totals				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

																										$   - 0												$   - 0						$   - 0						$   - 0

																														$   - 0		$   - 0																																						$   - 0								$   - 0																																																																										$   - 0																																																																$   - 0		$   - 0



















































































































														September Totals						September 2011 Totals				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

																										$   - 0												$   - 0						$   - 0						$   - 0































































































































































														October Totals						October 2011 Totals				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   - 0										$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0

																										$   - 0										$   - 0								$   - 0						$   - 0



































































														November Totals						November 2011 Totals				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

																										$   - 0										$   - 0								$   - 0						$   - 0

















































































































































																				December 2012 Totals				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

																										$   - 0												$   - 0						$   - 0						$   - 0																				$   - 0								$   - 0																$   - 0																																																										$   - 0																																																																$   - 0		$   - 0

																																												         

																																		$   - 0								$   - 0						$   - 0												$   - 0										$   - 0								$   - 0																$   - 0																										$   - 0														$   - 0																		$   - 0																																																								$   - 0								$   - 0		$   - 0





























































																				January 2013 Subtotals				$   - 0		$   - 0								$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0

																																																																																														$   - 0









































































































																				February 2013 Totals				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		$   - 0																$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   - 0										$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

																																																												$   - 0										$   - 0								$   - 0																$   - 0																																														$   - 0												$   - 0																																																								$   - 0										$   - 0

																				Year 6 Fair Share Total				$   7,668,395.84		$   8,982,062.25		$   53,016.40		$   - 0		$   59,113.84		$   7,665,542.58				$   7,811,266.55		$   49,813.83		$   2,281.25		$   1,040,000.04		$   59,589.12		$   571.23		$   0.02		$   2,727.19		$   680,248.15		$   57,024.01		$   57,258.75		$   794,530.91		$   133,917.45		$   64,870.55		$   3,649.70		$   - 0		$   202,437.70		$   497.86		$   1,572.56		$   1,272.92		$   3,343.34		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,528,248.25		$   48,795.37		$   - 0		$   10,682.41		$   - 0		$   3,587,726.03		$   - 0		$   200,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   92,893.45		$   1,958,400.00		$   28,063.66		$   6,184.24		$   - 0		$   2,285,541.35		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   48,332.05		$   - 0		$   12,419.26		$   - 0		$   60,751.31		$   - 0		$   204,335.22		$   - 0		$   15,909.19		$   - 0		$   22,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   242,244.41		$   41,050.00		$   - 0		$   39,682.75		$   - 0		$   537.62		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   14,516.23		$   4,773.00		$   48,697.42		$   - 0		$   20,000.00		$   40,612.22		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   54,111.56		$   - 0		$   61,468.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   23,052.19		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   54,128.52		$   402,629.51		$   71,986.81		$   9,575.00		$   7,629.47		$   89,191.28		$   7,668,395.84

																																																												$   794,530.91										$   202,437.70								$   3,343.34																$   3,587,726.03																										$   2,285,541.35														$   60,751.31																		$   242,244.41																																																								$   402,629.51								$   89,191.28		$   7,668,395.84

												1								Cumulative Fair Share to Date				$   45,532,705.57		$   64,742,404.51		$   538,207.42		$   - 0		$   230,488.06		$   39,460,214.34				$   38,582,380.32		$   415,911.19		$   4,856,477.19		$   23,929,395.06		$   558,327.85		$   1,216,013.26		$   1,493,652.36		$   25,091.26								$   8,087,361.82										$   1,163,321.47								$   10,335.02														- 0		$   20,541,674.65																										$   5,418,318.22														$   1,417,987.35																		$   1,991,804.19																																																								$   6,225,047.70								$   676,854.51		$   45,532,704.93

																				Year Three Unexpended Budget																																		$   919,751.85		$   142,975.99		$   (7,258.75)		$   1,055,469.09		$   166,082.55		$   10,129.45		$   (2,649.70)		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!		$   502.14		$   (572.56)		$   (272.92)		$   (343.34)		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!		$   1,471,751.75		$   316,704.63								$   2,227,773.97		$   250,000.00				$   - 0		$   - 0				$   5,100,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   507,106.55		$   (1,658,400.00)						$   - 0		$   4,664,458.65		$   10,000.00		$   150,000.00		$   301,667.95		ERROR:#REF!						ERROR:#REF!		$   - 0		$   278,664.78		$   - 0		$   184,090.81		$   - 0		$   33,000.00		$   150,000.00				$   645,755.59		$   33,950.00		$   25,000.00		$   407,817.25		$   - 0		$   49,462.38		$   - 0		ERROR:#REF!		$   435,483.77										$   99,387.78		ERROR:#REF!		$   - 0		$   115,888.44		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!		ERROR:#REF!				$   276,947.81		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   225,871.48		ERROR:#REF!		$   113,013.19		$   105,425.00		$   17,370.53		$   235,808.72		ERROR:#REF!

																				Cumulative Partner Balance/(Deficit)						19,978,394.42												(461,922.84)						19,631,245.72						302,730.36																																																																																																																																																																								$   - 0



																										$   65,511,099.99				$   112,130.24				$   999,330.29				$   38,998,291.51						$   24,487,722.91

																														$   768,695.48																				$   1,518,743.62

																				$   6,439,151.99						$   19,747,906.36						$   50,862.27						$   7,668,395.06																				8956383.24

																						$   45,532,704.79				Y3		$   15,180,890.10				$   31,224.95																										-8953194.84

																				$   37,864,309.73												$   1,565.62																										3188.4000000004

																						$   64,005,427.74				$   64,005,427.74		$   13,221,900.75				$   83,652.84								July 1, 2009 - June 30, 2010 Data

																																										Contributions		Income		Total

																						$   19,472,053.24						$   55,154,161.13						Corrected $						Interior		$   7,782,437.17		$   (14,235.94)		$   7,768,201.23

																																		$   - 0						Colorado		$   25,446,356.12		$   100,866.41		$   25,547,222.53

																						$   6,439,151.99						$   14,738,923.52												Wyoming		$   567,128.84		$   2,590.11		$   569,718.95

																						983,088.35												$   - 0												$   33,885,142.71

																						246,155.51				yr2		$   14,738,923.52														Expenditures

																						0.00																		Interior		$   10,745,269.16

																																		$   - 0						Colorado		$   1,640,518.67

																																								Wyoming		$   350,844.31

																																		$   - 0								$   12,736,632.14





																																																WY

																																																979.34



























Contracts Alpha



				PLATTE RIVER IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       CONTRACTOR / PAYEE SUMMARY ALPHA                                                                                                                             



				Platte River Recovery Implementation Program                                                                                                                                                                                                                    Contractor/Payee Transaction Totals Listed Alphabetically                                                                                                                                               





				CONTRACTOR/PAYEE		TOTAL 2007    YEAR ONE		TOTAL 2008    YEAR TWO		TOTAL 2009   YEAR THREE		TOTAL 2010   YEAR FOUR						TOTAL PROGRAM TO DATE

														Total 2011 		Total 2012

														Year Five		Year Six



				Ace Irrigation and Mfg. Co.										$   909.82				$   909.82

				Adams and Sullivan						$   212.50		$   250.00						$   462.50

				AECOM USA, Inc						$   19,139.97		$   757.25						$   19,897.22

				Ag Systems								$   1,843.82						$   1,843.82

				Agri Affiliates, Inc.						$   3,750.00				$   4,026.75				$   7,776.75

				AIM Environmental Consultants		$   124,838.37		$   111,438.30		$   135,637.58		$   132,917.31		$   105,838.28		$   9,860.22		$   620,530.06

				American Airboat Corporation						$   53,440.00								$   53,440.00

				American Fence Company								$   12,565.00						$   12,565.00

				American Real Estate								$   59,115.02		$   46,199.41		$   10,682.41		$   115,996.84

				Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc		$   - 0		$   10,586.50		$   63,768.45		$   92,390.67		$   53,570.51		$   1,681.00		$   221,997.13

				AREA Services								$   1,008.53						$   1,008.53

				Argo of Omaha						$   24,987.00		$   143.00						$   25,130.00

				Atkins										$   19,845.50		$   4,575.00		$   24,420.50

				Audubon Nebraska								$   5,000.00		$   2,000.00		$   2,000.00		$   9,000.00

				Auman and Purcell		$   1,749.51												$   1,749.51

				Aurora Cooperative						$   3,211.41		$   15,200.56		$   8,333.53		$   3,609.75		$   30,355.25

				Ayres and Associates		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   380,500.00		$   329,536.00		$   414,654.25		$   39,682.75		$   1,164,373.00

				Barney Abstract and Title Company				$   - 0		$   2,865,063.16								$   2,865,063.16

				Bauer Well Drilling, Inc.								$   2,941.00		$   1,619.00				$   4,560.00

				Beckner, Brian F Attorney at Law		0		0		$   6,607.51		$   7,926.46		$   8,574.14				$   23,108.11

				Bell, Tracey								$   2,137.50						$   2,137.50

				Benson, Roger								$   1,550.41		$   1,549.79				$   3,100.20

				Big Rack Schack								$   1,389.40						$   1,389.40

				Bill's Trailer Sales						$   2,235.00								$   2,235.00

				Bleed, Ann and Associates								$   13,235.50						$   13,235.50

				Blessing Construction								$   3,987.90		$   6,700.00				$   10,687.90

				Blythe Kerry L										$   500.00				$   500.00

				Bomberger Brown, Mary						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Boyle Engineering		$   117,999.92		$   155,969.84										$   273,969.76

				Broadfoot Sand & Gravel								$   11,212.96		$   78,207.50				$   89,420.46

				Broadfoot, Terry L								$   37,500.00						$   37,500.00

				Buffalo County Treasurer								$   21,385.24		$   32,192.94		$   38,333.50		$   91,911.68

				Buffalo Surveying Corporation						$   4,228.60								$   4,228.60

				Bureau of Reclamation		$   41,783.00		$   23,120.00		$   - 0								$   64,903.00

				Cargill, Incorporated		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   13,191.77		$   7,349.38		$   34,131.07				$   54,672.22

				Carlson Bros.								$   1,044.00						$   1,044.00

				Carlson, Jeff and Bertina								$   2,000.00						$   2,000.00

				Carnevale Environmental Consulting, LLC												$   6,628.00		$   6,628.00

				Casper Star Tribune		$   97.44		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   97.44

				CDR Associates						$   28,382.04								$   28,382.04

				Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District						$   67,207.66				$   69,477.00				$   136,684.66

				Central Nebraska Bobcat								$   1,838.13						$   1,838.13

				Central Platte NRD		$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00		$   103,418.20		$   190,725.00		$   1,017.50				$   315,160.70

				Chandler Well Service						$   2,007.34		$   11,633.16		$   7,945.86		$   377.67		$   21,964.03

				Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP										$   39,497.20		$   51,955.51		$   91,452.71

				CMC 								$   7,975.00						$   7,975.00

				ComforTech Service						$   1,749.23		$   6,383.90		$   3,769.33		$   5,067.90		$   16,970.36

				Compass Tools		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   12,140.00		$   26,160.59						$   38,300.59

				Cook Construction						$   9,163.26		$   185,972.28		$   266,439.29		$   26,358.10		$   487,932.93

				Cook, Ed and Betty								$   2,000.00						$   2,000.00

				Cornerstone Mapping		$   - 0		$   14,026.00		$   20,850.00		$   25,309.50		$   22,309.50				$   82,495.00

				Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.								$   2,705.00		$   10,628.75		$   1,157.75		$   14,491.50

				Crane Meadows Nature Center		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   20,000.00								$   20,000.00

				Cunningham Trust Account								$   2,906,664.25						$   2,906,664.25

				Curators of University of Missouri		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   8,000.00								$   8,000.00

				Custom Masonry and Carpentry						$   10,948.33								$   10,948.33

				Dawson County Treasurer								$   1,368.10		$   1,435.82		$   1,396.60		$   4,200.52

				Dawson Public Power District								$   36,793.00						$   36,793.00

				Dawson County Weed Control		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,984.65		$   8,906.22		$   9,293.58		$   8,055.51		$   30,239.96				9416129.83

				Denver Newspaper Agency		$   577.00												$   577.00				-9413969.13

				Dewberry and Davis, LLC										$   16,700.00				$   16,700.00				2160.6999999992

				Dixon, Phillip M.		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   10,220.03		$   20,386.58		$   25,371.36		$   960.65		$   56,938.62

				Double M Farms, Inc.								$   20,717.38		$   25,639.57				$   46,356.95

				Ducks Unlimited								$   93,450.16		$   24,408.00				$   117,858.16

				Dunbar Insurance Agency				$   41,834.00		$   56,394.00		$   62,632.00		$   69,026.00		$   64,870.55		$   294,756.55

				EA Engineering		$   - 0		$   40,000.00		$   176,543.20		$   233,396.51		$   557,972.98		$   102,423.89		$   1,110,336.58

				Ecosystems Advisors, LP										$   24,950.24		$   3,750.00		$   28,700.24

				EdBroadfoot and Sons Sand and Gravel						$   503.24								$   503.24

				Electrical Services												$   166.16		$   166.16

				Environment Direct						$   4,150.00								$   4,150.00

				ESSA Technologies						$   11,770.78		$   35,222.88		$   63,184.90		$   22,371.33		$   132,549.89

				Everglades National Park		$   1,136.87		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   1,136.87

				Fedex		$   25.65		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   25.65

				Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc												$   89,110.00		$   89,110.00

				Fisheries and Environmental Services Partnership										$   24,700.00				$   24,700.00

				Flatwater Group, The						$   89,208.79		$   370,791.21		$   273,824.93		$   64,241.24		$   798,066.17

				Fluvial Consulting										$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00		$   10,000.00

				Frahm Construction Inc.								$   18,500.00						$   18,500.00

				Full Circle Irrigation, LLC.										$   3,917.27				$   3,917.27

				Galat, David												$   961.82		$   961.82

				Ganz Title and Escrow Company		$   - 0		$   525.00		$   - 0								$   525.00

				Geotechnical Services, Inc., 								$   360.00						$   360.00

				Golder Associates								$   22,878.77		$   447.85				$   23,326.62

				Graczyk Lawn & Landscape								$   2,518.68						$   2,518.68

				Grand Island Abstract, Escrow & Title Co.						$   700.00		$   300.00		$   205.25				$   1,205.25

				Great American Insurance Group								$   149.00						$   149.00

				Great Plains Appraisal		$   - 0		$   8,100.00		$   5,670.00								$   13,770.00

				Gross Seed Co. Inc.								$   6,460.00		$   2,080.00				$   8,540.00

				Habitat Services						$   698.60								$   698.60

				Hahn Water Resources, LLC						$   36,579.83		$   52,853.89		$   116,263.31		$   19,260.66		$   224,957.69

				Hall County Treasurer												$   17,254.50		$   17,254.50

				Hall, Robert O. Jr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Harders Dozer and Scraper Work										$   9,700.00				$   9,700.00

				HDR Engineering		$   - 0		$   56,458.42		$   168,195.10		$   382,930.93		$   213,822.83				$   821,407.28

				Headwaters Corporation		$   357,138.23		$   1,237,124.38		$   1,575,634.57		$   1,767,071.79		$   1,872,652.17		$   735,588.09		$   7,545,209.23

				H.O. Smith Company								$   325.00						$   325.00

				Honey Creek Resources, Inc.						$   13,259.88		$   24,096.66		$   10,500.07				$   47,856.61

				Hood, Roger L. Construction								$   79,200.00						$   79,200.00

				Hooker Brothers Construction Co.												$   10,250.50		$   10,250.50

				H2 Options Engineering, LLC								$   10,110.50						$   10,110.50

				Huggins, Donald G.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				In-Situ Inc.										$   13,906.37		$   5,616.28		$   19,522.65

				Inter-fluve, Inc.								$   81,677.06		$   104,277.64		$   12,419.26		$   198,373.96

				Investment Property Exchange		0		$   6,500.00		$   17,050.00		$   9,000.00		$   19,000.00		$   20,000.00		$   71,550.00

				Jack Lederman Company										$   1,854.22		$   551.44		$   2,405.66

				Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson Law Firm		0		$   5,028.25		$   16,125.97								$   21,154.22

				Janet K Fox Revocable Trust		0		0		$   20,000.00								$   20,000.00

				Janssen Motor Company		0		0		$   26,884.00								$   26,884.00

				Jim Ostgren Const. Co., Inc.								$   2,560.00		$   25,500.00		$   8,905.00		$   36,965.00

				Julien, Pierre Y.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Kappenman, Kevin M. (USFWS						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Kearney Area Chamber of Commerce								$   3,500.00						$   3,500.00

				Kearney Aviation Center												$   1,498.90		$   1,498.90

				Kehl Tree Service								$   350.00						$   350.00

				Kingelhoefer Well Drilling										$   1,242.85				$   1,242.85

				Klein Demolition								$   480.00						$   480.00

				Kucera International, Inc										$   41,000.00		$   41,050.00		$   82,050.00

				Kugler Company		0		$   6,037.60		$   13,999.20		$   9,237.04						$   29,273.84

				Land Services, LLC		0		0		$   40,833.44		$   82,937.66		$   68,334.14				$   192,105.24

				Leininger Smith Johnson Baack, etc										$   5,117.50				$   5,117.50

				Lightbody, Anne										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Lincoln Children's Museum												$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00

				Lytle Water Solutions, LLC		0		$   5,226.93		$   - 0								$   5,226.93

				M. Kent Loftin		0		$   - 0		$   8,000.00		$   19,000.00						$   27,000.00

				Marmorek, David R.		0		$   - 0		$   11,000.00								$   11,000.00

				McBain & Trush, Inc.		$   20,333.32		$   24,495.12		$   7,049.91								$   51,878.35

				Mehl, Katherine R., Dr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Meier, Mark										$   514.00				$   514.00				65087.47

				Michael Forsberg Photography								$   840.00						$   840.00				483.56

				Mid-Continent Appraisals		$   - 0		$   1,500.00		$   6,000.00								$   7,500.00				65571.03

				Mike Nelson Land Development, Inc.										$   26,956.00				$   26,956.00

				Milco Invironmental Services, Inc.						$   10,728.25								$   10,728.25

				Millspaugh, Joshua J.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Natural Resources Conservation Service		$   - 0		$   250,000.00		$   2,950.00								$   252,950.00

				NAU Country Insurance Company						$   2,839.63		$   1,155.00		$   2,484.00				$   6,478.63

				Nebraska Community Foundation		$   22,147.61		$   77,178.48		$   235,881.20		$   206,470.89		$   177,407.09		$   134,589.51		$   853,674.78

				Nebraska Game and Parks						$   3,000.00				$   50,000.00				$   53,000.00

				Nebraska Nature and Visitor Center								$   20,000.00		$   20,000.00		$   5,000.00		$   45,000.00

				Nebraska Public Power District		$   6,885.00		$   1,100,546.32		$   214,428.98		$   86,602.28		$   42,791.44				$   1,451,254.02

				Nestler, John M		0		0		$   11,951.26		$   22,390.54		$   3,920.23		$   8,878.38		$   47,140.41

				NET Foundation for Television										$   50,000.00		$   25,000.00		$   75,000.00

				North Line GIS, LLC								$   3,360.00						$   3,360.00

				North Star Science and Tchnology, LC												$   61,468.00		$   61,468.00

				Nuttelman Fencing, Inc.								$   52,750.87		$   63,706.32				$   116,457.19

				Olsson and Associates		0		0		$   239,099.92		$   182,055.98		$   196,468.63		$   35,693.08		$   653,317.61

				Omaha World Herald		$   439.20		0		$   - 0								$   439.20

				O'Neill Transportation and Equipment, LLC										$   11,071.25				$   11,071.25

				O'Neill Wood Resources, LLC								$   12,638.25						$   12,638.25

				Overton Sand & Gravel								$   238.95						$   238.95

				PAC's Painting and Handyman Services								$   14,845.32		$   9,396.26		$   866.93		$   25,108.51

				Parker, Grossart, Bahensky, and Beucke, LLC		0		0		$   563,402.76		$   4,063.50		$   2,015.61				$   569,481.87

				PBS&J						$   66,252.33								$   66,252.33

				Peltz, Christopher D.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Peters, Edward J		0		$   30,979.25		$   - 0								$   30,979.25

				Peterson Drilling Inc.										$   10,030.00				$   10,030.00

				Peterson, Rocky and DeAnne								$   2,000.00						$   2,000.00

				Phelps County Title Company		0		$   - 0		$   3,264,879.90		$   100.00						$   3,264,979.90

				Phelps County Treasurer								$   6,460.68		$   15,819.24		$   16,791.54		$   39,071.46

				Pitlick, John, Dr. 						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation		0		$   44,582.50		$   55,187.94		$   45,876.59		$   44,652.16		$   14,614.50		$   204,913.69

				Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust		$   10,334.40		$   5,196.36		$   145,000.00		$   125,000.00		$   50,786.54				$   336,317.30

				Platte Valley Weed Management Area								$   400,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   800,000.00

				Plautz Farms										$   9,317.52				$   9,317.52

				Powell, Larkin A.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Practical Stats										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Prairie Legacy								$   798.25		$   855.16				$   1,653.41

				Prairie Loft												$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00

				Prairie Plains Resource Institute								$   14,070.00		$   8,645.65				$   22,715.65

				Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd.								$   2,692.86				$   1,394.46		$   4,087.32

				Pruss Excavation Company								$   224,448.46		$   355,496.59				$   579,945.05

				Purcell Consulting		$   3,400.00												$   3,400.00

				Rachow, Larry										$   16,560.00				$   16,560.00

				Rainwater Basin Joint Venture										$   24,000.00		$   20,000.00		$   44,000.00

				Reichert, Jerry												$   100.00		$   100.00

				Renken Construction 						$   1,875.00								$   1,875.00

				Rickly Hydrologic Company				$   2,875.24										$   2,875.24

				Riverside Technology, Inc.						$   156,719.25		$   470,150.67		$   139,965.53		$   38,612.22		$   805,447.67

				Rk Electric								$   8,582.27		$   2,550.23				$   11,132.50

				Root, Tim										$   3,376.00		$   27,053.50		$   30,429.50

				Rowe Sanctuary						$   2,000.00						$   5,000.00		$   7,000.00

				Rural Community Insurance Services								$   3,474.00						$   3,474.00

				Schemmer Associates, Inc.						$   25,576.24		$   47,217.86		$   32,126.15				$   104,920.25

				Shepardson, Van								$   569.80						$   569.80

				Shields, F. Douglas, Jr., Dr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc		$   101,193.50		$   10,805.50		$   69,188.00		$   15,373.00						$   196,560.00

				Sky Helicopters, Inc		$   6,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   6,000.00

				Smith Law Offices, 		$   3,675.00		$   5,287.50		$   3,900.00								$   12,862.50

				Software One						$   11,651.42								$   11,651.42

				Southern Power District								$   9,015.00		$   11,514.14				$   20,529.14

				Sower Agribusiness, LLC				$   3,700.00		$   3,500.00								$   7,200.00

				Stadler Implement								$   604.26						$   604.26

				StatMathComp Consulting by Schwarz, Inc								$   3,040.00		$   6,996.73				$   10,036.73

				Stella, John C.										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Synlnt, Inc.		$   - 0								$   36,232.85		$   9,764.63		$   45,997.48

				Tagge Engineering				$   1,718.40		$   1,205.60		$   673.15						$   3,597.15

				Seth Tausan (Tausan Weed Control)								$   3,900.00		$   13,445.00				$   17,345.00

				T.D.'s Portable Welding		$   - 0						$   339.31						$   339.31

				TELEDYNE ISCO, INC				$   9,656.65		$   - 0		$   27,802.41		$   13,692.28				$   51,151.34

				Tessara Water, LLC								$   1,182.19		$   15,991.10		$   2,175.00		$   19,348.29

				Tetra Tech Divisions, Inc.								$   71,456.99		$   286,817.06		$   48,697.42		$   406,971.47

				Tillotson Enterprises								$   2,834.00				$   2,166.00		$   5,000.00

				Tom's Electric						$   9,705.00		$   4,020.20						$   13,725.20

				Town and Country Realty of Kearney						$   60,000.00								$   60,000.00

				Town-N-Country Electric, Inc.								$   3,807.00						$   3,807.00

				Tracy Cook Construction, LLC 		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   30,362.31		$   8,411.25		$   38,773.56

				Tree Amigos						$   6,820.00				$   3,200.00		$   65,920.00		$   75,940.00

				Trenton D. Snow, LLC						$   1,850.00								$   1,850.00

				Tri County Title and Escrow Company		$   - 0				$   2,047,491.25		$   305,052.25		$   1,999,750.08		$   3,419,857.61		$   7,772,151.19

				Trinity Steel Supply				$   743.25										$   743.25

				TRLcam.com										$   22,805.45				$   22,805.45

				TSL Terminals, Ltd.						$   1,850.00				$   3,252.00				$   5,102.00

				Tyre, Dr. Andrew J.						$   2,320.08		$   7,199.38						$   9,519.46

				University of Georgia						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				University of Missouri 						$   1,464.28		$   19,844.92		$   25,474.13				$   46,783.33

				University of Nebraska Kearney										$   11,008.06		$   2,499.11		$   13,507.17

				University of Nebraska Lincoln		$   - 0		$   7,837.50		$   - 0		$   13,329.23		$   11,468.48				$   32,635.21

				Up in Smoke Custom Burning, Inc. 								$   4,770.00						$   4,770.00

				USDA Agricultural Research Service		0						$   38,712.82		$   125,176.37				$   163,889.19

				US Fish and Wildlife Service		0		$   125,000.00		$   (70,000.00)		$   (28,473.03)						$   26,526.97

				US Geological Survey				$   27,035.00		$   135,710.96		$   184,181.92		$   194,932.02		$   48,659.20		$   590,519.10

				Vintage Title and Escrow Company 								$   750.00						$   750.00

				WARD Laboratories								$   272.20						$   272.20

				Webber, Larry J.										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				West, Inc		$   228,838.20		$   98,067.64						$   80,941.00		$   54,111.56		$   461,958.40

				West Central Weed Management Area						$   80,000.00								$   80,000.00

				Whiles, Matthew, Dr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Wilbur-Ellis								$   1,393.33						$   1,393.33

				Wilcox, Andrew										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Wilson, Lee and Associates, Inc										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Wood Buffalo Helicopters, Inc,										$   41,999.99				$   41,999.99

				Woodman Drilling and Irrigation, Inc.								$   209.71		$   5,804.68				$   6,014.39

				Woods & Aitken								$   3,567.00		$   168.00				$   3,735.00

				Wyoming Water Development Commission												$   1,958,400.00		$   1,958,400.00

				GIA DocStampTax Return Hoskins										$   (20.25)				$   (20.25)

				Adjustment 										0.28

						$   1,058,592.22		$   3,559,179.93		$   13,587,723.45		$   10,245,625.00		$   9,413,189.13		$   7,668,395.84		$   45,532,705.57





















Contracts Budget



				PLATTE RIVER IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM                                                                                                                                                      CONTRACTOR / PAYEE SUMMARY 

		Task ID		Platte River Recovery Implementation Program                                                                                                                                                                                                  Contract Totals by Budget Sections                                  





				CONTRACTOR/PAYEE		Total 2007 Year One		TOTAL 2008 YEAR TWO		TOTAL 2009 YEAR THREE		TOTAL 2010 YEAR FOUR		TOTAL 2011 YEAR FIVE		TOTAL 2012 YEAR SIX		TOTAL PROGRAM TO DATE





				Executive Director's Office (ED)

		ED-1		Executive Director (ED-1)

				Headwaters Corporation		$   348,673.30		$   1,220,138.33		$   1,535,891.24		$   1,650,847.94		$   1,725,903.82		$   680,248.15		$   7,161,702.78

				West. Inc		$   210,292.78		$   53,974.94										$   264,267.72

				Subtotal 		$   558,966.08		$   1,274,113.27		$   1,535,891.24		$   1,650,847.94		$   1,725,903.82		$   680,248.15		$   7,425,970.50



		ED-2		Administrative and Other Support Services (ED-2)

				Adams & Sullivan, P.C.						$   212.50		$   250.00						$   462.50

				Agri Affiliates, Inc.						$   3,750.00								$   3,750.00

				Barney Abstract and Title Company						$   1,625.00								$   1,625.00

				Brian F. Beckner, Attorney at Law		$   - 0		0		$   6,607.51		$   7,926.46		$   8,574.14				$   23,108.11

				Buffalo Surveying Corporation						$   4,228.60								$   4,228.60

				Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP										$   31,541.80		$   51,955.51		$   83,497.31

				Ganz Title and Escrow Company		$   - 0		$   525.00		$   - 0								$   525.00

				Grand Island Abstract, Escrow & Title Co. 						$   700.00		$   300.00						$   1,000.00

				Great Plains Appraisal		$   - 0		$   8,100.00		$   5,670.00								$   13,770.00

				Headwaters Corporation		$   - 0		$   8,165.72		$   8,764.65		$   14,632.00		$   19,699.45		$   5,068.50		$   56,330.32

				Investment Property Exchange		0		$   6,500.00		$   17,050.00		$   9,000.00		$   19,000.00				$   51,550.00

				H.O. Smith Company								$   325.00						$   325.00

				Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson Law Firm		$   - 0		$   5,028.25		$   16,125.97								$   21,154.22

				Land Services, LLC		$   - 0		0		$   40,833.44		$   82,937.66		$   56,311.08				$   180,082.18

				Leininger Smith Johnson Baack etc										$   5,117.50				$   5,117.50

				Mid-Continent Appraisals		$   - 0		$   1,500.00		$   6,000.00								$   7,500.00

				Milco Environmental Services, Inc.						$   10,728.25								$   10,728.25

				Olsson and Associates		$   - 0		0		$   18,067.92				$   12,199.08				$   30,267.00

				Phelps County Title Company		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   500.00		$   100.00						$   600.00

				Sower Agribusiness, LLC		$   - 0		$   3,700.00		$   3,500.00								$   7,200.00

				Tagge Engineering		$   - 0				$   250.00		$   673.15						$   923.15

				Trenton D. Snow, LLC						$   1,850.00								$   1,850.00

				US Fish and Wildlife Service						$   5,000.00								$   5,000.00

				Vintage Title and Escrow Company								$   750.00						$   750.00

				Woods & Aitken 								$   3,567.00		$   168.00				$   3,735.00

				Subtotal 		$   - 0		$   33,518.97		$   151,463.84		$   120,461.27		$   152,611.05		$   57,024.01		$   515,079.14



		ED-3		Public Outreach (ED-3)

				Crane Meadows						$   20,000.00								$   20,000.00

				Headwaters Corporation		$   - 0				$   8,310.63		$   12,606.70		$   27,129.58		$   7,146.91		$   55,193.82		12606.7

				Jack Lederman Company												$   111.84		$   111.84

				Lincoln Children's Museum												$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00

				Nabraska Nature and Visitor Center								$   20,000.00		$   20,000.00		$   5,000.00		$   45,000.00

				NET Foundation for Television												$   25,000.00		$   25,000.00

				Prairie Loft												$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00

				Rowe Sanctuary						$   2,000.00						$   5,000.00		$   7,000.00

				TSL Terminals, Ltd.										$   3,252.00				$   3,252.00

				Subtotal 		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   30,310.63		$   32,606.70		$   50,381.58		$   57,258.75		$   170,557.66



				Subtotal Executive Director's Office:		$   558,966.08		$   1,307,632.24		$   1,717,665.71		$   1,803,915.91		$   1,928,896.45		$   794,530.91		$   8,111,607.30



				Governance Committee/Finance Committee (GFC)



		GFC-1		NCF Fees (GFC-1)

				Nebraska Community Foundation		$   22,147.61		$   77,178.48		$   235,881.20		$   206,470.89		$   177,407.09		$   133,917.45		$   853,002.72

				Headwaters Corporation										$   363.22				$   363.22

				Subtotal 		$   22,147.61		$   77,178.48		$   235,881.20		$   206,470.89		$   177,770.31		$   133,917.45		$   853,365.94



		GFC-2		Pulse Flow and Other Insurance (GFC-2)

				Dunbar Insurance Agency				$   41,834.00		$   56,394.00		$   62,632.00		$   69,026.00		$   64,870.55		$   294,756.55

				Headwaters Corporation		$   2,448.21								$   - 0				$   2,448.21

				Subtotal 		$   2,448.21		$   41,834.00		$   56,394.00		$   62,632.00		$   69,026.00		$   64,870.55		$   297,204.76



		GFC-3		Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY08-FY19)		$   - 0

				Fedex		$   25.65												$   25.65

				Headwaters Corporation		$   976.17		$   1,500.12		$   3,378.95		$   499.92		$   2,720.26		$   3,649.70		$   12,725.12		499.92

				Subtotal 		$   1,001.82		$   1,500.12		$   3,378.95		$   499.92		$   2,720.26		$   3,649.70		$   12,750.77



				Subtotal Governance Committee/Finance Committee		$   25,597.64		$   120,512.60		$   295,654.15		$   269,602.81		$   249,516.57		$   202,437.70		$   1,163,321.47



				Program Advisory Committees

		LAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		$   201.36		$   414.04		$   245.56		$   - 0		$   785.40		$   497.86		$   2,144.22

		WAC-1		Headwaters Corporation				$   23.56						$   2,330.90		$   2,282.72		$   4,637.18

		TAC-1		Headwaters Corporation		$   820.00		$   75.00		$   864.30				$   1,231.56		$   562.76		$   3,553.62

				Subtotal Program Advisory Committees		$   1,021.36		$   512.60		$   1,109.86		$   - 0		$   4,347.86		$   3,343.34		$   10,335.02



				Land Plan Implementation (LP)

		LP-2		Land Interest Holding Entity Negotiations & Start-Up (FY07)

				Smith Law Offices, 		$   3,675.00		$   5,287.50		$   3,900.00								$   12,862.50

				Southern Power District										$   11,514.14				$   11,514.14

				Tracy Cook Construction										$   5,128.11				$   5,128.11

				Subtotal 		$   3,675.00		$   5,287.50		$   3,900.00		$   - 0		$   16,642.25		$   - 0		$   29,504.75



		LP-2(A)		Cottonwood Ranch Maintenance and Enhancement

				Broadfoot Sand and Gravel								$   8,877.50						$   8,877.50

				Nebraska Public Power District				$   251,710.10		$   187,879.35								$   439,589.45

				Olsson And Associates								$   93.84						$   93.84

				Subtotal 				$   251,710.10		$   187,879.35		$   8,971.34		$   - 0				$   448,560.79



		LP-2(B)		Pre 2007 Cottonwood Ranch Maintenance and Enhancement

				Nebraska Public Power District				$   848,836.22										$   848,836.22

				Subtotal 				$   848,836.22		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   848,836.22



		LP-3		LAND ACQUISITION														$   - 0

				Barney Abstract and Title Company		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   2,863,438.16								$   2,863,438.16

				Broadfoot, Terry								$   37,500.00						$   37,500.00

				Broadfoot Sand and Gravel										$   8,702.50				$   8,702.50

				Buffalo County Treasurer								$   21,385.24		$   32,192.94		$   38,333.50		$   91,911.68

				Cunningham Trust Account								$   2,906,664.25						$   2,906,664.25

				Dawson County Treasurer								$   1,368.10		$   1,435.82		$   1,396.60		$   4,200.52

				Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc.												$   89,110.00		$   89,110.00

				Grand Island Abstract, Escrow & Title Co.										$   205.25				$   205.25

				Hall County Treasurer												$   17,254.50		$   17,254.50

				Headwaters Corporation				$   4,303.01						$   3,110.32		$   - 0		$   7,413.33

				Investment Property Exchange												$   20,000.00		$   20,000.00

				Janet K Fox Revocable Trust		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   20,000.00								$   20,000.00

				Land Services, LLC										$   7,067.66				$   7,067.66

				Natural Resources Conservation Service		$   - 0				$   2,950.00								$   2,950.00

				Parker, Grossart, Bahensky, and Beucke, LLC		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   563,402.76		$   4,063.50		$   2,015.61				$   569,481.87

				Phelps County Title Company						$   3,264,379.90		$   - 0						$   3,264,379.90

				Phelps County Treasurer								$   6,460.68		$   15,819.24		$   16,791.54		$   39,071.46

				Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation		$   - 0		$   44,582.50		$   55,187.94		$   45,876.59		$   44,652.16		$   14,614.50		$   204,913.69

				Prairie Legacy								$   798.25		$   855.16				$   1,653.41

				Town and Country Realty of Kearney as Escrow Agent						$   60,000.00								$   60,000.00

				Tri-County Title and Escrow Company						$   2,047,491.25		$   305,052.25		$   1,999,750.08		$   3,419,857.61		$   7,772,151.19

				Subtotal 		$   - 0		$   48,885.51		$   8,876,850.01		$   3,329,168.86		$   2,115,806.74		$   3,617,358.25		$   17,988,069.37



		LP-4		Day to Day Operations 

				Ace Irrigation and Mfg. Co.										$   909.93				$   909.93

				Ag Sysems								$   1,843.82						$   1,843.82

				American Fence Company								$   12,565.00						$   12,565.00

				AREA Services								$   1,008.53						$   1,008.53

				Aurora Cooperative						$   3,211.41		$   15,200.56		$   8,333.53		$   3,609.75		$   30,355.25

				Bauer Well Drilling, Inc								$   2,941.00		$   1,619.00				$   4,560.00

				Bell, Tracey								$   2,137.50						$   2,137.50

				Benson, Roger								$   1,550.41		$   1,549.79				$   3,100.20

				Big Rack Schack, The 								$   1,389.40						$   1,389.40

				Blessing Construction										$   6,700.00				$   6,700.00

				Broadfoot Sand and Gravel								$   2,335.46		$   255.00				$   2,590.46

				Cargill, Incorporated		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   13,191.77		$   7,349.38		$   10,729.73				$   31,270.88

				Carlson Bros.								$   1,044.00						$   1,044.00

				Central Nebraska Bobcat								$   1,838.13						$   1,838.13

				Central Platte NRD								$   725.00						$   725.00

				Chandler Well Services, Inc.,						$   2,007.34		$   11,633.16		$   7,945.86		$   377.67		$   21,964.03

				CMC								$   7,975.00						$   7,975.00

				ComforTech Service						$   1,749.23		$   6,383.90		$   3,769.33		$   5,067.90		$   16,970.36

				Cook Construction						$   9,163.26		$   185,972.28		$   8,461.08		$   10,215.60		$   213,812.22

				Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.								$   2,705.00		$   10,628.75				$   13,333.75

				Custom Masonry and Carpentry						$   10,948.33								$   10,948.33

				Dawson Public Power District								$   36,793.00						$   36,793.00

				Dawson Weed Authority		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,984.65		$   8,906.22						$   12,890.87

				Double M Farms, Inc.								$   20,717.38		$   25,639.57				$   46,356.95

				Ducks Unlimited								$   93,450.16						$   93,450.16

				EA Engineering 								$   4,500.00						$   4,500.00

				EdBroadfoot and Sons Sand and Gravel						$   503.24		$   - 0						$   503.24

				Electrical Services												$   166.16		$   166.16

				Environment Direct						$   4,150.00								$   4,150.00

				Frahm Construction Inc.								$   18,500.00						$   18,500.00

				Full Circle Irrigation, LLC										$   3,917.27				$   3,917.27

				Geotechnical Services, Inc.								$   360.00						$   360.00

				Graczyk Lawn and Landscaping								$   2,518.68						$   2,518.68

				Great American Insurance Group								$   149.00						$   149.00

				Gross Seed Co. Inc.								$   6,460.00		$   2,080.00				$   8,540.00

				Hahn Water Resources, LLC						$   455.00								$   455.00

				Harders Dozer and Scraper Work										$   9,700.00				$   9,700.00

				Headwaters Corporation						$   4,337.25		$   26,330.02		$   27,598.29		$   3,536.41		$   61,801.97

				Jack Lederman Company										$   1,854.22		$   44.14		$   1,898.36

				Jim Ostgren Const. Co.								$   2,560.00		$   19,645.00				$   22,205.00

				Kehl Tree Service								$   350.00						$   350.00

				Kingelhoefer Well  Drilling										$   1,242.85				$   1,242.85

				Klein Demolition								$   480.00						$   480.00

				Kugler Company		$   - 0		$   6,037.60		$   13,999.20		$   9,237.04						$   29,273.84

				Meier, Mike										$   514.00				$   514.00

				Mike Nelson Land Development, Inc										$   26,956.00				$   26,956.00

				NAU Country Insurance Company						$   2,839.63		$   1,155.00		$   2,484.00				$   6,478.63

				Nebraska Community Foundation												$   483.56

				Nebraska Public Power District						$   25,880.74								$   25,880.74

				Nuttelman Fencing, Inc								$   52,750.87		$   52,386.12				$   105,136.99

				O'Neill Transportation and Equipment, LLC										$   11,071.25				$   11,071.25

				O'Neill Wood Resources, LLC								$   12,638.25						$   12,638.25

				Overton Sand & Gravel								$   238.95						$   238.95

				PAC's Painting and Handyman Service								$   14,845.32		$   9,396.26		$   866.93		$   25,108.51

				Plautz Farms										$   9,317.52				$   9,317.52

				Prairie Plains Research Institute								$   14,070.00		$   2,845.65				$   16,915.65

				Rachow, Larry										$   16,560.00				$   16,560.00

				Reichert, Jerry												$   100.00		$   100.00

				Renken Construction						$   1,875.00								$   1,875.00

				Rk Electric								$   8,582.27		$   2,550.23				$   11,132.50

				Root, Tim										$   3,376.00		$   5,920.00		$   9,296.00

				Rural Community Insurance Services								$   3,474.00						$   3,474.00

				Schemmer Associates, Inc.						$   25,576.24		$   47,217.86						$   72,794.10

				Shepardson, Van								$   569.80						$   569.80

				Southern Power District								$   9,015.00						$   9,015.00

				Stadler Implement, Inc.								$   604.26						$   604.26

				Tauson, Seth (Tausan Weed Control)								$   3,900.00		$   13,445.00				$   17,345.00

				Tillotson Enterprises								$   2,834.00				$   2,166.00		$   5,000.00

				Tom's Electric						$   9,705.00		$   4,020.00						$   13,725.00

				Town-N-Country Electric, Inc.								$   3,807.00						$   3,807.00

				Tracy Cook Construction, LLC										$   25,234.20		$   8,411.25		$   33,645.45

				Tree Amigos		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   6,820.00				$   3,200.00		$   7,830.00		$   17,850.00

				TRLcam.com										$   22,805.45				$   22,805.45

				TSL Terminals, Ltd.						$   1,850.00								$   1,850.00

				Up In Smoke Custom Burning, Inc.								$   4,770.00						$   4,770.00

				WARD Laboratories								$   272.20						$   272.20

				Wilbur-Ellis								$   1,393.33						$   1,393.33

				Woodman Drilling and Irrigation, Inc.								$   209.71		$   5,804.68				$   6,014.39

				Subtotal 		$   - 0		$   6,037.60		$   142,247.29		$   684,276.85		$   360,525.56		$   48,795.37		$   1,241,399.11



		LP-5		Channel Widening,Island Creation

				Cook Construction										$   6,763.83				$   6,763.83

				Olsson and Associates								$   869.78						$   869.78

				Hahn Water Resources, LLC														$   - 0

				Land Services, LLC										$   4,955.40				$   4,955.40

				Pruss Excavation Company										$   127,285.41				$   127,285.41

				Schemmer Associates, Inc.								$   - 0		$   26,592.13				$   26,592.13

				Subtotal 								$   869.78		$   165,596.77				$   166,466.55



		LP-6		Land Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19)

				American Real Estate & Assoc.								$   59,115.02		$   46,199.41		$   10,682.41		$   115,996.84

				Subtotal 								$   59,115.02		$   46,199.41		$   10,682.41		$   115,996.84



		LP-7		Public Access Management

				Nebraska Game and Parks										$   50,000.00				$   50,000.00



				Subtotal										$   50,000.00				$   50,000.00



				Subtotal Land Plan Implementation 		$   3,675.00		$   1,160,756.93		$   9,210,876.65		$   4,082,401.85		$   2,754,770.73		$   3,676,836.03		$   20,888,833.63



				Water Plan Implementation (WP)

		WP-1(a)		North Platte Channel Capacity above Diversion Dam

				Purcell Consulting		$   3,400.00												$   3,400.00

				Casper Star Tribune		$   97.44		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   97.44

				Habitat Services						$   698.60								$   698.60

				HDR Engineering								$   24,462.18		$   34,070.30				$   58,532.48

				Headwaters Corporation										$   434.35				$   434.35

				Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc		$   101,193.50		$   10,805.50		$   69,188.00		$   11,642.00						$   192,829.00

				Sky Helicopters, Inc		$   6,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   6,000.00

				West Central Weed Management Area						$   80,000.00								$   80,000.00

				Subtotal		$   110,690.94		$   10,805.50		$   149,886.60		$   36,104.18		$   34,504.65				$   341,991.87



		WP-1(b)		North Platte Channel Capacity Diversion Dam to Grand Island

				Program Water Delivery, Phase 1 

				Platte Valley Weed Management Area								$   400,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   800,000.00

				Subtotal								$   400,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00		$   800,000.00



		WP-2(a)		Denver Newspaper Agency		$   577.00												$   577.00

				Omaha World Herald		$   439.20		0		$   - 0								$   439.20

				Boyle Engineering		$   117,999.92												$   117,999.92

				Subtotal		$   119,016.12		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   119,016.12



		WP-2(b)		Program Water Delivery, Phase II of Study

				Boyle Engineering				$   155,969.84										$   155,969.84

				Subtotal				$   155,969.84		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   155,969.84



		WP-3		Test Flow Routing Model

				Bureau of Reclamation		$   23,471.00												$   23,471.00

				Cornerstone Mapping				$   14,026.00										$   14,026.00

				Headwaters Corporation				$   1,127.93		$   - 0								$   1,127.93

				Tagge Engineering 				$   1,718.40										$   1,718.40

				United States Geological Survey				$   20,000.00				$   - 0						$   20,000.00

				HDR Engineering				$   10,000.00										$   10,000.00

																		$   - 0

				Subtotal		$   23,471.00		$   46,872.33		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   70,343.33



		WP-4		Water Action Plan

				AECOM USA						$   16,346.97								$   16,346.97

				Central Platte Natural Resource District						$   3,418.20								$   3,418.20

				Hahn Water Resources, LLC						$   6,472.40								$   6,472.40

				Subtotal						$   26,237.57		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   26,237.57



		WP-5		Management Tool



				Subtotal



		WP-6		Feasibility Studies

				AECOM USA						$   2,793.00		$   757.25						$   3,550.25

				Agri Affiliates, Inc.										$   4,026.75				$   4,026.75

				Blythe, Kerry L										$   500.00				$   500.00

				Carlson, Jeff and Bertina								$   2,000.00						$   2,000.00

				CDR						$   28,382.04								$   28,382.04

				Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District										$   69,477.00				$   69,477.00

				Central Platte Natural Resource District						$   100,000.00		$   190,000.00						$   290,000.00

				Cook, Ed & Betty								$   2,000.00						$   2,000.00

				EA Engineering								$   8,125.05		$   332,220.66		$   48,295.37		$   388,641.08

				Hahn Water Resources, LLC						$   29,652.43		$   - 0						$   29,652.43

				Honey Creek Resources, Inc.						$   13,259.88								$   13,259.88

				Jim Ostgren Const. Co., Inc.										$   5,855.00		$   8,905.00		$   14,760.00

				Nebraska Public Power District								$   59,671.52		$   31,661.01				$   91,332.53

				Olsson and Associates						$   221,032.00		$   181,092.36		$   184,269.55		$   35,693.08		$   622,086.99

				Peterson, Rocky and Diane								$   2,000.00						$   2,000.00

				Subtotal						$   395,119.35		$   445,646.18		$   628,009.97		$   92,893.45		$   1,561,668.95



		WP-7		Water Acquisition (FY09-FY11)

				Wyoming Water Development Commission												$   1,958,400.00		$   1,958,400.00

				Subtotal												$   1,958,400.00		$   1,958,400.00



		WP-8		Water Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19)

				Ann Bleed and Associates, Inc.								$   13,235.50						$   13,235.50

				Carnevale Environmental Consulting, LLC												$   6,628.00		$   6,628.00

				Hahn Water Resources, LLC								$   52,853.89		$   116,263.31		$   19,260.66		$   188,377.86

				Honey Creek Resources, Inc.								$   15,269.81		$   8,775.00				$   24,044.81

				H2 Options 								$   10,110.50						$   10,110.50

				Olsson and Associates														$   - 0

				Tessara Water								$   1,182.19		$   15,991.10		$   2,175.00		$   19,348.29

				Subtotal								$   92,651.89		$   141,029.41		$   28,063.66		$   261,744.96



		WP-9		Miscellaneous Water Resource  Studies (FY10)

				Dewberry and Davis, LLC										$   16,700.00				$   16,700.00

				Golder Associates, Inc.								$   22,878.77		$   447.85				$   23,326.62

				Headwaters Corporation												$   567.96		$   567.96

				InSitu Inc.												$   5,616.28		$   5,616.28

				Kearney Area Chamber of Commerce								$   3,500.00						$   3,500.00

				Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc								$   3,731.00						$   3,731.00

				Subtotal								$   30,109.77		$   17,147.85		$   6,184.24		$   53,441.86



				Subtotal Water Plan Implementation 		$   253,178.06		$   213,647.67		$   571,243.52		$   1,004,512.02		$   1,020,691.88		$   2,285,541.35		$   5,348,814.50





				AMP Experimental Design

		PD-4,5		AMP Workshops (FY09-FY19)

				Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc.				$   10,586.50						0				$   10,586.50

				Auman and Purcell		$   1,749.51												$   1,749.51

				Headwaters Corporation				$   879.67		$   274.09								$   1,153.76

				Lytle Water Solutions, LLC				$   5,226.93										$   5,226.93

				McBain & Trush, Inc.		$   7,850.04		$   24,495.12										$   32,345.16

				University of Nebraska - Lincoln,				$   7,837.50										$   7,837.50

				Subtotal		$   9,599.55		$   49,025.72		$   274.09		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   58,899.36



		PD-12		Model Application (FY09-FY12)

				Flatwater Group, The								$   77,379.36		$   - 0				$   77,379.36

				HDR Engineering								$   347,835.25		$   179,752.53				$   527,587.78

				Headwaters Corporation								$   259.36						$   259.36

				Subtotal								$   425,473.97		$   179,752.53				$   605,226.50



		PD-13		Sediment Augmentation Feasibility Analysis, Design, and Permitting (FY09-FY10)

				Flatwater Group, The						$   89,208.79		$   251,715.00		$   145,831.72		$   48,332.05		$   535,087.56

				Subtotal						$   89,208.79		$   251,715.00		$   145,831.72		$   48,332.05		$   535,087.56



		PD-14		Whooping Crane Conservation Action Plan (CAP) Development (FY09)

				Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust						$   20,000.00				$   - 0				$   20,000.00

				Subtotal						$   20,000.00				$   - 0				$   20,000.00



		PD-19		Flow Consolidation Conceptual Design (FY10-11)

				Inter-fluve, Inc								$   81,677.06		$   104,277.64		$   12,419.26		$   198,373.96

				Subtotal								$   81,677.06		$   104,277.64		$   12,419.26		$   198,373.96



		PD-20		Wet Meadow Restoration  on Tract 2009001 (FY11-FY12)

				EA Engineering										$   11,860.36				$   11,860.36

				In-Situ Inc.										$   9,485.58				$   9,485.58

				Peterson Dilling, Inc										$   10,030.00				$   10,030.00

				Subtotal										$   31,375.94				$   31,375.94



				Subtotal AMP Experimental Design		$   9,599.55		$   49,025.72		$   109,482.88		$   758,866.03		$   461,237.83		$   60,751.31		$   1,448,963.32



				AMP Implementation Activities



				AMWG Assistance and Operating Expenses

				Everglades National Park		$   1,136.87		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   1,136.87

				McBain & Trush, Inc.		$   12,483.28												$   12,483.28

				Subtotal		$   13,620.15												$   13,620.15



		LP-2		FSM/MCM Actions at Habitat Complexes (FY08-FY19)

				Blessing Construction								$   3,987.90						$   3,987.90

				Broadfoot Sand and Gravel										$   69,250.00				$   69,250.00

				Cargill, Incorporated				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   23,401.34				$   23,401.34

				Central Platte NRD										$   1,017.50				$   1,017.50

				Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP										$   7,955.40				$   7,955.40

				Cook Construction										$   251,214.38		$   16,142.50		$   267,356.88

				Cornerstone Mapping,								$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Cotttonmill Enterprises												$   1,157.75		$   1,157.75

				Dawson County Weed Control										$   9,293.58		$   8,055.51		$   17,349.09

				Ducks Unlimited										$   24,408.00				$   24,408.00

				Headwaters Corporation								$   35.06		$   340.00				$   375.06

				Hooker Brothers Construction Company												$   10,250.50		$   10,250.50

				Jack Lederman Company												$   395.46		$   395.46

				Nebraska Public Power District								$   26,930.76						$   26,930.76

				Nuttelman Fencing, Inc										$   11,320.20				$   11,320.20

				Prairie Plains Resource Institute										$   5,800.00				$   5,800.00

				Pruss Excavation Company								$   224,448.46		$   228,211.18				$   452,659.64

				Roger L. Hood Construction, Inc.								$   79,200.00						$   79,200.00

				Root, Tim												$   21,133.10		$   21,133.10

				Schemmer Associates, Inc.										$   5,534.02				$   5,534.02

				Tetra Tech Divisions, Inc.								$   71,456.99						$   71,456.99

				Tree Amigos												$   58,090.00		$   58,090.00

				Subtotal		$   - 0						$   409,059.17		$   637,745.60		$   115,224.82		$   1,162,029.59



		PD-7		Program Anchor Points (FY09)

																		$   - 0

				Subtotal

		PD-15		AMP Permits (FY09-FY19)

				Flatwater Group, the								$   41,696.85		$   127,993.21		$   15,909.19		$   185,599.25

				Subtotal								$   41,696.85		$   127,993.21		$   15,909.19		$   185,599.25

		PD-16		Invasives Strategy (FY09-FY19)



				Subtotal



		PD-18		AMP-Related Equipment (FY09-FY19)

				American Airboat Corporation						$   53,440.00				$   - 0				$   53,440.00

				Argo of Omaha						$   24,987.00		$   143.00						$   25,130.00

				Bill's Trailer Sales						$   2,235.00								$   2,235.00

				Compass Tools						$   12,140.00		$   26,160.59						$   38,300.59

				Headwaters Corporation						$   11,011.22		$   401.17		$   1,983.66		$   22,000.00		$   35,396.05

				Janssen Motor Company						$   26,884.00								$   26,884.00

				T.D.'s Portable Welding								$   339.31						$   339.31

				US Department of Interior, Geological Survey								$   6,375.00						$   6,375.00

				Subtotal						$   130,697.22		$   33,419.07		$   1,983.66		$   22,000.00		$   188,099.95

																						$   - 0

		WP-10		Environmental Account SDHF (FY08-FY19)

				Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District						$   67,207.66								$   67,207.66

				Nebraska Public Power District						$   668.89								$   668.89

				Subtotal						$   67,876.55		$   - 0						$   67,876.55



				Subtotal AMP Implementation Activities		$   13,620.15		$   - 0		$   198,573.77		$   484,175.09		$   767,722.47		$   153,134.01		$   1,617,225.49



				Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities

		G-1		LiDAR Implementation (FY09, FY18)

				Kucera International, Inc										$   41,000.00		$   41,050.00		$   82,050.00

				Natural Resources Conservation Service				$   250,000.00										$   250,000.00

				Subtotal				$   250,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   41,000.00		$   41,050.00		$   332,050.00



		G-2		Aerial Photography (FY08-FY19)

				Central Platte NRD		$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00										$   20,000.00

				Cornerstone Mapping						$   20,850.00		$   22,309.50		$   22,309.50				$   65,469.00

				Subtotal		$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00		$   20,850.00		$   22,309.50		$   22,309.50				$   85,469.00



		G-3		Revise, Update Geomorphology Monitoring Protocol



				Subtotal

		G-4		Develop Scope of Work for 2008 System-Level Geomorphologic Monitoring



				Subtotal



		G-5		Geomorphology/In-Channel Vegetation Monitoring (FY09-FY19)

				Ayres and Associates		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   380,500.00		$   320,163.00		$   414,654.25		$   39,682.75		$   1,155,000.00

				Subtotal						$   380,500.00		$   320,163.00		$   414,654.25		$   39,682.75		$   1,155,000.00



		H-1,2,3		Program Stream Gages (FY08-FY19)

				Bureau of Reclamation				$   23,120.00										$   23,120.00

				Headwaters Corporation				$   497.00		$   1,483.64		$   2,919.08		$   2,252.73		$   537.62		$   7,690.07		2919.08

				Nebraska Public Power District		$   6,885.00												$   6,885.00

				Rickly Hydrologic Co				$   2,875.24										$   2,875.24

				Tagge Engineering 						$   955.60								$   955.60

				Teledyne ISCO, Inc				$   9,656.65				$   27,802.41		$   13,692.28				$   51,151.34

				Trinity Steel Supply,				$   743.25										$   743.25

				US Department of Interior, Geological Survey				$   7,035.00		$   20,755.00		$   16,429.00		$   17,049.00				$   61,268.00

				Subtotal		$   6,885.00		$   43,927.14		$   23,194.24		$   47,150.49		$   32,994.01		$   537.62		$   154,688.50



		H-4,5		Unsteady Flow Model Calibration (FY07)



		IMRP-1		SDHF Monitoring (FY09-FY19)



		IMRP-2		AMP Directed Research Projects (FY09-FY19)

				AIM Environmental Consultants												$   9,860.22		$   9,860.22

				Anderson Consulting Engineers						$   63,768.45								$   63,768.45

				In-Situ Inc.										$   4,420.79				$   4,420.79

				Kearney Aviation Center												$   1,498.90		$   1,498.90

				McBain & Trush, Inc.						$   7,049.91								$   7,049.91

				NET Foundation for Television										$   50,000.00				$   50,000.00

				Riverside Technology, Inc.						$   20,546.00								$   20,546.00

				Tetra Tech, Divisions										$   31,106.97				$   31,106.97

				Tyre, Dr. Andrew J.						$   2,320.08								$   2,320.08

				University of Nebraska at Kearney										$   11,008.06		$   2,499.11		$   13,507.17

				USDA, Agricultural Research Service								$   38,712.82		$   125,176.37				$   163,889.19

				Subtotal						$   93,684.44		$   38,712.82		$   221,712.19		$   13,858.23		$   358,107.46



		IMRP-3		Adaptive Management Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19)

				Anderson Consulting Engineers								$   92,390.67		$   51,180.51		$   1,681.00		$   145,252.18

				Ecosystems Advisors, LP										$   24,950.24		$   3,750.00		$   28,700.24

				Essa Technologies, Ltd.								$   2,946.19		$   31,945.76				$   34,891.95

				Honey Creek Resources, Inc.								$   8,826.85		$   1,725.07				$   10,551.92

				StatMathComp								$   3,040.00		$   6,996.73				$   10,036.73

				Tetra Tech, Divisions										$   1,104.81				$   1,104.81

				Tyre, Dr. Andrew J.								$   7,199.38						$   7,199.38

				University of Nebraska Lincoln								$   13,329.23		$   11,468.48				$   24,797.71

				Subtotal								$   127,732.32		$   129,371.60		$   5,431.00		$   262,534.92



		IMRP-4		FSM "Proof of Concept" Activities @ Elm Creek Complex (FY11-FY16)

				Tetra Tech, Divisions										$   248,828.11		$   48,697.42		$   297,525.53



														$   248,828.11		$   48,697.42		$   297,525.53

		IMRP-6

				Habitat Availability Analysis

				Rainwater Basin Joint Venture 												$   20,000.00		$   20,000.00



				Subtotal

																$   20,000.00

		PD-8		Database Management System Development & Maintenance (FY08-FY19)

				Audubon Nebraska										$   2,000.00		$   2,000.00		$   4,000.00

				Headwaters Corporation						$   25.00		$   11,250.00		$   12,960.00				$   24,235.00		11250

				Michael Forsberg Photography								$   840.00						$   840.00

				Riverside Technology, Inc.						$   136,173.25		$   470,150.67		$   139,965.53		$   38,612.22		$   784,901.67

				Software One,						$   11,651.42								$   11,651.42

				US Fish and Wildlife Service				$   125,000.00		$   (75,000.00)		$   (28,473.03)						$   21,526.97

				Subtotal				$   125,000.00		$   72,849.67		$   453,767.64		$   154,925.53		$   40,612.22		$   847,155.06



		PS-1		Pallid Sturgeon Existing Information Review/Summary (FY08)

				Edward J. Peters, 				$   30,979.25										$   30,979.25

				Subtotal				$   30,979.25		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   30,979.25



		PS-2		Lower Platte River Stage Change Study (FY08-FY09)

				HDR Engineering				$   46,458.42		$   168,195.10		$   10,633.70						$   225,287.22

				Headwaters Corporation		$   2,448.00								$   - 0				$   2,448.00

				Subtotal		$   2,448.00		$   46,458.42		$   168,195.10		$   10,633.70		$   - 0				$   227,735.22



		TP-1		Tern & Plover Monitoring (FY08-FY19)

				Anderson Consulting Engineers										$   2,390.00				$   2,390.00

				Headwaters Corporation								$   41,546.70		$   33,354.85		$   1,110.03		$   76,011.58

				Nebrska Community Foundation												$   188.50		$   188.50

				North Line GIS, LLC								$   3,360.00						$   3,360.00

				Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd								$   2,692.86				$   1,394.46		$   4,087.32

				Rainwater Joint Venture										$   24,000.00				$   24,000.00

				Tetra Tech, Divisions										$   5,777.17				$   5,777.17

				US Geological Survey										$   144,583.02		$   48,659.20		$   193,242.22

																		$   - 0

				Subtotal								$   47,599.56		$   210,105.04		$   51,352.19		$   309,056.79



		TP-2		Finish Fish Foragoing Protocol



				Subtotal



		TP-3		Forage Fish Monitoring (FY08-FY19)

				Audubon Nebraska								$   5,000.00						$   5,000.00

				Subtotal								$   5,000.00		$   - 0				$   5,000.00



		TP-4		Tern & Plover Foraging Habits Study (FY09-FY10)

				US Department of Interior, Geological Survey						$   100,355.96		$   139,645.92						$   240,001.88

				Subtotal						$   100,355.96		$   139,645.92		$   - 0				$   240,001.88



		TP-5		Analysis of CA-Collected Tern/Plover Monitoring Data (FY08)

				West, Inc.				$   37,638.22										$   37,638.22

				Subtotal				$   37,638.22		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   37,638.22



		WC-1		Whooping Crane Monitoring (FY08-FY19)

				AIM Environmental Consultants		$   124,838.37		$   111,438.30		$   135,637.58		$   132,917.31		$   105,838.28				$   610,669.84

				Headwaters Corporation		$   1,571.19												$   1,571.19

				West Inc.										$   80,941.00		$   54,111.56		$   135,052.56

				Subtotal		$   126,409.56		$   111,438.30		$   135,637.58		$   132,917.31		$   186,779.28		$   54,111.56		$   747,293.59



		WC-2		Analysis of CA-Collected Whooping Crane Monitoring Data (FY08)

				Bureau of Reclamation		$   13,952.00												$   13,952.00

				West Inc.		$   18,545.42		$   6,454.48										$   24,999.90

				Subtotal		$   32,497.42		$   6,454.48		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   38,951.90



		WC-3		Whooping Crane Telemetry Tracking (FY09-FY12)

				Bureau of Reclamation		$   4,360.00												$   4,360.00

				North Sttar Science and Technology, LLC.												$   61,468.00		$   61,468.00

				Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust,						$   125,000.00		$   125,000.00						$   250,000.00

														$   41,999.99				$   41,999.99

				Subtotal		$   4,360.00				$   125,000.00		$   125,000.00		$   41,999.99		$   61,468.00		$   357,827.99



		WC-4		Water Surface Estimation at Crane Use Sites (FY08)

				Subtotal

		WMV-1		Vegetation Mapping Effort (FY08)

				Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust,		$   10,334.40		$   5,196.36										$   15,530.76

				Subtotal		$   10,334.40		$   5,196.36		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   15,530.76



		WMV-2		Wet Meadows Information Review and CEM Refinement (FY10)

				Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust,										$   50,000.00				$   50,000.00

				Subtotal										$   50,000.00				$   50,000.00

		WQ-1		Water Quality Monitoring (FY09-FY19)

				EA Engineering		0		$   40,000.00		$   175,043.20		$   217,985.85		$   213,891.96		$   54,128.52		$   701,049.53

				Nebraska Public Power District										$   11,130.43				$   11,130.43

				Subtotal				$   40,000.00		$   175,043.20		$   217,985.85		$   225,022.39		$   54,128.52		$   712,179.96



				Subtotal Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities		$   192,934.38		$   707,092.17		$   1,295,310.19		$   1,688,618.11		$   1,979,701.89		$   430,929.51		$   6,264,726.03



				AMP Independent Science Review

		ISAC-1& 2		ISAC Stipends & Expenses (FY09-FY19)

				Curators of the University of Missouri, The						$   8,000.00								$   8,000.00

				Dixon, Phillip M.						$   10,220.03		$   19,533.94		$   25,371.36		$   960.65		$   56,085.98

				ESSA Technologies Ltd						$   11,770.78		$   28,167.91		$   31,239.14		$   22,371.33		$   93,549.16

				Fisheries and Environmental Services Partnership										$   24,700.00				$   24,700.00

				Galat, David												$   961.82		$   961.82

				Headwaters Corporation						$   1,048.04		$   258.00		$   3,261.45		$   750.00		$   5,317.49		258

				Loftin, .M Kent						$   8,000.00		$   19,000.00						$   27,000.00

				Marmorek, David R. 						$   11,000.00								$   11,000.00

				Nestler, John M.						$   11,951.26		$   21,500.42		$   3,920.23		$   8,878.38		$   46,250.29

				PBS&J,						$   66,252.33								$   66,252.33

				Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust,										$   786.54				$   786.54

				Synlnt, Inc.										$   36,232.85		$   9,764.63		$   45,997.48

				University of Missouri,						$   1,464.28		$   19,000.00		$   25,474.13				$   45,938.41

				US Department of Interior, Geological Survey						$   8,600.00		$   21,732.00		$   28,300.00				$   58,632.00

				Subtotal						$   138,306.72		$   129,192.27		$   179,285.70		$   43,686.81		$   490,471.50



		PD-3		AMP & IMRP Peer Review (FY09-FY19)

				Atkins										$   19,845.50		$   4,575.00		$   24,420.50

				Bomberger Brown, Mary						$   3,000.00		$   - 0						$   3,000.00

				EA Engineering, Inc						$   1,500.00								$   1,500.00

				Fluvial Consulting										$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00		$   10,000.00

				Hall, Robert O. Jr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Huggins, Donald G.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Julien, Pierre Y.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Kappenman, Kevin M. USFWS Denver						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Lightbody, Anne										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Mehl, Katherine R., Dr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Milspaugh, Joshua J						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Nebraska Game and Parks						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Peltz, Christopher D.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Pitlick, John Dr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Powell, Larkin A.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Practical Stats										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Shields, F. Douglas, Jr., Dr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Stella, John C.										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				University of Georgia						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				US Department of Interior, Geological Survey						$   6,000.00				$   5,000.00				$   11,000.00

				USGS Fort Collins														$   - 0

				Webber, Larry J.										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Whiles, Matthew, Dr.						$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

				Wilcox, Andrew										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Wilson, Lee and Associates, Inc										$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Subtotal						$   49,500.00		$   - 0		$   59,845.50		$   9,575.00		$   118,920.50



		PD-11		AMP Reporting (FY09-FY19)

				Ayres Associates								$   9,373.00						$   9,373.00

				Dixon, Philip								$   852.64						$   852.64

				EA Engineering, Inc								$   2,785.61						$   2,785.61

				ESSA Technologies Ltd								$   4,108.78						$   4,108.78

				Headwaters Corporation								$   5,485.84		$   7,192.33		$   7,629.47		$   20,307.64

				Nestler, John M.								$   890.12						$   890.12

				University of Missouri								$   844.92						$   844.92

				Subtotal						$   - 0		$   24,340.91		$   7,192.33		$   7,629.47		$   39,162.71

				GIA DocStampTax Return Hoskins										$   (20.25)				$   (20.25)

				Subtotal AMP Independent Science Review		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   187,806.72		$   153,533.18		$   246,303.28		$   60,891.28		$   648,534.46

				Adjustment for Rounding										0.17		$   0.40		$   0.17

				Total Contract Totals by Budget Sections		$   1,058,592.22		$   3,559,179.93		$   13,587,723.45		$   10,245,625.00		$   9,413,189.13		$   7,668,395.84		$   45,532,705.57















































&"Arial Rounded MT Bold,Regular"&D   &T	&Z&F	




Status Report Form  



				 PLATTE RIVER IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM                                                                                                                                                                                                              



				Governance Committee Monthly Financial Status Report



						Description		 Expenditures Through CY 2011		CY 2012  Budget                1/1/12 - 12/31/12		Budgets to Date		CY 2012 Expenditures to Date		Budget Remaining           1/1/11 - 12/31/11



								a		b		c		d		e

						Executive Director's Office		$   7,292,830.91		$   2,020,000		9,312,830.91		$   794,530.91		$   1,225,469.09



						Gov Comm/Finance Committee		$   960,883.77		$   521,500		1,482,383.77		$   202,437.70		$   319,062.30



						Program Advisory Committees 		$   6,991.68		$   3,000		9,991.68		$   3,343.34		$   (343.34)



						Land Plan Implementation		$   16,953,948.62		$   5,579,800		22,533,748.62		$   3,587,726.03		$   1,992,073.97



						Water Plan Implementation		$   3,132,776.87		$   12,700,000		15,832,776.87		$   2,285,541.35		$   10,414,458.65



						AMP Experimental Design:		$   1,357,236.04		$   1,114,888		2,472,124.04		$   60,751.31		$   1,054,136.69



						AMP Implementation Activities		$   1,749,559.78		$   855,345		2,604,904.78		$   242,244.41		$   613,100.59



						Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities		$   5,822,418.19		$   2,718,476		8,540,894.19		$   402,629.51		$   2,315,846.49



						AMP Independent Science Review		$   587,663.23		$   300,000		887,663.23		$   89,191.28		$   210,808.72



						TOTAL		$   37,864,309.09		$   25,813,009.00		63,677,318.09		$   7,668,395.84		$   18,144,613.16



						BUDGET SUMMARY:

								BudgetsAdjusted Through CY 2011*				$   37,864,309.09		a

								CY 2012 Budget				$   25,813,009.00		b

								Budgets to Date:				$   63,677,318.09		c

								Expenditures to Date:				$   45,532,704.93		d

								"Available" Budget				$   18,144,613.16		e



						CASHFLOW SUMMARY:

						Program Contributions, Income, and expenditures to Date:

								Contributions		Income		Total		Expenditures		Balance

						Colorado		$   23,929,395.06		$   558,327.85		$   24,487,722.91		$   4,856,477.19		$   19,631,245.72

						Interior		$   38,582,380.32		$   415,911.19		$   38,998,291.51		$   39,460,214.34		$   (461,922.84)

						Wyoming 		$   1,493,652.36		$   25,091.26		$   1,518,743.62		$   1,216,013.26		$   302,730.36

								$   64,005,427.74		$   999,330.29		$   65,004,758.03		$   45,532,704.79		$   19,472,053.24



								* Budgets adjusted to equal expenditures







&D  &T  &F		




Advance Computation



						Request for Advance of Funds # 22

						COMPUTATION OF AMOUNT OF REIMBURSEMENT/ADVANCES REQUESTED - ENTITIES

								INTERIOR		COLORADO		WYOMING		TOTALS 

						a. Program Outlays to Date		$   39,460,214.34		$   4,856,477.19		$   1,216,013.26		$   45,532,704.79

						b.  Less: Cumulative Program Income 		$   38,998,291.51						$   38,998,291.51

						bb.  Less: Cumulative Program Income Including Earnings				$   24,487,722.91		$   1,518,743.62		$   26,006,466.52

						c. Net Program Outlays Line a - b - bb		$   461,922.84		$   (19,631,245.72)		$   (302,730.36)		$   (19,472,053.24)

						d. Estimated cash outlays for advance period		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0

						e. Net Advance Request		$   461,922.84		$   (19,631,245.72)		$   (302,730.36)		$   (19,472,053.24)











MASTER



						MASTER







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





ADAMS & SULLIVAN



						ADAMS & SULLIVAN, P.C.                                                                                                                            1246 Golden Gate Drive                                                                                                                             Papillion, NE 68046 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009



										D		126		Adams & Sullivan, P.C.., Invoice No. 02877		$   212.50



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   212.50



														2010

								OCT		D		179		Adams & Sullivan, P.C. Invoice No. 04922		$   250.00







														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   250.00









														Program to Date Total:		$   462.50































ACE



						Ace Irrigation and Mfg. Co.

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment ED-2						Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2		LP-4										WP-8

														Invoice No. 157683		$   909.83						$   909.93













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   909.83		$   - 0				$   909.93				$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   909.83



														Contractor Total





AECOM USA



						AECOM USA, Inc.

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals

																						WP-6



														2007 

														Total 2008 Year Two 

																WP-4

														2009

						5/29/09		MAY		D		100		AECOM USA, Inc., Invoice No. 7054183		$   12,906.72

								JUL		D		109		AECOM USA, Inc., Invoice No. 7056945		$   3,091.50



										D		126		AECOM, Invoice No.  7064568								2793

								FEB		D		143		AECOM, Invoice No: 7071002		$   348.75



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   16,346.97						2793

																$   19,139.97

														2010

								APR		D		155		AECOM, Invoice No.: 7075692								$   757.25









														Total 2010 Year Four		$   - 0						$   757.25

														Program to Date Total:		$   17,104.22































AGSYSTEMS



						Ag Systems                                                                                                                                                        7381 Road 438                                                                                                                                               Bertrand, NE 68927-3000                                                                                                                                308-472-3314

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								NOV		Disb		182		Ag Systems, Inc., Estimate # 3903		$   1,843.82















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   1,843.82



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,843.82































AGRIAFFILIATES



						AGRI AFFILIATES, INC.                                                                                                                                  2418 EAST HWY 30   PO BOX 1390                                                                                                      KEARNEY, NE 68848-1390

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		116		Agri Affiliates, Inc. Invoice #2-0951BW		$   1,500.00

										D		117		Agri Affiliates, Inc. Invoice #2-0955BW		$   2,250.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,750.00

														2011								WP-6

														Term of Lease Agreement 07/21/2011		$   1,500.00						$   1,500.00

														Invoice dated November 16, 2011		$   2,526.75						$   2,526.75





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   4,026.75						$   4,026.75



														Program to Date Total:		$   7,776.75































AIM



						AIM Contract Detail

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2007 

						5/11/07		MAY		Disb		5		AIM Environmental Consultants Invoice # 1				$   15,326.80

						05/31/07		MAY		Disb		8		AIM 				$   45,510.55

						8/10/07		AUG		Disb		16		AIM				$   12,379.19

						12/19/07		DEC		Disb		30		Aim Environmental Consulting .				$   40,284.63

						01/11/08		JAN		Disb		33		Aim Environmental Consulting Fall 2007 #2				$   11,337.20

														Total 2007 Year One				$   124,838.37



														2008

						05/09/08		MAY		Disb		45		AIM Environmental Consultants, 2008 # 1				$   19,061.19

						06/13/08		JUN		Disb		47		AiM Environmental Consultants, 2008 # 2				$   31,967.55

						07/31/08		JUL		Disb		52		AIM Environmental Consultants,  2008 # 3				$   2,424.97

						12/17/08		DEC		Disb		68		AIM Environmental Consultants, 2008 fall Migration Invoice # 1				$   48,574.56

						12/17/08		DEC		Disb		68		AIM Environmental Consultants, 2008 fall Migration Invoice # 2				$   4,889.47

						02/13/09		FEB		Disb		75		AIM Environmental Consultants, 2008 Fall Migration Invoice # 3				$   4,520.56

														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   111,438.30

														2009				WC-1						PS-2

						05/01/09		MAY		D		94		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice 1 for 2009				$   20,334.01

						05/29/09		MAY		D		100		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice 2 for 2009				$   43,778.63

										D		113		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice 3, Spring 2009				10007.21

										D		131		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice 1, Fall 2009				$   30,166.86

										D		133		AIM Environmental Consultants, Ivoice 2, Fall 2009				$   22,393.85

								FEB		D		144		AIM Enfironmental Consultants, Invoice # 3				$   8,957.02

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   135,637.58						0

																		$   135,637.58

														2010

								APR		D		155		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice 1 Spring 2010				$   26,493.95

								May		D		157		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice 2 ro Spring 2010				$   43,630.87

								June		D		161		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice #3 Spring 2010				$   8,166.33

								Aug		D		169		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice 4-Spring Migration				$   1,556.25

								NOV		Disb		186		AIM Environmental Consultants, Invoice #1 2010 Fall Migration				$   37,007.04

								DEC		DISB		188		AIM Envioronmental Consujltants, Invoice #2 2010 Fall Migration				$   16,062.87

														Total 2010 Year Four				$   132,917.31

														2011										WC-1		IMRP-2

														Invoice # 3 for Fall Migration				$   13,306.68						$   13,306.68

																		$   34,388.94						$   34,388.94

																		$   42,620.49						$   42,620.49

														Invoice # 3 for Spring 2011 Migration				$   13,560.87						$   13,560.87

														Invoice 4 for Spring 2011				$   1,961.30						$   1,961.30



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   105,838.28						$   105,838.28

														2012

														AIM Environmental Consultants		1		$   9,860.22								$   9,860.22















																		$   9,860.22								$   9,860.22



														Program to Date Total:				$   620,530.06































AMERAIRBOAT



						American Airboat Corporation

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009





						3/6/09		MAR		D		80		American Airboat Corporation, Invoice # 517		$   26,720.00

						39941		MAY		D		97		American Airboat Corporation Invoice # 200910900		26720



























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   53,440.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   53,440.00





AMERFENCE



						American Fence Company                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 2205 E. HWY 30                                                                                                                                           Grand Island, NE 68802                                                                                                                                           308-395-0793                                                                                                                                      www.TheAmerican FenceCompany.com

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2010

								JUL		D		167		American Fence Company, Invoice No. 2450		$   12,565.00



















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   12,565.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   25,130.00































AMERICREAL



						American Real Estate & Associates

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals



														2010

								MAR		D		148		American Real Estate & Associates				$   3,627.45

								APR		D		155		American Real Estate & Associates, Billing Statement April 1, 2010				$   1,690.27

								JUL		D		165		American Real Estate & Associates, Billing Statement May 1, 2010				$   8,218.52

								JUL		D		165		American Real Estate & Associates, Billing Statement June 1, 2010				$   3,157.58

								SEP		D		174		American Real Estate and Associates, Billing Statement - August 1, 2010				$   7,987.73

								SEP		D		175		American Real Estate and Associates, Billing Statement - July 1, 2010				$   6,604.03

								SEP		D		175		American Real Estate and Associates, Billing Statement Sep. 1, 2010				$   5,221.69

								NOV		Disb		182		American Real Estate and Associates, Billing Statement October 1, 2010				$   5,513.35

								NOV		Disb		186		American Realtor, Billing Statement November 1, 2010				$   5,987.85

								JAN		Disb		193		American Real Estate Associates, Statement dated January 1, 2011				$   11,106.55



														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   59,115.02

																		LP-6

														2011

														Billing statement February 1, 2011				$   7,500.00

														Statement dated March 1, 2011				$   6,973.15

														Statement dated may 1, 2011				$   3,915.30

														Statement dated may 1, 2011				$   3,316.80

																		$   5,121.90

														Statement dated 07/01/11				$   3,684.30

														Statement dated August 1, 2011				$   3,737.50

														Statement dated October 1, 2311				$   5,899.80

														Billing Statement November 1, 2011				$   2,124.83

														Invoice No 1.1/12				$   3,925.83

														 Total 2011 Year Five				$   46,199.41

														2012						LP-6

														American Real Estate		3/1/12		$   6,943.80		$   6,943.80

														American Real Estate		4/1/12		$   3,738.61		$   3,738.61













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   10,682.41		$   10,682.41





														Program to Date Total:				$   115,996.84































ANDERSON



						Annderson Consulting Engineers, Inc.

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One				$   - 0								IMRP-2		IMRP-3



														2008

						11/28/08		NOV		Disb		66		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc. Invoice No. 13437				$   8,359.00

						1/16/09		JAN		Disb		72		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13460				$   2,227.50

														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   10,586.50



														2009

						3/24/09		MAR		D		86		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13520				$   16,097.55								$   16,097.55

										D		102		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13631				$   6,237.93								$   6,237.93

						4/17/09		APR		D		89		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 15366				$   7,850.00								$   7,850.00

								JUL		D		109		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13668				$   4,181.30								$   4,181.30

						8/14/09				D		114		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc. Invoice 7				$   7,493.96								$   7,493.96

										D		117		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Invoice No. 13742				$   2,804.45								$   2,804.45

								OCT		D		123		Anderson Consulting Engineers Inc., Invoice No. 13782				$   4,394.65								$   4,394.65

										D		131		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13833				$   7,065.24								$   7,065.24

								DEC		D		136		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13850				$   5,207.37								$   5,207.37

								FEB		D		144		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13906				$   2,436.00								$   2,436.00

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   63,768.45								$   63,768.45



														2010

								MAR		D		146		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13939				$   4,782.00										$   4,782.00

								APR		D		155		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 13984				$   6,703.80										$   6,703.80

								May		D		156		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc.,Invoice no. 13985				$   1,355.00										$   1,355.00

								May		D		157		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc.,Invoice no. 14002				$   3,660.00										$   3,660.00

								May		D		157		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 14001				$   1,970.88										$   1,970.88

								JUL		D		165		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 14034				$   405.00										$   405.00

								JUL		D		165		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 14035				$   8,471.56										$   8,471.56

								JUL		D		167		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 14063				$   1,890.00										$   1,890.00

								JUL		D		167		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 14064				$   5,246.00										$   5,246.00

								Aug		D		169		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 14108				$   5,949.50										$   5,949.50

								Aug		D		169		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice No. 14094				$   2,497.50										$   2,497.50

								SEP		D		175		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice Number 14151				$   3,949.43										$   3,949.43

								NOV		Disb		182		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice Number 14205				$   135.00										$   135.00

								NOV		Disb		182		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice Number 14204				$   6,656.50										$   6,656.50

								DEC		DISB		188		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice Number 14241				$   9,253.50										$   9,253.50

								JAN		Disb		192		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc. Invoice Number 14269				$   15,646.00										$   15,646.00

								FEB		Disb		197		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc., Invoice Number 14301				$   13,819.00										$   13,819.00



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   92,390.67										$   92,390.67

														2011										TP-1				IMRP-3

																		$   1,196.50										$   1,196.50

																		$   1,350.00										$   1,350.00

																		$   2,390.00						$   2,390.00

														Invoice Number 14471				$   10,396.16										$   10,396.16

														Invoice Number 14470				$   18,195.01										$   18,195.01

														Invoice Number 14494				$   2,788.00										$   2,788.00

														Invoice Number 14495				$   3,050.00										$   3,050.00

														Invoice Number 14496				$   482.16										$   482.16

														Invoice number 14574				$   5,278.00										$   5,278.00

														Invoice number 14566				$   1,628.00										$   1,628.00

														Invoice number 14616				$   3,965.18										$   3,965.18

														Invoice No. 14695				$   2,851.50										$   2,851.50

														Total 2011 Year Five				$   53,570.51						$   2,390.00				$   51,180.51

														2012

														Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc		14801		$   1,023.00		$   1,023.00								$   1,023.00

														Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc		14842		$   658.00										$   658.00













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   1,681.00										$   1,681.00



														Program to Date Total:				$   220,316.13































AREA



						Area Services                                                                                                                                                       PO Box 324                                                                                                                                                  Overton, NE 68863-0324                                                                                                                                   308-325-1753

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								May		D		157		Area Services, Invoice #2233		$   1,008.53













														Total 2010 Year Four		$   1,008.53



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,008.53































ARGO





						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0

														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

						3/13/09		MAR		D		81		Argo of Omaha, PO # 0005		$   24,987.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   24,987.00



														2010

								DEC		DISB		7/6/00		Argo of Omaha, Invoice dated 11-13-2010		$   143.00





														Total 2010 Year Three		$   143.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   25,130.00































ASAP



						Bureau of Reclamation Authorizations/Advances of Funds (ASAP)

						DATE		DISB REQ #		Description		Authorization		Award/ Credit		Balance		Payment		Balance

												Accruals								Accruals

																		Payment





										2011

						09/19/11				Disbursement # 238		$   6,722.08		$   6,722.08						$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

																				$   6,722.08

										Total 2011 Year Five		$   - 0



										Program to Date Total:		$   - 0































ATKINS



						Atkins North America, Inc (formerly known as PBS&J)                                                                                                                                                                   PO Box 848176                                                                                                                                                                                                                               Dallas, TX 75284-8176                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Tax ID: 59-0896138

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																		Accruals						PD-3







														2011

														Invoice # 1112255				$   5,580.00						$   5,580.00

														Invoice # 1113029				$   1,627.50						$   1,627.50

														Invoice # 1123223				$   5,415.00						$   5,415.00

														Invoice # 1125983				$   1,778.00						$   1,778.00

														Invoice No. 1131499				$   5,445.00						$   5,445.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   19,845.50						$   19,845.50

														2012

														Atkins		1135062		$   4,575.00						$   4,575.00















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   4,575.00						$   4,575.00



														Program to Date Total:				$   19,845.50































AUDUBONNE



						Audubon Nebraska 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		PD-8		Balance

																		Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		155		Audobon Nebraska, Letter dated March 25, 2010				$   5,000.00



														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   5,000.00

														2011

														Invoice dated September 16, 2011				$   2,000.00		$   2,000.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   2,000.00		$   2,000.00

														2012

														Audubon Nebraska		021112		$   2,000.00		$   2,000.00

																		$   - 0



														Totsl 2012 Year Six				$   2,000.00		$   2,000.00





														Program to Date Total:				$   7,000.00































AUMPURCell



						Auman and Purcell

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 								PD-4&5

						5/11/07		MAY		Disb		1		Auman and Purcell		$   3,768.01						368.01

						5/25/07		MAY		Disb		5		Auman (Everglades) and AM		$   373.87						373.87

						11/30/07				Disb		29		Nick Aumen		$   864.76						864.76

						12/19/07		DEC		Disb		30		Nick Auman		$   142.87						142.87

														Total 2007 Year One		$   5,149.51						1749.51

















														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,149.51































AURORACOOP



						Aurora Cooperative

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2007 

														Total 2007 Year One				ERROR:#REF!

														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   - 0



														2009

						05/29/09		MAY		D		100		Aurora Cooperative, Statement Dated April 30, 2009				$   2,037.91

										D		113		Aurora Cooperative, Statement received July 7, 2009				$   643.50

						08/14/09				D		114		Aurora Cooperative, Delivery Ticket #627,954				$   530.00



														Total 2009 Year Three				$   3,211.41



														2010

								JUL		D		167		Aurora Coop, Statement dated 06/30/2010				$   5,716.33

								SEP		D		174		Aurora Cooperative, Statement dated July 31,2010				$   1,826.58

								SEP		D		175		Aurora Cooperative, Statement dated 8/31/100				$   1,083.29

								NOV		Disb		186		Aurora Cooperative, Statement dated 10/31/2010				$   3,265.41

								DEC		DISB		188		Aurora Cooperative, Statement dated 11/30/2010				$   3,308.95



														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   15,200.56

														2011										LP-4

														Statement dated 05/31/2011				$   1,242.89						$   1,242.89

														Statement dated 06/30/11				$   671.56						$   671.56

														Statement dated 07/31/11				$   1,713.55						$   1,713.55

														Statement dated 08/31/2011				$   1,784.37						$   1,784.37

														Statement dated 9/30/11				$   2,921.16						$   2,921.16



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   8,333.53						$   8,333.53

														2012

														Aurora Cooperative		664935		$   3,609.75						$   3,609.75

















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   3,609.75						$   3,609.75



														Program to Date Total:				$   26,745.50































AYRES



						Ayres and Associates

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals

																Reference



														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One				$   - 0





														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   - 0



														2009



						03/24/09		MAR		D		86		Ayres and Associated, Invoice Number 129262				$   23,800.00

						03/24/09		MAR		D		86		Ayres and Associated, Invoice Number 129516				$   39,950.00

						05/01/09				D		94		Ayres and Associated, Invoice No. 129943				$   17,000.00

						05/29/09		MAY		D		100		Ayres and Associates, Invoice No. 130396				$   4,250.00

										D		106		Ayres Associates, Invoice No 130886				$   59,200.00

										D		116		Ayres Associates, Invoice No. 131924				$   123,017.60

								OCT		D		121		Ayres Associates, Inc. Invoice No. 132506				$   85,292.40

										D		128		Ayres Associates, Invoice No. 132927				$   9,000.00

										D		133		Ayres Associates, Invoice No. 133458				$   9,990.00

										D		141		Ayres Associates, Invoice No. 134085				$   9,000.00

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   380,500.00



														2010

																								PD-11

								MAR		D		146		Ayres Associates, Invoice No. 1345559				$   4,500.00

														Ayres Associates, Inc., Invoice No. 135748										$   9,373.00

								June		D		161		Ayres Associates, Inc., Invoice No. 135717				$   6,063.00

								JUL		D		167		Ayres Associates, Invoice No. 136436				$   28,476.75

								Aug		D		170		Ayres Associates, Invoice No. 136835				$   41,957.25

								SEP		D		175		Ayres Associates, Invoice No. 137139				$   76,884.00

								OCT		D		178		Ayres Associates, Inc., Invoice No. 1357592				$   93,718.50

								NOV		Disb		183		Ayres Associates, Inc., Invoice No. 1357876				$   14,996.25

								JAN		Disb		192		Ayres Construction, Invoice No. 138703				$   51,374.25

								FEB		Disb		197		Ayres Associates, Inc., Invoice No. 139085				$   2,193.00



																		$   320,163.00						$   9,373.00

														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   329,536.00

														2011						G-5		G-2

																		$   3,612.00		$   3,612.00

														Invoice No. 140621				$   18,278.50		$   18,278.50

														Invoice No. 140622				$   20,035.00		$   20,035.00

														Invoice No. 140623				$   15,787.50		$   15,787.50

														Invoice No. 140615				$   3,225.00		$   3,225.00

														Invoice No: 141034				$   17,027.50		$   17,027.50

														Invoice No: 141035				$   3,715.00		$   3,715.00

														Invoice No: 141036				$   4,575.00		$   4,575.00

														Invoice No. 141368				$   4,517.50		$   4,517.50

														Invoice No. 142181				$   233,103.00		$   233,103.00

														Invoice No.142183				$   10,365.00		$   10,365.00

														Invoice 142982				$   1,250.00		$   1,250.00

														Invoice 142981				$   27,209.25		$   27,209.25

														Invoice 142985				$   12,855.00		$   12,855.00

														Invoice No. 143674				$   27,939.00		$   27,939.00

														Invoice No.143673				$   11,160.00		$   11,160.00

														 Total 2011 Year Five				$   414,654.25		$   414,654.25		$   - 0

														2012

														Ayres and Associates		143984		$   5,316.75		$   5,316.75

														Ayres and Associates		143985		$   10,545.00		$   10,545.00

														Ayres and Associates		144361		$   4,635.00		$   4,635.00

														Ayres and Associates		144360		$   8,896.00		$   8,896.00

														Ayres and Associates		144650		$   3,475.00		$   3,475.00

														Ayres and Associates		144651		$   5,077.50		$   5,077.50

														Ayres and Associates		144971		$   1,737.50		$   1,737.50







														Total 2012 Year Six				$   39,682.75		$   39,682.75



														Program to Date Total:				$   1,124,690.25































BARNEY



						Barney Abstract amd Title Company as Escrow Agent

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008











														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

														Land Pre-Acquisition

						02/13/09		FEB		D		76		Barney Abstract & Title Company, Invoice Numbers 2008-531 through 2008-534		$   500.00

										D		106		Barney Abstract & Title Co., Invoice # MISC		$   625.00

								OCT		D		121		Barney Abstract & Title Company, Invoice 2009-422(a)		$   125.00

								OCT		D		121		Barney Abstract & Title Company, Invoice 2009-422(b)		$   375.00

														Subtotal Land Pre-Acquisition		$   1,625.00

														Land Acquisition

						03/24/09		MAR		D		85		Barney Abstract & Title Company		$   20,000.00

						04/13/09		APR		D		92		Barney Abstract amd Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   399,748.25

						04/15/09		APR		D		93		Barney Abstract amd Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   112.70

						04/21/09		APR		D		96		Barney Abstract amd Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   50,000.00

						05/19/09		MAY		D		101		Barney Abstract and Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   26,920.00

						05/27/09		MAY		D		103		Barney Abstract and Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   671,074.25

						05/26/09		MAY		D		104		Barney Abstract and Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   1,148,811.33



										D		107		Barney Abstract and Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   50,000.00

										D		108		Barney Abstract and Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   480,095.63

										D		127		Barney Abstract & Title Co. as Escrow Agent		$   16,676.00



														Subtotal Land Acquisition		$   2,863,438.16







														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   2,865,063.16



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,865,063.16































Bartels



						Master Blank Account 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

						4/13/09		APR		D				RN92Bartels 0803 2009 TitleIns		$   444.41

						4/13/09		APR		D				RN92Bartels 0803 2009 TitleIns		$   (444.41)

						4/13/09		APR		INC		96		RN92Bartels0803 2009 RealEstTx		$   781.00

						4/30/09		APR						Apr Stmt-LIHT Grant		$   (781.00)

















														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   - 0































BAUER



						Bauer Well Drilling, Inc                                                                                                                                      27810 Hwy. 10                                                                                                                                                     Pleasanton, NE 68866                                                                                                                                         308-388-3507

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								MAR		D		146		Bauer Well Drilling, Inc., Statement Dated Feb. 15, 2010		$   1,464.50

								June		D		161		Bauer Well Drilling, Inc. Statement dated 5/15/2010		$   1,476.50



														 Total 2010 Year Three		$   2,941.00

														2011

														Invoice No. 139		$   1,619.00





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   1,619.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,941.00































Beckner



						Brian F. Beckner Attorney at Law

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009



						03/24/09		MAR		D		86		Brian F. Beckner, Statement Dated February 18, 2009		1165.38

						04/17/09		APR		D		89		Brian F. Beckner, Statement Dated March 23, 2009		964.46

						05/08/09		MAY		D		98		Brian Beckner-- Attorney at Law, Statement Dated April 22, 2009		2243.68

								JUL		D		109		Brian F. Beckner, File # 5950 dated June 18,2009		811.2

								JUL		D		109		Brian F. Beckner, File # 5921 dated June 18,2009		140

								JUL		D		109		Brian F. Beckner, File # 5884 dated June 18,2009		157.47

						08/14/09				D		114		Brian F. Beckner, RE:File #5884 dated Juoly 23, 2009		35.48

						08/14/09				D		114		Brian F. Beckner, RE:File #5950 dated Juoly 23, 2009		789.84

								OCT		D		121		Brian F. Beckner, Statement dated September 16, 2009		300

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   6,607.51

														2010

								APR		D		149		Brian F. Beckner, Statement Dated March 2, 2010 (File#6052		$   1,638.66

								APR		D		149		Brian F. Beckner, Statement Dated March 2, 2010 (File#5921)		$   1,524.02

								SEP		D		175		Brian F. Beckner, Statement dated March 2, 2010		$   52.50

								SEP		D		175		Brian F. Beckner, Statement dated August 24, 2010		$   320.75

								OCT		D		179		Brian F. Beckner, Statement dated September 28, 2010		$   542.00

								JAN		Disb		193		Brian F. Beckner, Statement dated December 27, 2010		$   2,091.82

								JAN		Disb		193		Brian F. Beckner, Statement dated December 27, 2010		$   496.30

								FEB		Disb		197		Brian F. Beckner, Statement dated January 3, 2010		1260.41

														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   7,926.46

														2011

																$   231.27

																$   3,088.20

														Statement dated September 27, 2011		$   4,905.92

														Invoice No. 1/18/12		$   348.75







														 Total 2011 Year Five		$   8,574.14

														Program to Date Total:		$   23,108.11































BELL



						Tracey Bell                                                                                                                                                      1402 Avenue G                                                                                                                                             Kearney, NE 68847

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

														Tracy Bell, Statement 864463		$   2,137.50















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   2,137.50



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,137.50































BENSON



						Roger Benson                                                                                                                                                     RR !                                                                                                                                                                        Elm Creek, NE 68836

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010								LP-4

								Aug		D		170		Roger Benson, Statement received 7-27-10		$   1,550.41						$   1,550.41



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   1,550.41						$   1,550.41

														2011

														Statement Dated Oct. 1, 2011		$   1,549.79						$   1,549.79







														Total 2011 Year Five		$   1,549.79						$   1,549.79



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,100.20































BIG



						The Big Rack Schack                                                                                                                                                                 601 Central Avenue                                                                                                                                         Kearney, NE 68847                                                                                                                                               308-440-7286                    Fax: 308-234-3420

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								Aug		D		169		The Big Rack Shack, Invoice 0527		$   1,389.40















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   1,389.40



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,389.40































BILL'S



						Bill's Trailer Sales

								NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0





														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009



						03/24/09		MAR		D		86		Bill's Trailer Sales, Invoice #1		$   2,235.00





























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   2,235.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,235.00































BLEED



						Ann Bleed and Associates, Inc                                                                                                                                                                  1315 N. 37th Street                                                                                                                                                                              Lincoln, NE 68503 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		155		Ann Bleed and Associates, Inc., Invoice dated April 8,2010		$   1,650.00

								NOV		Disb		186		Ann Bleed and Associates, inc., Statement dated November 1, 2010		$   11,585.50





















														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   13,235.50



														Program to Date Total:		$   13,235.50































BLESSING



						Blessing Construction                                                                                                                                         PO Box 82653                                                                                                                                                    Lincoln, NE 68501                                                                                                                                            308-237-7988

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010								LP-2

								JAN		Disb		192		Blessing Construction, Invoice #2597		$   3,987.90						$   3,987.90



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   3,987.90						$   3,987.90

														2011										LP-4

														Invoice # 3059		$   6,700.00								$   6,700.00





																$   6,700.00								$   6,700.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   10,687.90































BLYTHE



						Blythe, Kerry L.

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Statement #100		$   500.00								$   500.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   500.00		$   - 0						$   500.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   500.00								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total										ERROR:#REF!





BOMBERGER



						Mary Bomberger Brown 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

										D		141		Mary Bomberger Brown, Invoice Dated 01/12/2010		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































Boyle



						Boyle

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2007		WP-2

						10/5/07				Disb		23		Boyle Engineering		$   13,362.81

						11/2/07		Disb		Disb		25		Boyle Engineering		$   20,184.11

						12/21/07		DEC		Disb		29		Boyle Engineering 		$   42,983.03

						12/19/07		DEC		Disb		30		Boyle Engineering Invoice 050426		$   20,008.30

						2/8/08		FEB		Disb		36		Boyle Engineering Inv. 051437		$   21,461.67

														Total 2007 Year One		$   117,999.92



														2008

						4/18/08		April		Disb		42		Boyle Engineering Invoice No. 053415		$   3,438.96		$   3,438.96

						6/13/08		June		Disb		47		Boyle Engineering, Invoice No. 054970		$   2,530.88		$   2,530.88

						8/15/08		AUG		Disb		53		Boyle Engineering Invoice No. 057379		$   21,108.20

										Disb		53		Boyle Engineering Invoice No. 057590		$   28,380.76		$   28,380.76

						9/12/08		SEP		Disb		56		Boyle Engineering Invoice No. 058801		$   16,902.34		$   16,902.34

						11/7/08		NOV		Disb		64		Boyle Engineering, Invoice No. 16930.00		$   47,859.92

						11/28/08		NOV		Disb		66		Boyle Engineering, Invoice No. 060764		$   28,218.75		$   28,218.75

						1/16/09		JAN		Disb		72		Boyle Engineering, Invoice No. 061518		$   4,512.26		$   4,512.26

						2/27/09		FEB		Disb		77		Boyle Engineering, Invoice No. 061986		$   3,017.77

														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   155,969.84		$   47,859.92





														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   273,969.76































BROADFOOT



						Terry L. Broadfoot                                                                                                                                              706 2nd Avenue South                                                                                                                               Kearney, Nebraska 68847

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								June		D		164		Terry L. Broadfoot		$   37,500.00









														Total 2010 Year Four		$   37,500.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   37,500.00































ROADFOOTSAND&GRAVEL

						Broadfoot Sand & Gravel, Inc.                                                                                                                                                 718 2nd Avenue South                                                                                                                                                      Kearney, NE 68847 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		LP-2(a & B)

																Accruals

																						LP-2(B)		LP-2		LP-3		LP-4





														2010

														Broadfoot Sand and Gravel, Inc., Invoice No. 82971 & 83163		$   960.00

								OCT		D		178		Broadfoot Sand and Gravel, Inc., Invoice No. 84924		$   1,375.46

								NOV		Disb		186		Broadfoot Sand and Gravel, Inc., Invoice No. 85673								$   1,752.50

								JAN		Disb		192		Broadfoot Sand & Gravel Inc., Invoice No. 85846								$   7,125.00



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   2,335.46						$   8,877.50		$   11,212.96

														2011

																$   69,250.00								$   69,250.00

																$   4,412.50										$   4,412.50

														Statement dated 05/31/2011		$   4,290.00										$   4,290.00

														Statement dated 06/30/11		$   4,290.00										$   4,290.00

														Void Open Trx		$   (4,290.00)										$   (4,290.00)

														Statement dated 9/30/2011		$   255.00												$   255.00



														Total 2011 Year Five		$   78,207.50								$   69,250.00		$   8,702.50		$   255.00		$   78,207.50



														Program to Date Total:		$   89,420.46































BUFFALOCO



						Buffalo County Treasurer                                                                                                                                                                               PO Box 1270                                                                                                                                                                                             Kearney, NE 68848-1270                                                                                                                                                                               308-236-1250

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		153		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#620492000				$   42.86

								APR		D		153		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#620516000				$   10.76

								APR		D		153		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#620493000				$   869.86

								APR		D		153		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#500067100				$   2,017.67

								APR		D		153		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#620502101				$   3,131.51

								APR		D		153		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#620508000				$   1,015.11

								APR		D		153		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#620510000				$   2,626.94

								APR		D		153		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#500122000				$   737.63

								APR		D		154		Buffalo County Treasurer ID#6205XX040				$   240.28

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer, ID#620492000				$   42.86

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer, ID#620516000				$   10.76

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer,ID#620493000				$   869.86

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer,ID#500067100				$   2,017.67

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer,ID#620502101				$   3,131.51

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer,ID#620508000				$   1,015.11

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer,ID#620510000				$   2,626.94

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer,ID#500122000				$   737.63

								SEP		D		172		Buffalo County Treasurer,ID#6205XX040				$   240.28

														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   21,385.24

														2011

														Disbursement 208				$   32,192.94



														 Total 2011 Year Five				$   32,192.94

														2012

														Buffalo County Treasurer		620492000		$   98.18

														Buffalo County Treasurer		620516000		$   21.70

														Buffalo County Treasurer		620493000		$   3,138.38

														Buffalo County Treasurer		620508000		$   3,626.74

														Buffalo County Treasurer		500067100		$   4,605.70

														Buffalo County Treasurer		620502101		$   5,843.38

														Buffalo County Treasurer		620510000		$   5,343.78

														Buffalo County Treasurer		620510040		$   484.32

														Buffalo County Treasurer		620510030		$   493.26

														Buffalo County Treasurer		5001220000		$   1,642.12

														Buffalo County Treasurer		720119000		$   4,918.48

														Buffalo County Treasurer		720115000		$   3,136.70

														Buffalo County Treasurer		72012600		$   4,980.76





														Total 2012 Year Six				$   38,333.50



														Program to Date Total:				$   91,911.68































BUFFALO



						Buffalo Surveying Corporation                                                                                                                       PO BOX 905                                                                                                                                                     Kearney, NE 68848  308-237-3785

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

								OCT		D		123		Buffalo Surveying Corporation Invoice # 10135		$   4,228.60

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   4,228.60



														Program to Date Total:		$   4,228.60































CARGILL



						Cargill, Incorporated

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2009

						05/29/09		MAY		D		100		Cargill, Incorporated, Statement Dated April 30, 2009		$   2,865.46

										D		106		Cargill, Inc., Statement of Activity for May 2009		$   2,520.99

										D		110		Cargill, Inc. Statement of Activity for June 2009		$   209.31

						08/14/09				D		114		Cargill, Incorporated, Statement from 07/01/2009 to 07/31/2009		$   1,506.05

										D		128		Cargill, Incorporated, Statement Dated 10-31-2009		$   1,414.66

								DEC		D		136		Cargill, Inc., Statement of Activity from 11/01/2009 to 11/31/2009		$   4,606.21

										D		141		Cargill, Inc. Statement of Activity for December 2009		$   69.09

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   13,191.77

														2010

								May		D		157		Cargill, Incorporated, Statement dated 04/30/2010		$   2,007.24

								JUL		D		167		Cargill, Inc., Statement dated 06/30/2010		$   30.56

								SEP		D		175		Cargill, Incorporated, Statement dated 08/31/10		$   1,793.31

								OCT		D		179		Cargill, Incorporated, Statement dated 09/30/2010		$   26.90

								NOV		Disb		186		Cargill, Statement for 10/10/10 to 10/29/10		$   1,732.69

								DEC		DISB		188		Cargill, Incorporated, Statement dated 11/30/2010		$   1,758.68

														Total 2010 Year Four		$   7,349.38

														2011								LP-4		LP-2

																$   6,122.48						$   6,122.48

														Statement dated 6/30/2011		$   994.07						$   994.07

														Statement dated 07/31/2011		$   3,213.46						$   3,213.46

														Statement dated 9/29/2011		$   48.70						$   48.70

														Statement dated 11/30/2011		$   23,401.34								$   23,401.34

														Invoice No. 167184		$   351.02						$   351.02





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   34,131.07						$   10,729.73		$   23,401.34		$   34,131.07

														Program to Date Total:		$   54,672.22































CARLSONBROS



						Carlson Bros.                                                                                                                                                  10323 Westside Road                                                                                                                                    Overton, NE 68863                                                                                                                                            308-987-2328

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		179		Carlson Bros., Statement dated September 22, 2010		$   1,044.00















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   1,044.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,044.00































CARLSON



						Jeff and Bertina Carlson

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								MAR		D		148		Jeff and Bertina Carlson, Agreement dated 03-05-10		$   2,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   2,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,000.00































CARN



						Carnevale Environmental Consulting







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment  WP-8				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Carnevale Environmental Consulting, LLC		1002		$   6,628.00		$   6,628.00













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   6,628.00		$   6,628.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





CASPERTRIBUNE



						Master Blank Account 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 

						06/22/07		JUN		Disb		10		Casper Star Tribune		$   97.44		$   97.44



														Total 2007 Year One		$   97.44



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009





														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   97.44































CDR



						CDR Associates                                                                                                                                               100 Arapahoe Avenue Suite 12                                                                                                              Boulder, CO 80302

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		119		CDR Associates, Invoice #9904-OA		$   2,928.75

										D		126		CDR Associates, Invoice #9904-OB		$   9,322.50

										D		126		CDR Associates, Invoice #9904-OC		$   776.41

										D		131		CDR Associates, Invoice No. 9904-OD		$   3,382.50

								DEC		D		136		CDR Associates, Invoice #9904-OE		$   9,475.62

								DEC		D		136		CDR Associates, Invoice #9904-OF		$   330.00

										D		141		CDR Associates, Invoice #9904-OG		$   2,166.26













														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   28,382.04



														Program to Date Total:		$   28,382.04































CENTNEBOBCAT



						Central Nebraska Bobcat                                                                                                                               South Central Bobcat                                                                                                                                        3809 Westgate Road                                                                                                                                      Grand Island, NE 68803                                                                                                                                       308-384-9222

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2010

								JUL		D		167		Central Nebraska Bobcat, Statementt dated 06/30/3010		$   1,508.70

								Aug		D		169		Central Nebraska Bobcat, Invoice No. 030380		$   329.43













														Total 2010 Year Four		$   1,838.13



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,838.13































CENTRAL



						Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District                                                                               415 Lincoln Street                                                                                                                                                PO Box 740                                                                                                                                               Holdrege, NE 68949-0740                                                                                                                      Phone: 308-995-8601  Fax: 308-995-5705  Web: www.cnppid.com

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		110		Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District, Invoice # 23117		$   65,678.08

								JAN		D		137		Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District, Invoice # 25768		$   1,529.58





														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   67,207.66



														2011		WP-6

														Invoice No. 37876		$   69,477.00







														Total 2011 Year Five		$   69,477.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   136,684.66































CHANDLER



						Chandler Well Service, Inc.                                                                                                                               124 W. Elm St. PO Box 74                                                                                                                     Pleasanton, NE 68866

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		Reference		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   - 0



														2009

										D		117		Chandler Well Services, Inc., Invoice #13595				$   2,007.34



														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   2,007.34

														2010

								APR		D		155		Chandler Well Service, Inc., Invoice # 13887				$   4,107.47

								June		D		161		Chandler Well Service, Inc., Invoice #13994				$   2,940.96

								JUL		D		167		Chandler Well Services.Inc., Invoice #14053				$   254.75

								Aug		D		169		Chandler Well Service, Inc., Invoice # 14096				$   4,329.98



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   11,633.16

														2011										LP-4

														Invoice #14628				$   6,163.01						$   6,163.01

														Invoice # 14737				$   1,528.10						$   1,528.10

														Invoice #14872				$   254.75						$   254.75







														Total 2011 Year Five				$   7,945.86						$   7,945.86

														2012

														Chandler Well Service		15087		$   377.67						$   377.67

















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   377.67						$   377.67



														Program to Date Total:				$   13,640.50































CLINE



						Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, & Oldfather, LLP 

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																		Accruals						LP-2		ED-2

																Reference





														2011

														Invoice #89355				$   7,955.40						$   7,955.40

														Statement 47-0382823				$   48.00								$   48.00

														Invoice #200637				$   3,917.00								$   3,917.00

														Invoice #202217				$   8,932.90								$   8,932.90

														Invoice No. 203981				$   18,643.90								$   18,643.90



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   39,497.20						$   7,955.40		$   31,541.80

														2012

														205626				$   12,736.51								$   12,736.51

														Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP		207070		$   25,687.00								$   25,687.00

														Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP		208674		$   13,532.00								$   13,532.00











														Total 2012 Year Six				$   51,955.51								$   51,955.51



														Program to Date Total:				$   39,497.20

































CMC



						CMC                                                                                                                                                              Custom Masonry and Carpentry                                                                                                                        P.O. Box 392                                                                                                                                                  Elm Creek, NE                                                                                                                                                  308-440-9252

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								JUL		D		165		CMC, Statement dated June 12, 2010		$   2,275.00

								JAN		Disb		192		CMC, Custom Masonry and Concrete, Statement dated 9-Dec-10		$   5,700.00













														Total 2010 Year Four		$   7,975.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   7,975.00































COMFORT



						ComforTech Services                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                235 North Bond                                                                                                                                                Elm Creek, NE 68836                                                                                                                                        308-224-6411

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals







														2009

								OCT		D		123		Comfort Tech Services, Invoice # 101				$   1,749.23

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   1,749.23

														2010

								May		D		156		Comfor Tech Service, Invoice # 155				$   5,208.00

								May		D		156		Comfor Tech Service, Invoice # 159				$   896.71

								NOV		Disb		186		ComforTech Services, Invoice # 1321				$   279.19



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   6,383.90

														2011										LP-4

																		$   3,769.33						$   3,769.33



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   3,769.33						$   3,769.33

														2012

														ComforTech Service		1600		$   5,067.90						$   5,067.90









														Total 2012 Year Six				$   5,067.90						$   5,067.90



														Program to Date Total:				$   11,902.46































COMPASSTOOLS



						Compass Tools

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2009



						5/8/09		MAY		D		97		Compass Tools, Invoice # 5267		$   12,140.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   12,140.00



														2010

								May		D		157		Compass Tools, Invoice #6895		$   390.35

								May		D		157		Compass Tools, Invoice #6859		$   19,704.24

								JUL		D		165		Compass Tools, Invoice #7143		$   63.30

								JAN		Disb		193		Compass Tools, Invoice # 8230		$   6,002.70



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   26,160.59



														Program to Date Total:		$   38,300.59































COOKCONS



						Cook Construction                                                                                                                                              1116 Avenue E                                                                                                                                      Kearney, NE 68847                                                                                                                                           308-237-9349

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals







														2009										L-P2		LP-4		LP-5

										D		110		Cook Construction, Statement dated July 1, 2009				$   550.00

										D		131		Cook Construction, Invoice Dated 11-08-09				$   8,613.26

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   9,163.26



														2010

								MAR		D		146		Cook Construction, Statement dated 02-21-2010				$   1,800.00								$   1,800.00

								APR		D		150		Cook Construction, Statement dated 3-24-10				$   71,280.50								$   71,280.50

								May		D		157		Cook Construction, Statement dated 4-26-10				$   15,405.00								$   15,405.00

								May		D		157		Cook Construction, Statement dated 4-28-10				$   1,515.00								$   1,515.00

														Cook Construction, Statement dated 5-10-10				$   441.82								$   441.82

														Cook Construction, Statement dated 5-10-10				$   1,125.00								$   1,125.00

								SEP		D		175		Cook Construction, Statement dated 8-29-10				$   1,080.00								$   1,080.00

								SEP		D		175		Cook Construction, Statement dated 8-31-10				$   4,854.75								$   4,854.75

								NOV		Disb		182		Cook Construction, Statement dated 10-13-2010				$   220.00								$   220.00

								DEC		DISB		188		Cook Construction, Statement Received 12/06/2010				$   72,125.00						72125

								JAN		Disb		192		Cook Construction, Statement dated 12-17-10												$   825.21

								FEB		Disb		196		Cook Construction, Statement dated 1-8-11				$   15,300.00								$   15,300.00

														Total 2010 Year Four				$   185,972.28						$   72,125.00		$   113,847.28



														2011

																		$   209,464.86						$   209,464.86

														Statement dated 5-5-2011				$   28,789.52						$   28,789.52

														Statement dated 10-5-11				$   3,797.10								$   3,797.10

														Statement dated 10-5-11				$   4,663.98								$   4,663.98

														Statement Dated 11/26/2011				$   6,763.83										$   6,763.83

														Statement dated 12-9-11				$   12,960.00						$   12,960.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   266,439.29						$   251,214.38		$   8,461.08		$   6,763.83

														2012

														Cook Construction		5/6/12		$   2,550.00								$   2,550.00

														Cook Construction		5/6/12		$   7,665.60								$   7,665.60

														Cook Construction		5/6/12		$   16,142.50						$   16,142.50





																		$   26,358.10						$   16,142.50		$   10,215.60







														Program to Date Total:				$   487,932.93





























COOKED



						Ed and Betty Cook

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								MAR		D		148		Ed and Betty Cook, Agreement dated 3/5/10		$   2,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   2,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,000.00































CORNERSTONE



						Cornerstone Mapping

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



								July		Disb		52		Cornerstone Mapping, Invoice # 1229		$   14,026.00



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   14,026.00



														2009



						08/14/09				D		114		Cornerstone Mapping, Invoice #1271		$   20,850.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   20,850.00

														2010								LP-2		G2

								APR		D		155		Cornerstone Mapping, Invoice #1293		$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

								JUL		D		167		Cornerstone Mapping, Invoice # 1308		$   22,309.50								$   22,309.50

																						$   3,000.00		$   22,309.50



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   25,309.50

														2011

														Invoice #1355		$   22,309.50								$   22,309.50







														Total 2011 Year Five		$   22,309.50								$   22,309.50



														Program to Date Total:		$   82,495.00































COTTONMILL



						Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes								Subcontractors

																		Accruals						LP-4		LP-2







														2010

								JAN		Disb		193		Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc., Invoice #123559				$   2,705.00						2705



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   2,705.00						$   2,705.00

														2011

														Invoice #1465527				$   1,085.00						$   1,085.00

														Invoice # 1465683				$   986.25						$   986.25

														Invoice #11932				$   986.25						$   986.25

														Invoice # 11933				$   766.25						$   766.25

														Invoice # 11951				$   960.00						$   960.00

														Invoice # 11934				$   986.25						$   986.25

														Invoice # 11928				$   1,085.00						$   1,085.00

														Invoice # 11929				$   615.00						$   615.00

														Invoice # 11930				$   1,075.00						$   1,075.00

														Invoice # 11931				$   803.75						$   803.75

														Invoice # 11963				$   160.00						$   160.00

														Invoice #12009				$   560.00						$   560.00

														Invoice No. 12014				$   560.00						$   560.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   10,628.75						$   10,628.75

														2012

														Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.		12036		$   381.25								$   381.25

														Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.		12037		$   381.25								$   381.25

														Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.		12038		$   395.25								$   395.25









														Totsl 2012 Year Six				$   1,157.75						$   - 0		$   1,157.75

														Program to Date Total:				$   14,491.50































CPNRD



						Central Platte NRD 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment						Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 				WP-4		LP-2		WP-6

						2/82008		FEB		Disb		36		CPNRD		$   10,000.00



														Total 2007 Year One		$   10,000.00



														2008

						01/23/09		JAN		Disb		73		Central Platte NRD, Invoice # 1004		$   10,000.00								$   10,000.00





														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   10,000.00



														2009

										D		113		Central Platte Natural Resources District, Invoice # 1911		$   3,418.20		$   3,418.20

								DEC		D		136		Central Platte NRD, Invoice #2036		$   100,000.00						$   100,000.00

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   103,418.20		$   3,418.20				$   100,000.00



														2010		Water Impl		Land MGMt

								APR		D		155		Central Platte NRD. Invoice # 2346				$   425.00

								NOV		Disb		182		Central Platte NRD, Invoice # 2569				$   300.00

								NOV		Disb		186		Central Platte Natural Resources District, Invoice #2590		$   190,000.00



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   190,000.00		$   725.00				$   190,725.00

														2011

														Invoice # 3221		$   300.00				$   300.00

														Invoice #3221		$   717.50				$   717.50













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   1,017.50				$   1,017.50



														Program to Date Total:		$   315,160.70































Crane Meadows



						Crane Meadows Nature Center

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009





						04/17/09		APR		D		89		Crane Meadows Nature Center, Statement Received March 25, 2009		$   20,000.00



















														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   20,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   20,000.00































Cunningham



						Cunningham Trust Account

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								DEC		DISB		191		Cunningham Trust Account		$   2,906,664.25















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   2,906,664.25



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,906,664.25































CURATORS



						Master Blank Account 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009		ISAC-1						ISAC 2

						04/10/09		APR		D		88		The Curators of the University of Missouri, CY 2009		$   7,000.00

										D		128		The Curators of the University of Missouri, Invoice dated 10-29-2009								$   1,000.00





























														 Total 2009 Year Three

																$   8,000.00

														Program to Date Total:		$   - 0































CUSTOM



						Custom Masonry and Carpentry  PO Box 392 Elm Creek, NE 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

								OCT		D		123		Custom Masonry and Carpentry Statement dated 09-21-2009		$   7,460.00

										D		133		Custom Masonry and Carpentry, Statement dated 24-Nov-09		$   3,488.33























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   10,948.33



														Program to Date Total:		ERROR:#REF!































DAWSONCOTREAS



						Dawson County Treasurer                                                                                                                                                                    700 N, Washington, Room B                                                                                                                                                                 Lexington, NE

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		LP-3		Balance

																		Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		154		Dawson County Treasurer, Statement 15101				$   684.05

								SEP		D		172		Dawson County Treasurer,Statement 15101				$   684.05



														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   1,368.10

														2011

														Disbursement 208				$   1,435.82



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   1,435.82

														2012

														Dawson County Treasurer		240214879		$   1,396.60		$   1,396.60





														Total 2012 Year Six				$   1,396.60		$   1,396.60



														Program to Date Total:				$   4,200.52































DAWPUBPOW



						Dawson Public Power District                                                                                                                     75191 Road 433                                                                                                                                                     PO Box 777                                                                                                                                                     Lexington, NE 68850-0777  

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								SEP		D		174		Dawson Public Power District, Invoice Number 193339		$   36,793.00















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   36,793.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   36,793.00































DAWSON



						Dawson Weed Authority 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals







														2009

										D		113		Dawson County Weed Authority, Invoice #4572				$   3,984.65

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   3,984.65



														2010

								June		D		161		Dawson County Weed Control, Invoice # 4751				$   4,532.25

								Aug		D		169		Dawson County Weed Control, Invoice #4790				$   2,710.21

								OCT		D		179		Dawson County Weed Control, Invoice # 4808				$   1,663.76



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   8,906.22

														2011										LP-2

																		$   6,090.58						$   6,090.58

														Invoice #4996				$   2,680.74						$   2,680.74

														Invoice #5014				$   522.26						$   522.26



														Total Year 2011 Year Five				$   9,293.58						$   9,293.58

														2112

														Dawson County Weed Control		5105		$   8,055.51						$   8,055.51















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   8,055.51						$   8,055.51



														Program to Date Total:				$   22,184.45































DENNEWS



						Denver Newspaper Agency

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 

										Disb		8		Denver Newspaper Agency		$   577.00



														Total 2007 Year One		$   577.00



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   577.00































DEW



						Dewberry and Davis LLC                                                                                                                                                                                                                       PO Box 1824                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 Merrifield, VA 22116-18/24                                                                                                                                                                                                                703-848-0100

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																Accruals						WP-9



														2011

																$   9,940.00						$   9,940.00

														Invoice # 784404		$   2,840.00						$   2,840.00

														Invoice # 834672		$   1,420.00						$   1,420.00

														Invoice No. 850161		$   2,500.00						$   2,500.00









														Total 2011 Year Five		$   16,700.00						$   16,700.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   16,700.00































DIXON



						Phillip M. Dixon

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2009

						04/10/09		APR		D		88		Phillip M. Dixon, Calendar Year 2009				$   7,000.00

						04/17/09		APR		D		89		Phillip M. Dixon, Spring Meeting 2009				$   521.37

								JUL		D		109		Phillip M. Dixon, Expense Voucher dated June 19, 2009				$   1,212.52

										D		128		Phillip M. Dixon, Invoice dated 10-29-2009				$   1,000.00

								JAN		D		139		Phillip M. Dixon, Expense Voucher dated 21 December 2009				$   486.14

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   10,220.03

														2010										PD-11		ISAC-1

								APR		D		150		Philip M. Dixon, Invoice of 03/25/10				$   19,000.00								19000

								APR		D		155		Philip Dixon, Expense Voucher submitted March 30, 2010				$   852.64						$   852.64

								SEP		D		175		Philip Dixon, Expense Voucher dated 25 Aug 2010				$   533.94								533.94



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   20,386.58						$   852.64		19533.94		$   20,386.58



														2011				ISAC-1

														Statement dated 20 July 2011				$   17,571.36

														Invoice No. 12/29/2011				$   7,800.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   25,371.36

														2012										ISAC-1

														Dixon, Phillip M.		3/12 Meeting		$   960.65						$   960.65









														Total 2012 Year Six				$   960.65						$   960.65



														Program to Date Total:				$   36,552.04































DOUBLE



						Double M Farms, Inc.                                                                                                                                         3385 E. 11th Street                                                                                                                                      Kearney, NE 68847                                                                                                                                              308-234-9549

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		LP-4

																Accruals

																						LP-4





														2010

								Aug		D		170		Double M Farms, Statement Received 7-27-2010		$   18,254.06

								DEC		DISB		188		Double M Farms, Statement received 11-13-2010		$   2,463.32



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   20,717.38

														Statement Receoved 11/14/2011		$   25,639.57						$   25,639.57







														Total 2011 Year Five		$   25,639.57						$   25,639.57



														Program to Date Total:		$   46,356.95































DUCKS



						Ducks Unlimited, Inc.                                                                                                                                      Great Plains Regional Office                                                                                                                           2525 River Road                                                                                                                                       Bismarck, ND 58503-9011                                                                                                                             701-355-3500

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								DEC		DISB		188		Ducks Unlimited, Inc., Statement dated November 29, 2010		$   93,450.16



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   93,450.16

														2011

														Statement dated June 21, 2011		$   24,408.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   24,408.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   117,858.16































DUNBAR



						Dunbar Insurance Agency

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals

																Reference

														2007 

														Total 2007 Year One				$   - 0



														2008

						05/09/08		May		Disb		45		Dunbar-Peterson Insurance Agency				$   41,834.00

														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   41,834.00



														2009

						04/17/09		APR		D		89		Dunbar-Peterson Insurance Agency, Invoice #15341				$   56,394.00

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   56,394.00

														2010

								May		D		156		Dunbar-Peterson Insurance Agency, Invoice # 16040				$   5,882.00

								June		D		161		Dunbar-Peterson Insurance Agency, Invoice #16092				$   56,750.00



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   62,632.00

														2011				GFC-2

																		$   62,479.00

														Invoice # 16707				$   6,032.00

														Invoice #16895				$   515.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   69,026.00

														2012						GFC-2

														Dunbar Insurance Agency		17251		$   64,870.55		$   64,870.55















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   64,870.55		$   64,870.55



														Program to Date Total:				$   229,886.00

































EAENGINEERING



						EA Engineering 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2008

						10/24/08		Oct		Disb		62		EA Engineering and Technology Invoice No.47874				$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00

						10/24/08		Oct		Disb		62		EA Engineering and Technology Invoice No.47972				$   6,000.00		$   6,000.00

						11/21/08		NOV		Disb		65		EA Engineering Science and Technology, Inc., Invoice 48500				$   18,000.00		$   18,000.00

						02/27/09		FEB		Disb		77		EA Engineering, Science and Technology, Inv #50237				$   6,000.00



														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   40,000.00



														2009				WQ-1						PD-3

						03/24/09		MAR		Disb		86		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc, Invoice # 50956				$   2,500.00

						05/29/09		MAY		Disb		100		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #52244				$   22,870.17

										Disb		106		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc. Invoice #52847				$   14,863.93

										Disb		110		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice # 53467				$   21,977.10

										D		116		EA Engineering, Science and Technology, Inc., Invoice No. 54038				$   32,293.60

										D		116		EA Engineering, Science and Technology, Inc., Invoice No. 54286				$   18,615.60

								OCT		D		123		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice # 55035				$   15,765.10

										D		128		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #55689				$   23,028.45

								JAN		D		137		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc. Invoice #:56588				$   16,299.55

								JAN		D		139		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc. Invoice #:56880										1500

								FEB		D		143		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #57142				$   6,829.70

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   175,043.20						$   1,500.00

																		$   176,543.20

														2010										LP-4		PD-11		WP-6		PD-20		WQ-1

								MAR		D		146		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #57764				$   3,083.90

								MAR		D		148		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #58374												$   2,785.61

								May		D		156		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc.				$   17,799.77

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice # 59532				$   14,429.75

								JUL		D		167		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc. Invoice #60098				$   18,581.58

								Aug		D		169		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #60776										$   2,463.75

								Aug		D		169		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #60775				$   22,022.14

								SEP		D		174		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #61290				$   10,168.15

								SEP		D		174		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #61379				$   1,872.90

								OCT		D		178		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc. Invoice #62000										$   2,036.25

								OCT		D		178		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc. Invoice #661999				$   19,403.58

								NOV		Disb		182		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice # 62526				$   15,005.47

								NOV		Disb		186		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice # 62997				$   19,213.07

								JAN		Disb		192		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice No. 63721				$   16,022.29

								JAN		Disb		193		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice No. 64119														$   8,125.05

								FEB		Disb		196		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #64417				$   5,210.60

								FEB		Disb		200		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc., Invoice #65215				$   41,238.55

								FEB		Disb		200		EA Engineering, Scienct and Technology, Inc., Invoice # 6494				$   13,934.10

																		$   217,985.85						$   4,500.00		$   2,785.61		$   8,125.05						$   233,396.51

														Total 2010 Year Four				$   233,396.51

														2011

																		$   55,503.94						0		0		$   55,503.94						$   55,503.94

																		$   54,512.44														$   54,512.44		$   54,512.44

																		$   50,499.03										$   50,499.03						$   50,499.03

																		$   25,279.83										$   25,279.83						$   25,279.83

																		$   6,855.72														$   6,855.72		$   6,855.72

														Invoice #66387				$   7,635.82												$   7,635.82				$   7,635.82

														Invoice #667778				$   29,353.29														$   29,353.29		$   29,353.29

														Invoice #67819				$   45,845.84										$   45,845.84						$   45,845.84

														Invoice #68397				$   18,808.87														$   18,808.87		$   18,808.87

														Invoice #68765				$   34,696.15										$   34,696.15						$   34,696.15

														Invoice # 68984				$   1,515.47												$   1,515.47				$   1,515.47

														Invoice #68983				$   22,954.66														$   22,954.66		$   22,954.66

														Invoice #69627				$   20,172.40										$   20,172.40						$   20,172.40

														Invoice #69729				$   31,050.81														$   31,050.81		$   31,050.81

														Invoice # 69728				$   5,448.80														$   5,448.80		$   5,448.80

														Invoice # 70570				$   25,171.39										$   25,171.39						$   25,171.39

														Invoice # 70486				$   13,195.29														$   13,195.29		$   13,195.29

														Invoice #70903				$   32,976.73										$   32,976.73						$   32,976.73

														Invoice #70848				$   15,571.94														$   15,571.94		$   15,571.94

														Invoice #71583				$   23,281.94										$   23,281.94						$   23,281.94

														Invoice #71602				$   2,709.07												$   2,709.07				$   2,709.07

														Invoice #71601				$   14,179.44														$   14,179.44		$   14,179.44

														Invoice NO. 72062				$   18,793.41										$   18,793.41						$   18,793.41

																		$   1,960.70														$   1,960.70		$   1,960.70



														Subtotals Year Five				$   557,972.98						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   332,220.66		$   11,860.36		$   213,891.96		$   557,972.98

														2012

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		72638		$   11,783.96										$   11,783.96

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		72658		$   31,266.68														$   31,266.68

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		73335		$   7,911.59										$   7,911.59

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		73278		$   11,629.36														$   11,629.36

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		74105		$   15,377.88										$   15,377.88

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		74022		$   3,330.00														$   3,330.00

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		74024		$   7,902.48														$   7,902.48

														EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc		74375		$   13,221.94										$   13,221.94











																		$   102,423.89										$   48,295.37				$   54,128.52		$   102,423.89



														Program to Date Total:				$   535,452.94































ECOSYSTEMS



						Ecosystems Advisors LP                                                                                                                                                                                                                    PO Box 723 Grand Island, NE 68802                                                                                                                                                                                              308-385-8149

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																		Accruals						IMRP-3







														2011

																		$   5,802.00						$   5,802.00

														Statement dated 06/01/2011				$   6,143.39						$   6,143.39

														Statement dated 07/20/2011				$   6,282.06						$   6,282.06

														Statement dated 09/21/2011				$   3,684.00						$   3,684.00

														Statement dated 11/10/2011				$   3,038.79						$   3,038.79



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   24,950.24						$   24,950.24



														2012

														Ecosystems Advisors		2/24/12		$   2,000.00						$   2,000.00

														Ecosystems Advisors		4/16/12		$   1,750.00						$   1,750.00













																		$   3,750.00						$   3,750.00



														Program to Date Total:				$   24,950.24































EDBROADFOOT



						Ed Broadfoot and Sons

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 



														2009		LP-4

						8/14/09				D		114		Ed Broadfoot and Sons Sand and Gravel, statement dated 6/30/2009		$   503.24



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   503.24



														2010







														Total 2010 Year Four		$   - 0















														Program to Date Total:		$   503.24































ELEC



						Electrical Services







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-4										WP-8

																1816		$   166.16				$   166.16













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   166.16		$   - 0		$   166.16				$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





ENVIRDIRECT



						Environment Direct                                                                                                                                           1002 South Shady Bend Road                                                                        

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009



								FEB		D		143		Environmental Direct, Inc., Invoice #5762		$   4,150.00























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   4,150.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   4,150.00































ESSA



						ESSA Technologies, Ltd.                                                                                                                                   3rd Floor, 1765 W. 8th Avenue                                                                                                                Vancouver, BC V6J 5C6 Canada                                                                                                                     604-733-2996

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals







														2009

								OCT		D		121		ESSA Technologies Ltd., Invoice Number 936				$   5,000.00

										D		133		ESSA Technologies Ltd., Invoice Number 984				$   3,000.00

								Feb		D		144		ESSA Technology Limited, Inovice Number 1035				$   1,260.84

								Feb		D		144		ESSA Technology Limited, Inovice Number 1036				$   1,310.52

								Feb		D		144		ESSA Technology Limited, Inovice Number 1037				$   1,199.42

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   11,770.78

														2010										PD-11		IMRP-3

								MAR		D		148		ESSA Technologies, Ltd., Invoice Number 1068				ISAC-1						$   4,108.78

								APR		D		150		ESSA Technologies, LTD, Invoice Number 1114				$   26,000.00

								SEP		D		174		ESSA Technologies Ltd., Invoice Number 1231				$   1,189.93

								FEB		Disb		200		ESSA Technologies Ltd., Invoice Number 1389												$   2,946.19

								FEB		Disb		200		ESSA Technologies Ltd., Invoice Number 1396				$   977.98

																		$   28,167.91						$   4,108.78		$   2,946.19		$   35,222.88

														Total 2010 Year Four				$   35,222.88

														2011										ISAC-1		IMRP-3

																		$   11,445.88						$   11,445.88

														Invoice Number: 1471				$   4,769.47								$   4,769.47

														Invoice Number 1518				$   676.50								$   676.50

														Invoice Number 1546				$   1,993.26						$   1,993.26

														Invoice Number 1544				$   17,800.00						$   17,800.00

														Invoice number 1575				$   12,224.45								$   12,224.45

														Invoice Number 1607				$   1,045.50								$   1,045.50

														Invoice Number:1639				$   738.00								$   738.00

														Invoice Number 1671				$   2,300.26								$   2,300.26

														Invoice Number 1702				$   10,191.58								$   10,191.58

														Total 2011 Year Five				$   63,184.90						$   31,239.14		$   31,945.76		$   63,184.90

														2012														ISAC-1

														ESSA Technologies		1775		$   1,507.19										$   1,507.19

														ESSA Technologies		1774		$   7,800.00										$   7,800.00

														ESSA Technologies		1862		$   1,497.14										$   1,497.14

														ESSA Technologies		1861		$   11,567.00										$   11,567.00















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   22,371.33										$   22,371.33



														Program to Date Total:				$   125,494.92































EVERGLADES



						Everglades National Park

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 

						08/31/07		AUG		Disb		18		Everglades National Park		$   1,136.87



														Total 2007 Year One		$   1,136.87



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009





														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,136.87































FEDEX



						FEDEX

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 

								10/26/07		Disb				Fedex		$   25.65



														Total 2007 Year One		$   25.65



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   25.65































FIRESTORM



						Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc		6494		$   26,180.00				$   26,180.00

														Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc		6462		$   34,600.00				$   34,600.00

														Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc		6509		$   28,330.00				$   28,330.00









														Total 2012 Year Six				$   89,110.00		$   - 0		$   89,110.00				$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





FISHERIES



						Fisheries and Environmental Services Partnership                                                                                                                                                                      102 Lakewood Circle                                                                                                                                                                                                                  Vicksburg, MS 39180-6019                                                                                                                                                                                                               601-529-3740

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																Accruals						ISAC-1







														2011

														Statement of 7/21/2011		$   16,900.00						$   16,900.00

														Invoice No. 11/28/2011 		$   7,800.00						$   7,800.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   24,700.00						$   24,700.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   24,700.00

































FLATWATER



						The Flatwater Group, Inc.                                                                                                                                                                      8200 Cody Drive Suite A                                                                                                                                                                  Lincoln, NE 68512-9550 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals

																								WP-8		PD-12		PD-13		PD-15



														2009

								JAN		D		139		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Invoice #09-915				$   70,229.37										70229.37

								FEB		D		143		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Invoice No. 10-928				$   18,979.42										$   18,979.42





														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   89,208.79										$   89,208.79



														2010

								MAR		D		146		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Infvoice No. 10-937				$   34,780.14										$   34,780.14

								APR		D		149		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Invoice 10-947				$   39,674.64										$   39,674.64

								May		D		156		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Invoice 10-962				$   9,442.25										$   9,442.25

								May		D		156		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Invoice 10-963				$   12,364.94												$   12,364.94

														The Flatwater Group, Invoice # 10-971				$   48,699.93										$   48,699.93

								JUL		D		165		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Invoice #10-988				$   56,677.82										$   56,677.82

								JUL		D		165		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Invoice #10-980				$   24,451.43												$   24,451.43

								Aug		D		169		The Flatwater Group, Invoice 10-1006				$   34,600.75								$   34,600.75

								Aug		D		169		The Flatwater Group, Invoice 10-1007				$   8,303.15										$   8,303.15

								OCT		D		178		The Flatwater Group, Invoice #10-1027				$   42,778.61								$   42,778.61

								OCT		D		178		The Flatwater Group, Invoice #10-1028				$   1,664.50												$   1,664.50

								NOV		Disb		183		The Flatwater Group, Invoice #10-1053				$   1,860.80												$   1,860.80

								DEC		DISB		188		The Flatwater Group, Inc., Invoice #10-1054				$   20,765.49										$   20,765.49

								FEB		Disb		197		The Flatwater Group, inc.,Invoice #11-1088				$   33,371.58										$   33,371.58

								FEB		Disb		197		The Flatwater Group, inc.,Invoice #11-1089				$   1,355.18												$   1,355.18

														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   370,791.21						$   - 0		$   77,379.36		$   251,715.00		$   41,696.85		$   370,791.21

														2011

														Invoice # 11-1134				$   35,740.45												$   35,740.45

														Invoice #11-1157				$   33,563.13										$   33,563.13

														Invoice #11-1155				$   35,852.21												$   35,852.21

														Invoice #11-1222				$   31,896.53										$   31,896.53

														Invoice #11-1221				$   7,011.80												$   7,011.80

														Invoice #11-1246				$   43,017.79		$   43,017.79								$   43,017.79

														Invoice #11-1247				$   33,690.75		$   33,690.75										$   33,690.75

														Invoice # 11-1263				$   37,354.27										$   37,354.27

														Invoice # 11-1261				$   15,698.00												$   15,698.00

														Total 2011 Year Five				$   273,824.93										$   145,831.72		$   127,993.21		$   273,824.93

														2012

														Flatwater Group, The		12-1320		$   48,332.05										$   48,332.05

														Flatwater Group, The		12-1319		$   15,909.19												15909.19













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   64,241.24										$   48,332.05		15909.19





FLUVIAL



						Fluvial Consulting

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Payment PD-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Invoice dated September 22, 2011				$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00						$   - 0

														2012

														Fluvial Consulting 		2012-2		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00









														Total 2012 Year Six				$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00



														Program to Date Total:				$   5,000.00



														Contractor Total





FRAHM



						Frahm Construction, Inc.                                                                                                                                   80249 485th Avenue                                                                                                                                        North Loup, NE 68859 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		178		Frahm Construction, Inc., Statement # 316		$   18,500.00















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   18,500.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   18,500.00































FULLCIRCLE



						Full Circle Irrigation, LLC                                                                                                                                                                                                                78035 465th Avenue                                                                                                                                                                                                                              PO Box 122                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  Litchfield, NE 68852                                                                                                                                                                                                                           308-446-2222

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																Accruals						LP-4







														2011

														Invoice # 7057		$   3,917.27						3917.27















														Total 2011 Year Five		$   3,917.27						3917.27



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,917.27































GAL



						Galat, David







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				ISAC-1				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Galat, David		4/29/12		$   961.82		$   961.82













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   961.82		$   961.82						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





GANZ



						Ganz Title and Escrow Company

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		Ganz Title and Excrow Company, Inv TC-1400		$   525.00



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   525.00



														2009























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   525.00































GEOTECH



						Geotechnical Services, Inc

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								MAR		D		148		Geotechnical Services, Inc.,Invoice Number 45349		$   360.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   360.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   360.00































GOLDER



						Golder Associates                                                                                                                                        Lockbox 934544                                                                                                                                           Atlamta. GA 31193-4544                                                                                                                                  303-980-0540 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2010

								JUL		D		167		Golder Associates, Inc., Invoice # 265450		$   5,695.79

								FEB		Disb		196		Golder Associates, Invoice #280942		$   17,182.98

														Total 2010 Year Four		$   22,878.77

														2011		WP-9

														Invoice No: 285325		$   447.85









														Total 2010 Year Four		$   447.85

														Program to Date Total:		$   23,326.62































GRACZYK



						Graczyk Lawn & Landscape                                                                                                                               320 South Avenue                                                                                                                                                 PO Box 608                                                                                                                                                       Elm Creek, NE 68836

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		178		Graczyk Lawn and Landscape, Invoice # 11274		$   2,518.68















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   2,518.68



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,518.68































GRANDISLABS



						GRAND ISLAND ABSTRACT, ESCROW & TITLE CO.                                                                           704 West 3rd Street                                                                                                                                     Grand Island, NE 68801

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		117		Grand Island Abstract, Escrow & Title Co., Statement Dated 08/17/2009		$   100.00

										D		117		Grand Island Abstract, Escrow & Title Co., Statement Dated 08/19/2009		$   600.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   700.00



														2010

								JAN		Disb		193		Grand Island Abstract, Escrow & Title Co., Invoice #:5378		$   300.00



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   300.00

														2011

																$   205.25













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   205.25



														Program to Date Total:		$   700.00































GREATAMERICAN



						Great American Insurance Group                                                                                                                        5015 S. 118 Street                                                                                                                                               PO Box 2409                                                                                                                                                  Omaha, NE 68137                                                                                                                                             308-234-2570

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		179		Great American Insurance Group, Statement dated 10/01/2010		$   149.00















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   149.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   149.00































GREATPLAINS



						Great Plains Appraisal

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

						01/23/09		JAN		Disb		73		Great Plains Appraisal		$   8,100.00











														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   8,100.00



														2009

						5/8/09		MAY		D		98		Great Plains Appraisal, Invoice Number 9C0058		$   5,670.00







														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   5,670.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   13,770.00









GROSS



						Gross Feed Co. Inc.                                                                                                                                              HC 66 Box 13                                                                                                                                            Johnstown, NE 69214

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

														Gross Seed CO. Inc., Invoice #3768		$   275.00

														Gross Seed CO. Inc., Invoice # 3770		$   4,625.00

														Gross Seed CO. Inc., Invoice 3771		$   1,560.00



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   6,460.00

														2011								LP-4

																$   2,080.00						$   2,080.00







														Total 2011 Year Five		$   2,080.00						$   2,080.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   6,460.00































HabitatServices



						Habitat Services                                                                                                                                              PO Box 17                                                                                                                                                 Cozad, NE 69130                                                                                                                                           Office: 308.784.3333  Cell: 308.529.2504  

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		110		Habitat Services, Invoice Number 00002		$   698.60























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   698.60



														Program to Date Total:		$   698.60































HAHN



						Hahn Water Resources, LLC

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description														Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																												Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One														$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 														$   - 0



														2009

																				Land Management LP-4		LP-5		Water Action Plan WP-4		Feasibility Studies WP-6		Advisors on Water Related Specialty Topics WP-8						Year Total

						08/14/09				D		114		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice # 110						$   455.00

										D		119		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice # 115										$   6,472.40

								OCT		D		123		Hahn Water Resources LLC, Invoice 119												$   9,702.50

										D		128		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice # 122												$   7,775.70

										D		139		Hahn Water Resources												$   2,340.00

										D		141		Hahn Water Resources LLC, Invoice #126												$   9,834.23

														 Total 2009 Year Three						$   455.00				$   6,472.40		$   29,652.43		$   - 0						$   36,579.83





														2010

								FEB		D		144		Hahn Water Resources LLC, Invoice # 135														$   3,185.00

								MAR		D		146		Hahn Water Resources, LLC,Invoice #139														$   5,719.74

								APR		D		155		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice #145														$   7,960.04

								May		D		156		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice # 152														$   6,923.00

								June		D		161		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice #158														$   520.00

								Aug		D		170		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice #166														$   780.00

								SEP		D		175		Hahn Water Resources, LLC Invoice #164														$   1,170.00

								SEP		D		175		Hahn Water Resources, LLC Invoice #171														$   1,161.00

								OCT		D		179		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice # 176														$   455.00

								NOV		Disb		186		Hahn Water Resources, LLC., Invoice # 179														$   2,925.00

								DEC		DISB		188		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice #187														$   7,005.11

								JAN		Disb		193		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice #190														$   2,310.00

								FEB		Disb		197		Hahn Water Resources, LLC, Invoice #191														$   12,740.00

														Total 2010 Year Four						$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   52,853.89						$   52,853.89

														2011																				WP-8

																												$   10,460.23						$   10,460.23

																												$   9,170.00						$   9,170.00

																												$   11,377.22						$   11,377.22

														Invoice # 201														$   13,961.19						$   13,961.19

														Invoice #203														$   9,940.00						$   9,940.00

														Invoice #205														$   8,794.09						$   8,794.09

														Invoice # 208														$   10,917.32						$   10,917.32

														Invoice # 210														$   8,362.24						$   8,362.24

														Invoice #212														$   9,030.00						$   9,030.00

														Invoice # 214														$   9,621.02						$   9,621.02

														Invoice No. 218														$   5,110.00						$   5,110.00

														Invoice No. 221														$   9,520.00						$   9,520.00



														Total 2011 Year Five														$   116,263.31						$   116,263.31

														2012				Payments

														Hahn Water Resources, LLC		223		$   7,112.92										$   7,112.92						$   7,112.92

														Hahn Water Resources, LLC		229		$   6,267.74										$   6,267.74						$   6,267.74

														Hahn Water Resources, LLC		232		$   5,880.00										$   5,880.00						$   5,880.00

																																		$   - 0

																																		$   - 0

																																		$   - 0

																																		$   - 0

														Total 2012 Year Six				$   19,260.66										$   19,260.66

														Program to Date Total:														$   205,697.03































HALLCOUNTY



						Hall County Treasurer







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment LP-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														2012

														Hall County Treasurer		400229412		$   5,228.38		$   5,228.38

														Hall County Treasurer		400229536		$   5,096.12		$   5,096.12

														Hall County Treasurer		40229757		$   2,418.92		$   2,418.92

														Hall County Treasurer		400229846		$   768.64		$   768.64

														Hall County Treasurer		400229490		$   2,964.32		$   2,964.32

														Hall County Treasurer		400229947		$   746.20		$   746.20

														Hall County Treasurer		400227286		$   3.66		$   3.66

														Hall County Treasurer		400229878		$   11.84		$   11.84

														Hall County Treasurer		400229884		$   16.42		$   16.42



														Total 2012 Year Six				$   17,254.50		$   17,254.50						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				$   17,254.50								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





HALL



						Robert O. Hall, Jr.                                                                                                                                               2013 Spring Creek Drive                                                                                                                                  Laramie, WY 82070   307-690-6284

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009



										D		120		Robert O. Hall, Jr., September 2009		$   3,000.00























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































HARDERS



						Harders Dozer and Scraper Work                                                                                                                                                                                                       7800 N. NE Hwy 11                                                                                                                                                                                                                            Cairo, NE 68824

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																Accruals						LP-4







														2011

																$   5,400.00						$   5,400.00

																$   4,300.00						$   4,300.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   9,700.00						$   9,700.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   9,700.00































HDR



						HDR Engineering

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		PS-2		WP 1-A		WP-3		WP-8

																Accruals

																		PS-2		WP 1-A		WP-3		WP-8



														2008

						06/13/08		June		Disb		47		HDR Engineering, Inc. Invoice No. 13605-H		$   10,674.19		$   10,674.19

						06/13/08		June		Disb		47		HDR Engineering, Inc. Invoice No. 19323-H		$   1,021.73		$   1,021.73

						07/31/08		JUL		Disb		52		HDR Engineering, Inc. Invoice No. 25116-H		$   5,669.70		$   5,669.70

												53		HDR Engineering, Inc. Invoice No. 33729-H		$   1,315.98		$   1,315.98

						09/26/08		SEP		Disb		57		HDR 4329-H		$   12,697.25		$   12,697.25

						10/03/08		Oct		Disb		61		HDR Engineering Invoice # 47833 H		$   986.41		$   986.41

						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 54957-H		$   8,307.61		$   8,307.61

						12/19/08		DEC		Disb		68		HDR Engineering, Inc. Invoice No. 61670-H		$   894.95		$   894.95

						01/02/09		JAN		Disb		71		HDR Engineering, Inc. Invoice No. 68510-H		$   10,236.25		$   236.25				$   10,000.00

						02/13/09		FEB		Disb		75		HDR Engineering, Inc. Invoice No. 77815H		$   4,654.35		$   4,654.35

														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   56,458.42		$   46,458.42				$   10,000.00



														2009

						02/13/09		FEB		D		78		HDR Engineering, Invoice 81548-H		$   13,402.35

						04/10/09		APR		D		88		HDR Engineering, Invoice 91494-H		$   12,617.04

						05/08/09		MAY		D		98		HDR Engineering, Inc, Invoice No. 98963-H		$   4,367.58

										D		113		HDR Engineering, Inc, Invoice No. 115443-H		$   7,950.05

										D		113		HDR Engineering, Inc, Invoice No. 121710-H		$   1,141.69

										D		116		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 130734-H		$   57,324.06

								OCT		D		121		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 137192-H		$   7,386.57

										D		126		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 142761-H		$   16,757.95

										D		131		HDR Engineering, Inc.Invoice No. 151941-H		$   15,472.27

								JAN		D		137		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 158859-H		$   4,581.00

								FEB		D		143		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 166778-H		$   27,194.54

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   168,195.10												AMP		W-P

														2010												PD-12

								MAR		D		148		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 177173-H		$   3,836.65		$   3,836.65										$   3,836.65

								APR		D		155		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 184029-H		$   5,461.55		$   5,461.55										$   5,461.55

								May		D		156		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice no. 184029-H		$   1,335.30		$   1,335.30										$   1,335.50

								JUL		D		165		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 205603-H		$   12,377.71										$   12,377.71		$   12,377.71

								Aug		D		169		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 213255-H		$   64,208.13										$   64,208.13		$   64,208.13

								SEP		D		174		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 222796-H		$   78,797.37										$   78,797.37		$   78,797.37

								OCT		D		178		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice No. 231562-H		$   36,741.27								$   36,741.27						$   36,741.27

								NOV		Disb		183		HDR Engineering, Inc., Invoice dated 09/29/2010		$   75,047.07										$   75,047.07		$   75,047.07

								JAN		Disb		192		HDR Engineering, inc., Invoice No. 256265-H		$   44,353.52				$   9,254.63						$   35,098.89		$   35,098.89		$   9,254.63

								JAN		Disb		193		HDR Engineering, inc., Invoice No. 256264-H		$   60,772.36				$   15,207.55						$   45,564.81

														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   382,930.93		$   10,633.50		$   24,462.18				36741.27		$   311,093.98		$   276,162.87		$   45,995.90		$   322,158.77



														Invoice No. 264158-H		$   6,844.90				$   6,844.90

																$   29,068.25										$   29,068.25

																$   29,147.88										$   29,147.88

														Invoice No. 294612-H		$   16,141.70				$   4,531.30						$   11,610.40

														Invoice No. 30666486-H		$   14,427.67				$   14,427.67

														Invoice No. 30666486-H		$   18,124.67										$   18,124.67

														Invoice No. 314129-H		$   6,357.91				$   6,357.91

														Invoice No. 314129-H		$   30,486.60										$   30,486.60

														Invoice No. 3138346-H		$   24,785.46										$   24,785.46

														Invoice No. 334120-H		$   28,619.36										$   28,619.36

														Invoice No. 339851-H		$   1,908.52				$   1,908.52

														Invoice No. 339851-H		$   1,733.85										$   1,733.85

														Invoice No. 1/6/2012		$   6,176.06										$   6,176.06



														 Total 2011 Year Five		$   213,822.83				$   34,070.30						$   179,752.53						$   213,822.83



														Program to Date Total:		$   607,584.45











Headwaters



						Headwaters Corporation





								Pay ment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		DESCRIPTION				TOTAL		ED-1		ED-2		ED-3		GFC-1		GFC-2		GFC-3		H-2		LAC-1		TAC-1		WAC-1		LB-4		LP-2		LP-3		LP-4		PD-4		PD-8		PD-11		PD-12		PD-18		PS-2		TP-1		WP-1(a)		WC-1		WP-3		WP-9		ISAC-1		ISAC-2

																2007 Budget

								10/5/07		Oct		D		21		Headwaters Corporation Inv 1 & 2				$   111,291.82		$   111,291.82																																																						$   - 0

								11/9/07		Nov		D		27		Headwaters Corporation				$   54,158.49		$   54,158.49																																																						$   - 0

								12/7/07		Dec		D		28		Headwaters Corporation				$   62,658.84		$   62,658.84																																																						$   - 0

								12/14/07		Dec		D		31		Headwaters Corporation #5				$   64,661.85		$   64,661.85																																																						$   - 0

								1/11/08		JAN		Disb		32		Headwaters Corporation #6				$   6,403.74										$   2,448.21		$   486.17				$   201.36																								$   2,448.00																$   5,583.74

								2/8/08		JAN		Disb		34		Headwaters Corporation				$   55,902.30		$   55,902.30																																																						$   - 0

								1/21/08		JAN		D		35		Headwaters Corporation #8				$   2,061.19												$   490.00																																		$   1,571.19										$   2,061.19

																Budget Correction																																																												$   - 0

																Subtotals Year One				$   357,138.23		$   348,673.30		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   2,448.21		$   976.17				$   201.36																								$   2,448.00						$   1,571.19										$   7,644.93

																Total 2007 Year One						$   356,318.23



																																																																												$   - 0

								3/7/08						37		Headwaters Corporation #9				$   112,139.14		$   112,139.14																																																						$   112,139.14

								4/18/08						41		Headwaters Corporation #10				$   90,270.12		$   90,270.12																																																						$   90,270.12

								4/25/08		April		Disb		43		Headwaters Corporation #11				$   84,386.02		$   84,386.02																																																						$   84,386.02

								5/30/08		May		Disb		46		Headwaters Corporation #12				$   117,242.35		$   117,242.35																																																						$   117,242.35

								6/27/08		June		Disb		48		Headwaters Corporation # 13				$   109,428.53		$   109,428.53																																																						$   109,428.53

								7/3/08		July		Disb		49		Headwaters Corporation # 14:																																																												$   - 0

								7/3/08		July		Disb		49		Proposal Related Meeting Room				$   292.41				$   292.41																																																				$   292.41

								7/3/08		July		Disb		49		Newspapers' Ads				$   4,120.16				$   4,120.16																																																				$   4,120.16

								7/3/08		July		Disb		49		Governance Committee Meeting Room				$   356.61												$   356.61																																												$   356.61

								7/3/08		July		Disb		49		TAC Meeting Room				$   75.00																		$   75.00																																						$   75.00

								7/3/08		July		Disb		49		Wyoming Property Management				$   3,915.51																										$   3,915.51																														$   3,915.51

								7/3/08		July		Disb		49		Barney Abstract & Title				$   250.00																										$   250.00																														$   250.00

								7/3/08		July		Disb		49		Land Services, LLC				$   137.50																										$   137.50																														$   137.50

												Disb		51		Headwaters Corporation #15 (Catch Up)				$   99,397.68		$   99,397.68																																																						$   99,397.68

								9/2/08		SEP		Disb		54		Headwaters Corporation #16				$   122,393.74		$   122,393.74																																																						$   122,393.74

								10/10/08		Oct		Disb		59		Headwater Corporation Invoice # 17				$   97,440.49		$   97,440.49																																																						$   97,440.49

								10/10/08		Oct		Disb		60		Headwater Corporation Invoice #18				$   7,838.86				$   3,753.15								$   1,143.51		$   497.00		$   414.04														$   879.67																		$   1,127.93								$   7,815.30						$   11,877.45

								10/31/08		Oct		Disb		63		Headwaters Corporation Invoice # 19				$   88,212.32		$   88,212.32																																																						$   88,212.32

								11/28/08		NOV		Disb		67		Headwaters Corporation. Invoice #20				$   90,029.46		$   90,029.46																																																						$   90,029.46

								1/2/09		JAN		Disb		70		Headwaters Corporation Invoice #21				$   127,877.41		$   127,877.41																																																						$   127,877.41

								2/4/09		FEB		Disb		74		Headwaters Corporation Invoice #22				$   81,321.07		$   81,321.07																																																						$   81,321.07

																Budget Adjustment				$   1,237,124.38																																																								$   1,237,100.82

																Subtotals Year Two						$   1,220,138.33		$   8,165.72		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   1,500.12		$   497.00		$   414.04		$   75.00				$   - 0		$   - 0		$   4,303.01		$   - 0		$   879.67		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0								$   1,127.93						$   - 0		$   1,237,100.82

																Total 2008 Year Two						$   2,457,239.15																																																						$   2,457,239.15

																																																																												$   - 0

																2009 Budget																																																												$   - 0

																																																																												$   - 0

								3/4/09		MAR		D		79		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #23				$   111,888.40		$   111,888.40																																																						$   111,888.40

								3/25/09		MAR		D		82		Headwaters Corporation Invoice # 24 Itemized:																																																												$   - 0

																Newspaper Ads				$   5,211.10				$   3,472.79								$   915.68		$   329.87		$   32.76		$   460.00																																						$   5,211.10

								3/27/09		MAR		D		84		Headwaters Corporation. Invoice #25				$   117,734.68		$   117,734.68																																																						$   117,734.68

								4/29/09						91		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice  #26				$   118,491.78		$   118,491.78																																																						$   118,491.78

								4/29/09		APR		D		95		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice  #27 Itemized:				$   11,116.32				$   2,517.55		$   7,004.86						$   658.64		$   321.06		$   118.80																$   25.00																						$   470.41		$   11,116.32

								5/27/09		MAY		D		99		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 28				$   112,249.55		$   112,249.55																																																						$   112,249.55

												D		105		Headwaters Corporation  Invoice # 29 				$   135,858.44		$   135,858.44																																																						$   135,858.44

												D		111		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 30				$   117,665.09		$   117,665.09																																																						$   117,665.09

												D		112		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 31				$   6,429.22				$   2,738.00		$   754.87						$   433.35		$   277.91		$   94.00		$   404.30				$   8.56						$   866.51		$   274.09																								$   577.63		$   6,429.22

								8/21/09				D		115		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 32				$   124,188.14		$   124,188.14																																																						$   124,188.14

												D		118		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #33				$   184,626.38		$   184,626.38																																																						$   184,626.38

										OCT		D		124		Headwaters Invoice # 34				$   121,396.39		$   121,396.39																																																						$   121,396.39

												D		125		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 35:				$   4,576.53				$   14.23		$   371.90						$   494.40		$   277.53														$   3,362.28										$   56.19																		$   4,576.53

								11/10/09				D		129		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 36				$   123,155.26		$   123,155.26																																																						$   123,155.26

										DEC		D		135		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #37				$   129,625.26		$   129,625.26																																																						$   129,625.26

												D		140		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #38				$   139,011.87		$   139,011.87																																																						$   139,011.87

												D		142		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 39				$   12,410.16				$   22.08		$   179.00						$   876.88		$   277.27														$   99.90										$   10,955.03																		$   12,410.16

																Total 2009 Year Three				$   1,575,634.57		$   1,535,891.24		$   8,764.65		$   8,310.63				$   - 0		$   3,378.95		$   1,483.64		$   245.56		$   864.30				$   8.56		$   - 0				$   4,328.69		$   274.09		$   25.00		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   11,011.22		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0						$   1,048.04		$   1,575,634.57

																																																																												$   - 0

																2010																																																												$   - 0

										FEB		D		145		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 40				$   147,283.96		$   147,283.96																																																						$   147,283.96

										MAR		D		147		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 41				$   140,484.03		$   140,484.03																																																						$   140,484.03

										APR		D		151		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #42				$   26,231.18				$   5,238.36		$   5,309.75						$   499.92		$   188.85														$   2,821.43						$   5,485.84				$   80.17				$   6,606.86														$   26,231.18

										APR		D		152		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #43				$   134,066.76		$   134,066.76																																																						$   134,066.76

										May		D		158		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #44				$   124,329.55		$   124,329.55																																																						$   124,329.55

										June		D		160		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 45				$   17,232.09				$   6,721.68		$   1,500.00								$   245.98														$   7,168.95								$   259.36		$   321.00				$   1,015.12														$   17,232.09

										June		D		162		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 46				$   182,981.92		$   182,981.92																																																						$   182,981.92

										June		D		163		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #47				$   16,468.59						$   783.00								$   92.47														$   2,475.69														$   13,117.43														$   16,468.59

										JUL		D		166		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #48				$   128,777.12		$   128,777.12																																																						$   128,777.12

										JUL		D		168		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #49				$   13,661.58				$   35.60										$   418.64														$   2,870.90														$   10,336.44														$   13,661.58

										Aug		D		171		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice # 50				$   131,322.42		$   131,322.42																																																						$   131,322.42

										SEP		D		173		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #51				$   15,636.12						$   2,062.03								$   228.59										$   35.06				$   4,583.23														$   8,727.21														$   15,636.12

										SEP		D		176		Headwaters Corporation #52				$   130,721.15		$   130,721.15																																																						$   130,721.15

										SEP		D		177		Headwaters Corporation #53				$   3,158.18						$   247.01								$   228.36														$   1,940.75														$   742.06														$   3,158.18

										Oct		D		180		Headwaters Corporation Invoice # 54				$   122,840.22		$   122,840.22																																																						$   122,840.22

										Oct		D		181		Headwaters Corporation Invoice # 55				$   7,976.47				$   2,636.36		$   1,921.75								$   92.46														$   1,057.07				$   1,710.00										$   558.83														$   7,976.47

										NOV		Disb		184		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #56				$   127,551.81		$   127,551.81																																																						$   127,551.81

										NOV		Disb		185		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #57				$   5,085.87						$   783.16								$   440.27														$   839.69				$   2,580.00										$   442.75														$   5,085.87

																																																																												$   - 0

										JAN		Disb		190		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #59				$   6,134.78														$   348.13														$   1,386.65				$   4,400.00																								$   6,134.78

										JAN		Disb		189		Headwaters Corporation, Invoice #58				$   166,274.20		$   166,274.20																																																						$   166,274.20

										FEB		Disb		194		Headwaters Corporation  #60				$   114,214.80		$   114,214.80																																																						$   114,214.80

										FEB		Disb		195		Headwaters Corporation  #61				$   4,638.99														$   635.33														$   1,185.66				$   2,560.00																						$   258.00		$   4,638.99

																Total 2010 Year Four				$   1,767,071.79		$   1,650,847.94		$   14,632.00		$   12,606.70				$   - 0		$   499.92		$   2,919.08		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   - 0		$   35.06		$   - 0		$   26,330.02		$   - 0		$   11,250.00		$   5,485.84		$   259.36		$   401.17		$   - 0		$   41,546.70				$   - 0		$   - 0						$   258.00		$   1,767,071.79

																																																																												$   - 0

																2011																																																												$   - 0

																Invoice # 62				$   136,266.73		$   136,266.73																																																						$   136,266.73

																Invoice # 63				$   15,030.41				$   567.00		$   9,212.93								$   284.20										$   340.00				$   1,446.28				$   3,180.00																								$   15,030.41

																Invoice # 64				$   138,160.14		$   138,160.14																																																						$   138,160.14

																Invoice #65				$   2,878.14				$   2,878.14																																																				$   2,878.14

																Invoice # 65				$   1,376.96						$   1,376.96																																																		$   1,376.96

																Invoice # 65				$   1,709.18																												$   1,709.18																												$   1,709.18

																Invoice # 65				$   212.15														$   212.15																																										$   212.15

																Invoice # 65				$   3,200.00																																$   3,200.00																								$   3,200.00

																				$   136,411.51		$   136,411.51																																																						$   136,411.51

																				$   1,804.00				$   1,804.00																																																				$   1,804.00

																				$   629.50						$   629.50																																																		$   629.50

																				$   3,110.32																										$   3,110.32																														$   3,110.32

																				$   68.40																																												$   68.40												$   68.40

																				$   92.54														$   92.54																																										$   92.54

																				$   4,851.12																																										$   4,851.12														$   4,851.12

																				$   3,200.00																																$   3,200.00																								$   3,200.00

																				$   266.46																																						$   266.46																		$   266.46

																				$   7,192.33																																		$   7,192.33																						$   7,192.33

																Invoice #68				$   134,236.86		$   134,236.86																																																						$   134,236.86

																Invoice #69				$   3,637.30				$   3,637.30																																																				$   3,637.30

																Invoice #69				$   634.75						$   634.75																																																		$   634.75

																Invoice #69				$   2,178.82																												$   2,178.82																												$   2,178.82

																Invoice #69				$   331.63														$   331.63																																										$   331.63

																Invoice #69				$   3,813.72																																										$   3,813.72														$   3,813.72

																Invoice #69				$   3,380.00																																$   3,380.00																								$   3,380.00

																Invoice #69				$   818.20																																						$   818.20																		$   818.20

																Invoice # 70				$   165,694.96		$   165,694.96																																																						$   165,694.96

																Invoice # 71				$   159.19				$   159.19																																																				$   159.19

																Invoice # 71				$   3,034.86						$   3,034.86																																																		$   3,034.86

																Invoice # 71				$   1,419.27																												$   1,419.27																												$   1,419.27

																Invoice # 71				$   92.51														$   92.51																																										$   92.51

																Invoice # 71 				$   365.95																																												$   365.95												$   365.95

																Invoice # 71				$   4,027.91																																										$   4,027.91														$   4,027.91

																Invoice # 71				$   5,130.00																																										$   5,130.00														$   5,130.00

																Invoice # 72				$   141,235.88		$   141,235.88																																																						$   141,235.88

																Invoice # 72				$   1,902.46				$   1,902.46																																																				$   1,902.46

																Invoice # 72				$   380.00						$   380.00																																																		$   380.00

																Invoice # 72				$   1,144.24																												$   1,144.24																												$   1,144.24

																Invoice # 72				$   2,770.17																																										$   2,770.17														$   2,770.17

																Invoice # 72				$   3,400.00																																										$   3,400.00														$   3,400.00

																Invoice # 72				$   212.04														$   212.04																																										$   212.04

																Invoice #74				$   130,142.20		$   130,142.20																																																						$   130,142.20

																Invoice # 75				$   5,758.58						$   5,758.58																																																		$   5,758.58

																Invoice # 75				$   2,852.66																												$   2,852.66																												$   2,852.66

																Invoice #75				$   212.04														$   212.04																																										$   212.04

																Invoice #75				$   3,110.62																																										$   3,110.62														$   3,110.62

																Invoice #75				$   2,010.52																																																				$   2,010.52				$   2,010.52

																Invoice #76				$   142,687.83		$   142,687.83																																																						$   142,687.83

																Invoice 77				$   7.47						$   7.47																																																		$   7.47

																Invoice 77				$   2,230.65																												$   2,230.65																												$   2,230.65

																Invoice 77				$   256.18														$   256.18																																										$   256.18

																Invoice 77				$   5,511.04																																										$   5,511.04														$   5,511.04

																Invoice # 78				$   140,469.34		$   140,469.34																																																						$   140,469.34

																Invoice # 79				$   2,319.86				$   2,319.86																																																				$   2,319.86

																Invoice # 79				$   105.83						$   105.83																																																		$   105.83

																Invoice # 79				$   6,212.93																												$   6,212.93																												$   6,212.93

																Invoice # 79				$   212.14														$   212.14																																										$   212.14

																Invoice # 79				$   642.76																																										$   642.76														$   642.76

																Invoice # 80				$   152,123.63		$   152,123.63																																																						$   152,123.63

																Invoice # 81				$   4,071.96						$   4,071.96																																																		$   4,071.96

																Invoice # 81				$   4,338.10																												$   4,338.10																												$   4,338.10

																Invoice # 81				$   119.56														$   119.56																																										$   119.56

																Invoice # 81				$   272.36																$   272.36																																								$   272.36

																Invoice # 81				$   478.06																		$   478.06																																						$   478.06

																Invoice # 81				$   540.54																				$   540.54																																				$   540.54

																Invoice #82				$   193,301.24		$   193,301.24																																																						$   193,301.24

																Invoice # 83				$   3,745.00				$   3,745.00																																																				$   3,745.00

																Invoice # 83				$   1,668.59						$   1,668.59																																																		$   1,668.59

																Invoice # 83				$   2,425.05																												$   2,425.05																												$   2,425.05

																Invoice # 83				$   108.18														$   108.18																																										$   108.18

																Invoice # 83				$   97.51																																										$   97.51														$   97.51

																Invoice # 83				$   1,250.93																																																						$   1,250.93		$   1,250.93

																Invoice # 83				$   363.22								$   363.22																																																$   363.22

																Invoice # 83				$   213.84																$   213.84																																								$   213.84

																Invoice # 83				$   685.30																		$   685.30																																						$   685.30

																Invoice # 83				$   1,285.68																				$   1,285.68																																				$   1,285.68

																Invoice #84				$   115,173.50		$   115,173.50																																																						$   115,173.50

																Invoice #84				$   2,686.50				$   2,686.50																																																				$   2,686.50

																Invoice #84				$   248.15						$   248.15																																																		$   248.15

																Invoice #84				$   2,720.26												$   2,720.26																																												$   2,720.26

																Invoice #84				$   299.20																$   299.20																																								$   299.20

																Invoice #84				$   68.20																		$   68.20																																						$   68.20

																Invoice #84				$   504.68																				$   504.68																																				$   504.68

																Invoice #84				$   1,641.11																												$   1,641.11																												$   1,641.11

																Invoice #84				$   119.56														$   119.56																																										$   119.56

																Invoice #84				$   899.00																																						$   899.00																		$   899.00

																																																																												$   - 0				$   - 0

																																																																												$   1,872,652.17

																Total 2011 Year Five				$   1,872,652.17		$   1,725,903.82		$   19,699.45		$   27,129.58		$   363.22		$   - 0		$   2,720.26		$   2,252.73		$   785.40		$   1,231.56		$   2,330.90		$   - 0		$   340.00		$   3,110.32		$   27,598.29		$   - 0		$   12,960.00		$   7,192.33		$   - 0		$   1,983.66		$   - 0		$   33,354.85		$   434.35		$   - 0		$   - 0				$   2,010.52		$   1,250.93		$   1,872,652.17



																2012

																		86		$   150,601.07		$   150,601.07																																																						$   150,601.07

																		87		$   5,068.50				$   5,068.50																																																				$   5,068.50

																		87		$   2,496.40						$   2,496.40																																																		$   2,496.40

																		87		$   654.56																												$   654.56																												$   654.56

																		87		$   119.56														$   119.56																																										$   119.56

																		87		$   5,500.00																																						$   5,500.00																		$   5,500.00

																		87		$   750.00																																																						$   750.00		$   750.00

																		87		$   762.00												$   762.00																																												$   762.00

																		87		$   205.92																		$   205.92																																						$   205.92

																		87		$   660.00																				$   660.00																																				$   660.00

																Headwaters Corporation		88		$   3,451.99						$   3,451.99																																																		$   3,451.99

																Headwaters Corporation		88		$   2,628.54												$   2,628.54																																												$   2,628.54

																Headwaters Corporation		88		$   88.22																$   88.22																																								$   88.22

																Headwaters Corporation		88		$   275.00																		$   275.00																																						$   275.00

																Headwaters Corporation		88		$   327.14																				$   327.14																																				$   327.14

																Headwaters Corporation		88		$   5,500.00																																						$   5,500.00																		$   5,500.00

																Headwaters Corporation		88		$   437.49																												$   437.49																												$   437.49

																Headwaters Corporation		88		$   139.20														$   139.20																																										$   139.20

																Headwaters Corporation		89		$   163,315.31		$   163,315.31																																																						$   163,315.31

																Headwaters Corporation		90		$   154,731.05		$   154,731.05																																																						$   154,731.05

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   963.77						$   963.77																																																		$   963.77

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   259.16												$   259.16																																												$   259.16

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   329.34																$   329.34																																								$   329.34

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   36.52																		$   36.52																																						$   36.52

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   746.68																				$   746.68																																				$   746.68

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   1,070.21																												$   1,070.21																												$   1,070.21

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   16.05																																										$   16.05														$   16.05

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   1,367.33																																		$   1,367.33																						$   1,367.33

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   5,500.00																																						$   5,500.00																		$   5,500.00

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   139.66														$   139.66																																										$   139.66

																Headwaters Corporation		91		$   567.96																																																		$   567.96						$   567.96

																Headwaters Corporation		92		$   211,600.72		$   211,600.72																																																						$   211,600.72

																Headwaters Corporation		93		$   234.75						$   234.75																																																		$   234.75

																Headwaters Corporation		93		$   80.30																$   80.30																																								$   80.30

																Headwaters Corporation		93		$   45.32																		$   45.32																																						$   45.32

																Headwaters Corporation		93		$   548.90																				$   548.90																																				$   548.90

																Headwaters Corporation		93		$   1,374.15																												$   1,374.15																												$   1,374.15

																Headwaters Corporation		93		$   1,093.98																																										$   1,093.98														$   1,093.98

						$   234.75										Headwaters Corporation		93		$   6,262.14																																		$   6,262.14																						$   6,262.14

						$   80.30										Headwaters Corporation		93		$   5,500.00																																						$   5,500.00																		$   5,500.00

						$   45.32										Headwaters Corporation		93		$   139.20														$   139.20																																										$   139.20

																																																																												$   - 0

																																																																												$   - 0

																																																																												$   - 0

						548.9														$   735,588.09		$   680,248.15		$   5,068.50		$   7,146.91		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,649.70		$   537.62		$   497.86		$   562.76		$   2,282.72		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,536.41		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   7,629.47		$   - 0		$   22,000.00		$   - 0		$   1,110.03		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   567.96		$   - 0		$   750.00		$   735,588.09		$   - 0

						$   1,374.15

						$   1,093.98																Program to Date Total:				$   6,816,768.05

						$   6,262.14

						$   5,500.00

						$   139.20





H.O. Smith



						H.O. Smith Company                                                                                                                                              104 East 7th                                                                                                                                                          PO Box 338                                                                                                                                                    Lexington, NE 68850                                                                                                                                            308-324-2216

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								MAR		D		146		The H.O. Smith Company, Invoice # 72973		$   200.00

								JAN		Disb		193		The H.O. Smith Company, Invoice #73216		$   125.00























														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   325.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   325.00































HONEY



						Honey Creek Resources, Inc.                                                                                                                        25593 Old Lincoln Hwy                                                                                                                               Honey Creek, IA 51542 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2009

																						WP-6		WP-8		IMRP-3

										D		131		Honey Creek Resources, Inc., Invoice No. 13833		$   8,391.48						$   8,391.48

								JAN		D		137		Honey Creek Resources, Inc., Statement dated 10-Dec-09		$   4,868.40						$   4,868.40

														Total 2009		$   13,259.88						$   13,259.88



														2010

								MAR		D		146		Honey Creek Resources, Inc.,Invoice dated 15-Feb-10		$   7,128.40								$   7,128.40

								MAR		D		148		Honey Creek Resources, Inc.,Invoice dated 10-Mar-10		$   2,617.15								$   2,617.15

								NOV		Disb		183		Honey Creek Resources, Invoice No. 1007-09-10		$   5,524.26								$   5,524.26

								JAN		Disb		192		Honey Creek Resources, Inc., Invoice No. 1007-11-10		$   6,111.70										$   6,111.70

								JAN		Disb		193		Honey Creek Resources, Inc., Invoice No. 1007-12-10		$   2,715.15										$   2,715.15



														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   24,096.66								$   15,269.81		8826.85

														2011

																$   1,725.07										$   1,725.07

														Invoice No. 1007-12-10		$   2,430.00								$   2,430.00

														Invoice No. 1007-10-11		$   1,350.00								$   1,350.00

														Invoice 1007-11-11		$   2,160.00								$   2,160.00

														Invoice No. 1007-12-11		$   2,835.00								$   2,835.00





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   10,500.07								$   8,775.00		$   1,725.07		$   10,500.07



														Program to Date Total:		$   37,356.54































HOOD



						Roger L. Hood Construction Inc.                                                                                                                                                              1505 Avenue  A                                                                                                                                                                                  Gothenburg, NE 69138                                                                                                                                                                              308-537-2019

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		149		Roger L. Hood Construction, Inc., Statement dated March 15, 2010		$   73,600.00

								APR		D		149		Roger L. Hood Construction, Inc., Statement dated March 18, 2010		$   5,600.00























														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   79,200.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   79,200.00































HOOKER



						Hooker Brothers Construction Co,pany







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Hooker Brothers Construction Company		911		$   10,250.50				$   10,250.50













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   10,250.50		$   - 0		$   10,250.50				$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





HUGGINS



						Donald G. Huggins                                                                                                                                             3526 Sweet Grass Court                                                                                                                              Lawrence, KS 66049                                                                                                                                          785-550-3367

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

								OCT		D		121		Donald G. Huggins, September 2009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































H2



						H2 Options Engineering, LLC.                                                                                                                          1120 Miles Court                                                                                                                                              North Platte, NE 69101                                                                                                                                        308-530-1261

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals

																						WP-8		PD-12





														2010

								June		D		161		H2Options, LLC, Invoice #1008		$   4,620.00						$   4,620.00

								JUL		D		167		H2Options Engineering, LLC, Invoice #1010		$   2,240.00						$   2,240.00

								SEP		D		174		H2Options, Invoice #1014		$   2,550.50						2550.5

								OCT		D		178		H2Options, Invoice #1014		$   700.00						$   700.00









														Total 2010 Year Four		$   10,110.50						$   10,110.50		0



														Program to Date Total:		$   10,110.50































IN-SITU



						In-Situ Inc.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           221 East Lincoln Avenue                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            Fort Collins, Colorado 80524                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         970-498-1500                                                                                                                www.in-situ.com

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																		Accruals						IMRP-2		PD-20		WP-9







														2011

														Invoice Number 00075334				$   4,420.79						$   4,420.79

														Invoice Number 00075558				$   9,485.58								$   9,485.58



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   13,906.37						4420.79		9485.58

														2012

														In-Situ Inc. 		79302		$   1,880.30										$   1,880.30

														In-Situ Inc. 		79682		$   3,735.98										$   3,735.98









														Total 2012 Year Six				$   5,616.28										$   5,616.28



														Program to Date Total:				$   19,522.65































INTER



						inter-fluve                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          3602 Atwood Avenue., Suite 3                                                                                                                                                              Madison, WI 53714 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals

																Reference





														2010				PD-19

								Aug		D		170		Inter-fluve, Invoice # 10-04-14-01				$   12,725.11

								SEP		D		175		Inter-fluve, Invoice # 10-04-14-01				$   6,423.88

								NOV		Disb		182		Inter-fluve, Invoice # 10-04-14-03				$   10,242.85

								NOV		Disb		182		Inter-fluve, Invoice # 10-04-14-04				$   3,464.85

								DEC		DISB		188		Inter-Fluve, Invoice 10-04-14-05				$   31,030.39

								JAN		Disb		193		Inter-fluve, Invoice #1-04-14-06				$   5,182.53

								FEB		Disb		197		Inter-Fluve, Invoice #1-04-14-07				$   12,607.45



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   81,677.06

														2011				PD-19

																		$   11,543.58

																		$   11,374.60

																		$   15,083.08

														Invoice # 10-04-14-11				$   34,801.32

														Invoice # 10-04-14-12				$   13,525.50

														Invoice # 10-04-14-13				$   2,366.37

														Invoice #10-04-14-14				$   1,305.50

														Invoice #10-04-14-15				$   9,172.50

														Invoice # 10-04-14-16				$   4,982.19

														Invoice No. 10-04-14-18				$   123.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   104,277.64

														2012										PD-19

														Inter-fluve, Inc.		10-04-14-17		$   2,639.05						$   2,639.05

														Inter-fluve, Inc.		10-04-14-19		$   1,139.50						$   1,139.50

														Inter-fluve, Inc.		10-4-14-20		$   8,640.71						$   8,640.71









														Total 2012 Year Six				$   12,419.26						$   12,419.26



														Program to Date Total:				$   185,954.70































INVPROPEXCH



						Master Blank Account 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One				$   - 0



														2008



						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		Investment Property Exchange Inc. Inv 2163				$   3,500.00		$   3,500.00

						12/19/08		DEC		Disb		68		Investment Property Exchange, Inc., Invoice Number 2171				$   3,000.00		$   3,000.00







														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   6,500.00



														2009



						04/17/09		APR		D		89		Investment Property Exchange Inc., Invoice #2179				$   1,500.00

						04/17/09		APR		D		89		Investment Property Exchange Inc., Invoice #2196				$   3,000.00

						5/8/09		MAY		D		98		Investment Property Exchange, Invoice Number 2190				$   2,550.00

						5/8/09		MAY		D		98		Investment Property Exchange, Invoice Number 2201				$   4,000.00

						5/8/09		MAY		D		98		Investment Property Exchange, Invoice Number 2205				$   2,000.00

										D		131		Investment Property Exchange Inc., Invoice Number 2261				$   4,000.00

														Total 2009 Year Three				$   17,050.00



														2010

								June		D		161		Investment Property Exchange, Inc., Invoice Number 2316				$   4,000.00

								DEC		DISB		188		Investment Property Exchange, Inc., Invoice Number 2368				$   5,000.00



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   9,000.00

														2011

																		$   4,000.00

																		$   4,000.00

																		$   3,000.00

														Invoice Number 2450				$   4,000.00

														Invoice Number 2461				$   4,000.00





														Total 2011 Year Five				$   19,000.00

														2012										LP-3

														Investment Property Exchange		2510		$   4,000.00						$   4,000.00

														Investment Property Exchange		2520		$   2,500.00						$   2,500.00

														Investment Property Exchange		2519		$   4,500.00						$   4,500.00

														Investment Property Exchange		2536		$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

														Investment Property Exchange		2537		$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

														Investment Property Exchange		2538		$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00







														Total 2012 Year Six				$   20,000.00						$   20,000.00





														Program to Date Total:				$   71,550.00









JACKLED



						Jack Lederman Company                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                1901 5th Avenue                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   Kearney, NE 68845 

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes								Subcontractors

																		Accruals

																Reference





														2011										LP-4		ED-3		LP-2

																		$   437.45						$   437.45

														Invoice No. 12/27/11				$   1,416.77						$   1,416.77



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   1,854.22						$   1,854.22

														2012

														Jack Lederman Company		55608		$   111.84								$   111.84

														Jack Lederman Company		55608		$   395.46										$   395.46

														Jack Lederman Company		55824		$   44.14						44.14











														Total 2012 Year Six				$   551.44						$   44.14		$   111.84		$   395.46														$   551.44



														Total to Date				$   2,405.66





JACOBSEN



						Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson Law Firm 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



						01/23/09		JAN		Disb		73		Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson, Lindstrom & Holbrook #1		$   5,028.25



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   5,028.25



														2009

						02/27/09		FEB		D		78		Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson Law Firm Statement 2		$   736.40

						03/24/09		MAR		D		86		Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson Law Firm, Statement 3		$   2,562.10

						5/8/09		MAY		D		98		Jacobsen, Orr, and Nelson Law Firm Statement No. 5		$   6,183.27

						04/17/09		APR		D		89		Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson Law Firm, Statement 4		$   5,238.35

						04/13/09		APR		D		96		Legal Fees-Jacobsen		$   833.75

										D		106		Jacobsen, Orr and Nelson Law Firm, Statement No. 6		$   90.85

										D		113		Jacobsen, Orr, and Nelson Law Firm, Statement No. 7		$   481.25

















														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   16,125.97



														Program to Date Total:		$   21,154.22









JANETKFOX



						Janet K. Fox Revocable Trust

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 



														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

						03/27/09		MAR		D		87		Janet K. Fox Revocable Trust 		$   20,000.00































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   20,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   20,000.00































JANSSEN



						Janssen Motor Company

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009





						5/8/09		MAY		D		97		Janssen Motot Co., Pricing Summary		$   26,884.00







														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   26,884.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   26,884.00































JIMO



						Jim Ostgren Const. CO., Inc                                                                                                                                                                                              2701 23rd Avenue                                                                                                                                                                                                       Holdrege NE 68949                                                                                                                                                                                        308-995-8088

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals







														2010

								NOV		Disb		186		Jim Ostgren Construction Co., Inc., Invoice # 2262568				$   2,560.00



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   2,560.00

														2011										LP-4		WP-6

														Invoice # 1057099				$   19,645.00						$   19,645.00

														Invoice # 105710				$   5,855.00								$   5,855.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   25,500.00						$   19,645.00		$   5,855.00

														2012

														Jim Ostgren Const. Co., Inc.		2057244		$   800.00								$   800.00

														Jim Ostgren Const. Co., Inc.		1057249		$   8,105.00								$   8,105.00











														Total 2012 Year Six				$   8,905.00								$   8,905.00





														Program to Date Total:				$   36,965.00































JULIEN



						Pierre Y. Julien                                                                                                                                                  1707 Waterford Lane                                                                                                                                        Fort Collins, CO 80525 970-491-8450

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		Pierre Y. Julien, September 2009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































KAPPENMAN



						Kevin M. Kappenman                                                                                                                                    USFWS PO Box 25486, DFC                                                                                                                        Denver, CO 80226

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		US Fish and Wildlife Service, Denver, CO September 2009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































KRNYAV



						Kearney Aviation Center







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment IMRP-2				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Kearney Aviation Center		1/31/12		$   118.16		$   118.16

														Kearney Aviation Center		2/29/12		$   484.74		$   484.74

														Kearney Aviation Center		3/12/12		$   896.00		$   896.00









														Total 2012 Year Six				$   1,498.90		$   1,498.90						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





KRNYCHAMBER



						Kearney Area Chamber of Commerce                                                                                                              PO Box 607                                                                                                                                                  Kearney, NE 68848-0607                                                                                                                                308-237-3101

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2010

														Kearney Area Chamber of Commerce, Statement received 05-14-10		$   3,500.00















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   3,500.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,500.00































KEHL



						Kehl Tree Service

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010





								MAR		D		148		Kehl Tree Service, Statement dated 3-2-2010		$   350.00





















														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   350.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   350.00































KING



						Kingelhoefer Well Drilling

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes								Subcontractors

																Accruals







														2011

																$   100.82

														Invoice Number 09281102		$   556.50

														Invoice Number 09281101		$   585.53











														Total 2011 Year Five		$   1,242.85



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,242.85































KLEIN



						Klein Demolition                                                                                                                                                                                            PO Box 134                                                                                                                                                                                             Gibbon, NE 68840                                                                                                                                                                                     308-468-6116

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		150		Klein Demolition, Invoice dated 3-24		$   480.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   480.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   480.00































KUCERA



						Kucera International, Inc 

						38133 Western Parkway

						Willoughby. OH 44094-7589												Willoughby, OH 44094-7589



						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment   G-1				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8



														Invoice #20886				$   41,000.00		$   41,000.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   41,000.00		$   41,000.00						$   - 0

														2012

														Kucera International, Inc.		20996		$   24,000.00		$   24,000.00

														Kucera International, Inc.		21047		$   17,050.00		$   17,050.00



















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   41,050.00		$   41,050.00





														Program to Date Total:				$   82,050.00								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





Kugler



						Kugler  Company

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

						09/12/08		SEP		Disb		56		Kugler Company, DBA #3697		$   6,037.60











														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   6,037.60



														2009

								OCT		D		121		Kugler Co., DBA, Invoice #3721		$   13,999.20



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   13,999.20



														2010

								OCT		D		179		Kugler Co. DBA Plattetracks Spraying, Invoice # 3471		$   9,237.04





														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   9,237.04



														Program to Date Total:		$   29,273.84









LANDSERVS



						Land Services, LLC

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2009

										D		94		Land Services, LLC, Statement Dated 5 April 2009		$   4,799.07

										D		106		Land Services, LLC, Statement Dated May 25, 2009		$   8,644.33

										D		113		Land Services, LLC, Statement Dated 6 July, 2009		$   5,624.50

										D		119		Land Services, LLC, statement dated 31 August 2009		$   9,017.41

										D		126		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated October 12, 2009		$   6,630.49

								DEC		D		136		Land Serrvices, LLC, Statement dated November 22, 2009		$   6,117.64

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   40,833.44



														2010



								MAR		D		146		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated 9 February 15, 2010		$   3,467.54

								MAR		D		148		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated 06 January, 2010		$   6,816.70

								APR		D		155		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated 1 April 2010		$   12,511.62

								May		D		157		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated 4 May 2010		$   10,063.75

								June		D		161		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated 1June2010		$   6,677.15

								JUL		D		167		Land Services, LLC Statement dated 5 July, 2010		$   5,070.70

								Aug		D		170		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated August 2, 2010		$   6,702.70

								SEP		D		175		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated August 2, 2010		$   5,615.85

								OCT		D		179		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated 1 October 2010		$   4,136.65

								NOV		Disb		186		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated 1 November 2010		$   8,068.20

								DEC		DISB		188		Land Services, LLC, Statement dated 1 December, 2010		$   10,139.30

						12/31/99		JAN		Disb		193		Land Services, LLC, Statement Dated 1 Janurary 2011		$   3,667.50

														Total 2010 Year 4		$   82,937.66

														2011								ED-2		LP-3		LP-5

																$   2,807.38						$   2,807.38

																$   6,448.25						$   6,448.25

																$   7,241.10						$   7,241.10

														Statement dated 8 june 2011		$   4,703.25						$   4,703.25

														Statement dated 12 August 2011		$   4,879.95						$   4,879.95

														Statement dated September 6, 2011		$   4,955.40										$   4,955.40

														Statement dated 5 October 2011		$   8,491.50						$   8,491.50

														Statement Dated 6 November 2011 		$   9,476.50						$   9,476.50

														Statement dated 6 December 2011		$   12,263.15						$   12,263.15

														Invoice No. 2/7/12		$   7,067.66								$   7,067.66



														Total 2010 Year Five		$   68,334.14						$   56,311.08		$   7,067.66		$   4,955.40		$   68,334.14



														Program to Date Total:		$   123,771.10

































LEIN



						Leininger Smith Johnson Baack Placzed & Allen                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   104 N. Wheeler Street                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          PO Box 790 Grand Island, NE 68802                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    308-382-1930

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes								Subcontractors

																Accruals





														2011		ED-2

																$   1,362.00

																$   2,077.50

														Invoice #98045817		$   400.00

																$   620.00

														Invoice # 98046447		$   343.50

														Invoice #98046630		$   240.00

														Invoice # 98046917		$   74.50



														Total 2011 Year Five		$   5,117.50



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,117.50































LIGHT



						Ane Lightbody







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment   PD-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Invoice No. 1/20/12		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,000.00								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total										ERROR:#REF!





LINCOLN



						Lincoln Children's Museum







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment ED-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														2012

														Lincoln Children's Museum		3/16/12		$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00











														Total 2012 Year Six				$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				$   10,000.00								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





LOFTIN



						M. Kent Loftin

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2009



						04/10/09		APR		D		88		M. Kent Loftin, Calendar Year 2009		$   7,000.00

										D		128		M. Kent Loftin, Invoice dated 10-29-2009		$   1,000.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   8,000.00



														2010

								APR		D		150		M. Kent Loftin, Invoice of 03/25/10		$   19,000.00



















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   19,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   27,000.00































LYTLE



						Lytle Water Solutions, LLC

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



						11/21/08		NOV		Disb		65		Lytle Water Solutions, LLC, Invoice # 1813		$   1,420.00

						12/19/08		DEC		Disb		68		Lytle Water Solutions, LLC, Invoice # 1830		$   2,703.98

						01/16/09		JAN		Disb		72		Lytle Water Solutions, LLC, Invoice # 1847		$   556.63

						02/27/09		FEB		Disb		77		Lytle Water Solutions, Invoice # 1867		$   546.32





														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   5,226.93



														2009















														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,226.93































MARMOREK,DAVID



						Marmorek, David R.

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009





						04/10/09		APR		D		88		David R. Marmorek, Calendar Year 2009		$   10,000.00

										D		128		David R. Marmorek, Invoice dated 10-29-2009		$   1,000.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   11,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   11,000.00































McBain



						McBain & Trush, Inc

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 								PD-4&5		AMWG		IRMP-2

						05/25/07		MAY		D		3		McBain and Trush		$   587.80						587.8

						05/31/09				Disb		8		McBain&Trush, Inc Invoice 2773		$   818.09						818.09

								MAY		D		8		McBain and Trush Inc 2751		$   3,177.20						3177.2

						06/15/07		JUN		D		9		McBain and Trush		$   4,312.75								$   4,312.75

						07/13/07		JUL		D		14		McBain and Trush		$   3,963.75								$   3,963.75

						08/24/07		AUG		D		17		McBain and Trush		$   3,986.78								$   3,986.78

						10/05/07				Disb		20		McBain and Trush		$   220.00								$   220.00

						11/30/07				Disb		29		McBain & Trush, Inc		$   3,266.95						3266.95

														Total 2007 Year One		$   20,333.32						7850.04		12483.28



														2008

						03/28/08		March		Disb		40		McBain & Trush		$   4,095.85

						03/28/08		March		Disb		40		McBain & Trush		$   1,660.75

						04/18/08		April		Disb		42		McBain & Trush Invoice No. 2915		$   4,008.92

						05/09/08		May		Disb		45		McBain & Trush, Inc. Invoice No. 2977		$   5,012.71

						06/13/08		June		Disb		47		McBain & Trush, Inc. Invoice No. 3000		$   539.77

						09/12/08		SEP		Disb		56		McBain & Trush, Inc, Invoice No. 3061		$   3,245.29

						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		McBain & Trush, Inc. Invoice No. 3109		$   1,085.25

						01/16/09		JAN		Disb		72		McBain & Thrush, Inc. Invoice No. 3143		$   932.61

						02/13/09		FEB		Disb		75		McBain & Thrush, Inc. Invoice No. 3166		$   3,913.97

														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   24,495.12



														2009

						02/27/09		FEB		D		78		McBain & Trush, Inc., Invoice No. 3178		$   1,202.65										1202.65

						05/01/09				D		94		McBain & Trush, Inc., Invoice No. 3217		$   2,943.87										2943.87

						5/29/09		MAY		D		100		McBain & Trush Inc., Invoice No. 3233		$   404.25										404.25

										D		116		McBain & Trush, Inc. Invoice No. 3288		$   2,499.14										2499.14





														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   7,049.91						0				7049.91



														Program to Date Total:		$   51,878.35































MEHL



						Dr. Katherine R. Mehl                                                                                                                                        436 Campbell Drive                                                                                                                                           Grand Forks, North Dakota 58201 701-777-3699

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		Katherine R. Mehl, September 2009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































MICHAEL



						Michael Forsberg Photography                                                                                                                      100 North 8th Street, Suite 150                                                                                                                    Lincoln, NE 68508                                                                                                                                             402-477-5030

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								JUL		D		165		Michael Forsberg Photography, Statement dated 06/15/2010		$   840.00















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   840.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   840.00































MIDCONT



						Mid-Continent Appraisals

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

						02/13/09		FEB		Disb		75		MidContinent Appraisals, Invoice Dated 12/29/2008		$   1,500.00



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   1,500.00



														2009

						02/27/09		FEB		D		78		Mid-Continent Appraisals, Tract #'s842 ,823, 837		$   6,000.00















														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   6,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   7,500.00































MEIER



						Mark Meier                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          44966 Road 755                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   Elm Creek,  NE 68836-5805 

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																Accruals						LP-4







														2011

														Statement dated August 29, 2011		$   200.00						$   200.00

														Invoice dated December 5, 2011		$   314.00						$   314.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   514.00						$   514.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   514.00

































MIKENEL



						Mike Nelson Land Development, Inc.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     180 Donegal Road                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                Aurora, NE 68818-1430                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            402-694-6848

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																Accruals						LP-4



														2011

																$   24,856.00						$   24,856.00

																$   2,100.00						$   2,100.00

















														Total 2011 Year Five		$   26,956.00						$   26,956.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   26,956.00































MILCO



						MILCO ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC.                                                                                              109 EAST 2ND STREET                                                                                                                         McCOOK, NE 69001  308-345-3710

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009





										D		116		MILCO Environmental Services, Inc. Invoice No. 5-09-0247		$   5,243.85

										D		126		MILCO  Environmental Services, Inc.,Invoice No. 5-09-43		$   5,484.40

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   10,728.25



														Program to Date Total:		$   10,728.25































MILLSPAUGH



						Joshua J. Millspaugh

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

										D		141		Joshua J. Millspaugh, Invoice Dated 01/11/2010		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































NAU



						NAU Country Insurance Company                                                                                                                       PO Box 488                                                                                                                                                      Anoka, MN 55303-0488                                                                                                                                    763-427-3770

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

										D		128		NAU Country Insurance Company, Statement #21074252		$   2,811.00

								DEC		D		136		NAU Country Insurance Agent, Premium Statement 12/2009		$   28.63

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   2,839.63



								JUL		D		167		NAU Country Insurance Company, Statement #29936252		$   713.00

								SEP		D		174		Nau Country Insurance Company, Statement # 30706828		$   721.91

								OCT		D		179		NAU Country Insurance Company, Statement #31485104		$   442.00

														NAU Country Insurance Company, Void Open Trx		$   (721.91)

														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   1,155.00

														2011

														Statement # 53639626		$   2,484.00









														Total 2011 Year Five		$   2,484.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   6,478.63

































NCF



						Nebraska Community Foundation

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment				Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2007 

						05/31/07				EFT				Administration Fees, May2007				$   3,396.51

						06/30/07		June		EFT				Administration Fees, June2007				$   2,124.97

						07/31/07		July		EFT				Administration Fees July 2007				$   1,393.21

						08/31/07		AUG		EFT				Administration Fees August 2007				$   908.29

						09/30/07		SEP		EFT				Administration Fees September 2007				$   - 0

						10/31/07		OCT		EFT				Administration Fees October 2007				$   4,155.86

						11/30/07		NOV		EFT				Administration FeesNovember 2007				$   4,547.57

						12/31/07		DEC		EFT				Administration Fees December 2007				$   5,621.20

														Total 2007 Year One				$   22,147.61



														2008

						01/31/08		JAN		EFT				Administration Fees January 2008				$   884.19

						02/28/08		FEB		EFT				Administration Fees February 2008				$   2,287.30

						03/31/08		MAR		EFT				Administration Fees March 2008				$   4,139.03

						4/31/08		APR		EFT				Administration Fees April 2008				$   5,487.19

						05/31/08		MAY		EFT				Administration Fees, May2008				$   4,481.23

						06/30/08		JUN		EFT				Administration Fees, June2008				$   4,843.18

						07/31/08		JUL		EFT				Administration Fees July 2008				$   1,338.64

						08/31/08		AUG		EFT				Administration Fees August 2008				$   6,198.28

						09/30/08		SEP		EFT				Administration Fees September 2008				$   30,509.19

						10/31/08		OCT		EFT				Administration Fees October 2008				$   5,308.64

						11/31/08		NOV		EFT				Administration FeesNovember 2008				$   4,145.28

						11/31/08		NOV		EFT				Administration Fees November 2008 @ 2.00%				$   917.57

						12/31/08		DEC		EFT				Administration Fees December 2008				$   6,638.76

														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   77,178.48



														2009

								JAN		EFT				Administration Fees January 2009				$   3,809.93

								FEB		EFT				Administration Fees February 2009				$   2,832.56

								MAR		EFT				Administration Fees March 2009				$   8,419.42

								APR		EFT				Administration Fees April 2009				$   26,947.41

						05/31/09		MAY		FEE				Administration Fees 2%  				$   10,434.33

						05/31/09		MAY		FEE				Administration Fees 1.75%				$   29,280.51

						06/30/09		JUN		FEE				Administration Fees, June 2009				$   17,039.26

								JUL		EFT				Administration Fees July 2009				$   11,336.95

						08/31/09		Aug		D				Administration Fees, August 2009				$   3,921.05

								SEP		EFT				Administration Fees, September 2009 (2.5%)				$   9,742.02

								SEP		EFT				Administration Fees, September 2009 (2.25%)				$   7,693.21

								OCT		EFT				Administration Fees October 2009				$   7,476.41

						11/30/09		NOV		EFT				Admin Fees at 2.25%				$   7,330.36

						11/30/09		NOV		EFT				Admin Fees @ 2.00%				$   45,232.98

								DEC		EFT				Administration Fees December 2009

						12/31/09		DEC		FEE				Admin Fees on Disbursements @ 2.0%				$   14,767.03

						12/31/09		DEC		FEE				Admin Fees on Disbursements @ 1.75%				$   29,617.77

																		$   235,881.20

														2010

						01/31/10		JAN		Fee				Administration Fees @1.75%				$   6,264.17

						02/28/10		FEB		FEE				Administration Fees @1.75%				$   27,779.63

						03/31/10		MAR		EFT				Admin Fees on Disursements				$   5,195.69

						04/30/10		APR		EFT		Fee		Admin Fees on Disursements				$   10,815.62

						05/31/10		May		EFT				Admin Fees on Disursements 1.75%				$   7,827.13

						05/31/10		May		EFT				Admin Fees on Disursements 1.50%				$   6,532.42

						6/30/10		June		EFT				Admin Fees on Disursements 1.50%				$   8,394.85

						7/31/10		JUL		Fee				Admin Fees on Disursements 2.50%				$   16,889.92

						8/31/10		AUG		Fee				Admin Fees on Disbursements @ 2.5%				$   8,110.08

						8/31/10		AUG		Fee				Admin Fees on Disbursements @ 2.25%				$   2,771.39

								SEP		Fee				Admin Fees on Disbursements @ 2.25%				$   10,066.66

								OCT		Disb		FEE		Admin Fees on Disbursements @2.25%				$   9,661.95

								OCT		Disb		FEE		Admin Fees on Disbursements @2%				$   4,378.91

														Admin Fees on Disbursements				$   4,605.40

						12/31/10		DEC		FEE				Administrative Fees on Disbursements 2.0%				$   51,015.69

						12/31/10		DEC		FEE				Administrative Fees on Disbursements 1.75%				$   26,161.38



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   206,470.89

														2011

																		$   11,377.08

																		$   7,445.70

														March Admin Fees 1.75%				$   11,493.48

														April Fees				$   15,478.49

														Fees May 2011				$   8,108.88

														Admin Fees -1.75%				$   7,434.99

														Admin Fees -1.5%				$   27,010.04

														Monthly Financial Statement 7/31/2011				$   18,361.78

														Fees August @2.5%				$   6,638.21

														Fees August @2.25%				$   10,032.67

														Admin Fees September 2011 @ 2.25%				$   10,031.76

														Admin Fees October 2011 @2.25%				$   2,435.57

														Admin Fees October 2011 @2.0%				$   12,126.69

														40877				$   9,066.30

														Admin Fees on Disbursements				$   20,365.45



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   177,407.09

														2012						GFC-1		LP-4		TP-1

														Nebraska Community Foundation		Admin Fees January		$   8,316.14		$   8,316.14

														Nebraska Community Foundation		2/29/2012 @ 2%		$   10,125.41		$   10,125.41

														Nebraska Community Foundation		2/29/2012 @ 1.75%		$   1,125.87		$   1,125.87

														Nebraska Community Foundation		3/2/12		$   483.56				$   483.56

														Nebraska Community Foundation		3/2/12		$   188.50						$   188.50

														Nebraska Community Foundation		Mar-12		$   45,520.05		$   45,520.05

														Nebraska Community Foundation		At 1.75%		$   40,854.08		$   40,854.08

														Nebraska Community Foundation		at1.50%		$   27,975.90		$   27,975.90











																		$   134,589.51		$   133,917.45		$   483.56		$   188.50		$   134,589.51



														Program to Date Total:				$   470,004.26































NEGAME&PARKS



						Nebraska Game and Parks Commission                                                                                                    PO Box 30370 2200 North 33rd Street                                                                                                        Lincoln, NE 68503

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, September 2009		$   3,000.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00

														2011

														Invoice dated November 17, 2011		$   50,000.00







																$   50,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   53,000.00































NESTLER



						John M. Nestler

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals



														2009

						04/10/09		APR		D		88		John M. Nestler, Calendar Year 2009				$   7,000.00

						04/17/09		APR		D		89		John M. Nestler, Spring Meeting 2009				$   1,563.07

								OCT		D		121		John M. Nestler, Statement dated September 7, 2009				$   1,165.97

										D		128		John M. Nestler, Invoice dated 10-29-2009				$   1,000.00

								JAN		D		137		John M. Nestler, Expense Voucher dated 4 Dec 09				$   1,222.22

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   11,951.26

														2010

								MAR		D		148		John M. Nestler, Expense Voucher dated 25 Feb 2010				$   890.12

								APR		D		150		John M. Nestler, Invoice of 03/25/2010				$   19,000.00

								Aug		D		170		John M. Nestler, Expense Voucher dated 19 July, 2010				$   1,599.24

								FEB		Disb		197		John M. Nestler, Expense Voucher Received 01/21/11				$   901.18



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   22,390.54

														2011										ISAC-1						PD-8

																		$   1,230.78						$   1,230.78

														Statement dated 15 July 2011				$   1,622.77						$   1,622.77

														Voucher dated 2 Dec 2011				$   1,066.68						$   1,066.68



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   3,920.23						$   3,920.23		$   - 0

														2012

														Nestler, John M		3/26/12		$   7,800.00						$   7,800.00

														Nestler, John M		3/26/12		$   1,078.38						$   1,078.38



														Total 2012 Year Six				$   8,878.38						$   8,878.38



														Program to Date Total:				$   38,262.03































NET



						NET Foundation for Television                                                                                                                                                                                                             Terry M. Carpenter Nebraska Ecucational Telecommunications Center                                                                                                                                    1800 North 33rd Street                                                                                                                                                                                                                           PO Box 83111                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      Lincoln, NE 68501                                                                                                                                                                                                                                402-472-3611

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																		Accruals						IMRP-2		ED-3







														2011

														Statement dated 06/14/2011				$   50,000.00						$   50,000.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   50,000.00						$   50,000.00



														2012

														NET Foundation for Television 		2/8/12		$   25,000.00								$   25,000.00







														Total 2012 Year Six				$   25,000.00								$   25,000.00



														Program to Date Total:				$   75,000.00































NNVC



						Nebraska Nature and Visitor Center 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals

																Reference



																		Ed-3

														2010

								MAR		D		148		Nebraska Nature and Visitor Center, Request dated February 22,2010				$   20,000.00



														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   20,000.00

														2011

																		$   20,000.00

																		$   - 0

														 Total 2011 Year Five				$   20,000.00

														2012

														Nebraska Nature and Visitor Center		1/5/12		$   5,000.00

																		$   - 0



														Total 2012 Year Six				$   5,000.00

														Program to Date Total:				$   45,000.00































NORTH



						North Line GIS, LLC                                                                                                                                              PO Box 2982                                                                                                                                                           80 Reliance Drive                                                                                                                                     Breckenridge, CO 80424                                                                                                                                    888-453-4471

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								June		D		161		North Line GIS, LLC., Invoice #240		$   3,360.00















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   3,360.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,360.00



























														N





NORTHSTAR



						North Star Science and Technology







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment WC-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														North Star Science and Technilogy, LLC,		2182		$   61,468.00		$   61,468.00













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   61,468.00		$   61,468.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





NPPD



						Nebraska Public Power District

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 				H-1		LP-2A		LP-2B		LP-2		LP_4		WP-6		WP-10		WQ-1

						12/19/07		DEC		Disb		30		NPPD		$   6,885.00		$   6,885.00



														Total 2007 Year One		$   6,885.00		$   6,885.00



														2008

						09/26/08		SEP		Disb		58		Nebraska Public Power District		$   251,710.10				$   251,710.10

						09/26/08		SEP		Disb		58		Nebraska Public Power District		$   848,836.22						$   848,836.22



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   1,100,546.32				$   251,710.10		$   848,836.22



														2009

										D		102		NPPD, Invoice dated 05/08/2009		$   213,760.09								$   187,879.35		$   25,880.74

								FEB		D		143		Nebraska Public Power District, Invoice # 390		$   668.89														$   668.89



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   214,428.98								$   187,879.35		$   25,880.74				$   668.89				$   214,428.98



								JAN		Disb		192		Nebraska Public Power District, Invoice #468		$   21,299.90												$   21,299.90

								FEB		Disb		196		Nebraska Public Power District, Invoice # 1102		$   15,016.19												$   15,016.19

								FEB		Disb		197		Nebraska Public Power District, Invoice # 481		$   23,355.43												$   23,355.43

								FEB		Disb		200		Nebraska Public Power District, invoice dated 02/07/11		$   26,930.76								$   26,930.76



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   86,602.28								$   26,930.76				$   59,671.52

														2011

																$   12,716.95												$   12,716.95

																$   16,017.61												$   16,017.61

																$   2,926.45												$   2,926.45

														Statement dated September 6, 2011		$   11,130.43																$   11,130.43



														Total 2011 Year Five		$   42,791.44

														Program to Date Total:		$   1,321,860.30												$   31,661.01				$   11,130.43		$   42,791.44



















NRCS



						Natural Resources Conservation Service

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



						12/09/08				Disb		69		Natural Resources Conservation Service		$   250,000.00		$   250,000.00





														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   250,000.00



														2009

						5/29/09		MAY		D		100		NRCS. Statement Dated May 4, 2009		$   2,950.00











														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   2,950.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   252,950.00































NUTTELMAN



						Nuttelman Fencing, Inc.                                                                                                                                                                        7460 W. 100th Street                                                                                                                                                                             Kearney, NE 68845 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		LP-2		LP-4

																Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		155		Nuttelman Fencing, Inc., #982		$   5,799.36				$   5,799.36

														Nuttleman Fencing, Inc., Invoice #1015		$   2,169.96				$   2,169.96

								SEP		D		174		Nuttleman Fencing, Invoice #1084		$   5,295.45				$   5,295.45

								SEP		D		174		Nuttleman Fencing, Invoice #1085		$   12,623.69				$   12,623.69

								OCT		D		178		Nuttleman Fencing, Invoice # 1090		$   19,694.86				$   19,694.86

								OCT		D		179		Nuttleman Fencing, Invoice # 1097		$   1,130.23				$   1,130.23

								JAN		Disb		192		Nuttleman Fencing, inc., Invoice #1127		$   4,684.00				$   4,684.00

								JAN		Disb		193		Nuttleman Fencing, inc., Invoice #1134		$   1,078.32				$   1,078.32

								FEB		Disb		197		Nuttleman Fencing, Inc., Invoice #1138		$   275.00				$   275.00



														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   52,750.87				$   52,750.87

														2011

																$   11,320.20		$   11,320.20

																$   14,829.72				$   14,829.72

																$   578.07				$   578.07

														invoice #1206		$   2,815.22				$   2,815.22

														Invoice #1224		$   1,346.58				$   1,346.58

														Invoice # 1250		$   10,707.34				$   10,707.34

														Invoice # 1251		$   2,852.87				$   2,852.87

														Invoice #1290		$   1,701.82				$   1,701.82

														Invoice # 1291		$   1,661.33				$   1,661.33

														Invoice #1292		$   3,145.49				$   3,145.49

														Invoice #1312		$   320.00				$   320.00

														Invoice No. 1321		$   12,427.68				$   12,427.68









														 Total 2011 Year Five		$   63,706.32		$   11,320.20		$   52,386.12		$   63,706.32



														Program to Date Total:		$   116,457.19































OLSSON



						Olsson And associates

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description						Payment ED-2				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														2009

										D		102		Olsson and Associates, Invoice No: 127450						$   1,581.40

										D		110		Olsson and Associates, Invoice No. 129746						$   6,298.30

						08/14/09				D		114		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 130849						$   489.80

										D		119		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 132487												$   28,702.56

										D		119		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 132599												$   51,002.54

										D		126		Olsson Associates, Invoice No: 134222						$   9,698.42

										D		126		Olsson Associates, Invoice No: 133928												$   66,388.30

										D		131		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 13051												$   49,705.58

								JAN		D		137		Olsson Associates, Invoice No: 136222												$   19,646.02

								FEB		D		143		Olsson Associates, Invoice No: 137676												$   5,587.00

														 Total 2009 Year Three						$   18,067.92						$   221,032.00								$   239,099.92

														2010

								APR		D		149		Olsson Associates, Invoice 10-139615				$   4,005.17								$   4,005.17

								June		D		161		Olsson Associates, Invoice Number 141733				$   29,448.92								$   29,448.92

								JUL		D		165		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 142859				$   16,291.90								$   16,291.90

								JUL		D		167		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 143981				$   35,164.75								$   35,164.75

								Aug		D		170		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 145079				$   4,580.06								$   4,580.06

								Aug		D		170		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 144288				$   7,395.18								$   7,395.18

								SEP		D		174		Olsson Associates, Invoice No: 143983				$   11,708.62														$   11,708.62

								OCT		D		178		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 146283				$   869.78						$   869.78

						10/15/10		OCT		D		178		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 146314				$   4,384.17								$   4,384.17

								OCT		D		179		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 14733				$   93.84				$   93.84

								NOV		Disb		182		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 146484				$   3,739.99								$   3,739.99

														Non Donor				$   (11,708.62)														$   (11,708.62)

								NOV		Disb		186		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 147773				$   34,203.89								$   34,203.89

								NOV		Disb		186		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 148830				$   13,767.10								$   13,767.10

						10/15/10		OCT		D		178		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 146314

								DEC		DISB		188		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 150041				$   7,652.04								$   7,652.04

								FEB		Disb		197		Olsson Associates, Invoice No. 15139				$   20,459.19								$   20,459.19

														Total 2010 Year Four				$   182,055.98		$   - 0		$   93.84		$   869.78		$   181,092.36						$   - 0		$   182,055.98

														Contractor Total Year 4:

														2011

																		$   16,121.28								$   16,121.28

																		$   15,058.94								$   15,058.94

																		$   3,590.09								$   3,590.09

														Invoice No. 156635				$   21,269.07								$   21,269.07

														Invoice No. 157904				$   13,484.79								$   13,484.79

														Invoice No. 158187				$   4,741.30		$   4,741.30

														Invoice No 159633				$   4,316.25		$   4,316.25

														Invoice No. 160310				$   20,936.81								$   20,936.81

														Invoice No. 161498				$   9,078.38								$   9,078.38

														Invoice No. 142181				$   3,535.37								$   3,535.37

														Invoice No. 162875				$   4,938.48								$   4,938.48

														Invoice No. 163377				$   2,944.50		$   2,944.50

														Invoice No. 164492				$   18,327.31								$   18,327.31

														Invoice No. 165822				$   26,573.91								$   26,573.91

														Invoice No: 166558				$   197.03		$   197.03

														Invoice No. 167184				$   20,267.10								$   20,267.10

														Invoice No. 168391				$   11,088.02								$   11,088.02



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   196,468.63		$   12,199.08						$   184,269.55								$   196,468.63

														2012

														Olsson and Associates		169768		$   19,217.10								$   19,217.10

														Olsson and Associates		171269		$   8,130.05								$   8,130.05

														Olsson and Associates		172022		$   8,345.93								$   8,345.93







																		$   35,693.08								$   35,693.08



														Program to Date Total:				$   617,624.53								$   403,087.98



														Contractor Total												$   403,087.98































OMAHAWH



						Omaha World Herald

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 

										Disb		8		Omaha World Herald		$   439.20		$   439.20



														Total 2007 Year One		$   439.20



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   439.20































O'NEILL



						O'Neill Wood Resources, LLC                                                                                                                            558 Stuhr Road                                                                                                                                                       PO Box 2202                                                                                                                                                  Grand Island, NE 68802-2202

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								MAR		D		146		O'Neill Wood Resources, LLC, Invoice #334		$   9,050.00

								APR		D		155		O'Neill Wood Resources, LLC, Invoice #407		$   3,588.25























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   12,638.25



														Program to Date Total:		$   12,638.25































ONEILLTRANS



						O'Neill Transportation & Equipment, LLC                                                                                                                                                                                            PO Box 2202                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            Grand Island, NE 68801                                                                                                                                                                                                                             308-384-1690







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-4		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

																$   11,071.25						$   11,071.25













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   11,071.25		$   - 0				$   11,071.25		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total										ERROR:#REF!





OVERTON



						Overton Sand & Gravel Company                                                                                                                      P.O. Box 327                                                                                                                                           Overton, Nebraska 68863 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		178		Overton Sand and Gravel Co, Invoice No. 49243		$   238.95















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   238.95



														Program to Date Total:		$   238.95































PAC'S



						PAC's                                                                                                                                                             Painting and Handyman Service                                                                                                                       5903 P. Avenue                                                                                                                                           Kearney, NE 68847                                                                                                                                           308-237-1365

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2010

								NOV		Disb		186		PAC's Painting and Handyman Services, Invoice #1066		$   715.93

								DEC		DISB		188		Pac's Painting and Handyman Service, Invoice #1070		$   2,000.00

								JAN		Disb		192		PAC's Painting and Handyman Services, Invoice #1083		$   5,055.00

								FEB		Disb		196		PAC's Painting & Handyman Service, invoice #1102		$   7,074.39



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   14,845.32

														2011								LP-4

																$   4,250.00						$   4,250.00

														Invoice #1128		$   2,370.00						$   2,370.00

														invoice # 1130		$   1,612.29						$   1,612.29

														Invoice #1138		$   1,001.95						$   1,001.95

														Invoice No. 1201		$   162.02						$   162.02



														Total 2011 Year Five		$   9,396.26						$   9,396.26

														2012

														1222		$   866.93						$   866.93

																$   - 0



																$   - 0

																$   - 0

																$   - 0

																$   866.93						$   866.93



														Program to Date Total:		$   25,108.51































PARKER



						Parker, Grossart, Bahensky & Beucke, LLP

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 



														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

						04/07/09		APR		D		90		Parker, Grossart, Bahensky & Beucke, L.L.P. Trust Account		$   562,442.76

										D		133		Parker, Grossart, Bahensky & Buecke, LLP Statement No. 49703		$   960.00

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   563,402.76



														2010

								MAR		D		146		Parker, Grossart, Bahensky, & Beucke, LLP. Statement No. 50518		$   300.00

								JUL		D		167		Parker, Grossant, Bahensky, & Beucke, Statement No. 52390		$   1,881.93

								JAN		Disb		192		Parker, Grosshart, Bahensky, & Buecke, LLP.,Statement No. 527679		$   1,881.57



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   4,063.50

														2011

														Invoice No. 531098		$   2,015.61









														Total 2011 Year Five		$   2,015.61



														Program to Date Total:		$   565,418.37































PBS&J



						PBS&J                                                                                                                                                                  PO Box 409357                                                                                                                                                Atlanta, GA 30384-9357  

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		110		PBS&J, Invoice # 1047132		$   66,252.33























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   66,252.33



														Program to Date Total:		$   66,252.33































PELTZ



						Christopher D. Peltz                                                                                                                                             232 Wood Street                                                                                                                                                   Fort Collins, CO 80524                                                                                                                                      970-691-6351

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



		P												Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		Christopher D. Peltz, September 2009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































PETERS,ED



						Edward J. Peters

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

								July		Disb		52		Edward J. Peters, July 1, 2008		$   7,299.00

										Disb		55		Edward J. Peters, July 31, 2008		$   7,825.00

						09/26/08		SEP		Disb		57		Edward J. Peters September3, 2008		$   8,690.25

						01/23/09		JAN		Disb		73		Edward J. Peters, Invoice Dated January 4, 2009		$   7,165.00





														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   30,979.25



														2009







														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   30,979.25































PETERSON



						Rocky and DeAnne Peterson

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								MAR		D		148		Rocky and DeAnne Peterson, Agreement dated 03-05-10		$   2,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   2,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,000.00































PETEDRILL



						Peterson Drilling, Inc                                                                                                                                                                                                                       20200 Riverdale Rd Riverdale,                                                                                                                                                                                                         NE 68870 

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																Accruals						PD-20







														2011

														Invoice #686		$   10,030.00						$   10,030.00















														Total 2011 Year Five		$   10,030.00						$   10,030.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   10,030.00































PHELPS



						Phelps County Title Company

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2009

														Land Pre-Acquisition

						02/13/09		FEB		D		76		Phelps County Title Company, Statement Dated 01/21/2009		$   500.00		Phelps County Title Company, Statement Dated 01/21/2009		$   500.00

						02/27/09		FEB		D		78		Phelps County Title Company, Statement Dated 2/03/2009		$   500.00

						2/28/09				D		78		Correction Phelps County Title		$   (500.00)

														Pre-Acquisition SubTotal		$   500.00



														Land Acquisition

								OCT		D		122		Phelps County Title Company as Escrow Agent		$   1,273,541.25

														Phelps Co Title PRWC Ref RecFees		$   (5.00)

						11/12/09				D		130		Phelps County Title Co. as Escrow Agent		$   1,100,000.00

																$   (1,774.72)

														cc		$   209.50

														ti		$   1,206.12

						11/18/09		NOV		D		132		Phelps County Title Co. as Escrow Agent Tract0815		$   890,000.00

												132		CC		$   209.00

												132		TI		$   993.75

														SubTotal Land Acquisition		$   3,264,379.90



														Total Year 3		$   3,264,879.90

														2010

														Land Preacquisition

								OCT		D		179		Phelps County Title Company, Invoice date June 3, 2010		$   100.00



														SubTotal Land Pre-Acquisition		$   100.00

														Land Acquisition







														SubTotal Land Acquisition		$   - 0

														Total Year 4		$   100.00

														Program to Date Total:		$   3,264,979.90































PHELPSCO



						Phelps County Treasurer                                                                                                                                                                               PO Box 438                                                                                                                                                                                           Holdrege, NE 68949                

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		153		Phelps County Treasurer Westside 4D-5				$   3,230.34

								SEP		D		172		Phelps County Treasurer, Westside 4D-5				$   3,230.34

														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   6,460.68

														2011

																		$   15,819.24



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   15,819.24

														2012

														Phelps County Treasurer		4800		$   90.72

														Phelps County Treasurer		4808		$   3,906.62

														Phelps County Treasurer		4807		$   2,520.12

														Phelps County Treasurer		7448		$   519.26

														Phelps County Treasurer		7449		$   340.08

														Phelps County Treasurer		7326		$   503.14

														Phelps County Treasurer		7329		$   2,690.08

														Phelps County Treasurer		7463		$   1,018.86

														Phelps County Treasurer		7465		$   1,504.98

														Phelps County Treasurer		2		$   1,294.00

														Phelps County Treasurer		4		$   2,340.32

														Phelps County Treasurer		7465		$   63.36





														Total 2012 Year Six				$   16,791.54



														Program to Date Total:				$   39,071.46





























PITLICK



						John Pitlick, Professor                                                                                                                                     University of Colorado                                                                                                                                     Boulder, CO 80309-0260 303-492-5906

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		John Pitlick, September 2009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































PLAUTZ



						MASTER







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-4		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Satement Received 11/17/2011		$   9,317.52						$   9,317.52













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   9,317.52		$   - 0				$   9,317.52		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   9,317.52								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total										ERROR:#REF!





POWELL



						Larkin A. Powell

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009











										D		141		Larkin A. Powell, Invoice dated 01/12/10		$   3,000.00















														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































PRACT



						Practical Stats                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        9278 Lark Sparrow Drive                                                                                                                                                                                                           Highlands Ranch, CO 80126                                                                                                                                                                                                           303-870-4921

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																Accruals						IMRP-3		PD-3







														2011

														Statement dated September 16, 2011		$   5,000.00								$   5,000.00















														Total 2011 Year Five		$   5,000.00						$   - 0		$   5,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,000.00

































PRAIRIELEG



						Prairie Legacy, inc.  3910 S. 32 Place Lincoln, NE 68502 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								JAN		Disb		192		Prairie Legacy, Inc., Invoice Number 12102010		$   798.25





														Total 2010 Year Four		$   798.25

														2011

														Invoice No. 12182011		$   855.16



														Total 2011 Year Five		$   855.16





														Program to Date Total:		$   1,653.41































PRAIRIE



						Prairie Plains Research Institute                                                                                                                                                                                        1307 L Street                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Aurora, NE 68818-2126                                                                                                                                                                                                         402-694-5535

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment				Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		155		Prairie Plains Resource Institute, Invoice dated 3/30/2010		$   14,070.00



														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   14,070.00

														2011				LP-2		LP-4		LP-3

																$   1,732.00				$   1,732.00

														Invoice Number 7142011		$   1,113.65				$   1,113.65



														Inovice No. 1/24/12		$   5,800.00		$   5,800.00

														Total 2011 Year Five		$   8,645.65		$   5,800.00		$   2,845.65		$   - 0		$   8,645.65



														Program to Date Total:		$   22,715.65































PRAIRIELOFT



						Prairie Loft







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description						Payment ED-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																Reference		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														2012

														Prairie Loft		1/4/12		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00











														Total 2012 Year Six				$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





PREMIER



						Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd.                                                                                                                          2031 300th Street                                                                                                                                    Washington, IA 52353                                                                                                                                          800-282-6631/319-653-7622

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reerence		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals







														2010

														Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd., Statement dated 4/30/10				$   2,096.86

								June		D		161		Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd., Invoice No. BM775333				$   596.00



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   2,692.86

														2012										TP-1

														Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd.		SM893517		$   1,394.46						$   1,394.46













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   1,394.46						$   1,394.46



														Program to Date Total:				$   2,692.86































PRRIF



						Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2008

						06/30/08		June		Disb		50		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation				$   31,500.00

						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		Platte River Recovery Imp. Foundation, Inv #P200810-01				$   5,700.00

						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		Platte River Recovery Imp. Foundation, Inv #P200810-02				$   4,082.50

						02/13/09		FEB		Disb		75		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation, Invoice#P200901-01				$   3,300.00



														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   44,582.50

														2009

						05/29/09		MAY		D		100		PRRIF, Invoice # P200904-01				$   3,300.00

										D		113		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation, Invoice #P200907-01				$   22,500.00

										D		128		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation, #P2000910-01				$   7,170.50

								FEB		D		144		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation, Invoice #P201001-01 				$   22,217.44

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   55,187.94

														2010

								APR		D		155		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation, Invoice #P201004-01				$   8,646.02

								SEP		D		174		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation Invoice #P201007-01				$   11,607.00

								FEB		Disb		200		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation, Invoice #P201101-01				$   12,809.57

								FEB		Disb		200		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation, Invoice #P201101-02				$   12,814.00



														 Total 2010 Year Four				$   45,876.59

														2011						LP-3

																		$   7,094.00		$   7,094.00

														Invoice #P201106-01				$   11,258.86		$   11,258.86

														Invoice #P201109-01				$   15,701.50		$   15,701.50

														Invoice #P201112-01				$   10,597.80		$   10,597.80

														Total 2011 Year Five				$   44,652.16		$   44,652.16

														2012

														Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation		P20120301		$   14,614.50		$   14,614.50















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   14,614.50		$   14,614.50



														Program to Date Total:				$   204,913.69



















PRUSS



						Pruss Excavation Company                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       c/o Matt Pruss                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                648 A Road                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          Dodge, NE 68633

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes								Subcontractors

																Accruals						LP-2		LP-5		LP-4







														2010

								JAN		Disb		193		Pruss Excavation Co., Invoice # 1		$   224,448.46



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   224,448.46

														2011

																$   152,050.38						$   152,050.38

														Invoice #3 (Final)		$   73,926.37						$   73,926.37

														Pay Application # 1		$   17,768.88								$   17,768.88

														Pay Application # 2		$   90,019.94								$   90,019.94

														Invoice #2885		$   266.53								$   266.53

														Invoice #2884		$   2,234.43						$   2,234.43

														Pay Application 3		$   19,230.06								$   19,230.06





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   355,496.59						$   228,211.18		$   127,285.41		ERROR:#NAME?		$   355,496.59



														Program to Date Total:		$   579,945.05































PRWCMTCTRUST



						Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 								PD=14

										Disb		29		Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust		$   2,066.88

												30		Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust August		$   2,066.88

														Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust September		$   2,066.88

														Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust November		$   2,066.88

						02/08/08		FEB		Disb		36		PR Whooping Crane Mtce Trust		$   2,066.88

																$   10,334.40

														Total 2007 Year One

														2008

						06/13/08		June		Disb		47		Platte River Whooping Crane Mtce Trust		$   5,196.36



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   5,196.36

														2009

						04/10/09		APR		D		88		Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust, Invoice # WC-CAP-001		$   20,000.00						20000

										D		128		Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust, Invoice # PRRIP-FY2009 (1)		$   125,000.00

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   145,000.00						20000

														2010

								JUL		D		167		The Crane Trust, Invoice #150610		$   125,000.00



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   125,000.00

														2011				ISAC-1		WMV-2

																$   43,600.00				$   43,600.00

																$   786.54		$   786.54

														Invoice#2011-39		$   6,400.00				$   6,400.00





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   50,786.54		$   786.54		$   50,000.00

														Program to Date Total:		$   285,530.76









PURCELL



						Auman and Purcell

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 								PD-4&5

						5/11/07		MAY		Disb		1		Purcell		$   3,400.00						368.01







														Total 2007 Year One		$   3,400.00						368.01

















														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,400.00































PVWMA



						Platte Valley Weed Management Area                                                                                                         9730 Antelope Avenue                                                                                                                                Kearney, Nebraska 68847     

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		WP-1(b)

																		Accruals



														2010

								May		D		157		Platte Valley Weed Management Area, Request received 04/15/10				$   400,000.00



														Total 2010 Year Four				$   400,000.00

														2011

														Statement received 6/23/11				$   200,000.00						200000



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   200,000.00						200000

														2012

														Platte Valley Weed Management Area		4/2/12		$   200,000.00		$   200,000.00				$   200,000.00















														Total 2012 Year Saix				$   200,000.00						$   200,000.00



														Program to Date Total:				$   800,000.00































RACHOW





														Larry Rachow

														46555 SC Road

														Gibbon, NE 68840

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-4										WP-8

														Statement 692030		$   16,560.00				$   16,560.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   16,560.00		$   - 0		$   16,560.00				$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   16,560.00								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total										ERROR:#REF!





RAIN



						Rainwater Basin Joint Venture







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment TP-1				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment IMRP-6										WP-8

														Invoice No. 12-05				$   24,000.00		$   24,000.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   24,000.00		$   24,000.00						$   - 0

														2012

														Rainwater Joint Venture		21-Dec		$   20,000.00				$   20,000.00











														Total 2012 Year Six				$   20,000.00				$   20,000.00



														Program to Date Total:				$   24,000.00								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





RECLAMATION



						Bureau of Reclamation

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 		WP-3		WC-2		WC-3

						06/29/07		JUN		Disb		11		U.S. Bureau of Reclamation		$   23,471.00

						10/05/07		OCT		Disb		22		Bureau of Reclamation						$   4,360.00

						01/11/08				Disb		33		Bureau of Reclamation				$   13,952.00

																$   23,471.00		$   13,952.00		$   4,360.00		$   41,783.00



														Total 2007 Year One		$   41,783.00



														2008		H-2,3

						03/28/08		March		Disb		40		Bureau of Reclamation		$   23,120.00











														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   23,120.00



														2009





														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   64,903.00































REICHERT



						Reichert, Jerry







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-4		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Reichert, Jerry		3/15/12		$   100.00						$   100.00













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   100.00		$   - 0				$   100.00		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				$   100.00								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





RENKEN



						Renken Construction                                                                                                                                       10052-749 Road                                                                                                                                        Bertrand, NE 68927                                                                                                                                         308-472-3887

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

										D		128		Renken Construction, Invoice received 10-29-2009		$   1,875.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   1,875.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,875.00































RICKLY



						Rickly Hydrologic Co. 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

						11/21/08		NOV		Disb		65		Rickly Hydrologic Co. Invoice Number 292196		$   2,875.24











														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   2,875.24



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   2,875.24































RIVERSIDE



						Riverside Technology, Inc.

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description						Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																				Accruals





														2009												IMRP-2

								JUL		D		109		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice 1234												20546

										D		110		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice 1284						$   30,832.00

										D		116		Riverside Technology, Inc. Invoice # 1401						$   15,470.86

										D		119		Riverside Technology, Inc. Invoice # 1444						$   10,228.00

								OCT		D		123		Riverside Technology, Inc. Invoice # 1597						$   2,382.14

										D		133		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice # 1759						$   15,894.00

								JAN		D		137		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice # 1866						$   33,817.25

								FEB		D		143		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice # 1941						$   27,549.00

																				$   136,173.25						20546

														Total 2009 Year Three						$   156,719.25



														2010														PD-8

								MAR		D		146		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice # 2083														$   52,979.00

								APR		D		149		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice #2183														$   79,469.00

								May		D		156		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice 2274														$   79,469.00

								June		D		161		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice #2451														$   52,979.00

								JUL		D		165		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice # 2527														$   52,979.00

								Aug		D		169		Riverside Technology Inc., Invoice # 2623														$   26,490.00

								SEP		D		174		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice #2754														$   26,490.00

								OCT		D		178		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice # 2844														$   26,490.00

								NOV		Disb		182		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice #2997														$   26,490.00

								DEC		DISB		188		Riverside technolofy, Inc., Invoice #3329														$   28,699.75

								JAN		Disb		192		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice #3382														$   8,807.96

								FEB		Disb		196		Riverside Technology, Inc., Invoice #3549														$   8,807.96

														Total 2010 Year Four						$   - 0								$   470,150.67

														2011

																				$   11,787.00								$   11,787.00

																				$   9,542.00								$   9,542.00

																				$   7,563.00								$   7,563.00

														Invoice # 3863						$   11,597.30								$   11,597.30

														Invoice # 3943						$   12,487.22								$   12,487.22

														Invoice #4055						$   9,320.00								$   9,320.00

														Invoice # 4061						$   9,500.00								$   9,500.00

														Invoice NO. 4140						$   9,500.00								$   9,500.00

														Invoice # 4201						$   9,500.00								$   9,500.00

														Invoice # 4359						$   9,500.00								$   9,500.00

														Invoice #4447						$   9,000.00								$   9,000.00

														Invoice No. 4551						$   30,669.01								$   30,669.01



														Total 2011 Year Five						$   139,965.53								$   139,965.53

														2012														PD-8

														Riverside Technology, Inc.				4733		$   12,870.74								$   12,870.74

														Riverside Technology, Inc.				4744		$   12,870.74								$   12,870.74

														Riverside Technology, Inc.		4816				$   12,870.74								$   12,870.74









														Total 2012 Year Six						$   38,612.22								$   38,612.22



														Program to Date Total:						$   766,835.45































Rk



						Rk Electric                                                                                                                                                            1408 3rd Avenue                                                                                                                                          Kearney, NE 68845                                                                                                                                              308-440-0113

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								June		D		161		Rk Electric, Invoice #245		$   4,156.97

								June		D		161		Rk Electric, Invoice #246		$   1,577.22

								Aug		D		170		Rk Electric, Invoice #271		$   2,088.92

								SEP		D		174		Rk Electric, Invoice #282		$   248.27

								OCT		D		179		Rk Electric, Invoice #302		$   306.95

								NOV		Disb		183		Rk Electric, Invoice # 311		$   203.94

														Total 2010 Year Four		$   8,582.27

														2011





														Invoice #463		$   1,670.15

														Invoice #464		$   697.29

														Invoice # 500		$   182.79

														Total 2010 Year Five		$   2,550.23



														Program to Date Total:		$   11,132.50































ROOT



						Tim Root

						42610 Drive 755

						Lexington, NE 68850 



						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description						Payment ED-2				Payment LP-4		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Invoice No. 1181211				$   3,376.00						$   3,376.00



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   3,376.00		$   - 0				$   3,376.00		$   - 0						$   3,376.00



														2012		Reference

														Root, Tim		2222012		$   5,299.10				$   5,299.10

														Root, Tim		9109		$   7,354.00				$   7,354.00

														Root, Tim		42412		$   5,920.00						$   5,920.00

														Root, Tim		42312		$   8,480.40				$   8,480.00











														Total 2012 Year Six				$   27,053.50				$   21,133.10		$   5,920.00



														Program to Date Total:				$   30,429.50



														Contractor Total





ROWE



						Master Blank Account 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals

																Reference



														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One				$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   - 0



														2009

						2/13/09		FEB		D		76		Rowe Sanctuary, Audobon Nebraska				$   2,000.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   2,000.00



														2012										ED-3

														Rowe Sanctuary		1/14/12		$   5,000.00						$   5,000.00





																		$   5,000.00						$   5,000.00





														Program to Date Total:				$   2,000.00































RURAL



						Rural Community Insurance Services                                                                                                                 PO Box 38                                                                                                                                                        Anoka, MN 55903-0038 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		178		Rural Community Insurance Services, Statement dated 09/01/2010		$   2,260.00

								NOV		Disb		182		Rural Community Insurance Services, Statement dated 10/01/2010		$   1,214.00













														Total 2010 Year Four		$   3,474.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,474.00































SCHEMMER



						Schemmer Associates, Inc.                                                                                                                                 1044 North 115th Street Suite 300                                                                                                                  Omaha, NE 68154-4436                                                                                                                                    402-493-4800

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2009

										D		133		Schemmer, Invoice Nol 05779-001-1		$   7,187.49

								JAN		D		137		Schemmer Associates, Inc., Invoice No: 05779.001-2		$   5,412.50

								FEB		D		143		Schemmer Associates, Inc., Invoice No. 05779.001-3		$   12,976.25

														Total 2009		$   25,576.24

														2010

								MAR		D		146		Schemmer Associates, Inc., invoice No. 05779.001-4		$   188.75

								APR		D		150		Schemmer, Invoice No.:05779.001-5		$   1,993.78

								May		D		156		Schemmer, Invoice No.: 05779-001-06		$   5,048.48

														Schemmer Associates, Inc., Invoice No: 05779.001-7		$   14,062.50

								JUL		D		165		Schemmer, Invoice No. 05779.001-8		$   16,826.85

								Aug		D		169		Schemmer, Invoice No: 05779.001-9		$   8,677.50

								SEP		D		174		Schemmer Associates, Inc. Invoice No. 05779-10		$   420.00



														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   47,217.86

														2011								LP-2		LP-5

																$   5,534.02						$   5,534.02

														Invoice No. 05779.001-12		$   8,810.11								$   8,810.11

														Invoice No. 05779.001-13		$   9,668.16								$   9,668.16

														Invoice # 05779.001-14		$   4,816.36								$   4,816.36

														Invoice No. 160310		$   1,500.00								$   1,500.00

														Invoice No. 05779.001-16		$   1,797.50								$   1,797.50



														Total 2011 Year Five		$   32,126.15						$   5,534.02		$   26,592.13		$   32,126.15



														Program to Date Total:		$   47,217.86































SHEPARDSON



						Van Shepardson                                                                                                                                              45537 Road 786                                                                                                                                               Mason City, NE 68855                                                                                                                                         508-88-0285

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								NOV		Disb		182		Van Shepardson, Statement dated 09/23/10		$   569.80















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   569.80



														Program to Date Total:		$   569.80































SHIELDS



						F. Douglas Shields, Jr.                                                                                                                                       3613 Lyles Drive                                                                                                                                               Oxford, MS 38655 662-236-1926

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		F. Douglas Shields, September 2009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































SHORT



						Short Elliott Hendtickson, Inc

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 

						06/29/07		JUN		Disb		13		Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc		$   30,231.00

						08/10/07		AUG		Disb		16		Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc 		$   18,828.50

						11/02/07				Disb		25		Short Elliott Hendrickson Inc.		$   34,306.00

										Disb		25		Short Elliott Hendrickson Inc.		$   8,524.00

						12/19/07		DEC		Disb		30		Short Elliott Hendrickson Inc.		$   9,304.00

														Total 2007 Year One		$   101,193.50



														2008

						5/9/08		May		Disb		45		SEH Inc.,Invoice No. 200453		$   10,805.50



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   10,805.50



														2009







						4/17/09		APR		D		89		SEH, Invoice Number 215857		$   36,727.00

								OCT		D		121		SEH, Inc, Invoice Number 222594		$   32,461.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   69,188.00

														2010				WP-1a		WP-9

								DEC		DISB		188		SEH Invoice Number 237978		$   15,373.00		11642		$   3,731.00









														Total 2010 Year Four		$   15,373.00		$   11,642.00		$   3,731.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   196,560.00

































SKY



						Sky Helicopters, Inc

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 

						03/07/08		MAR		Disb		39		Sky Helicopters, Inc		$   6,000.00



														Total 2007 Year One		$   6,000.00



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   6,000.00































SMITHLAW



						Smith Law Offices

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 

						01/11/08				Disb		33		Smith Law Office		$   3,675.00



														Total 2007 Year One		$   3,675.00



														2008

						06/13/08		June		Disb		47		Smith Law Offices		$   437.50

						06/27/08		June		Disb		50		Smith Law Offices		$   2,975.00

						12/19/08		DEC		Disb		68		Smith Law Office, Invoice dated November 24, 2008		$   1,875.00







														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   5,287.50



														2009

						5/8/09		MAY		D		98		Smith Law Offices, Statement Dated April 13, 2009		$   2,635.00

								JUL		D		109		Smith Law Office, statement dated June 15, 2009		$   1,265.00







														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,900.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   12,862.50































SOFTWAREONE



						software ONE                                                                                                                                                     PO Box 510944                                                                                 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009



								JAN		D		139		Software One, Invoice US-PSI-120851		$   11,651.42























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   11,651.42



														Program to Date Total:		$   11,651.42































SOUTHERN



						Southern Power District

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





																						LP-2		LP-4

														2010

								MAR		D		146		Southern Power District, Estimate Number 20-9004-01		$   9,015.00								$   9,015.00



														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   9,015.00								$   9,015.00

														2011

														Statement received 9-9-11		$   11,514.14						$   11,514.14





														 Total 2011 Year Five		$   11,514.14						$   11,514.14



														Program to Date Total:		$   20,529.14































SOWER



						Sower Agriubusiness, LLC

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

						2/13/09		FEB		Disb		75		Sower Agribusiness, LLC, Invoice Number 08-150		$   3,700.00











														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   3,700.00



														2009

										D		126		Sower Agribusiness, Inc., Invoice Number 09-143		$   3,500.00































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,500.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   7,200.00































STADLER



						Stadler Implement Inc.                                                                                                                                          Box 148                                                                                                                                                             Minden, NE 68959                                                                                                                                               308-832-1660

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		179		Stadler Implement, Inc., Statement dated 9/27-10		$   604.26















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   604.26



														Program to Date Total:		$   604.26































STATMATH



						StatMathComp Consulting by Schwarz, Inc.                                                                                                625 Bentley Road                                                                                                                                               Port Moody, BC V3H3A4

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





																IMRP-3

														2010

								JAN		Disb		192		StatMathComp Consulting by Schwarz, Inc, Statement dated 2010-12-10		$   3,040.00



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   3,040.00

														2011

																$   3,307.70

														Invoice 2011-07-15		$   3,689.03







														Total 2010 Year Four		$   6,996.73

														Program to Date Total:		$   10,036.73































STELLA



						John C. Stella







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment PD-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Invoice No. 002		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total										ERROR:#REF!





SYNLNT



						Synint, Inc.

						8949 SE Bridge Road #301

						Hobe Sound, FL 33455

						772-546-1269

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment ISAC-1				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Invoice Number PRRIP ISAC-07				$   16,900.00		$   16,900.00

														Invoice No. PRRIP ISAC-08				$   19,332.85		$   19,332.85



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   36,232.85		$   36,232.85						$   - 0

														2012

														SynInt, Inc.		PRRIP ISAC-09		$   9,764.63		$   9,764.63







														Total 2012 Year Six				$   9,764.63		$   9,764.63





														Program to Date Total:				$   45,997.48								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





TAGGE



						Tagge Engineering Consultants, Inc.

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 



																				H-1

														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008		WP-3

												53		Tagge Ingineering Consultants, Inc #17442		$   1,718.40











														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   1,718.40



														2009				ED-2		H-1

						04/17/09		APR		D		89		Tagge Engineering Consultants, Inc. Invoice No. 17853				$   250.00

								OCT		D		123		Miller and Associates dba Tagge		$   955.60				$   955.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   955.60		$   250.00

																$   1,205.60

														2010

								JUL		D		167		Tagge Engineering Consultants, Inc. Invoice No. 08055		$   673.15		$   673.15











														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   673.15











														Program to Date Total:		$   3,347.15







														Tagge Engineering Consultants, Inc #17442		$   1,718.40

														Tagge Engineering Consultants, Inc. Invoice No. 17853		$   250.00

														 SubTotal		$   1,968.40



















TAUSAN



						Seth Tausan                                                                                                                                                      Tausan Weed Control                                                                                                                                          1805 South Meridian                                                                                                                                      Cozad, NE 69130                                                                                                                                              308-360-0720     

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								Aug		D		170		Seth Tauson, Invoice #140		$   2,250.00

								SEP		D		175		Seth Tausan, Invoice # 44		$   650.00

								OCT		D		179		Seth Tausan, Invoice # 145		$   1,000.00



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   3,900.00

														2011

														Statement dated July 4, 2011		$   7,190.00

														Invoice #883546		$   4,295.00

														Invoice #883547		$   1,960.00



														Total 2011 Year Five		$   13,445.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,900.00































T.D.'sWELD



						T.D.'s Welding 1873                                                                                                                                                                                        41st Road Heartwell, Nebraska 68945                                                                                                                                                    402-469-2121 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								APR		D		155		T.D.'s Portable Welding, Invoice dated 4-11-2010		$   339.31

























														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   339.31



														Program to Date Total:		$   339.31































TESSARA



						Tessara Water, LLC                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          13101 Cavanaugh Road                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         Hudson, CO 80642                                                                                                                                               303-710-9108                                                                                                                              www.tessarawater.com

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description								Award/ Credit		Balance



																Reference		Payment



																				WP-8

														2010

								Aug		D		170		Tessara Water. LLC, Invoice # 20						$   600.00

								JAN		Disb		193		Tessara Water, LLC, Invoice #51						$   582.19

														Total 2010 Year Four						$   1,182.19

														2011

																				$   543.38

														Invoice #64						$   966.50

														Invoice #686						$   966.50

														Invoice #73						$   2,949.75

														invoice #80						$   5,356.28

														Invoice #86						$   543.38

														Invoice # 95						$   1,319.63

														Invoice #103						$   2,220.68

														Invoice No. 110						$   1,125.00





														Total 2011 Year Five						$   15,991.10

														2012

														Tessara Water, LLC		116		$   937.50		$   937.50

														Tessara Water, LLC		124		$   1,237.50		$   1,237.50















																		$   2,175.00		$   2,175.00



														Program to Date Total:						$   17,173.29































TETRA



						Tetra Tech Divisions, Inc.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  3801 Automation Way, Suite 100                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              Fort Collins, CO 80525                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               970-223-9600

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes								Subcontractors

																		Accruals







														2010

								FEB		Disb		197		Tetra Tech Divisions, Invoice Number: 50425534				$   71,456.99

														Total 2010 Year Four				$   71,456.99

														2011										IMRP-2		IMRP-3		TP-1		IMRP-4

																		$   20,353.09						$   20,353.09

																		$   1,104.81								$   1,104.81

														Invoice No. 27394-2				$   1,589.26						$   1,589.26

														Invoice No. 27505-2				$   5,777.17										$   5,777.17

														Invoice No. 50435688				$   3,350.00						$   3,350.00

														Invoice No. 27605-1				$   13,092.59												$   13,092.59

														Invoice No.:27605-2				$   58,303.95												$   58,303.95

														Invoice No.:27605-3				$   27,240.63												$   27,240.63

														Invoice No.:27605-4				$   5,814.62						$   5,814.62

														Invoice No.:27605-4				$   21,626.47												$   21,626.47

														Invoice No. 27605-5				$   17,481.96												$   17,481.96

														Invoice No.:27605-6				$   57,728.68												$   57,728.68

														Invoice No. 27505-3				$   2,263.10												$   2,263.10

														Invoice No. 27505-7				$   10,981.28												$   10,981.28

														Invoice No.: 27608-8				$   19,587.16												$   19,587.16

														Invoice No. 27605-9				$   20,522.29												$   20,522.29

																		$   286,817.06						$   31,106.97		$   1,104.81		$   5,777.17		$   248,828.11		$   286,817.06

														2012

														Tetra Tech, Division		27605.1		$   13,270.54												$   13,270.54

														Tetra Tech, Division		27605 Year2-1		$   35,426.88												$   35,426.88













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   48,697.42												$   48,697.42



														Program to Date Total:				$   406,971.47





























TELEDYNE



						TELEDYNE ISCO, INC

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2008



						10/03/08		Oct		Disb		61		TELEDYNE ISCO invoice #870144		$   8,339.47

						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		TELEDYNE ISCO, INC., Invoice Nol 878290		$   1,317.18



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   9,656.65



														2009



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0

														2010



								MAR		D		146		Teledyne ISCO, Inc., Invoice No. 915465 		$   2,846.19

								MAR		D		146		Teledyne ISCO, Inc., Invoice No. 915986		$   8,555.72

								MAR		D		146		Teledyne ISCO, Inc., Invoice No. 915987		$   6,233.82

								MAR		D		146		Teledyne ISCO, Inc., Invoice No. 916900		$   317.56

								FEB		Disb		200		Teledyne ISCO, Invoice No. 949705		$   9,849.12



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   27,802.41

														2011

														Invoice No. 977231		$   13,692.28









														Total 2011 Year Five		$   13,692.28



														Program to Date Total:		$   51,151.34































TILLOTSON



						Tillotson Enterprises                                                                                                                                             715 Huron Drive                                                                                                                                            Kearney, NE 68847                                                                                                                                           800-643-5731

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								SEP		D		174		Tillotson Enterprises, Contract 17		$   1,417.00

								OCT		D		178		Tillotson Enterprises, Inc., Invoice #1334		$   2,834.00

						11/12/10		NOV		Disb				Non Donor-- Tillotson		$   (1,417.00)



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   2,834.00



														2012								LP-4

														1595		$   2,166.00						$   2,166.00









																$   2,166.00						$   2,166.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,000.00































TOMS



						Tom's Electric                                                                                                                                                   PO Box 413                                                                                                                                                          Elm Creek, NE 68836                                                                                                                                        308-856-4492

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2009

								OCT		D		121		Tom's Electric, Invoice No. 2005		$   9,705.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   9,705.00

														2010

								May		D		156		Tom's Electric, Invoice No. 2034		$   4,020.00

						01/14/12								Correction Invoice # 2034		$   0.20

														Total 2010 Year Four		$   4,020.20

														Program to Date Total:		$   13,725.20































TOWN



						Town and Country Realty of Kearney, Inc. 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

								DEC		D		134		Town and Country Realty of Kearney, Inc. as Escrow Agent		$   60,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   60,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   60,000.00































TOWN-N-COUNTRY



						Town-N-Country Electric, Inc.                                                                                                                           PO Box 67                                                                                                                                                        Mason City, NE 68855                                                                                                                                      308-732-3361

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		179		Town-N-Country Electric, Inc., Invoice #09-258		$   2,500.00

								JAN		Disb		192		Town-N-Country Electric, Inc., Invoice # 09-277		$   1,307.00













														Total 2010 Year Four		$   3,807.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,807.00































TRACYCOOK



						Tracy Cook Construction, LLC                                                                                                                                                                                                    5205 Avenue C Place                                                                                                                                                                                                                 Kearney, NE 68847                                                                                                                                                                                                                            308-234-1125

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																		Accruals





																								LP-4		LP-2

														2011				$   2,729.00						$   2,729.00

														Invoice #50				$   5,913.30						$   5,913.30

														Invoice #52				$   16,591.90						$   16,591.90

														Invoice #60				$   5,128.11								$   5,128.11



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   30,362.31						$   25,234.20		$   5,128.11						$   30,362.31

														2012

														Tracy Cook Construction, LLC		62		$   8,411.25						$   8,411.25













																		$   8,411.25						$   8,411.25

														Program to Date Total:				$   38,773.56































TREEAMIGOS



						Tree Amigos

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2009

						03/24/09		MAR		D		86		Tree Amigos, Invoice # 123				$   6,120.00

										D		116		Tree Amigos, Invoice #137				$   700.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   6,820.00

														2011										LP-4		LP-2

																		$   3,200.00						$   3,200.00



														 Total 2011 Year Five				$   3,200.00						$   3,200.00

														2012

														Tree Amigos		211		$   46,300.00								$   46,300.00

														Tree Amigos		214		$   7,830.00						$   7,830.00

														Tree Amigos		213		$   11,790.00								$   11,790.00







														Total 2012 Year Six				$   65,920.00						$   7,830.00		$   58,090.00

														Program to Date Total:				$   75,940.00















TRENTON



						Trenton D. Snow, LLC                                                                                                                                       1309 Central Avenue                                                                                                                                      Kearney, NE 68848-1772                                                                                                                                   308-234-1764

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009





								OCT		D		123		Tre nton D. Snow, LLC 		$   1,850.00





















														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   1,850.00



														Program to Date Total:		ERROR:#REF!































TRI-COUNTY



						Tri-County Title and Escrow Company                                                                                                          1464 27th Avenue       PO Box 1185                                                                                

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals		Accruals







														2009



						12/30/09		DEC		D		138		Tri-County Title and Escrow Company as Escrow Agent				$   2,045,149.91

						12/30/09		DEC		D		138		Tri-County Title and Escrow Company as Escrow Agent				$   270.50

						12/30/09		DEC		D		138		Tri-County Title and Escrow Company as Escrow Agent				$   2,070.84



														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   2,047,491.25

														2010

								DEC		DISB		187		Tri-County Title and Escrow Company as Escrow Agent				$   305,052.25

														Total 2010 Year Four				$   305,052.25

														2011

														Tract 1001				$   1,599,008.33

														Final Closing Payment Tract 1019				$   400,741.75

														Total 2011 Year Five				$   1,999,750.08

														2012

														Tri County Title and Escrow Company		4/20/12		$   3,419,857.61











														Total 2012 Year Six				$   3,419,857.61





														Program to Date Total:				$   4,352,293.58































TRINITY



						Trinity Steel Supply

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		Trinity Steel Supply, Invoice #27020		$   743.25





														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   743.25



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   743.25







														Trinity Steel Supply, Invoice #27020		$   743.25

														 SubTotal		$   743.25





















TRLCAM



						TRLcam.com LLC                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  4121 Tallesin Drive                                                                                                                                                                                                                                Lincoln, NE 68520                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     402-817-4135

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment ED-2						Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2		LP-4										WP-8

														Invoice Number 204		$   17,314.35						$   17,314.35

														Invoice Number 219		$   90.00						$   90.00

														Invoice number 222		$   5,136.32						$   5,136.32

														Invoice No. 229		$   264.78						$   264.78







														Total 2011 Year Five		$   22,805.45		$   - 0				$   22,805.45				$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   22,805.45



														Contractor Total





TSL



						TSL Terminals, Ltd.                                                                                                                                      9902 S. 14th Street                                                                                                                                         Omaha, NE 68138                                                                                                                                        402-895-6980

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009



										D		116		TSL Terminals, Ltd., Invoice #CL082009-1		$   1,850.00



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   1,850.00

														2011

														Invoice #CL122111-1		$   3,252.00





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   3,252.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,850.00































TYRE



						Dr. Andrew J. Tyre                                                                                                                                                 500 Sycamore Drive                                                                                                                                        Lincoln, NE 68510  

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2009

								OCT		D		123		Dr. Andrew J. Tyre Statement dated July 5, 2009		$   2,320.08



														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   2,320.08

														2010

								APR		D		149		Andrew J. Tyre, Invoice dated March 21, 2010		$   5,690.68

								APR		D		149		Andrew J. Tyre, Invoice dated March 21, 2010		$   1,508.70















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   7,199.38



														Program to Date Total:		$   9,519.46































UNKEARNEY



						University of Nebraska at Kearney                                                                                                                                                                                                       2507 9th Avenue                                                                                                                                                                                                                             Kearney,  NE 68849                                                                                                                                                                                                                            308-865-8524

						Invoice Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance		Task Codes

																		Accruals						IMRP-2







														2011

														Statement dated 7/25/2011				$   3,663.78						$   3,663.78

														Statement dated October 21,2011				$   7,344.28						$   7,344.28



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   11,008.06						$   11,008.06



														2012

														University of Nebraska Kearney		4/19/12		$   2,499.11		$   2,499.11				$   2,499.11















														Total 2012 Year Six				$   2,499.11						$   2,499.11



														Program to Date Total:				$   13,507.17		$   11,008.06

































UNLINCOLN



						University of Nebraska Lincoln

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		IMRP-3		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

						09/12/08		SEP		Disb		56		University of Nebraska - Lincoln, Inv 2262380037-001		$   7,837.50



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   7,837.50

														2009

														 Total 2009 Year Three

														2010

								DEC		DISB		188		University of Nebraska, Lincoln, Reference Number 26-6238-0508-001		$   6,183.76

								FEB		Disb		197		University of Nebraska - Lincoln, Invoice 2662380508		$   7,145.47



														Total Year Four		$   13,329.23

														2011

																$   4,856.37		$   4,856.37

																$   6,612.11		$   6,612.11



														Total 2011 Year Five		$   11,468.48		$   11,468.48

														Program to Date Total:		$   21,166.73









UNIVGA



						University of Georgia

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		University of Georgia, Invoice Number 972009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































UNIVMO



						University of Missouri

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														2009



										D		106		University of Missouri, Invoice No. C00026307-1		$   193.65

								OCT		D		121		University of Missouri, Invoice No. C00026307		$   1,270.63

														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   1,464.28



								APR		D		149		University of Missouri, Invoice No.: C00024409-1		$   19,000.00

								APR		D		149		University of Missouri, Invoice No.: C00026307-3		$   844.92



														 Total 2010 Year Four		$   19,844.92

														2011

														Invoice No:C00024409-FY-11-1		$   24,700.00

														Invoice No:C00026307-4		$   774.13





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   25,474.13



														Program to Date Total:		$   46,783.33































UPINSMOKE



						UP IN SMOKE CUSTOM BURNING INC                                                                                                            212 NE 40th Avenue                                                                                                                                        Stafford, KS 67578-9719                                                                                                                                    620-546-6304

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								June		D		161		Up In Smoke Custom Burning, Inc.,Statement dated 5/19/2010		$   4,770.00















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   4,770.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   4,770.00































USDAARS



						USDA Agricultural Research Service                                                                                                        ARS Operations                                                                                                                                                  13800 Old Gentilly Road                                                                                                                                   2nd Floor Post R-46                                                                                                                                          New Orleans, LA 70129                                                                                                                                      504-426-5358

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010



								NOV		Disb		182		USDA, Agricultural Research Service, Invoice Number Z86408221		$   38,712.82



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   38,712.82

														2011

														Billing date 02/23/2011		$   125,176.37











														Total 2011 Year Five		$   125,176.37



														Program to Date Total:		$   163,889.19































USFWS



						Master Blank Account 

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008

						04/25/08		April		Disb		44		US Fish and Wildlife Service		$   50,000.00		$   50,000.00

												53		US Fish and Wildlife Service, Bill 60180-8D755		$   75,000.00		$   75,000.00









														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   125,000.00



														2009								ED-2

										REF				FWS Refund		$   (75,000.00)

										D		133		US Fish and Wildlife Service, Statement dated 11/30/2009								$   5,000.00





														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   (75,000.00)						$   5,000.00

														2010		$   (70,000.00)

								OCT		REF				Refund from US Fish & Wildlife Service		$   (28,473.03)



														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   (28,473.03)

														Program to Date Total:		$   21,526.97













USGS



						US Geological Survey

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2007 

														Total 2007 Year One				$   - 0

																Referrence				WP-3		H-1		H-2		PD-3		PD-18		TP-1		TP-4		WP-6		ISAC-1&2				Line Total

														2008

						12/19/08		DEC		Disb		68		Department of the Interior, Geological Services, Bill No. 9-4556-00010				$   20,000.00		$   20,000.00

						11/07/08		NOV		Disb		64		United State Geological Survey Bill No. 8-8626-09083				$   7,035.00				$   7,035.00

														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   27,035.00		$   20,000.00		$   7,035.00



								JUL		D		109		US Geological Survey, Bill No. 9-8330-00003				$   41,131.62														$   41,131.62

										D		110		Department of the Interior, Geological Survey, Bill No. 9-8335-96NCF				$   8,600.00																		$   8,600.00

										D		116		US Dep't of the Interior, Geologic Survey, Bill No. 9-2282-0020				$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

										D		119		US Dep't of the Interior, Geologic Survey, Bill No. 9-8330-0004				$   56,346.87														$   56,346.87

										D		120		United States Geological Survey, Fort Collins, CO September 2009				$   3,000.00								$   3,000.00

										D		126		USDI, Geologic Survey, Bill No. 9-8626-09090				$   20,755.00				$   20,755.00

								JAN		D		137		US Department of Interior, Geological Survey, Bill No: 0-8330-0002				$   2,877.47														$   2,877.47

														 Total 2009 Year Three				$   135,710.96				$   20,755.00				6000						$   100,355.96		$   - 0		$   8,600.00				$   114,955.96

														2010

								FEB		D		144		U.S. Geological Survey, Request No. 0-8335-DPR002				$   21,732.00																		$   21,732.00

								APR		D		149		US Department of Interior, Geological Survey, Bill No.:0-8330-M0003				$   2,218.19														$   2,218.19

								June		D		161		USDI, Geologic Survey, Request No: 0-8335-DPR053				$   6,375.00										$   6,375.00				.

								JUL		D		165		US Department of the Interior, Geologic Survey, Bill No. 0-8330-M0004				$   55,489.02														$   55,489.02

								JUL		D		167		US Department of the Interior, Geologic Survey, Bill No. 0-8335-168006				$   221.64										$   221.64

								OCT		D		178		US Department of the Interior, Geological Survey, Request No.0-8626-DPR112				$   16,429.00				$   16,429.00

								OCT		D		178		US Department of the Interior, Geological Survey, Bill No.0-8330-M0005DPR112				$   81,938.71														$   81,938.71

						10/04/10		OCT		REF				PD-18 Equipment Refund (USGS)				$   (221.64)										$   (221.64)

														Total 2010 Year Four				$   184,181.92				$   16,429.00				$   - 0		$   6,375.00				$   139,645.92		$   - 0		$   21,732.00				$   184,181.92

														2011

														Bill #90039290				$   78,116.78												$   78,116.78										$   78,116.78

														Bill #90046779				$   17,049.00						$   17,049.00																$   17,049.00

														Bill #90046780				$   5,000.00								$   5,000.00														$   5,000.00

														Bill # 90055297				$   7,897.10																		$   7,897.10				$   7,897.10

														Invoice No. 90069976				$   66,466.24												$   66,466.24										$   66,466.24

														Invoice No. 90070361				$   20,402.90																		$   20,402.90

														Total 2011 Year Five				$   194,932.02						$   17,049.00		$   5,000.00				$   144,583.02						$   28,300.00				$   194,932.02

														2012

														US Geological Survey		90086915		$   20,359.20												$   20,359.20

														US Geological Survey		90091080		$   28,300.00												$   28,300.00













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   48,659.20												$   48,659.20





														Program to Date Total:				$   590,519.10

































VINTAGE



						Vintage Title and Escrow Company                                                                                                              3710 Central Avenue PO Box 2596                                                                                                           Kearney, NE 68848-2596                                                                                                                                  308-234-1998

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2010

								NOV		Disb		186		Vintage Title and Escrow Company, Invoice File No. VS05095		$   250.00

								NOV		Disb		186		Vintage Title and Escrow Company, Invoice File No. VS05096		$   250.00

								NOV		Disb		186		Vintage Ttile and Escrow Company, Invoice File No. VS05104		$   250.00











														Total 2010 Year Four		$   750.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   750.00































WARD



						WARD Laboratories, Inc.                                                                                                                                                                      4007 Cherry Avenue, PO Box 788                                                                                                                                                      Kearney, Nebraska 68848-0788                                                                                                                                                             308-234-2418

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals



														2010

								May		D		156		Ward Laboratories, Inc., Invoice No.: 1066560		$   195.00

								May		D		156		Ward Laboratories, Inc., Invoice No.: 1066698		$   48.25

								May		D		156		Ward Laboratories, Inc., Invoice No.: 1067265		$   28.95

























														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   272.20



														Program to Date Total:		$   272.20































WEBBER



						Larry J. Webber                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        3837 Meadowview Lane SW                                                                                                                                                                                                                  Iowa City, IA 52240

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment ED-2				Payment LP-5				Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2				PD-3								WP-8

														Statement dated 13 October 2011		$   5,000.00								$   5,000.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   5,000.00		$   - 0						$   5,000.00		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,000.00



														Contractor Total





WEST



						Western Eco Systems Tecjnology, Inc.  

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																		Accruals





														2007 										ED2		AMPI

										Disb		2		West Invoice 24919				$   18,693.70						$   18,693.70

										Disb		4		West Invoice 24959				$   23,882.93						$   23,882.93

										Disb		6		West, Inc 25042				$   22,705.07						$   22,705.07

										Disb		7		West Invoice 25160				$   26,886.69						$   26,886.69

										Disb		12		West, Inc, 25279				$   32,730.01						$   32,730.01

										Disb		15		West, Inc 25313				$   19,034.72						$   19,034.72

										Disb		19		West, Inc. 25404				$   21,112.46						$   21,112.46

										Disb		24		West, Inc. 				$   15,861.72						$   15,861.72

										Disb		26		West, Inc 25590				$   15,548.26						$   15,548.26

										Disb		30		West				$   13,837.22						$   13,837.22

										Disb		39		West, Inc Inv 25795				$   18,545.42						$   210,292.78		$   18,545.42		$   228,838.20

														Total 2007 Year One				$   228,838.20

																												TP-5		WC-1		WC-2

						April				Disb		42		West, Inc. Invoice No. 26015				$   8,863.50						$   2,954.50		$   5,909.00						$   5,909.00

						05/09/08		May		Disb		45		WEST, Inc. Invoice 26118				$   5,209.84						$   5,209.84

						06/13/08		June		Disb		47		West, Inc. Invoice 25979				$   9,870.14						$   9,870.14

						06/13/08		June		Disb		47		West. Inc, Invoice 25979				$   9,110.97						$   9,110.97

						July				Disb		52		West, Inc., Invoice No. 26521				$   13,148.75						$   13,148.75

								July		Disb		52		West, Inc., Invoice No. 26520				$   1,830.00								$   1,830.00		$   1,830.00

										Disb		55		West, Inc, Invoice # 26596				$   2,937.50						$   2,937.50

										Disb		55		West, Inc. Invoice # 26539				$   10,247.50								$   10,247.50		$   10,247.50

						10/24/08		Oct		Disb		62		West, Inc. Invoice # 26738				$   2,941.77						$   2,941.77

						10/24/08		Oct		Disb		62		West, Inc. Invoice # 26927				$   7,292.50						$   6,747.02		$   545.48						$   545.48

						10/24/08		Oct		Disb		62		West, Inc. Invoice # 26714				$   6,887.50								$   6,887.50		$   6,887.50

						11/21/08		NOV		Disb		65		West, Inc, Invoice Number 27144				$   1,054.45						$   1,054.45

						01/02/09		JAN		Disb		71		West, Inc., Invoice Number 27230				$   4,945.72								$   4,945.72		$   4,945.72

						01/23/09		JAN		Disb		73		West, Inc., Invoice Number 27376				$   5,345.00								$   5,345.00		$   5,345.00

						01/23/09		JAN		Disb		73		West, Inc., Invoice Number 27533				$   3,570.00								$   3,570.00		$   3,570.00

						02/27/09		FEB		Disb		77		WEST, Inc Invoice Number 27676				$   4,812.50								$   4,812.50		$   4,812.50

																								$   53,974.94		$   44,092.70		$   37,638.22

														Total 2008 Year Two 				$   98,067.64

														2011

														Invoice No. 34593				$   3,806.23												$   3,806.23

														Invoice No. 34936				$   9,618.74												$   9,618.74

														Invoice No. 35158				$   64,266.86												$   64,266.86

														Invoice No. 35570				$   3,249.17												$   3,249.17



														Total 2011 Year Five				$   80,941.00												$   80,941.00

														2012

														West, Inc		35611		$   21,515.19												$   21,515.19

														West, Inc		35822		$   3,801.11												$   3,801.11

														West, Inc		36190		$   28,795.26												$   28,795.26





														Total 2012 Year Six				$   54,111.56												$   54,111.56



														Program to Date Total:				$   461,958.40































WESTCENTRAL



						West Central Weed Management Area                                                                                                     Post Office Box 1347                                                                                                                                                       North Platte, NE 69103                                                                                                                                     308-535-8080

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		117		West Central Weed Management Area, Invoice #WC09-01		$   80,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   80,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   80,000.00































WHILES



						Dr. Mattlhew R. Whiles                                                                                                                                 Southern Illinois University                                                                                                                         Carbondale, IL 62901-6501  618-453-7639

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008



														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

										D		120		Matthew R. Whiles, September 2009		$   3,000.00

























														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   3,000.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,000.00































WILBUR



						WILBUR-ELLIS                                                                                                                                                11544 West Rosedale Road                                                                                                                       Prosser, NE 68883-1752                                                                                                                                 402-744-2050

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								JUL		D		165		Wilbur-Ellis, Invoice # 1, Work Orders #22 and #23		$   1,393.33















														Total 2010 Year Four		$   1,393.33



														Program to Date Total:		$   1,393.33































WILCOX



						Andrew Wilcox







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment PD-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Invoice No. 1/16/12		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,000.00								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total										ERROR:#REF!





WILSON



						Wilson, Lee and Associates, Inc.

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment PD-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Statement 715-1		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00













														Total 2011 Year Five		$   5,000.00		$   5,000.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   5,000.00



														Contractor Total





WOODBUFF



						Wood Buffalo Helicopters

						Box 3, Comp. 11, RR 1

						Fort McMurray, Alberta T9H5B4

						780-743-5588

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description				Payment WC-3				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																								Accruals

																Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Invoice WBH2183		$   27,890.00		$   27,890.00

														Invoice WBH2182a		$   14,109.99		$   14,109.99











														Total 2011 Year Five		$   41,999.99		$   41,999.99						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   41,999.99								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total										ERROR:#REF!







WOODMAN



						Woodman Drilling and Irrigation, Inc

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Task ID		Balance

																Accruals







														2010				LP-4

								MAR		D		148		Woodman Drilling and Irrigation, Inc., Statement dated March 3, 2010		$   209.71



														 Total 2009 Year Four		$   209.71

														2011

														Statement dated Sept 15, 2011		$   4,817.08		$   4,817.08

														Statement dated Oct 15,2011		$   987.60		$   987.60





														Total 2011 Year Five		$   5,804.68		$   5,804.68



														Program to Date Total:		$   6,014.39































WOODS



						Woods & Aitken                                                                                                                                                 301 South 13th Street, Suite 500                                                                                                                  Lincoln, Nebraska 68508                                                                                                                                  402-437-8500

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals







														2010

								OCT		D		178		Woods & Aitken, LLP, Invoice # 208446		$   2,024.00

								NOV		Disb		186		Woods & Aitken, LLP, Invoice # 209062		$   1,502.00

								JAN		Disb		192		Woods & Aitken, LLP, Statement dated December 8, 2010		$   41.00



														Total 2010 Year Four		$   3,567.00

														2011

														Invoice 216281		$   168.00







														Total 2011 Year Five		$   168.00



														Program to Date Total:		$   3,567.00































WYOMING



						Wyoming Property Management

						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Payment		Award/ Credit		Balance

																Accruals





														2007 





														Total 2007 Year One		$   - 0



														2008













														Total 2008 Year Two 		$   - 0



														2009

































														 Total 2009 Year Three		$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:		$   - 0









														Wyoming Property Management		$   3,915.51

														 SubTotal		$   3,915.51



















WWMC



						Wyoming Water Development Commission







						Payment Date		NCF Report Month		Type		REQ #		Description		Reference				Payment WP-7				Payment LP-5		Payment WP-6		Award/ Credit		Balance

																										Accruals

																		Payment				Payment LP-2										WP-8

														Wyoming Water Development Commission		3/15/12		$   1,958,400.00		$   1,958,400.00













														Total 2012 Year Six				$   1,958,400.00		$   1,958,400.00						$   - 0



														Program to Date Total:				ERROR:#REF!								ERROR:#REF!



														Contractor Total												ERROR:#REF!





DESCRIPTION

		AMP Experimental Design

		AMP Implementation Activities

		AMP Independent Science Review

		Executive Director's Office (ED)

		Governance Committee/Finance Committee (GFC)

		Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities

		Land Plan Implementation (LP)

		Program Advisory Committees

		Water Plan Implementation (WP)





TASKID

		Executive Director's Office (ED)

		ED-1

		ED-2

		ED-3

		Governance Committee/Finance Committee (GFC)

		GFC-1

		GFC-2

		GFC-3

		GFC-4

		Program Advisory Committees

		LAC-1

		WAC-1

		TAC-1

		Land Plan Implementation (LP)

		LP-2(a)

		LP-2(b)

		LP-3

		LP-4

		LP-5

		LP-6

		LP-7

		Water Plan Implementation (WP)

		WP-1(a)

		WP-1(b)

		WP-2(a)

		WP-2(b)

		WP-3

		WP-4

		WP-5

		WP-6

		WP-7

		WP-8

		WP-9

		AMP Experimental Design

		PD-4

		PD-12

		PD-13

		PD-14

		PD-19

		PD-20

		AMP Implementation Activities

		LP-2

		PD-7

		PD-15

		PD-16

		PD-18

		WP-10

		Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities

		G-1

		G-2

		G-3

		G-4

		G-5

		H-2

		H-4,5

		IMRP-1

		IMRP-2

		IMRP-3

		IMRP-4

		IMRP-5

		IMRP-6

		PD-8

		PS-1

		PS-2

		TP-1

		TP-2

		TP-3

		TP-4

		TP-5

		WC-1

		WC-2

		WC-3

		WC-4

		WC-5

		WMV-1

		WMV-2

		WQ-1

		AMP Independent Science Review

		ISAC-1

		ISAC-2

		ISAC-3

		PD-3

		PD-11









































































CONTRACTORSSOURCES

		Ace Irrigation and Mfg. Co.

		Adams and Sullivan

		AECOM USA, Inc

		Ag Systems

		Agri Affiliates, Inc.

		AIM Environmental Consultants

		American Airboat Corporation

		American Fence Company

		American Real Estate

		Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc

		AREA Services

		Argo of Omaha

		Atkins

		Audubon Nebraska

		Auman and Purcell

		Aurora Cooperative

		Ayres and Associates

		Barney Abstract and Title Company

		Bauer Well Drilling, Inc.

		Beckner, Brian F Attorney at Law

		Bell, Tracey

		Benson, Roger

		Big Rack Schack

		Bill's Trailer Sales

		Bleed, Ann and Associates

		Blessing Construction

		Blythe, Kerry L. 

		Bomberger Brown, Mary

		Boyle Engineering

		Broadfoot Sand & Gravel

		Broadfoot, Terry L

		Buffalo County Treasurer

		Buffalo Surveying Corporation

		Bureau of Reclamation

		Cargill, Incorporated

		Carlson Bros.

		Carlson, Jeff and Bertina

		Carnevale Environmental Consulting, LLC

		Casper Star Tribune

		CDR Associates

		Central Nebraska Bobcat

		Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District

		Central Platte NRD

		Chandler Well Service

		Cline, Williams, Wright, Johnson, and Oldfather, LLP

		CMC 

		ComforTech Service

		Compass Tools

		Cook Construction

		Cook, Ed and Betty

		Cornerstone Mapping

		Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.

		Crane Meadows Nature Center

		Cunningham Trust Account

		Curators of University of Missouri

		Custom Masonry and Carpentry

		Dawson County Treasurer

		Dawson County Weed Control

		Dawson Public Power District

		Denver Newspaper Agency

		Dewberry & Davis LLC

		Dixon, Phillip M.

		Double M Farms, Inc.

		Ducks Unlimited

		Dunbar Insurance Agency

		EA Engineering, Science, and Technology, Inc

		Ecosystems Advisors

		EdBroadfoot and Sons Sand and Gravel

		Electrical Services

		Environment Direct

		ESSA Technologies

		Everglades National Park

		Fedex

		Fisheries and Environmental Services Partnership

		Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc

		Flatwater Group, The

		Fluvial Consulting 

		Frahm Construction Inc.

		Full Circle Irrigation, LLC

		Galat, David

		Ganz Title and Escrow Company

		Geotechnical Services, Inc., 

		Golder Associates

		Graczyk Lawn & Landscape

		Grand Island Abstract, Escrow & Title Co.

		Great American Insurance Group

		Great Plains Appraisal

		Gross Seed Co. Inc.

		H.O. Smith Company

		H2 Options Engineering, LLC

		Habitat Services

		Hahn Water Resources, LLC

		Hall County Treasurer

		Hall, Robert O. Jr.

		Harders Dozer and Scraper Work

		HDR Engineering

		Headwaters Corporation

		Honey Creek Resources, Inc.

		Hood, Roger L. Construction

		Hooker Brothers Construction Company

		Huggins, Donald G.

		In-Situ Inc. 

		Inter-fluve, Inc.

		Investment Property Exchange

		Jack Lederman Company

		Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson Law Firm

		Janet K Fox Revocable Trust

		Janssen Motor Company

		Jim Ostgren Const. Co., Inc.

		Julien, Pierre Y.

		Kappenman, Kevin M. (USFWS

		Kearney Area Chamber of Commerce

		Kearney Aviation Center

		Kehl Tree Service

		Klein Demolition

		Klingelhoefer Well Drilling 

		Kucera International, Inc.

		Kugler Company

		Land Interest Holding Trust

		Land Services, LLC

		Leinninger, Smith, Johnson,Baack, Placzek & Allen

		Lightbody, Anne

		LIHT 

		Lincoln Children's Museum

		Lytle Water Solutions, LLC

		M. Kent Loftin

		Mark Meier

		Marmorek, David R.

		McBain & Trush, Inc.

		Mehl, Katherine R., Dr.

		Michael Forsberg Photography

		Mid-Continent Appraisals

		Mike Nelson Land Development, Inc.

		Milco Invironmental Services, Inc.

		Millspaugh, Joshua J.

		Natural Resources Conservation Service

		NAU Country Insurance Company

		Nebraska Community Foundation

		Nebraska Game and Parks

		Nebraska Nature and Visitor Center

		Nebraska Public Power District

		Nestler, John M

		NET Foundation for Television 

		North Line GIS, LLC

		North Star Science and Technilogy, LLC,

		Nuttelman Fencing, Inc.

		Olsson and Associates

		Omaha World Herald

		O'Neill Wood Resources, LLC

		O'Neill Transportation & Equipment, LLC, Invoice No. 1221

		Overton Sand & Gravel

		PAC's Painting and Handyman Services

		Parker, Grossart, Bahensky, and Beucke, LLC

		PBS&J

		Peltz, Christopher D.

		Peters, Edward J

		Peterson Drilling

		Peterson, Rocky and DeAnne

		Phelps County Title Company

		Phelps County Treasurer

		Pitlick, John, Dr. 

		Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation

		Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust

		Platte Valley Weed Management Area

		Plautz Farms

		Powell, Larkin A.

		Practical Stats

		Prairie Legacy

		Prairie Loft

		Prairie Plains Resource Institute

		Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd.

		Program Lessees

		Pruss Excavation Company

		Purcell Consulting

		Rachow, Larry

		Rainwater Joint Venture

		Reichert, Jerry

		Renken Construction 

		Rickly Hydrologic Company

		Riverside Technology, Inc.

		Rk Electric

		Root, Tim

		Rowe Sanctuary

		Rural Community Insurance Services

		Schemmer Associates, Inc.

		Shepardson, Van

		Shields, F. Douglas, Jr., Dr.

		Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc

		Sky Helicopters, Inc

		Smith Law Offices, 

		Software One

		Southern Power District

		Sower Agribusiness, LLC

		Stadler Implement

		State of Colorado

		State of Wyoming

		StatMathComp Consulting by Schwarz, Inc

		Stella, John C.

		SynInt, Inc.

		T.D.'s Portable Welding

		Tagge Engineering

		Tausan Weed Control

		Tausan, Seth

		TELEDYNE ISCO, INC

		Tessara Water, LLC

		Tetra Tech, Division

		Tillotson Enterprises

		Tom's Electric

		Town and Country Realty of Kearney

		Town-N-Country Electric, Inc.

		Tracy Cook Construction, LLC

		Tree Amigos

		Trenton D. Snow, LLC

		Tri County Title and Escrow Company

		Trinity Steel Supply

		TRLcam.com

		TSL Terminals, Ltd.

		Tyre, Dr. Andrew J.

		University of Georgia

		University of Missouri 

		University of Nebraska Kearney

		University of Nebraska Lincoln

		Up in Smoke Custom Burning, Inc. 

		US Fish and Wildlife Service

		US Geological Survey

		USDA Agricultural Research Service

		Vintage Title and Escrow Company 

		WARD Laboratories

		Webber, Larry J.

		West Central Weed Management Area

		West, Inc

		Whiles, Matthew, Dr.

		Wilbur-Ellis

		Wilcox, Andrew

		Wilson, Lee and Associates, Inc.

		Wood Buffalo Helicopters

		Woodman Drilling and Irrigation, Inc.

		Woods & Aitken

		Wyoming Water Development Commission









Sheet31





Sheet1

				colorado												Interior												Wyoming

				cont		Income		PAY		Fee		Balance		Bank Balance		cont		Income		PAY		Fee		Balance		Bank Balance		cont		Income		PAY		Fee		Balance				Shared Balance

		7-May				$   - 0		$   17,417.27		$   435.43		$   (17,852.70)		$   (17,852.70)		$   344,801.81		$   430.61		$   114,081.84		$   2,852.05		$   228,298.53		$   228,298.53		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   4,361.11		$   109.03		$   (4,470.14)		$   (4,470.14)		$   205,975.69

		J				$   (85.72)		$   10,896.85		$   272.42		$   (11,254.99)		$   (29,107.69)				$   700.43		$   71,373.56		$   1,784.34		$   (72,457.47)		$   155,841.06				$   (21.46)		$   2,728.47		$   68.21		$   (2,818.14)		$   (7,288.28)

		jul				$   (110.01)		$   7,144.39		$   178.61		$   (7,433.01)		$   (36,540.70)				$   588.99		$   46,795.20		$   1,169.88		$   (47,376.09)		$   108,464.97				$   (27.55)		$   1,788.89		$   44.72		$   (1,861.16)		$   (9,149.44)

		A 				$   (138.10)		$   4,657.67		$   116.44		$   (4,912.21)		$   (41,452.91)				$   409.94		$   30,507.43		$   762.69		$   (30,860.18)		$   77,604.79				$   (34.58)		$   1,166.24		$   29.16		$   (1,229.98)		$   (10,379.42)

		Sep				$   (147.78)						$   (147.78)		$   (41,600.69)				$   276.67						$   276.67		$   77,881.46				$   (37.00)						$   (37.00)		$   (10,416.42)

		Oct		$   394,791.90		$   (141.33)		$   21,311.26		$   532.78		$   372,806.53		$   331,205.84		$   1,118,051.00		$   264.58		$   139,587.08		$   3,489.68		$   975,238.82		$   1,053,120.28		$   98,851.95		$   (35.39)		$   5,336.12		$   133.40		$   93,347.04		$   82,930.62

		Nov 				$   1,058.27		$   23,319.89		$   583.00		$   (22,844.62)		$   308,361.22				$   3,364.94		$   152,743.51		$   3,818.59		$   (153,197.16)		$   899,923.12				$   264.98		$   5,839.08		$   145.98		$   (5,720.08)		$   77,210.54

		Dec				$   995.20		$   28,714.65		$   720.54		$   (28,439.99)		$   279,921.23				$   2,904.41		$   188,078.82		$   4,720.12		$   (189,894.53)		$   710,028.59				$   249.19		$   7,189.88		$   180.44		$   (7,121.13)		$   70,089.41

												$   - 0		$   279,921.23										$   - 0		$   710,028.59										$   - 0		$   70,089.41

		1-Jan				$   770.55		$   4,534.17		$   113.35		$   (3,876.97)		$   276,044.26				$   1,954.52		$   29,698.46		$   742.46		$   (28,486.40)		$   681,542.19				$   192.94		$   1,135.31		$   28.38		$   (970.75)		$   69,118.66

												$   - 0		$   276,044.26										$   - 0		$   681,542.19										$   - 0		$   69,118.66

		Feb		$   7,951.50		$   448.38		$   11,729.29		$   293.23		$   (3,622.64)		$   272,421.62		$   29,667.81		$   1,107.04		$   76,825.86		$   1,920.65		$   (47,971.66)		$   633,570.53				$   112.27		$   2,936.89		$   73.42		$   (2,898.04)		$   66,220.62

		Mar				$   458.59		$   25,255.74		$   631.39		$   (25,428.54)		$   246,993.08				$   1,066.55		$   133,983.50		$   3,349.59		$   (136,266.54)		$   497,303.99				$   111.48		$   6,321.92		$   158.05		$   (6,368.49)		$   59,852.13

		Apr 				$   384.66		$   30,892.03		$   695.07		$   (31,202.44)		$   215,790.64				$   774.49		$   202,340.43		$   4,618.08		$   (206,184.02)		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

		May 										$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

												$   - 0		$   215,790.64										$   - 0		$   291,119.97										$   - 0		$   59,852.13

				$   402,743.40		$   3,492.71		$   185,873.21		$   4,572.26		$   215,790.64		$   431,581.28		$   1,492,520.62		$   13,843.17		$   1,186,015.69		$   29,228.13		$   291,119.97		$   582,239.94		$   98,851.95		$   774.88		$   38,803.91		$   970.79		$   59,852.13		$   (21,244.13)		$   1,166.70







Adv Summary

						Advance of Funds Summary 



										Request Headings:

										ED OFFICE		GOVERNANCE  /FINANCE COMMITTEE		Program Advisory Committees		LAND PLAN Implementation		Water Plan Implementation		AMP Experimental  Design		AMP Implemantation		Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities		AMP Independent Science Review

																												Total				Shares by Entity

				Period Covered		Adv #		Date																								Interior    Request		Interior Received		Colorado Request		Colorado Received		Wyoming Request		Wyoming Received		Total Request		Total Received

				1/21-4/30 2007		1		5/3/07		192,500		45,000		4,375				28,750		67,500		52,500				20,000		410,625				344,801.81		344,801.81		52,642.13				13,181.06				410,625.00		344,801.81

				5/1-12/31 2007		2		10/_/2007		262,500		120,000		11,250		56,250		300,500				775,372				20,000		1,545,872				1,118,051.00		1,118,051.00		342,149.77		394,791.90		85,670.89		98,851.95		1,545,871.66		1,611,694.85

																																		29,667.81				791.50						- 0		30,459.31

				1/1-6/30 2008		3		4/7/08		1,445,000		54,529				300,000		200,000		250,000		800,000						3,049,529				2,743,312.55		2,743,312.55		243,299.06		7,700,000.00		62,917.39		62,917.39		3,049,529.00		10,506,229.94

				9/1-9/30/2008		4		9/1/08								4,700,000												4,700,000				3,946,590.00		3,946,590.00		602,540.00				150,870.00		150,870.00		4,700,000.00		4,097,460.00

				Refund to Reclamation																														11.50										- 0		11.50

				11/1/2008-1/31/2009		5		11/5/08		630,000		200,000		4,200		2,469,000		333,696										3,636,896				3,054,660.66		3,055,168.48		465,442.88		465,442.88		116,792.64		116,792.64		3,636,896.18		3,637,404.00

				Add'l Colorado																																		7,700,000.00









				Total Requested to Date						2,530,000		419,529		19,825		7,525,250		862,946		317,500		1,627,872				40,000		13,342,922				11,207,416.02		11,237,603.15		1,706,073.84		8,561,026.28		429,431.98		429,431.98		13,342,921.84		20,228,061.41

				Over/Under Contribution																														30,187.13				6,854,952.44				- 0				6,885,139.57





				Expended to Date:		Expended				8,087,362		1,163,321		10,335		20,541,675		446,330		1,417,987		1,991,804		6,225,048				39,883,862



























SepDiscrepancy

						Table of apparent discrepancy September 2008 Fees

								Fees as Percentage of Disbursements				$ Fees		Share of Fees		Corrected %		Corrected $

						CO		2.2500%				$   3,687.40		12.09%		12.82%		$   3,911.28



						DOI		2.4127%				$   25,898.50		84.89%		83.97%		$   25,618.57





						WY		2.2500%				$   923.29		3.03%		3.21%		$   979.34



						All		2.3866%				$   30,509.19		100.00%		100.00%		$   30,509.19

















Contracts Subject



				PLATTE RIVER IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM                                                                                                                                                      CONTRACTOR / PAYEE SUMMARY 

				Platte River Recovery Implementation Program                                                                                                                                                                                                                    Contractor/Payee Transaction Totals Listed by Subject                                                                                                                                               





				CONTRACTOR/PAYEE		Total 2007 Year One		TOTAL 2008 YEAR TWO		TOTAL 2009 YEAR THREE		TOTAL 2010 YEAR FOUR		TOTAL 2011 YEAR FIVE		TOTAL PROGRAM TO DATE





				ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT

				Work Plan Development:

				Auman and Purcell		$   5,149.51										$   5,149.51

				Everglades National Park		$   1,136.87		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   1,136.87

				Flatwater Group, The						$   89,208.79		$   370,791.21				$   460,000.00

				Inter-fluve, Inc								$   81,677.06				$   81,677.06

				Lytle Water Solutions, LLC		0		$   5,226.93		$   - 0						$   5,226.93

				McBain & Trush, Inc.		$   20,333.32		$   24,495.12		$   7,049.91						$   51,878.35

				Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust		$   10,334.40		$   5,196.36		$   145,000.00		$   125,000.00				$   285,530.76

				T.D.'s Portable Welding								$   339.31				$   339.31

				University of Nebraska Lincoln		$   - 0		$   7,837.50		$   - 0						$   7,837.50

				West. Inc.		$   18,545.42		$   44,092.70								$   62,638.12

																$   - 0

				Capitalized Equipment:												$   - 0

				American Airboat Corporation						$   53,440.00						$   53,440.00

				Argo of Omaha						$   24,987.00		$   143.00				$   25,130.00

				Bill's Trailer Sales						$   2,235.00						$   2,235.00

				Compass Tools		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   12,140.00		$   26,160.59				$   38,300.59

				Janssen Motor Company		0		0		$   26,884.00						$   26,884.00

																$   - 0

				IMRP:												$   - 0

				Anderson Consulting Engineers, Inc		$   - 0		$   10,586.50		$   63,768.45		$   92,390.67				$   166,745.62

				Blessing Construction								$   3,987.90				$   3,987.90

				Bomberger Brown, Mary						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Central Platte NRD		$   10,000.00		$   10,000.00								$   20,000.00

				HDR Engineering		$   - 0		$   56,458.42		$   168,195.10		$   276,162.87				$   500,816.39

				Michael Forsberg Photography								$   840.00				$   840.00

				Milspaugh, Joshua J						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Natural Resources Conservation Service		$   - 0		$   250,000.00								$   250,000.00

				North Line GIS, LLC								$   3,360.00				$   3,360.00

				Peters, Edward J		0		$   30,979.25		$   - 0						$   30,979.25

				Powell, Larkin A						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Rickly Hydrologic Company				$   2,875.24								$   2,875.24

				Riverside Technology, Inc.						$   156,719.25		$   470,150.67				$   626,869.92

				Software One						$   11,651.42						$   11,651.42

				StatMathComp Consulting by Schwarz, Inc								$   3,040.00				$   3,040.00

				TELEDYNE ISCO, INC		$   - 0		$   9,656.65		$   - 0		$   27,802.41				$   37,459.06

				Trinity Steel Supply		$   - 0		$   743.25		$   - 0						$   743.25

				Tyre, Dr. Andrew J.						$   2,320.08		$   7,199.38				$   9,519.46

				University of Nebraska Lincoln								$   13,329.23				$   13,329.23

				USDA Agricultural Research Service								$   38,712.82				$   38,712.82

				US Fish and Wildlife Service		0		$   125,000.00		$   (75,000.00)		$   (28,473.03)				$   21,526.97

				US Geological Survey		0		$   27,035.00		$   135,710.96		$   184,181.92				$   346,927.88

																$   - 0

				ISAC:												$   - 0

				Curators of University of Missouri		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   - 0

				Dixon, Phillip M.		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   10,220.03		$   20,386.58				$   30,606.61

				ESSA Technologies, Ltd.						$   11,770.78		$   35,222.88				$   46,993.66

				Hall, Robert O. Jr.						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Huggins, Donald G.						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Julien, Pierre Y.						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Kappenman, Kevin M. 						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Loftin, M. Kent		0		$   - 0		$   8,000.00		$   19,000.00				$   27,000.00

				Marmorek, David R.		0		$   - 0		$   11,000.00						$   11,000.00

				Mehl, Katherine R., Dr.						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Nebraska Game and Parks						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Nestler, John M.		0		0		$   11,951.26		$   22,390.54				$   34,341.80

				PBS&J						$   66,252.33						$   66,252.33

				Peltz, Christopher D.						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Pitlick, John Dr.						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				Shields, F. Douglas, Jr., Dr.						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				University of Georgia						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

				University of Missouri 						$   1,464.28		$   19,844.92				$   21,309.20

				Whiles, Matthew, Dr.						$   3,000.00						$   3,000.00

																$   - 0

				Water Quality:												$   - 0

				EA Engineering		$   - 0		$   40,000.00		$   175,043.20		$   233,396.51				$   448,439.71

				Subtotal Adaptive Management		$   65,499.52		$   650,182.92		$   1,162,011.84		$   2,047,037.44				$   3,924,731.72

																$   - 0

				PROGRAM MANAGEMENT												$   - 0

				Headwaters Corporation		$   348,673.30		$   1,220,138.33		$   1,535,891.24		$   1,767,071.79				$   4,871,774.66

				Nabraska Nature and Visitor Center								$   20,000.00				$   20,000.00

				West. Inc		$   210,292.78		$   53,974.94								$   264,267.72

				Subtotal Program Management		$   558,966.08		$   1,274,113.27		$   1,535,891.24		$   1,787,071.79				$   5,156,042.38

																$   - 0

				LAND PRE-ACQUISITION:												$   - 0

				Adams & Sullivan, P.C.						$   212.50		$   250.00				$   462.50

				Agri Affiliates, Inc.						$   3,750.00						$   3,750.00

				Barney Abstract and Title Company						$   1,625.00						$   1,625.00

				Brian F. Beckner, Attorney at Law		$   - 0		0		$   6,607.51		$   7,926.46				$   14,533.97

				Broadfoot, Terry L.								$   37,500.00				$   37,500.00

				Buffalo Surveying Corporation						$   4,228.60						$   4,228.60

				Ganz Title and Escrow Company		$   - 0		$   525.00		$   - 0						$   525.00

				Grand Island Abstract, Escrow & Title Co. 						$   700.00						$   700.00

				Great Plains Appraisal		$   - 0		$   8,100.00		$   5,670.00						$   13,770.00

				Investment Property Exchange		0		$   6,500.00		$   17,050.00		$   9,000.00				$   32,550.00

				H.O. Smith Company								$   325.00				$   325.00

				Jacobsen, Orr, Nelson Law Firm		$   - 0		$   5,028.25		$   16,125.97						$   21,154.22

				Land Services, LLC		$   - 0		0		$   40,833.44		$   82,937.66				$   123,771.10

				Mid-Continent Appraisals		$   - 0		$   1,500.00		$   6,000.00						$   7,500.00

				Milco Environmental Services, Inc.						$   10,728.25						$   10,728.25

				Olsson and Associates		$   - 0		0		$   18,067.92						$   18,067.92

				Phelps County Title Company		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   500.00		$   100.00				$   600.00

				Smith Law Offices, 		$   3,675.00		$   5,287.50		$   3,900.00						$   12,862.50

				Sower Agribusiness, LLC		$   - 0		$   3,700.00		$   3,500.00						$   7,200.00

				Tagge Engineering		$   - 0		$   1,718.40		$   955.60		$   673.15				$   3,347.15

				Trenton D. Snow, LLC						$   1,850.00						$   1,850.00

				Vintage Title and Escrow Company								$   750.00				$   750.00

				Woods & Aitken 								$   3,567.00				$   3,567.00

				Subtotal Land Pre-Acquisition:		$   3,675.00		$   32,359.15		$   142,304.79		$   143,029.27				$   321,368.21

																$   - 0

				Subtotal Program Management		$   562,641.08		$   1,306,472.42		$   1,678,196.03		$   1,930,101.06				$   5,477,410.59				$   - 0

																$   - 0

				ADMINISTRATION												$   - 0

				Nebraska Community Foundation		$   22,147.61		$   77,178.48		$   235,881.20		$   206,470.89				$   541,678.18

				Crane Meadows Nature Center		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   20,000.00						$   20,000.00

				Fedex		$   25.65		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   25.65

				Dunbar Insurance Agency				$   41,834.00		$   56,394.00		$   62,632.00				$   160,860.00

				Rowe Sanctuary						$   2,000.00						$   2,000.00

				Subtotal Administration		$   22,173.26		$   119,012.48		$   314,275.20		$   269,102.89				$   724,563.83

																$   - 0

				LAND ACQUISITION												$   - 0

				Barney Abstract and Title Company		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   2,863,438.16						$   2,863,438.16

				Buffalo County Treasurer								$   21,385.24				$   21,385.24

				Cunningham Trust Account								$   2,906,664.25				$   2,906,664.25

				Dawson County Treasurer								$   1,368.10				$   1,368.10

				Janet K Fox Revocable Trust		$   - 0		0		$   20,000.00						$   20,000.00

				Natural Resources Conservation Service		$   - 0				$   2,950.00						$   2,950.00

				Parker, Grossart, Bahensky, and Beucke, LLC		$   - 0		0		$   563,402.76		$   4,063.50				$   567,466.26

				Phelps County Title Company						$   3,264,379.90		$   - 0				$   3,264,379.90

				Phelps County Treasurer								$   6,460.68				$   6,460.68

				Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation		$   - 0		44582.5		$   55,187.94		$   45,876.59				$   145,647.03

				Prairie Legacy								$   798.25				$   798.25

				Town and Country Realty of Kearney as Escrow Agent						$   60,000.00						$   60,000.00

				Tri-County Title and Escrow Company						$   2,047,491.25		$   305,052.25				$   2,352,543.50

				Subtotal Land Acquisition		$   - 0		$   44,582.50		$   8,876,850.01		$   3,291,668.86				$   12,213,101.37

																$   - 0

				LAND MANAGEMENT												$   - 0

				Ag Sysems								$   1,843.82				$   1,843.82

				American Fence Company								$   12,565.00				$   12,565.00

				American Real Estate & Assoc.								$   59,115.02				$   59,115.02

				AREA Services								$   1,008.53				$   1,008.53

				Aurora Cooperative						$   3,211.41		$   15,200.56				$   18,411.97

				Bauer Well Drilling, Inc								$   2,941.00				$   2,941.00

				Bell, Tracey								$   2,137.50				$   2,137.50

				Benson, Roger								$   1,550.41				$   1,550.41

				Big Rack Schack, The 								$   1,389.40				$   1,389.40

				Broadfoot Sand & Gravel								$   89,420.46				$   89,420.46

				Cargill, Incorporated		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   13,191.77		$   7,349.38				$   20,541.15

				Carlson Bros.								$   1,044.00				$   1,044.00

				Central Nebraska Nebraska Bobcat								$   1,838.13				$   1,838.13

				Central Platte NRD								$   725.00				$   725.00

				Chandler Well Services, Inc.,						$   2,007.34		$   11,633.16				$   13,640.50

				CMC								$   7,975.00				$   7,975.00

				ComforTech Service						$   1,749.23		$   6,383.90				$   8,133.13

				Cook Construction						$   9,163.26		$   185,972.28				$   195,135.54

				Cottonmill Enterprises, Inc.								$   2,705.00				$   2,705.00

				Custom Concrete and Masonry						$   10,948.33						$   10,948.33

				Dawson Public Power District								$   36,793.00				$   36,793.00

				Dawson Weed Authority		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   3,984.65		$   8,906.22				$   12,890.87

				Double M Farms, Inc.								$   20,717.38				$   20,717.38

				Ducks Unlimited, Inc.								$   93,450.16				$   93,450.16

				EdBroadfoot and Sons Sand and Gravel						$   503.24						$   503.24

				Environment Direct						$   4,150.00						$   4,150.00

				Frahm Construction Inc.								$   18,500.00				$   18,500.00

				Geotechnical Services, Inc.								$   360.00				$   360.00

				Graczyk Lawn and Landscaping								$   2,518.68				$   2,518.68

				Great American Insurance Group								$   149.00				$   149.00

				Gross Seed Co. Inc.								$   6,460.00				$   6,460.00

				Hahn Water Resources, LLC								$   - 0				$   - 0

				Honey Creek Resources, Inc.						$   13,259.88		$   24,096.66				$   37,356.54

				Hood, Roger L. Construction								$   79,200.00				$   79,200.00

				Jim Ostgren Const. Co.								$   2,560.00				$   2,560.00

				Kehl Tree Service								$   350.00				$   350.00

				Klein Demolition								$   480.00				$   480.00

				Kugler Company		0		$   6,037.60		$   13,999.20		$   9,237.04				$   29,273.84

				NAU Country Insurance Company						$   2,839.63		$   1,155.00				$   3,994.63

				Nuttelman Fencing, Inc								$   52,750.87				$   52,750.87

				O'Neill Wood Resources, LLC								$   12,638.25				$   12,638.25

				Olsson and Associates								$   963.62				$   963.62

				Overton Sand & Gravel								$   238.95				$   238.95

				PAC's Painting and Handyman Service								$   14,845.32				$   14,845.32

				Prairie Plains Resource Institute								$   14,070.00				$   14,070.00

				Renken Construction						$   1,875.00						$   1,875.00

				Rk Electric								$   8,582.27				$   8,582.27

				Schemmer Associates, Inc.						$   25,576.24		$   47,217.86				$   72,794.10

				Rural Community Insurance Services								$   3,474.00				$   3,474.00

				Shepardson, Van								$   569.80				$   569.80

				Southern Power District								$   9,015.00				$   9,015.00

				Stadler Implement, Inc.								$   604.26				$   604.26

				Tauson, Seth								$   3,900.00				$   3,900.00

				Tillotson Enterprises								$   2,834.00				$   2,834.00

				Tom's Electric						$   9,705.00		$   4,020.20				$   13,725.20

				Town-N-Country Electric, Inc.								$   3,807.00				$   3,807.00

				Tree Amigos		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   6,820.00						$   6,820.00

				TSL Terminals, Ltd.						$   1,850.00						$   1,850.00

				Up In Smoke Custom Burning, Inc.								$   4,770.00				$   4,770.00

				WARD Laboratories								$   272.20				$   272.20

				Wilbur-Ellis								$   1,393.33				$   1,393.33

				Woodman Drilling and Irrigation, Inc.								$   209.71				$   209.71

				Subtotal Land Management		$   - 0		$   6,037.60		$   124,834.18		$   903,907.33				$   1,020,370.29

																$   - 0

				MONITORING AND RESEARCH												$   - 0

				AIM Environmental Consultants		$   124,838.37		$   111,438.30		$   135,637.58		$   132,917.31				$   504,831.56

				Audubon Nebraska								$   5,000.00				$   5,000.00

				Ayres and Associates		$   - 0		$   - 0		$   380,500.00		$   329,536.00				$   710,036.00

				Bureau of Reclamation		$   41,783.00		$   23,120.00		$   - 0						$   64,903.00

				Premier Sheep Supplies, Ltd.								$   2,692.86				$   2,692.86

				Subtotal Monitoring and Research		$   166,621.37		$   134,558.30		$   516,137.58		$   470,146.17				$   1,287,463.42

																$   - 0

				WATER PLAN IMPLEMENTATION												$   - 0

				AECOM USA, Inc						$   16,346.97		$   757.25				$   17,104.22

				Bleed, Ann and Associates								$   13,235.50				$   13,235.50

				Boyle Engineering		$   117,999.92		$   155,969.84								$   273,969.76

				Carlson, Jeff and Bertina								$   2,000.00

				Casper Star Tribune		$   97.44		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   97.44

				CDR Associates						$   28,382.04						$   28,382.04

				Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District		$   - 0				$   67,207.66						$   67,207.66

				Central Platte NRD		$   - 0				$   103,418.20		$   190,000.00				$   293,418.20

				Cook, Ed and Betty								$   2,000.00				$   2,000.00

				Cornerstone Mapping		$   - 0		$   14,026.00		$   20,850.00		$   25,309.50				$   60,185.50

				Denver Newspaper Agency		$   577.00										$   577.00

				EdBroadfoot and Sons Sand and Gravel						$   503.24						$   503.24

				Golder Associates								$   22,878.77				$   22,878.77

				Habitat Services						$   698.60						$   698.60

				Hahn Water Resources, LLC						$   - 0		$   52,853.89				$   52,853.89

				HDR Engineering								$   45,995.90				$   45,995.90

				H2 Options Engineering, LLC								$   10,110.50				$   10,110.50

				Kearney Area Chamber of Commerce								$   3,500.00				$   3,500.00

				Nebraska Public Power District		$   6,885.00		$   1,100,546.32		$   214,428.98		$   86,602.28				$   1,408,462.58

				Olsson and Associates						$   221,032.00		$   181,092.36				$   402,124.36

				Omaha World Herald		$   439.20		0		$   - 0						$   439.20

				Peterson, Rocky and DeAnne								$   2,000.00				$   2,000.00

				Platte Valley Weed Management Area								$   400,000.00				$   400,000.00

				Short Elliott Hendrickson, Inc		$   101,193.50		$   10,805.50		$   69,188.00		$   15,373.00				$   196,560.00

				Sky Helicopters, Inc		$   6,000.00		$   - 0		$   - 0						$   6,000.00

				Tessara Water, LLC								$   1,182.19				$   1,182.19

				West Central Weed Management Area						$   80,000.00						$   80,000.00

				Subtotal Water Plan Implementation		$   233,192.06		$   1,281,347.66		$   822,055.69		$   1,054,891.14				$   3,389,486.55



				Adjustment								-0.17

				Program Total		$   1,050,127.29		$   3,542,193.88		$   13,494,360.53		$   9,966,854.72				$   28,053,536.42











MoAdvTrack

				Platte River Endangered Species Advance Tracking 2010

				Month		Request ID		Request$		Expend$		Perf %

				Dec		7		$   671,500.00		$   357,952.53		53.31%

				Jan		8		$   455,100.00		$   364,216.70		80.03%

				Feb		9		$   562,000.00		$   343,181.63		61.06%

				Mar Land

				Mar		10		$   550,000.00		$   302,091.98		54.93%

				Apr		11		$   635,000.00		$   727,091.91		114.50%



								$   2,873,600.00		$   2,094,534.75		72.89%






Sheet1

		Task/Contract Name		Estimated FY12 Cost		PRRIP Budget Line Item		Approved FY 2012 PRRIP Budget Amount		FY 20112 PRRIP Budget Available (approved budget less previous commitments)		Contract Entity		Previous GC, FC, or Advisory Committee Action		Requested GC Action		June 2012 GC Meeting Document Reference

		FINALIZED

		PRRIP Database		$165,448.90		PD-8		$165,615.18		$165,615.18		Riverside Technology Inc.		FC approved contract amendment

		Sediment Augmentation		$325,000.00		PD-13		$540,888.00		$540,888.00		TBD		FC approved bid package; release pending EDO receipt of required permits

		Prescribed Fire Management Services		$89,110.00		LP-2		$639,130.00		$639,130.00		Firestorm Wildland Fire Suppression, Inc.		FC approved contract

		Elm Creek FSM		$201,110.00		IMRP-4		$203,185.00		$203,185.00		TetraTech		FC approved contract amendment

		Water Quality Monitoring		$163,800 ($150,000 from WQ-1, $13,800 from IMRP-2)		WQ-1		$150,000.00		$150,000.00		EA		FC approved contract amendment; GC approved budget revision

						IMRP-2		$335,000.00		$335,000.00

		Habitat Availability Assessments Sole-Source		$143,227.00		IMRP-6		$143,227.00		$143,227.00		RBJV		GC approved sole-source request

		Shoemaker Island FSM RFP		$   250,000.00		IMRP-5		$250,000.00		$250,000.00		?		FC approved RFP

		Independent Science Review Services		$   14,000.00		PD-3		$90,000.00		$90,000.00		Atkins (formerly PBS&J)		FC approved contract amendment

		Geomorphology & Vegetation Monitoring		$474,449 ($450,000 from G-5, $24,449 from IMRP-2; split invoicing)		G-5		$450,000.00		$450,000.00		Tetra Tech		FC approved contract

						IMRP-2		$335,000.00		$321,200.00

		J-2 Reregulating Reservoir		$   250,000.00		WP-4(a)		$9,000,000.00		$9,000,000.00		?		FC approved RFP



		Cottonwood Ranch Flow Consolidation		$   200,000.00		PD-19		$230,000.00		$230,000.00		InterFluve		FC approved contract amendment





Sheet2





Sheet3








PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review GC Memo – TAC Motion & Minority Opinion Page 1 of 4 
 


TO:  Governance Committee (GC) 
FROM: Executive Director’s Office (EDO) 
RE:  Peer Review of Lower Platte River Stage Change Study 
DATE:  June 5, 2012 
 
GC Decision 
The EDO requests a formal GC decision regarding the Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Report 
and the associated Peer Review. Three options are presented for GC consideration: 
 
1) Accept the Peer Review and the Stage Change Study as final without revisions, as per the Technical 


Advisory Committee (TAC) Motion (described below); or 
 


2) Revise the Stage Change Study as per the EDO/Contractor responses to each peer review comment 
and then consider the Peer Review and Stage Change Study as final; or 


 
3) Revise the Stage Change Study as per the EDO/Contractor responses to each peer review comment 


and then re-submit the revised report for additional peer review as per recommendations contained in 
the Minority Opinion to the TAC Motion (described below). 


 
Options #2 and #3 would require budget shifts in the PRRIP FY 2012 Budget because no funds are 
approved or allocated for re-hiring the Stage Change Study contractor team to make revisions.  The 
contractor team is now estimating the cost for revising the Stage Change Study according to the peer 
review comments and an estimated cost may be available for discussion during the GC meeting.  There is 
approved and available funding in PRRIP FY 2012 Budget Line Item PD-3 (“AMP & IMRP Peer 
Review”) for an additional peer review of the Stage Change Study as described in Option #3 if so directed 
by the GC.  The process of re-initiating agreements with the five peer review panelists, having Atkins 
coordinate the review, conducting the review, evaluating the new peer review comments, and determining 
next steps would take considerable time, likely pushing conclusion of the process into 2013. 
 
Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) Action & Motion 
Peer review of the PRRIP Lower Platte River Stage Change Study was conducted in 2011 according to a 
Program-approved Scope of Work (Exhibit A).  Results of the peer review were received in October 
2011 (Exhibit B).  The TAC first discussed the peer review results and the EDO/Contractor responses to 
each peer review comment (Exhibit C) on November 30, 2011 and again on April 18, 2012.  At the April 
18 meeting, the TAC approved the following motion: 
 
The Technical Advisory Committee moves to recommend the Governance Committee accept the Stage 
Change Study Peer Review and the Stage Change Study as final without revisions. 
 
That motion was not approved unanimously by the TAC.  The U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service submitted 
the following Minority Opinion to the Motion the EDO on June 4, 2012:  
 
Lower Platte River Stage Change Study (LPRSCS) Peer Review – TAC Minority Opinion 
A motion was made and seconded in the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) which recommended 
Governance Committee (GC) approval of the Lower Platte River Stage Change Study and the peer review 
report as final documents without revision. The TAC representative for the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
(Service) voted in opposition to the motion. The Service supports the peer review comments and the peer 
review report. However, the Service suggests that the LPRSCS report would need to be edited to 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review GC Memo – TAC Motion & Minority Opinion Page 2 of 4 
 


adequately address peer review comments. Three of the five peer reviewers of the study provided the 
recommendation to accept the stage change study with revisions. The peer review comments imply that 
revisions were important to the scientific process, and study shortcomings were sufficient to preclude 
general acceptance of the study. The Executive Director Office provided TAC members with the 
LPRSCS author’s responses to the peer review comments during a November, 2011 meeting. The 
author’s responses to the peer review comments included 43 instances where editorial changes were 
needed and dozens of instances where major revisions may be needed to address peer review comments. 
Selected peer review summaries included in this document further characterize the revisions needed for 
peer review acceptance. The TAC motion to accept the LPRSCS report precludes editorial and major 
revisions to the report. 
 
The Service did not support the TAC motion because the motion does not reflect standards practiced by 
the scientific community. Any manuscript submitted to a scientific journal would be required to address 
peer review comments prior to acceptance by the journal for publication. This same standard should be 
applied to program research. In absence of revisions, one peer reviewer stated that the study should be 
characterized as qualitatively correct which implies that the current study may be quantitatively incorrect 
(i.e., major revisions needed).   
 
The Service TAC members provide the following recommendations for finalizing the LPRSCS report: 
1. Allow the LPRSCS authors to revise the report to address peer review comments. 
2. Allow for a second round of peer review with reviewers that recommended “accept report with 


revisions”. 
3. The revised LPRSCS report and the peer review report should be provided to peer reviewers for the 


second round of reviews. 
4. Peer reviewers will provide the recommendation to: accept report, accept report with revisions, or 


deem report unacceptable.  
5. If a peer reviewer recommends accepting the report with revisions, then peer reviewer must specify 


what modifications/deletions to the report manuscript would be needed for acceptance (review 
comments should avoid requests for additional studies or modifications to methods). 


 
Selected Peer Review Summaries: 
 
Dr. David Gaeuman 
Is the Stage Change Study sufficient to determine if First Increment Program water activities can be 
detected (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging equipment) from base flow conditions? 
No. A better evaluation of gaging errors is needed, as described in my comments above. I would also 
suggest that the idea of detectability be better defined. It seems that for a small water augmentation to be 
detected, one would have to know what the discharge would have been without the augmentation. How 
would the work? And what is the time scale over which the detection should occur? Detecting a small 
change on a particular day is a different matter than detecting a sustained small change over a month or a 
year. 
 
Statistical design and analyses: Are they appropriate and correct? Can the reader readily discern which 
measurements or observations are independent of which other measurements or observations? Are 
replicates correctly identified? Are significance statements justified? 
There is little in the way of formal statistics in this study. An instance in which error margins on gage 
records may be misinterpreted is pointed out in my comments above. 
 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review GC Memo – TAC Motion & Minority Opinion Page 3 of 4 
 


Recommendation – If this were a draft to be revised I’d recommend major revision. But it seems to be a 
final report, so my recommendation is to accept its general conclusions as being qualitatively correct. 
 
Dr. Christopher S. Guy 
Statistical design and analyses: Are they appropriate and correct? Can the reader readily discern which 
measurements or observations are independent of which other measurements or observations? Are 
replicates correctly identified? Are significance statements justified? 
This is the major shortcoming of the study. That is, I believe the measurements for most analyses are not 
independent (i.e., true replicates). I would encourage the authors to clarify their experimental units and 
replicates and explain how they are relevant to the inference space described in the RFP. 
 
Are the findings of the stage change study and the conclusions reached in the report supported by the 
data and analysis? 
In general, I believe the conclusions are supported by the data, although the conclusions are not clearly 
articulated. I am concerned that most of the analyses and measures of variation represent pseudo-
replication. This relates to my comments in the first question. I believe the best way to determine the 
effects of Program water activities on physical parameters that are thought to be of significance to pallid 
sturgeon would be to conduct the Stage Change Study in multiple reaches (i.e., the reaches are the 
experimental unit). Although one could argue that reaches are not independent, I surmise that it better 
represents available habitat for pallid sturgeon and the influence of Program water activities on that 
habitat. The most important aspect of having multiple reaches is that one will have a better understanding 
of the uncertainty of Program related water activities on pallid sturgeon habitat.  
 
Dr. Dennis R. Helsel 
Does the Stage Change Study adequately address the overall objective of the RFP, which is “…to develop 
information needed to evaluate the effects of Program water management activities, including new 
activities covered by state or federal depletion plans, on water stage and how those stage changes affect 
physical parameters in the reach of the lower Platte River from the Elkhorn River confluence to the 
Missouri River confluence?” 
The method for extrapolation of missing record to the Loup River at Columbus is flawed, and so the 
resulting errors on the analysis are unknown. 
 
Are the physical parameters and measured data considered in the study (flow quantity, depth, velocity, 
temperature, turbidity, sediment, and sandbars and bedforms at selected sites throughout the study reach) 
adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study? 
The data themselves are presumably scientifically defensible. They are fairly routine parameters with 
established protocols for collection. The amount of data is adequate. Analysis of the data is not adequate, 
if the purpose is to determine whether proposed flow augmentation and withdrawals for storage will 
significantly affect those parameters. 
 
If “yes” to Question #4 above, is the Stage Change Study sufficient to detect if First Increment Program 
water activities have an impact (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging equipment) on 
stage, velocity, temperature, turbidity, substrate, or channel morphology? 
No. Determination of differences in water quality parameters using Analysis Of Variance is flawed 
because the serial correlation in the data was not accounted for. The current analysis is not sufficient to 
determine whether there are significant impacts for these parameters. 
 
 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review GC Memo – TAC Motion & Minority Opinion Page 4 of 4 
 


Are the findings of the stage change study and the conclusions reached in the report supported by the 
data and analysis?  
The Study's conclusions in regards to flow are supported by the data and analysis. The conclusions in 
regards to water quality parameters are not. The conclusions in regards to effects on habitat are beyond 
my area of expertise, but appear to be the most thoroughly supported portion due to the modeling work. 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review GC Memo  Page 1 of 1 
 


 


 


 


 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 
 
 
 


EXHIBIT A 
 


STAGE CHANGE STUDY PEER REVIEW SCOPE OF WORK 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  02/17/2011 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review Scope of Work  Page 1 of 2 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 
Scope of Work 2 


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review 3 
 4 
Purpose of Peer Review 5 
The Lower Platte River Stage Change Study was completed in early 2010 by a contractor team led by 6 
HDR pursuant to the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (“Program” or “PRRIP”) RFP 7 
(Request for Proposals) dated 12/10/2007 (Attachment 1).  The purpose of this peer review is to provide 8 
independent review of the stage change study to determine if it satisfies the objective(s) of the RFP and 9 
withstands scientific and technical scrutiny. 10 
 11 
The purpose of the stage change study is to serve as a tool to assist the Governance Committee (GC) in 12 
determining the effect of “Program related flow effects”, if any, over time on lower Platte River stage and 13 
associated parameters thought to be of significance to pallid sturgeon.  The stage change study was not 14 
intended to define lower Platte River pallid sturgeon “habitat”, evaluate the quantity or quality of pallid 15 
sturgeon habitat in the lower Platte River, or document or evaluate use of habitat by pallid sturgeon in the 16 
lower Platte River. 17 
 18 
For the purposes of the stage change study, the spatial scale of the lower Platte is the “associated habitat” 19 
for pallid sturgeon.  As defined by the Program, the associated habitat is the reach of the lower Platte 20 
River from its confluence with the Elkhorn River downstream to its confluence with the Missouri River 21 
(mouth of the Platte River). 22 
 23 
Scope of Work 24 
Each Peer Review Panel member will be tasked with reviewing the Stage Change Study from their 25 
particular area of expertise following the PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines for Reports & Studies 26 
(Attachment 2).  Peer reviewers will be asked to submit all comments, questions, and other 27 
communication in writing to ensure an appropriate record is built, and all communication with peer 28 
reviewers will be conducted via e-mail.  Peer Review Panel members will be provided with the following 29 
information: 30 
 31 
 Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Scope of Work (PRRIP) 32 
 Final Lower Platte River Stage Change Study, including all appendices and figures (HDR) 33 
 Final Stage Change Study Protocol Development Report (HDR) 34 
 Final PRRIP Stage Change Study RFP (PRRIP) 35 
 PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines for Reports & Studies (PRRIP) 36 
 Additional information as requested by Peer Review Panel members – if a document(s) is requested 37 


by one member, it will be transmitted to all members simultaneously 38 
 39 
Specific Questions 40 
Review of the Stage Change Study should address the following specific questions: 41 
 42 
1) Does the Stage Change Study adequately address the overall objective of the RFP, which is “…to 43 


develop information needed to evaluate the effects of Program water management activities, 44 
including new activities covered by state or federal depletion plans, on water stage and how those 45 
stage changes affect physical parameters in the reach of the lower Platte River from the Elkhorn 46 
River confluence to the Missouri River confluence”? 47 
 48 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  02/17/2011 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review Scope of Work  Page 2 of 2 
 


2) Are the physical parameters and measured data considered in the study (flow quantity, depth, 49 
velocity, temperature, turbidity, sediment, and sandbars and bedforms at selected sites throughout the 50 
study reach) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study? 51 


 52 
3) Are the habitat classifications considered in the study (slackwater, flat, riffle, run, isolated pool, and 53 


plunge) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study? 54 
 55 
4) Is the Stage Change Study sufficient to determine if First Increment Program water activities can be 56 


detected (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging equipment) from base flow 57 
conditions? 58 


 59 
5) If “yes” to Question #4 above, is the Stage Change Study sufficient to detect if First Increment 60 


Program water activities have an impact (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging 61 
equipment) on stage, velocity, temperature, turbidity, substrate, or channel morphology? 62 


 63 
6) Are the findings of the stage change study and the conclusions reached in the report supported by the 64 


data and analysis? 65 
 66 
If the answer to any of the questions above is “no”, please suggest possible remedies to data collection 67 
methodologies, analysis, or other study tasks. 68 
 69 
General Comments 70 
Review of the Stage Change Study should also address more general comments and questions as outlined 71 
in the PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines for Reports & Studies.  Please refer to Attachment 2 for 72 
information regarding these guidelines. 73 
 74 
Peer Review Panel 75 
The stage change study will be the first Program document peer reviewed in 2011.  Potential reviewers 76 
will be screened and recommended by PBS&J.  The GC will ultimately approve the members of the Peer 77 
Review Panel, but certain areas of expertise are considered essential for representation on this panel: 78 
 79 
 Pallid sturgeon ecology (prefer experience with fish habitat modeling) 80 
 Riverine physical processes/geomorphology 81 
 River engineering and hydraulic modeling 82 
 Hydrology and hydrologic analysis 83 
 Ecological statistics 84 
 85 
Budget Implications 86 
Each Peer Review Panel member receive a stipend of $5,000 for a total of $25,000 (5 panel members X 87 
$5,000/each).  Stipends will be paid from the PRRIP FY 2011 Budget Line Item PD-3:  AMP & IMRP 88 
Peer Review. 89 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  02/17/2011 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


ATTACHMENT #1 
 


LOWER PLATTE RIVER STAGE CHANGE STUDY RFP 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL 


12/10/2007 
 


1 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 


 
SUBJECT:   Lower Platte River Stage Change Study 
REQUEST DATE:  December 10, 2007 
CLOSING DATE:  January 18, 2008 
POINT OF CONTACT: Chad Smith – Executive Director’s Office 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 
6512 Crooked Creek Drive 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68516 
(402) 261-3185 
smithc@headwaterscorp.com 


 
RECITALS 
The Governance Committee of the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) 
submits this Request for Proposals (RFP) to solicit proposals from contractors to develop and 
implement a protocol for a lower Platte River (Nebraska) stage change study.  The protocol will 
be used to define the final scope and budget for the stage change study, but proposals submitted 
in response to this RFP need to provide enough detail on the overall project to convey an 
understanding of the stage change study.  The results of the study will serve as a tool for the 
Governance Committee to assist in determining the effects of flow changes over time on river 
stage and associated physical parameters thought to be of significance to pallid sturgeon 
(Scaphirhynchus albus). 
 
In responding to this RFP, the Governance Committee requests the following information: 
 
1) Scope of work for completing this project.  Prospective contractor should address the tasks 


outlined herein.   
 
2) Detailed schedule for completing each task in the preliminary scope.  The following are the 


critical dates for the Governance Committee’s preferred schedule for the project: 
 


February 15, 2008 Protocol draft for Governance Committee review  
 
March 31, 2008 Final Protocol/ Notice to Proceed with Protocol Implementation 
 
September 30, 2008 Draft of First Progress Report on field work activities 
 
December 31, 2008 Draft of Second Progress Report on field work activities 
 
July 30, 2009  Complete field portions of study as defined in the Scope of Work 
 
September 30, 2009 Submit draft report and other materials for review 
 
December 31, 2009 Final Report 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL 


12/10/2007 
 


2 


 
Prospective contractors should address their capability to comply with the above schedule.  If 
it is deemed that the above critical dates should be revised, prospective contractors should 
offer alternative schedules describing the logic and reasons for the alternative.  


 
3) Conflicts of Interest Statement addressing whether or not any potential conflict of interest 


exists between this project and other past or on-going projects, including any projects 
currently being conducted for the Program. 


 
4) Detailed cost not to exceed proposal to complete the project, separated into protocol 


development and protocol implementation.  The proposal should identify costs and hours 
allocated for each task in the scope of work and the total cost for the study.  Hourly rates and 
reimbursable expenses for the proposing firm/individual and any sub-contractors must be 
attached to the detailed price proposal.  The contract will be awarded on a Cost Not to 
Exceed basis.  The initial contract will be for protocol development.  Governance Committee 
approval is needed before the contractor is authorized to begin protocol implementation. 


 
5) List of relevant project experience within the past five (5) years, including name, location 


and brief description of the projects; name, address and phone number of the contracting 
officer for the client; and identification of key participants and their tasks on previous 
projects who would also be working on this study.  


 
6) Resumes of key participants and subcontractors proposed for this study.  The resumes should 


address experience on projects similar to this stage change study.  Types of expertise that 
may be appropriate include familiarity with pallid sturgeon biology and the key physical 
parameters, river hydraulics and hydrology, the lower Platte River, and river monitoring and 
research techniques. 


 
7) Description of Insurance shall be provided with the proposal.  Proof of insurance will be 


required before a contract is issued.  Minimum insurance requirements will include 
$1,000,000 general liability per occurrence.  To the extent authorized by law, the contractor 
shall indemnify, save, and hold harmless the Nebraska Community Foundation; the states of 
Colorado, Wyoming, and Nebraska; the Department of the Interior; members of the 
Governance Committee; and the Program Executive Director’s Office, their employees, 
employers, and agents; against any and all claims, damages, liability, and court awards 
including costs, expenses, and attorney fees incurred as a result of any act or omission by the 
contractor or its employees, agents, subcontractors, or assignees pursuant to the terms of this 
project. 


 
8) A pre-bid meeting of interested parties will be held to address questions associated with this 


Request for Proposals at a time and location that will be set by the Program’s Executive 
Director’s Office. 


 
Please submit one electronic copy of your proposal in PDF format by January 18, 2008 to 
Chad Smith at smithc@headwaterscorp.com. 
 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL 


12/10/2007 
 


3 


Terms and Conditions: The selected contractor will be retained by: 
 


Nebraska Community Foundation 
650 J Street, Suite 305 
PO Box 83107 
Lincoln, NE  68501 
 
Terms and conditions will be negotiated as mutually agreeable.  It is understood that the right is 
reserved by the Governance Committee to accept any proposal that, in its judgment, is the best 
proposal, and to waive any irregularities in any proposal. 
 
Proposal Costs: Proposal costs incurred in response to this RFP will be the responsibility of the 
bidder.  Neither Nebraska Community Foundation nor the Governance Committee will be liable 
for any costs incurred by the bidder in the completion and submission of the proposal. 
 
Point of Contact: Questions regarding this RFP that could impact budget estimates or scope of 
services should be e-mailed to Chad Smith at smithc@headwaterscorp.com.  Questions and 
responses will be provided by e-mail to all bidders. 
 
 


SCOPE OF WORK FOR CONTRACT SERVICES 
 
INTRODUCTION 
The Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) was initiated on January 1, 2007 
between Nebraska, Wyoming, and Colorado and the Department of the Interior to address 
endangered species issues in the central and lower Platte River basin. The species considered in 
the Program, referred to as “target species”, are the whooping crane, piping plover, interior least 
tern, and pallid sturgeon. 


 
A Governance Committee has been established that reviews, directs, and provides oversight for 
activities undertaken during the Program.  The Governance Committee is comprised of one 
representative from each of the three states, three water user representatives, two representatives 
from environmental groups, and two members representing federal agencies.  The Governance 
Committee has named Dr. Jerry Kenny to serve as the Program Executive Director.  Chad Smith, 
representing the Program Executive Director’s Office, will be the primary contact for 
prospective contractors responding to this RFP. 
 
NEEDS AND SCOPE 
The overall objective of the study is to develop information needed to evaluate the effects of 
Program water management activities, including new activities covered by state or federal 
depletion plans, on water stage and how those stage changes affect physical parameters in the 
reach of the lower Platte River from the Elkhorn River confluence to the Missouri River 
confluence.  The physical parameters to be considered include flow quantity, depth, 
velocity, temperature, turbidity, sediment, and sandbars and bedforms at selected sites 
throughout the study reach, and over the range of discharges which are important in 
determining these parameters. 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL 


12/10/2007 
 


4 


 
In accordance with the Program’s Adaptive Management Plan (AMP), the study should provide 
sufficient data to evaluate the effect of changes in river stage over a range of flows on a micro, 
meso, and macro scale.  The following example is provided to help define these terms and 
provide a framework for the range of flows to be considered and the interval measurements that 
need to be made: 
 
River Gage:     Louisville, NE (Station ID 06805500) 
Range of River Flows:   5,000 cfs to 39,000 cfs (bankfull flows) 
Precision Level:    90% confidence 
Possible Measurement Interval:  Every 1,000 cfs (roughly 0.1 foot of stage change) 
 
In responding to this RFP, potential contractors should provide information on the needed 
methods to obtain this data, the appropriate discharge/stage measurement intervals necessary for 
achieving the desired level of precision, and the efficacy of applying these methods over a larger 
range of flows.  In addition, potential contractors can use guidance provided by the Program’s 
Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and the Final Biological Opinion (BO) to better 
understand the types of flow changes of concern and the related impact on the identified physical 
parameters.  Copies of the relevant sections of the Final EIS and Final BO can be downloaded 
from the Program Web site (www.PlatteRiverProgram.org) or obtained from Chad Smith. 
 
Given this framework, the study should provide information sufficient to estimate changes in the 
physical parameters identified above, across the identified range of flows and the three scales of 
measurement intervals, that occur during the study period and as can be determined from historic 
information.  The intent should be to draw inferences to the types of process changes that would 
occur in the system as a result of river stage changes. 
 


a. Information will be sufficient to determine if Program water activities can be statistically 
identified (significant beyond the error of the gauging equipment) from base flow 
conditions (AMP Hypothesis X-Y Graph PS-2). 
 


b. Information will be sufficient to detect if Program water activities have a statistically 
significant impact on stage, velocity, temperature, turbidity, substrate, or channel 
morphology (AMP Hypothesis X-Y Graphs PS-3, PS-4, PS-6, PS-9). 


 
This includes an emphasis on floodplain connectivity and the inundation of otherwise terrestrial 
habitat (not out of the high banks), and how both of these factors vary with flow. 
 
Proposals should include the scope, timeline, and budget for developing a detailed protocol for 
estimating the effects of stage change on the identified physical parameters.  The protocol will be 
reviewed by a selected Program sub-group before being finalized.  The final protocol will be in 
sufficient detail to identify all aspects of data collection, analysis, reporting, and deliverables for 
the overall project. The final protocol and detailed budget estimate for actual implementation of 
the protocol will be provided to the appropriate Program sub-group and/or Advisory Committee 
for review.  Approval of the protocol and budget by the Governance Committee is needed prior 
to the contractor proceeding with protocol implementation. 



http://www.platteriverprogram.org/





PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL 


12/10/2007 
 


5 


 
AVAILABLE INFORMATION 
In addition to the Program Document and its AMP (Attachment 3), several additional sources of 
information are available to assist potential contractors in responding to this RFP.  Many of these 
documents can be accessed either from the Program Web site (www.PlatteRiverProgram.org) or 
by contacting the originating party or Chad Smith. 
 
1) In the late 1980’s, the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission (NGPC) recorded transect 


information on sections of the lower Platte River for use with Instream Flow Incremental 
Methodology analysis.  While this information may no longer be current, it allows historical 
comparisons in some stretches of river. 
 


2) Multiple cross-sectional transect data collected by Mussetter, Inc. as part of a NGPC 
evaluation of the Sarpy County/Clear Creek Levee project. 


 
3) Cumulative Impact Study for the Lower Platte River Corridor Alliance that may have some 


overlap with this study.  The information includes a digitized series of aerial photographs of 
the lower Platte reach, and a GIS database covering a decadal time-step. 


 
4) Several reports from Drs. Ed Peters and Jim Parham on pallid sturgeon use of the lower 


Platte River: one submitted to NGPC for a Federal Aid to Sport Fish Restoration Grant; one 
submitted to the Pallid Sturgeon/Sturgeon Chub Task Force; and one in press as a NGPC 
Technical Report. 


 
5) Relevant sections of the Program’s Final EIS and Final BO. 


 
6) Completed and ongoing, studies conducted by the U.S. Geological Survey and other partners 


related to pallid sturgeon use of the Missouri River. 
 


7) The National Research Council’s report titled “Endangered and Threatened Species of the 
Platte River”. 


 
DELIVERABLES 
The first project deliverable will be a draft protocol (see above discussion).  The protocol will be 
reviewed and revised, as needed, before being finalized.  Once approved, the protocol will be 
implemented as agreed upon by the contractor and the Governance Committee.  Future 
deliverables will be clearly identified as one of the items in the protocol.  It is anticipated that 
progress reports will be provided along with a final report.  Other deliverables will include any 
raw data, models, and other documents or materials collected and/or developed as a part of the 
study.  Data will be reported in accordance with guidelines outlined in the Program’s AMP and 
the Program’s Database Management System. 
 



http://www.platteriverprogram.org/





PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  02/17/2011 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


ATTACHMENT #2 
 


PRRIP PEER REVIEW GUIDELINES FOR REPORTS & 
STUDIES 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  02/17/2011 


 


PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines for Reports & Studies  Page 1 of 3 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 
Excerpt from PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines – Reports & Studies 


 
Instructions to Peer Reviewers  


Thank you for agreeing to review this product.  The following is a summary of expectations for peer-
review and the topics that we wish each peer reviewer to address.   
 
A.  INDEPENDENCE OF A PEER REVIEW 
Peer-review must provide an unbiased opinion of the scientific quality of a product (proposal, report, data, 
map, etc.) by individuals who are independent from the authors and external to them and their institution.  
A review must be independent of various types of conflicts of interest with the author(s) and with the 
product under review.  The Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) places 
considerable reliance on the objectivity, integrity, and professionalism of each peer reviewer to provide 
technical opinion of each product without bias or conflict of interest. 
 
Please review each question about your bias or independence.  Your peer-review will be anonymous to 
the author unless you choose to share it. Your review will be held in the file for the Program as 
documentation of the peer-review process for this product. 
 
YOUR CONSIDERATIONS SHOULD INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING FACTORS THAT COULD 
LEAD TO BIAS OR CONFLICT OF INTEREST: 


 Financial interest in the product or the author(s); 
 
 Familial relationship with the author(s); 
 
 Bias, for personal reasons, for or against the author(s) or institutions of this product; 
 
 Professional connection (current or former: student or advisor, supervisor or supervised, employer, 


etc.) to the author(s) or the institution of this product; 
 
 Organizational affiliation (same agency, department, organization, business, etc.); 
 
 Impacts of lobbying or political pressure exerted by persons looking for a particular result or more 


work in the area of this product; 
 
IF YOU FEEL THAT YOU CANNOT PROVIDE AN UNBIASED REVIEW, PLEASE DO NOT 
REVIEW THIS PRODUCT AND IMMEDIATELY RETURN THE DOCUMENT TO THE 
PROGRAM’S EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR. 
 
CONFIDENTIALITY – The enclosed manuscript is a privileged communication.  Please do not show it 
to anyone or discuss it, except to solicit assistance with a technical point.  Your review and your 
recommendation should also be considered confidential. 
 
TIMELINESS – In fairness to the author(s) and to the needs of the Program, please return your review 
within __ days.  If it seems likely that you will be unable to meet this deadline, please return the 
manuscript immediately or contact the Executive Director. 
 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  02/17/2011 


 


PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines for Reports & Studies  Page 2 of 3 
 


CONFLICTS OF INTEREST – Please review “Independence of a Peer-Review” above.  If you feel you 
might have any difficulty writing an objective review, please return the paper immediately, un-reviewed.  
If your previous or present connection with the author(s) or an author’s institution might be construed as 
creating a conflict of interest, but no actual conflict exists, please discuss this issue in the cover letter that 
accompanies your review.   
 
YOUR REVIEW SHOULD ADDRESS THE FOLLOWING: 
What is the major contribution of this document?  What are its major strengths and weaknesses, and its 
suitability for publication and/or use by the Program?  Are conclusions based on sound scientific methods 
and reasoning?  Please include both general and specific comments bearing on these questions and 
emphasize your most significant points. 
 
General Comments: 
1. Scientific soundness     
2. Organization and clarity   
3. Conciseness 
4. Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data 
5. Cohesiveness of conclusions 
 
Specific Comments: 
Please support your general comments with specific evidence and literature.   You may write directly on 
the manuscript, but please summarize your handwritten remarks separately. Comment on any of the 
following matters that significantly affected your opinion of the manuscript: 
 
1. Presentation:  Is a tightly reasoned argument evident throughout?  Does the manuscript wander from 


the central purpose?  
 
2. Methods: Are they appropriate?  Current?  Described clearly and with sufficient detail so that 


someone else could repeat the work? 
 
3. Data presentation: When results are stated in the text of the manuscript, can you easily verify them by 


examining tables and figures?  Are any of the results counterintuitive?  Are all tables and figures 
clearly labeled?  Well planned?  Too complex?  Necessary? 


 
4. Statistical design and analyses: Are they appropriate and correct?  Can the reader readily discern 


which measurements or observations are independent of which other measurements or observations?  
Are replicates correctly identified?  Are significance statements justified? 


 
5. Conclusions: Has the author(s) drawn conclusions from insufficient evidence?  Are the interpretations 


of the data logical, reasonable, and based on the application of relevant and generally accepted 
scientific principles?  Has the author(s) overlooked alternative hypotheses? 


 
6. Errors: Point out any errors in technique, fact, calculation, interpretation, or style. 
 
7. Citations: Are all (and only) pertinent references cited?  Are they provided for all assertions of fact 


not supported by the data in the manuscript? 
 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  02/17/2011 


 


PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines for Reports & Studies  Page 3 of 3 
 


FAIRNESS AND OBJECTIVITY 
If the research reported in this paper is flawed, criticize the science, not the scientist.  Harsh words in a 
review will cause the reader to doubt your objectivity; as a result, your criticisms will be rejected, even if 
they are correct! 
 
Comments should show that: 
1) You have read the entire manuscript carefully. 
2) Your criticisms are objective and correct, and are not merely differences of opinion, and are intended 


to assist the author in improving the manuscript. 
3) You are qualified to provide an expert opinion about the research reported in this manuscript. 
 
ANONYMITY 
You may sign your review if you wish.  If you choose to remain anonymous, avoid comments to the 
authors that may serve as clues to your identity, and do not use paper that bears the watermark of your 
institution. 
 
RATING: 
Please score each aspect of this manuscript using the following rating system: 1=excellent, 2=very good, 
3=good, 4=fair, 5=poor. 
           Rating  
Scientific soundness         ___ 
Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data                 ___ 
Organization and clarity                     ___ 
Cohesiveness of conclusions        ___ 
Conciseness          ___ 
Importance to objectives of the Program                              ___ 
 (For use by internal review panel only) 
 
RECOMMENDATION         (check one) 
Accept           ___ 
Accept after revision         ___ 
Unacceptable          ___ 
 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review GC Memo  Page 1 of 1 
 


 


 


 


 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 
 
 
 


EXHIBIT B 
 


STAGE CHANGE STUDY PEER REVIEW RESULTS 







 
 
 


 
 


  


Atkins   Lower Platte River Stage Change Peer Review - Summary Report | 5 October 2011 1 
 


 


 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program  


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review 


 


SUMMARY REPORT 


 


I. Introduction 


The Lower Platte Stage Change Study (Stage Change Study) was peer reviewed by five (5) panel 


members in September 2011 as requested by the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 


(PRRIP).  Each reviewer was tasked with reviewing the Stage Change Study from their particular 


area of expertise and to submit comments (both answering specific questions and submitting their 


own comments/inquiries) in writing to the Atkins North America (Atkins), who facilitated the peer 


review.  Areas of expertise for the Stage Change Study included: (1) pallid sturgeon ecology; (2) 


riverine physical processes/geomorphology; (3) river engineering and hydraulic modelling; (4) 


hydrology and hydrologic analysis; and (5) ecological statistics.  Peer reviewers for the Stage 


Change Study, including their affiliations and area of expertise, are listed in the table below. 


 


Name Affiliation Area of Expertise 


Christopher Guy U.S. Geological Survey Pallid Sturgeon Ecology 


David Gaeuman U.S. Bureau of Reclamation Riverine Processes & Geomorphology 


Larry Weber University of Iowa River Engineering/Hydraulics 


Lee Wilson Lee Wilson & Associates Hydrology/Hydrologic Analysis 


Dennis Helsel Practical Stats Ecological Statistics 


 


II. Summary Report 


Reviewers were asked to do the following tasks as part of the Stage Change Study Peer Review:  


 Task 1 - Review the Stage Change Study from their area of expertise; 


 Task 2 - Address the set of questions related to the Stage Change Study (as per the Scope of 


Work [SOW]); 


 Task 3 - Provide general comments on scientific soundness, organization and clarity, 


conciseness, degree to which conclusions are supported by data, and cohesiveness of 


conclusions; 


 Task 4 - Provide specific comments (as per the SOW) addressing presentation, methods, 


data presentation, statistical design and analyses, conclusions, errors, and citations (pee 


reviewers were to comment on these facets of the Stage Change Study if they significantly 


affected the peer reviewer’s opinion); and 


 Task 5 - Rate the Stage Change Study using the rating system provided in the SOW.  See 


Table 1 in Section IV below.  


 Task 6 - Provide a recommendation (Accept, Accept with Revision, or Unacceptable) as it 


applies to the Stage Change Study.  


This summary report provides an overview of the comments received from Task 3 (general 


comments), 5 (ratings) and 6 (recommendations) listed above.  Comments received for Tasks 1, 2 


and 4 are included in the Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comment-Response 


Table (Attachment 1).  All comments have been inserted into a comment-response table as 


requested by the PRRIP so they can be easily referenced and tracked.  Copies of the reviews are 


compiled in Attachment 2.  







 
 
 


 
 


  


Atkins   Lower Platte River Stage Change Peer Review - Summary Report | 5 October 2011 2 
 


 


III. General Comments and Ratings 


Reviewers were asked to provide comments on the Stage Change Study with respect to the 


following general categories
1
: (1) scientific soundness; (2) organization and clarity; (3) conciseness; 


(4) degree to which conclusions are supported by the data; and (5) cohesiveness of conclusions.  


Reviewers were to consider the major strengths and weakness of the document, its suitability for 


publication and/or use by the PRRIP, and its soundness in terms of both methods and scientific 


reasoning.  A summary of responses for each category is included in subsequent sections.  If 


specific examples or comments are cited, the reviewer’s last name appears in parentheses following 


it.  


 


Scientific Soundness 


Reviewers indicated the scientific soundness of the Stage Change Study is Good (average rating of 


2.8 = good; see ratings in Table 1 in Section IV).  Ratings ranged from 2 (very good) to 4 (fair).  


Most reviewers felt the technical aspects were generally good, excluding a few technical issues that 


were identified by specific comments.  Of note were the following issues with scientific soundness.  


1. Much of the study was based on analyses from unpublished FWS reports – results hinge on 


these results and some statement from the FWS should be included that verifies the 


analyses, spreadsheets etc., to ensure they are valid.  The FWS reports do not discuss the 


methods that produced the conclusions or whatever product is being cited....the implication 


is the report is being accepted as truth (Helsel).  


2. There is concern that most of the analyses and measures of variation represent pseudo-


replication.  A better way to determine the effects of PRRIP water activities on physical 


parameters that are thought to have significance to pallid sturgeon would be to conduct stage 


change studies in multiple reaches. It is a better way to represent available habitat for pallid 


sturgeon and the influence of PRRIP water activities on habitat (Guy).   


 


Degree to Which Conclusions are Supported by Data 


Reviewers indicated the degree to which conclusions are supported by data in the Stage Change 


Study is Good/Very Good (average rating of 2.6 = very good/good).  There was a wide range of 


responses, from 1 (excellent) to 4 (fair) and thus perhaps an average rating is not the best means of 


evaluating this category.  Three of the five reviewers felt the conclusions were well supported, 


particularly within their area of expertise (Gaeuman, Guy, and Weber).  Although he believed the 


conclusions in the Stage Change Study are supported by the data, one reviewer suggested that the 


robustness of the data and the conclusions could be enhanced by a better experimental design 


(Guy).  The remaining two reviewers felt the conclusions were not particularly well supported.  One 


of the reviewers felt the water quality conclusions were not well supported (Helsel).  The other 


reviewer felt that it was very difficult to determine how well supported the conclusions were 


without direct access to copies of the datasets, spreadsheets and models (Wilson).   


 


Organization and Clarity  


Reviewers indicated the organization and clarity of the Stage Change Study is Good (average rating 


of 3 = good).  Ratings ranged from 1 (excellent) to 4 (fair).  In terms of the document as a whole, 


reviewers felt it was relatively well organized and clear but could use standardization in terms of 


primary, secondary and tertiary headings, the addition of an executive summary, introductory 


                                                      
1
 Some reviewers rated “Importance to Objectives of the Program” even though the PRRIP document indicated that this 


category was for internal panel use only.  Atkins assumed (as did several of the reviewers) that the internal panel was 


the PRRIP Governance Committee.  Since some panelists rated it while others did not, ratings will not be included for 


this category.  If clarification is needed, please provide it for use in future peer reviews.    







 
 
 


 
 


  


Atkins   Lower Platte River Stage Change Peer Review - Summary Report | 5 October 2011 3 
 


section with background for context, and conclusions section, clarification to table and figure 


headings, and additional background information for clarity.   


 


Cohesiveness of Conclusions 


Reviewers indicated the cohesiveness of the conclusions in the Stage Change Study are Good/Very 


Good (average rating of 2.5 = good/very good).  Ratings ranged from 2 (very good) to 4 (fair).  One 


reviewer did not provide a rating for this category (it is marked as non-applicable [N/A] in Table 1).  


The rating may have been based on how willing the reviewer was to search for the conclusions 


within the Stage Change Study document.  For example, one reviewer thought the conclusions were 


cohesive (rating of 2) but noted he had to search for them within the Discussion Section because 


they were interwoven (Weber).  A conclusion section would have been helpful.  Another reviewer 


suggested the addition of a conclusion section (Helsel) for ease of understanding.  One reviewer 


even suggested that “much has been left unsaid in this study...and a stranger to this process might 


not be able to properly judge the end results (Wilson). 


 


Conciseness 


Overall, reviewers indicated the conciseness of the Stage Change Study is Very Good/Excellent 


(average rating of 1.8 = very good/excellent).  Most reviewers felt the document was well written 


and presented an appropriate amount of information in terms of breadth and depth. 


 


IV. Ratings 


Table 1 summarizes the ratings for each of the categories discussed in Section III (Task 5 in Section 


II).  The ratings are organized by reviewer and an average rating is included as well.  In most cases, 


average ratings tend to be a good representation of the overall sentiment of the reviewers.  


Exceptions are noted in Section III above.   


 


 
Reviewer Gaeuman Guy Helsel Weber Wilson** Average 


C
a


te
g


o
ri


es
 


Scientific soundness 4 3 3 2 2 2.8 


Degree to which conclusions are 


supported by the data  
3 3 4 2 1 2.6 


Organization and clarity 4 4 4 1 2 3 


Cohesiveness of conclusions N/A 2 4 2 2 2.5 


Conciseness 3 2 2 1 1 1.8 


 
Table 1: Ratings given per each reviewer following the rating system: 1=excellent, 2=very good, 3=good, 4=fair, 


5=poor. 


**during the rating process, Lee Wilson inverted the rating system – he classified 5 = excellent and 1 = poor.  Atkins 


was able to identify this reversal given that Lee’s comments were counter to his ratings.  Table 1 corrects for this.  


Atkins will verify this with Lee once he returns stateside in mid-October 2011.  


 


V. Recommendations 


Reviewers were also asked to make a recommendation with respect to the document.  They were 


given the following choices: (1) accept it; (2) accept it with revisions; or (3) deem it unacceptable.  


Before the recommendations can even be considered, it is important to note the confusion 


associated with this task.  First, peer reviewers were unclear as to whether the Stage Change Study 


was a draft or final document – could it be revised? In some cases, the recommendation hinged on 


whether the reviewer felt it was feasible to make a specific recommendation given it may not be 


something that could be changed.  Additionally, there may have been confusion amongst reviewers 


Comment [EBH1]: Atkins’ deleted the rating 
associated with this comment.  Upon discussion 
with Lee Wilson, the rating and the comment 
were not linked.   
 
Lee rated the document based on what he was 
provided with (report, appendices, etc.). He 
made additional comments on how the report 
could be improved if it were revised.   
 
Atkins mistakenly linked the ratings to the 
comments and that wasn’t necessarily the 
intention of the reviewer. 
 
 


Comment [EBH2]: Atkins verified that Lee 
Wilson did invert his ratings. Table 1 is correct 
as included in this report. 







 
 
 


 
 


  


Atkins   Lower Platte River Stage Change Peer Review - Summary Report | 5 October 2011 4 
 


as to how the Stage Change Study was going to be used in the future – would it be published? Was 


it going to be used by the PRRIP and if so, how? Perhaps it would be useful to provide a one 


paragraph summary to peer reviewers (as they begin their peer review) that provides context for the 


study being reviewed and how it will be used by the PRRIP.   


 


Given this, Weber and Wilson recommended the Stage Change Study be accepted.  Gaeuman, Guy 


and Helsel recommended it be accepted with revisions (assuming it can be revised).  In the case of 


Gaueman, he suggested a major revision but given its status as a final report, he would accept the 


general conclusion as being “qualitatively” correct.  


 


 







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


ATTACHMENT 1 
 


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study  
Comment-Response Table  


 







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


1 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 1 Yes.


2 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 2
Yes. However, bedforms played a very minor role in this study. It’s not clear how they were incorporated into the 
quantification of sturgeon habitat availability.


3 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 3 Yes, but I do not claim to be an expert in that subject.


4 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 4


No. A better evaluation of gaging errors is needed, as described in my comments above. I would also suggest that the idea of 
detectability be better defined. It seems that for a small water augmentation to be detected, one would have to know what the 
discharge would have been without the augmentation. How would the work? And what is the time scale over which the 
detection should occur? Detecting a small change on a particular day is a different matter than detecting a sustained small 
change over a month or a year


Lower Platte River Stage Change Peer Review


Comment‐Response Table


change over a month or a year.


5 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 5 N/A


6 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 6 yes


7 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General


The scope of this study outlined in the RFP targets two related, but distinct, objectives: determining what measurable effect, if 
any, Program water delivered at upstream locations will have on discharge in the Platte River downstream from its confluence 
with the Elkhorn River, and quantifying how changes in discharge might translate to changes in hydraulic parameters and 
physical habitat characteristics in that stream segment.


8 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General


The authors of the study approach these two objectives quite differently. With respect to how discharge affects habitat, the 
authors present an analysis based on numerical modeling of flow under existing geomorphic conditions. Although this 
modeling analysis neglects the potential for future flows to modify the current stream configuration and produce longer‐term 
changes in habitat availability, it does address the question posed in the RFP. The question, the approach used to address it, 
and therefore the review of the analysis, is straight‐forward. My review of that portion of the report is presented first.


For the question regarding the effect upstream Program water on downstream discharge, however, the authors opted to rely 
heavily on some earlier Fish and Wildlife Service analyses which were incorporated in the report as Appendix A and Appendix


9 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General
heavily on some earlier Fish and Wildlife Service analyses, which were incorporated in the report as Appendix A and Appendix 
B. In doing so, they implicitly endorse those reports and accept some level of responsibility for any problems with the methods 
and explanations presented in them. I found those reports quite difficult to interpret, so I’ll save my comments on that portion 
of the Stage Change Study for last.


10 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General


I note here that I have not attempted to systematically copy edit this report because, according to the title, this is a Final 
version. I take that to mean that typographic errors, unclear statements, and so on will not be corrected as might happen if this 
were a Draft version. Instead, my comments focus on the broader‐scale “Specific Questions” identified in Review scope of 
Work and the “Specific Comments,” “Rating,” and “Recommendation” identified in the PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines. The 
questions from the Scope of Work and the Peer Review Guidelines are addressed explicitly following my free‐form comments 
on the Hydraulics and Geomorphology section and the Hydrology section.


11 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Hydraulics and 
Geomorphology 


General


The approaches used to address the question posed in the RFP are appropriate. The general approach of modeling hydraulic 
parameters and using model output to classify habitat types is good. It could perhaps be improved by incorporating bedform 
types into the classification system, in addition to depth and velocity. Bedforms can have a large effect on flow velocities and 
turbulent structures near the bed, and so are likely very important components of physical habitat. The section on describing 
and predicting bedforms is good, but it’s not clear whether or how that information was used to inform the final conclusions of 
the studythe study.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 1
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


12 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General


The contractor appears to have an adequate understanding of the modeling tasks to produce credible results. However, the 
modeling analysis seems to include some mistakes and misinterpretations that might have the potential to affect the Study’s 
conclusions and recommendations. Two problems with the model itself are worth highlighting: the 2d model domain lacks lead 
in and lead out sections and is generally too short (see comment 19), and the quantity of topographic data appears to be very 
small compared to the resolution of the model mesh (see comment 20). Both of these issues substantially degrade the 
accuracy of the model and the confidence that can be placed in its output. Two additional issues regarding the interpretation 
of the model results are worth mentioning: The sensitivity analysis regarding how model errors affect habitat classification may 
be flawed (see comment 31), and percentages in each habitat type are based on submerged area rather than total area (see 
comment 38). That said, I doubt that correcting these problems would materially change the Study’s conclusions concerning 
how incremental changes in discharge alter habitat availability.


13 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 9
“A hydraulic and geomorphologic analysis…” not sure what part of this is a geomorphologic analysis. It’s mostly limited to 
hydraulic modeling.


14 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 9, last 
paragraph


 “…trend over this period.”   Which period?
paragraph


15 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 10, 2nd 
paragraph


refers to a 10‐year model run. What does that mean?


16 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 10, 3rd 
paragraph


 Not sure what’s meant by the different model versions incorporating cross sections from different dates. The preceding 
sentence is about water surface elevations at the cross sections. Were different cross sections (geometry) used in the two 
model versions, or just different water surface elevations for validation?


17 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Table 7
Table headings are unclear and awkward. I’m not sure what an average maximum or average minimum is. Are these the 
extreme instantaneous values for a given day averaged over X number of days? Is “average mean” the average of X number of 
daily mean values, or the average of something else? The text on page 10 that references Table 7 doesn’t help with this.


18 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 11
The discussion of the models of different dates is poorly organized and confusing. It would help if the point of all this were 
explained at the outset. Much later in the text, in the section about bedforms I believe, it becomes apparent that the point is to 
account for differences in roughness due to differences in bedform regime at different flow levels.


Page 12 4th


Figures 19‐20: The model mesh is 1,700 ft long. From the figures, it’s seen that this corresponds to about 1 channel width. This 
is far too short of a model reach. First, it is a very small sample in term of area from which to generalize about the river 


19 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 12, 4th 
paragraph


, y p g
segment. But more importantly, every point within the model is a short distance from the model boundaries. It is standard 
practice to extend the model mesh at least a few channel widths upstream and downstream of the reach of interest. That 
allows some space and time for any errors or imperfections in the boundary conditions to dissipate.


20 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 12, last 
paragraph


refers to “detailed topographic and bathymetric data” used in the model. There is no indication in this report that detailed 
topographic data was collected. The onlydiscussion along those lines concerns collection of a relatively small number of cross 
sections. The 2d mesh is said to have a mesh resolution of 10 feet. This density is irrelevant unless the topo data mapped to 
the mesh is of similar resolution, as might be obtained with an intensive sonar survey using an array of transducers or a multi‐
beam. There is no indication that this was the case. The value of the fine mesh is, to a large extent, nullified if the topography 
was interpolated from cross sections.


21 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 12, last 
paragraph


It’s not explained where the n values of 0.023 and 0.027 in the 2d model came from. Were these transferred from the 1d 
calibration in some way?


22 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 13, 4th 
paragraph


Figures 24‐26: It is stated that the match between measured and modeled water surface elevation and water velocities is 
“good.” This seems to be an overstatement. Plus or minus 0.5 ft in elevation does not seem especially good to me, and velocity 
errors seem to range up to around 50% (Figure 26).


23 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Pages 14‐15 Nice overview on bedforms.


24 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 16, 2nd 
paragraph


S’* is introduced, but not defined until it come up again on page 17.  Same for SG in the equation given for d*.


25 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 16, last 
paragraph


I think this should be the relation between the average shear stresses (as indicated in equation 1), rather than velocity.


26 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 17
Some of the notation seems odd. ’ is used in the definition of S’*, but is not defined (equation 1 introduces ’0 and , but not ’). 
Should it be just ? The shields parameter is denoted F* ‐‐ why not use * or like most everyone else? (SG‐1) is often denoted by 
R, and SG itself is usually /s. I’ve usually seen transport stage denoted with T rather than S.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 2
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


27 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 17, 4th 
paragraph


the VBA script is said to solve for the “necessary values…” It’s difficult to be sure what is being done here. I infer that is 
specified on the basis of model output, and equation 1 is solved for ’0, but that’s not clear from the text.


28 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 17, last 
paragraph


Discussion switches abruptly from bedform types to how much of the site is subaerially exposed. What’s the connection?


29 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Pages 18‐19
habitat evaluation: This seems like a good approach. Why are there no pools in this classification? Are especially deep scours 
and holes not relevant for sturgeon, or perhaps these environments are not present in the Platte?


30 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 20 top: re‐states that the model is well calibrated. See comment 22.


31 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 20 numbered item 1: velocity units are given as ft.


32 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology  Page 20


numbered item 2: Was the simulated error applied to each node independently? Or to put it another way, would adjacent 
nodes be assigned uncorrelated errors? That would clearly be incorrect – for example, if a given node had a large positive error 
in depth, all nearby nodes (and maybe every node in the model) would probably also have positive errors. Assigning each node 
an error that is independent of all the other errors would cause the random errors to cancel and probably result in very littlean error that is independent of all the other errors would cause the random errors to cancel, and probably result in very little 
net change in the proportion of particular habitat types.


33 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 21
The text says that Table 11 shows variation among transects and among sample episodes, but it doesn’t show that. Is a 
“sample episode” a day?


34 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Table 12  Page 22
The table suggests that conductivity and turbidity behave in the same way with respect to different “phases” (what’s the 
independent variable here, discharge maybe?). Meanwhile, Figure 42 shows that they behave in opposite ways. What point is 
being made with these statistics anyway?


35 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 22, 3rd 
paragraph


What is meant by “bottom velocity?” This must refer to some height above the bed.


36 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 22, 3rd 
paragraph


The explanation for why run and plunge habitat is considered most suitable is not very convincing. Where are the sturgeon 
actually found? Do the cited publications refer to run and plunge habitats?


37 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 23, 1st 
paragraph


The gaging error magnitudes defined in the hydrology sections are applied here. I suspect that the interpretation of gage errors 
may have a problem – see comment 46.


38 G Fl i l G h l P 23 24


The actual changes in the availability of various habitat types may change more with discharge than is indicated. It appears that 
the percentages given for habitat types are the percents of the total submerged area. It would be more meaningful to report 


38 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 23‐24
the percentages given for habitat types are the percents of the total submerged area. It would be more meaningful to report 
this in terms of actual area or as a percentage of the model domain area because the extent of the submerged area changes 
with discharge.


39 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Hydraulics and 
Geomorphology 


General


The hydrology studies presented in the two USFWS reports and incorporated into the Stage Change Study leave much to be 
desired in terms of both technical credibility and the clarity of the presentation. Some of the problems with the original reports 
are noted in the specific comments below. The authors of the Stage Change Study apparently reproduced the analyses 
described in the USFWS reports. That would require sorting out the details regarding what those analyses involved. Having 
done that, I would expect the authors of the Stage Change Study to provide a better description of what they did than simply 
referencing and copying text from the Appendices.


40 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Hydraulics and 
Geomorphology 


General


The flow losses due to evaporation, transpiration, and seepage estimated in these reports are, in my opinion, unreliable. The 
reported total loss figures become more credible if they are considered to be generic losses, not attributable to any particular 
sink. Nonetheless, I agree with general conclusion that small discharge augmentations upstream of Grand Island of the 
magnitude discussed will not be very noticeable at Louisville. This is not so much related to gaging uncertainty (which I think is 
overestimated in the reports), but is instead due to the fact that the augmentation volumes discussed are small compared to 


thi l th t i i Ch i fl th d f 100 f ld b diffi lt t di ti i h if theverything else that is going on. Changes in flow on the order of 100 cfs would be difficult to distinguish even if the gages were 
perfectly accurate, because the changes can be swamped by much larger flow fluctuations caused by a variety of other factors.


41 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 2, end of 2nd 


paragraph
States that the selected flows are considered appropriate for modeling, but doesn’t explain why. Does anything about pallid 
sturgeon habitat enter into this determination?


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 3
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


42 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Table 2 and 


associated text


Meaning of the headings indicating time periods are unclear. These look like periods of record for the gages, but are not. Time 
periods listed for the Loup near Columbus include times when there are no gage records. It takes careful picking through the 
text to figure out how to interpret these dates. I’m unsure of what is meant by “period of analysis.” This could refer to the 
period from which flow records were drawn to quantify the hydrologic characteristics of the gage site, which could then be 
extrapolated to other years, or it could mean that consideration of the gage site was entirely confined to that time period.


43 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 3, 3rd 
paragraph


This paragraph is very hard to follow. It does not clearly identify what is being estimated – language like “the USFWS analysis” 
and “these flows” do not identify the gages and dates for which flows were being reconstructed.


44 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 3, last 
paragraph


A new gage can apparently supply better information about powerhouse return flows, but was not used. This information 
could have at least been used to check on the accuracy of the method in the USFWS analysis.


45 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology  Pages 4‐5
The Study basically just sends the reader to Appendices A and B. There appears to have been little or no critical review of the 
USFWS reports by the Study authors.


This interpretation of gage accuracy seems overly simplistic. It is stated that the USGS considers 95% of the gage readings to be 


46 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 5, last 
paragraph


within 10% of the actual discharge. This report follows the USFWS reports in translating that into error bounds of plus or minus 
10%. Assuming the errors are independent random variables, the actual error bound should be related to the number of 
samples used to generate an estimate. For example, the USGS error estimate could be interpreted as suggesting that the 
individual errors have a standard deviation of around 5% (because close to 95% of a normally‐distributed population is within 2 
standard deviations of the mean). Whether the standard deviation is 5% or something else, the standard error of the estimate 
is equal to the standard deviation divided by the square root of the sample size. If the estimate is monthly mean flow, the 
sample size is about 30. These numbers suggest that the error bound for the monthly mean might be around 2% at the 95% 
confidence level. I am not a statistician, and the details of this example may not be exactly correct. For example, the errors on 
sequential days are probably correlated to some degree. The point is simply that the 10% error bounds assumed in the reports 
need to be re‐examined.


In repeating the USFWS reports, the Study incorporates an abundance of errors, confusing explanations, and obscure 
objectives. Page 7 discusses what happens to an incremental increase in flow at Grand Island by the time it reaches Louisville. 
The discharge increments considered seem arbitrary. It would be most helpful if the Study would explain why these particular 
increments are relevant, and more generally, what “Program water” or “First Increment water” is.
After consulting the Biological Opinion the Adaptive Management Plan the Record of Decision the Platte River Recovery


47 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 7


After consulting the Biological Opinion, the Adaptive Management Plan, the Record of Decision, the Platte River Recovery 
Implementation Program Final Environmental Impact Statement, and the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program, I’ve 
determined that First Increment water refers to 130,000 to 150,000 acre‐feet of water annually, perhaps in the form of 
baseflow discharge targets or (undefined?) pulse flows. Spread evenly across the full year, that volume of water is equivalent 
to about 200 cfs, which is in the range of increases being evaluated.
I speculate that the documents I’ve consulted are ambiguous about Program water because it has not yet been fully 
determined how that water is to be used. If so, the hydrologic analyses in the Study seem to be putting the cart before the 
horse. They seem to ask: if the upstream flow is bumped by X, could it be detected downstream, and would it materially 
improve habitat? Would it not make more sense to go about it other way around? That is, to ask: How much of an increase in 
flow is needed in the lower river to materially improve habitat there, and how much discharge needs to be added to upstream 
flows to hit that downstream target? Perhaps this is how the question is being approach, but it’s hard to tell from what’s 
written.


48 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Page 7, 5th 


h


The paragraph begins and ends describing evaporation trends, but refers to total volume lost in the middle. It’s unclear 
whether this means total volume lost through evaporation, or total volume lost including seepage losses. It’s also unclear 
whether evaporation here includes transpiration.
M ll th l i t i d h d i th USFWS t i ft ddl d i thi d T lik ti


p gy
paragraph More generally, the analysis contained here and in the USFWS reports is often muddled in this regard. Terms like evaporation 


and ET do not seem to be used in a consistent manner throughout. However, the distinction may be an unnecessary 
complication, given the methods used to estimate these losses. See comments on that later.


49 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 8


The section on hydrograph translation is difficult to interpret. It could be greatly improved by telling the reader more 
specifically what the EA flow was. Four paragraphs into the section it is noted that “the peak of the EA flow at Duncan is 
estimated to be approximately 2000 cfs above base flows.” From this, a reader might infer that something like 2000 cfs was 
released from somewhere upstream or otherwise generated somehow. Is there some reason that what was done and where it 
was done can’t be clearly stated?


50 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 1 The report discusses evaporation and seepage losses. Are there no diversions or pumps to consider?


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 4
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


51 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 2
The Figure 1 referenced here is missing. The same or a similar figure 1 is missing from Appendix B as well. The missing figures 
seem to be maps showing where all these gages, reaches, and tributaries are.


52 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 5
Estimated lag times are very crude. All are integer days, and variations in lag time with discharge are not considered. This 
component of the analysis deserves more attention than it was given.


53 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 5 Figure 2 referenced here is missing.


54 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 6‐7
It would make sense to look at channel width during the time of year when evaporation losses are greatest. Seasonal trends in 
channel widths were considered indirectly through the application of “liberal” and “conservative” widths. Seasonal differences 
in width could be addressed more directly.


55 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A  Page 8


The use of pan evaporation rates to estimate river evaporation rates is a big leap. I suspect that the temperature of the pan is 
quite different than the temperature of the river. The pan coefficient might be intended to account for that, but no explanation 
or justification for the factor of 0.7 is given. The adjustment factors used for ET losses also lack explanation. These things need 
to be explained.


Seepage losses are calculated as the difference between the net inputs to a reach (inflows minus E/ET losses) and the outflow 


56 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 9‐10


p g p ( / )
from the reach. This raises the question of why the analysis even bothers to estimate E/ET, because its magnitude is irrelevant 
to the result. If the estimate of E/ET was arbitrarily increased by 20 cfs, for example, the corresponding estimate of seepage 
loss would come out 20 cfs lower. The total loss, however, would remain the same regardless of what value was used for E/ET. 
It would be simpler and equally useful to simply define “losses” as the difference between inflows and outflows without regard 
to whether they are E/ET or seepage.


57 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 10
States that “Percent ungaged gains were not calculated, as this quantity is not relevant to this analysis.” I’m not sure how to 
interpret this statement, but I do not agree that gains are irrelevant. It’s also unclear whether “gain” refers to ungaged 
tributary input only, or to all gains (such as groundwater inflows and return flows from diversions).


58 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 11
Seepage loss estimates are called “conservative.” It would be clearer to say the reported losses underestimate the actual 
losses. It would also be good to say something about the magnitude of underestimation.


59 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Bottom of Page 12
“Total estimated daily evaporation + ET losses” are given in units of cfs, that is, rate units instead of volume. And again on page 
14. The figures referenced in this text give the losses in percent of flow.


This paragraph is unnecessarily confusing. The example discusses a reach, a subreach, a stream gage, and added Program 
t ith l ti f th hi l ti hi b t th l t Th t diffi lt ld b tl li d if


60 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A
Page 18, 1st 
paragraph


water with no explanation of the geographic relationship between these elements. That difficulty would be partly relieved if 
Figure 1 wasn’t missing from the report. It is stated that flow is 1000 cfs at Duncan on a particular day. It then refers to the 
“historic Platte River inflow,” which, from the arithmetic that follows, appears to refer to the 1000 cfs at Duncan. Then, 200 cfs 
of Program water is introduced, although it’s not clear how or where. Again, from the arithmetic, it seems that the Program 
water is also an inflow at the top of the reach, so that the flow at Duncan is actually 1200 cfs, not 1000 cfs. The presentation of 
the arithmetic is also overly complicated. It could be presented as three simple operations: determine the volume of inflows 
(including distance weighted gains), calculate the proportion of the inflows that are lost to E/ET (equal to losses/inflows), and 
multiply the Program water volume by that proportion.


61 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A,
 Page 19, 5th 
paragraph


The sensitivity analysis for open water width needs more explanation. It seems to me that, according to how the total losses 
are calculated, changing the open water width would have zero effect on total losses because E/ET is subtracted from inflows 
before computing seepage losses. Could it be that the authors of this report applied 2 different estimates of E/ET to the same 
analysis? That is, did they subtract the original estimate of E/ET from inflows, then calculate seepage losses, then use those 
seepage losses with new, larger estimates of E/ET to arrive at new total losses? That would clearly be incorrect.


62 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Figures 9 and 10
Why do these graphs present different results than the similar graphs in Appendix C of the other USFWS report included as 
Appendix B (Page 17 in Appendix B)? Graph titles and axes labels are the same in both appendices, but the plotting positions 6 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Figures 9 and 0 Appendix (Page 7 in Appendix )? Graph titles and axes labels are the same in both appendices, but the plotting positions
differ.


63 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A
 Page 23, 1st 
paragraph


States that there are no major diversions below Grand Island. What about numerous small diversions? Has that been 
evaluated?


64 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix B
Page 5, 6th 
paragraph


Mentions a Tri‐County supply canal system. I didn’t see that mentioned anywhere else. I wonder where that is, and if it is, or 
should be, considered in the analysis presented in Appendix A.


65 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Appendix B, 
Table 2


Uncertainty is assumed to be 10% of the measured flow. See comment 46.


66 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology
Appendix B, 
Table 3


 I’m wondering why the effect of First Increment Program activities is to cause negative changes in flow in some months. Here 
would be a good place to provide some explanation as to what First Increment Program activities include.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 5
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


67 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix B Page 16 These travel times could be used to improve the Appendix A analysis.


68 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix D
Page 18 of Appendix 
B and text on pages 


9‐10
Would be appropriate to define what the “OPSTUDY Model” is.


Fisheries Ecology and


The Stage Change Study does address the overall objective of the RFP for a specific area in the Platte River. I believe that the 
study could have been more robust by extending the spatial extent of the study. The objective clearly states ‘…from the 
Elkhorn River confluence to the Missouri River confluence,’ but the study was conducted on a reach from the Nebraska 
highway 50 bridge to the Chicago Rock Island and Pacific Railroad pedestrian bridge. I would agree that this reach is likely 
representative of much of the lower Platte River and is an area where pallid sturgeon have been located (Peters and Parham 
2004); however, the Platte River at the confluence with the Missouri River is likely quite different and should have been 
included. The confluence is central to these analyses because much of the use of the Platte River by pallid sturgeon occurs near 
the confluence (Peters and Parham 2004). Had the investigators conducted measurements in at least two reaches (i.e., the 
current reach and one at the confluence), preferably more than two reaches (i.e., also include a reach near the Elkhorn River 


69 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


SOW Question 1


), p y ( ,
confluence), the precision, understanding of uncertainty, and inference space would have been greater with respect to 
Program water management activities. Further, the confluence reach is unique given that discharge in the Missouri River can 
influence the habitat dynamics in the Platte River which in turn will affect the results of Program water management activities, 
most likely different than the reach near Louisville, Nebraska. This criticism is especially relevant to the 2D modeling exercise 
which provides the most useful information for pallid sturgeon conservation. Understanding the effects of Program water 
management activities for additional reaches in the Platte River is instrumental if the Governance Committee is going to use 
this information to determine the effects of discharge on physical parameters thought to be important to pallid sturgeon. The 
effects of stage changes on physical parameters appears to be well studied for the reach near Louisville, Nebraska and should 
provide information needed to evaluate Program water management activities in that area. With that said, it would be 
beneficial if the investigators made it more clear regarding the discharges under which empirical data were collected, it is 
difficult to determine as currently written.


Fi h i E l d


The selected physical parameters seem reasonable given the current state of knowledge regarding pallid sturgeon ecology. 
However, it is unclear what aspects of the pallid sturgeon life‐history are targeted by Program water management activities. 
Providing habitat for adults is likely quite different than providing habitat for larvae. I realize this was not part of the scope of 


h f h i i b h ld b id d b h G C i Thi ill h l fi h ff f
70 Guy


Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


SOW Question 2
research for the investigators, but should be considered by the Governance Committee. This will help refine the effects of 
Program water management activities and how they relate to specific aspects in the conceptual models. Defining the life‐
history aspects of interest will also make the physical parameters more scientifically defensible. It is becoming clearer that 
habitat diversity and complexity are important to riverine fishes. Thus, combining metrics into a richness or diversity value and 
evaluating those data as a composite with varying Program water management activities might be more ecologically relevant 
than studying each parameter separately.


71 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


SOW Question 3


The selected habitat classifications seem reasonable given the current state of knowledge regarding pallid sturgeon ecology. It 
may be implicit in some of the habitat classifications, but a more detailed analysis of the thalweg dynamics would have been 
informative (e.g., thalweg depth and migration under varying discharges). I believe understanding the dynamics of the thalweg 
given varying Program water management activities would be highly beneficial given that several studies indicate that pallid 
sturgeon are typically found in or near the thalweg. I recognize that the investigators are aware of the importance of this 
habitat type because they allude to it when they discuss run and plunge habitat. Again, it is important that the life‐history 
aspect of interest is well defined because habitat use likely changes with ontogeny. As stated above, combining habitat 
classifications into metrics that describe the richness or diversity of habitat may be more ecologically meaningful.


72 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


SOW Question 4
Yes, given the error associated with the Louisville gage and the results from the 100, 500, and 1,000 cfs additional Program 
water at Grand Island reaching Louisville as summarized in Figures 3, 4, and 4a. However, the amount detected varies 
temporally.


73 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


SOW Question 5


Yes, relative to stage and velocity, but not temperature, turbidity, substrate, or channel morphology because those are not 
measured by the gauging equipment. It is clear in the results that there is temporal variation in water quality metrics and that 
the variation can be detected given the sample sizes, but it is not clear how the variation in water quality metrics relate to 
Program water activities.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 6
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


74 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


SOW Question 6


In general, I believe the conclusions are supported by the data, although the conclusions are not clearly articulated. I am 
concerned that most of the analyses and measures of variation represent pseudo‐replication. This relates to my comments in 
the first question. I believe the best way to determine the effects of Program water activities on physical parameters that are 
thought to be of significance to pallid sturgeon would be to conduct the Stage Change Study in multiple reaches (i.e., the 
reaches are the experimental unit). Although one could argue that reaches are not independent, I surmise that it better 
represents available habitat for pallid sturgeon and the influence of Program water activities on that habitat. The most 
important aspect of having multiple reaches is that one will have a better understanding of the uncertainty of Program related 
water activities on pallid sturgeon habitat.


75 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 1, 2nd 
paragraph


"bed topography at low to intermediate flows "  Why not bed topography at high flow?


76 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource


Page 1, 3rd  "Within the Study Reach, depth, velocity, turbidity, water temperature, dissolved oxygen, and conductivity measurements, as 
76 Guy Aquatic resource 


Management
paragraph well as bed topography, were obtained…"  Why not sediment transport or large woody debris?


77 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 5, 4th 
paragraph


"Water Quality Measures "  These are commonly measured, but why?  What are your hypotheses related to these or how do 
they relate to a conceptual model


78 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 5, 4th 
paragraph


"Data collected from each phase of sampling were then used to conduct a power analysis to determine whether sample sizes 
were adequate…" This is true at one site, but wouldn't it be better to measure these at multiple reaches and treat those as the 
experimental unit?


79 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 7, 3rd 
paragraph


"The results, assuming 100, 500, and 1,000 cfs of additional Program water at Grand Island, are
summarized in Figures 3, 4, and 4a, respectively"   Very informative.


80 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource


Page 7, 6th 
"Comparison with USFWS Analysis " Was this part of the original RFP?80 Guy Aquatic resource 


Management
paragraph


Comparison with USFWS Analysis   Was this part of the original RFP?


81 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 11, 3rd 
paragraph


"These comparisons indicate that the low‐flow channel or channels tended to deepen during the high spring flow
events and tended to become shallower in response to periods of low flow..." I find this very informative given pallid sturgeon 
tend to use the main channel, i.e., thalweg.  We have found that pallid sturgeon avoid shallow, small tributaries. 


82 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Figure 23 Page 13  Why so few samples at high discharge?  Also, does the variation in the number of samples collected influence the results?


83 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 13, 4th 
paragraph


"in conjunction with the topographic data on which the hydraulic model is based (Figure 24)."  Some statistics on the 
regression would help reduce this subjective statement. Why is one of the data points missing from this figure?  It is the outlier 
in Figure 25.  Am I missing something?


Fisheries Ecology and
84 Guy


Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Figure 26 Page 13  Seems like a lot of scatter, should you explain the variation?


85 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 16, 2nd 
paragraph


This paragraph and the following two paragraphs are difficult to read.


86 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 16, 2nd 
paragraph


"(d* = D50{(SG‐1)g/ν2}1/3))  "  I think the parentheses are off a bit.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 7
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


87 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 17, 2nd 
paragraph


"is the sediment transport strength defined as (τ’/τcr‐1) "  ‐I don't think this is defined?


88 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


 
Page 17, 3rd 
paragraph


"Based on six grab samples of the surface bed material "   ‐Is six good enough?  Why six?


89 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 18, 1st 
paragraph


"Evaluation of the areas occupied by dunes indicates that the median
predicted dune height increases from 0.45 feet (~5.4 inches) at 3,700 cfs to 0.81 feet (~10 inches)…"  These data are very 
interesting.  Especially from a fish ecology aspect because we believe fish use these as velocity refuge.  Any measures of 
variation with these data?


90 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 18, Figure 34 Excellent figure!
Management


91 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 18, 2nd 
paragraph


"Plunge areas represent a complex habitat that is characterized by not only a rapid
change of depth, but also its spatial location relative to bars and banklines within the detailed
study reach…"  This information and the bullets below are a bit difficult to follow.


92 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 19, 1st 
paragraph


"Slackwater, Riffles, and Runs ."  Why caps now?


93 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 19, Figure 36 Excellent figure.


94 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 19, 2nd 
paragraph


"The procedure used to develop the uncertainty bands in Figures 38a‐d are described in the next section..."  This is good, but 
make it clear what uncertainty you are measuring.  I don't think this is uncertainty related to Program water activities, which is 
the central questionManagement the central question.


95 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 20, Figure 44a Very useful information.


96 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Table 11 Page 21 Measures of variation?


97 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 22, 3rd 
paragraph


"...it can be concluded that changes in habitat areas as a result of 100 or 500 cfs environmental releases would have a 
negligible influence on pallid sturgeon habitat in the lower Platte River. "  I agree.  Nice work.


98 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 23, 1st 
paragraph


"Finally, the increase in discharge does not move the conductivity, turbidity, temperature, or dissolved oxygen outside the 
typical range preferred by pallid sturgeon (Figures 42 and 43)."  Not sure we know what typical is for pallid.  Can you reword to 
avoid 'typical' and 'preferred?'Management avoid  typical  and  preferred?


99 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 23, 3rd 
paragraph


"Based on this stage change study, the % habitat in the lower Platte River experiences a relatively high rate of change for 
flows ranging between 4,000 cfs to 6,000 cfs. " Not true for all habitats see Figures 44 and 45.


100 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 24, 1st 
paragraph


"The Flat classification would have been increased from approximately 30% (± 7%) to 40% ( ± 8% ) of the habitat area…"  Do 
you mean ±9?


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 8
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


101 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 24, 1st 
paragraph


"The decrease in discharge does not move the conductivity, turbidity, temperature, or dissolved oxygen outside the typical 
range preferred by pallid sturgeon (Figures 42 and 43) ." see comment #24


102 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 24, 3rd 
paragraph


"Spring is likely the most critical period so that should be protected as best possible ."  What does this mean?  I don't think we 
can say this with much confidence.


103 Guy
Fisheries Ecology and 
Aquatic resource 
Management


Page 25, 4th 
paragraph


"Therefore, the results from this Study should be used as one
part of a larger perspective on available habitat rather than an absolute factor in driving
conclusions and decisions related to population dynamics."   Yes, nice work!


104 Helsel
Environmental 


SOW Question 1


The Study adequately addresses the relative magnitude of stage change due to management activities in relation to existing 
flows and habitat of the pallid sturgeon. It does not discuss the proposed changes in light of existing appropriations and any 
current legal constraints on flow in the Platte River In other words if these diversions were implemented would they impact104 Helsel


Statistics
SOW Question 1 current legal constraints on flow in the Platte River. In other words, if these diversions were implemented would they impact 


the water rights of existing rights owners? The method for extrapolation of miSSing record to the Loup River at Columbus is 
flawed, and so the resulting errors on the analysis are unknown.


105 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
SOW Question 2


The data themselves are presumably scientifically defensible. They are fairly routine parameters with established protocols for 
collection. The amount of data is adequate. Analysis ofthe data is not adequate, if the purpose is to determine whether 
proposed flow augmentation and withdrawals for storage will significantly affect those parameters.


106 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
SOW Question 3 This is not my area of expertise.


107 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
SOW Question 4


Yes. Given that equipment and gauging error is listed as 10% (presumably +5% and ∙5%0, the Study determined that flow 
changes such as those on page 24, going from 5,040 cfs to 3,290 cfs, are expected to be much greater than 5% (the direction is 
known), and so will be detectable as different from base flow conditions.


108 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
SOW Question 5


No. Determination ofdifferences in water quality parameters using Analysis of Variance is flawed because the serial correlation 
in the data was not accounted for. The current analysis is not sufficient to determine whether there are significant impacts for 
these parameters.


Environmental
The Study's conclusions in regards to flow are supported by the data and analysis. The conclusions in regards to water quality 


109 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
SOW Question 6 parameters are not. The conclusions in regards to effects on habitat. are beyond my area of expertise, but appear to be the 


most thoroughly supported portion due to the modeling work.


110 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
General 


One fundamental problem with the Study is that many analyses were based on two apparently unpublished reports by the 
USFWS (2002 a and b). Results hinge so much on these draft reports that some statement from the Service should be included 
that verifies that the analyses, spreadsheets, etc. in these reports are valid, and that they received peer review and were 
considered accurate, even though the reports were never published. Or if this is not the case, a statement to the effect that the 
analyses were never peer reviewed or verified. Citations in this Study to those two reports usually do not discuss the methods 
that produced the conclusions, or speadsheets, or whatever product is being cited. The citations imply that what was reported 
is accepted as truth.
What were the quality of these methods? Are there any plans for reviewing, verifying and publishing these 10‐year old 
reports?reports that some statement from the Service should be included that verifies that the analyses, spreadsheets, etc. in 
these reports are valid, and that they received peer review and were considered accurate, even though the reports were never 
published. Or if this is not the case, a statement to the effect that the analyses were never peer reviewed or verified. Citations 
in this Study to those two reports usually do not discuss the methods that produced the conclusions, or speadsheets, or 
whatever product is


111 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 3


An example of the dependence on these two reports is the method used for extrapolation from one gage to another using 
regression. This procedure has for years been known to dampen variability in flows, as regression predicts mean values. So the 
predicted daily flows for 30 years at the Loup River at Columbus (1978‐2008) relied upon in this report will not be as variable, 
high or low, as would have been the actual record ifit had been measured. Other methods for extrapolation (one is often called 
MOVE or LOC) are preferred when the probability ofhitting a high or low flow is at issue, which it is here. These probabilities of 
high and low events will be underestimated, as regression by design predicts values towards the center. Given that the 
referenced report was never taken beyond draft, methods in that report including this one may be less than 'industry 
standard'.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 9
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


112 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 4


 Please make the method for estimating missing evaporation data more clear. Were simply long‐term monthly averages used? 
That is what is implied in the text. Or were monthly temperatures for the period to be estimated incorporated as well, so an 
unusually hot June for example had higher evaporation than the long‐term average for June?


113 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 4


 Isn't the statement that "the effect of flow changes in the central Platte River for the magnitude currently envisioned under 
the Platte River Program are not likely to be detectable at Louisville, Nebraska" (USFWS, 2002b)" one ofthe questions that this 
Study is to answer? Why then cite the answer, from a draft report at that, here, with implied great authority? No background 
or insight into the method the USFWS used to make this conclusion is presented here. I'd suggest you delete this statement 
until later after you have presented your analysis ofthis question. From my reading of the analysis, the Study finds that the flow 
changes will certainly be detectable at Louisville, decreasing II ...the flow at Louisville from 5,040 cfs to 3,290 cfs" (from page 
24). So if not deleting the statement, make sure it is clear that this report finds a different result.


114 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 5


Data are not "illustrated" in a table such as Table 5. They are "listed". If they should be illustrated, draw a figure. Tables don't 
illustrate anything.


What is the objective of determining whether "water quality data can differentiate between flow conditions"? This implies that 


115 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 5


What is the objective of determining whether  water quality data can differentiate between flow conditions ? This implies that 
the flow data cannot differentiate, and that water quality might be needed to do this. Or do you mean "water quality is 
different at different flow conditions"? The latter is focused on water quality, rather than on using it to say something about 
flow. Clarify the objective for why this analysis is being undertaken.


116 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 5


Your title "Accuracy Assessment of USGS Stream Gage Measurements" is misleading. You aren't doing an assessment of the 
accuracy of their methods. No data were collected to do so. You are just using their own accuracy assessment to compute the 
magnitude of 10 percent of observed flows. You should rename this section. Then you compute tables of differences in 
uncertainty estimates (Tables 4 and 6) without stating what these are good for, or how they came about. Was the method 
used in the USFWS report different from yours, and therefore the differences? If so, what were the two methods and why do 
you think they differ? Or are these the same methods just applied to different time intervals, and no change in the physical 
system has occurred? If this is true, then discuss how this helps you and how the difference in flows between 1975‐1994 and 
1995‐2008 produce the observed differences listed in Tables 4 and 6


117 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 8


 I have no idea what "Program staff also provided some preliminary information evaluating the pulse flow event to the Grand 
Island gage" means. Please reword or delete if not important.


118 Helsel
Environmental 


St ti ti
Page 9


 So your conclusions here are that a release of 13K AF upstream is not really discernable by the time it travels downstream to 
L i ill Wh t th i li ti f thi f l t fi di i th t th l t fi di t di ith thi ?


118 Helsel
Statistics


Page 9
Louisville. What are the implications of this for your later findings, given that the later findings seem to disagree with this?


119 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Modeling 


You found that you have well‐calibrated models, and that the Platte acts like most other rivers in scouring the bed during high 
flows, increasing channel depth. You have a handle on the types of bedforms and bars likely present at differing flow regimes. 
This was translated into models of the amount of habitat available for different flow regimes. You evaluate uncertainty in 
habitat computations based on differences between measured and modeled flows. However this underestimates the true 
error; as errors for calibration data are always smaller than verification data not used to calibrate the model. A verification step 
of some sort, possibly a cross‐validation procedure, should be used to quantify uncertainties instead. Yours are very likely too 
small.


These daily values are not independent. Analysis of variance (as well as other standard statistical tests) assume independence 
of observations, that there is no sequential correlation. There certainly is for day to day measures of temperature and water 
depth, and probably for the other parameters as well. The result is that sample sizes are incorrect, that 46 observations for 
September 2008 for example may have the equivalent information of 20 independent observations. Therefore the test should 
be run using n=20 rather than 46, and the differences between months may with reduced sample sizes actually not be 
significant. Because this was not considered, these tests do not prove that differences actually have occurred between months. 
The tests should be run by correcting for serial correlation, which can be done with more complex software, or by more simply


120 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 21


The tests should be run by correcting for serial correlation, which can be done with more complex software, or by more simply 
computing the 'effective sample size' that is a function of the magnitude of correlation between observations in the time 
series.correlation. There certainly is for day to day measures of temperature and water depth, and probably for the other 
parameters as well. The result is that sample sizes are incorrect, that 46 observations for September 2008 for example may 
have the equivalent information of 20 independent observations. Therefore the test should be run using n=20 rather than 46, 
and the differences between months may with reduced sample sizes actually not be significant. Because this was not 
considered, these tests do not prove that differences actually have occurred between months. The tests should be run by 
correcting for serial correlation, which can be done with more complex software, or by more simply computing the 'effective 
sample size' that is a function of the magnitude of correlation between observations in the time series.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 10
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


121 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 21


Serial correlation similarly invalidates standard power calculations. No detail on how power was calculated is given here. 
Standard ANOVA power calculations assume both independence and a normal distribution, and turbidity and depth data are 
probably not normally distributed (the others may be based on working with similar data). Much more detail should be given 
here on the procedure of the power calculations.


122 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 22


Even more importantly, the questions that the power analysis and ANOVA are addressing should be explicitly stated. What is 
the value in these analyses? State why you are performing them.


123 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 22


Figures 42 and 43 are stated as being composed of only the May 2009 data. Yet on page 23 they are used to compare to 
conditions at other additional times. This isn't valid, certainly for temperature. In addition, the data should be tagged and color 
coded by rising and falling stages of the hydro graph. Part of the large variation for similar discharges is due to differences 
between water quality when the storm is rising versus falling. Turbidity can certainly be expected to be very different for the 
same discharge depending on which limb of the hydro graph it occurs on.


124 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 23


The meaning of the statement" the magnitude ofthe change in discharge is subject to the same uncertainty as the overall flow" 
is unclear. Be more specific or delete this.


h " h d h d h d b d d l d d


125 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 23


The statement" the increase in discharge does not move the conductivity, turbidity, temperature, or dissolved oxygen outside 
the typical range preferred by pallid sturgeon (Figures 42 and' 43)" is too broad and sweeping of a statement considering that 
the figures are based on data only from one month, and you've already stated that based on an ANOVA the levels of these 
parameters differ between months. Graphs of the relationship between these parameters and discharge should be based on 
data from all four months of interest where diversions are expected (note that May is not one of those months and so is 
incorrectly used for the data in these graphs), while considering variation due to rising vs falling hydrograph and to 
temperature effects. In short, you cannot use the current graphs to make the conclusion you are heading toward.


126 Helsel
Environmental 


Statistics
Page 24


 a typo? The Run classification would be reduced from 45% to 34%, a decrease of 1 %??? Plus, you report different values in 
Appx G. Please clarify.


127 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


SOW Question 1
The report does adequately address the overall objective as stated. The report is logically organized and compete, however, it 
would be helpful to include a background section early in the report that describes the type of flow conditions being 
considered to place the study in context.


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics River


Yes, the physical parameters are adequate and scientifically defensible. Clearly, the need for improved scientific understanding 


128 Weber
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


SOW Question 2


, p y p q y y, p g
of selection and utilization of specific, local flow conditions (both hydrodynamics and water quality) and habitat‐scale flow 
patterns that pallid sturgeon prefer is still needed, but outside of the scope of this project. The report does a very good job of 
describing available data and current understanding and utilizing this information to reach the conclusions.


129 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


SOW Question 3


Yes, the habitat classifications are adequate and scientifically defensible. In addition, to the uncertainty analysis and 
quantification of habitat areas by type, it would be helpful to include a broader discussion about the space‐time utilization of 
individuals that may be residing or moving through the area. For instance, “what is known about adjacencies or distributions of 
habitat types”, this may be important for habitat utilization and may be impacted by stage change. From the information it did 
not appear that distribution or adjacency would change, but would be good to include this in the discussion.


130 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


SOW Question 4
Yes, the report clearly addresses the detectability of the stage change from Program Water activities. It would be helpful, 
within the discussion section to refer to the stage discharge curves for the reach.


River Hydraulics and  Yes, the report addresses the impact of the stage change on the river parameters listed. It would be helpful to list other 


131 Weber
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


SOW Question 5
parameters that may be important, such as flow shear lines, and eddy structures, however, less is know about these features 
than the parameters given. With that said, some acknowledgement that the parameters considered may not be the only flow 
features that determine habitat function and utilization would be useful. The second to last paragraph of the report provides 
some comments towards this, but could be expanded.


132 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


SOW Question 6
Yes, the findings of the study and conclusions reached are supported by data and sound engineering and scientific analysis. It 
would be beneficial to include an executive summary of the report and a clear conclusions / summary section in the report


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 11
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


133 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


General 


Scientific Soundness – The methods and approaches were based on sound engineering and science. Unfortunately, although 
there is literature and past studies that describe general habitat preferences and utilization, there is little available information 
from a first‐principles understanding of specific habitat needs for the species of interest. This
short‐coming is, however, common in most aquatic restoration and management programs. The project report uses sound, 
available engineering and science to address this inherent uncertainty in its habitat evaluation. Although further studies and 
fundamental research could improve this understanding, it is clearly outside of the scope
of this project.


134 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


General 


Organization and Clarity – The report logically presents the engineering analysis of the
hydrologic conditions of the study reach; data collection programs; hydraulic model
construction, calibration and utilization; geomorphic assumptions and analysis, flow
habitat assumptions and habitat discrimination technique; and conclusions. Uncertainties
of methods, models and approaches are adequately described throughout the report.


River Hydraulics and 


135 Weber
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


General 
Conciseness – The report is well written and presents an appropriate amount (both depth
and breadth) of information. The report also, includes relevant information in the
appendices and adequately sites previous and related published work.


136 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


General 
Degree to which the conclusions are supported by the data – The report provides a logical
progression from hydrologic conditions of the study reach through final conclusions,
including the uncertainty of information utilized in the decision process.


137 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


General 


Cohesiveness of conclusions – The formulation of the conclusions is based on sound
engineering and science. The conclusions/summary statements should have been
explicitly organized in a closing, Conclusion or Summary section in the report rather than
simply woven into the Discussion section.


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River   In the discussion of minimum and maximum flow selection, a flow recurrence /exceedance plot would be helpful to place the 


138 Weber Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


selected flows in context, rather than referring to figure 2. Also the period of record should be stated for this analysis in the 
Study Flows section.


139 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


Figure 2  x‐axis of figure 2 should use the first day of the month for each major grid line and label


140 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


A better location map would be helpful to locate the study reach within the state and along the Platte River Stream network.


141 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 


It would be helpful to explicitly state that the 2D SRH model is a fixed bed model andthis geometry is used throughout for all 
simulations. How this impacts the local flow conditions for higher flows should be addressed.


Computational 
Modeling


simulations. How this impacts the local flow conditions for higher flows should be addressed.


142 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


Figures 24, 25 and 26 are useful data plots, however, it would be helpful to see the distribution of the difference between 
model and field data on a spatial image of the study area. This would be helpful to understand the performance of the model, 
but likely does not negatively impact the use of the model results.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 12
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


143 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


Page 24, first 
paragraph after table 


13
 ….45% (+8%) of the habitat area to approximately 34% (+8%) of the habitat area, a decrease of 1%. The “1%” should be “11%”.


144 Weber


River Hydraulics and 
Mechanics, River 
Restoration, and 
Computational 


Modeling


Discussion 
In addition to the text description, it would be helpful to tabulate the changes to habitat classification in the discussion section. 
This to compare across conditions of interest, and to show the impact of the management actions.


145 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


SOW Question 1 Yes, subject to comments 


Hydrology, 


146 Wilson
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


SOW Question 2 Yes, to the extent that they can actually be meaningfully evaluated by the methods used.


147 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


SOW Question 3
This is a good example of a subject that can’t be evaluated if one considers the report in isolation, because habitats get 
minimal attention in this report.


148 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


SOW Question 4
Yes and No. Yes the study answered the question; no, program activities (as to flow) cannot be detected. Effects of other 
activities (sediment mobilization for example) were not assessed.


149 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


SOW Question 5 N/A


Hydrology, 


150 Wilson
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


SOW Question 6 Yes, especially given the conclusion is “did not find”.


151 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
I consider the core elements of the study to be technically sound and useful. With some exceptions noted below, the work 
satisfied the scientific and technical scrutiny that was within my expertise to apply, and within the peer review budget to 
investigate. The study report appears to satisfy the objectives of the RFP.


152 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General


In my experience, a role of peer review is to focus on potential weaknesses or limitations in a study. Thus the critical nature of 
my comments should not be taken to suggest the study is seriously flawed, but rather as my effort to provide constructive 
input to future work. In the specific comments, I observe the following aspects of the study that I thought might be in most 
need of improvement or of further evaluation.


153 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
For purposes of organization and clarity, it would be beneficial to provide an introduction that puts the study in context. See 
specific comments on p. 1. 


Hydrology, 


154 Wilson
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General I suggest reconsidering the methodology and results of the loss analysis. See specific comments on p. 2. 


155 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
The effects of flow modification by hydropower appear to be potentially profound and need further evaluation. See specific 
comments on p. 8. 


156 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
The apparent rigor of certain of the analyses does not fully capture the uncertainty in the bottom line results. See specific 
comments on p. 20.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 13
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


157 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
Scientific soundness . The technical aspects of the document were generally good, with possible exceptions noted under 
Specific Comments.


158 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
Organization and clarity. The Specific Comments (especially regarding Pages 1 and 9) identify ways the organization and clarity 
of the report could have been improved by providing additional background discussion. That being said, within what was 
actually presented, the report was well organized and well written.


159 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General Conciseness . Good.


160 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
General Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data . Hard to say without copies of the data sets, spreadsheets, and models.


Geomorphology


161 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
Cohesiveness of conclusions . Ok within the context of the report. But there is so much unsaid, that a stranger to the process 
might not be able to properly judge the end results.


162 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
Presentation: Is a tightly reasoned argument evident throughout? Does the manuscript wander from the central purpose?  The 
true central purpose is never stated. Within the organization as presented, the report does a good job of walking through the 
methods, data and results without any wandering.


163 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General


Methods: Are they appropriate? Current? Described clearly and with sufficient detail so that someone else could repeat the 
work?  Except for the evaluation of losses, the methods are appropriate and current. The level of detail in methods is good. I 
don’t know enough about the models to know if one could repeat the work, but I suspect it would be necessary to get the 
actual model I/O files to do so.


164 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
General


Data presentation: When results are stated in the text of the manuscript, can you easily verify them by examining tables and 
figures? Are any of the results counterintuitive? Are all tables and figures clearly labeled? Well planned? Too complex? 
Necessary? Good marks on all of this


Geomorphology
Necessary?  Good marks on all of this.


165 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General


Statistical design and analyses: Are they appropriate and correct? Can the reader readily discern which measurements or 
observations are independent of which other measurements or observations? Are replicates correctly identified? Are 
significance statements justified?  A lot of attention is paid to statistical determinations, but there is a fair amount more that 
could and probably should have been said. See comments on P. 20.


166 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General


Conclusions: Has the author(s) drawn conclusions from insufficient evidence? Are the interpretations of the data logical, 
reasonable, and based on the application of relevant and generally accepted scientific principles? Has the author(s) overlooked 
alternative hypotheses? I found the overall results acceptable, since they agreed with what was fairly evident even without the 
study, that no significant relationships can be quantitatively established.


167 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


General
Errors: Point out any errors in technique, fact, calculation, interpretation, or style.  My review was not in depth, but I found 
nothing of concern except for the loss analysis (see comments on P. 2).


168 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


General
Citations: Are all (and only) pertinent references cited? Are they provided for all assertions of fact not supported by the data in 


168 Wilson
Assessment, 


Geomorphology


General
the manuscript?  It’s a good reference list.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 14
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


169 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 1


In my first paragraph of general comments, I said the study appears to satisfy the objectives of the RFP. I used the word 
“appears” because neither the RFP nor report does a good job of placing the study objectives into context, i.e. explaining to 
what ultimate purpose the work was being done. To understand the work, I relied on the Biological Opinion and the limited 
discussion in the Protocol. I don’t fault the authors for this necessarily, as it isn’t clear from the RFP that they were tasked to 
provide context in the report.
Nonetheless, the lack of context made reading and evaluating the report much more difficult than it should have been (at least 
for me). The standard organization for a scientific paper includes an introduction that presents the background knowledge 
necessary for the reader to understand the findings of the paper. This is especially important when, as here, there is no 
executive summary to bring everything together.
In this case the following would have been useful in providing the reader with important background knowledge:
1) A brief synopsis of the nexus between stage and sturgeon as it is now understood. Note that the fact that this paper is about 
pallid sturgeon isn’t even mentioned until halfway through the report (p. 14).                                                   2) One or more 
hypotheses about how the Program could impact that nexus (including a “non‐detect” hypothesis). This would disclose the 
current thinking about why the study reach is important to sturgeon and why we are interested in predicting impacts to depthcurrent thinking about why the study reach is important to sturgeon, and why we are interested in predicting impacts to depth, 
velocity, bedforms, topography and the like.                                                               3) A clear and succinct statement of the 
methodological approach to evaluating the hypotheses. This might be a flow chart indicating that first we have to route 
Program flows to the reach; then model their impact on the parameters of interest; which means very complex hydraulic 
models and interpretations relating especially to bedforms; and finally translate that to impacts to sturgeon habitats. It may 
seem obvious, but that doesn’t mean the report shouldn’t be clear about what is being done. job of placing the study 
objectives into context, i.e. explaining to what ultimate purpose the work was being done.                                                                  
To understand the work, I relied on the Biological Opinion and the limited discussion in the Protocol. I don’t fault the authors 
for this necessarily, as it isn’t clear from the RFP that they were tasked to provide context in the report.


170 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Pages 1 and 2 Figure 1 would benefit from an inset location map.


The loss analysis is an update of a FWS study provided in Appendix A. It is difficult to fully evaluate the method without a copy


171 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 2


 The loss analysis is an update of a FWS study provided in Appendix A. It is difficult to fully evaluate the method without a copy 
of the spreadsheet. Nonetheless, I was very surprised about the results, and wonder if the Program is approaching this 
important issue correctly. I did not review Appendix A in sufficient detail to know for sure that my concerns are valid, so please 
consider this discussion accordingly.
My two primary concerns are as follows.
Some of the loss rates reported are much higher than I have seen, even in arid western rivers. If it has not been done, I strongly 
recommend each element of the loss be independently verified. For example, analytical methods using groundwater head data 
can be used to independently estimate seepage losses. It appears that the method calculates Program losses in proportion to 
flows. An alternative (and in my experience more appropriate) approach is to calculate them on an incremental basis. If the 
current procedure has not been affirmatively deemed more appropriate than an incremental approach, the incremental 
method should be
To illustrate my concern, consider the result of the accounting done by the Bureau of Reclamation for the loss of water 
imported into the Rio Grande Basin (this loss rate is important for quantification of endangered species impacts as well as 
available water supplies). Based on quantification conducted by the Rio Grande Compact Commission, a loss rate has been 
calculated for the reach from Heron Reservoir (near the Colorado border on a tributary of the Rio Chama) to Albuquerque (a 
distance roughly comparable to Grand Island‐Louisville). The loss rate applies to the flow added to natural flow by imported 
water. There are elements of the rate calculation that are not entirely apples‐apples to that made for the Lower Platte, but water. There are elements of the rate calculation that are not entirely apples apples to that made for the Lower Platte, but 
these would have a modest effect at most. The Rio Grande loss rate is 2%. Given this result, it is difficult for me to understand 
loss rats as high as 90% in eastern Nebraska.
The subject of losses above Grand Island is not considered, but it would be of interest to know the Louisville flow as compared 
to an upstream reservoir release
The following comment is not related to the above, but to the reference to selection of “appropriate” flows on page 2. 
Appropriate how? With no discussion of matters such as sturgeon habitat, the reader cannot know. It is also confusing to 
indicate that a flow of 39,000 cfs is of “primary interest”, without explaining why it was then appropriate to use 8,000 cfs as 
the high end of flows selected.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 15
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


172 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 3  I did not understand how the study made use of two different periods of record for extended analysis.


173 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 4 The new spreadsheet analysis probably should be provided in an Appendix.


174 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 5 The power analysis probably should be provided in an Appendix.


175 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Page 6


The focus on gage uncertainty may cause readers to overlook the uncertainty in the USFWS spreadsheet which estimates 
impacts of Program flows.


Geomorphology


176 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 7 In addition to the plots in Figures 3, 4 and 4a, it would be interesting to see the data plotted as flow duration curves.


177 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 8


This page presents Figure 5 and makes note of the “obvious” intraday flow variation. The discussion focuses on how to smooth 
that out so the pulse can be translated from Grand Island to Louisville, which is certainly appropriate. However there is no 
discussion whatsoever about the fact that the hydropower effect causes a 1 foot diurnal change in stage, which is far greater 
than the transformed impact of the pulse.
The implied premise of the study is that stage impacts habitat, through effects on velocity, depth and bedforms. If so, how is it 
that the effects of such a large and rapid stage change are not considered at all? Had the study found that Program releases did 
impact habit in the study reach, that conclusion would have been called into question because the interday flow variation was 
not considered and could be such that it swamped out any Program impact.


Hydrology, 
Another aspect of context that wasn’t effectively presented was the cause‐effect relationship being studied. The stated 
objective puts “stage” as the focal point, whereas after reading the report, I perceive the operational objective was to evaluate 


178 Wilson
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 9
the impact of flow (cfs) as it directly impacts water depth and velocity, and the consequent effects on sediment, bedforms and 
habitat. Stage as such seemed not to be that much of a consideration, or a particularly good surrogate, especially in terms of 
assessing velocity and its consequences. The lack of hypotheses was surprising given the nature of the Adaptive Management 
Plan.


179 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 10 Given that stage is the focus of the study, are two water surface data points sufficient for the cross‐sections?


180 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 11
It would be useful to have an assessment of the change in roughness with flow, and especially whether it is reasonable to 
interpolate values.


181 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 12 I did not follow the explanation of the very low n values for the 2D model.


182 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 15 The entire bedform discussion would benefit from illustrations.


183 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 19  I found Figure 36 hard to interpret.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 16
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page  Comment Response


184 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 20


The use of a Monte Carlo analysis to assess uncertainty gives an impression of statistical rigor to the results. Certain other 
aspects of the work give a similar impression. However if one starts at the very beginning of the work, i.e. an increment of flow 
at Grand Island (with unstated uncertainty), and carries it through to the end, many other issues become apparent – the loss 
estimates, hydrograph translation, error bars on model inputs (median grain size is a good example), and more. This cascade of 
uncertainties would have undermined the results had a positive relationship been found. As the bottom line of the report did 
not assert any relationships had been statistically demonstrated, these issues are perhaps not critical. Still, I would have liked 
to see (in the discussion section) a recap of all the assumptions, limitations and uncertainties in the work.


185 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Geomorphology


Page 22
Of interest given prior discussion, the models are (correctly) said to evaluate depth and velocity, not “stage change”. One 
question not posed previously: why is the release being evaluated so small?


186 Wilson


Hydrology, 
Environmental Impact 


Assessment, 
Page 25


Perhaps emphasize that lack of statistical significance does not equal lack of effect. In fact, qualitatively one can say that a 
release probably does have at least marginal benefit (this is a bit more affirmative than “no additional stress”).


Geomorphology


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 17
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


ATTACHMENT 2 
 


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study  
Peer Review Submissions 


 







Reviewer #1 


Dr. David Gaeuman 


Expertise:  Fluvial Geomorphology 







 1 


Review of: 


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Final Protocol Implementation Report 


 


 The scope of this study outlined in the RFP targets two related, but distinct, objectives: 


determining what measurable effect, if any, Program water delivered at upstream locations will 


have on discharge in the Platte River downstream from its confluence with the Elkhorn River, 


and quantifying how changes in discharge might translate to changes in hydraulic parameters and 


physical habitat characteristics in that stream segment.  


 


 The authors of the study approach these two objectives quite differently. With respect to how 


discharge affects habitat, the authors present an analysis based on numerical modeling of flow 


under existing geomorphic conditions. Although this modeling analysis neglects the potential for 


future flows to modify the current stream configuration and produce longer-term changes in 


habitat availability, it does address the question posed in the RFP. The question, the approach 


used to address it, and therefore the review of the analysis, is straight-forward. My review of that 


portion of the report is presented first.  


 


 For the question regarding the effect upstream Program water on downstream discharge, 


however, the authors opted to rely heavily on some earlier Fish and Wildlife Service analyses, 


which were incorporated in the report as Appendix A and Appendix B. In doing so, they 


implicitly endorse those reports and accept some level of responsibility for any problems with 


the methods and explanations presented in them. I found those reports quite difficult to interpret, 


so I’ll save my comments on that portion of the Stage Change Study for last.  


 


 I note here that I have not attempted to systematically copy edit this report because, 


according to the title, this is a Final version. I take that to mean that typographic errors, unclear 


statements, and so on will not be corrected as might happen if this were a Draft version. Instead, 


my comments focus on the broader-scale “Specific Questions” identified in Review scope of 


Work and the “Specific Comments,” “Rating,” and “Recommendation” identified in the PRRIP 


Peer Review Guidelines. The questions from the Scope of Work and the Peer Review Guidelines 


are addressed explicitly following my free-form comments on the Hydraulics and 


Geomorphology section and the Hydrology section. 


 


Hydraulics and Geomorphology 


 


General Comments and Recommendation on Hydraulics and Geomorphology Section 


 


 The approaches used to address the question posed in the RFP are appropriate. The general 


approach of modeling hydraulic parameters and using model output to classify habitat types is 


good. It could perhaps be improved by incorporating bedform types into the classification 


system, in addition to depth and velocity. Bedforms can have a large effect on flow velocities 


and turbulent structures near the bed, and so are likely very important components of physical 


habitat. The section on describing and predicting bedforms is good, but it’s not clear whether or 


how that information was used to inform the final conclusions of the study.  


 The contractor appears to have an adequate understanding of the modeling tasks to produce 


credible results. However, the modeling analysis seems to include some mistakes and 







 2 


misinterpretations that might have the potential to affect the Study’s conclusions and 


recommendations. Two problems with the model itself are worth highlighting: the 2d model 


domain lacks lead in and lead out sections and is generally too short (see comment 7), and the 


quantity of topographic data appears to be very small compared to the resolution of the model 


mesh (see comment 8). Both of these issues substantially degrade the accuracy of the model and 


the confidence that can be placed in its output. Two additional issues regarding the interpretation 


of the model results are worth mentioning: The sensitivity analysis regarding how model errors 


affect habitat classification may be flawed (see comment 20), and percentages in each habitat 


type are based on submerged area rather than total area (see comment 26). That said, I doubt that 


correcting these problems would materially change the Study’s conclusions concerning how 


incremental changes in discharge alter habitat availability.  


  


Specific Comments on Hydraulics and Geomorphology Section 


 


1. Page 9: “A hydraulic and geomorphologic analysis…” not sure what part of this is a 


geomorphologic analysis. It’s mostly limited to hydraulic modeling.  


 


2. Page 9, last paragraph: “…trend over this period.” Which period? 


 


3. Page 10, 2
nd


 paragraph refers to a 10-year model run. What does that mean?  


 


4. Page 10, 3rd paragraph: Not sure what’s meant by the different model versions incorporating 


cross sections from different dates. The preceding sentence is about water surface elevations at 


the cross sections. Were different cross sections (geometry) used in the two model versions, or 


just different water surface elevations for validation? 


 


5. Table 7: Table headings are unclear and awkward. I’m not sure what an average maximum or 


average minimum is. Are these the extreme instantaneous values for a given day averaged over 


X number of days? Is “average mean” the average of X number of daily mean values, or the 


average of something else? The text on page 10 that references Table 7 doesn’t help with this.  


 


6. Page 11: The discussion of the models of different dates is poorly organized and confusing. It 


would help if the point of all this were explained at the outset. Much later in the text, in the 


section about bedforms I believe, it becomes apparent that the point is to account for differences 


in roughness due to differences in bedform regime at different flow levels.  


 


7. Page 12, 4
th


 paragraph, Figures 19-20: The model mesh is 1,700 ft long. From the figures, it’s 


seen that this corresponds to about 1 channel width. This is far too short of a model reach. First, 


it is a very small sample in term of area from which to generalize about the river segment. But 


more importantly, every point within the model is a short distance from the model boundaries. It 


is standard practice to extend the model mesh at least a few channel widths upstream and 


downstream of the reach of interest. That allows some space and time for any errors or 


imperfections in the boundary conditions to dissipate.  


 


8. Page 12, last paragraph refers to “detailed topographic and bathymetric data” used in the 


model. There is no indication in this report that detailed topographic data was collected. The only 







 3 


discussion along those lines concerns collection of a relatively small number of cross sections. 


The 2d mesh is said to have a mesh resolution of 10 feet. This density is irrelevant unless the 


topo data mapped to the mesh is of similar resolution, as might be obtained with an intensive 


sonar survey using an array of transducers or a multi-beam. There is no indication that this was 


the case. The value of the fine mesh is, to a large extent, nullified if the topography was 


interpolated from cross sections.  


 


9. Page 12, last paragraph: It’s not explained where the n values of 0.023 and 0.027 in the 2d 


model came from. Were these transferred from the 1d calibration in some way?  


 


 10. Page 13, 4
th


 paragraph, Figures 24-26: It is stated that the match between measured and 


modeled water surface elevation and water velocities is “good.” This seems to be an 


overstatement. Plus or minus 0.5 ft in elevation does not seem especially good to me, and 


velocity errors seem to range up to around 50% (Figure 26).  


 


11. Pages 14-15: Nice overview on bedforms. 


 


12. Page 16, 2
nd


 paragraph: S’* is introduced, but not defined until it come up again on page 17.  


Same for SG in the equation given for d*.  


 


13. Page 16, last paragraph: I think this should be the relation between the average shear stresses 


(as indicated in equation 1), rather than velocity. 


 


14. Page 17: Some of the notation seems odd. ’ is used in the definition of S’*, but is not 


defined (equation 1 introduces  ’0 and  , but not ’). Should it be just ? The shields parameter 


is denoted F* -- why not use * or  like most everyone else? (SG-1) is often denoted by R, and 


SG itself is usually / s. I’ve usually seen transport stage denoted with T rather than S. 


 


15. Page 17, 4
th


 paragraph: the VBA script is said to solve for the “necessary values…” It’s 


difficult to be sure what is being done here. I infer that  is specified on the basis of model 


output, and equation 1 is solved for ’0, but that’s not clear from the text.  


 


16. Page 17, last paragraph: Discussion switches abruptly from bedform types to how much of 


the site is subaerially exposed. What’s the connection? 


 


17. Pages 18-19, habitat evaluation: This seems like a good approach. Why are there no pools in 


this classification? Are especially deep scours and holes not relevant for sturgeon, or perhaps 


these environments are not present in the Platte? 


 


18. Page 20, top: re-states that the model is well calibrated. See comment 10. 


 


19. Page 20, numbered item 1: velocity units are given as ft.  


 


20. Page 20, numbered item 2: Was the simulated error applied to each node independently? Or 


to put it another way, would adjacent nodes be assigned uncorrelated errors? That would clearly 


be incorrect – for example, if a given node had a large positive error in depth, all nearby nodes 







 4 


(and maybe every node in the model) would probably also have positive errors. Assigning each 


node an error that is independent of all the other errors would cause the random errors to cancel, 


and probably result in very little net change in the proportion of particular habitat types.  


 


21. Page 21: The text says that Table 11 shows variation among transects and among sample 


episodes, but it doesn’t show that. Is a “sample episode” a day? 


 


22. Table 12 and top of page 22: The table suggests that conductivity and turbidity behave in the 


same way with respect to different “phases” (what’s the independent variable here, discharge 


maybe?). Meanwhile, Figure 42 shows that they behave in opposite ways. What point is being 


made with these statistics anyway? 


 


23. Page 22, 3
rd


 paragraph: What is meant by “bottom velocity?” This must refer to some height 


above the bed.  


 


24. Page 22, 3
rd


 paragraph: The explanation for why run and plunge habitat is considered most 


suitable is not very convincing. Where are the sturgeon actually found? Do the cited publications 


refer to run and plunge habitats? 


 


25. Page 23, 1
st
 paragraph: The gaging error magnitudes defined in the hydrology sections are 


applied here. I suspect that the interpretation of gage errors may have a problem – see comment 


32.  


 


26. Page 23-24: The actual changes in the availability of various habitat types may change more 


with discharge than is indicated. It appears that the percentages given for habitat types are the 


percents of the total submerged area. It would be more meaningful to report this in terms of 


actual area or as a percentage of the model domain area because the extent of the submerged area 


changes with discharge.  


 


Hydrology 


 


General Comments and Recommendation on the Hydrology Section 


 


 The hydrology studies presented in the two USFWS reports and incorporated into the Stage 


Change Study leave much to be desired in terms of both technical credibility and the clarity of 


the presentation. Some of the problems with the original reports are noted in the specific 


comments below. The authors of the Stage Change Study apparently reproduced the analyses 


described in the USFWS reports. That would require sorting out the details regarding what those 


analyses involved. Having done that, I would expect the authors of the Stage Change Study to 


provide a better description of what they did than simply referencing and copying text from the 


Appendices.  


 The flow losses due to evaporation, transpiration, and seepage estimated in these reports are, 


in my opinion, unreliable. The reported total loss figures become more credible if they are 


considered to be generic losses, not attributable to any particular sink. Nonetheless, I agree with 


general conclusion that small discharge augmentations upstream of Grand Island of the 


magnitude discussed will not be very noticeable at Louisville. This is not so much related to 







 5 


gaging uncertainty (which I think is overestimated in the reports), but is instead due to the fact 


that the augmentation volumes discussed are small compared to everything else that is going on. 


Changes in flow on the order of 100 cfs would be difficult to distinguish even if the gages were 


perfectly accurate, because the changes can be swamped by much larger flow fluctuations caused 


by a variety of other factors.  


 


Specific Comments on the Hydrology Section 


 


27. Page 2, end of second paragraph: States that the selected flows are considered appropriate for 


modeling, but doesn’t explain why. Does anything about pallid sturgeon habitat enter into this 


determination? 


 


28. Table 2 and associated text: Meaning of the headings indicating time periods are unclear. 


These look like periods of record for the gages, but are not. Time periods listed for the Loup near 


Columbus include times when there are no gage records. It takes careful picking through the text 


to figure out how to interpret these dates. I’m unsure of what is meant by “period of analysis.” 


This could refer to the period from which flow records were drawn to quantify the hydrologic 


characteristics of the gage site, which could then be extrapolated to other years, or it could mean 


that consideration of the gage site was entirely confined to that time period.  


 


29. Page 3, 3
rd


 paragraph: This paragraph is very hard to follow. It does not clearly identify what 


is being estimated – language like “the USFWS analysis” and “these flows” do not identify the 


gages and dates for which flows were being reconstructed.  


 


30. Page 3, last paragraph: A new gage can apparently supply better information about 


powerhouse return flows, but was not used. This information could have at least been used to 


check on the accuracy of the method in the USFWS analysis. 


 


31. Pages 4-5: The Study basically just sends the reader to Appendices A and B. There appears 


to have been little or no critical review of the USFWS reports by the Study authors. 


 


32. Page 5, last paragraph: This interpretation of gage accuracy seems overly simplistic. It is 


stated that the USGS considers 95% of the gage readings to be within 10% of the actual 


discharge. This report follows the USFWS reports in translating that into error bounds of plus or 


minus 10%. Assuming the errors are independent random variables, the actual error bound 


should be related to the number of samples used to generate an estimate. For example, the USGS 


error estimate could be interpreted as suggesting that the individual errors have a standard 


deviation of around 5% (because close to 95% of a normally-distributed population is within 2 


standard deviations of the mean). Whether the standard deviation is 5% or something else, the 


standard error of the estimate is equal to the standard deviation divided by the square root of the 


sample size. If the estimate is monthly mean flow, the sample size is about 30. These numbers 


suggest that the error bound for the monthly mean might be around 2% at the 95% confidence 


level. I am not a statistician, and the details of this example may not be exactly correct. For 


example, the errors on sequential days are probably correlated to some degree. The point is 


simply that the 10% error bounds assumed in the reports need to be re-examined.  


 







 6 


33. Page 7: In repeating the USFWS reports, the Study incorporates an abundance of errors, 


confusing explanations, and obscure objectives. Page 7 discusses what happens to an incremental 


increase in flow at Grand Island by the time it reaches Louisville. The discharge increments 


considered seem arbitrary. It would be most helpful if the Study would explain why these 


particular increments are relevant, and more generally, what “Program water” or “First 


Increment water” is.  


 After consulting the Biological Opinion, the Adaptive Management Plan, the Record of 


Decision, the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program Final Environmental Impact 


Statement, and the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program, I’ve determined that First 


Increment water refers to 130,000 to 150,000 acre-feet of water annually, perhaps in the form of 


baseflow discharge targets or (undefined?) pulse flows. Spread evenly across the full year, that 


volume of water is equivalent to about 200 cfs, which is in the range of increases being 


evaluated.  


 I speculate that the documents I’ve consulted are ambiguous about Program water because it 


has not yet been fully determined how that water is to be used. If so, the hydrologic analyses in 


the Study seem to be putting the cart before the horse. They seem to ask: if the upstream flow is 


bumped by X, could it be detected downstream, and would it materially improve habitat? Would 


it not make more sense to go about it other way around? That is, to ask: How much of an 


increase in flow is needed in the lower river to materially improve habitat there, and how much 


discharge needs to be added to upstream flows to hit that downstream target? Perhaps this is how 


the question is being approach, but it’s hard to tell from what’s written. 


 


34. Page 7, 5
th


 paragraph: The paragraph begins and ends describing evaporation trends, but 


refers to total volume lost in the middle. It’s unclear whether this means total volume lost 


through evaporation, or total volume lost including seepage losses. It’s also unclear whether 


evaporation here includes transpiration.  


 More generally, the analysis contained here and in the USFWS reports is often muddled in 


this regard. Terms like evaporation and ET do not seem to be used in a consistent manner 


throughout. However, the distinction may be an unnecessary complication, given the methods 


used to estimate these losses. See comments on that later. 


 


35. Page 8: The section on hydrograph translation is difficult to interpret. It could be greatly 


improved by telling the reader more specifically what the EA flow was. Four paragraphs into the 


section it is noted that “the peak of the EA flow at Duncan is estimated to be approximately 2000 


cfs above base flows.” From this, a reader might infer that something like 2000 cfs was released 


from somewhere upstream or otherwise generated somehow. Is there some reason that what was 


done and where it was done can’t be clearly stated? 


 


36. Appendix A, page 1: The report discusses evaporation and seepage losses. Are there no 


diversions or pumps to consider? 


 


36. Appendix A, page 2: The Figure 1 referenced here is missing. The same or a similar figure 1 


is missing from Appendix B as well. The missing figures seem to be maps showing where all 


these gages, reaches, and tributaries are.  


 







 7 


37. Appendix A, Page 5: Estimated lag times are very crude. All are integer days, and variations 


in lag time with discharge are not considered. This component of the analysis deserves more 


attention than it was given.  


 


37. Appendix A, Page 5: Figure 2 referenced here is missing. 


 


38. Appendix A, Page 6-7: It would make sense to look at channel width during the time of year 


when evaporation losses are greatest. Seasonal trends in channel widths were considered 


indirectly through the application of “liberal” and “conservative” widths. Seasonal differences in 


width could be addressed more directly.  


 


39: Appendix A, Page 8: The use of pan evaporation rates to estimate river evaporation rates is a 


big leap. I suspect that the temperature of the pan is quite different than the temperature of the 


river. The pan coefficient might be intended to account for that, but no explanation or 


justification for the factor of 0.7 is given. The adjustment factors used for ET losses also lack 


explanation. These things need to be explained. 


 


40: Appendix A, Page 9-10: Seepage losses are calculated as the difference between the net 


inputs to a reach (inflows minus E/ET losses) and the outflow from the reach. This raises the 


question of why the analysis even bothers to estimate E/ET, because its magnitude is irrelevant 


to the result. If the estimate of E/ET was arbitrarily increased by 20 cfs, for example, the 


corresponding estimate of seepage loss would come out 20 cfs lower. The total loss, however, 


would remain the same regardless of what value was used for E/ET. It would be simpler and 


equally useful to simply define “losses” as the difference between inflows and outflows without 


regard to whether they are E/ET or seepage.  


 


41: Appendix A, Page 10: States that “Percent ungaged gains were not calculated, as this 


quantity is not relevant to this analysis.” I’m not sure how to interpret this statement, but I do not 


agree that gains are irrelevant. It’s also unclear whether “gain” refers to ungaged tributary input 


only, or to all gains (such as groundwater inflows and return flows from diversions). 


 


42: Appendix A, Page 11: Seepage loss estimates are called “conservative.” It would be clearer 


to say the reported losses underestimate the actual losses. It would also be good to say something 


about the magnitude of underestimation.  


 


43. Appendix A, bottom of Page 12: “Total estimated daily evaporation + ET losses” are given in 


units of cfs, that is, rate units instead of volume. And again on page 14. The figures referenced in 


this text give the losses in percent of flow. 


 


44. Appendix A, Page 18, 1
st
 paragraph: This paragraph is unnecessarily confusing. The example 


discusses a reach, a subreach, a stream gage, and added Program water with no explanation of 


the geographic relationship between these elements. That difficulty would be partly relieved if 


Figure 1 wasn’t missing from the report. It is stated that flow is 1000 cfs at Duncan on a 


particular day. It then refers to the “historic Platte River inflow,” which, from the arithmetic that 


follows, appears to refer to the 1000 cfs at Duncan. Then, 200 cfs of Program water is 


introduced, although it’s not clear how or where. Again, from the arithmetic, it seems that the 







 8 


Program water is also an inflow at the top of the reach, so that the flow at Duncan is actually 


1200 cfs, not 1000 cfs. The presentation of the arithmetic is also overly complicated. It could be 


presented as three simple operations: determine the volume of inflows (including distance 


weighted gains), calculate the proportion of the inflows that are lost to E/ET (equal to 


losses/inflows), and multiply the Program water volume by that proportion.  


 


45. Appendix A, Page 19, 5
th


 paragraph: The sensitivity analysis for open water width needs 


more explanation. It seems to me that, according to how the total losses are calculated, changing 


the open water width would have zero effect on total losses because E/ET is subtracted from 


inflows before computing seepage losses. Could it be that the authors of this report applied 2 


different estimates of E/ET to the same analysis? That is, did they subtract the original estimate 


of E/ET from inflows, then calculate seepage losses, then use those seepage losses with new, 


larger estimates of E/ET to arrive at new total losses? That would clearly be incorrect.  


 


46. Appendix A, Figures 9 and 10: Why do these graphs present different results than the similar 


graphs in Appendix C of the other USFWS report included as Appendix B (Page 17 in Appendix 


B)? Graph titles and axes labels are the same in both appendices, but the plotting positions differ.  


 


47. Appendix A, Page 23, 1
st
 paragraph: States that there are no major diversions below Grand 


Island. What about numerous small diversions? Has that been evaluated? 


 


48. Appendix B, Page 5, 6
th


 paragraph: Mentions a Tri-County supply canal system. I didn’t see 


that mentioned anywhere else. I wonder where that is, and if it is, or should be, considered in the 


analysis presented in Appendix A. 


 


49. Appendix B, Table 2: Uncertainty is assumed to be 10% of the measured flow. See comment 


32. 


 


50. Appendix B, Table 3: I’m wondering why the effect of First Increment Program activities is 


to cause negative changes in flow in some months. Here would be a good place to provide some 


explanation as to what First Increment Program activities include.  


 


51. Appendix B (page 16) of Appendix B: These travel times could be used to improve the 


Appendix A analysis. 


 


52. Appendix D (page 18) of Appendix B and text on pages 9-10: Would be appropriate to define 


what the “OPSTUDY Model” is. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 9 


Reply to Specific Questions in the Review Scope of Work 


 
1) Does the Stage Change Study adequately address the overall objective of the RFP, which is “…to 


develop information needed to evaluate the effects of Program water management activities, including 


new activities covered by state or federal depletion plans, on water stage and how those stage changes 


affect physical parameters in the reach of the lower Platte River from the Elkhorn River confluence to the 


Missouri River confluence”? 


 Yes 


 


2) Are the physical parameters and measured data considered in the study (flow quantity, depth, velocity, 


temperature, turbidity, sediment, and sandbars and bedforms at selected sites throughout the study reach) 


adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study? 


 Yes. However, bedforms played a very minor role in this study. It’s not clear how they were 


incorporated into the quantification of sturgeon habitat availability. 


 


3) Are the habitat classifications considered in the study (slackwater, flat, riffle, run, isolated pool, and 


plunge) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study? 


 Yes, but I do not claim to be an expert in that subject.  


 


4) Is the Stage Change Study sufficient to determine if First Increment Program water activities can be 


detected (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging equipment) from base flow conditions? 


 No. A better evaluation of gaging errors is needed, as described in my comments above. I would also 


suggest that the idea of detectability be better defined. It seems that for a small water augmentation to be 


detected, one would have to know what the discharge would have been without the augmentation. How 


would the work? And what is the time scale over which the detection should occur? Detecting a small 


change on a particular day is a different matter than detecting a sustained small change over a month or a 


year. 


 


 5) If “yes” to Question #4 above, is the Stage Change Study sufficient to detect if First Increment 


Program water activities have an impact (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging 


equipment) on stage, velocity, temperature, turbidity, substrate, or channel morphology? 


 


6) Are the findings of the stage change study and the conclusions reached in the report supported by the 


data and analysis? 


 Yes. 


 


Reply to Specific Questions in the PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines 


 
1. Presentation: Is a tightly reasoned argument evident throughout? Does the manuscript wander from the 


central purpose?  


 The manuscript stays on task well. It addresses the questions posed in the RFP.  


 


2. Methods: Are they appropriate? Current? Described clearly and with sufficient detail so that someone 


else could repeat the work?  


 General methods are appropriate, but the description of methods in the hydrology section is poorly 


organized and difficult to follow. Methods in both the hydrology and hydraulic sections are deficient in 


certain details, as is described in my comments above.  


 







 10 


3. Data presentation: When results are stated in the text of the manuscript, can you easily verify them by 


examining tables and figures? Are any of the results counterintuitive? Are all tables and figures clearly 


labeled? Well planned? Too complex? Necessary?  


 Many of the tables contain headings that are difficult to decipher, especially in the Hydrology section. 


Instances of this are pointed out above.  


 


4. Statistical design and analyses: Are they appropriate and correct? Can the reader readily discern which 


measurements or observations are independent of which other measurements or observations? Are 


replicates correctly identified? Are significance statements justified?  


 There is little in the way of formal statistics in this study. An instance in which error margins on gage 


records may be misinterpreted is pointed out in my comments above.  


 


5. Conclusions: Has the author(s) drawn conclusions from insufficient evidence? Are the interpretations 


of the data logical, reasonable, and based on the application of relevant and generally accepted scientific 


principles? Has the author(s) overlooked alternative hypotheses?  


 The general conclusions of the study are reasonable.  


 


6. Errors: Point out any errors in technique, fact, calculation, interpretation, or style.  


 I have done that in my comments above. 


 


7. Citations: Are all (and only) pertinent references cited? Are they provided for all assertions of fact not 


supported by the data in the manuscript?  


 The citations given seem reasonable, but additional supporting discussion and references is 


needed in some parts of the study. For example, the reasoning and sources used to choose values 


for evaporation and transpiration coefficients are not given. See detailed comments above. 


 


Rating 


 


Scientific soundness – 4 


Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data – 3 


Organization and clarity – 3 (hydraulics) and 5 (hydrology) 


Conciseness – 3 


 


Recommendation – If this were a draft to be revised I’d recommend major revision. But it 


seems to be a final report, so my recommendation is to accept its general conclusions as being 


qualitatively correct.  







Reviewer #2 


Dr. Christopher S. Guy 


Expertise:  Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic Resource Management 







Lower Platte Stage Change Study Peer Review Questions 


 
1) Does the Stage Change Study adequately address the overall objective of the RFP, which is “…to 


develop information needed to evaluate the effects of Program water management 


activities, including new activities covered by state or federal depletion plans, on water 


stage and how those stage changes affect physical parameters in the reach of the lower 


Platte River from the Elkhorn River confluence to the Missouri River confluence?” 


 


The Stage Change Study does address the overall objective of the RFP for a specific area 
in the Platte River.  I believe that the study could have been more robust by extending 
the spatial extent of the study.  The objective clearly states ‘…from the Elkhorn River 
confluence to the Missouri River confluence,’ but the study was conducted on a reach 
from the Nebraska highway 50 bridge to the Chicago Rock Island and Pacific Railroad 
pedestrian bridge.  I would agree that this reach is likely representative of much of the 
lower Platte River and is an area where pallid sturgeon have been located (Peters and 
Parham 2004); however, the Platte River at the confluence with the Missouri River is 
likely quite different and should have been included.  The confluence is central to these 
analyses because much of the use of the Platte River by pallid sturgeon occurs near the 
confluence (Peters and Parham 2004).  Had the investigators conducted measurements 
in at least two reaches (i.e., the current reach and one at the confluence), preferably 
more than two reaches (i.e., also include a reach near the Elkhorn River confluence), the 
precision, understanding of uncertainty, and inference space would have been greater 
with respect to Program water management activities.  Further, the confluence reach is 
unique given that discharge in the Missouri River can influence the habitat dynamics in 
the Platte River which in turn will affect the results of Program water management 
activities, most likely different than the reach near Louisville, Nebraska.  This criticism is 
especially relevant to the 2D modeling exercise which provides the most useful 
information for pallid sturgeon conservation.  Understanding the effects of Program 
water management activities for additional reaches in the Platte River is instrumental if 
the Governance Committee is going to use this information to determine the effects of 
discharge on physical parameters thought to be important to pallid sturgeon. 
 
The effects of stage changes on physical parameters appears to be well studied for the 
reach near Louisville, Nebraska and should provide information needed to evaluate 
Program water management activities in that area.  With that said, it would be 
beneficial if the investigators made it more clear regarding the discharges under which 
empirical data were collected, it is difficult to determine as currently written. 
 


 


2) Are the physical parameters and measured data considered in the study (flow quantity, 


depth, velocity, temperature, turbidity, sediment, and sandbars and bedforms at selected 


sites throughout the study reach) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes 


of the study? 


 







The selected physical parameters seem reasonable given the current state of knowledge 
regarding pallid sturgeon ecology.  However, it is unclear what aspects of the pallid 
sturgeon life-history are targeted by Program water management activities.  Providing 
habitat for adults is likely quite different than providing habitat for larvae.  I realize this 
was not part of the scope of research for the investigators, but should be considered by 
the Governance Committee.  This will help refine the effects of Program water 
management activities and how they relate to specific aspects in the conceptual models.  
Defining the life-history aspects of interest will also make the physical parameters more 
scientifically defensible.  It is becoming clearer that habitat diversity and complexity are 
important to riverine fishes.  Thus, combining metrics into a richness or diversity value 
and evaluating those data as a composite with varying Program water management 
activities might be more ecologically relevant than studying each parameter separately. 
 


 


3) Are the habitat classifications considered in the study (slackwater, flat, riffle, run, isolated 


pool, and plunge) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study? 


 


The selected habitat classifications seem reasonable given the current state of 
knowledge regarding pallid sturgeon ecology.  It may be implicit in some of the habitat 
classifications, but a more detailed analysis of the thalweg dynamics would have been 
informative (e.g., thalweg depth and migration under varying discharges).  I believe 
understanding the dynamics of the thalweg given varying Program water management 
activities would be highly beneficial given that several studies indicate that pallid 
sturgeon are typically found in or near the thalweg.  I recognize that the investigators 
are aware of the importance of this habitat type because they allude to it when they 
discuss run and plunge habitat.  Again, it is important that the life-history aspect of 
interest is well defined because habitat use likely changes with ontogeny.  As stated 
above, combining habitat classifications into metrics that describe the richness or 
diversity of habitat may be more ecologically meaningful.   


 


4) Is the Stage Change Study sufficient to determine if First Increment Program water 


activities can be detected (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging 


equipment) from base flow conditions? 


 


Yes, given the error associated with the Louisville gage and the results from the 100, 
500, and 1,000 cfs additional Program water at Grand Island reaching Louisville as 
summarized in Figures 3, 4, and 4a.  However, the amount detected varies temporally. 
 


5) If “yes” to Question #4 above, is the Stage Change Study sufficient to detect if First 


Increment Program water activities have an impact (statistically significant beyond the 


error of the gauging equipment) on stage, velocity, temperature, turbidity, substrate, or 


channel morphology? 


 


Yes, relative to stage and velocity, but not temperature, turbidity, substrate, or channel 
morphology because those are not measured by the gauging equipment.  It is clear in 







the results that there is temporal variation in water quality metrics and that the 
variation can be detected given the sample sizes, but it is not clear how the variation in 
water quality metrics relate to Program water activities.   


 


6) Are the findings of the stage change study and the conclusions reached in the report 


supported by the data and analysis? 


 


In general, I believe the conclusions are supported by the data, although the conclusions 
are not clearly articulated.  I am concerned that most of the analyses and measures of 
variation represent pseudo-replication.  This relates to my comments in the first 
question.  I believe the best way to determine the effects of Program water activities on 
physical parameters that are thought to be of significance to pallid sturgeon would be to 
conduct the Stage Change Study in multiple reaches (i.e., the reaches are the 
experimental unit).  Although one could argue that reaches are not independent, I 
surmise that it better represents available habitat for pallid sturgeon and the influence 
of Program water activities on that habitat.  The most important aspect of having 
multiple reaches is that one will have a better understanding of the uncertainty of 
Program related water activities on pallid sturgeon habitat.   


 


If the answer to any of the questions above is “no”, please suggest possible remedies to data 


collection methodologies, analysis, or other study tasks. 







General Comments:  
1. Scientific soundness  


 


See comments above regarding replication. 
 
2. Organization and clarity  


 


I believe the report could be more clearly organized.  One thing that would help is standardization with 
primary, secondary, and tertiary headings.  Executive summary and conclusion sections would also be 
helpful. 
 
3. Conciseness  


 


The report is concise. 
 


4. Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data  


 


Again, see comments above.  Overall, I believe the conclusions are supported by the data, but the 
robustness of the data and conclusions could be enhanced by a better experimental design. 
  


5. Cohesiveness of conclusions  


 


Specific Comments:  
Please support your general comments with specific evidence and literature. You may write directly on 


the manuscript, but please summarize your handwritten remarks separately. Comment on any of the 


following matters that significantly affected your opinion of the manuscript:  


1. Presentation: Is a tightly reasoned argument evident throughout? Does the manuscript wander from the 


central purpose?  


 


I believe the authors could do a better job of organizing the methods, results, and discussion by question 
being addressed. 
 


2. Methods: Are they appropriate? Current? Described clearly and with sufficient detail so that someone 


else could repeat the work?  


 


See above.   
 


3. Data presentation: When results are stated in the text of the manuscript, can you easily verify them by 


examining tables and figures? Are any of the results counterintuitive? Are all tables and figures clearly 


labeled? Well planned? Too complex? Necessary?  


 


Data presentation is excellent and can verify the results with the tables and figures.  Some of the figure 
captions could be expanded to provide more substantive information. 
 


4. Statistical design and analyses: Are they appropriate and correct? Can the reader readily discern which 


measurements or observations are independent of which other measurements or observations? Are 


replicates correctly identified? Are significance statements justified?  


 


See above.  This is the major shortcoming of the study.  That is, I believe the measurements for most 
analyses are not independent (i.e., true replicates).  I would encourage the authors to clarify their 







experimental units and replicates and explain how they are relevant to the inference space described in 
the RFP. 


 
5. Conclusions: Has the author(s) drawn conclusions from insufficient evidence? Are the interpretations 


of the data logical, reasonable, and based on the application of relevant and generally accepted scientific 


principles? Has the author(s) overlooked alternative hypotheses?  


 


See above. 
 


6. Errors: Point out any errors in technique, fact, calculation, interpretation, or style.  


 


See above. 
 


7. Citations: Are all (and only) pertinent references cited? Are they provided for all assertions of fact not 


supported by the data in the manuscript?  


 


RATING:  
Please score each aspect of this manuscript using the following rating system: 1=excellent, 2=very good, 


3=good, 4=fair, 5=poor.  


 


Rating  
Scientific soundness _3__  


Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data _3__  


Organization and clarity _4__  


Cohesiveness of conclusions _3__  


Conciseness __2_  


Importance to objectives of the Program _2__  


(For use by internal review panel only)  


RECOMMENDATION (check one)  
Accept ___  


Accept after revision __x_  


Unacceptable ___ 
 







Reviewer #3 


Dr. Dennis R. Helsel 


Expertise:  Environmental Statistics 







	   1	  


TECHNICAL	  REVIEW	  OF	  
"	  Lower	  Platte	  River	  Stage	  Change	  Study	  Final	  Protocol	  Implementation	  


Report,	  Version	  1.0",	  dated	  December	  2009	  
	  
	  
A.	   Lower	  Platte	  Stage	  Change	  Study	  Peer	  Review	  Questions	  
	  
1)	   Does	  the	  Stage	  Change	  Study	  adequately	  address	  the	  overall	  objective	  of	  the	  


RFP,	  which	  is	  “…to	  develop	  information	  needed	  to	  evaluate	  the	  effects	  of	  
Program	  water	  management	  activities,	  including	  new	  activities	  covered	  by	  state	  
or	  federal	  depletion	  plans,	  on	  water	  stage	  and	  how	  those	  stage	  changes	  affect	  
physical	  parameters	  in	  the	  reach	  of	  the	  lower	  Platte	  River	  from	  the	  Elkhorn	  River	  
confluence	  to	  the	  Missouri	  River	  confluence?”	  


	  
The	  Study	  adequately	  addresses	  the	  relative	  magnitude	  of	  stage	  change	  due	  
to	  management	  activities	  in	  relation	  to	  existing	  flows	  and	  habitat	  of	  the	  pallid	  
sturgeon.	  	  It	  does	  not	  discuss	  the	  proposed	  changes	  in	  light	  of	  existing	  
appropriations	  and	  any	  current	  legal	  constraints	  on	  flow	  in	  the	  Platte	  River.	  	  
In	  other	  words,	  if	  these	  diversions	  were	  implemented	  would	  they	  impact	  the	  
water	  rights	  of	  existing	  rights	  owners?	  	  The	  method	  for	  extrapolation	  of	  
missing	  record	  to	  the	  Loup	  River	  at	  Columbus	  is	  flawed,	  and	  so	  the	  resulting	  
errors	  on	  the	  analysis	  are	  unknown.	  


	  
2)	   Are	  the	  physical	  parameters	  and	  measured	  data	  considered	  in	  the	  study	  (flow	  


quantity,	  depth,	  velocity,	  temperature,	  turbidity,	  sediment,	  and	  sandbars	  and	  
bedforms	  at	  selected	  sites	  throughout	  the	  study	  reach)	  adequate	  and	  
scientifically	  defensible	  for	  the	  purposes	  of	  the	  study?	  


	  
The	  data	  themselves	  are	  presumably	  scientifically	  defensible.	  	  They	  are	  fairly	  
routine	  parameters	  with	  established	  protocols	  for	  collection.	  	  The	  amount	  of	  
data	  is	  adequate.	  	  Analysis	  of	  the	  data	  is	  not	  adequate,	  if	  the	  purpose	  is	  to	  
determine	  whether	  proposed	  flow	  augmentation	  and	  withdrawals	  for	  
storage	  will	  significantly	  affect	  those	  parameters.	  


	  
3)	   Are	  the	  habitat	  classifications	  considered	  in	  the	  study	  (slackwater,	  flat,	  riffle,	  run,	  


isolated	  pool,	  and	  plunge)	  adequate	  and	  scientifically	  defensible	  for	  the	  
purposes	  of	  the	  study?	  


	  
This	  is	  not	  my	  area	  of	  expertise.	  


	  







	   2	  


4)	   Is	  the	  Stage	  Change	  Study	  sufficient	  to	  determine	  if	  First	  Increment	  Program	  
water	  activities	  can	  be	  detected	  (statistically	  significant	  beyond	  the	  error	  of	  the	  
gauging	  equipment)	  from	  base	  flow	  conditions?	  


	  
Yes.	  	  Given	  that	  equipment	  and	  gauging	  error	  is	  listed	  as	  10%	  (presumably	  
+5%	  and	  -‐5%0,	  the	  Study	  determined	  that	  flow	  changes	  such	  as	  those	  on	  
page	  24,	  going	  from	  5,040	  cfs	  to	  3,290	  cfs,	  are	  expected	  to	  be	  much	  greater	  
than	  5%	  (the	  direction	  is	  known),	  and	  so	  will	  be	  detectable	  as	  different	  from	  
base	  flow	  conditions.	  	  	  


	  
5)	   If	  “yes”	  to	  Question	  #4	  above,	  is	  the	  Stage	  Change	  Study	  sufficient	  to	  detect	  if	  


First	  Increment	  Program	  water	  activities	  have	  an	  impact	  (statistically	  significant	  
beyond	  the	  error	  of	  the	  gauging	  equipment)	  on	  stage,	  velocity,	  temperature,	  
turbidity,	  substrate,	  or	  channel	  morphology?	  


	  
No.	  	  Determination	  of	  differences	  in	  water	  quality	  parameters	  using	  Analysis	  
of	  Variance	  is	  flawed	  because	  the	  serial	  correlation	  in	  the	  data	  was	  not	  
accounted	  for.	  	  The	  current	  analysis	  is	  not	  sufficient	  to	  determine	  whether	  
there	  are	  significant	  impacts	  for	  these	  parameters.	  


	  
6)	   Are	  the	  findings	  of	  the	  stage	  change	  study	  and	  the	  conclusions	  reached	  in	  the	  


report	  supported	  by	  the	  data	  and	  analysis?	  
	  


The	  Study's	  conclusions	  in	  regards	  to	  flow	  are	  supported	  by	  the	  data	  and	  
analysis.	  	  The	  conclusions	  in	  regards	  to	  water	  quality	  parameters	  are	  not.	  	  
The	  conclusions	  in	  regards	  to	  effects	  on	  habitat	  are	  beyond	  my	  area	  of	  
expertise,	  but	  appear	  to	  be	  the	  most	  thoroughly	  supported	  portion	  due	  to	  the	  
modeling	  work.	  


	  
	  
B.	  	  Specific	  Comments,	  by	  page	  
	  
One	  fundamental	  problem	  with	  the	  Study	  is	  that	  many	  analyses	  were	  based	  on	  
two	  apparently	  unpublished	  reports	  by	  the	  USFWS	  (2002	  a	  and	  b).	  	  Results	  
hinge	  so	  much	  on	  these	  draft	  reports	  that	  some	  statement	  from	  the	  Service	  
should	  be	  included	  that	  verifies	  that	  the	  analyses,	  spreadsheets,	  etc.	  in	  these	  
reports	  are	  valid,	  and	  that	  they	  received	  peer	  review	  and	  were	  considered	  
accurate,	  even	  though	  the	  reports	  were	  never	  published.	  	  Or	  if	  this	  is	  not	  the	  
case,	  a	  statement	  to	  the	  effect	  that	  the	  analyses	  were	  never	  peer	  reviewed	  or	  
verified.	  	  Citations	  in	  this	  Study	  to	  those	  two	  reports	  usually	  do	  not	  discuss	  the	  
methods	  that	  produced	  the	  conclusions,	  or	  speadsheets,	  or	  whatever	  product	  is	  







	   3	  


being	  cited.	  	  The	  citations	  imply	  that	  what	  was	  reported	  is	  accepted	  as	  truth.	  	  
What	  were	  the	  quality	  of	  these	  methods?	  	  Are	  there	  any	  plans	  for	  reviewing,	  
verifying	  and	  publishing	  these	  10-‐year	  old	  reports?	  
	  
Page	  3.	  	  An	  example	  of	  the	  dependence	  on	  these	  two	  reports	  is	  the	  method	  used	  
for	  extrapolation	  from	  one	  gage	  to	  another	  using	  regression.	  	  This	  procedure	  has	  
for	  years	  been	  known	  to	  dampen	  variability	  in	  flows,	  as	  regression	  predicts	  
mean	  values.	  	  So	  the	  predicted	  daily	  flows	  for	  30	  years	  at	  the	  Loup	  River	  at	  
Columbus	  (1978-‐2008)	  relied	  upon	  in	  this	  report	  will	  not	  be	  as	  variable,	  high	  or	  
low,	  as	  would	  have	  been	  the	  actual	  record	  if	  it	  had	  been	  measured.	  	  Other	  
methods	  for	  extrapolation	  (one	  is	  often	  called	  MOVE	  or	  LOC)	  are	  preferred	  when	  
the	  probability	  of	  hitting	  a	  high	  or	  low	  flow	  is	  at	  issue,	  which	  it	  is	  here.	  	  These	  
probabilities	  of	  high	  and	  low	  events	  will	  be	  underestimated,	  as	  regression	  by	  
design	  predicts	  values	  towards	  the	  center.	  	  Given	  that	  the	  referenced	  report	  was	  
never	  taken	  beyond	  draft,	  methods	  in	  that	  report	  including	  this	  one	  may	  be	  less	  
than	  'industry	  standard'.	  
	  
Page	  4.	  	  Please	  make	  the	  method	  for	  estimating	  missing	  evaporation	  data	  more	  
clear.	  	  Were	  simply	  long-‐term	  monthly	  averages	  used?	  	  That	  is	  what	  is	  implied	  in	  
the	  text.	  	  Or	  were	  monthly	  temperatures	  for	  the	  period	  to	  be	  estimated	  
incorporated	  as	  well,	  so	  an	  unusually	  hot	  June	  for	  example	  had	  higher	  
evaporation	  than	  the	  long-‐term	  average	  for	  June?	  
	  
Page	  4.	  	  Isn't	  the	  statement	  that	  	  “the	  effect	  of	  flow	  changes	  in	  the	  central	  Platte	  
River	  for	  the	  magnitude	  currently	  envisioned	  under	  the	  Platte	  River	  Program	  are	  
not	  likely	  to	  be	  detectable	  at	  Louisville,	  Nebraska”	  (USFWS,	  2002b)"	  one	  of	  the	  
questions	  that	  this	  Study	  is	  to	  answer?	  	  Why	  then	  cite	  the	  answer,	  from	  a	  draft	  
report	  at	  that,	  here,	  with	  implied	  great	  authority?	  	  No	  background	  or	  insight	  into	  
the	  method	  the	  USFWS	  used	  to	  make	  this	  conclusion	  is	  presented	  here.	  	  I'd	  
suggest	  you	  delete	  this	  statement	  until	  later	  after	  you	  have	  presented	  your	  
analysis	  of	  this	  question.	  	  From	  my	  reading	  of	  the	  analysis,	  the	  Study	  finds	  that	  
the	  flow	  changes	  will	  certainly	  be	  detectable	  at	  Louisville,	  decreasing	  "…the	  flow	  
at	  Louisville	  from	  5,040	  cfs	  to	  3,290	  cfs"	  (from	  page	  24).	  	  So	  if	  not	  deleting	  the	  
statement,	  make	  sure	  it	  is	  clear	  that	  this	  report	  finds	  a	  different	  result.	  
	  
page	  5.	  	  Data	  are	  not	  "illustrated"	  in	  a	  table	  such	  as	  Table	  5.	  	  They	  are	  "listed".	  	  If	  
they	  should	  be	  illustrated,	  draw	  a	  figure.	  	  Tables	  don't	  illustrate	  anything.	  
	  
Page	  5.	  	  What	  is	  the	  objective	  of	  determining	  whether	  "water	  quality	  data	  can	  
differentiate	  between	  flow	  conditions"?	  	  This	  implies	  that	  the	  flow	  data	  cannot	  
differentiate,	  and	  that	  water	  quality	  might	  be	  needed	  to	  do	  this.	  	  Or	  do	  you	  mean	  
"water	  quality	  is	  different	  at	  different	  flow	  conditions"?	  	  The	  latter	  is	  focused	  on	  
water	  quality,	  rather	  than	  on	  using	  it	  to	  say	  something	  about	  flow.	  	  Clarify	  the	  
objective	  for	  why	  this	  analysis	  is	  being	  undertaken.	  
	  







	   4	  


Page	  5.	  	  Your	  title	  "Accuracy	  Assessment	  of	  USGS	  Stream	  Gage	  Measurements"	  is	  
misleading.	  	  You	  aren't	  doing	  an	  assessment	  of	  the	  accuracy	  of	  their	  methods.	  	  
No	  data	  were	  collected	  to	  do	  so.	  	  You	  are	  just	  using	  their	  own	  accuracy	  
assessment	  to	  compute	  the	  magnitude	  of	  10	  percent	  of	  observed	  flows.	  	  You	  
should	  rename	  this	  section.	  	  Then	  you	  compute	  tables	  of	  differences	  in	  
uncertainty	  estimates	  (Tables	  4	  and	  6)	  without	  stating	  what	  these	  are	  good	  for,	  
or	  how	  they	  came	  about.	  	  Was	  the	  method	  used	  in	  the	  USFWS	  report	  different	  
from	  yours,	  and	  therefore	  the	  differences?	  	  If	  so,	  what	  were	  the	  two	  methods	  and	  
why	  do	  you	  think	  they	  differ?	  	  Or	  are	  these	  the	  same	  methods	  just	  applied	  to	  
different	  time	  intervals,	  and	  no	  change	  in	  the	  physical	  system	  has	  occurred?	  	  If	  
this	  is	  true,	  then	  discuss	  how	  this	  helps	  you	  and	  how	  the	  difference	  in	  flows	  
between	  1975-‐1994	  and	  1995-‐2008	  produce	  the	  observed	  differences	  listed	  in	  
Tables	  4	  and	  6	  
	  
Page	  8.	  	  I	  have	  no	  idea	  what	  "Program	  staff	  also	  provided	  some	  preliminary	  
information	  evaluating	  the	  pulse	  flow	  event	  to	  the	  Grand	  Island	  gage"	  means.	  	  
Please	  reword	  or	  delete	  if	  not	  important.	  
	  
Page	  9.	  	  So	  your	  conclusions	  here	  are	  that	  a	  release	  of	  13K	  AF	  upstream	  is	  not	  
really	  discernable	  by	  the	  time	  it	  travels	  downstream	  to	  Louisville.	  	  What	  are	  the	  
implications	  of	  this	  for	  your	  later	  findings,	  given	  that	  the	  later	  findings	  seem	  to	  
disagree	  with	  this?	  
	  
Modeling	  section.	  	  You	  found	  that	  you	  have	  well-‐calibrated	  models,	  and	  that	  the	  
Platte	  acts	  like	  most	  other	  rivers	  in	  scouring	  the	  bed	  during	  high	  flows,	  
increasing	  channel	  depth.	  	  You	  have	  a	  handle	  on	  the	  types	  of	  bedforms	  and	  bars	  
likely	  present	  at	  differing	  flow	  regimes.	  	  This	  was	  translated	  into	  models	  of	  the	  
amount	  of	  habitat	  available	  for	  different	  flow	  regimes.	  	  You	  evaluate	  uncertainty	  
in	  habitat	  computations	  based	  on	  differences	  between	  measured	  and	  modeled	  
flows.	  	  However	  this	  underestimates	  the	  true	  error,	  as	  errors	  for	  calibration	  data	  
are	  always	  smaller	  than	  verification	  data	  not	  used	  to	  calibrate	  the	  model.	  	  A	  
verification	  step	  of	  some	  sort,	  possibly	  a	  cross-‐validation	  procedure,	  should	  be	  
used	  to	  quantify	  uncertainties	  instead.	  	  Yours	  are	  very	  likely	  too	  small.	  
	  
Page	  21.	  These	  daily	  values	  are	  not	  independent.	  	  Analysis	  of	  variance	  (as	  well	  as	  
other	  standard	  statistical	  tests)	  assume	  independence	  of	  observations,	  that	  there	  
is	  no	  sequential	  correlation.	  	  There	  certainly	  is	  for	  day	  to	  day	  measures	  of	  
temperature	  and	  water	  depth,	  and	  probably	  for	  the	  other	  parameters	  as	  well.	  	  
The	  result	  is	  that	  sample	  sizes	  are	  incorrect,	  that	  46	  observations	  for	  September	  
2008	  for	  example	  may	  have	  the	  equivalent	  information	  of	  20	  independent	  
observations.	  	  Therefore	  the	  test	  should	  be	  run	  using	  n=20	  rather	  than	  46,	  and	  
the	  differences	  between	  months	  may	  with	  reduced	  sample	  sizes	  actually	  not	  be	  
significant.	  	  Because	  this	  was	  not	  considered,	  these	  tests	  do	  not	  prove	  that	  
differences	  actually	  have	  occurred	  between	  months.	  	  The	  tests	  should	  be	  run	  by	  
correcting	  for	  serial	  correlation,	  which	  can	  be	  done	  with	  more	  complex	  software,	  







	   5	  


or	  by	  more	  simply	  computing	  the	  'effective	  sample	  size'	  that	  is	  a	  function	  of	  the	  
magnitude	  of	  correlation	  between	  observations	  in	  the	  time	  series.	  
	  
page	  21.	  	  Serial	  correlation	  similarly	  invalidates	  standard	  power	  calculations.	  	  No	  
detail	  on	  how	  power	  was	  calculated	  is	  given	  here.	  	  Standard	  ANOVA	  power	  
calculations	  assume	  both	  independence	  and	  a	  normal	  distribution,	  and	  turbidity	  
and	  depth	  data	  are	  probably	  not	  normally	  distributed	  (the	  others	  may	  be	  based	  
on	  working	  with	  similar	  data).	  	  Much	  more	  detail	  should	  be	  given	  here	  on	  the	  
procedure	  of	  the	  power	  calculations.	  
	  
Page	  22.	  	  Even	  more	  importantly,	  the	  questions	  that	  the	  power	  analysis	  and	  
ANOVA	  are	  addressing	  should	  be	  explicitly	  stated.	  	  What	  is	  the	  value	  in	  these	  
analyses?	  	  State	  why	  you	  are	  performing	  them.	  
	  
Page	  22.	  	  Figures	  42	  and	  43	  are	  stated	  as	  being	  composed	  of	  only	  the	  May	  2009	  
data.	  	  Yet	  on	  page	  23	  they	  are	  used	  to	  compare	  to	  conditions	  at	  other	  additional	  
times.	  	  This	  isn't	  valid,	  certainly	  for	  temperature.	  	  In	  addition,	  the	  data	  should	  be	  
tagged	  and	  color	  coded	  by	  rising	  and	  falling	  stages	  of	  the	  hydrograph.	  	  Part	  of	  the	  
large	  variation	  for	  similar	  discharges	  is	  due	  to	  differences	  between	  water	  quality	  
when	  the	  storm	  is	  rising	  versus	  falling.	  	  Turbidity	  can	  certainly	  be	  expected	  to	  be	  
very	  different	  for	  the	  same	  discharge	  depending	  on	  which	  limb	  of	  the	  
hydrograph	  it	  occurs	  on.	  
	  
Page	  23.	  	  The	  meaning	  of	  the	  statement	  "	  the	  magnitude	  of	  the	  change	  in	  
discharge	  is	  subject	  to	  the	  same	  uncertainty	  as	  the	  overall	  flow"	  is	  unclear.	  	  Be	  
more	  specific	  or	  delete	  this.	  	  	  
	  
Page	  23.	  	  The	  statement	  "	  the	  increase	  in	  discharge	  does	  not	  move	  the	  
conductivity,	  turbidity,	  temperature,	  or	  dissolved	  oxygen	  outside	  the	  typical	  
range	  preferred	  by	  pallid	  sturgeon	  (Figures	  42	  and	  43)"	  is	  too	  broad	  and	  
sweeping	  of	  a	  statement	  considering	  that	  the	  figures	  are	  based	  on	  data	  only	  from	  
one	  month,	  and	  you've	  already	  stated	  that	  based	  on	  an	  ANOVA	  the	  levels	  of	  these	  
parameters	  differ	  between	  months.	  	  Graphs	  of	  the	  relationship	  between	  these	  
parameters	  and	  discharge	  should	  be	  based	  on	  data	  from	  all	  four	  months	  of	  
interest	  where	  diversions	  are	  expected	  (note	  that	  May	  is	  not	  one	  of	  those	  
months	  and	  so	  is	  incorrectly	  used	  for	  the	  data	  in	  these	  graphs),	  while	  
considering	  variation	  due	  to	  rising	  vs	  falling	  hydrograph	  and	  to	  temperature	  
effects.	  	  In	  short,	  you	  cannot	  use	  the	  current	  graphs	  to	  make	  the	  conclusion	  you	  
are	  heading	  toward.	  
	  
page	  24,	  a	  typo?	  	  The	  Run	  classification	  would	  be	  reduced	  from	  45%	  to	  34%,	  a	  
decrease	  of	  1%???	  	  Plus,	  you	  report	  different	  values	  in	  Appx	  G.	  	  Please	  clarify.	  
	  
	  







	   6	  


C.	  	  Rating	  
	  
Please	  score	  each	  aspect	  of	  this	  manuscript	  using	  the	  following	  rating	  system:	  
1=excellent,	  2=very	  good,	  3=good,	  4=fair,	  5=poor.	  
	   Rating	  
Scientific	  soundness	  	   ___3____	  	  sections	  vary	  
Degree	  to	  which	  conclusions	  are	  supported	  by	  the	  data	  	   ___4___	  
Organization	  and	  clarity	  	   ___4___	  
Cohesiveness	  of	  conclusions	  	   ___4___	  
Conciseness	  	   ___2___	  
Importance	  to	  objectives	  of	  the	  Program	   ___3___	  
	  
RECOMMENDATION	   Check	  One	  
Accept	  	   ________	  
Accept	  after	  revision	  	   ___X____	  
Unacceptable	   ________	  







Reviewer #4 


Dr. Larry J. Weber 


Expertise:  River Hydraulics and Mechanics, River Restoration, and Computational 


Modeling 







 	   	   Larry	  J.	  Weber	  
  3837 Meadowview Lane SW, 


Iowa City, IA 52240 
e-mail:  larry-weber@uiowa.edu 


September 16, 2011 
 
Eliza Hines 
Senior Scientist, Integrated Water Resources 
ATKINS 
701 San Marco Blvd Suite #1201 
Jacksonville, FL 32207 
 
Contract:  Platte River Stage Change Peer Review 
 
Dear Ms. Hines, 
 
I have completed my peer review of the Platte River Stage Change study as defined in the scope 
of work document transmitted to me 16 August 2011.  In particular, I have reviewed all of the 
documents provided including the original project RFP, the Protocol Development Report, the 
Final Implementation Report, and all appendices and associated documents.  My review report 
includes answers to the Peer Review Questions and responses to the Guidelines for Peer 
Reviewers.  Although my comments will include all technical aspects of the report, my primary 
expertise in the context of this work relate to hydraulic modeling and river hydrodynamics. 
 
Peer Review Questions 


1) Does the Stage Change Study adequately address the overall objective of the RFP, which 
is “…to develop information needed to evaluate the effects of Program water management 
activities, including new activities covered by state or federal depletion plans, on water 
stage and how those stage changes affect physical parameters in the reach of the lower 
Platte River from the Elkhorn River confluence to the Missouri River confluence?” 
 
The report does adequately address the overall objective as stated.  The report is logically 
organized and compete, however, it would be helpful to include a background section 
early in the report that describes the type of flow conditions being considered to place the 
study in context. 


 
2) Are the physical parameters and measured data considered in the study (flow quantity, 


depth, velocity, temperature, turbidity, sediment, and sandbars and bedforms at selected 
sites throughout the study reach) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes 
of the study? 
 
Yes, the physical parameters are adequate and scientifically defensible.  Clearly, the need 
for improved scientific understanding of selection and utilization of specific, local flow 
conditions (both hydrodynamics and water quality) and habitat-scale flow patterns that 







 2 


pallid sturgeon prefer is still needed, but outside of the scope of this project.  The report 
does a very good job of describing available data and current understanding and utilizing 
this information to reach the conclusions. 


 
3) Are the habitat classifications considered in the study (slackwater, flat, riffle, run, isolated 


pool, and plunge) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study? 
 


Yes, the habitat classifications are adequate and scientifically defensible.  In addition, to 
the uncertainty analysis and quantification of habitat areas by type, it would be helpful to 
include a broader discussion about the space-time utilization of individuals that may be 
residing or moving through the area.  For instance, “what is known about adjacencies or 
distributions of habitat types”, this may be important for habitat utilization and may be 
impacted by stage change.  From the information it did not appear that distribution or 
adjacency would change, but would be good to include this in the discussion.  


 
4) Is the Stage Change Study sufficient to determine if First Increment Program water 


activities can be detected (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging 
equipment) from base flow conditions? 


 
Yes, the report clearly addresses the detectability of the stage change from Program 
Water activities.  It would be helpful, within the discussion section to refer to the stage 
discharge curves for the reach.  


 
5) If “yes” to Question #4 above, is the Stage Change Study sufficient to detect if First 


Increment Program water activities have an impact (statistically significant beyond the 
error of the gauging equipment) on stage, velocity, temperature, turbidity, substrate, or 
channel morphology? 
 
Yes, the report addresses the impact of the stage change on the river parameters listed.  It 
would be helpful to list other parameters that may be important, such as flow shear lines, 
and eddy structures, however, less is know about these features than the parameters 
given.  With that said, some acknowledgement that the parameters considered may not be 
the only flow features that determine habitat function and utilization would be useful.  
The second to last paragraph of the report provides some comments towards this, but 
could be expanded.  
 


6) Are the findings of the stage change study and the conclusions reached in the report 
supported by the data and analysis? 


 
Yes, the findings of the study and conclusions reached are supported by data and sound 
engineering and scientific analysis.  It would be beneficial to include an executive 
summary of the report and a clear conclusions / summary section in the report 


 
General Comments 


1) Scientific Soundness – The methods and approaches were based on sound engineering 
and science.  Unfortunately, although there is literature and past studies that describe 







 3 


general habitat preferences and utilization, there is little available information from a 
first-principles understanding of specific habitat needs for the species of interest.  This 
short-coming is, however, common in most aquatic restoration and management 
programs.  The project report uses sound, available engineering and science to address 
this inherent uncertainty in its habitat evaluation.  Although further studies and 
fundamental research could improve this understanding, it is clearly outside of the scope 
of this project. 


 
2) Organization and Clarity – The report logically presents the engineering analysis of the 


hydrologic conditions of the study reach; data collection programs; hydraulic model 
construction, calibration and utilization; geomorphic assumptions and analysis, flow 
habitat assumptions and habitat discrimination technique; and conclusions.  Uncertainties 
of methods, models and approaches are adequately described throughout the report.   


 
3) Conciseness – The report is well written and presents an appropriate amount (both depth 


and breadth) of information.  The report also, includes relevant information in the 
appendices and adequately sites previous and related published work. 


 
4) Degree to which the conclusions are supported by the data – The report provides a logical 


progression from hydrologic conditions of the study reach through final conclusions, 
including the uncertainty of information utilized in the decision process. 


 
5) Cohesiveness of conclusions – The formulation of the conclusions is based on sound 


engineering and science.  The conclusions/summary statements should have been 
explicitly organized in a closing, Conclusion or Summary section in the report rather than 
simply woven into the Discussion section. 


 
Specific Comments 


1) In the discussion of minimum and maximum flow selection, a flow recurrence / 
exceedance plot would be helpful to place the selected flows in context, rather than 
referring to figure 2.  Also the period of record should be stated for this analysis in the 
Study Flows section. 


2) x-axis of figure 2 should use the first day of the month for each major grid line and label 
3) A better location map would be helpful to locate the study reach within the state and 


along the Platte River Stream network. 
4) It would be helpful to explicitly state that the 2D SRH model is a fixed bed model and 


this geometry is used throughout for all simulations.  How this impacts the local flow 
conditions for higher flows should be addressed. 


5) Figures 24, 25 and 26 are useful data plots, however, it would be helpful to see the 
distribution of the difference between model and field data on a spatial image of the study 
area.  This would be helpful to understand the performance of the model, but likely does 
not negatively impact the use of the model results. 


6) Page 24, first paragraph after table 13.  ….45% (+8%) of the habitat area to 
approximately 34% (+8%) of the habitat area, a decrease of 1%.  The “1%” should be 
“11%”. 







 4 


7) Discussion section.  In addition to the text description, it would be helpful to tabulate the 
changes to habitat classification in the discussion section.  This to compare across 
conditions of interest, and to show the impact of the management actions. 


 
Rating (1=excellent, 5=poor) 
Scientific soundness       2 
Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data  2 
Organization and clarity      1 
Cohesiveness of conclusions      2 
Conciseness       1 
Comment:  Overall this is a very good study report, providing insight and comprehensive 
summarization of multiple data sets.  My decision not to use ratings of ‘1’ is primarily a result of 
the inability to basic first-principles understanding and analysis, which is currently unavailable 
for this complex project.  I have no hesitation in recommending acceptance of the report  
 
Recommendation 
Based on my review of the materials provided, it is my recommendation to accept the Final 
Protocol Implementation Report and its conclusions. 
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if I can be of any further assistance. 
 
Sincerely, 


 
Larry J. Weber 
 
 







Reviewer #5 


Dr. Lee Wilson 


Expertise:  Hydrology, Environmental Impact Assessment, Geomorphology 







 
 


In accordance with my contract, I have conducted a peer review of the Lower Platte River Stage 


Change Study.   The review is organized according to my understanding of the peer review 


guidelines, as follows. 


 


1. General comments. 


2. Specific comments. 


3. Response to questions. 


4. Ratings. 


 


I will be on travel until mid-October, after which I will be available to answer any questions on 


this submittal. 


 


I appreciate being selected to be part of the peer review team, and in that way to contribute to 


the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program.   







1 
 


 
1. General comments 


 


I consider the core elements of the study to be technically sound and useful.  With some 


exceptions noted below, the work satisfied the scientific and technical scrutiny that was within 


my expertise to apply, and within the peer review budget to investigate.  The study report 


appears to satisfy the objectives of the RFP.   


 


In my experience, a role of peer review is to focus on potential weaknesses or limitations in a 


study.  Thus the critical nature of my comments should not be taken to suggest the study is 


seriously flawed, but rather as my effort to provide constructive input to future work.  In the 


specific comments, I observe the following aspects of the study that I thought might be in most 


need of improvement or of further evaluation. 


 


 For purposes of organization and clarity, it would be beneficial to provide an 


introduction that puts the study in context.  See specific comments on p. 1. 


 I suggest reconsidering the methodology and results of the loss analysis.  See specific 


comments on p. 2. 


 The effects of flow modification by hydropower appear to be potentially profound and 


need further evaluation.  See specific comments on p. 8. 


 The apparent rigor of certain of the analyses does not fully capture the uncertainty in 


the bottom line results.  See specific comments on p. 20. 


The following are responses to particular considerations posed in the peer review guidelines 


(“guidelines”), under the heading of general comments.   


 


 Scientific soundness.  The technical aspects of the document were generally good, with 


possible exceptions noted under Specific Comments.   


 Organization and clarity.  The Specific Comments (especially regarding Pages 1 and 9) 


identify ways the organization and clarity of the report could have been improved by 


providing additional background discussion.  That being said, within what was actually 


presented, the report was well organized and well written. 


 Conciseness.  Good. 


 Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data.  Hard to say without copies of 


the data sets, spreadsheets, and models. 


 Cohesiveness of conclusions.  Ok within the context of the report.  But there is so much 


unsaid, that a stranger to the process might not be able to properly judge the end 


results. 







2 
 


2. Specific comments 


 


My specific comments are provided in two parts.  First, I respond to considerations set out in 


the guidelines.  Then I go through the document and present comments that are specific to 


particular pages.  For Pages 1, 2, 3, 9, and 20 these include expanded discussions of the bullet 


points presented in my general comments above. 


 


1. Presentation: Is a tightly reasoned argument evident throughout? Does the manuscript 


wander from the central purpose?  The true central purpose is never stated.  Within the 


organization as presented, the report does a good job of walking through the methods, data 


and results without any wandering. 


 


2. Methods: Are they appropriate? Current? Described clearly and with sufficient detail so that 


someone else could repeat the work? Except for the evaluation of losses, the methods are 


appropriate and current.  The level of detail in methods is good.  I don’t know enough about the 


models to know if one could repeat the work, but I suspect it would be necessary to get the 


actual model I/O files to do so.   


 


3. Data presentation: When results are stated in the text of the manuscript, can you easily verify 


them by examining tables and figures? Are any of the results counterintuitive? Are all tables and 


figures clearly labeled? Well planned? Too complex? Necessary?  Good marks on all of this. 


 


4. Statistical design and analyses: Are they appropriate and correct? Can the reader readily 


discern which measurements or observations are independent of which other measurements or 


observations? Are replicates correctly identified? Are significance statements justified?  A lot of 


attention is paid to statistical determinations, but there is a fair amount more that could and 


probably should have been said.  See comments on P. 20.    


 


5. Conclusions: Has the author(s) drawn conclusions from insufficient evidence? Are the 


interpretations of the data logical, reasonable, and based on the application of relevant and 


generally accepted scientific principles? Has the author(s) overlooked alternative hypotheses?  I 


found the overall results acceptable, since they agreed with what was fairly evident even 


without the study, that no significant relationships can be quantitatively established.  


 


6. Errors: Point out any errors in technique, fact, calculation, interpretation, or style. My review 


was not in depth, but I found nothing of concern except for the loss analysis (see comments on 


P. 2).   


 


7. Citations: Are all (and only) pertinent references cited? Are they provided for all assertions of 


fact not supported by the data in the manuscript?  It’s a good reference list.   







3 
 


 


Page 1.  In my first paragraph of general comments, I said the study appears to satisfy the 


objectives of the RFP.  I used the word “appears” because neither the RFP nor report does a 


good job of placing the study objectives into context, i.e. explaining to what ultimate purpose 


the work was being done.  To understand the work, I relied on the Biological Opinion and the 


limited discussion in the Protocol.  I don’t fault the authors for this necessarily, as it isn’t clear 


from the RFP that they were tasked to provide context in the report.   


 


Nonetheless, the lack of context made reading and evaluating the report much more difficult 


than it should have been (at least for me).  The standard organization for a scientific paper 


includes an introduction that presents the background knowledge necessary for the reader to 


understand the findings of the paper.  This is especially important when, as here, there is no 


executive summary to bring everything together.   


 


In this case the following would have been useful in providing the reader with important 


background knowledge. 


 


 A brief synopsis of the nexus between stage and sturgeon as it is now understood.  Note 


that the fact that this paper is about pallid sturgeon isn’t even mentioned until halfway 


through the report (p. 14). 


 One or more hypotheses about how the Program could impact that nexus (including a 


“non-detect” hypothesis).  This would disclose the current thinking about why the study 


reach is important to sturgeon, and why we are interested in predicting impacts to 


depth, velocity, bedforms, topography and the like.    


 A clear and succinct statement of the methodological approach to evaluating the 


hypotheses.  This might be a flow chart indicating that first we have to route Program 


flows to the reach; then model their impact on the parameters of interest; which means 


very complex hydraulic models and interpretations relating especially to bedforms; and 


finally translate that to impacts to sturgeon habitats.  It may seem obvious, but that 


doesn’t mean the report shouldn’t be clear about what is being done. 


  







4 
 


In between pages 1 and 2.  Figure 1 would benefit from an inset location map. 
 


Page 2.  The loss analysis is an update of a FWS study provided in Appendix A.  It is difficult to 


fully evaluate the method without a copy of the spreadsheet.  Nonetheless, I was very surprised 


about the results, and wonder if the Program is approaching this important issue correctly.  I 


did not review Appendix A in sufficient detail to know for sure that my concerns are valid, so 


please consider this discussion accordingly. 


 


My two primary concerns are as follows. 


 


 Some of the loss rates reported are much higher than I have seen, even in arid western 


rivers.  If it has not been done, I strongly recommend each element of the loss be 


independently verified.  For example, analytical methods using groundwater head data 


can be used to independently estimate seepage losses. 


 It appears that the method calculates Program losses in proportion to flows.  An 


alternative (and in my experience more appropriate) approach is to calculate them on 


an incremental basis.  If the current procedure has not been affirmatively deemed more 


appropriate than an incremental approach, the incremental method should be  


To illustrate my concern, consider the result of the accounting done by the Bureau of 


Reclamation for the loss of water imported into the Rio Grande Basin (this loss rate is important 


for quantification of endangered species impacts as well as available water supplies).  Based on 


quantification conducted by the Rio Grande Compact Commission, a loss rate has been 


calculated for the reach from Heron Reservoir (near the Colorado border on a tributary of the 


Rio Chama) to Albuquerque (a distance roughly comparable to Grand Island-Louisville).  The 


loss rate applies to the flow added to natural flow by imported water.  There are elements of 


the rate calculation that are not entirely apples-apples to that made for the Lower Platte, but 


these would have a modest effect at most.  The Rio Grande loss rate is 2%.  Given this result, it 


is difficult for me to understand loss rats as high as 90% in eastern Nebraska. 


 


The subject of losses above Grand Island is not considered, but it would be of interest to know 


the Louisville flow as compared to an upstream reservoir release  


 


The following comment is not related to the above, but to the reference to selection of 


“appropriate” flows on page 2.  Appropriate how?  With no discussion of matters such as 


sturgeon habitat, the reader cannot know.  It is also confusing to indicate that a flow of 39,000 


cfs is of “primary interest”, without explaining why it was then appropriate to use 8,000 cfs as 


the high end of flows selected. 


 







5 
 


Page 3.  I did not understand how the study made use of two different periods of record for 


extended analysis.   


 


Page 4.  The new spreadsheet analysis probably should be provided in an Appendix. 


 


Page 5.  The power analysis probably should be provided in an Appendix. 


 


Page 6.  The focus on gage uncertainty may cause readers to overlook the uncertainty in the 


USFWS spreadsheet which estimates impacts of Program flows. 


 


Page 7.  In addition to the plots in Figures 3, 4 and 4a, it would be interesting to see the data 


plotted as flow duration curves.   


 


Page 8.  This page presents Figure 5 and makes note of the “obvious” intraday flow variation.  


The discussion focuses on how to smooth that out so the pulse can be translated from Grand 


Island to Louisville, which is certainly appropriate.  However there is no discussion whatsoever 


about the fact that the hydropower effect causes a 1 foot diurnal change in stage, which is far 


greater than the transformed impact of the pulse.   


 


The implied premise of the study is that stage impacts habitat, through effects on velocity, 


depth and bedforms.  If so, how is it that the effects of such a large and rapid stage change are 


not considered at all?  Had the study found that Program releases did impact habit in the study 


reach, that conclusion would have been called into question because the interday flow 


variation was not considered and could be such that it swamped out any Program impact. 


 


Page 9.  Another aspect of context that wasn’t effectively presented was the cause-effect 


relationship being studied.  The stated objective puts “stage” as the focal point, whereas after 


reading the report, I perceive the operational objective was to evaluate the impact of flow (cfs) 


as it directly impacts water depth and velocity, and the consequent effects on sediment, 


bedforms and habitat.  Stage as such seemed not to be that much of a consideration, or a 


particularly good surrogate, especially in terms of assessing velocity and its consequences.  The 


lack of hypotheses was surprising given the nature of the Adaptive Management Plan. 


 


Page 10.  Given that stage is the focus of the study, are two water surface data points sufficient 


for the cross-sections? 


 


Page 11.  It would be useful to have an assessment of the change in roughness with flow, and 


especially whether it is reasonable to interpolate values. 


 


Page 12.  I did not follow the explanation of the very low n values for the 2D model. 







6 
 


 
Page 15.  The entire bedform discussion would benefit from illustrations.   
 


Page 19.  I found Figure 36 hard to interpret. 


 


Page 20.  The use of a Monte Carlo analysis to assess uncertainty gives an impression of 


statistical rigor to the results.  Certain other aspects of the work give a similar impression.  


However if one starts at the very beginning of the work, i.e. an increment of flow at Grand 


Island (with unstated uncertainty), and carries it through to the end, many other issues become 


apparent – the loss estimates, hydrograph translation, error bars on model inputs (median 


grain size is a good example), and more.  This cascade of uncertainties would have undermined 


the results had a positive relationship been found.  As the bottom line of the report did not 


assert any relationships had been statistically demonstrated, these issues are perhaps not 


critical.  Still, I would have liked to see (in the discussion section) a recap of all the assumptions, 


limitations and uncertainties in the work. 


 


Page 22.  Of interest given prior discussion, the models are (correctly) said to evaluate depth 


and velocity, not “stage change”.  One question not posed previously:  why is the release being 


evaluated so small?   


 


Page 25.  Perhaps emphasize that lack of statistical significance does not equal lack of effect.  In 


fact, qualitatively one can say that a release probably does have at least marginal benefit (this is 


a bit more affirmative than “no additional stress”). 


 


3. Response to questions 
 
1) Does the Stage Change Study adequately address the overall objective of the RFP, which is “…to 


develop information needed to evaluate the effects of Program water management activities, 
including new activities covered by state or federal depletion plans, on water stage and how those 
stage changes affect physical parameters in the reach of the lower Platte River from the Elkhorn 
River confluence to the Missouri River confluence?”  Yes, subject to comments above. 


2) Are the physical parameters and measured data considered in the study (flow quantity, depth, 
velocity, temperature, turbidity, sediment, and sandbars and bedforms at selected sites throughout 
the study reach) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study?  Yes, to the 
extent that they can actually be meaningfully evaluated by the methods used. 


3) Are the habitat classifications considered in the study (slackwater, flat, riffle, run, isolated pool, and 
plunge) adequate and scientifically defensible for the purposes of the study?  This is a good example 
of a subject that can’t be evaluated if one considers the report in isolation, because habitats get 
minimal attention in this report. 


4) Is the Stage Change Study sufficient to determine if First Increment Program water activities can be 
detected (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging equipment) from base flow 
conditions?  Yes and No.  Yes the study answered the question; no, program activities (as to flow) 







7 
 


cannot be detected.  Effects of other activities (sediment mobilization for example) were not 
assessed. 


5) If “yes” to Question #4 above, is the Stage Change Study sufficient to detect if First Increment 
Program water activities have an impact (statistically significant beyond the error of the gauging 
equipment) on stage, velocity, temperature, turbidity, substrate, or channel morphology?  No.   


 
6) Are the findings of the stage change study and the conclusions reached in the report supported by 


the data and analysis?  Yes, especially given the conclusion is “did not find”.   
 


4. Rating 


 
RATING:  
Please score each aspect of this manuscript using the following rating system: 1=excellent, 2=very good, 
3=good, 4=fair, 5=poor.  
 
Scientific soundness:  4 
Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data:  5 
Organization and clarity:  4 
Cohesiveness of conclusions:  4 
Conciseness :  5 
Importance to objectives of the Program:  3 
 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  06/05/2012 


 


PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review GC Memo  Page 1 of 1 
 


 


 


 


 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 
 
 
 


EXHIBIT C 
 


EDO/CONTRACTOR RESPONSES TO PEER REVIEW COMMENTS 







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response
1 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 1 Yes. Comment noted.


2 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 2 Yes. However, bedforms played a very minor role in this study. It’s not clear how they were incorporated into the quantification of sturgeon habitat 
availability. Comment noted.


3 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 3 Yes, but I do not claim to be an expert in that subject. Comment noted.


4 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 4


No. A better evaluation of gaging errors is needed, as described in my comments above. I would also suggest that the idea of detectability be better 
defined. It seems that for a small water augmentation to be detected, one would have to know what the discharge would have been without the 
augmentation. How would the work? And what is the time scale over which the detection should occur? Detecting a small change on a particular day is 
a different matter than detecting a sustained small change over a month or a year.


If the Program elects to issue a final revised report, will add clarifying 
text similar to that in USFWS 2002 when discuss Table 5. Something 
like: "In other words, a change in daily flow of at least several hundred 
cfs would be needed under median flow conditions in any month for the 
Program-related change to be detectable (i.e., exceed gage uncertainty 
inherent in flow measurement).  Program-related flow changes would 
need to be greater than about 450 cfs under median flow conditions from 
Jul through Sep to be detectable.  Program-relted flow changes would 
need to be greater than about 150 cfs under low flow conditions (i.e., 
90% exceedance) from Jul through Sep to be detectable.  Based on an 
approximate travel time of 4 days from Grand Island to Louisville, 
Program-related flow changes will be assessed on an average daily flow 
basis.  This will also average out the diurnal fluctuations at the Louisville 
Gage associated with releases from the Columbus Powerhouse, and 
facilitate isolation of effects of Program-related flows."


5 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 5 N/A Comment noted.
6 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology SOW Question 6 yes Comment noted.


7 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General
The scope of this study outlined in the RFP targets two related, but distinct, objectives: determining what measurable effect, if any, Program water 
delivered at upstream locations will have on discharge in the Platte River downstream from its confluence with the Elkhorn River, and quantifying how 
changes in discharge might translate to changes in hydraulic parameters and physical habitat characteristics in that stream segment.


Comment noted.


8 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General


The authors of the study approach these two objectives quite differently. With respect to how discharge affects habitat, the authors present an analysis 
based on numerical modeling of flow under existing geomorphic conditions. Although this modeling analysis neglects the potential for future flows to 
modify the current stream configuration and produce longer-term changes in habitat availability, it does address the question posed in the RFP. The 
question, the approach used to address it, and therefore the review of the analysis, is straight-forward. My review of that portion of the report is 
presented first.


Comment noted.


9 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General


For the question regarding the effect upstream Program water on downstream discharge, however, the authors opted to rely heavily on some earlier 
Fish and Wildlife Service analyses, which were incorporated in the report as Appendix A and Appendix B. In doing so, they implicitly endorse those 
reports and accept some level of responsibility for any problems with the methods and explanations presented in them. I found those reports quite 
difficult to interpret, so I’ll save my comments on that portion of the Stage Change Study for last.


Comment noted.


10 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General


I note here that I have not attempted to systematically copy edit this report because, according to the title, this is a Final version. I take that to mean 
that typographic errors, unclear statements, and so on will not be corrected as might happen if this were a Draft version. Instead, my comments focus 
on the broader-scale “Specific Questions” identified in Review scope of Work and the “Specific Comments,” “Rating,” and “Recommendation” identified 
in the PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines. The questions from the Scope of Work and the Peer Review Guidelines are addressed explicitly following my 
free-form comments on the Hydraulics and Geomorphology section and the Hydrology section.


Comment noted.


11 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Hydraulics and 
Geomorphology General


The approaches used to address the question posed in the RFP are appropriate. The general approach of modeling hydraulic parameters and using 
model output to classify habitat types is good. It could perhaps be improved by incorporating bedform types into the classification system, in addition to 
depth and velocity. Bedforms can have a large effect on flow velocities and turbulent structures near the bed, and so are likely very important 
components of physical habitat. The section on describing and predicting bedforms is good, but it’s not clear whether or how that information was used 
to inform the final conclusions of the study.


Comment noted.


12 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology General


The contractor appears to have an adequate understanding of the modeling tasks to produce credible results. However, the modeling analysis seems 
to include some mistakes and misinterpretations that might have the potential to affect the Study’s conclusions and recommendations. Two problems 
with the model itself are worth highlighting: the 2d model domain lacks lead in and lead out sections and is generally too short (see comment 19), and 
the quantity of topographic data appears to be very small compared to the resolution of the model mesh (see comment 20). Both of these issues 
substantially degrade the accuracy of the model and the confidence that can be placed in its output. Two additional issues regarding the interpretation 
of the model results are worth mentioning: The sensitivity analysis regarding how model errors affect habitat classification may be flawed (see 
comment 31), and percentages in each habitat type are based on submerged area rather than total area (see comment 38). That said, I doubt that 
correcting these problems would materially change the Study’s conclusions concerning how incremental changes in discharge alter habitat availability.


See responses to Comments 19, 20, 32, and 38.


13 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 9 “A hydraulic and geomorphologic analysis…” not sure what part of this is a geomorphologic analysis. It’s mostly limited to hydraulic modeling.
The micro-scale bedform analysis portion of this is the geomorphologic 
portion of the analyses.  Habitat classification was based on bedforms 
such as dunes, ripples, and upper regime bedforms.


14 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 9, last 
paragraph  “…trend over this period.”   Which period?


The 20 year period from the mid-1970s through 2001 period (i.e., same 
period as the available cross-section data stated in previous paragraph).  
Stated in the previous paragraph, and also later in this paragraph.


15 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 10, 2nd 
paragraph refers to a 10-year model run. What does that mean?


The model run was a steady state run using the 10-year recurrence 
interval discharge.  Sentence will be reworded if the Program elects to 
issue a revised final report.


16 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 10, 3rd 
paragraph


 Not sure what’s meant by the different model versions incorporating cross sections from different dates. The preceding sentence is about water 
surface elevations at the cross sections. Were different cross sections (geometry) used in the two model versions, or just different water surface 
elevations for validation?


Both. Surveyed geometry and WSE were used in the updated model to 
make it more applicable for recent topography and at lower flows 
relevant to flows considered for this study.  2nd sentence of this 
paragraph explains that surveyed cross sections replaced USACE-OD 
model sections. 


17 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Table 7
Table headings are unclear and awkward. I’m not sure what an average maximum or average minimum is. Are these the extreme instantaneous values 
for a given day averaged over X number of days? Is “average mean” the average of X number of daily mean values, or the average of something else? 
The text on page 10 that references Table 7 doesn’t help with this.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


18 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 11
The discussion of the models of different dates is poorly organized and confusing. It would help if the point of all this were explained at the outset. 
Much later in the text, in the section about bedforms I believe, it becomes apparent that the point is to account for differences in roughness due to 
differences in bedform regime at different flow levels.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Peer Review
Comment-Response Table


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 1
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response


19 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 12, 4th 
paragraph


Figures 19-20: The model mesh is 1,700 ft long. From the figures, it’s seen that this corresponds to about 1 channel width. This is far too short of a 
model reach. First, it is a very small sample in term of area from which to generalize about the river segment. But more importantly, every point within 
the model is a short distance from the model boundaries. It is standard practice to extend the model mesh at least a few channel widths upstream and 
downstream of the reach of interest. That allows some space and time for any errors or imperfections in the boundary conditions to dissipate.


This is a relatively short reach.  However, it has the characteristcs of the 
remainder of the reach of concern, including the variability seen up and 
downstream.  The issue of "lead-in" and "tail-out" is only valid to the 
extent that the boundary conditions contain error.  In our case, the 
downstream stage is assumed to be known from the 1D model.  The 
upstream flow alignment and distribution may contain some error; 
however, considerable effort was made to insure that the flow distribution 
across the upstream boundary reasonable for all flows, and the boundary 
was established so that the flow direction was a perpendicular as 
possible to the boundary.  Extending the model up- and downstream 
would require significantly more topographic data than we were able to 
collect within the time and budgetary constraints of the project.  It is our 
opinion that any error introduced at the upstream boundary is relatively 
minor and does not propogate significantly into the remainder of the 
model domain.  


20 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 12, last 
paragraph


refers to “detailed topographic and bathymetric data” used in the model. There is no indication in this report that detailed topographic data was 
collected. The onlydiscussion along those lines concerns collection of a relatively small number of cross sections. The 2d mesh is said to have a mesh 
resolution of 10 feet. This density is irrelevant unless the topo data mapped to the mesh is of similar resolution, as might be obtained with an intensive 
sonar survey using an array of transducers or a multi-beam. There is no indication that this was the case. The value of the fine mesh is, to a large 
extent, nullified if the topography was interpolated from cross sections.


6,638 topographic points were collected within the 49 acre 2D model 
domain  This equates to one point every ~320 ft^2 or an average spacing 
of ~18'


21 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 12, last 
paragraph It’s not explained where the n values of 0.023 and 0.027 in the 2d model came from. Were these transferred from the 1d calibration in some way? They were final calibrated n-values for the 2D model.


22 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 13, 4th 
paragraph


Figures 24-26: It is stated that the match between measured and modeled water surface elevation and water velocities is “good.” This seems to be an 
overstatement. Plus or minus 0.5 ft in elevation does not seem especially good to me, and velocity errors seem to range up to around 50% (Figure 26).


+/-0.5' is pretty good for a river of this size.  In fact, there's probably that 
much local variability in the WSEL when there are bedforms, etc.


23 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Pages 14-15 Nice overview on bedforms. Comment noted.


24 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 16, 2nd 
paragraph S’* is introduced, but not defined until it come up again on page 17.  Same for SG in the equation given for d*.


If Program elects to issue a revised final report, the following clarification 
will be added.  Definitions for S'* and SG under Eqn (2) on p. 17 will be 
added in 2nd paragraph on p. 16.


25 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 16, last 
paragraph I think this should be the relation between the average shear stresses (as indicated in equation 1), rather than velocity.


Comment is correct.  If Program elects to issue a revised final report, the 
sentence will be modified to indicate the relation is between shear stress 
(not velocity).


26 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 17
Some of the notation seems odd. ’ is used in the definition of S’*, but is not defined (equation 1 introduces ’0 and , but not ’). Should it be just ? The 
shields parameter is denoted F* -- why not use * or like most everyone else? (SG-1) is often denoted by R, and SG itself is usually /s. I’ve usually seen 
transport stage denoted with T rather than S.


Notation in this report was essentially the same that Bennett (1995) 
used.  Two differences should be noted:  (1) SG was used for specific 
gravity rather than s, and (2) D50 was used rather than d50 for 
consistency with other related Program documents.   Bennett used the 
same notation for the equation in the 3rd line after Eqtn (2), but it should 
clearly be tau0' in the context used here.  If Program elects to issue a 
revised final report, tau0' will replace tau'.


27 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 17, 4th 
paragraph


the VBA script is said to solve for the “necessary values…” It’s difficult to be sure what is being done here. I infer that is specified on the basis of model 
output, and equation 1 is solved for ’0, but that’s not clear from the text.


Some detail left out in the interest of readability, and will not be added to 
the report.  However, the following clarification is provided here as a 
response.  Total shear stress is based on 2D model predicted values. 
The VB program was then use to iteratively solve Equations (1) and (2) 
with an assumed starting value for shear stress due to grain resistance 
(T'o).  First Equation 1 is solved for beform height using the assumed 
starting value for shear stress due to grain resistance.  That calculated 
bedform height value is then used in Equation (2) to solve for sediment 
transport strength and subsequently shear stress due to grain resistance. 
This new value for shear stress due to grain resistance then replaces the 
originally assumed value in Equation (1), and Equations (1) and (2) are 
iteratively solved in this process until shear stress due to grain resistance 
used in Equation (1) matches the calculated shear stress due to grain 
resistance from Equation (2).


28 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 17, last 
paragraph Discussion switches abruptly from bedform types to how much of the site is subaerially exposed. What’s the connection?


Subaerially exposed (i.e., dry) areas are important because they are 
definitively not habitat for pallid sturgeon regarless of bedform type, and 
this is the difference between Figures 32 and 33. This discussion 
continues into 1st paragraph on p. 18 discussing the mix of bedforms for 
the remainder of the domain that is submerged.


29 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Pages 18-19 habitat evaluation: This seems like a good approach. Why are there no pools in this classification? Are especially deep scours and holes not relevant 
for sturgeon, or perhaps these environments are not present in the Platte?


Pools were included in the classification scheme (see Table 10). 
However, pools were not observed in the field survey, so are considered 
to be mostly absent from this section of the Platte.  A very small area of 
isolated pools was however predicted in the final habitat classfication 
shown in Fig 37.


30 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 20 top: re-states that the model is well calibrated. See comment 22. See response to Comment 22


31 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 20 numbered item 1: velocity units are given as ft. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


32 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology  Page 20


numbered item 2: Was the simulated error applied to each node independently? Or to put it another way, would adjacent nodes be assigned 
uncorrelated errors? That would clearly be incorrect – for example, if a given node had a large positive error in depth, all nearby nodes (and maybe 
every node in the model) would probably also have positive errors. Assigning each node an error that is independent of all the other errors would cause 
the random errors to cancel, and probably result in very little net change in the proportion of particular habitat types.


They were assigned independently.  The criticism isn't necessarily valid.  
Acknowledging Comment 22 above, the model is well calibrated, so the 
error in the actual WSE should be relatively small. For purposes of this 
sensitivity analysis, we considered the calibrated model to be the 
baseline and evaluated the potential effect of uncertainty associated with 
local variability in topography and hydraulic conditions.  The uncertainty 
in depths and velocities in this context stems primarily from variability in 
the local bed topography, and these would mostly be caused by micro-
scale bedforms.  As a result, the errors would not be correlated among 
nearby nodes in the model.


33 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 21 The text says that Table 11 shows variation among transects and among sample episodes, but it doesn’t show that. Is a “sample episode” a day? Table 11 shows variability among episodes, which are the 3 different 
dates in the table.  Variation amoung transects is shown in Figs 39-41.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 2
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response


34 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Table 12  Page 22 The table suggests that conductivity and turbidity behave in the same way with respect to different “phases” (what’s the independent variable here, 
discharge maybe?). Meanwhile, Figure 42 shows that they behave in opposite ways. What point is being made with these statistics anyway?


Independent variable is the date, which essentially makes discharge the 
independent variable.  Table 11 addresses whether WQ data are 
statistically different between the sampling events, or "Phases".  It does 
not address direct or indirect relationships with discharge. Fig 42 
addresses direct/indirect relationships with discharge. The point of Table 
11 is that WQ for high flow event (July 2008), mid level flow (May 2009), 
and low flow (Sep 2008) are significantly different (i.e., are parameters 
influenced by flow).  The point of Fig 42 is how WQ parameters change 
with flow (i.e., direct or indirect relationship).


35 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 22, 3rd 
paragraph What is meant by “bottom velocity?” This must refer to some height above the bed.


Yes, peer-reviewed pallid sturgeon literature refers to bottom velocities 
as the velocity at a height of 0.5 m above the channel bottom.  This is a 
relevant depth for pallid sturgeon spawning.


36 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 22, 3rd 
paragraph


The explanation for why run and plunge habitat is considered most suitable is not very convincing. Where are the sturgeon actually found? Do the cited 
publications refer to run and plunge habitats?


Discussion of habitat in report and development of habitat "categories" is 
based on peer-reviewed pallid sturgeon literature and best available 
information on pallid habitat use and occurrence.


37 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 23, 1st 
paragraph


The gaging error magnitudes defined in the hydrology sections are applied here. I suspect that the interpretation of gage errors may have a problem – 
see comment 46. See response to Comments 46 and 4.


38 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 23-24
The actual changes in the availability of various habitat types may change more with discharge than is indicated. It appears that the percentages given 
for habitat types are the percents of the total submerged area. It would be more meaningful to report this in terms of actual area or as a percentage of 
the model domain area because the extent of the submerged area changes with discharge.


Percent changes are presented relative to submerged area as 
commenter suggests.  This is more meaningful than % of total area, 
because dry areas are definitively not considered pallid sturgeon habitat.


39 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Hydraulics and 
Geomorphology General


The hydrology studies presented in the two USFWS reports and incorporated into the Stage Change Study leave much to be desired in terms of both 
technical credibility and the clarity of the presentation. Some of the problems with the original reports are noted in the specific comments below. The 
authors of the Stage Change Study apparently reproduced the analyses described in the USFWS reports. That would require sorting out the details 
regarding what those analyses involved. Having done that, I would expect the authors of the Stage Change Study to provide a better description of what 
they did than simply referencing and copying text from the Appendices.


Beyond the scope of the study.


40 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Hydraulics and 
Geomorphology General


The flow losses due to evaporation, transpiration, and seepage estimated in these reports are, in my opinion, unreliable. The reported total loss figures 
become more credible if they are considered to be generic losses, not attributable to any particular sink. Nonetheless, I agree with general conclusion 
that small discharge augmentations upstream of Grand Island of the magnitude discussed will not be very noticeable at Louisville. This is not so much 
related to gaging uncertainty (which I think is overestimated in the reports), but is instead due to the fact that the augmentation volumes discussed are 
small compared to everything else that is going on. Changes in flow on the order of 100 cfs would be difficult to distinguish even if the gages were 
perfectly accurate, because the changes can be swamped by much larger flow fluctuations caused by a variety of other factors.


Beyond the scope of the study.


41 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 2, end of 2nd 
paragraph


States that the selected flows are considered appropriate for modeling, but doesn’t explain why. Does anything about pallid sturgeon habitat enter into 
this determination?


The range of flows considered in the hydraulic analysis (3,700 cfs to 
40,000 cfs) covers the range of the median historic flows shown in the 
Louisville hydrograph (Figure 2).  Additionally, the median discharge 
from April to June (months during pallid sturgeon migration and 
spawning) is approximately 7,000 cfs (as described in the Interpretation 
and Analysis section), which is well within the range modeled for this 
analysis.


42 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Table 2 and 
associated text


Meaning of the headings indicating time periods are unclear. These look like periods of record for the gages, but are not. Time periods listed for the 
Loup near Columbus include times when there are no gage records. It takes careful picking through the text to figure out how to interpret these dates. 
I’m unsure of what is meant by “period of analysis.” This could refer to the period from which flow records were drawn to quantify the hydrologic 
characteristics of the gage site, which could then be extrapolated to other years, or it could mean that consideration of the gage site was entirely 
confined to that time period.


As indicated in the title of Table 2, the locations and periods of record 
are pertaining to the Historic Loss Analysis completed for this study.  If a 
revised final report is issued, the text immediately preceding Table 2 will 
be clarified to indicate that the data in the table pertains to the historic 
loss analysis.


43 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 3, 3rd 
paragraph


This paragraph is very hard to follow. It does not clearly identify what is being estimated – language like “the USFWS analysis” and “these flows” do not 
identify the gages and dates for which flows were being reconstructed.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


44 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 3, last 
paragraph


A new gage can apparently supply better information about powerhouse return flows, but was not used. This information could have at least been used 
to check on the accuracy of the method in the USFWS analysis. Beyond the scope of the study.


45 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology  Pages 4-5 The Study basically just sends the reader to Appendices A and B. There appears to have been little or no critical review of the USFWS reports by the 
Study authors. Beyond the scope of the study.


46 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 5, last 
paragraph


This interpretation of gage accuracy seems overly simplistic. It is stated that the USGS considers 95% of the gage readings to be within 10% of the 
actual discharge. This report follows the USFWS reports in translating that into error bounds of plus or minus 10%. Assuming the errors are 
independent random variables, the actual error bound should be related to the number of samples used to generate an estimate. For example, the 
USGS error estimate could be interpreted as suggesting that the individual errors have a standard deviation of around 5% (because close to 95% of a 
normally-distributed population is within 2 standard deviations of the mean). Whether the standard deviation is 5% or something else, the standard 
error of the estimate is equal to the standard deviation divided by the square root of the sample size. If the estimate is monthly mean flow, the sample 
size is about 30. These numbers suggest that the error bound for the monthly mean might be around 2% at the 95% confidence level. I am not a 
statistician, and the details of this example may not be exactly correct. For example, the errors on sequential days are probably correlated to some 
degree. The point is simply that the 10% error bounds assumed in the reports need to be re-examined.


Beyond the scope of the study.


47 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 7


In repeating the USFWS reports, the Study incorporates an abundance of errors, confusing explanations, and obscure objectives. Page 7 discusses 
what happens to an incremental increase in flow at Grand Island by the time it reaches Louisville. The discharge increments considered seem arbitrary. 
It would be most helpful if the Study would explain why these particular increments are relevant, and more generally, what “Program water” or “First 
Increment water” is.
After consulting the Biological Opinion, the Adaptive Management Plan, the Record of Decision, the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 
Final Environmental Impact Statement, and the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program, I’ve determined that First Increment water refers to 
130,000 to 150,000 acre-feet of water annually, perhaps in the form of baseflow discharge targets or (undefined?) pulse flows. Spread evenly across 
the full year, that volume of water is equivalent to about 200 cfs, which is in the range of increases being evaluated.
I speculate that the documents I’ve consulted are ambiguous about Program water because it has not yet been fully determined how that water is to be 
used. If so, the hydrologic analyses in the Study seem to be putting the cart before the horse. They seem to ask: if the upstream flow is bumped by X, 
could it be detected downstream, and would it materially improve habitat? Would it not make more sense to go about it other way around? That is, to 
ask: How much of an increase in flow is needed in the lower river to materially improve habitat there, and how much discharge needs to be added to 
upstream flows to hit that downstream target? Perhaps this is how the question is being approach, but it’s hard to tell from what’s written.


Beyond the scope of the study.


48 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 7, 5th 
paragraph


The paragraph begins and ends describing evaporation trends, but refers to total volume lost in the middle. It’s unclear whether this means total 
volume lost through evaporation, or total volume lost including seepage losses. It’s also unclear whether evaporation here includes transpiration.
More generally, the analysis contained here and in the USFWS reports is often muddled in this regard. Terms like evaporation and ET do not seem to 
be used in a consistent manner throughout. However, the distinction may be an unnecessary complication, given the methods used to estimate these 
losses. See comments on that later.


Beyond the scope of the study.


49 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Page 8


The section on hydrograph translation is difficult to interpret. It could be greatly improved by telling the reader more specifically what the EA flow was. 
Four paragraphs into the section it is noted that “the peak of the EA flow at Duncan is estimated to be approximately 2000 cfs above base flows.” From 
this, a reader might infer that something like 2000 cfs was released from somewhere upstream or otherwise generated somehow. Is there some reason 
that what was done and where it was done can’t be clearly stated?


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


50 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 1 The report discusses evaporation and seepage losses. Are there no diversions or pumps to consider? Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 3
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response


51 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 2 The Figure 1 referenced here is missing. The same or a similar figure 1 is missing from Appendix B as well. The missing figures seem to be maps 
showing where all these gages, reaches, and tributaries are. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


52 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 5 Estimated lag times are very crude. All are integer days, and variations in lag time with discharge are not considered. This component of the analysis 
deserves more attention than it was given. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


53 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 5 Figure 2 referenced here is missing. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


54 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 6-7 It would make sense to look at channel width during the time of year when evaporation losses are greatest. Seasonal trends in channel widths were 
considered indirectly through the application of “liberal” and “conservative” widths. Seasonal differences in width could be addressed more directly. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


55 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A  Page 8
The use of pan evaporation rates to estimate river evaporation rates is a big leap. I suspect that the temperature of the pan is quite different than the 
temperature of the river. The pan coefficient might be intended to account for that, but no explanation or justification for the factor of 0.7 is given. The 
adjustment factors used for ET losses also lack explanation. These things need to be explained.


Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


56 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 9-10


Seepage losses are calculated as the difference between the net inputs to a reach (inflows minus E/ET losses) and the outflow from the reach. This 
raises the question of why the analysis even bothers to estimate E/ET, because its magnitude is irrelevant to the result. If the estimate of E/ET was 
arbitrarily increased by 20 cfs, for example, the corresponding estimate of seepage loss would come out 20 cfs lower. The total loss, however, would 
remain the same regardless of what value was used for E/ET. It would be simpler and equally useful to simply define “losses” as the difference between 
inflows and outflows without regard to whether they are E/ET or seepage.


Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


57 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 10
States that “Percent ungaged gains were not calculated, as this quantity is not relevant to this analysis.” I’m not sure how to interpret this statement, 
but I do not agree that gains are irrelevant. It’s also unclear whether “gain” refers to ungaged tributary input only, or to all gains (such as groundwater 
inflows and return flows from diversions).


Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


58 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 11 Seepage loss estimates are called “conservative.” It would be clearer to say the reported losses underestimate the actual losses. It would also be good 
to say something about the magnitude of underestimation. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


59 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Bottom of Page 12 “Total estimated daily evaporation + ET losses” are given in units of cfs, that is, rate units instead of volume. And again on page 14. The figures 
referenced in this text give the losses in percent of flow. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


60 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Page 18, 1st 
paragraph


This paragraph is unnecessarily confusing. The example discusses a reach, a subreach, a stream gage, and added Program water with no explanation 
of the geographic relationship between these elements. That difficulty would be partly relieved if Figure 1 wasn’t missing from the report. It is stated 
that flow is 1000 cfs at Duncan on a particular day. It then refers to the “historic Platte River inflow,” which, from the arithmetic that follows, appears to 
refer to the 1000 cfs at Duncan. Then, 200 cfs of Program water is introduced, although it’s not clear how or where. Again, from the arithmetic, it 
seems that the Program water is also an inflow at the top of the reach, so that the flow at Duncan is actually 1200 cfs, not 1000 cfs. The presentation 
of the arithmetic is also overly complicated. It could be presented as three simple operations: determine the volume of inflows (including distance 
weighted gains), calculate the proportion of the inflows that are lost to E/ET (equal to losses/inflows), and multiply the Program water volume by that 
proportion.


Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


61 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A,  Page 19, 5th 
paragraph


The sensitivity analysis for open water width needs more explanation. It seems to me that, according to how the total losses are calculated, changing 
the open water width would have zero effect on total losses because E/ET is subtracted from inflows before computing seepage losses. Could it be that 
the authors of this report applied 2 different estimates of E/ET to the same analysis? That is, did they subtract the original estimate of E/ET from 
inflows, then calculate seepage losses, then use those seepage losses with new, larger estimates of E/ET to arrive at new total losses? That would 
clearly be incorrect.


Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


62 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A Figures 9 and 10 Why do these graphs present different results than the similar graphs in Appendix C of the other USFWS report included as Appendix B (Page 17 in 
Appendix B)? Graph titles and axes labels are the same in both appendices, but the plotting positions differ. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


63 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix A  Page 23, 1st 
paragraph States that there are no major diversions below Grand Island. What about numerous small diversions? Has that been evaluated? Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


64 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix B Page 5, 6th 
paragraph


Mentions a Tri-County supply canal system. I didn’t see that mentioned anywhere else. I wonder where that is, and if it is, or should be, considered in 
the analysis presented in Appendix A. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


65 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix B, 
Table 2 Uncertainty is assumed to be 10% of the measured flow. See comment 46. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


66 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix B, 
Table 3


 I’m wondering why the effect of First Increment Program activities is to cause negative changes in flow in some months. Here would be a good place 
to provide some explanation as to what First Increment Program activities include. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


67 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix B Page 16 These travel times could be used to improve the Appendix A analysis. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


68 Gaeuman Fluvial Geomorphology Appendix D
Page 18 of Appendix 
B and text on pages 


9-10
Would be appropriate to define what the “OPSTUDY Model” is. Peer review of this appendix beyond the scope of the review.


69 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management SOW Question 1


The Stage Change Study does address the overall objective of the RFP for a specific area in the Platte River. I believe that the study could have been 
more robust by extending the spatial extent of the study. The objective clearly states ‘…from the Elkhorn River confluence to the Missouri River 
confluence,’ but the study was conducted on a reach from the Nebraska highway 50 bridge to the Chicago Rock Island and Pacific Railroad pedestrian 
bridge. I would agree that this reach is likely representative of much of the lower Platte River and is an area where pallid sturgeon have been located 
(Peters and Parham 2004); however, the Platte River at the confluence with the Missouri River is likely quite different and should have been included. 
The confluence is central to these analyses because much of the use of the Platte River by pallid sturgeon occurs near the confluence (Peters and 
Parham 2004). Had the investigators conducted measurements in at least two reaches (i.e., the current reach and one at the confluence), preferably 
more than two reaches (i.e., also include a reach near the Elkhorn River confluence), the precision, understanding of uncertainty, and inference space 
would have been greater with respect to Program water management activities. Further, the confluence reach is unique given that discharge in the 
Missouri River can influence the habitat dynamics in the Platte River which in turn will affect the results of Program water management activities, most 
likely different than the reach near Louisville, Nebraska. This criticism is especially relevant to the 2D modeling exercise which provides the most useful 
information for pallid sturgeon conservation. Understanding the effects of Program water management activities for additional reaches in the Platte 
River is instrumental if the Governance Committee is going to use this information to determine the effects of discharge on physical parameters 
thought to be important to pallid sturgeon. The effects of stage changes on physical parameters appears to be well studied for the reach near Louisville, 
Nebraska and should provide information needed to evaluate Program water management activities in that area. With that said, it would be beneficial if 
the investigators made it more clear regarding the discharges under which empirical data were collected, it is difficult to determine as currently written.


It is beyond the scope of this study to model several sections of the lower 
Platte River, and as a result the reach modeled was chosen because of 
its general representativeness of the lower Platte River. The study area is 
representative of the lower Platte River, including channel width and 
energy grade.  The only exception would be areas influenced by unique 
hydraulic situations such as backwater effects like at the confluence with 
the Missourri.  However, effects of Program flow changes on habitat 
classification would be even less detectable at areas with deeper flows 
like at the confluence with the Missourri.  Considering that flow changes 
would not result in discernible changes to habitat area in the modeled 
reach, the same would likely be true at the confluence with the Missourri.  
Dates of empirical data collection are stated in 3rd paragraph on p. 1, 
and associated discharges for those dates are given in Table 7. 


70 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management SOW Question 2


The selected physical parameters seem reasonable given the current state of knowledge regarding pallid sturgeon ecology. However, it is unclear what 
aspects of the pallid sturgeon life-history are targeted by Program water management activities. Providing habitat for adults is likely quite different than 
providing habitat for larvae. I realize this was not part of the scope of research for the investigators, but should be considered by the Governance 
Committee. This will help refine the effects of Program water management activities and how they relate to specific aspects in the conceptual models. 
Defining the life-history aspects of interest will also make the physical parameters more scientifically defensible. It is becoming clearer that habitat 
diversity and complexity are important to riverine fishes. Thus, combining metrics into a richness or diversity value and evaluating those data as a 
composite with varying Program water management activities might be more ecologically relevant than studying each parameter separately.


Primarily a hydrology study, not a study of pallid sturgeon life history or 
habitat use/occurrence.


71 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management SOW Question 3


The selected habitat classifications seem reasonable given the current state of knowledge regarding pallid sturgeon ecology. It may be implicit in some 
of the habitat classifications, but a more detailed analysis of the thalweg dynamics would have been informative (e.g., thalweg depth and migration 
under varying discharges). I believe understanding the dynamics of the thalweg given varying Program water management activities would be highly 
beneficial given that several studies indicate that pallid sturgeon are typically found in or near the thalweg. I recognize that the investigators are aware 
of the importance of this habitat type because they allude to it when they discuss run and plunge habitat. Again, it is important that the life-history 
aspect of interest is well defined because habitat use likely changes with ontogeny. As stated above, combining habitat classifications into metrics that 
describe the richness or diversity of habitat may be more ecologically meaningful.


Primarily a hydrology study, not a study of pallid sturgeon life history or 
habitat use/occurrence.


72 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management SOW Question 4 Yes, given the error associated with the Louisville gage and the results from the 100, 500, and 1,000 cfs additional Program water at Grand Island 


reaching Louisville as summarized in Figures 3, 4, and 4a. However, the amount detected varies temporally. Comment noted.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 4
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response


73 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management SOW Question 5


Yes, relative to stage and velocity, but not temperature, turbidity, substrate, or channel morphology because those are not measured by the gauging 
equipment. It is clear in the results that there is temporal variation in water quality metrics and that the variation can be detected given the sample 
sizes, but it is not clear how the variation in water quality metrics relate to Program water activities.


Primarily a hydrology study, so most important to consider stage and 
velocity.  The purpose of the study was not to make a statement about 
the importance of water quality parameters such as turbidity and 
temperature for pallid sturgeon or to quantify the effects of Program 
actions on those parameters.


74 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management SOW Question 6


In general, I believe the conclusions are supported by the data, although the conclusions are not clearly articulated. I am concerned that most of the 
analyses and measures of variation represent pseudo-replication. This relates to my comments in the first question. I believe the best way to determine 
the effects of Program water activities on physical parameters that are thought to be of significance to pallid sturgeon would be to conduct the Stage 
Change Study in multiple reaches (i.e., the reaches are the experimental unit). Although one could argue that reaches are not independent, I surmise 
that it better represents available habitat for pallid sturgeon and the influence of Program water activities on that habitat. The most important aspect of 
having multiple reaches is that one will have a better understanding of the uncertainty of Program related water activities on pallid sturgeon habitat.


It is beyond the scope of this study to model several sections of the lower 
Platte River, and as a result the reach modeled was chosen because of 
its representativeness of the lower Platte River.  The only exception 
would be areas influenced by unique hydraulic situations such as 
backwater effects like at the confluence with the Missourri.  However, 
effects of Program flow changes on habitat classification would be even 
less detectable at areas with deeper flows like at the confluence with the 
Missourri.  Considering that flow changes would not result in discernible 
changes to habitat area in the modeled reach, the same would likely be 
true at the confluence with the Missourri.  


75 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 1, 2nd 
paragraph "bed topography at low to intermediate flows "  Why not bed topography at high flow?


Bed topography was collected at low to intermediate flows to facilitate 
bed surveys (i.e., difficult to access and survey at high flows). This study 
focuses on hydraulics of the existing bed, and does not involve sediment 
transport and mobile bed dynamics, which have a much less significant 
influence on habitat classification that is primarily driven by hydraulics.


76 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 1, 3rd 
paragraph


"Within the Study Reach, depth, velocity, turbidity, water temperature, dissolved oxygen, and conductivity measurements, as well as bed topography, 
were obtained …"  Why not sediment transport or large woody debris? Beyond the scope of the study.


77 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 5, 4th 
paragraph


"Water Quality Measures "  These are commonly measured, but why?  What are your hypotheses related to these or how do they relate to a conceptual 
model Parameters of importance to the Program.


78 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 5, 4th 
paragraph


"Data collected from each phase of sampling were then used to conduct a power analysis to determine whether sample sizes were adequate…" This is 
true at one site, but wouldn't it be better to measure these at multiple reaches and treat those as the experimental unit?


Since the objective of the study was to determine whether Program 
changes to discharge could affect pallid sturgeon habitat, discharge was 
assumed to be the independent variable driving water quality. Changes 
in water quality between locations would not necessarily be related to 
Program changes to discharge (assuming all sites are downstream of 
the Program action).


79 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 7, 3rd 
paragraph


"The results, assuming 100, 500, and 1,000 cfs of additional Program water at Grand Island, are
summarized in Figures 3, 4, and 4a, respectively"  Very informative. Comment noted.


80 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 7, 6th 
paragraph "Comparison with USFWS Analysis"  Was this part of the original RFP? USFWS analysis was always considered as important for evaluation for 


the stage change study.


81 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 11, 3rd 
paragraph


"These comparisons indicate that the low-flow channel or channels tended to deepen during the high spring flow
events and tended to become shallower in response to periods of low flow..." I find this very informative given pallid sturgeon tend to use the main 
channel, i.e., thalweg.  We have found that pallid sturgeon avoid shallow, small tributaries. 


Comment noted.


82 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management Figure 23 Page 13 Why so few samples at high discharge?  Also, does the variation in the number of samples collected influence the results?


Few samples at high discharge because of limited access to survey at 
higher discharge. Additionally, the "higher" discharge sample points were 
considered supplemental to the "lower" discharge sample points, due to 
the relatively small difference in WSE at this range of flow (range of 
3,700 cfs to 6,000 cfs). Highest flow points shown in Fig 23 (25,000 and 
37,000 cfs) were collected from other agencies and events not related to 
this study.  Variation in WSE between samples did not affect model 
calibration.


83 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 13, 4th 
paragraph


"in conjunction with the topographic data on which the hydraulic model is based (Figure 24)."  Some statistics on the regression would help reduce this 
subjective statement. Why is one of the data points missing from this figure?  It is the outlier in Figure 25.  Am I missing something?


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


84 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management Figure 26 Page 13 Seems like a lot of scatter, should you explain the variation? Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


85 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 16, 2nd 
paragraph This paragraph and the following two paragraphs are difficult to read. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


86 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 16, 2nd 
paragraph "(d* = D50{(SG-1)g/ν2}1/3))  "  I think the parentheses are off a bit. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


87 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 17, 2nd 
paragraph "is the sediment transport strength defined as (τ’/τcr-1) "  -I don't think this is defined? T' should be T'o.  Will be changed if revised final version is issued.  Tcr 


is defined in the following sentence.


88 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management  Page 17, 3rd 


paragraph "Based on six grab samples of the surface bed material"   -Is six good enough?  Why six? 6 is adequate considering the relative uniformity of the bed material


89 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 18, 1st 
paragraph


"Evaluation of the areas occupied by dunes indicates that the median
predicted dune height increases from 0.45 feet (~5.4 inches) at 3,700 cfs to 0.81 feet (~10 inches)…"  These data are very interesting.  Especially from 
a fish ecology aspect because we believe fish use these as velocity refuge.  Any measures of variation with these data?


Comment noted.


90 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management Page 18, Figure 34 Excellent figure! Comment noted.


91 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 18, 2nd 
paragraph


"Plunge areas represent a complex habitat that is characterized by not only a rapid
change of depth, but also its spatial location relative to bars and banklines within the detailed
study reach…"  This information and the bullets below are a bit difficult to follow.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


92 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 19, 1st 
paragraph "Slackwater, Riffles, and Runs ."  Why caps now? Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


93 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management Page 19, Figure 36 Excellent figure. Comment noted.


94 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 19, 2nd 
paragraph


"The procedure used to develop the uncertainty bands in Figures 38a-d are described in the next section..."  This is good, but make it clear what 
uncertainty you are measuring.  I don't think this is uncertainty related to Program water activities, which is the central question.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


95 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management Page 20, Figure 44a Very useful information. Comment noted.


96 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management Table 11 Page 21 Measures of variation? Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


97 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 22, 3rd 
paragraph


"...it can be concluded that changes in habitat areas as a result of 100 or 500 cfs environmental releases would have a negligible influence on pallid 
sturgeon habitat in the lower Platte River. "  I agree.  Nice work. Comment noted.


98 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 23, 1st 
paragraph


"Finally, the increase in discharge does not move the conductivity, turbidity, temperature, or dissolved oxygen outside the typical range preferred by 
pallid sturgeon (Figures 42 and 43)."  Not sure we know what typical is for pallid.  Can you reword to avoid 'typical' and 'preferred?'


If Program elects to issue a revised final report, this sentence will be re-
worded to avoid "typical" and "preferred".  Also waiting for input from 
mark Pegg as to whethere there is an identified range or ranges for these 
WQ parameters for pallids.


99 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 23, 3rd 
paragraph


"Based on this stage change study, the % habitat in the lower Platte River experiences a relatively high rate of change for flows ranging between 4,000 
cfs to 6,000 cfs. " Not true for all habitats see Figures 44 and 45.


The flat and the run habitat types experience the highest rate of change 
for these flows. Run habitat areas meet habitat criteria for pallid sturgeon 
(deep and swift flow), which is why this is emphasized.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 5
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response


100 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 24, 1st 
paragraph "The Flat classification would have been increased from approximately 30% (± 7%) to 40% (± 8% ) of the habitat area…"  Do you mean ±9? Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


101 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 24, 1st 
paragraph


"The decrease in discharge does not move the conductivity, turbidity, temperature, or dissolved oxygen outside the typical range preferred by pallid 
sturgeon (Figures 42 and 43) ." see comment #24


Assume "comment #24" refers to overall comment #98 in this 
spreadsheet.


102 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 24, 3rd 
paragraph


"Spring is likely the most critical period so that should be protected as best possible."  What does this mean?  I don't think we can say this with much 
confidence.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


103 Guy Fisheries Ecology and Aquatic 
resource Management


Page 25, 4th 
paragraph


"Therefore, the results from this Study should be used as one
part of a larger perspective on available habitat rather than an absolute factor in driving
conclusions and decisions related to population dynamics."  Yes, nice work!


Comment noted.


104 Helsel Environmental Statistics SOW Question 1


The Study adequately addresses the relative magnitude of stage change due to management activities in relation to existing flows and habitat of the 
pallid sturgeon. It does not discuss the proposed changes in light of existing appropriations and any current legal constraints on flow in the Platte River. 
In other words, if these diversions were implemented would they impact the water rights of existing rights owners? The method for extrapolation of 
miSSing record to the Loup River at Columbus is flawed, and so the resulting errors on the analysis are unknown.


Beyond the scope of the study.


105 Helsel Environmental Statistics SOW Question 2
The data themselves are presumably scientifically defensible. They are fairly routine parameters with established protocols for collection. The amount 
of data is adequate. Analysis ofthe data is not adequate, if the purpose is to determine whether proposed flow augmentation and withdrawals for 
storage will significantly affect those parameters.


Analysis is adequate for the scope of this study.  Reviewer did not 
provide specific points for inadequacy of the analysis in this comment.


106 Helsel Environmental Statistics SOW Question 3 This is not my area of expertise. Comment noted.


107 Helsel Environmental Statistics SOW Question 4
Yes. Given that equipment and gauging error is listed as 10% (presumably +5% and ·5%0, the Study determined that flow changes such as those on 
page 24, going from 5,040 cfs to 3,290 cfs, are expected to be much greater than 5% (the direction is known), and so will be detectable as different 
from base flow conditions.


Comment noted.


108 Helsel Environmental Statistics SOW Question 5 No. Determination ofdifferences in water quality parameters using Analysis of Variance is flawed because the serial correlation in the data was not 
accounted for. The current analysis is not sufficient to determine whether there are significant impacts for these parameters.


Flow and habitat conclusions are most important; water quality 
parameter conclusions less so.


109 Helsel Environmental Statistics SOW Question 6
The Study's conclusions in regards to flow are supported by the data and analysis. The conclusions in regards to water quality parameters are not. The 
conclusions in regards to effects on habitat. are beyond my area of expertise, but appear to be the most thoroughly supported portion due to the 
modeling work.


Flow and habitat conclusions are most important; water quality 
parameter conclusions less so.


110 Helsel Environmental Statistics General 


One fundamental problem with the Study is that many analyses were based on two apparently unpublished reports by the USFWS (2002 a and b). 
Results hinge so much on these draft reports that some statement from the Service should be included that verifies that the analyses, spreadsheets, 
etc. in these reports are valid, and that they received peer review and were considered accurate, even though the reports were never published. Or if 
this is not the case, a statement to the effect that the analyses were never peer reviewed or verified. Citations in this Study to those two reports usually 
do not discuss the methods that produced the conclusions, or speadsheets, or whatever product is being cited. The citations imply that what was 
reported is accepted as truth.  What were the quality of these methods? Are there any plans for reviewing, verifying and publishing these 10-year old 
reports?


Beyond the scope of the study.


111 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 3


An example of the dependence on these two reports is the method used for extrapolation from one gage to another using regression. This procedure 
has for years been known to dampen variability in flows, as regression predicts mean values. So the predicted daily flows for 30 years at the Loup 
River at Columbus (1978-2008) relied upon in this report will not be as variable, high or low, as would have been the actual record ifit had been 
measured. Other methods for extrapolation (one is often called MOVE or LOC) are preferred when the probability ofhitting a high or low flow is at issue, 
which it is here. These probabilities of high and low events will be underestimated, as regression by design predicts values towards the center. Given 
that the referenced report was never taken beyond draft, methods in that report including this one may be less than 'industry standard'.


Beyond the scope of the study.


112 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 4
 Please make the method for estimating missing evaporation data more clear. Were simply long-term monthly averages used? That is what is implied 
in the text. Or were monthly temperatures for the period to be estimated incorporated as well, so an unusually hot June for example had higher 
evaporation than the long-term average for June?


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


113 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 4


 Isn't the statement that "the effect of flow changes in the central Platte River for the magnitude currently envisioned under the Platte River Program are 
not likely to be detectable at Louisville, Nebraska" (USFWS, 2002b)" one ofthe questions that this Study is to answer? Why then cite the answer, from 
a draft report at that, here, with implied great authority? No background or insight into the method the USFWS used to make this conclusion is 
presented here. I'd suggest you delete this statement until later after you have presented your analysis ofthis question. From my reading of the 
analysis, the Study finds that the flow changes will certainly be detectable at Louisville, decreasing II ...the flow at Louisville from 5,040 cfs to 3,290 
cfs" (from page 24). So if not deleting the statement, make sure it is clear that this report finds a different result.


Beyond the scope of the study.


114 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 5 Data are not "illustrated" in a table such as Table 5. They are "listed". If they should be illustrated, draw a figure. Tables don't illustrate anything. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


115 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 5
What is the objective of determining whether "water quality data can differentiate between flow conditions"? This implies that the flow data cannot 
differentiate, and that water quality might be needed to do this. Or do you mean "water quality is different at different flow conditions"? The latter is 
focused on water quality, rather than on using it to say something about flow. Clarify the objective for why this analysis is being undertaken.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


116 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 5


Your title "Accuracy Assessment of USGS Stream Gage Measurements" is misleading. You aren't doing an assessment of the accuracy of their 
methods. No data were collected to do so. You are just using their own accuracy assessment to compute the magnitude of 10 percent of observed 
flows. You should rename this section. Then you compute tables of differences in uncertainty estimates (Tables 4 and 6) without stating what these are 
good for, or how they came about. Was the method used in the USFWS report different from yours, and therefore the differences? If so, what were the 
two methods and why do you think they differ? Or are these the same methods just applied to different time intervals, and no change in the physical 
system has occurred? If this is true, then discuss how this helps you and how the difference in flows between 1975-1994 and 1995-2008 produce the 
observed differences listed in Tables 4 and 6


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


117 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 8  I have no idea what "Program staff also provided some preliminary information evaluating the pulse flow event to the Grand Island gage" means. 
Please reword or delete if not important.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


118 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 9  So your conclusions here are that a release of 13K AF upstream is not really discernable by the time it travels downstream to Louisville. What are the 
implications of this for your later findings, given that the later findings seem to disagree with this?


This conclusion is consistent with later findings. Hydrograph translation 
described on p. 9 indicates that the small "peak" from the 13k AF release 
may be within the "noise" of the Louisville gage and the peak is less than 
the accuracy of gage readings. This is the same conclusion in the 1st 
paragraph on p. 23 that states the flow change is approximately equal to 
the gage uncertainty, and thus would be difficult to accurately detect.


119 Helsel Environmental Statistics Modeling 


You found that you have well-calibrated models, and that the Platte acts like most other rivers in scouring the bed during high flows, increasing channel 
depth. You have a handle on the types of bedforms and bars likely present at differing flow regimes. This was translated into models of the amount of 
habitat available for different flow regimes. You evaluate uncertainty in habitat computations based on differences between measured and modeled 
flows. However this underestimates the true error; as errors for calibration data are always smaller than verification data not used to calibrate the 
model. A verification step of some sort, possibly a cross-validation procedure, should be used to quantify uncertainties instead. Yours are very likely 
too small.


As described in the last paragraph on p. 20, a test run at 6,000 cfs 
indicated that uncertainty in modeled depth/velocity contributes a very 
small portion of the overall variability in habitat estimates, and that most 
of the variability is from the uncertainty in hydraulic criteria used to 
identify habitat types.  Considering the minor uncertainty associated with 
modeled depth/velocity, the approach using variability between modeled 
and observed values is appropriate.


120 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 21


These daily values are not independent. Analysis of variance (as well as other standard statistical tests) assume independence of observations, that 
there is no sequential correlation. There certainly is for day to day measures of temperature and water depth, and probably for the other parameters as 
well. The result is that sample sizes are incorrect, that 46 observations for September 2008 for example may have the equivalent information of 20 
independent observations. Therefore the test should be run using n=20 rather than 46, and the differences between months may with reduced sample 
sizes actually not be significant. Because this was not considered, these tests do not prove that differences actually have occurred between months. 
The tests should be run by correcting for serial correlation, which can be done with more complex software, or by more simply computing the 'effective 
sample size' that is a function of the magnitude of correlation between observations in the time series.


The point of the water quality data is to determine a relationship between 
water quality and Q (e.g., that turbidity increases with Q).  WQ data 
collected for this study were supplemented with USGS WQ data (Figs 42 
and 43) for flows well above the bankfull Q of 40,000 cfs.  The final 
dataset included WQ data for flows for the entire range of historical Q at 
Louisville (Fig 2).  As a result, data independence was assumed for the 
wide range of data in Figs 42 and 43.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 6
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response


121 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 21
Serial correlation similarly invalidates standard power calculations. No detail on how power was calculated is given here. Standard ANOVA power 
calculations assume both independence and a normal distribution, and turbidity and depth data are probably not normally distributed (the others may 
be based on working with similar data). Much more detail should be given here on the procedure of the power calculations.


See response to previous comment.  Due to the large WQ dataset that 
included USGS gaged water quality data, data independence was 
assumed.


122 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 22 Even more importantly, the questions that the power analysis and ANOVA are addressing should be explicitly stated. What is the value in these 
analyses? State why you are performing them.


See response to previous 2 comments.  Power and ANOVA analyses are 
somewhat irrelevant considering the large USGS gage dataset used to 
supplement WQ samples collected for this study.  The total dataset 
shown in Figs 42 and 43 cover the range of historical Louisville Q, and 
as a result we have enough data to make predictions whether Program-
related changes to Q would affect WQ.


123 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 22


Figures 42 and 43 are stated as being composed of only the May 2009 data. Yet on page 23 they are used to compare to conditions at other additional 
times. This isn't valid, certainly for temperature. In addition, the data should be tagged and color coded by rising and falling stages of the hydro graph. 
Part of the large variation for similar discharges is due to differences between water quality when the storm is rising versus falling. Turbidity can 
certainly be expected to be very different for the same discharge depending on which limb of the hydro graph it occurs on.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


124 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 23 The meaning of the statement" the magnitude ofthe change in discharge is subject to the same uncertainty as the overall flow" is unclear. Be more 
specific or delete this.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


125 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 23


The statement" the increase in discharge does not move the conductivity, turbidity, temperature, or dissolved oxygen outside the typical range preferred 
by pallid sturgeon (Figures 42 and' 43)" is too broad and sweeping of a statement considering that the figures are based on data only from one month, 
and you've already stated that based on an ANOVA the levels of these parameters differ between months. Graphs of the relationship between these 
parameters and discharge should be based on data from all four months of interest where diversions are expected (note that May is not one of those 
months and so is incorrectly used for the data in these graphs), while considering variation due to rising vs falling hydrograph and to temperature 
effects. In short, you cannot use the current graphs to make the conclusion you are heading toward.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


126 Helsel Environmental Statistics Page 24  a typo? The Run classification would be reduced from 45% to 34%, a decrease of 1 %??? Plus, you report different values in Appx G. Please clarify. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


127 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


SOW Question 1 The report does adequately address the overall objective as stated. The report is logically organized and compete, however, it would be helpful to 
include a background section early in the report that describes the type of flow conditions being considered to place the study in context. Comment noted.


128 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


SOW Question 2


Yes, the physical parameters are adequate and scientifically defensible. Clearly, the need for improved scientific understanding of selection and 
utilization of specific, local flow conditions (both hydrodynamics and water quality) and habitat-scale flow patterns that pallid sturgeon prefer is still 
needed, but outside of the scope of this project. The report does a very good job of describing available data and current understanding and utilizing 
this information to reach the conclusions.


Comment noted.


129 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


SOW Question 3


Yes, the habitat classifications are adequate and scientifically defensible. In addition, to the uncertainty analysis and quantification of habitat areas by 
type, it would be helpful to include a broader discussion about the space-time utilization of individuals that may be residing or moving through the area. 
For instance, “what is known about adjacencies or distributions of habitat types”, this may be important for habitat utilization and may be impacted by 
stage change. From the information it did not appear that distribution or adjacency would change, but would be good to include this in the discussion.


Comment noted.


130 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


SOW Question 4 Yes, the report clearly addresses the detectability of the stage change from Program Water activities. It would be helpful, within the discussion section 
to refer to the stage discharge curves for the reach. Comment noted.


131 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


SOW Question 5


Yes, the report addresses the impact of the stage change on the river parameters listed. It would be helpful to list other parameters that may be 
important, such as flow shear lines, and eddy structures, however, less is know about these features than the parameters given. With that said, some 
acknowledgement that the parameters considered may not be the only flow features that determine habitat function and utilization would be useful. The 
second to last paragraph of the report provides some comments towards this, but could be expanded.


Comment noted.


132 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


SOW Question 6 Yes, the findings of the study and conclusions reached are supported by data and sound engineering and scientific analysis. It would be beneficial to 
include an executive summary of the report and a clear conclusions / summary section in the report Comment noted.


133 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


General 


Scientific Soundness – The methods and approaches were based on sound engineering and science. Unfortunately, although there is literature and 
past studies that describe general habitat preferences and utilization, there is little available information from a first-principles understanding of specific 
habitat needs for the species of interest. This
short-coming is, however, common in most aquatic restoration and management programs. The project report uses sound, available engineering and 
science to address this inherent uncertainty in its habitat evaluation. Although further studies and fundamental research could improve this 
understanding, it is clearly outside of the scope
of this project.


Beyond the scope of the study.


134 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


General 


Organization and Clarity – The report logically presents the engineering analysis of the
hydrologic conditions of the study reach; data collection programs; hydraulic model
construction, calibration and utilization; geomorphic assumptions and analysis, flow
habitat assumptions and habitat discrimination technique; and conclusions. Uncertainties
of methods, models and approaches are adequately described throughout the report.


Comment noted.


135 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


General 
Conciseness – The report is well written and presents an appropriate amount (both depth
and breadth) of information. The report also, includes relevant information in the
appendices and adequately sites previous and related published work.


Comment noted.


136 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


General 
Degree to which the conclusions are supported by the data – The report provides a logical
progression from hydrologic conditions of the study reach through final conclusions,
including the uncertainty of information utilized in the decision process.


Comment noted.


137 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


General 


Cohesiveness of conclusions – The formulation of the conclusions is based on sound
engineering and science. The conclusions/summary statements should have been
explicitly organized in a closing, Conclusion or Summary section in the report rather than
simply woven into the Discussion section.


Comment noted.


138 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


 In the discussion of minimum and maximum flow selection, a flow recurrence /exceedance plot would be helpful to place the selected flows in context, 
rather than referring to figure 2. Also the period of record should be stated for this analysis in the Study Flows section.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


139 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


Figure 2  x-axis of figure 2 should use the first day of the month for each major grid line and label Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


140 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


A better location map would be helpful to locate the study reach within the state and along the Platte River Stream network. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


141 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


It would be helpful to explicitly state that the 2D SRH model is a fixed bed model andthis geometry is used throughout for all simulations. How this 
impacts the local flow conditions for higher flows should be addressed.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


142 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


Figures 24, 25 and 26 are useful data plots, however, it would be helpful to see the distribution of the difference between model and field data on a 
spatial image of the study area. This would be helpful to understand the performance of the model, but likely does not negatively impact the use of the 
model results.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


143 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


Page 24, first 
paragraph after table 


13
 ….45% (+8%) of the habitat area to approximately 34% (+8%) of the habitat area, a decrease of 1%. The “1%” should be “11%”. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 7
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response


144 Weber
River Hydraulics and Mechanics, 


River Restoration, and 
Computational Modeling


Discussion In addition to the text description, it would be helpful to tabulate the changes to habitat classification in the discussion section. This to compare across 
conditions of interest, and to show the impact of the management actions.


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


145 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology SOW Question 1 Yes, subject to comments Comment noted.


146 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology SOW Question 2 Yes, to the extent that they can actually be meaningfully evaluated by the methods used. Comment noted.


147 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology SOW Question 3 This is a good example of a subject that can’t be evaluated if one considers the report in isolation, because habitats get minimal attention in this report. Primarily a hydrology study; no intention to focus on habitat.


148 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology SOW Question 4 Yes and No. Yes the study answered the question; no, program activities (as to flow) cannot be detected. Effects of other activities (sediment 


mobilization for example) were not assessed. Comment noted.


149 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology SOW Question 5 N/A Comment noted.


150 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology SOW Question 6 Yes, especially given the conclusion is “did not find”. Comment noted.


151 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General


I consider the core elements of the study to be technically sound and useful. With some exceptions noted below, the work satisfied the scientific and 
technical scrutiny that was within my expertise to apply, and within the peer review budget to investigate. The study report appears to satisfy the 
objectives of the RFP.


Comment noted.


152 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General


In my experience, a role of peer review is to focus on potential weaknesses or limitations in a study. Thus the critical nature of my comments should 
not be taken to suggest the study is seriously flawed, but rather as my effort to provide constructive input to future work. In the specific comments, I 
observe the following aspects of the study that I thought might be in most need of improvement or of further evaluation.


Comment noted.


153 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General For purposes of organization and clarity, it would be beneficial to provide an introduction that puts the study in context. See specific comments on p. 1. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


154 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General I suggest reconsidering the methodology and results of the loss analysis. See specific comments on p. 2. 


Further input on this topic from this reviewer is in Comment #171 below.  
The loss approach used in this analysis is based on the common mass 
balance technique using known input and outputs and gaged flow 
between 2 points.  The alternative approach suggested by reviewer in 
Comment #171 (i.e., modeling the flow exchange between surface and 
ground water based on ground water heads) is beyond the scope of this 
study.


155 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General The effects of flow modification by hydropower appear to be potentially profound and need further evaluation. See specific comments on p. 8. Beyond the scope of the study.


156 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General The apparent rigor of certain of the analyses does not fully capture the uncertainty in the bottom line results. See specific comments on p. 20.


Specific comment referenced here is overall Comment #184 below.  This 
boils down to an editorial comment suggesting that a full 
acknowledgement of unertainties and limitations be added to the report.  
This will be added if the Program elects to issue a revised final version of 
the report.


157 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General Scientific soundness. The technical aspects of the document were generally good, with possible exceptions noted under Specific Comments. Comment noted.


158 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General


Organization and clarity. The Specific Comments (especially regarding Pages 1 and 9) identify ways the organization and clarity of the report could 
have been improved by providing additional background discussion. That being said, within what was actually presented, the report was well organized 
and well written.


Comment noted.


159 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General Conciseness . Good. Comment noted.


160 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General Degree to which conclusions are supported by the data . Hard to say without copies of the data sets, spreadsheets, and models. Comment noted.


161 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General Cohesiveness of conclusions. Ok within the context of the report. But there is so much unsaid, that a stranger to the process might not be able to 


properly judge the end results. Comment noted.


162 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General Presentation: Is a tightly reasoned argument evident throughout? Does the manuscript wander from the central purpose?  The true central purpose is 


never stated. Within the organization as presented, the report does a good job of walking through the methods, data and results without any wandering. Comment noted.


163 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General


Methods: Are they appropriate? Current? Described clearly and with sufficient detail so that someone else could repeat the work? Except for the 
evaluation of losses, the methods are appropriate and current. The level of detail in methods is good. I don’t know enough about the models to know if 
one could repeat the work, but I suspect it would be necessary to get the actual model I/O files to do so.


Comment noted.


164 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General Data presentation: When results are stated in the text of the manuscript, can you easily verify them by examining tables and figures? Are any of the 


results counterintuitive? Are all tables and figures clearly labeled? Well planned? Too complex? Necessary? Good marks on all of this. Comment noted.


165 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General


Statistical design and analyses: Are they appropriate and correct? Can the reader readily discern which measurements or observations are independent 
of which other measurements or observations? Are replicates correctly identified? Are significance statements justified? A lot of attention is paid to 
statistical determinations, but there is a fair amount more that could and probably should have been said. See comments on P. 20.


Comment noted.


166 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General


Conclusions: Has the author(s) drawn conclusions from insufficient evidence? Are the interpretations of the data logical, reasonable, and based on the 
application of relevant and generally accepted scientific principles? Has the author(s) overlooked alternative hypotheses? I found the overall results 
acceptable, since they agreed with what was fairly evident even without the study, that no significant relationships can be quantitatively established.


Comment noted.


167 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General Errors: Point out any errors in technique, fact, calculation, interpretation, or style.  My review was not in depth, but I found nothing of concern except for 


the loss analysis (see comments on P. 2). Comment noted.


168 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology General Citations: Are all (and only) pertinent references cited? Are they provided for all assertions of fact not supported by the data in the manuscript? It’s a 


good reference list. Comment noted.


169 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 1


In my first paragraph of general comments, I said the study appears to satisfy the objectives of the RFP. I used the word “appears” because neither the 
RFP nor report does a good job of placing the study objectives into context, i.e. explaining to what ultimate purpose the work was being done. To 
understand the work, I relied on the Biological Opinion and the limited discussion in the Protocol. I don’t fault the authors for this necessarily, as it isn’t 
clear from the RFP that they were tasked to provide context in the report.
Nonetheless, the lack of context made reading and evaluating the report much more difficult than it should have been (at least for me). The standard 
organization for a scientific paper includes an introduction that presents the background knowledge necessary for the reader to understand the findings 
of the paper. This is especially important when, as here, there is no executive summary to bring everything together.
In this case the following would have been useful in providing the reader with important background knowledge:
1) A brief synopsis of the nexus between stage and sturgeon as it is now understood. Note that the fact that this paper is about pallid sturgeon isn’t 
even mentioned until halfway through the report (p. 14).                                                   2) One or more hypotheses about how the Program could 
impact that nexus (including a “non-detect” hypothesis). This would disclose the current thinking about why the study reach is important to sturgeon, 
and why we are interested in predicting impacts to depth, velocity, bedforms, topography and the like.                                                               3) A 
clear and succinct statement of the methodological approach to evaluating the hypotheses. This might be a flow chart indicating that first we have to 
route Program flows to the reach; then model their impact on the parameters of interest; which means very complex hydraulic models and 
interpretations relating especially to bedforms; and finally translate that to impacts to sturgeon habitats. It may seem obvious, but that doesn’t mean 
the report shouldn’t be clear about what is being done.                                                                                                                                                            


Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 8
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011







Comment # Reviewer Expertise Section Page Comment Response


170 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Pages 1 and 2 Figure 1 would benefit from an inset location map. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


171 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 2


 The loss analysis is an update of a FWS study provided in Appendix A. It is difficult to fully evaluate the method without a copy of the spreadsheet. 
Nonetheless, I was very surprised about the results, and wonder if the Program is approaching this important issue correctly. I did not review Appendix 
A in sufficient detail to know for sure that my concerns are valid, so please consider this discussion accordingly.
My two primary concerns are as follows.
Some of the loss rates reported are much higher than I have seen, even in arid western rivers. If it has not been done, I strongly recommend each 
element of the loss be independently verified. For example, analytical methods using groundwater head data can be used to independently estimate 
seepage losses. It appears that the method calculates Program losses in proportion to flows. An alternative (and in my experience more appropriate) 
approach is to calculate them on an incremental basis. If the current procedure has not been affirmatively deemed more appropriate than an 
incremental approach, the incremental method should be
To illustrate my concern, consider the result of the accounting done by the Bureau of Reclamation for the loss of water imported into the Rio Grande 
Basin (this loss rate is important for quantification of endangered species impacts as well as available water supplies). Based on quantification 
conducted by the Rio Grande Compact Commission, a loss rate has been calculated for the reach from Heron Reservoir (near the Colorado border on 
a tributary of the Rio Chama) to Albuquerque (a distance roughly comparable to Grand Island-Louisville). The loss rate applies to the flow added to 
natural flow by imported water. There are elements of the rate calculation that are not entirely apples-apples to that made for the Lower Platte, but 
these would have a modest effect at most. The Rio Grande loss rate is 2%. Given this result, it is difficult for me to understand loss rats as high as 
90% in eastern Nebraska.The subject of losses above Grand Island is not considered, but it would be of interest to know the Louisville flow as 
compared to an upstream reservoir release.  The following comment is not related to the above, but to the reference to selection of “appropriate” flows 
on page 2. Appropriate how? With no discussion of matters such as sturgeon habitat, the reader cannot know. It is also confusing to indicate that a 
flow of 39,000 cfs is of “primary interest”, without explaining why it was then appropriate to use 8,000 cfs as the high end of flows selected.


Beyond the scope of the study.


172 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 3  I did not understand how the study made use of two different periods of record for extended analysis. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


173 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 4 The new spreadsheet analysis probably should be provided in an Appendix. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


174 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 5 The power analysis probably should be provided in an Appendix. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


175 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 6 The focus on gage uncertainty may cause readers to overlook the uncertainty in the USFWS spreadsheet which estimates impacts of Program flows. Comment noted.


176 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 7 In addition to the plots in Figures 3, 4 and 4a, it would be interesting to see the data plotted as flow duration curves. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


177 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 8


This page presents Figure 5 and makes note of the “obvious” intraday flow variation. The discussion focuses on how to smooth that out so the pulse 
can be translated from Grand Island to Louisville, which is certainly appropriate. However there is no discussion whatsoever about the fact that the 
hydropower effect causes a 1 foot diurnal change in stage, which is far greater than the transformed impact of the pulse.
The implied premise of the study is that stage impacts habitat, through effects on velocity, depth and bedforms. If so, how is it that the effects of such a 
large and rapid stage change are not considered at all? Had the study found that Program releases did impact habit in the study reach, that conclusion 
would have been called into question because the interday flow variation was not considered and could be such that it swamped out any Program 
impact.


Diurnal flow variations in Fig 5 are a result of Loup River hydropower 
production, and are not related to Program actions.  The large & rapid 
change in stage associated with Loup River hydropower production may 
have an impact on pallid sturgeon habitat, but assessing those impacts 
is not a Program responsibility and is beyond the scope of this study.


178 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 9


Another aspect of context that wasn’t effectively presented was the cause-effect relationship being studied. The stated objective puts “stage” as the 
focal point, whereas after reading the report, I perceive the operational objective was to evaluate the impact of flow (cfs) as it directly impacts water 
depth and velocity, and the consequent effects on sediment, bedforms and habitat. Stage as such seemed not to be that much of a consideration, or a 
particularly good surrogate, especially in terms of assessing velocity and its consequences. The lack of hypotheses was surprising given the nature of 
the Adaptive Management Plan.


Beyond the scope of the study.


179 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 10 Given that stage is the focus of the study, are two water surface data points sufficient for the cross-sections?


Two water surface data points are adequate for validation of a 1-
dimensional model, which assumes that water surface elevation is 
constant at a given cross section.


180 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 11 It would be useful to have an assessment of the change in roughness with flow, and especially whether it is reasonable to interpolate values. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


181 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 12 I did not follow the explanation of the very low n values for the 2D model. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


182 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 15 The entire bedform discussion would benefit from illustrations. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


183 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 19  I found Figure 36 hard to interpret. Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 


final report.


184 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 20


The use of a Monte Carlo analysis to assess uncertainty gives an impression of statistical rigor to the results. Certain other aspects of the work give a 
similar impression. However if one starts at the very beginning of the work, i.e. an increment of flow at Grand Island (with unstated uncertainty), and 
carries it through to the end, many other issues become apparent – the loss estimates, hydrograph translation, error bars on model inputs (median 
grain size is a good example), and more. This cascade of uncertainties would have undermined the results had a positive relationship been found. As 
the bottom line of the report did not assert any relationships had been statistically demonstrated, these issues are perhaps not critical. Still, I would 
have liked to see (in the discussion section) a recap of all the assumptions, limitations and uncertainties in the work.


Editorial comment.  A summary of assumptions, limitations, and 
uncertainties will be added to the report if Program elects to issue a 
revised final report.


185 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 22 Of interest given prior discussion, the models are (correctly) said to evaluate depth and velocity, not “stage change”. One question not posed 


previously: why is the release being evaluated so small?
Potential Program releases as per the Program document were 
evaluated.


186 Wilson Hydrology, Environmental Impact 
Assessment, Geomorphology Page 25 Perhaps emphasize that lack of statistical significance does not equal lack of effect. In fact, qualitatively one can say that a release probably does have 


at least marginal benefit (this is a bit more affirmative than “no additional stress”).
Editorial comment.  Will be edited if Program elects to issue a revised 
final report.


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Comments 9
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program


 October 2011





		PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review GC Memo

		Exhibit A

		05 - FINAL PRRIP Stage Change Study Peer Review Scope of Work

		Stage Change Study Peer Review Scope of Work

		Attachment #1

		PRRIP Stage Change Study RFP

		Attachment #2

		PRRIP Peer Review Guidelines for Reports and Studies



		Exhibit B

		03 - Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Peer Review Report

		Lower Platte River Stage Change Peer Reivew_Summary Rep (102611)_updated

		Lower Platte River Stage Change Peer Review Report_Atkins (100611)

		Stage_Change_Review_Comments_table.pdf

		Sheet1



		Stage Change Review Binder.pdf

		Reviewer_#1

		Gaeuman

		Reviewer_#2

		Guy

		Reviewer_#3

		Helsel

		Reviewer_#4

		Weber

		Reviewer_#5

		wilson







		Exhibit C

		Stage Change Peer Review Comments with responses






PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  06/04/2012 


 


PRRIP 2012 State of the Platte Executive Summary  Page 1 of 8 
 


ADAPTIVE 
MANAGEMENT ON 
THE PLATTE RIVER 


  


 


 


 


 


 


06/04/2012 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 
Adaptive Management Plan (AMP)                                                                      


2012 “State of the Platte” Report – Executive 
Summary 


 


Prepared by staff of 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 


4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 
Kearney, NE  68845 


 


 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  06/04/2012 


 


PRRIP 2012 State of the Platte Executive Summary  Page 2 of 8 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 
 2 


Program activities are being implemented to address major Program scientific and technical uncertainties 3 
identified as “broad hypotheses” on Pages 14-17 of the AMP.  The following set of ten “Big Questions” 4 
represents a condensed version of uncertainties related to Program management actions, habitat, and 5 
target species response during the First Increment. 6 


 7 


PRRIP Big Questions = What we don’t know but want to learn 


Implementation – Program Management Actions and Habitat 


1. How do Program management actions (flow releases, sediment augmentation, flow 
consolidation, mechanical actions) contribute to the maintenance of channel width 
and creation of a braided river channel? 


2. What is the relationship between Program management actions (flow releases, 
sediment augmentation, flow consolidation, mechanical actions) and suitable tern 
and plover riverine nesting habitat as defined by the Program? 


3. What is the relationship between Program management actions (flow releases, 
sediment augmentation, flow consolidation, mechanical actions) and suitable 
whooping crane habitat as defined by the Program? 


Effectiveness – Habitat and Target Species Response 


4. Do terns, plovers, and whooping cranes use Program habitat complexes and/or 
Program-defined habitat in proportions greater than their availability? 


5. What is the relationship between concurrently available riverine and sandpit nesting 
habitat and tern and plover use and productivity? 


6. What is the relationship between the availability of Program-defined nesting habitat 
and tern and plover use and reproductive success? 


7. What is the relationship between the availability of Program-defined whooping crane 
roosting habitat and whooping crane use? 


8. Do Program flow management actions in the central Platte River avoid adverse 
impacts to pallid sturgeon in the lower Platte River? 


Larger Scale Issues – Application of Learning 


9. How do Program management actions in the central Platte River contribute to least 
tern, piping plover, whooping crane, and pallid sturgeon recovery? 


10. What uncertainties exist at the end of the First Increment, and how might the Program 
address those uncertainties in the Second Increment? 


 


8 
 9 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  06/04/2012 


 


PRRIP 2012 State of the Platte Executive Summary  Page 3 of 8 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 10 
Big Question Assessments 11 


 12 
2011 marked the conclusion of the fifth year of the 13-year First Increment, so any conclusions drawn to 13 
date are made cautiously.  Generally, information does exist to pair the key data and visualizations with a 14 
preliminary assessment of what we know about some of the Program’s Big Questions.  Additionally, 15 
these preliminary assessments are made utilizing the following guide: 16 


 17 


 18 
 19 


PRRIP Big Questions = What we don’t know but want to learn 
2012 


Assessment 


Implementation – Program Management Actions and Habitat 


1. How do Program management actions (flow releases, sediment augmentation, flow 
consolidation, mechanical actions) contribute to the maintenance of channel width and 
creation of a braided river channel? 


 


2. What is the relationship between Program management actions (flow releases, sediment 
augmentation, flow consolidation, mechanical actions) and suitable tern and plover 
riverine nesting habitat as defined by the Program?  


3. What is the relationship between Program management actions (flow releases, sediment 
augmentation, flow consolidation, mechanical actions) and suitable whooping crane 
habitat as defined by the Program? 


 


Effectiveness – Habitat and Target Species Response 


4. Do terns, plovers, and whooping cranes use Program habitat complexes and/or Program-
defined habitat in proportions greater than their availability? 


 


5. What is the relationship between concurrently available riverine and sandpit nesting 
habitat and tern and plover use and productivity? 


 


6. What is the relationship between the availability of Program-defined nesting habitat and 
tern and plover use and reproductive success?  


7. What is the relationship between the availability of Program-defined whooping crane 
roosting habitat and whooping crane use? 


 


8. Do Program flow management actions in the central Platte River avoid adverse impacts to 
pallid sturgeon in the lower Platte River? 


 


Larger Scale Issues – Application of Learning 


9. How do Program management actions in the central Platte River contribute to least tern, 
piping plover, whooping crane, and pallid sturgeon recovery? 


 


10. What uncertainties exist at the end of the First Increment, and how might the Program 
address those uncertainties? 


 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  06/04/2012 


 


PRRIP 2012 State of the Platte Executive Summary  Page 4 of 8 
 


 20 
 21 
 22 
 23 
Based upon the SedVeg model and associated assumptions in the FSM management strategy, it is 24 
hypothesized that under a balanced sediment budget, flows of 5,000 to 8,000 cfs magnitude for three days 25 
on an annual or near annual basis (SDHF) will build sand bars to an elevation that is suitable for tern and 26 
plover nesting.  27 
 28 
Analysis Conducted to Date: 29 
The Program developed system and project-scale hydraulic and sediment transport models and collected 30 
detailed system and project-scale topographic data following three natural flow events that exceeded 31 
SDHF magnitude and duration. The EDO and contractors used this data to analyze sand bar height in 32 
relation to peak flow stage and minimum habitat suitability criteria in the portions of the reach that are in 33 
sediment deficit (upstream of Kearney) and sediment balance (downstream of Kearney).  34 
 35 
Thus far, analyses focused on relationships related to SDHF because that flow management action is 36 
prioritized in the AMP.  Additional monitoring and analysis may be utilized to evaluate alternative flow 37 
management actions (i.e. USFWS target flows – pulse flows and species flows) if the GC elects to 38 
implement such alternatives. 39 
 40 
What Does the Science Say? 41 


The Program’s minimum suitable sand 42 
bar height criterion for tern and plover 43 
nesting is 1.5’ above a stage of 1,200 cfs, 44 
which correlates to tern and plover nests 45 
having a 50% probability of being 46 
flooded during the nesting season (May-47 


July). During a peak flow event, sand bars grow to some height below the flow stage. The increase in 48 
flow stage during an event in combination with sand bar height below peak stage, dictate whether or not 49 
sand bar heights exceed 1.5 feet above 1,200 cfs. Program modeling, research, and monitoring indicate 50 
that: 51 
 52 
1. Stage increase during peak flow events of SDHF magnitude (5,000-8,000 cfs) is sufficient to produce 53 


sand bars meeting the height criterion if sand bars build to very near or at the peak flow stage, which 54 
is what was assumed in the SedVeg model used in the FEIS analysis. 55 


 56 
2. Sand bars formed during peak flow events in 2010 and 2011 had maximum heights of approximately 57 


1.0-1.5 feet below peak flow stage and mean heights of 2.0-2.5 feet below peak stage. This was not 58 
high enough to produce appreciable area meeting the minimum height criterion.  This despite the fact 59 
that these peak flow events had higher peak discharges and longer durations than a SDHF release.  60 


 61 
3. Sand bar heights do not differ significantly in the sediment deficient reach upstream of Kearney 62 


versus the reach in sediment balance downstream of Kearney.  63 
 64 
4. The area of in-channel sand bar habitat meeting minimum suitable habitat criteria has declined 65 


steadily since 2008 as constructed nesting islands have been eroded by peak flow events. 66 


Program modeling and monitoring 
indicate that SDHF will likely not 
produce habitat meeting the Program’s 
suitability criteria for tern and plover 


nesting habitat with or without sediment balance. 


2. What is the relationship between Program management actions (flow releases, 
sediment augmentation, flow consolidation, mechanical actions) and suitable tern 
and plover riverine nesting habitat as defined by the Program? 


 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  06/04/2012 


 


PRRIP 2012 State of the Platte Executive Summary  Page 5 of 8 
 


The finding that SDHF-magnitude flows do not produce suitable nesting habitat is qualitatively supported 67 
by a simple analysis of annual peak flow events and nesting records for the period of 1942-2011 (Figure 68 
1). During that period, annual peak flow event magnitude and volume exceeded SDHF minimums in 41 69 
out of 70 years. In addition, there were seven periods when minimums were exceeded in 2 out of 3 years, 70 
including recent periods from 1984-1991, 1993-1999, and 2010-2011. If the FSM management strategy is 71 
capable of creating and/or maintaining tern and plover nesting habitat, regular nesting on natural sand 72 
bars should have occurred downstream of Kearney (area of sediment balance) from 1984-1999. 73 
 74 


 75 


 76 
A total of 63 nests were observed on natural sand bars at five locations in the years following consecutive 77 
high flow events of 23,900 cfs in 1983 and 16,000 cfs in 1984


1
. Four of the five sites and all but two of 78 


the nests were in the reach from Overton to Kearney at locations where channel hydraulics are affected by 79 
infrastructure (J-2 return, bridges, and the Kearney Canal diversion). The only nest observed on a natural 80 
sand bar after 1991 was downstream of the J-2 Return in 1996 following a high flow event of 16,200 cfs 81 
in 1995. During the period of 1984-1999, 233 nests were observed on managed islands, 871 nests were 82 
observed on managed sandpits, and 144 nests were observed on unmanaged sandpits. 83 
 84 
The low number of nest observations on natural sand bars in comparison to other habitat types is a strong 85 
indicator that natural variation in peak flows, sediment, and channel characteristics during this period did 86 
not produce suitable nesting habitat with the exception of areas with unique hydraulics following very 87 
high peak flow events. If the Program is to expect a different result in the future, one (or a combination) 88 
of these factors must be manipulated outside of the ranges typically experienced during this period.  89 
 90 
 91 
 92 
 93 


                                                           
1
 Lingle, Gary. 2004. Platte River Recovery Implementation Program DEIS Response. Report Submitted to Central Platte NRD. 


Figure 1.  Annual peak flow event discharge and volume for 1942-2011. 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  06/04/2012 


 


PRRIP 2012 State of the Platte Executive Summary  Page 6 of 8 
 


Governance Committee Decision-making Q&A: 94 
Do these results mean the Program shouldn’t attempt to make SDHF releases? 95 
There are other hypothesized benefits to SDHF releases including maintaining wide, unvegetated 96 
channels for whooping cranes. The inability of SDHF to produce sand bars defined as nesting habitat by 97 
the Program should not necessarily be a reason to abandon the action as what constitutes suitable nesting 98 
habitat could be revised.  However, results to date necessitate the GC be aware that current flow 99 
management priorities (SDHF) are not likely to produce all the hypothesized results and discussion of 100 
alternative flow management actions may be warranted. 101 
 102 
Do these results mean the Program shouldn’t augment sediment? 103 
No. The effects of sediment deficit on braided stream morphology are well documented. Without 104 
augmentation, narrowing and incision in the reach upstream of Kearney will continue. The results only 105 
indicate that the sediment deficit upstream of Kearney is probably not the reason sand bar heights are not 106 
suitable for tern and plover nesting. 107 
 108 
What management actions could conceivably produce islands that meet suitable nesting habitat criteria? 109 
Some potential alternative management actions are presented below. Some may not be feasible, 110 
acceptable, and/or come with potentially negative impacts but are provided as examples of what it would 111 
mean to “go beyond” naturally occurring conditions.  112 
 113 
 Increasing frequency of large peak flow events - Given that nesting was observed following very 114 


large peak flow events, increasing the frequency of flows from 16,000-20,000 cfs magnitude could 115 
increase the frequency of suitable habitat creation.  However, such flows would require additional 116 
sediment augmentation that increases exponentially with flow magnitude.  117 


 Mechanically over-widen a segment of channel to induce sediment deposition – This action would 118 
induce deposition and potentially encourage development of higher bars.  119 


 Oversupply the entire reach with medium sand (D50 0.4mm) – This would produce sediment 120 
conditions similar to the lower Platte River. The potential success of this alternative, however, is 121 
questionable given the 2011 sand bar height analyses by the USGS in the lower Platte indicated sand 122 
bar heights relative to flow event peak stage were very similar to the central Platte. 123 


 Mechanical approach – Vegetated sand bars aggrade to heights that are suitable for nesting due to 124 
stabilization and sediment trapping by vegetation during natural or augmented annual high flow 125 
events. A portion of the sand bars at Program habitat complexes could be selectively allowed to 126 
vegetate with non-woody and non-invasive vegetation. Once a sand bar aggrades to a suitable height, 127 
it could be mechanically cleared and maintained as nesting habitat until it is eroded by subsequent 128 
flow events. 129 


 130 
 131 
 132 
 133 
 134 
 135 
 136 
 137 
 138 
 139 
 140 
 141 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  06/04/2012 


 


PRRIP 2012 State of the Platte Executive Summary  Page 7 of 8 
 


 142 
 143 
 144 
It is hypothesized that when in-channel (sand bars) and off-channel (sandpits) nesting habitat availability 145 
increases, tern and plover use and productivity will increase (i.e., habitat is limiting). It is also 146 
hypothesized that tern and plover nesting is more successful on in-channel than off-channel habitat. 147 
 148 
Analysis Conducted to Date: 149 
The Program monitors tern and plover use of the central Platte River from late April through August each 150 
year.  This includes both river habitat and off-channel habitat monitoring.  EDO staff prepares an annual 151 
monitoring report that includes raw monitoring numbers and calculations of important bird-related 152 
metrics such as fledge ratios and nest success.  Habitat availability during the tern/plover nest initiation 153 
period (April-July) is calculated each year based on Program-defined suitability criteria using aerial 154 
photography, LiDAR imagery, HEC-RAS models, and GIS computing. 155 
 156 
What Does the Science Say? 157 


Program management actions since 2007 158 
have resulted in a steady increase in off-159 
channel habitat despite vegetation 160 
encroachment and annual loss of suitable 161 
nesting habitat at privately owned sandpit 162 
sites (Table 1).  Prior to the 2012 nesting 163 
season, the Program created or enhanced 164 


~75 acres of off-channel nesting habitat which resulted in increased tern and plover nesting at three of 165 
these sites.  During this same timeframe, availability of in-channel habitat meeting Program suitability 166 
criteria decreased steadily due to prolonged natural high-flow events. 167 
 168 


Land 
Ownership 


2007 
In-Channel 


Habitat Acres 


2011 
In-Channel 


Habitat Acres 


% 
Change 


 


2007 
Off-Channel 


Habitat Acres 


2011 
Off-Channel 


Habitat Acres 


% 
Change 


Program 5 2 -60% 20 60 200% 


Non-Program 20 3 -85% 135 106 -21% 


TOTAL 25 5 -80% 155 181 16% 


Table 1.  Program-defined tern and plover nesting habitat acres in the river as sand bars (in-channel) and at 169 
sandpits (off-channel) during 2007 and 2011, and the percent increase or decrease in habitat acres from 2007-2011.  170 
Habitat numbers are based on preliminary habitat availability assessment results; final results will likely change 171 
slightly during 2012.  NOTE:  “Habitat acres” are different than “Program acres”; all Program acres do not fit 172 
Program-defined habitat suitability criteria (for example, only certain acres of a sandpit count as suitable tern and 173 
plover nesting habitat based on criteria like slope, distance to trees, etc.). 174 
 175 
Tern and plover productivity numbers have increased steadily since 2007 and are at levels believed to 176 
result in population growth.  We observed ≥70% more tern and plover nests and fledglings during 2011 177 
than 2007.   Much of the productivity observed to date has been at off-channel sites where productivity is 178 
hypothesized to be lower than in-channel sites.  We have observed a higher tern fledge ratio at off-179 
channel (0.98 fledglings/nest) than in-channel sites (0.37 fledglings/nest) during the first five years of the 180 
Program and observed no tern nests on river islands during 2010 or 2011; however, availability of 181 
Program-defined suitable in-channel nesting habitat has been low.  Similarly, we have observed a higher 182 
plover fledge ratio at off-channel (0.93 fledglings/nest) than in-channel sites (0.46 fledglings/nest) during 183 
the first five years of the Program and observed no plover nests on river islands during 2011. 184 


Program monitoring and data analysis 
indicate that as habitat increases, tern 
and plover use and productivity increase.  
However, due to a lack of in-channel 


habitat and nesting during 2007-2011, we are not 
yet able to answer this Big Question. 


6. What is the relationship between the availability of Program-defined nesting 
habitat and tern and plover use and reproductive success? 


 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  06/04/2012 


 


PRRIP 2012 State of the Platte Executive Summary  Page 8 of 8 
 


Program monitoring and data analysis indicate that as sand bar and sandpit habitat increase, tern and 185 
plover use of both habitat types increase (Figure 1).  The presence of little to no sand bar nesting habitat 186 
and the increase in off-channel habitat availability on the central Platte since 2007, however, leaves open 187 
the questions of whether tern and plover nesting is more successful on sand bar habitat versus sandpit 188 
habitat and whether there is a direct relationship between habitat availability and tern and plover use of 189 
the central Platte River.   190 
 191 


 192 
Figure 1. Relationship between availability of Program-defined suitable in- and off-channel nesting habitat 193 
and numbers of tern and plover nests observed, 2007–2011.  Hollow points indicate habitat numbers were estimated 194 
and will be updated following completion of habitat availability assessments in 2012.  The in-channel relationship 195 
for plovers excludes 2010 data when habitat availability was high during May, but decreased rapidly when a natural 196 
high flow event inundated and laterally eroded away most suitable in-channel nesting habitat. 197 
 198 
Governance Committee Decision-making Q&A: 199 
Should the Program create and maintain additional off-channel nesting habitat? 200 
Yes.  The Program and its partners acquired and maintain approximately 120 acres of suitable tern and 201 
plover nesting habitat.  Program efforts to create and maintain off-channel tern and plover nesting habitat 202 
have been successful and resulted in a net increase in off-channel habitat availability and numbers of tern 203 
and plover nests and also distributed nesting across a wider stretch of river.  Despite these efforts and 204 
successes, the amount off-channel habitat available for nesting only increased by approximately 25 acres 205 
due habitat loss to vegetation encroachment at privately owned sandpits.  The Program is currently 206 
constructing an additional 35 acres and monitors approximately 60 acres of privately-owned, off-channel 207 
nesting habitat that is not managed to control vegetation.  During the next couple years, the privately-208 
owned habitat will likely become vegetated and unsuitable for terns and plovers which will result in a net 209 
loss in off-channel habitat during the Program’s First Increment. 210 
 211 
Should the Program create and maintain additional in-channel nesting habitat? 212 
Yes.  Since 2007, the Program created approximately 13 acres of suitable in-channel nesting habitat that, 213 
along with most in-channel habitat created and maintained by Program partners, was inundated and 214 
eroded away by natural high-flow events the past two summers.  Through 2011, there was a very limited 215 
amount of what the Program-defined suitable in-channel habitat available for nesting.  A wider range in 216 
habitat availability should be created to confirm the relationships between tern and plover use and habitat 217 
availability observed to date.  Moving forward, the Program should build islands of various sizes and 218 
heights to evaluate Program habitat criteria and bird response. 219 








1 


 


May 31, 2012 


Michael Thabault, Chair, Governance Committee 


c/o Mr. Chad Smith 


Executive Director‟s Office 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program   


Headwaters Corporation  


4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6  


Kearney, Nebraska 68845 


 


Dear Chair Thabault: 


This letter is the Independent Scientific Advisory Committee‟s (ISAC) response to the Executive 


Director‟s Office (EDO) Memorandum of 10 February 2012 outlining a request from the Platte 


River Recovery Implementation Program‟s Governance Committee for the ISAC to provide, 


“input and guidance on the value of the proposed Platte River Caddisfly Response to Tree 


Removal Research Study Plan and additional input on how to consider this species that is 


included as a “Species of Concern” in the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program’s 


(Program) Land Plan in regard to management actions and associated monitoring/research as a 


whole.”  Specifically, the following is our response to each of the EDO‟s two questions on the 


proposed Platte River Caddisfly (PRCF) Research Project. Additionally, a third question 


(Question 3. below) was added during the 27-28 March 2012 Adaptive Management Plan 


Reporting session for the ISAC to respond to.   


Question 1.  Will the proposed study provided adequate initial insight into the potential 


responses of caddisflies to woody vegetation removal, and how those responses might 


influence Program decision-making regarding management actions?  


ISAC response: NO 


Caveat:  The phrase "adequate initial insight" sets the Yes-No bar quite low; albeit somewhat 


fuzzily.  The ISAC agrees that the proposed study would provide initial insight; however, its 


adequacy remains elusive: adequate for decision making?  − No; adequate to design the next 


science step? − arguably Yes. 


 


Broad Considerations.  


 


There are a number of sites where the PRCF has been extirpated, and their distribution also 


includes sites outside of the Program target area along the Plate River as well as other rivers in 


Nebraska (e.g., Loup, Elkhorn; Vivian 2010).  This evidence suggests the need for a more 


comprehensive conceptual model, one that considers PRCF as a metapopulation with localized 


extirpation and recolonization over a broad geographic area.  Consequently, a study that only 







2 


 


examines one or two sites in one river seems inappropriate relative to impacts Program activities 


might have on the PRCF metapopulation.  


Hydrology (e.g., sloughs connecting/disconnecting to main channel, water level fluctuations in 


sloughs, periodicity of sloughs wetting and drying) has been identified as primary controlling 


variable of the PRCF life cycle and population dynamics (Whiles et al. 1999, Vivian 2010).  


Consequently, it will be essential to understand and hold hydrology constant among any 


vegetation removal treatments in PRCF management experiments, or treat hydrology explicitly 


as a co-variate.  Hydrology will almost certainly vary temporally and spatially in any field 


situation, so treatment as a co-variate will probably be warranted.  This would require, at a 


minimum, monitoring of ecologically relevant surface water (see response to Question 2 below) 


and soil moisture variables.  For example, does the PRCF estivate if water remains in a slough all 


summer or is estivation an annual occurrence irrespective of slough hydrology? 


Specific Design of a Management Experiment. 


The proposed study (Cavallaro 2011), hereafter Proposal, has a somewhat generic objective: “To 


determine PRCF response to terrestrial vegetation removal by comparing PRCF larval densities 


in managed (trees, shrubs, or both removed) and unmanaged plots at the McCormick and 


Binfield properties”.   It was not clear to the ISAC what conceptual model underlies this 


proposal; what hypotheses are proposed to be tested; how the resulting data will be analyzed, 


and; what outcomes would constitute evidence changing the relative probability of these 


hypotheses. 


 


The ISAC raised several unanswered questions that a well-designed and executed PRCF 


management experiment should address. What is the spatial variability of PRCF at individual 


sloughs within the central Platte River target area?  It is necessary to get this information first, 


and then do a power analysis to determine size of effect that would be detectable to answer these 


questions (see Appendix A).  Is one sample in the midpoint of a 50-m plot enough?   Can you 


compare within-plot PRCF abundance with between-plot PRCF abundance with one sample?  Is 


one D-frame sample at the mid-point of each treatment plot sufficient to detect effect sizes of 


interest?  Are 4-quadrats per plot sufficient to detect effect sizes of interest? 


Other relevant questions include the following. Is there potential confounding of the vegetation 


removal treatments?  For example, removal of trees affects input of seston (i.e., food for PRCF) 


to a slough which in turn affects conditions in the „downstream‟ block, impacts of livestock 


grazing, hydrologic changes independent of vegetation.  How will the data be analyzed to 


account for these potentially confounding factors? 


 


Recommendation:  As part of conceptual model development (see response to Question 2.), one 


could undertake a simple decision analysis of alternative management actions (i.e., clear trees or 







3 


 


don‟t), drivers (e.g., intra-and inter-annual hydrology; grazing), and various performance 


measures (% change in habitat of PRCF, % change in habitat of whooping crane, least tern and 


piping plover). 


 


Question 2.  Should additional/alternative methods, data, or study designs be considered to 


help the Program reduce uncertainties associated with potential Program management 


action impacts on the caddisfly?   


ISAC response: YES 


The ISAC recommends building a conceptual model for the PRCF that considers the 


metapopulation hypothesis above, how groundwater (including recharge of ground water as a 


Program water-management strategy) and river stage affect hydrology (timing, duration, 


frequency, etc. of wetting and drying; i.e. permanency) in sloughs, and wetlands adjacent to the 


Platte River. 


Program area groundwater levels have recovered somewhat since 1990, and the PRCF was 


rediscovered in 1995.  Is the PRCF tracking the groundwater level associated with river 


hydrology?  One hypothesis is that, whereas the listed birds are following seasonal cycles of ebb 


and flow in river surface area, PRCF are following the rise and fall of groundwater levels.  


Actions to restore some semblance of river hydrology will likely have beneficial effects on the 


PRCF if the hypothesis of their linkage to groundwater levels is correct.   


An additional/alternative study is to continue or expand the PRCF surveys.  Such an approach 


would help answer several broader questions. How wide is the distribution of PRCF relative to 


lands potentially affected by Program activities?   Should a PRCF survey cover all the potential 


properties where the Program could possibly affect the PRCF?  Answering these questions 


would help inform the hypothesis that the percent mortality within one or two locations in one 


river could be irrelevant to the overall PRCF metapopulation. However, before embarking on a 


metapopulation analysis the ISAC believes it is critical to define, using a conceptual model, the 


relationships between physico-chemical variables and each PRCF life-stage response, because 


each life stage is so different (i.e., aerial, aquatic, and terrestrial subsurface). 


Program Activities 


Another important question not addressed by the present Proposal is how might Program short-


duration high flows (SDHFs) affect water levels within sloughs used by PRCF?  The underlying 


assumption here is that water levels in non-connected sloughs are largely groundwater driven 


and SDHFs will affect groundwater levels.  This hypothesis needs to be first verified and if so, 


how much does an in-channel water level increase affect water levels in sloughs within the 


Program target area?  Is there a significant correlation between in-channel water levels and 







4 


 


slough water levels (i.e., depth and volume)?  If so, then a series of PRCF questions should be 


considered including, but not limited to:  Would the timing and magnitude of SDHFs affect 


PRCF movement to terrestrial areas for estivation, or the locations to where they estivate?  How 


would dropping the high pulse affect PRCF movement?  Would SDHFs have any mortality 


effect on PRCFs? 


Before the program invests in any additional PRCF experimental studies they should conduct a 


risk analysis of potential for harm due to program activities.  This could be partially 


accomplished as follows:  


Use groundwater maps (e.g., Beorn Courtney, 2012 Adaptive Management Plan Reporting 


Session, Water Plan) in conjunction with recorded PRCF occupancy sites and proposed sites 


where the Program will, or may be proposing to remove woody vegetation to identify where 


program activities might impact PRCF.  This yields the population of Program study sites of 


interest.  Assess if placement of a buffer zone where no program activities would occur around 


these target sites (buffer width to be determined by Program needs and in consultation with 


caddisfly experts) would interfere significantly with whooping crane/tern/plover recovery efforts 


(See Question 3 for related topic).  If not, then implement the buffer zone and program 


management actions as they should have no direct impact on PRCF and there is no further need 


for PRRIP to address the issue.  This option expands on the recommendation of the GC at its 


September 2011 meeting to leave a buffer around the slough on the McCormick and Binfield 


properties and consider the potential impact to Program whooping crane objectives of 


implementing a general policy of always leaving a vegetation buffer around sloughs on Program 


properties proposed for tree clearing. 


If this approach is not possible (e.g., FWS lists PRCF and requires PRRIP to demonstrate no 


effect of Program practices), then redesign the PRCF management experiment as outlined above 


and in Appendix A to address among site impacts within a more robust framework. 


 


Question 3.  Does the Program need to consider caddisfly questions in relation to whooping 


crane ecology?   


ISAC response: YES 


Caveat:  The ISAC is having trouble reconciling two opposing lines of evidence relative to 


whooping crane habitat use within the Program target area.  Background material on the 


whooping crane states that they forage in wet meadows for invertebrates and wetland plants.  


Subsequent data indicate that they largely forage for corn in cornfields (e.g., pgs. 15-16 & Figure 


5 on pg. 20; PRRIP 16 March 2012).   







5 


 


The question of whether it is important to know how the PRCF responds to woody vegetation 


removal is linked to Program management objectives for wet meadows and whooping cranes.  


Woody vegetation removal in wet meadows would be warranted to increase foraging habitat for 


whooping cranes in wet meadow habitats − but only if wet meadow habitats are shown to be 


significant for whooping crane nutrition during migration.  If existing or future data indicate that 


whooping cranes do not select (and therefore probably do not require) wet meadows, then 


purchasing and managing wet meadows for whooping cranes would unlikely be a high Program 


priority, and the woody vegetation and caddisfly populations currently in wet meadows could be 


left untouched. 


Addendum.  The ISAC concurs with the GC‟s broad issue recommendation (Final Minutes, 


September 2011 GC Meeting) generated from this topic that the Program consider developing an 


engagement policy when its actions might affect any species of concern.  Hopefully, this 


response can contribute to drafting such a policy. 


 


Respectfully submitted on behalf of the ISAC, 


 


David Galat (ISAC member) 


and David Marmorek (ISAC Chair)   


 


Enc: Materials reviewed by ISAC members for this letter 


Appendix A: Statistical comments on the proposed Platte River caddisfly study   







6 


 


Materials reviewed by ISAC members for this letter:  


Cavallaro, M. (2011).  Platte River caddisfly response to vegetation removal.  Research proposal 


from University of Nebraska at Kearney, W. W. Hoback, advisor. 


Email correspondence with ISAC members, 14-30 May 2012. 


Executive Director‟s Office.  30 August 2011. Memorandum to Governance Committee. Platte 


River Caddisfly Research Project.  Includes Exhibit A: Initial PRCF Study Plan; Appendix B: 


2011 McCormick Property Work Plan; Appendix C: USFWS Letter on PRCF Impacts; 


Appendix D: PRCF Research Proposal; Appendix E: PPRIP/UNK PRCF Research Contract; 


Appendix F: USFWS/NGPC PRCF Life History Requirements Document:  Appendix G: 


USFWS Clarifications on Bald Eagle and Whooping Crane Impacts: Exhibit H: PRRIP 


McCromick Tract Access Agreement.  Platte River Recovery Implementation Program, Kearner, 


NE. 


Geluso, K., M. J. Harner, and L. A. Vivian.  2011.  Subterranean behavior and other notes for 


Ironoquia plattensis (Trichoptera: Limnephilidae) in Nebraska.  Annals of the Entomological 


Society of America, 104:1021-1025. 


Governance Committee.  6 December 2011. Final Governance Committee Meeting Minutes, 


September 2011.  Platte River Recovery Implementation Program, Executive Director‟s Office, 


Kearney, NE. 


ISAC member notes from March 2012 AM Reporting Session 


Marmorek, D. May 2012.  ISAC Minutes from March 2012 AM Reporting Session.  ESSA 


Technologies, ESSA technologies, LTD, Vancouver, BC. 


PRRIP (Platte River Recovery Implementation Program).  16 March 2012.  Platte River 


Recovery Implementation Program Adaptive Management Plan (AMP), 2012 “State of the 


Platte” Report (Draft).  Platte River Recovery Implementation Program, Kearney, NE. 


Vivian, L. A. 2010. Updates on the distribution and population status of the Platte River 


caddisfly, Ironoquia plattensis, and an assessment of threats to its survival. Master‟s Thesis, 


University of Nebraska, Kearney 


 


Whiles, M. R., B. S. Goldowitz, and R. E. Carlton.  1999.  Life history and production of a semi-


terrestrial Limnephilid caddisfly in an intermittent Platte River wetland. Journal of the North 


American Benthological Society 18: 533-544. 


  







7 


 


Appendix A: Statistical comments on the proposed Platte River caddisfly study. (prepared 


by Dr. Philip Dixon) 


1) Design: The proposed study uses a traditional design, a randomized complete block design 


with 4 treatments and 4 blocks.  However, no information is provided to justify the choice of 


blocks; instead they seem to be arbitrarily chosen.  Blocking is effective when it accounts for 


unwanted sources of variation.  That happens when plots within a block are similar, but plots in 


different blocks are quite different.  The proposed blocking scheme will approximately control 


for a spatial trend in PRCF abundance over the experimental area, but no information provided to 


support the assumption of a trend, or the assumption that such a trend is the most important 


source of unwanted variability.   


The study will be repeated at two locations (McCormick and Binfield).  This is a very good idea 


because it reduces the chance of a bust experiment and it allows you to evaluate the 


generalizability of the conclusions.  If there are no caddisflies at a site in the post-treatment year, 


the experiment is a bust.  This is less likely when you study two sites.  The magnitude of the 


treatment x site interaction tells you whether the conclusions are quantitatively similar at the two 


sites.  Clearly, if there is an interaction, then conclusions vary, at least quantitatively, between 


the two sites and it is not possible to generalize from the two study sites to all sites where PRCF 


occurs.   


2) Sample size / power: Does the study have sufficient power to detect an interesting change in 


abundance? 


My sense is that the study does not have sufficient power to detect biologically interesting 


effects.   Table 2.2 in the Vivian (2010) MS thesis provides data on the variability between four 


replicate 0.25 m
2
 quadrats, expressed as #/m


2
 in 2009 and/or 2010.  The sample locations are 


distributed throughout each site, so I treat them as a simple random sample of locations.  My 


calculations below assume that the variability between randomly chosen locations in a slough is 


similar to the variability between randomly chosen locations within an experimental plot.  In 


other words, I assume no spatial or other trend in abundance over the slough. 


I used data from Binfield 3 (2009 sampling only) and McCormick (2010 sampling only) to 


calculate the standard deviation (sd) of the total count per experimental plot using the proposed 


sampling protocol (four 0.25 m
2
 quadrats per plot).  Because the interest is more in proportional 


change in abundance, I converted the sd of the count to the sd of the log count, given by: 


         
     


√       
      (1) 


The minimum detectable difference for 80% statistical power with a 5% two-sided t-test is given 


by: 







8 


 


   (                 )          
√ 


√ 
    (2) 


where n is the number of experimental plots per treatment, the √2 arises from estimating the 


difference between two experimental treatments, and df is the degrees of freedom associated with 


the error variance.  This equation uses the shifted-t approximation to a non-central t distribution. 


For the proposed study, n = 4 per treatment.  If the data for one sampling month are analyzed 


using a block design, the df error = 16 – 3 – 3 – 1 = 9.  However, I did the power calculations are 


based on a completely randomized design, for which df = 16 – 3 – 1 = 12, because the only 


estimate of the error variance (from the 2009 or 2010 slough-wide sampling) does not account 


for the potential reduction in error variance due to blocking.    The results are: 


Site Year mean count se sd (log Y) Delta Reduction Increase 


Binfield 3 2009 5 1.0 0.45 0.96 0.38 2.6 


McCormick 1 2010 11 4.43 1.34 2.88 0.056 17.8 


 


The mean count and se are the values reported table 2.2. of the Vivian (2010) MS thesis.  The 


sd(log Y) values are the estimates computed using equation (1).  The Delta values are the 


minimum detectable differences on a log(count) scale computed using equation (2).  These delta 


values are expressed as proportional reductions or proportional increases in population size, 


computed as exp(-Δ) and exp(Δ), respectively. 


The proposed study has sufficient power (80%) to detect a reduction in population size to 38% of 


the control treatment size at Binfield and 5.6% of the control treatment size at McCormick.  


Alternatively, the proposed study has sufficient power (80%) to detect an increase in population 


size to 260% of the control treatment size at Binfield and 1780% of the control treatment size at 


McCormick.  For example, if the mean population size in the control treatment is 40/m
2
, the 


study has sufficient power to detect a decrease to 15.2/ m
2
 at Binfield and 2.2/ m


2
 at McCormick.  


Changes of these magnitudes are very large treatment effects.  If the treatment effect is only 


small to moderate, this study will not detect it.  Because there is large variability in counts 


among samples, a very large study will be needed to get reasonable power to detect moderate 


effects on population size. 


The proposed study does include two features that have the potential to increase the power and 


sensitivity.  It includes sampling three times during the growing season.  The power analysis 


done here is for a single time only.  A power analysis for the mean of three sampling times 


requires information about the correlation of counts on an experimental plot over the three 


sampling times.  Such information appears unavailable right now.   The proposed study also 


includes adjusting for baseline counts on each plot in the year prior to experimental 


manipulation.  Again, this has the potential for increasing the power, but the amount of increase 


depends on an unknown correlation, this time between the counts in two different years. 







9 


 


3) Single-site or meta-population dynamics: However, I believe that the proposed study is 


examining the wrong features of the population dynamics.  The proposed study estimates 


components of the site-specific population growth rate.  If the persistence of a population at a 


site was high, the site-specific population growth rate is a very important parameter.  However, 


the available information suggests that persistence of a PRCF population is low.  The 2009 and 


2010 resurveys identified locations where populations have been extirpated.  The discussion of 


PRCF life history indicates it is very sensitive to a slough drying out.   


These features suggest a meta-population perspective will be more useful than a site-specific 


population perspective.  In a meta-population perspective the important demographic quantities 


are the probability of local extinction and the probability of colonization of currently unoccupied 


sites.   Repeated surveys of potential sites will provide this information.  The proposed 


experiment will not. 


 


 








1 


 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 


Attachment 6 


Appendix D 


 


Identification of the Downstream Water Users 


Representatives to the Governance Committee 


 
December 7, 2005 


Revised June 12, 2012 


 


Downstream Water Users 


The Downstream Water Users are those Nebraska surface water and groundwater users in the 


Platte River basin downstream of Lake McConaughy and the Western Canal headgate, and those 


water users upstream of Lake McConaughy who do not have federal storage contracts. 


 


Considerations 


Nebraska Public Power District (NPPD) and The Central Nebraska Public Power Distinct 


(Central) are providing a significant portion of Nebraska’s share of the First Increment 


commitments through the Environmental Account and Cottonwood Ranch and have FERC 


licenses and the associated ESA consultations dependent on the program. 


 


The Natural Resource Districts along the Platte Rivers above Columbus are responsible for 


administration of groundwater in Nebraska and are responsible for implementing portions of the 


Nebraska Depletions Plan related to groundwater uses. 


 


All representatives must consider the needs and impacts to all Nebraska wWater uUsers when 


making recommendations and casting votes for decisions on program activities. 


 


Representatives 


The Downstream Water Users will have 4 representatives (Representatives) to the Governance 


Committee with one vote to be cast. The Downstream Water Users will have no designated 


alternatives with representation to consist of those representatives in attendance at a Governance 


Committee meeting. 


 


The Representatives will include one from Central, one from NPPD and two from the Platte 


Basin NRD’s. The Platte Basin NRD’s consist of the South Platte NRD, The North Platte NRD, 


the Twin Platte NRD, the TriBasin NRD, and the Central Platte NRD. 


 


The Representatives will be appointed by the respective organizations and serve until a new 


representative is designated by the organizations. Replacement Representatives must be 


appointed within 60 days of a vacancy occurring. 


 


 


 


 







2 


 


 


Representatives will be designated within 60 days of the signature of the Program documents 


and will be identified in a communication to the Executive Director. The pre-Program 


Downstream Water User representative and alternate will continue to serve on the Governance 


Committee until the Representatives are identified. 


 


The NRD Representatives will not participate in Governance Committee discussions and 


decisions related to the operation of the Central and NPPD facilities (storage of water, release of 


water, delivery of water to customers); activities that affect hydropower generation of NPPD or 


Central; operations of the Environmental Account; Central’s or NPPD’s FERC Licenses; 


activities related to ESA compliance of Central and NPPD (habitat development; sediment, 


monitoring, etc.); activities involving the use of Central’s or NPPD’s property and/or facilities. 


 


Advisory Committee 


An Advisory Committee will be established to provide input from the Downstream Water Users 


to their Representatives and a forum in which the Representatives can communicate with the 


Downstream Water Users regarding the Program. 


 


The Advisory Committee will consist of one representative from each of the following groups 1) 


farm and agricultural groups; 2) water user groups (surface water and groundwater groups); (3) 


municipalities and 4) surface water irrigation districts. 


 


The Governance Committee Representatives will hold oneat least two meetings per year with the 


Advisory Committee and can hold meetings or conference calls with the Advisory Committee 


more frequently as needed. 


 


Notes and e-mails of the Governance Committee will be distributed to the Advisory Committee 


and it is the responsibility of the Advisory Committee representatives to distribute the 


information to the rest of their constituency. 








PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 
 


 
 


2012-2016 RESTORATION AND MAINTENANCE PLAN 
 


For 
 


TRACT 2010002 
 


 
 


Prepared for: 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program  


Land Advisory Committee 
 


 
Completion Date: 


06/13/2012







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 
 


Table of Contents 
I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND ............................................................... 1 


A. Purpose ................................................................................................................................... 1 
B. Tract Location and Size .......................................................................................................... 1 
C. Land Interest ........................................................................................................................... 1 
D. Communication and Coordination ......................................................................................... 1 


II. RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................................................................................. 2 
A. Management Responsibilities................................................................................................. 2 


1. Planning ............................................................................................................................... 2 
2. Implementation of Management Activities ......................................................................... 2 
3. Enforcement ......................................................................................................................... 2 


B. Budget and Invoicing.............................................................................................................. 2 
C. Plan Authorization and Modifications .................................................................................... 2 


III. EXISTING HABITATS ........................................................................................................... 3 
A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat ...................................................................................... 3 


1. Associated Complex Habitat ............................................................................................... 3 
2. Non-Complex Habitat Acres ............................................................................................... 3 
3. Excess Acres ........................................................................................................................ 3 


B. Land Cover ............................................................................................................................. 3 
C. Existing Land Features of Interest .......................................................................................... 4 


1. Non-Riverine Surface Water ............................................................................................... 4 
2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths ........................................................................ 4 
3. Contiguous Sand Substrates ................................................................................................ 4 
4. Island and Channel Bank Height ......................................................................................... 4 
5. Groundwater ........................................................................................................................ 4 
6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas.......................................................................................... 4 
7. Power/Transmission Lines .................................................................................................. 4 


D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns .................................................................. 4 
E. Certified Irrigated Acres ......................................................................................................... 4 


IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE ................................................................................. 5 
A. Goals and Objectives .............................................................................................................. 5 


1. Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives ..................................................................... 5 
2. Species Habitat .................................................................................................................... 6 
3. Property Maintenance .......................................................................................................... 7 
4. Land Asset Management ..................................................................................................... 8 


V. MONITORING AND RESEARCH ........................................................................................ 10 
A. Baseline Monitoring ............................................................................................................. 10 


1. Land Cover Analysis ......................................................................................................... 10 
2. Channel LiDAR Project ..................................................................................................... 10 
3. Aerial Photography ............................................................................................................ 10 
4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring ................................................. 10 
5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring ............................................ 10 
6. Species of Interest Surveys ................................................................................................ 11 


B. Research................................................................................................................................ 11 
1. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 1, Objective 1a) .................... 11 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 
 


VI. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE .................................. 12 
A. Section 7 Consultation.......................................................................................................... 12 


1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover ..................... 12 
2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane......................................... 12 
3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon ........................................... 12 


B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species 
Conservation Act ....................................................................................................................... 13 


1. Raptors ............................................................................................................................... 13 
2. Northern River Otter .......................................................................................................... 13 
3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid ......................................................................................... 13 
4. Platte River Caddis Fly ...................................................................................................... 13 
5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance ..................................................... 13 
6. Regal Fritillary ................................................................................................................... 13 


C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act .................................................................................................... 14 
D. Bald Eagle Act...................................................................................................................... 14 
E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska Department 
of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification ......................................... 14 
F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge 
Permit ........................................................................................................................................ 14 
G. County Floodplain Development Permit .............................................................................. 14 
H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance ....................................................................... 14 
I. Good Neighbor Policy ........................................................................................................... 15 


VII. PUBLIC ACCESS ................................................................................................................. 15 
A. Education .............................................................................................................................. 15 
B. Recreation ............................................................................................................................. 15 


APPENDIX A – FIGURES .......................................................................................................... 16 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


1 
 


I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND 


A. Purpose  
The purpose of this plan is to outline the restoration, operations and maintenance activities, as 
well as species habitat and adaptive management research and monitoring activities that will 
occur on Tract 2010002 (Evaluation Tract Number 0818) during the period of 2012-2016. 


B. Tract Location and Size 
Tract 2010002 is approximately 15 acres in size and is located in portions of Section 14, T-8N, 
R-16W. Figure A-1 (located in Appendix A) delineates the property boundary. The tract is 
located in the Odessa to Kearney bridge segment. Figure A-2 shows the parcel location within 
the bridge segment and its proximity to existing leased and owned conservation lands. 


C. Land Interest 
A short term lease with the landowner for the period of April 15, 2010 to October 1, 2019 is held 
by the Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation (PRRIF) on behalf of the Program.  


D. Communication and Coordination 
The Executive Director’s Office (ED Office) is responsible for communication and coordination 
with neighboring landowners. Neighbors will not be asked to provide formal comment on annual 
Work Plans but will be notified and consulted regarding specific restoration or management 
activities that could impact their properties.  







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


2 
 


II. RESPONSIBILITIES 


A. Management Responsibilities 


1. Planning 
Annual Work Plans for this property are to be written by representatives of the Executive 
Director’s office with oversight and input from the Program’s Land Advisory Committee (LAC). 
Program staff will be responsible for conducting, or retaining contractors to conduct, planning, 
design, and permitting for specific activities carried out under this plan.  


2. Implementation of Management Activities 
Implementation of management activities will be carried out by Program staff or by contractors 
under the oversight of Program staff.  


3. Enforcement 
Program staff is responsible for establishing controlled access to the property and will notify law 
enforcement agencies and others of issues as appropriate.  


B. Budget and Invoicing 
Program staff will be responsible for budgeting and invoicing of activities on this property. No 
later than March 1 of each year during the term, a report showing income and expenditures for 
the property during the preceding fiscal (same as calendar) year will be completed and presented 
to the LAC and Governance Committee (GC) for review. 


C. Plan Authorization and Modifications 
The LAC and TAC will provide comments on this Plan and the LAC will forward a 
recommendation to the GC. The GC must authorize this Plan before it can be executed. In 
addition, the LAC and TAC will provide comments on annual Work Plans and the LAC will 
forward a recommendation on the annual Work Plans to the GC. The GC must approve the 
annual Work Plans before they can be executed.  
 
It is anticipated that once every five years, the restoration and management plan will go through 
a major revision process where the goals, objectives, and activities will be reevaluated. Plan 
updates will be subject to the same comment and approval process as the original Plan. 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


3 
 


III. EXISTING HABITATS  


A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat 
The entirety of the tract will be managed as non-complex habitat. The sand pit area of this tract is 
considered as non-complex habitat in accordance with section II.B.2 and Table 2. Non-Complex 
Habitat Guidelines of the Program Land Plan.  


1. Associated Complex Habitat 
The nearby Fort Kearny Complex managed habitats can function as associated complex habitats 
for the purpose of adaptive management paired design experiments.  


2. Non-Complex Habitat Acres 
The sand pit portion of this tract, encompassing the entire 17 acres, is considered as non-complex 
habitat. 


3. Excess Acres 
This tract does not contain any excess acres. 


B. Land Cover 
Existing land cover/use on and adjacent to this Tract was evaluated utilizing the updated 2005 
land cover overlay developed in cooperation with the Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust Inc. 
(Crane Trust) and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). The land cover 
classifications from the overlay were compared to the most recent United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA) Farm Service Agency (FSA) and Program aerial photography in order to 
identify any land use changes that have occurred since the development of that dataset. The 2005 
land cover/use for this Tract is summarized in Table 1. Several additional land cover/use related 
maps are located in Appendix A including: 
 
· Figure A-3 – 2005 Land Cover/Use 
· Figure A-4 – National Wetland Inventory 
· Figure A-5 – 1938 Aerial Photography 
· Figure A-6 – 1998 CIR Aerial Photography 
· Figure A-7 – 2011 CIR Aerial Photography 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


4 
 


 Table 1 – Tract 2010002 2005 Land Cover/Use Summary 
 
Land Cover Classification Acres Percent of Tract 
Bareground/Sparse Veg 15 100.00% 
 15 100.00% 
 


C. Existing Land Features of Interest 


1. Non-Riverine Surface Water 
The lease for this tract includes only the bare sand peninsula, but is surrounded by approximately 
75 acres of sand pit lake. 


2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths 
Tract 2010002 includes no river frontage.  


3. Contiguous Sand Substrates 
According to June 2011 Program aerial photography, there were approximately 15 acres of 
contiguous sand substrate. 


4. Island and Channel Bank Height 
This tract includes no river channel.  


5. Groundwater 
There is no intent for wet meadow or wetland restoration for this tract. 


6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas 
There is no evidence of temporary inundation of non-wetland areas. 


7. Power/Transmission Lines 
There are no above ground power lines on tract 2010002.   


D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns 
Tract 2010002 does not currently have land uses that are incompatible with target species 
habitat. No environmental concerns have been identified. 


E. Certified Irrigated Acres 
Tract 2010002 includes no NRD certified irrigated acres. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


5 
 


IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 


A. Goals and Objectives 
Goals and objectives will function as the benchmark for evaluation of ongoing land-related 
actions. Implementation of Program actions to address goals and objectives will be accomplished 
at both complex and tract-level scales. Associated complex habitat for this non-complex tract is 
located in the Fort Kearny Complex.   


1. Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives 
This section contains objectives related to the experimental design of implementation of the 
Program’s Adaptive Management Plan and experiments to be conducted through that plan.  The 
following summarizes major adaptive management experimental design components that may be 
conducted completely or in part within this tract: 
 


1. “Paired Design” – River nesting vs. OCSW nesting 
a. The objective of this experiment is to determine differences in nest success and 


productivity, as well as species selection and use, between river nesting and 
OCSW nesting of the target species by offering both types of available habitats in 
close proximity.  


 
2. Conservation Monitoring and Directed Research 


a. System-wide Program conservation monitoring protocols (tern and plover, 
whooping crane, geomorphology/in-channel vegetation, water quality) and 
directed research projects (tern and plover foraging habits study, vegetation scour 
research) may occur on this tract based on monitoring and research priorities and 
schedules. 


 
Ø Goal 1 – Refine Program’s understanding of interaction between LETE and PIPL 


riverine and off-channel sand and water (OCSW) nesting habitat.  
 


o Objective 1a – Test Program System, LETE and PIPL hypotheses related to bird 
response to habitat development, habitat preference for and productivity on 
riverine versus OCSW nesting habitat. (Priority hypotheses S1b, T1, P1, TP1) 
 


§ Strategy – Monitor LETE and PIPL use and productivity on Program 
sandpit OCSW habitat and adjacent Fort Kearny Complex riverine habitat. 
Occurrence, use and productivity will be monitored per the Program’s 
LETE and PIPL monitoring protocol. 


 
· Methods – Past maintenance has included using mechanical 


methods and/or annual application of pre-emergent herbicide to 
control vegetation. OCSW habitat creation and maintenance 
methods are presented under Objective 2a. Monitoring methods are 
presented in the Program’s LETE and PIPL monitoring protocol. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


6 
 


 
§ Area – See Objective 2a and Figure A-8 for location of OCSW habitat.  


The location of the Program-owned Fort Kearny Complex properties can 
be seen on Figure A-2. 
 
§ Timeline – Maintenance and monitoring will occur annually.  


 
§ Cost – None 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of 


Program staff are responsible for maintenance and monitoring. 
 


2. Species Habitat  
 


Ø Goal 2 – Improve sand and water (off-channel sand and water; OCSW) habitat for 
interior least terns (LETE) and  piping plovers (PIPL) 
 


o Objective 2a –Maintain off-channel sand and water (OSCW) target bird species 
habitat that approximates Table 2. Non-Complex Habitat Guidelines of the 
Program Land Plan, to the degree appropriate, and approximates at least the 
Program’s minimum habitat guidelines. 
 
§ Strategy – Maintain and protect OCSW nesting habitat on the peninsula 


located within the sandpit leased area. 
 


o Methods – Typical OCSW maintenance will be 
accomplished by annual application of pre-emergent 
herbicide and installation of predator fencing (see also Obj. 
3a).  Mechanically clearing and grubbing of vegetation 
from proposed nesting areas will occur when necessary.   


 
§ Area – Habitat restoration and management activities are presented in 


Figure A-8.   
 


§ Timeline – OCSW habitat maintenance will occur annually. Temporary 
electric predator fence will be installed by May 1 annually, and remain 
until at least August 15 (or later if active nests remain). 


 
§ Cost – Annual maintenance costs are estimated at $2,000.  


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff is responsible for coordination of 


maintenance activities.  Contractors will perform herbicide applications. 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


7 
 


3. Property Maintenance  
 
Ø Goal 3 – Fulfill basic property ownership obligations and needs. 


 
o Objective 3a – Establish and maintain predator fencing and signage. 


 
§ Strategy –A temporary electric fence will be constructed annually at the 


east entrance to the nesting area to exclude people and predators from 
accessing the nesting area over land.   
 


· Methods –The fence will be in place throughout the nesting period 
and taken down once nesting is complete. Maintenance methods 
may include mowing or spraying of woody species in the cleared 
area as well as routine fence upkeep. 
 


§ Area – Fence will be located at the east entrance to the peninsula 
(identified on Figure A-8). 


 
§ Timeline – Fence will be installed annually prior to May 1 and remain 


until at least August 15 or later if nesting is still occurring. 
 


§ Costs – Electric fence is expected to cost on the order of $2,000 and 
approximately $200 annually for maintenance. 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for installation and 


removal annually.   
 
 


o Objective 3b – Control noxious weeds on property. 
 
§ Strategy – Infestations of noxious weeds will be eliminated (to the extent 


possible) annually. Ongoing management/control needs will be assessed 
annually and incorporated into Work Plans.  This tract will be maintained 
with little to no vegetation (see Obj. 2a) and noxious weed control needs 
should be minimal. 
 


· Methods - Herbicide application will be the primary method for 
control of noxious weeds. Biological controls will be considered 
but only used if deemed effective enough to result in effective 
control within three growing seasons. 
 


§ Area – Noxious weed control will be conducted on the entirety of the 
property. 


 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


8 
 


§ Timeline – Noxious weed assessment and control activities will be 
conducted annually. 


 
§ Costs – Annual costs will be identified in the annual Work Plans and are 


expected to be less than $500. 
 


§ Responsibilities – Program Staff are responsible for identifying 
infestations and planning/coordinating control efforts. Control activities 
will be carried out by contractors. The contractor will typically be the 
county weed authority. 


  
 


Ø Goal 4 – Minimize habitat impacts due to invasive vegetation. 
 


o Objective 4a – Eliminate existing and control future infestations of invasive 
vegetation not listed as noxious weeds. 
 
§ Strategy – Existing stands of invasive vegetation will be eliminated (to 


the extent possible). Ongoing management/control needs will be assessed 
annually and incorporated into Work Plans. This tract will be maintained 
with little to no vegetation (see Obj. 2a) and invasive vegetation control 
needs should be minimal 
 


· Methods – When necessary, invasive vegetation control will be 
accomplished through a combination of herbicide application and 
mechanical removal.  
 


§ Area – Invasive vegetation will be controlled on the entire property.  
 


§ Timeline – Maintenance and control efforts will continue annually.  
 


§ Costs – Annual costs will be identified in the annual Work Plans as 
needed and are expected to be less than $1,000. 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff will be responsible for identifying 


infestations. Control activities will be carried out by contractors.  
 


 


4. Land Asset Management 
 


Ø Goal 5 – Secure long-term protection of habitat.   
 


o Objective 5a – Begin negotiations with current landowner to secure longer-term 
interest in the property. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


9 
 


 
§ Strategy – ED staff will work with existing landowner to secure longer-


term interest in the property.  Options will be explored for the Program to 
extend their interest in the identified parcel past the existing lease 
termination date of October 1, 2019.  
 


· Methods – ED Office will work with landowner through the 
Program’s good neighbor and willing-seller willing-buyer policies 
to secure a longer-term interest in the property. 
 


§ Area – Existing lease area or expansion of area as agreed to by the 
Program and landowner. 


 
§ Timeline – Discussions with landowner will occur prior to the end of the 


current planning period (2016). 
 


§ Costs – Costs will be developed as negotiated and mutually agreed upon 
by landowner and Program. 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff is responsible for planning and 


negotiations. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


10 
 


V. MONITORING AND RESEARCH 


A. Baseline Monitoring 
A variety of monitoring activities will be conducted on and around this property as part of the 
system-wide investigations conducted under the Integrated Monitoring and Research Plan 
(IMRP). Baseline monitoring efforts include: 


1. Land Cover Analysis 
· Objectives – Document pre-Program land cover conditions. Land cover analysis will be 


performed again near the end of the First Increment to document changes in land cover. 
· Hypotheses Links – S1, S1a 
· Timeline – Pre-Program completed in 2007. Next analysis in 2018. 
· Responsibilities – ED Office   


2. Channel LiDAR Project  
· Objectives – Document channel topography annually. 
· Hypotheses Links – S1, S1a, Flow1, Sediment1-4 
· Timeline – Baseline LiDAR collection completed in March of 2009. Collection to 


continue annually under leaf-off and low flow conditions.  
· Responsibilities – Collection and analysis by contractor under supervision of ED Office. 


3. Aerial Photography 
· Purpose – Document annual channel features and vegetation.  
· Hypotheses Links - TP 5, Sediment 3, WC3 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment per protocol.   
· Responsibilities – Data collection performed by contractors under supervision ED 


Office.  Analysis by ED Office. 


4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring 
· Purpose – System-wide analysis of changes/trends in geomorphology and in-channel 


vegetation over time. Correlate Program actions with changes/trends.  
· Hypotheses Links – Flow1-5, Sediment1-4 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment.   
· Responsibilities – Monitoring performed by contractors under supervision ED Office.   


5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring 
· Purpose - Document WC use, document LETE and PIPL use, nesting pairs, and fledging 


success. 
· Hypotheses Links – T1, P1, TP1-5, WC1 & 3 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment.   
· Responsibilities – Monitoring performed by contractors or cooperators under supervision 


ED Office.   







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


11 
 


6. Species of Interest Surveys 
· Purpose - Document habitat for and use of Program properties by “species of concern” 


or other species of interest.  
· Hypotheses Links – S2 
· Timeline – Following acquisition and later, as appropriate, after restoration.    
· Responsibilities – Coordination by ED Office. Surveys by contractors or agency 


personnel. 
 


B. Research 
Research efforts to be conducted in full or part on this complex under the IMRP include: 


1. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 1, Objective 1a) 
· Purpose - Determine LETE and PIPL preference for and productivity on riverine versus 


OCSW nesting habitat. 
· Hypotheses Links - S1b, TP1 
· Timeline – Maintenance and monitoring annually.    
· Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of Program staff (in 


conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) are responsible for design, 
permitting and monitoring. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


12 
 


VI. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE 


A. Section 7 Consultation 


1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover 
Habitat improvement activities occurring on river channel or sandpits between April 15 and 
August 15 will only be conducted in the absence of nesting least terns and piping plovers.  
Program Staff will insure that a survey for these species is conducted by qualified individuals 
(e.g. by Program staff, contractor, conservation owner) in the area that will be disturbed within 
three days prior to the initiation of activities.  
  
If least terns or piping plovers nest on the off-channel nesting complex, appropriate measures 
will be taken to control predation.  At a minimum, any land connection to the nesting area for 
maintenance will be protected by electrified predator fencing.  Other measures may be warranted 
and Service concurrence will be obtained before implementing additional measures. 
 


2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane 
For habitat restoration and land management activities in or within 0.25 miles of the Platte River 
channel occurring between March 23 and May 10, or October 1 and November 15, construction 
shall only take place from one hour following sunrise to two hours prior to sunset unless 
otherwise approved by the Service’s Coordinator of the Whooping Crane Migration Tracking 
Program.  Program staff will notify the Service when Program habitat restoration work will be 
conducted during the above dates from the Highway #283 and Interstate 80 intersection near 
Lexington, Nebraska downstream to Chapman, Nebraska.  
 
Construction or other work crews working in or within 0.25 miles of the channel during the 
above dates will check channel areas for the presence of whooping cranes prior to starting work 
each day, and report the presence of whooping cranes to Program staff.  When whooping cranes 
are discovered in the Platte River valley, either by the Program monitoring crew or the above 
required check by construction or work crews, or are known to be in the valley through other 
sources, including via notification from the Service’s Coordinator, Program staff will confer with 
the Service and will notify construction crews if it is necessary to temporarily halt construction 
activities.   
 
Construction work should be completed as quickly as possible.  Earth moving equipment will be 
moved from the river channel to an upland site located behind a tree line at the end of each work 
day if such features are available on the property.  In the instance that such features are 
unavailable, equipment should be moved to a position at least 0.25 miles away from the channel.  
 


3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon 
Land management activities will not result in incidental take of pallid sturgeon. 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


13 
 


B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species 
Conservation Act 


The Program will work with the USFWS and NGPC to identify potential impacts to state and 
federal species of concern and address them as part of this document.  Program actions to avoid 
or mitigate potential species impacts not addressed in other portions of Section VI are presented 
below. 


1. Raptors 
The Program will conduct raptor surveys for management activities that may affect active raptor 
nests during the period of February 1 through July 15th. If a nest is discovered, that tree will not 
be removed.  


2. Northern River Otter 
The Program will conduct natal den surveys when performing restoration or management actions 
during the period of February 15 to June 15 that may impact river channel or slough banks where 
natal dens may be present. If natal dens are discovered, the Program will coordinate with the 
NGPC to design appropriate buffers. 


3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid 
Projects that will result in the disturbance of native prairies or wet meadows will be surveyed for 
the presence of Western Prairie Fringed Orchid during the flowering period of June 15 through 
July 7th.  If this species is present, activities will be modified to prevent destruction of existing 
plants. 


4. Platte River Caddis Fly 
The tract was not surveyed for presence of Platte River caddisfly (PRCF).  The bare sand and 
open water habitat that encompasses the entirety of this tract is not conducive to PRCF 
populations based on current knowledge of their biology.   


5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance 
Surveys for Northern Cordgrass Wet Prairie, Northern Sedge Wet Meadow, and Wet Mesic 
Tallgrass Prairie will be conducted on all Program properties during the soonest recommended 
period after acquisition.  If occurrences are found, the Program will coordinate with the USFWS 
and NGPC to determine appropriate methods to avoid or mitigate negative impacts from 
Program management actions.  Additionally, the Program will investigate opportunities to re-
establish these communities if suitable locations are present. 


6. Regal Fritillary 
The Program will coordinate with the USFWS and NGPC to investigate opportunities to 
establish native violet species (Viola spp.)  in native grasslands or grassland restorations to 
provide a host species for the regal fritillary and promote its conservation. 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


14 
 


C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act  
Land management that involves burning, cutting or mechanical removal of vegetation (with the 
exception of restoration activities on ground that was previously in agricultural crops) will not 
occur between April 15 and July 15 without first doing surveys to insure that no occupied 
migratory bird nest will be destroyed.  
 


D. Bald Eagle Act 
Eagle nests will not be disturbed and a quarter mile buffer will be maintained while occupied by 
adults or young.  Known eagle roost trees will be left in place. 
 


E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska 
Department of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification 


Prior to commencement of construction work to be accomplished in wetlands or waters of the 
United States, including dredging or placement of fill material, the Program will obtain a 404 
permit and 401 water quality certification. Work in wetlands or waters of the State that are not 
jurisdictional under the Federal Clean Water Act will still need to comply with the Nebraska 
Department of Environmental Quality’s Title 117. 
 


F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge 
Permit 


All construction work that will disturb an area exceeding 1 acre in size will be required to meet 
the requirements of the Environmental Protection Agency NPDES Construction General Permit. 
This permit includes the development of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan.  The Program 
will submit a Notice of Intent a minimum of seven days before commencement of construction 
activities. 
 


G. County Floodplain Development Permit 
All fill placed within the 100-year floodplain will require a floodplain development permit from 
the county where the work is undertaken. In order to obtain a permit, a project must have No-
Rise certification meaning that it will raise the 100-Year Base Flood Elevation (BFE) by less 
than one foot. 
 


H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance 
The legal description of Tract 2010002 will be provided to the State Historic Preservation Office 
(SHPO) to facilitate the early identification of potential cultural resources related issues. 
Potential cultural resources concerns on the property are not expected, as it is a location that has 
been actively mined for sand and gravel. If Program actions uncover potential artifacts or human 
remains, work will cease until such time that the Program can consult with SHPO to determine 
the appropriate course of action. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


15 
 


I. Good Neighbor Policy 
The Program will comply with local, state, and federal laws, and to the extent permitted by such 
laws will be responsible for its actions to the same extent as a private individual under like 
circumstances. 


  


VII. PUBLIC ACCESS 


A. Education 
Public access for education is not allowed under the current lease with the landowner.  


B. Recreation 
Public access for recreation is not allowed under the current lease with the landowner. 
 
 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 
 


APPENDIX A – FIGURES 







NE T008N R016W 14NE T008N R016W 15
NE T008N R016W 13


TRACT 2010002
BOUNDARY MAP


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-1


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


0.25
Miles


±
Legend


2010002
Section


2010002
Approx. 17 Ac.


Intersection I-80 & Hwy 44
Kearney Interchange


Kearney Events Center







TRACT 2010002
LOCATION MAP


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-2
1


Miles
±


Legend
2010002
County


Audubon
CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


Interstate 80


Kearney Exit


Tract 2010002
Fort Kearny Complex







TRACT 2010002
2005 LAND COVER/USE


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-3


±
Legend


2010002
Ag
Bareground/Sparse Veg
Canal/Drainage
Mesic Wet Meadow
Phragmites
Riparian Shrubland
Riparian Woodland
River Channel


River Early Successional
River Shrubland
Roads
Rural Developed
Sand Pit
Unvegetated Sandbar
Upland Woodland
Warmwater Slough
Xeric Wet Meadow


0.05
Miles


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery







PEM/FOAR2UBF


PSS/EMC
PEM/FOA


R2USC


PSS/EMC


PSSC


PSSC


TRACT 2010002
NWI MAP


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-4


±
Legend


2010002
Lacustrine Unconsolidated Bottom (LUB)
Palustrine Aquatic Bed (PAB)
Palustrine Emergent (PE)
Palustrine Forested (PF)
Palustrine Scrub-Shrub (PSS)
Palustrine Unconsolidated Bottom Excavated (PUBx)
Riverine Unconsolidated Bottom (RUB)
Riverine Unconsolidated Shore (RUS)
Riverine Streambed (RS) 0.05


Miles


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery







TRACT 2010002
1938 IMAGERY


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-5


±
Legend


2010002


0.1
Miles







TRACT 2010002
1998 CIR IMAGERY


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-6


±
Legend


2010002


0.1
Miles







TRACT 2010002
2011 CIR IMAGERY


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-7


±
Legend


2010002


0.1
Miles







TRACT 2010002
HABITAT ACTIVITIES


Date: 01/27/12
By: JDB


Figure A-8


±
Legend


2010002


0.1
Miles


Vegetation
Management Area Predator Fence


Installation





		Tract 2010002 Restoration and Maintenance Plan

		I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND

		A. Purpose 

		B. Tract Location and Size

		C. Land Interest

		D. Communication and Coordination



		II. RESPONSIBILITIES

		A. Management Responsibilities

		1. Planning

		2. Implementation of Management Activities

		3. Enforcement



		B. Budget and Invoicing

		C. Plan Authorization and Modifications



		III. EXISTING HABITATS 

		A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat

		1. Associated Complex Habitat

		2. Non-Complex Habitat Acres

		3. Excess Acres



		B. Land Cover

		C. Existing Land Features of Interest

		1. Non-Riverine Surface Water

		2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths

		3. Contiguous Sand Substrates

		4. Island and Channel Bank Height

		5. Groundwater

		6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas

		7. Power/Transmission Lines



		D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns

		E. Certified Irrigated Acres



		IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE

		A. Goals and Objectives

		2. Species Habitat 

		3. Property Maintenance 

		4. Land Asset Management





		V. MONITORING AND RESEARCH

		A. Baseline Monitoring

		1. Land Cover Analysis

		2. Channel LiDAR Project 

		3. Aerial Photography

		4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring

		5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring

		6. Species of Interest Surveys



		B. Research

		1. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 1, Objective 1a)





		VI. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE

		A. Section 7 Consultation

		1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover

		2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane

		3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon



		B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species Conservation Act

		1. Raptors

		2. Northern River Otter

		3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid

		4. Platte River Caddis Fly

		5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance

		6. Regal Fritillary



		C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act 

		D. Bald Eagle Act

		E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification

		F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge Permit

		G. County Floodplain Development Permit

		H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance

		I. Good Neighbor Policy



		VII. PUBLIC ACCESS

		A. Education

		B. Recreation



		APPENDIX A – FIGURES



		2010002 Figures A1-A8

		2010002 Figure A-1

		2010002 Figure A-2

		2010002 Figure A-3

		2010002 Figure A-4

		2010002 Figure A-5

		2010002 Figure A-6

		2010002 Figure A-7

		2010002 Figure A-8








PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


 


 
 
 


2012–2016 OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PLAN  
 


For 
 


TRACT 2010003 
 


 
 


 
Prepared for: 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 
Land Advisory Committee 


 
 


Completion Date: 
06/13/2012 


 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


 


Table of Contents 
 
I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND ............................................................... 1 


A. Purpose ................................................................................................................................... 1 
B. Tract Location and Size .......................................................................................................... 1 
C. Land Interest ........................................................................................................................... 1 
D. Communication and Coordination ......................................................................................... 1 


II. RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................................................................................. 2 
A. Management Responsibilities................................................................................................. 2 


1. Planning ............................................................................................................................... 2 
2. Implementation of Management Activities ......................................................................... 2 
3. Enforcement ......................................................................................................................... 2 


B. Budget and Invoicing.............................................................................................................. 2 
C. Plan Authorization and Modifications .................................................................................... 2 


III. EXISTING HABITATS ........................................................................................................... 3 
A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat ...................................................................................... 3 
B. Land Cover ............................................................................................................................. 3 
C. Existing Land Features of Interest .......................................................................................... 4 


1. Non-Riverine Surface Water ............................................................................................... 4 
2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths ........................................................................ 4 
3. Contiguous Sand Substrates ................................................................................................ 5 
4. Island and Channel Bank Height ......................................................................................... 5 
5. Groundwater ........................................................................................................................ 5 
6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas.......................................................................................... 5 
7. Power/Transmission Lines .................................................................................................. 5 


D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns .................................................................. 5 
E. Certified Irrigated Acres ......................................................................................................... 5 


IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE ................................................................................. 6 
A. Goals and Objectives .............................................................................................................. 6 


1. General ................................................................................................................................. 6 
2. Property Maintenance .......................................................................................................... 7 
3. Species Habitat .................................................................................................................... 8 


V. TRACT-LEVEL SURVEYS, MONITORING AND RESEARCH ........................................ 10 
A. Baseline Surveys and Monitoring ........................................................................................ 10 


1. Bald Eagle.......................................................................................................................... 10 
2. Platte River Caddisfly ........................................................................................................ 10 
3. Northern River Otter .......................................................................................................... 10 
4. Cultural Resources ............................................................................................................. 10 


B. Research................................................................................................................................ 10 
VI. PUBLIC ACCESS .................................................................................................................. 11 


A. Education .............................................................................................................................. 11 
B. Recreation ............................................................................................................................. 11 


APPENDIX A – MAPS ................................................................................................................ 12 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


1 
 


I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND 


A. Purpose  
The purpose of this Operations and Maintenance Plan (Plan) is to outline the restoration, 
operations and maintenance activities that will occur on Tract 2010003 (Evaluation Tract 
Number 0805) during the period of 2012-2016. Species habitat and Adaptive Management 
research and monitoring actions associated with this tract are addressed in the Restoration and 
Management Plan for the Fort Kearny Complex because planning and implementation of those 
activities will primarily occur at a complex scale. Operations and maintenance will primarily 
occur on a tract scale and as such, this plan addresses those activities within the broader context 
of complex goals and objectives.  
 


B. Tract Location and Size 
Tract 2010003 is approximately 304 acres in size and is located in Sections 16, 17, 20 and 21 T-
8N, R-15W. Figure A-1 (located in Appendix A) delineates the property boundary. The tract is 
located in the Kearney to Minden bridge segment. The tract bounds the east property line of 
Program Tract 2008001 and is southwest of The Nature Conservancy’s Speidall tract. Figure A-2 
shows the parcel location within the Program land acquisition area, bridge segment and its 
proximity to existing leased and owned conservation lands and other tracts being evaluated by 
the Program. 
 


C. Land Interest 
A perpetual conservation easement is held in trust by the Platte River Recovery Implementation 
Foundation (PRRIF) on behalf of the Program. The document was signed by PRRIF on October 
21, 2010 and was approved by the Buffalo County, NE Board of Supervisors on November 23, 
2010. 


D. Communication and Coordination 
The Executive Director’s Office (ED Office) is responsible for communication and coordination 
with owners and neighboring landowners. Neighbors will not be asked to provide formal 
comment on annual Work Plans but will be notified and consulted regarding specific restoration 
or management activities that could impact their properties.  
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


2 
 


II. RESPONSIBILITIES 


A. Management Responsibilities 


1. Planning 
Annual Work Plans for this property (as part of a complex-level annual work plan) will be 
written by representatives of the Executive Director’s office with oversight and input from the 
Program’s Land Advisory Committee (LAC). Program staff will be responsible for conducting, 
or retaining contractors to conduct, planning, design, and permitting for specific activities carried 
out under this plan.  Program staff will be responsible for coordination with landowner to 
communicate planned activities and coordinate access. 


2. Implementation of Management Activities 
Implementation of management activities will be carried out by Program staff or by contractors 
under the oversight of Program staff.  


3. Enforcement 
Program staff is responsible for enforcing the rights granted by the easement.  Program staff will 
work with the landowner and notify law enforcement agencies and others of issues as 
appropriate.  


B. Budget and Invoicing 
Program staff will be responsible for budgeting and invoicing of activities on this property. No 
later than March 1 of each year during the term, a report showing income and expenditures for 
the property during the preceding fiscal (same as calendar) year will be completed and presented 
to the LAC and Governance Committee (GC) for review. 


C. Plan Authorization and Modifications 
The LAC and TAC will provide comments on this Plan and the LAC will forward a 
recommendation to the GC. The GC must authorize this Plan before it can be executed. In 
addition, the LAC and TAC will provide comments on annual Work Plans and the LAC will 
forward a recommendation on the annual Work Plans to the GC. The GC must approve the 
annual Work Plans before they can be executed.  
 
It is anticipated that once every five years, complex-level restoration and management plans will 
go through a major revision process where the goals, objectives, and activities will be 
reevaluated. This Plan will also be reevaluated at that time and updated. Plan updates will be 
subject to the same comment and approval process as the original Plan.







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


3 
 


III. EXISTING HABITATS  


A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat 
The entirety of the tract will be managed as complex habitat. Table 1 provides the total acres of 
land contributing to a habitat complex. The classifications are based on Table 1. Target Habitat 
Complex Guidelines of the Program’s Land Plan. The classification acres in Table 1 are based on 
existing tract land cover/use. All classifications reflect land cover/use at the time of acquisition 
and may change based on management and restoration decisions. 
 
Table 1 – Tract 2010003 Habitat Complex Acres 
 


Land Classification* Acres 
Riverine  
     Channel 
     Island 


71 
122 


Buffer  
     Woodland 111 
* Habitat complex land classification categories are more general than the 2005 land cover/use classification and   
   areas may vary due to changes in land use and vegetation since 2005. 


B. Land Cover 
Existing land cover/use on and adjacent to this tract was evaluated utilizing the updated 2005 
land cover overlay developed in cooperation with the Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust Inc. 
(Crane Trust) and the United States Fish and  Wildlife Service (USFWS). The land cover 
classifications from the overlay were compared to the most recent United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA) Farm Service Agency (FSA) and Program aerial photography in order to 
identify any land use changes that have occurred since the development of that dataset. The 2005 
land cover/use for this tract is summarized in Table 2. Several additional land cover/use related 
maps are located in Appendix A including: 
 
· Figure A-3 – 2005 Land Cover/Use 
· Figure A-4 – National Wetland Inventory 
· Figure A-5 – 1938 Aerial Photography 
· Figure A-6 – 1998 CIR Aerial Photography 
· Figure A-7 – 2011 CIR Aerial Photography 
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


4 
 


 
Table 2 – Tract 2010003 2005 Land Cover/Use Summary 
 
Land Cover Classification Acres Percent of Total 
Bareground/Sparse Veg 1.28 0.42% 
Mesic Wet Meadow 14.22 4.68% 
Phragmites 14.15 4.65% 
Riparian Shrubland 15.36 5.05% 
Riparian Woodland 123.16 40.48% 
River Channel 2.31 0.76% 
River Early Successional 31.75 10.44% 
River Shrubland 73.04 24.01% 
Rural Developed 8.55 2.81% 
Unvegetated Sandbar 6.26 2.06% 
Xeric Wet Meadow 14.17 4.66% 
 304.25 100.00% 


C. Existing Land Features of Interest 


1. Non-Riverine Surface Water 
There is no non-riverine surface water on the tract. 


2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths 
The tract contains approximately 5,600 feet of Platte River frontage. The primary channel on the 
tract is the southernmost channel.  There are three major river channels in this section of the 
river.  The south channel runs through the property, the north boundary of the property runs 
along the middle channel, and there is a north channel that does not run through the property. 
 
Channel width measurement protocols define active channel width as the width of the channel 
that is unvegetated. Main (southern) channel widths were measured at ¼ mile intervals utilizing 
color infrared aerial photography flown in June of 2011. Channel width information is presented 
in Table 3. 
 
Table 3 – Tract 2010003 Main Channel Widths 
 


Measurement Width (ft) 
Minimum Channel Width 152 
Maximum Channel Width 570 
Median Channel Width 236 
Mean Channel Width 276 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


5 
 


3. Contiguous Sand Substrates 
At the time of the site evaluation, there was no contiguous sand substrate with less than 25% 
vegetative cover.  


4. Island and Channel Bank Height 
Channel bank height is on the order of three to six feet above water under typical summer flow 
conditions.  Island and sandbar height ranged from several inches to several feet above the water 
surface. 


5. Groundwater 
NDNR well logs for wells located within the same section indicate a ground water level of six to 
eight feet below the surface.  Much of the property is between river channels and will fluctuate 
closely with changes in river level. 


6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas 
There is no evidence of temporary inundation of non-wetland areas.  


7. Power/Transmission Lines 
There are above-ground power lines on the property that serve the existing residences.  The 
power lines are located within the wooded area of the property and cross the easement boundary 
near the south entrance road.  Given their size and location, they do not pose an immediate 
concern for target species use of the property. 


D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns 
There are two residences located on the south side of the main channel on tract 2010003.  These 
residences are located within heavily forested riparian area, but are on the river bank.  These 
residences are not likely to impact species use of the managed areas of the property.  No 
environmental concerns have been identified. 


E. Certified Irrigated Acres 
Tract 2010003 includes no certified irrigated acres. 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


6 
 


IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 


A. Goals and Objectives 
Goals and objectives will function as the benchmark for evaluation of ongoing land-related 
actions. Implementation of Program actions to address goals and objectives will be accomplished 
at both complex and tract-level scales. This section addresses tract-level actions. Complex-level 
actions are presented in the Restoration and Management Plan for the Fort Kearny Complex. 
Tract-level goals and objectives are a function of property management and operations needs.  
 


1. General 
 
Ø Goal 1 – Fulfill basic monitoring and easement administration obligations.  


 
o Objective 1a – Baseline Documentation Report. 


 
§ Strategy – Terms of the conservation easement require that a baseline 


documentation report be completed to document existing conditions and 
serve as an objective baseline for monitoring compliance with the terms of 
the easement.  This document will provide a comprehensive description of 
the condition of the property with respect to the rights provided by the 
easement (ie. Structures, vegetation type/location/condition). 


 
§ Area – Entire property. 


 
§ Timeline – Baseline Documentation Report will be completed in 2012. 


 
§ Costs – Primarily Program staff time.  Associated contractor expenses on 


the order of $2,000 for vegetation survey. 
 


§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for completion of 
Baseline Documentation Report and for any coordination of contractors as 
needed. 


 
o Objective 1b – Keep landowner informed on management actions and easement 


implementation activities. 
 
§ Strategy – Program staff will meet with granter of the conservation 


easement on an annual basis (or more frequent as needed) to communicate 
work items for the year and identify any issues relevant to the terms and 
conditions listed in the conservation easement. 


 
§ Area – Entire property. 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


7 
 


 
§ Timeline – Annually, or more frequently as needed.  Annual coordination 


will typically occur during the development of yearly Complex work 
plans. 
 


§ Costs – N/A 
 


§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for coordination and 
development of Annual Work Plans.   


 


2. Property Maintenance 
 


Ø Goal 2 – Minimize impacts due to invasive vegetation. 
 


o Objective 2a – Control future infestations of invasive vegetation not listed as 
noxious weeds in areas affected by Program management actions. Some of the 
species with the potential to be invasive in certain situations include eastern red 
cedar, Russian olive, willow, false indigo, intermediate wheatgrass, and tall 
wheatgrass.  
 
§ Strategy – An integrated management approach to control vegetation will 


be used to the extent possible and specific control methods will be updated 
as new information becomes available. Ongoing management/control 
needs will be assessed annually and incorporated into Work Plans.  This 
easement does not transfer basic noxious weed control and property 
maintenance obligations from the landowner to the Program. 
 


· Methods – A combination of herbicide application, prescribed fire, 
grazing and mechanical removal will be the typical control 
method. Control of certain species like eastern red cedar will not 
require herbicide application while other species may not need to 
be mechanically removed after herbicide application.  
 


§ Area – Invasive vegetation will be assessed on the entire property.  In 
areas specifically affected by Program management actions, control of 
invasive vegetation will be undertaken by the Program. 


 
§ Timeline – Control efforts will be undertaken as necessary.   


 
§ Costs – To be determined annually.  


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff will be responsible for identifying 


infestations. Control activities will be carried out by contractors.   







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


8 
 


3. Species Habitat  
 
Ø Goal 3 – Improve sand and water (riverine) habitat for interior least terns (LETE), 


piping plovers (PIPL) and whooping cranes (WC). 
 


o Objective 3a – Create and maintain riverine sand and water habitat for target bird 
species that approximates Table 1. Target Habitat Complex Guidelines of the 
Program Land Plan, to the extent possible, and approximates at least the 
Program’s minimum habitat guidelines. 
 
§ Strategy – Clear all woody vegetation as allowed under easement between 


the middle and south channel. Clear and lower islands within this area and 
develop LETE and PIPL habitat in conjunction with Program property 
2008001.  
 


· Methods – Methods to be determined during project design.  
Typically clearing is accomplished using heavy equipment. 
Cleared material will be burned and buried on site. Cleared areas 
will be seeded with native grass and forb species and managed 
with grazing and prescribed burns. The immediate river bank may 
be left unseeded to allow lateral erosion and associated channel 
widening.  Clearing in Forest Management Area identified on 
Figure A-8 requires a plan mutually agreed upon by landowner and 
Program per the terms of the easement. 


 
§ Area –Approximate area for tree clearing and island creation is the north 


and west side of the island and the west side of the south bank identified 
on Figure A-9 – approx. 115 acres (approx. 61 acres island building area, 
54 acres tree clearing area). Figure A-8 identifies the Forest Management 
Area where a mutually agreed upon plan between the Program and the 
landowner is required. 


 
§ Timeline – Project planning will take place in 2013.  Clearing, island 


construction/leveling, and any necessary seeding will take place in late 
2013/early 2014.   


 
§ Costs – The clearing/seeding is expected to cost on the order of $125,000.  


Island building costs will be developed during project planning in 2013.  
Subject to flows and access to island, methods and schedule may be 
adjusted. 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for design and 


permitting. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid. 
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


9 
 


 
o Objective 3b – Utilize livestock grazing and prescribed fire as tools to manage 


vegetation. 
 


§ Strategy – Work with prescribed burn contractor and grazing tenant to 
implement Season Long (SL) or Intensive Early Stocking (IES) grazing 
strategy. 
 


· Methods – Grazing in combination with prescribed fire will be 
used to manage existing grasslands. SL grazing will typically be 
for a 5 month grazing period (May-October) of each year at a 
moderate rate or IES grazing will be for a 2.5 month grazing 
period (May-July) at twice the recommended stocking rate. 
Prescribed fire will be planned to suppress cool season, invasive 
vegetation under appropriate environmental conditions and fuel 
loading during March 1 to mid-April. Prescribed fire will be 
implemented every 3-4 years.  Any necessary fencing for grazing 
will be temporary and installed by the tenant. 
 


§ Area – Island areas located between the Middle and South Channel. 
 


§ Timeline – Grazing will occur annually as flow conditions allow (getting 
cattle to islands).  Prescribed fire to be implemented every 3-4 years. 
 


§ Costs – Prescribed fire cost is $10-15/ acre and estimated income from 
grazing is $7,500 for 50 pair grazing for 5 months at a cost of $150/pair.  


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff in coordination with the appropriate 


Program committees will be responsible for planning, design and 
permitting. Contractors, hired by the Program, will perform the prescribed 
burn. Opportunities to work with local NRD burn teams will also be 
pursued when available. 


 
   


 
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


10 
 


V. TRACT-LEVEL SURVEYS, MONITORING AND RESEARCH 


A. Baseline Surveys and Monitoring 


1. Bald Eagle 
No bald eagle nests have been identified on this property.  Eagle nest surveys will be conducted 
annually between March and August and prior to any tree clearing activities.  


2. Platte River Caddisfly 
Platte River caddisfly cases were noted during a March 2010 survey.  Further surveys to 
document Platte River caddisfly density and distribution on the property will be conducted 
during spring, 2012. 


3. Northern River Otter 
No otters have been observed on this tract but they have been known to use the general area. 
Surveys will be conducted prior to commencement of activities that may negatively impact natal 
dens when undertaken during the period when otters utilize dens (15 February – 15 June). 


4. Cultural Resources 
The legal description of Tract 2010003 was provided to the State Historic Preservation Office 
(SHPO) to facilitate the early identification of potential cultural resources related issues. SHPO 
did not identify any potential cultural resources concerns on the property. If Program actions 
uncover potential artifacts or human remains, work will cease until such time that the Program 
can consult with SHPO to determine the appropriate course of action. 
 


B. Research 
No tract-level research activities have been identified at this time. 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


11 
 


VI. PUBLIC ACCESS 


A. Education 
Public access for education is not allowed under the current easement with the landowner.  


B. Recreation 
Public access for recreation is not allowed under the current easement with the landowner. 
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


12 
 


APPENDIX A – MAPS 


 







NE T008N R015W 17 NE T008N R015W 16


NE T008N R015W 21NE T008N R015W 20


NE T008N R015W 20 NE T008N R015W 21


TRACT 2010003
BOUNDARY MAP


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-1


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


0.2
Miles


±
Legend


2010003
Section


2010003
Approx. 305 Ac.







TRACT 2010003
LOCATION MAP


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-2
1


Miles


±
Legend


2010003
County


Audubon
CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


Interstate 80


Kearney Exit


Tract 2010003


Minden/Hwy 10 Exit


Buffalo County


Kearney County


Kearney







TRACT 2010003
2005 LAND COVER/USE


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-3


±
Legend


2010003
Ag
Bareground/Sparse Veg
Canal/Drainage
Mesic Wet Meadow
Phragmites
Riparian Shrubland
Riparian Woodland
River Channel


River Early Successional
River Shrubland
Roads
Rural Developed
Sand Pit
Unvegetated Sandbar
Upland Woodland
Warmwater Slough
Xeric Wet Meadow


0.2
Miles







PFOA


R2UBF


PFOA


R2UBF


R2UBF


PSSC


PFO/SSA


PFO/SSA


PFO/SSA


PSS/EMC


PFOA


PFO/SSA


R2USC


PFO/SSA


PSSC


PSSC


PFOA


PFO/SSA


PFO/SSA


R2USC
PFO/SSA


PFOA


PEM/SSA


PSSC


PEMA


PSS/EMC


PSS/EMA


PFOA


R2USC


PFOA


R2USC


PFO/SSA


PFO/SSA


PEMC


PFO/SSA


PEMC


R2USC


PFO/SSAR2USC


PUBFX


R2USC


PEMC


PEMC


PEMC
PEMC


PEMC


PEMC


TRACT 2010003
NWI MAP


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-4


±
0.2


Miles


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


Legend
2010003
Lacustrine Unconsolidated Bottom (LUB)
Palustrine Aquatic Bed (PAB)
Palustrine Emergent (PE)
Palustrine Forested (PF)
Palustrine Scrub-Shrub (PSS)
Palustrine Unconsolidated Bottom Excavated (PUBx)
Riverine Unconsolidated Bottom (RUB)
Riverine Unconsolidated Shore (RUS)
Riverine Streambed (RS)







TRACT 2010003
1938 IMAGERY


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-5


±
Legend


2010003


0.2
Miles







TRACT 2010003
1998 CIR IMAGERY


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-6


±
Legend


2010003


0.2
Miles







TRACT 2010003
2011 CIR IMAGERY


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-7


±
Legend


2010003


0.2
Miles







TRACT 2010003
FOREST MANAGEMENT


PLAN AREA
Date: 02/15/12


By: JDB


Figure A-8


±
Legend


Property Boundary
Forest Mgmt Plan Required


0.2
Miles







TRACT 2010003
MANAGEMENT ACTIONS


Date: 02/15/12
By: JDB


Figure A-9


±
Legend


PRRIP lands
Management


Tree Clearing Area
Tree Clearing/Island Building Area


0.2
Miles





		Tract 2010003 Operations and Maintenance Plan

		I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND

		A. Purpose 

		B. Tract Location and Size

		C. Land Interest

		D. Communication and Coordination



		II. RESPONSIBILITIES

		A. Management Responsibilities

		1. Planning

		2. Implementation of Management Activities

		3. Enforcement



		B. Budget and Invoicing

		C. Plan Authorization and Modifications



		III. EXISTING HABITATS 

		A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat

		B. Land Cover

		C. Existing Land Features of Interest

		1. Non-Riverine Surface Water

		2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths

		3. Contiguous Sand Substrates

		4. Island and Channel Bank Height

		5. Groundwater

		6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas

		7. Power/Transmission Lines



		D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns

		E. Certified Irrigated Acres



		IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE

		A. Goals and Objectives

		1. General

		2. Property Maintenance

		3. Species Habitat 





		V. TRACT-LEVEL SURVEYS, MONITORING AND RESEARCH

		A. Baseline Surveys and Monitoring

		1. Bald Eagle

		2. Platte River Caddisfly

		3. Northern River Otter

		4. Cultural Resources



		B. Research



		VI. PUBLIC ACCESS

		A. Education

		B. Recreation



		APPENDIX A – MAPS



		2010003 Figures A1-A9

		2010003 Figure A-1

		2010003 Figure A-2

		2010003 Figure A-3

		2010003 Figure A-4

		2010003 Figure A-5

		2010003 Figure A-6

		2010003 Figure A-7

		2010003 Figure A-8

		2010003 Figure A-9








PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


 


 
 


2011–2014 OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PLAN  
 


For 
 


TRACT 2010004 
 
 


 
 
 


Prepared for: 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program  


Land Advisory Committee 
 
 


 
Completion Date: 


06/13/2012







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


 


Table of Contents 
 
I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND ............................................................... 1 


A. Purpose ................................................................................................................................... 1 
B. Tract Location and Size .......................................................................................................... 1 
C. Land Interest ........................................................................................................................... 1 
D. Communication and Coordination ......................................................................................... 1 


II. RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................................................................................. 2 
A. Management Responsibilities................................................................................................. 2 


1. Planning ............................................................................................................................... 2 
2. Implementation of Management Activities ......................................................................... 2 
3. Enforcement ......................................................................................................................... 2 


B. Budget and Invoicing.............................................................................................................. 2 
C. Plan Authorization and Modifications .................................................................................... 2 


III. EXISTING HABITATS ........................................................................................................... 3 
A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat ...................................................................................... 3 
B. Land Cover ............................................................................................................................. 3 
C. Existing Land Features of Interest .......................................................................................... 4 


1. Non-Riverine Surface Water ............................................................................................... 4 
2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths ........................................................................ 4 
3. Contiguous Sand Substrates ................................................................................................ 5 
4. Island and Channel Bank Height ......................................................................................... 5 
5. Groundwater ........................................................................................................................ 5 
6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas.......................................................................................... 5 
7. Power/Transmission Lines .................................................................................................. 5 


D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns .................................................................. 5 
E. Certified Irrigated Acres ......................................................................................................... 5 


IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE ................................................................................. 6 
A. Goals and Objectives .............................................................................................................. 6 


1. Property Maintenance .......................................................................................................... 6 
2. Agricultural Operations ...................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
3. Improve Target Species Habitat .......................................................................................... 8 


V. TRACT-LEVEL SURVEYS, MONITORING AND RESEARCH .......................................... 9 
A. Baseline Surveys and Monitoring .......................................................................................... 9 


1. Bald Eagle............................................................................................................................ 9 
2. Platte River Caddisfly .......................................................................................................... 9 
3. Northern River Otter ............................................................................................................ 9 
4. Cultural Resources ............................................................................................................... 9 


B. Research.................................................................................................................................. 9 
VI. PUBLIC ACCESS .................................................................................................................. 10 


A. Education .............................................................................................................................. 10 
B. Recreation ............................................................................................................................. 10 


APPENDIX A – MAPS ................................................................................................................ 11 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


1 
 


I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND 


A. Purpose  
The purpose of this Operations and Maintenance Plan (Plan) is to outline the restoration, 
operations and maintenance activities that will occur on Tract 2010004 (Evaluation Tract 
Number 0918) during the period of 2012-2016. Species habitat and Adaptive Management 
research and monitoring actions associated with this tract are addressed in the Restoration and 
Management Plan for the Shoemaker Island Complex because planning and implementation of 
those activities will primarily occur at a complex scale. Operations and maintenance will 
primarily occur on a tract scale and as such, this plan addresses those activities within the 
broader context of complex goals and objectives.  


 


B. Tract Location and Size 
Tract 2010004 is approximately 1,525 acres in size and is located in Section 2, 10, 11, 14, 15, 
and 16, T-9N, R-11W. Figure A-1 (located in Appendix A) delineates the property boundary. 
The tract is located in the Wood River to Alda bridge segment. Part of the tract is under a 
perpetual easement in favor of the Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust (PRWCT), 
and the property is located adjacent to properties owned and managed by both PRWCT and The 
Nature Conservancy (TNC). Figure A-2 shows the parcel location within the Program land 
acquisition area, bridge segment and its proximity to existing leased and owned conservation 
lands and other tracts being evaluated by the Program. 


C. Land Interest 
A fee simple absolute title is held in trust by the Platte River Recovery Implementation 
Foundation (PRRIF) on behalf of the Program.  The Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance 
Trust owns a conservation easement over a portion of the tract. 


D. Communication and Coordination 
The Executive Director’s Office (ED Office) is responsible for communication and coordination 
with neighboring landowners. Neighbors will not be asked to provide formal comment on annual 
Work Plans but will be notified and consulted regarding specific restoration or management 
activities that could impact their properties.  
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


2 
 


II. RESPONSIBILITIES 


A. Management Responsibilities 


1. Planning 
Annual Work Plans for this property (as part of a complex-level annual work plan) will be 
written by representatives of the Executive Director’s office with oversight and input from the 
Program’s Land Advisory Committee (LAC). Program staff will be responsible for conducting, 
or retaining contractors to conduct, planning, design, and permitting for specific activities carried 
out under this plan. 


2. Implementation of Management Activities 
Implementation of management activities will be carried out by Program staff or by contractors 
under the oversight of Program staff.  


3. Enforcement 
Program staff is responsible for establishing controlled access to the property and will notify law 
enforcement agencies and others of issues as appropriate.  


B. Budget and Invoicing 
Program staff will be responsible for budgeting and invoicing of activities on this property. No 
later than March 1 of each year during the term, a report showing income and expenditures for 
the property during the preceding fiscal (same as calendar) year will be completed and presented 
to the LAC and Governance Committee (GC) for review. 


C. Plan Authorization and Modifications 
The LAC and TAC will provide comments on this Plan and the LAC will forward a 
recommendation to the GC. The GC must authorize this Plan before it can be executed. In 
addition, the LAC and TAC will provide comments on annual Work Plans and the LAC will 
forward a recommendation on the annual Work Plans to the GC. The GC must approve the 
annual Work Plans before they can be executed.  
 
It is anticipated that once every five years, complex-level restoration and management plans will 
go through a major revision process where the goals, objectives, and activities will be 
reevaluated. This Plan will also be reevaluated at that time and updated. Plan updates will be 
subject to the same comment and approval process as the original Plan.







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


3 
 


III. EXISTING HABITATS  


A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat 
The entirety of the Property will be managed as complex habitat. Table 1 provides the total acres 
of land contributing to a habitat complex. The classifications are based on Table 1. Target 
Habitat Complex Guidelines of the Program’s Land Plan. The classification acres in Table 2 are 
based on existing tract land cover/use. All classifications reflect land cover/use at the time of 
acquisition and may change based on management and restoration decisions. 
 
Table 1 – Tract 2010004 Habitat Complex Acres 
 


Land Classification* Acres 
Wet Meadow 1100 
Riverine 300 
Buffer 125 
* Habitat complex land classification categories are more general than the 2005 land cover/use classification and 
areas may vary due to changes in land use and vegetation since 2005.  


B. Land Cover 
Existing land cover/use on and adjacent to this tract was evaluated utilizing the updated 2005 
land cover overlay developed in cooperation with the Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust Inc. 
(Crane Trust) and the United States Fish and  Wildlife Service (USFWS). The land cover 
classifications from the overlay were compared to the most recent United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA) Farm Service Agency (FSA) and Program aerial photography in order to 
identify any land use changes that have occurred since the development of that dataset. The 2005 
land cover/use for this tract is summarized in Table 2. Several additional land cover/use related 
maps are located in Appendix A including: 
 
· Figure A-3 – 2005 Land Cover/Use 
· Figure A-4 – National Wetland Inventory 
· Figure A-5 – 1938 Aerial Photography 
· Figure A-6 – 1998 CIR Aerial Photography 
· Figure A-7 – 2011 CIR Aerial Photography 
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


4 
 


 
Table 2 – Tract 2010004 2005 Land Cover/Use Summary 
 
Land Cover Classification Acres Percent of Total 
Bareground/Sparse Veg 3.70 0.24% 
Meadow Sand Ridge 83.69 5.49% 
Mesic Wet Meadow 261.56 17.17% 
Phragmites 63.00 4.14% 
Purple Loosestrife 2.34 0.15% 
Riparian Shrubland 109.20 7.17% 
Riparian Woodland 110.19 7.23% 
River Channel 43.08 2.83% 
River Early Successional 19.74 1.30% 
River Shrubland 24.44 1.60% 
Roads 5.82 0.38% 
Unvegetated Sandbar 31.57 2.07% 
Upland Woodland 13.57 0.89% 
Xeric Wet Meadow 751.35 49.33% 
 1523.22 100.00% 


C.  Existing Land Features of Interest 


1. Non-Riverine Surface Water 
There is no non-riverine surface water on the property. 
 


2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths 
The tract contains approximately 2.5 miles of river frontage on the main (south) channel of the 
Platte River and approximately 1 mile of river frontage on the north channel of the Platte River. 
 
  Table 3 – Tract 2010004 Main (South) Channel Widths 
 


Measurement Width (ft) 
Minimum Channel Width 610 
Maximum Channel Width 1,470 
Median Channel Width 1,250 
Mean Channel Width 1,162 
  
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


5 
 


3. Contiguous Sand Substrates 
At the time of the site visit there were no contiguous sand substrates with less than 25% 
vegetative cover.  However, PRWCT and/or USFWS periodically disc or mow this portion of the 
channel to control vegetation. 
 


4. Island and Channel Bank Height 
Channel bank height is on the order of three to six feet above water surface under typical 
summer flow conditions. Islands on this property have been disced in the past and range from 
zero to six feet above water. 
 


5. Groundwater 
Depth to groundwater on this tract was estimated from NDNR well logs for wells on and around 
the property. The well logs indicate that the static groundwater elevation is two to ten feet below 
ground surface. Livestock watering wells in the southern grassland portion of the tract indicate 
water levels of two to four feet below the surface. 
 


6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas 
There is no evidence of temporary inundation of non-wetland areas.  However, variations on 
vegetation density and species indicate that seasonal flooding and ponding of water in swales and 
depressions does occur. Members of the evaluation team indicated this property is one of the 
premier examples of a functioning wet meadow. 
 


7. Power/Transmission Lines 
There are no above ground power lines on this property. 
 


D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns 
This tract does not currently have land uses that are incompatible with target species habitat. No 
environmental concerns have been identified.  


E. Certified Irrigated Acres 
 This tract includes no NRD certified irrigated acres. 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


6 
 


IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 


A. Goals and Objectives 
Goals and objectives will function as the benchmark for evaluation of ongoing land-related 
actions. Implementation of Program actions to address goals and objectives will be accomplished 
at both complex and tract-level scales. This section addresses tract-level actions. Complex-level 
actions are presented in the Restoration and Management Plan for the Shoemaker Island 
Complex. Tract-level goals and objectives are a function of property management and operations 
needs.  


1. Property Maintenance 
 
Ø Goal 1 – Fulfill basic property ownership obligations and needs.  


 
o Objective 1a – Rehabilitate and maintain property boundary fencing and signage.  


 
§ Strategy – The existing fence is primarily in poor condition.  The overall 


strategy will be to clear woody vegetation as necessary for access and 
fence reconstruction, and rebuilding or replacing the boundary fence (with 
signage) as necessary. Fence maintenance strategy will be a combination 
of minimizing maintenance needs and scheduled maintenance. 
 


· Methods – Where necessary, trees will be cleared using heavy 
equipment. They will be either burned and buried or chipped and 
hauled off-site. Boundary fencing will be four wire livestock 
fencing and will be constructed per Natural Resources 
Conservation Service (NRCS) design criteria. The fence will 
include Program ownership and contact signage at regular 
intervals. Maintenance methods may include mowing or spraying 
of woody species in the cleared area as well as routine fence 
upkeep. 
 


§ Area – Figure A-8 shows the location of fences to be removed, replaced, 
or repaired. 


 
§ Timeline – The majority of fence reconstruction and associated vegetation 


removal will be completed in 2012.  Some fence work may carry into 
2013 or beyond based on design and schedule of other projects (ie. 
“caddisfly slough” area) 


 
§ Costs – Tree clearing and fence reconstruction are expected to cost on the 


order of $100,000 for approx. 60,000 linear feet of fence replacement, 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


7 
 


fence repair, and associated vegetation removal. Annual maintenance costs 
are expected to be on the order of $4,000. 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for design and 


permitting. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid.  
 


o Objective 1b – Rehabilitate and maintain livestock watering infrastructure.  
 


§ Strategy – The existing livestock watering infrastructure consists of 2 
windmills in poor condition and an electric submersible pump on the south 
side of the property. The existing infrastructure will be assessed and 
repaired or replaced if necessary based on grazing needs.  Currently there 
is no livestock water available on the property north of Shoemaker Island 
Road.  If needed, a new well will be drilled and a solar watering unit 
installed. 


 
§ Area – Livestock watering infrastructures are displayed on Figure A-8. 


 
§ Timeline – Late winter/ early spring 2012. 


 
§ Costs – New infrastructure/repair costs on the order of $20,000. Annual 


maintenance costs are expected to be on the order of $1,000. 
 


§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for oversight. 
Construction and maintenance activities will be bid.  


 
o Objective 1c – Control noxious weeds on property.  


 
§ Strategy – Infestations of noxious weeds will be eliminated (to the extent 


possible) annually. An integrated management approach to control 
noxious weeds will be used to the extent possible and specific control 
methods will be updated as new information becomes available. Ongoing 
management/control needs will be assessed annually and incorporated into 
Work Plans. 
 


· Methods – Herbicide application will be the primary method for 
control of noxious weeds. Biological controls will be considered 
but only used if deemed effective enough to result in effective 
control within three growing seasons. 
 


§ Area – Noxious weeds will be controlled on the entire property. 
 


§ Timeline – Control efforts will be undertaken annually. 
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


8 
 


§ Costs – Annual costs are expected to be less than $5,000.  
 


§ Responsibilities – Program Staff are responsible for identifying 
infestations and planning/coordinating control efforts. Control activities 
will be carried out by contractors. The contractor will typically be the 
county weed authority.  


 
 


Ø Goal 2 – Minimize impacts due to invasive vegetation. 
 


o Objective 2a – Eliminate existing and control future infestations of invasive 
vegetation not listed as noxious weeds. Some of the species with the potential to 
be invasive in certain situations include eastern red cedar, Russian olive, willow, 
false indigo, intermediate wheatgrass, and tall wheatgrass.  
 
§ Strategy – An integrated management approach to control vegetation will 


be used to the extent possible and specific control methods will be updated 
as new information becomes available. Ongoing management/control 
needs will be assessed annually and incorporated into Work Plans. 
 


· Methods – Elimination of existing infestations will be 
accomplished through a combination of herbicide application and 
mechanical removal. Control of certain species like eastern red 
cedar will not require herbicide application while other species 
may not need to be mechanically removed after herbicide 
application. Management of future infestations will be 
accomplished through a variety of integrated management methods 
including: herbicide application, prescribed fire, mechanical 
disturbance/removal and grazing.  
 


§ Area – Invasive vegetation will be controlled on the entire property.   
 


§ Timeline – Control efforts will be undertaken as necessary.  
 


§ Costs – Annual costs are expected to be less than $3,000.  
 


§ Responsibilities – Program staff will be responsible for identifying 
infestations. Control activities will be carried out by contractors.  


 
 


2. Species Habitat  
Species habitat goals are discussed in section III.A.3. of the Shoemaker Island Complex Plan.  
No additional tract-level activities are anticipated. 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


9 
 


 
 


TRACT-LEVEL SURVEYS, MONITORING AND RESEARCH 


B. Baseline Surveys and Monitoring 


1. Bald Eagle 
No bald eagle nests have been identified on this property.  
 


2. Platte River Caddisfly 
Platte River caddisfly cases and/or larvae were noted in 2 separate sloughs during March and 
October 2011 surveys performed by contracted personnel from University of Nebraska–Kearney 
(UNK). Further surveys to document Platte River caddisfly density and distribution on the 
property will be conducted during spring, 2012. 
   


3. Northern River Otter 
No otters have been observed on this tract but they have been known to use the general area. 
Surveys will be conducted prior to commencement of activities that may negatively impact natal 
dens when undertaken during the period when otters are utilizing dens. 


4. Cultural Resources 
The legal description of Tract 20010004 will be provided to the State Historic Preservation 
Office (SHPO) to facilitate the early identification of potential cultural resources related issues. 
If Program actions uncover potential artifacts or human remains, work will cease until such time 
that the Program can consult with SHPO to determine the appropriate course of action. 
 


C. Research 
No tract-level research activities have been identified at this time. 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


10 
 


V. PUBLIC ACCESS 


A. Education 
Access for education, including non-Program research, will be allowed on a case-by-case basis 
as long as it is compatible with target species usage and does not negatively impact species 
habitat. Program staff will be responsible for evaluating requests and granting access permission.  


B. Recreation 
Due to potential limitations within the conservation easement in favor of the PRWCT, this tract 
will not be entered into the Program’s public access policy at this time.  Public access may be 
revisited as needed if there are any changes to these limitations. 
 
 







PRRIP   06/13/2012 
 


11 
 


APPENDIX A – MAPS 


 







NE T009N R011W 2NE T009N R011W 4 NE T009N R011W 3


NE T009N R011W 11NE T009N R011W 9 NE T009N R011W 12


NE T009N R011W 1


NE T009N R011W 10


NE T009N R011W 15 NE T009N R011W 14NE T009N R011W 16 NE T009N R011W 13


NE T010N R011W 33 NE T010N R011W 34 NE T010N R011W 35 NE T010N R011W 36


TRACT 2010004
BOUNDARY MAP


Date: 01/09/12
By: JDB


Figure A-1


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


0.5
Miles


±
Legend


Section NGPC
PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC


Parcel 2010004
Approx. 1,524 Ac.







TRACT 2010004
LOCATION MAP


Date: 01/09/12
By: JDB


Figure A-2
1


Miles
±


Legend
County Audubon


CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


Interstate 80


Wood River Exit


Alda Exit


Tract 2010004







TRACT 2010004
2005 LAND COVER/USE


Parcel Evaluation
Date: 01/04/12


By: JDB


Figure A-3


±
Legend


2010004
Ag
Bareground/Sparse Veg
Canal/Drainage
Mesic Wet Meadow
Phragmites
Riparian Shrubland
Riparian Woodland
River Channel


River Early Successional
River Shrubland
Roads
Rural Developed
Sand Pit
Unvegetated Sandbar
Upland Woodland
Warmwater Slough
Xeric Wet Meadow


0.25
Miles


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery







R2UBF


PEMC


R2UBF


PFOA


PEMC


PFOA


PSS/USC


PFOA


PFOAPSSC


PFOA


PFOA


PSS/FOA


PSSC


PEMC PSSC


PSS/USC


PSS/FOA


PSS/USC


PFOA


PEMC


PSS/USC


PSS/EMC


PEM/USC


PEMA


PSSC


PSS/USC


PSS/USC


PSS/USC


PEMC


PSS/USC


PEM/USC


PSS/USC


PEMC


PFOA


PSS/FOA


PFOA


PSSC


PFOA


PSS/USC


R2USC


PSSC


PSS/FOA


PEMA


PSS/USC


PEMA


L1UBHX
PSS/FOC


PFOA


R2UBF


PSS/USC
PSS/USC


PSS/USC
PSS/USC


PSS/USC


PSS/USC


PSSC


PFOA


PEMA


R2USC


L1UBHX


PSS/EMC


PSSC


PEMC


PEMC


PSSC


PEMC


PSSC


PABF


L1UBHX
L1UBHX


PSSC


PEMC


PEMC


PEM/USC


PABF


PFOA


PEM/USC


PSSC


PEM/USC


PEM/USC


PSSC


PEM/USC


PSSC


PFOA


PSS/USC


L1UBHX


PSS/USC


PFOA PSSC


PUBFX


PEMC


PEM/USC


PUBFX


PSSC


L1UBHX


PSS/EMC


PABF


PEMC


PEMC


PEMC


PSS/FOC


TRACT 2010004
NWI MAP


Date: 01/09/12
By: JDB


Figure A-4


±
Legend


2010004
Lacustrine Unconsolidated Bottom (LUB)
Palustrine Aquatic Bed (PAB)
Palustrine Emergent (PE)
Palustrine Forested (PF)
Palustrine Scrub-Shrub (PSS)
Palustrine Unconsolidated Bottom Excavated (PUBx)
Riverine Unconsolidated Bottom (RUB)
Riverine Unconsolidated Shore (RUS)
Riverine Streambed (RS) 0.25


Miles


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery







TRACT 2010004
1938 IMAGERY


Date: 01/09/12
By: JDB


Figure A-5


±
Legend


2010004


0.2
Miles







TRACT 2010004
1998 CIR IMAGERY


Date: 01/09/12
By: JDB


Figure A-6


±
Legend


2010004


0.25
Miles







TRACT 2010004
2011 CIR IMAGERY


Date: 01/09/12
By: JDB


Figure A-7


±
Legend


2010004


0.25
Miles







D


D


TRACT 2010004
Fence Work  & 
Livestock Water


Date: 1/11/12


By: TRT


Figure A-8


±
0.5


Mile


Legend
Fences


New 2011
Replaced 2011
Repaired 2011
Existing
Replace 2012
Removed 2012
Replace 2013


Culvert installation 


D Windmill
Well (No pump)


Submersible pump





		Tract 2010004 Operations and Maintenance Plan

		I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND

		A. Purpose 

		B. Tract Location and Size

		C. Land Interest

		D. Communication and Coordination



		II. RESPONSIBILITIES

		A. Management Responsibilities

		1. Planning

		2. Implementation of Management Activities

		3. Enforcement



		B. Budget and Invoicing

		C. Plan Authorization and Modifications



		III. EXISTING HABITATS 

		A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat

		B. Land Cover

		C.  Existing Land Features of Interest

		1. Non-Riverine Surface Water

		2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths

		3. Contiguous Sand Substrates

		4. Island and Channel Bank Height

		5. Groundwater

		6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas

		7. Power/Transmission Lines



		D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns

		E. Certified Irrigated Acres



		IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE

		A. Goals and Objectives

		1. Property Maintenance

		2. Species Habitat 





		TRACT-LEVEL SURVEYS, MONITORING AND RESEARCH

		B. Baseline Surveys and Monitoring

		1. Bald Eagle

		2. Platte River Caddisfly

		3. Northern River Otter

		4. Cultural Resources



		C. Research



		V. PUBLIC ACCESS

		A. Education

		B. Recreation



		APPENDIX A – MAPS



		2010004 Management Plan Figures A1-A8

		2010004 Figure A-1

		2010004 Figure A-2

		2010004 Figure A-3

		2010004 Figure A-4

		2010004 Figure A-5

		2010004 Figure A-6

		2010004 Figure A-7

		2010004 Figure A-8








PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


 
 


 
 


2012-2016 RESTORATION AND MAINTENANCE PLAN 
 


For 
 


TRACT 2011001 
 


 
 


Prepared for: 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program  


Land Advisory Committee 
 


 
Completion Date: 


06/13/2012







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


 
 


Table of Contents 
I. Property Description and background ......................................................................................... 1 


A. Purpose ................................................................................................................................... 1 
B. Tract Location and Size .......................................................................................................... 1 
C. Land Interest ........................................................................................................................... 1 
D. Communication and Coordination ......................................................................................... 1 


II. RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................................................................................. 2 
A. Management Responsibilities................................................................................................. 2 


1. Planning ............................................................................................................................... 2 
2. Implementation of Management Activities ......................................................................... 2 
3. Enforcement ......................................................................................................................... 2 


B. Budget and Invoicing.............................................................................................................. 2 
C. Plan Authorization and Modifications .................................................................................... 2 


III. EXISTING HABITATS ........................................................................................................... 3 
A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat ...................................................................................... 3 


1. Associated Complex Habitat ............................................................................................... 3 
2. Non-Complex Habitat Acres ............................................................................................... 3 
3. Excess Acres ........................................................................................................................ 3 


B. Land Cover ............................................................................................................................. 3 
C. Existing Land Features of Interest .......................................................................................... 4 


1. Non-Riverine Surface Water ............................................................................................... 4 
2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths ........................................................................ 4 
3. Contiguous Sand Substrates ................................................................................................ 5 
4. Island and Channel Bank Height ......................................................................................... 5 
5. Groundwater ........................................................................................................................ 5 
6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas.......................................................................................... 5 
7. Power/Transmission Lines .................................................................................................. 5 


D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns .................................................................. 5 
E. Certified Irrigated Acres ......................................................................................................... 5 


IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE ................................................................................. 6 
A. Goals and Objectives .............................................................................................................. 6 


1. Species Habitat .................................................................................................................... 6 
2. Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives ..................................................................... 8 
3. Property Maintenance .......................................................................................................... 9 
4. Agricultural Operations ...................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
5. Land Asset Management ................................................................................................... 11 


V. MONITORING AND RESEARCH ........................................................................................ 12 
A. Baseline Monitoring ............................................................................................................. 12 


1. Land Cover Analysis ......................................................................................................... 12 
2. Channel LiDAR Project ..................................................................................................... 12 
3. Aerial Photography ............................................................................................................ 12 
4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring ................................................. 12 
5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring ............................................ 12 
6. Species of Interest Surveys ................................................................................................ 13 


B. Research................................................................................................................................ 13 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


 
 


1. LETE, PIPL and WC riverine habitat selection experiment (Goal 2, Objectives 2a & 2b)
 ............................................................................................................................................... 13 
2. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 3, Objective 3a) .................... 13 
3. Vegetation scour research (Goal 4, Objective 4a) .............. Error! Bookmark not defined. 
4. Wet Meadow Information Review and Related Experiments (Goal 6, Objective 6a) Error! 
Bookmark not defined. 


VI. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE .................................. 14 
A. Section 7 Consultation.......................................................................................................... 14 


1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover ..................... 14 
2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane......................................... 14 
3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon ........................................... 14 


B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species 
Conservation Act ....................................................................................................................... 15 


1. Raptors ............................................................................................................................... 15 
2. Northern River Otter .......................................................................................................... 15 
3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid ......................................................................................... 15 
4. Platte River Caddis Fly ...................................................................................................... 15 
5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance ..................................................... 15 
6. Regal Fritillary ................................................................................................................... 15 


C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act .................................................................................................... 16 
D. Bald Eagle Act...................................................................................................................... 16 
E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska Department 
of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification ......................................... 16 
F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge 
Permit ........................................................................................................................................ 16 
G. County Floodplain Development Permit .............................................................................. 16 
H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance ....................................................................... 16 
I. Good Neighbor Policy ........................................................................................................... 17 


VII. PUBLIC ACCESS ................................................................................................................. 18 
A. Education .............................................................................................................................. 18 
B. Recreation ............................................................................................................................. 18 


APPENDIX A – FIGURES .......................................................................................................... 19 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


1 
 


I. Property Description and background 


A. Purpose  
The purpose of this plan is to outline the restoration, operations and maintenance activities, as 
well as species habitat and adaptive management research and monitoring activities that will 
occur on Tract 2011001 (Evaluation Tract Number 1001) during the period of 2012-2016. 


B. Tract Location and Size 
Tract 2011001 is approximately 227 acres in size and is located in portions of Sections 8, 17 and 
18, T-9N, R-11W. Figure A-1 (located in Appendix A) delineates the property boundary. The 
tract straddles the boundary of the Shelton to Wood River and Wood River to Alda bridge 
segments. Figure A-2 shows the parcel location within the Program land acquisition area, bridge 
segment and its proximity to existing leased and owned conservation lands. The western portion 
of Tract 2011001 adjoins The Nature Conservancy’s Dahms tract on the south. 


C. Land Interest 
A fee simple absolute title is held in trust by the Platte River Recovery Implementation 
Foundation (PRRIF) on behalf of the Program.  


D. Communication and Coordination 
The Executive Director’s Office (ED Office) is responsible for communication and coordination 
with neighboring landowners. Neighbors will not be asked to provide formal comment on annual 
Work Plans but will be notified and consulted regarding specific restoration or management 
activities that could impact their properties.  







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


2 
 


II. RESPONSIBILITIES 


A. Management Responsibilities 


1. Planning 
Annual Work Plans for this property are to be written by representatives of the Executive 
Director’s office with oversight and input from the Program’s Land Advisory Committee (LAC). 
Program staff will be responsible for conducting, or retaining contractors to conduct, planning, 
design, and permitting for specific activities carried out under this plan.  


2. Implementation of Management Activities 
Implementation of management activities will be carried out by Program staff or by contractors 
under the oversight of Program staff.  


3. Enforcement 
Program staff is responsible for establishing controlled access to the property and will notify law 
enforcement agencies and others of issues as appropriate.  


B. Budget and Invoicing 
Program staff will be responsible for budgeting and invoicing of activities on this property. No 
later than March 1 of each year during the term, a report showing income and expenditures for 
the property during the preceding fiscal (same as calendar) year will be completed and presented 
to the LAC and Governance Committee (GC) for review. 


C. Plan Authorization and Modifications 
The LAC and TAC will provide comments on this Plan and the LAC will forward a 
recommendation to the GC. The GC must authorize this Plan before it can be executed. In 
addition, the LAC and TAC will provide comments on annual Work Plans and the LAC will 
forward a recommendation on the annual Work Plans to the GC. The GC must approve the 
annual Work Plans before they can be executed.  
 
It is anticipated that once every five years, the restoration and management plans will go through 
a major revision process where the goals, objectives, and activities will be reevaluated. Plan 
updates will be subject to the same comment and approval process as the original Plan. 
 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


3 
 


III. EXISTING HABITATS  


A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat 
The eastern portion of the tract (116 acres, approx.) will be managed as non-complex habitat and 
the western portion of the tract (111 acres, approx.) will be managed as complex habitat. The 
sand pit areas and the newly created Off-channel Sand and Water habitat area of the eastern 
portion of the tract are considered as non-complex habitat in accordance with section II.B.2 and 
Table 2. Non-Complex Habitat Guidelines of the Program Land Plan.  
 
Table 1 – Tract 2011001 Complex Habitat Acres (West parcel) 
 
Land Classification* Acres 
Riverine  
     Channel 116 
* Habitat complex land classification categories are more general than the 2005 land cover/use classification and   
   areas may vary due to changes in land use and vegetation since 2005. 


1. Associated Complex Habitat 
The nearby Shoemaker Island Complex, as well as TNC managed habitats can function as 
associated complex habitats for the purpose of adaptive management paired design experiments. 


2. Non-Complex Habitat Acres 
The sand pit area to be created on the eastern portion of the tract in 2012 will cover 
approximately 22 acres and will be managed as non-complex habitat. All 62 acres are classified 
as Sandpit Habitat for Terns and Plovers (i.e. no acres classified as Non-riparian Habitat for 
Whooping Cranes).  


3. Excess Acres 
The eastern portion of the east tract is considered as excess acres approximately 55 acres in total. 
Options will be explored to divest of the excess acres.  Area marked for excess is shown on 
Figure A-10.  The remaining 62 acres of the east tract will be retained as non-complex off-
channel sand and water habitat. 


B. Land Cover 
Existing land cover/use on and adjacent to this Tract was evaluated utilizing the updated 2005 
land cover overlay developed in cooperation with the Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust Inc. 
(Crane Trust) and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). The land cover 
classifications from the overlay were compared to the most recent United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA) Farm Service Agency (FSA) and Program aerial photography in order to 
identify any land use changes that have occurred since the development of that dataset. The 2005 
land cover/use for this Tract is summarized in Table 1. Several additional land cover/use related 
maps are located in Appendix A including: 
 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


4 
 


· Figure A-3 – 2005 Land Cover/Use 
· Figure A-4 – National Wetland Inventory 
· Figure A-5 – 1938 Aerial Photography 
· Figure A-6 – 1998 CIR Aerial Photography 
· Figure A-7 – 2011 CIR Aerial Photography 
 
Table 2 – Tract 2011001 2005 Land Cover/Use Summary 
 
Land Cover Classification Acres Percent of Total 
Ag 30.01 13.23% 
Bareground/Sparse Veg 7.52 3.32% 
Meadow Sand Ridge 0.23 0.10% 
Mesic Wet Meadow 9.20 4.06% 
Phragmites 11.73 5.17% 
Purple Loosestrife 0.83 0.37% 
Riparian Shrubland 86.22 38.02% 
Riparian Woodland 41.99 18.51% 
River Channel 3.13 1.38% 
River Early Successional 1.73 0.76% 
River Shrubland 7.05 3.11% 
Rural Developed 4.29 1.89% 
Sand Pit 4.01 1.77% 
Unvegetated Sandbar 2.16 0.95% 
Upland Woodland 0.76 0.33% 
Warmwater Slough 1.37 0.60% 
Xeric Wet Meadow 14.56 6.42% 
 226.80 100.00% 
 


C. Existing Land Features of Interest 


1. Non-Riverine Surface Water 
The western portion of the property contains no non-riverine surface water.  On the eastern half 
of the property, there is a series of three small ponds.  These ponds are to be incorporated into a 
tern and plover nesting restoration project described in Objective 1a and 1b below.  


2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths 
The western half of Tract 2011001 is an island with river frontage on the main channel and the 
north channel. The tract contains approximately 6,500 feet of Platte River frontage on the main 
channel and 12,000 feet of river frontage on the north channel. The north channel in this reach is 
narrow and vegetated and would not be considered for extensive habitat restoration. 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


5 
 


 
Channel width measurement protocols define active channel width as the width of the channel 
that is unvegetated. Channel widths were measured at ¼ mile intervals utilizing color infrared 
aerial photography flown in June 2010 under high flow conditions.  Measured main channel 
widths are presented in Table 3. 
 
Table 3– Tract 2011001 Channel Widths 
 


Measurement Width (ft) 
Minimum Channel Width 609 
Maximum Channel Width 1,000 
Median Channel Width 775 
Mean Channel Width 767 
  


3. Contiguous Sand Substrates 
At the time of the review, and as evidenced by current aerial photography, tract 2011001 
contains no substantial areas of contiguous sand substrate.   


4. Island and Channel Bank Height 
Under typical flow conditions, island and bank heights are on the order of 0-4 feet above water. 


5. Groundwater 
The west part of the tract is between two river channels and assumed to be tied very closely to 
the river level. Sandpit water levels on the eastern part of the tract indicate a ground water level 
of 3-6 feet below the surface. 


6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas 
There is no evidence of temporary inundation of non-wetland areas. 


7. Power/Transmission Lines 
There is an above ground power line that services the residence approximately ¼ mile west from 
the highway.  This line is within a heavily forested area and is not a concern for target species.  
There is also a power line running along the road on the west side of the east tract.  This power 
line is not expected to impact target species use in this area. 


D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns 
Tract 2011001 does not currently have land uses that are incompatible with target species 
habitat. 
 


E. Certified Irrigated Acres 
Tract 2011001 includes no NRD certified irrigated acres. 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


6 
 


IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 


A. Goals and Objectives 
Goals and objectives will function as the benchmark for evaluation of ongoing land-related 
actions. Implementation of Program actions to address goals and objectives will be accomplished 
at both complex and tract-level scales.   


1. Species Habitat  
 


Ø Goal 1 – Create sand and water (off-channel sand and water; OCSW) habitat for 
interior least terns (LETE) and  piping plovers (PIPL) 
 


o Objective 1a – Create and maintain off-channel sand and water (OSCW) target 
bird species habitat that approximates Table 2. Non-Complex Habitat Guidelines 
of the Program Land Plan, to the degree possible. 
 
§ Strategy – Perform Phase 1 creation of OCSW nesting habitat on the 


portion of the eastern tract not identified as excess acres. 
 


· Methods – OCSW construction will be accomplished by first 
excavating 3 feet of material from the entire area. This material 
will be moved off site and used by the contractor for fill on other 
projects. Then, a 5 foot deep moat will be excavated around the 
perimeter of the nesting area and the excavated sand material will 
be placed on top of the nesting area to create a bare sand peninsula. 
OCSW nesting habitat maintenance will be accomplished by 
annual application of pre-emergent herbicide and installation of 
predator fencing.   


 
§ Area – Phase 1 habitat restoration and management activities are 


presented in Figure A-8.   
 


§ Timeline – OCSW habitat construction will be conducted in winter/spring 
2012.  Nesting habitat maintenance will occur annually.  


 
§ Cost – Annual vegetation control is estimated at $2,000. Sandpit 


construction is being performed in exchange for fill material taken by the 
contractor at no cost. 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of 


Program staff (in conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) 
are responsible for design, permitting and monitoring. Construction and 
maintenance activities to be performed by contractors. 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


7 
 


o Objective 1b – Perform Phase 2 restoration and maintenance of off-channel sand 
and water (OSCW) target bird species habitat that approximates Table 2. Non-
Complex Habitat Guidelines of the Program Land Plan, to the degree possible. 
 
§ Strategy – Restore OCSW habitat in area on east tract that was apparently 


used as a spoil area during original mining/excavation of existing sand 
pits.    
 


· Methods – Trees will be cleared and all vegetation will be 
removed over the area identified as Phase 2 on Figure A-8. Areas 
between existing sandpits will be excavated to create a peninsula 
that can be fenced for predator access. OCSW nesting habitat 
maintenance will be accomplished by annual application of pre-
emergent herbicide and installation of predator fencing.   


 
§ Area – Phase 2 habitat restoration and management activities are 


presented in Figure A-8.   
 


§ Timeline – OCSW habitat construction will be conducted in winter/spring 
2013.  Nesting habitat maintenance will occur annually.  


 
§ Cost – Annual vegetation control is estimated at $2,000. Phase 2 


construction costs estimated around $100,000. 
 


§ Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of 
Program staff (in conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) 
are responsible for design, permitting and monitoring. Construction and 
maintenance activities will be bid. 


 
 


Ø Goal 2 – Improve sand and water (riverine) habitat for interior least terns (LETE), 
piping plovers (PIPL), and whooping cranes (WC). 
 


o Objective 2a – Create and maintain riverine sand and water habitat for target bird 
species that approximates Table 1. Target Habitat Complex Guidelines of the 
Program Land Plan, to the degree possible. 
 
§ Strategy – Clear all woody vegetation 200 feet north of main channel on 


west tract and mechanically construct a series of nesting islands within the 
main channel.  


 
· Methods – The area will be cleared using heavy equipment.  


Cleared material will be burned and buried on site if possible.  
Conditions may require other removal methods including chipping 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


8 
 


and hauling off-site.  Cleared areas will be seeded with native grass 
and forb species.   


 
§ Area – Clearing area and island construction is shown on Figure A-9.   


 
§ Timeline – Clearing and island building will take place in winter of 2012.  


Seeding will be completed in winter/spring of 2013. 
 


§ Costs – The clearing/seeding is expected to cost on the order of $70,000.  
 


§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for design and 
permitting. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid. 
 


 
Ø Goal 3 – Provide benefits to other species of concern without compromising ability to 


accomplish target species goals and objectives  
 


o Objective 3a – Evaluate habitat protection for other species of concern as need or 
opportunity is brought forward by USFWS or NGPC. 


 
§ Strategy – The Program will utilize the tract management planning and 


consultation process as the mechanism for identification of opportunities 
to benefit other species of concern. Following acquisition of a parcel, the 
Program will request that the USFWS and NGPC provide guidance on 
species of concern that may be present and benefit from management 
measures. The Program will survey all tracts to determine presence of 
those species. The Program will then consult with the USFWS and NGPC 
to determine appropriate measures for protecting, preserving and 
enhancing populations of those species while accomplishing Program 
goals.  


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for initiating 


coordination. USFWS and NGPC are responsible for bringing forward 
species of concern that need to be addressed in the planning process. 
Program staff will be responsible for habitat protection planning, with 
technical assistance from these agencies.  


 


2. Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives 
 
This section contains objectives related to the experimental design of implementation of the 
Program’s Adaptive Management Plan and experiments to be conducted through that plan.  The 
following summarizes major AM experimental design components that may be conducted 
completely or in part on this property: 
 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


9 
 


1. “Paired Design” – River nesting vs. OCSW nesting (LETE, PIPL). 
a. The objective of this experiment is to determine differences in nest success and 


productivity, as well as species preference and use, between river nesting and 
OCSW nesting of the target species by offering both types of available habitats in 
close proximity.  


 
2. Conservation Monitoring and Directed Research 


a. System-wide Program conservation monitoring protocols (tern and plover, 
whooping crane, geomorphology/in-channel vegetation) and directed research 
projects (tern and plover habitat colonization and productivity study) may occur 
on this property based on monitoring and research priorities and schedules. 


 
 
Ø Goal 4 – Refine Program’s understanding of interaction between LETE and PIPL 


riverine and off-channel sand and water (OCSW) nesting habitat.  
 


o Objective 4a – Test Program System, LETE and PIPL hypotheses related to bird 
response to habitat development, habitat preference for and productivity on 
riverine versus OCSW nesting habitat. (Priority hypotheses S1b, T1, P1, TP1) 
 


§ Strategy – Monitor LETE and PIPL use and productivity on Program 
sandpit OCSW habitat and Complex riverine habitat. Occurrence, use and 
productivity will be monitored per the Program’s LETE and PIPL 
monitoring protocol. 


 
· Methods – Maintenance will include using mechanical methods 


and/or annual application of pre-emergent herbicide to control 
vegetation. Monitoring methods are presented in the Program’s 
LETE and PIPL monitoring protocol. 
 


§ Area – See Goal 1 and Goal 2 and refer to Figures A-8 and A-9 for 
location of OCSW and riverine nesting habitat. 
 
§ Timeline – Maintenance and monitoring will occur annually.  


 
§ Cost – None 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for design and permitting 


of new habitat construction.  Program staff or contractors under the 
supervision of Program staff are responsible for maintenance and 
monitoring. 


 


3. Property Maintenance  
 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


10 
 


Ø Goal 5 – Fulfill basic property ownership obligations and needs. 
 


o Objective 5a – Control noxious weeds on property. 
 
§ Strategy – Infestations of noxious weeds will be eliminated (to the extent 


possible) annually. An integrated management approach to control 
noxious weeds will be used to the extent possible and specific control 
methods will be updated as new information becomes available. Ongoing 
management/control needs will be assessed annually and incorporated into 
Work Plans. 
 


· Methods - Herbicide application will be the primary method for 
control of noxious weeds. Biological controls will be considered 
but only used if deemed effective enough to result in effective 
control within three growing seasons. 
 


§ Area – Noxious weed control will be conducted on the entirety of the 
property. 


 
§ Timeline – Noxious weed control activities will be conducted annually. 


 
§ Costs – Annual costs will be identified in the annual Work Plans and are 


expected to be less than $1,000. 
 


§ Responsibilities – Program Staff are responsible for identifying 
infestations and planning/coordinating control efforts. Control activities 
will be carried out by contractors. The contractor will typically be the 
county weed authority. 


  
 


Ø Goal 6 – Minimize habitat impacts due to invasive vegetation. 
 


o Objective 6a – Eliminate existing and control future infestations of invasive 
vegetation not listed as noxious weeds. 
 
§ Strategy – Existing stands of invasive vegetation will be eliminated (to 


the extent possible) in phases. An integrated management approach to 
control will be used to the extent possible and specific control methods 
will be updated as new information becomes available. Ongoing 
management/control needs will be assessed annually and incorporated into 
Work Plans.  
 


· Methods – Elimination of existing infestations will be 
accomplished through a combination of herbicide application and 
mechanical removal. Control of certain species like eastern red 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


11 
 


cedar will not require herbicide while other species may need to be 
mechanically removed after herbicide application. Management of 
future infestations will be accomplished through a variety of 
integrated management methods including: herbicide application, 
prescribed fire, mechanical disturbance/removal and grazing.  
 


§ Area – Invasive vegetation will be controlled on the entire property.  
 


§ Timeline –Control efforts will begin after July 15, 2012 and 
maintenance/control efforts will continue annually.  


 
§ Costs – Annual costs will be identified in the annual Work Plans as 


needed and are expected to be less than $5,000. 
 


§ Responsibilities – Program staff will be responsible for identifying 
infestations. Control activities will be carried out by contractors.  


 


4. Land Asset Management 
 


Ø Goal 7 – Dispose of Excess Acres on eastern portion of the tract 
 


o Objective 7a – Dispose of part of the eastern portion of tract 2011001 identified as 
excess through practical means.  


 
§ Strategy – Options will be explored for the Program to divest of their 


interest in the identified parcel.  
 


· Methods –ED staff will explore practical options for divesting of 
the excess acres.  These options may include, but are not limited 
to, trade for additional Program land or fee title sale with or 
without conservation easement.  All transactions are subject to GC 
approval. 
 


§ Area – Portion of the tract identified as excess is displayed on Figure A-
10. 


 
§ Timeline – Divestment of identified excess area should occur by the end 


of 2014. 
 


§ Costs – Upfront costs may include a new appraisal, but overall divestment 
of the property will likely be a net income situation. 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff be responsible for acquiring appraisal, 


identifying options, and completing negotations. 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


12 
 


V. MONITORING AND RESEARCH 


A. Baseline Monitoring 
A variety of monitoring activities will be conducted on and around this property as part of the 
system-wide investigations conducted under the Integrated Monitoring and Research Plan 
(IMRP). Baseline monitoring efforts include: 


1. Land Cover Analysis 
· Objectives – Document pre-Program land cover conditions. Land cover analysis will be 


performed again near the end of the First Increment to document changes in land cover. 
· Hypotheses Links – S1, S1a 
· Timeline – Pre-Program completed in 2007. Next analysis in 2018. 
· Responsibilities – ED Office   


2. Channel LiDAR Project  
· Objectives – Document channel topography annually. 
· Hypotheses Links – S1, S1a, Flow1, Sediment1-4 
· Timeline – Baseline LiDAR collection completed in March of 2009. Collection to 


continue annually under leaf-off and low flow conditions.  
· Responsibilities – Collection and analysis by contractor under supervision of ED Office. 


3. Aerial Photography 
· Purpose – Document annual channel features and vegetation.  
· Hypotheses Links - TP 5, Sediment 3, WC3 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment per protocol.   
· Responsibilities – Data collection performed by contractors under supervision ED 


Office.  Analysis by ED Office. 


4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring 
· Purpose – System-wide analysis of changes/trends in geomorphology and in-channel 


vegetation over time. Correlate Program actions with changes/trends. Rotating panel 
point 30 is located near the center of the complex.  


· Hypotheses Links – Flow1-5, Sediment1-4 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment.   
· Responsibilities – Monitoring performed by contractors under supervision ED Office.   


5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring 
· Purpose - Document WC use, document LETE and PIPL use, nesting pairs, and fledging 


success. 
· Hypotheses Links – T1, P1, TP1-5, WC1 & 3 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment.   







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


13 
 


· Responsibilities – Monitoring performed by Program staff and/or contractors or 
cooperators under supervision Program staff.   


6. Species of Interest Surveys 
· Purpose - Document habitat for and use of Program properties by “species of concern” 


or other species of interest.  
· Hypotheses Links – S2 
· Timeline – Following acquisition and later, as appropriate, after restoration.    
· Responsibilities – Coordination by ED Office. Surveys by contractors or agency 


personnel. 
 


B. Research 
Research efforts to be conducted in full or part on this complex under the IMRP include: 


1. LETE and PIPL riverine habitat selection experiment (Goal 2, Objective 2a) 
· Purpose - Refine Program’s understanding of interior LETE, PIPL and WC riverine 


habitat needs and test associated AMP priority hypotheses for each species. 
· Hypotheses Links - S1b,T1, P1, TP4d, TP5, WC1, WC3 
· Timeline – Design and construction to begin in 2012 and be completed in spring 2013. 


Monitoring annually.    
· Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of Program staff (in 


conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) are responsible for design, 
permitting and monitoring. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid. 


2. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 1, Objectives 1a & 1b) 
· Purpose - Determine LETE and PIPL preference for and productivity on riverine versus 


OCSW nesting habitat. 
· Hypotheses Links - S1b, TP1 
· Timeline – Phase 1 complete in 2012, Phase 2 complete in 2013. Monitoring annually.    
· Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of Program staff (in 


conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) are responsible for design, 
permitting and monitoring. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid. 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


14 
 


VI. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE 


A. Section 7 Consultation 


1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover 
Habitat improvement activities occurring on river channel or sandpits between April 15 and 
August 15 will only be conducted in the absence of nesting least terns and piping plovers.  
Program Staff will insure that a survey for these species is conducted by qualified individuals 
(e.g. by Program staff, contractor, conservation owner) in the area that will be disturbed within 
three days prior to the initiation of activities.  
  
If least terns or piping plovers nest on the off-channel nesting complex, appropriate measures 
will be taken to control predation.  At a minimum, any land connection to the nesting area for 
maintenance will be protected by electrified predator fencing.  Other measures may be warranted 
and Service concurrence will be obtained before implementing additional measures. 
 


2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane 
For habitat restoration and land management activities in or within 0.25 miles of the Platte River 
channel occurring between March 23 and May 10, or October 1 and November 15, construction 
shall only take place from one hour following sunrise to two hours prior to sunset unless 
otherwise approved by the Service’s Coordinator of the Whooping Crane Migration Tracking 
Program.  Program staff will notify the Service when Program habitat restoration work will be 
conducted during the above dates from the Highway #283 and Interstate 80 intersection near 
Lexington, Nebraska downstream to Chapman, Nebraska.  
 
Construction or other work crews working in or within 0.25 miles of the channel during the 
above dates will check channel areas for the presence of whooping cranes prior to starting work 
each day, and report the presence of whooping cranes to Program staff.  When whooping cranes 
are discovered in the Platte River valley, either by the Program monitoring crew or the above 
required check by construction or work crews, or are known to be in the valley through other 
sources, including via notification from the Service’s Coordinator, Program staff will confer with 
the Service and will notify construction crews if it is necessary to temporarily halt construction 
activities.   
 
Construction work should be completed as quickly as possible.  Earth moving equipment will be 
moved from the river channel to an upland site located behind a tree line at the end of each work 
day if such features are available on the property.  In the instance that such features are 
unavailable, equipment should be moved to a position at least 0.25 miles away from the channel.  
 


3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon 
Land management activities will not result in incidental take of pallid sturgeon. 
 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


15 
 


B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species 
Conservation Act 


The Program will work with the USFWS and NGPC to identify potential impacts to state and 
federal species of concern and address them as part of this document.  Program actions to avoid 
or mitigate potential species impacts not addressed in other portions of Section VI are presented 
below. 


1. Raptors 
The Program will conduct raptor surveys for management activities that may affect active raptor 
nests during the period of February 1 through July 15th. If a nest is discovered, that tree will not 
be removed. 


2. Northern River Otter 
The Program will conduct natal den surveys when performing restoration or management actions 
during the period of February 15 to June 15 that may impact river channel or slough banks where 
natal dens may be present. If natal dens are discovered, the Program will coordinate with the 
NGPC to design appropriate buffers. 


3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid 
Projects that will result in the disturbance of native prairies or wet meadows will be surveyed for 
the presence of Western Prairie Fringed Orchid during the flowering period of June 15 through 
July 7th.  If this species is present, activities will be modified to prevent destruction of existing 
plants. 


4. Platte River Caddis Fly 
No signs of Platte River caddisfly were noted during an October 2011 survey performed by 
contracted personnel from University of Nebraska–Kearney (UNK).  Further surveys to 
document the presence of Platte River caddisfly, as well as density and distribution if present on 
the property, will be conducted during spring 2012. 


5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance 
Surveys for Northern Cordgrass Wet Prairie, Northern Sedge Wet Meadow, and Wet Mesic 
Tallgrass Prairie will be conducted on all Program properties during the soonest recommended 
period after acquisition.  If occurrences are found, the Program will coordinate with the USFWS 
and NGPC to determine appropriate methods to avoid or mitigate negative impacts from 
Program management actions.  Additionally, the Program will investigate opportunities to re-
establish these communities if suitable locations are present. 


6. Regal Fritillary 
The Program will coordinate with the USFWS and NGPC to investigate opportunities to 
establish native violet species (Viola spp.) in native grasslands or grassland restorations to 
provide a host species for the regal fritillary and promote its conservation. 
 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


16 
 


C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act  
Land management that involves burning, cutting or mechanical removal of vegetation (with the 
exception of restoration activities on ground that was previously in agricultural crops) will not 
occur between April 15 and July 15 without first doing surveys to insure that no occupied 
migratory bird nest will be destroyed.  
 


D. Bald Eagle Act 
Eagle nests, if established, will not be disturbed and a 330 foot buffer (no access) or 660 foot 
buffer (non mechanical equipment access area) will be maintained during the bald eagle breeding 
season (March – July).  Known eagle roost trees and trees within 330 feet of a known eagle nest 
will not be removed.  Tree removal within the 660 foot buffer and outside the 330 foot buffer 
will not occur during the bald eagle breeding season. 
 


E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska 
Department of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification 


Prior to commencement of construction work to be accomplished in wetlands or waters of the 
United States, including dredging or placement of fill material, the Program will obtain a 404 
permit and 401 water quality certification. Work in wetlands or waters of the State that are not 
jurisdictional under the Federal Clean Water Act will still need to comply with the Nebraska 
Department of Environmental Quality’s Title 117. 
 


F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge 
Permit 


All construction work that will disturb an area exceeding 1 acre in size will be required to meet 
the requirements of the Environmental Protection Agency NPDES Construction General Permit. 
This permit includes the development of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan.  The Program 
will submit a Notice of Intent a minimum of seven days before commencement of construction 
activities. 
 


G. County Floodplain Development Permit 
All fill placed within the 100-year floodplain will require a floodplain development permit from 
the county where the work is undertaken. In order to obtain a permit, a project must have No-
Rise certification meaning that it will raise the 100-Year Base Flood Elevation (BFE) by less 
than one foot. 
 


H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance 
The legal description of Tract 2011001 will be provided to the State Historic Preservation Office 
(SHPO) to facilitate the early identification of potential cultural resources related issues. If 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


17 
 


Program actions uncover potential artifacts or human remains, work will cease until such time 
that the Program can consult with SHPO to determine the appropriate course of action. 


I. Good Neighbor Policy 
The Program will comply with local, state, and federal laws, and to the extent permitted by such 
laws will be responsible for its actions to the same extent as a private individual under like 
circumstances. 


  







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


18 
 


VII. PUBLIC ACCESS 


A. Education 
Public access for education, including non-Program research, will be allowed on a case-by-case 
basis as long as it is compatible with target species usage and does not negatively impact species 
habitat. Program Staff will be responsible for evaluating requests and granting access permission.  


B. Recreation 
There will be no recreation on either the East or West portion of this property. The East portion 
will be an off channel tern and plover site which is not conducive to public access. The West 
portion has a ten acre in-holding and an agreement with the prior owner to retain waterfowl 
hunting over the southwest portion of our West property. These restrictions do not allow for 
mixing public access and private retained rights. If the in-holding and the remaining waterfowl 
hunting rights are acquired, these restrictions can be revisited. 
 
 







PRRIP  06/13/12 
 


 
 


APPENDIX A – FIGURES 







TRACT 2011001
BOUNDARY MAP


Date: 01/09/12
By: JDB


Figure A-1


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


0.25
Miles


±
Legend


2011001


Tract 2011001
Approx. 227 Ac.







TRACT 2011001
LOCATION MAP


Date: 01/10/12
By: JDB


Figure A-2
1


Miles
±


Legend
2011001
County


Audubon
CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery
Adams County


Buffalo County


Interstate 80


Wood River Exit


Tract 2011001


Hall County


Shelton Exit







TRACT 2011001
2005 LAND COVER/USE


Date: 01/04/12
By: JDB


Figure A-3


±
Legend


2011001
Ag
Bareground/Sparse Veg
Canal/Drainage
Meadow Sand Ridge
Mesic Wet Meadow
Phragmites
Riparian Shrubland
Riparian Woodland
River Channel


River Early Successional
River Shrubland
Roads
Rural Developed
Sand Pit
Unvegetated Sandbar
Upland Woodland
Warmwater Slough
Xeric Wet Meadow


0.25
Miles


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery







R2UBF


PFOA


PSS/FOA


PSS/FOA


PFOA


PFOA
R2UBF


PFOA


PFOA


PSSC


PSS/USC


PFOA


PSSC


PFOA


PSS/USC


PSS/USC


PSSC


PSSC


R2UBF


PFOA


PSS/FOA


PFOA


R2UBF


PFOA


PFOA
PFOA


L2UBFX


PSSC
PSS/USC


PSS/USC


PEMC
PEMC


PSS/FOA


PEMC


PSS/USC


PSSC


PSS/USC


L2UBFX


PFOA


PSSC
PSSC


PSS/USC


PFOA


PSS/USC


PEMA


PUS/EMC


PSSC


PSS/USC


PEMC


PSS/USC


PABFH


PFOA


PEM/USC


PSSC


L1UBHX


PFOA


PSS/FOA


PSS/USC


L1UBHX


PSSC


PSS/USC


L1UBHX


PUS/EMC
R2USC


L1UBHX


L1UBHX


PSS/USC


L1UBHX


PSS/USC


PSS/USC


L1UBHX


PUBFX


PFOA


PEMC


PUBFX


PUBFX


PSS/USC


PUBFX


PSS/USC


L1UBHX


PEMC


PEMC


PSS/USC


PUBFX
PUBFX


PEMC


TRACT 2011001
NWI MAP


Date: 01/10/12
By: JDB


Figure A-4


±
Legend


2011001
Lacustrine Unconsolidated Bottom (LUB)
Palustrine Aquatic Bed (PAB)
Palustrine Emergent (PE)
Palustrine Forested (PF)
Palustrine Scrub-Shrub (PSS)
Palustrine Unconsolidated Bottom Excavated (PUBx)
Palustrine Unconsolidated Shore
Riverine Unconsolidated Bottom (RUB)
Riverine Unconsolidated Shore (RUS)
Riverine Streambed (RS) 0.25


Miles


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery







TRACT 2011001
1938 IMAGERY


Date: 01/10/12
By: JDB


Figure A-5


±
Legend


2011001


0.25
Miles







TRACT 2011001
1998 CIR IMAGERY


Date: 01/10/12
By: JDB


Figure A-6


±
Legend


2011001


0.25
Miles







TRACT 2011001
2011 CIR IMAGERY


Date: 01/10/12
By: JDB


Figure A-7


±
Legend


2011001


0.25
Miles







TRACT 2011001
OCSW Activities


Date: 03/01/12
By: JDB


Figure A-8


±
Legend


2011001
Phase 1 Excavation
Phase 1 Peninsula
Phase 2 Clear/Smooth
Phase 2 Excavation
Phase 2 Tree Clearing


0.1
Miles







TRACT 2011001
Riverine Activities


Date: 03/01/12
By: JDB


Figure A-9


±
Legend


2011001
Tree Clearing
Island Clearing


0.25
Miles







TRACT 2011001
Excess Land


Date: 03/01/12
By: JDB


Figure A-10


±
Legend


2011001
Excess Area
Retained by PRRIP


0.2
Miles


To be excessed.
55 acres, approx.


To be retained by PRRIP.
62 acres, approx.





		Tract 2011001 Restoration and Maintenance Plan

		I. Property Description and background

		A. Purpose 

		B. Tract Location and Size

		C. Land Interest

		D. Communication and Coordination



		II. RESPONSIBILITIES

		A. Management Responsibilities

		1. Planning

		2. Implementation of Management Activities

		3. Enforcement



		B. Budget and Invoicing

		C. Plan Authorization and Modifications



		III. EXISTING HABITATS 

		A. Complex and Non-Complex Habitat

		1. Associated Complex Habitat

		2. Non-Complex Habitat Acres

		3. Excess Acres



		B. Land Cover

		C. Existing Land Features of Interest

		1. Non-Riverine Surface Water

		2. River Frontage and Active Channel Widths

		3. Contiguous Sand Substrates

		4. Island and Channel Bank Height

		5. Groundwater

		6. Flooding in Non-Wetland Areas

		7. Power/Transmission Lines



		D. Incompatible Uses and Environmental Concerns

		E. Certified Irrigated Acres



		IV. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE

		A. Goals and Objectives

		1. Species Habitat 

		2. Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives

		3. Property Maintenance 

		4. Land Asset Management





		V. MONITORING AND RESEARCH

		A. Baseline Monitoring

		1. Land Cover Analysis

		2. Channel LiDAR Project 

		3. Aerial Photography

		4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring

		5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring

		6. Species of Interest Surveys



		B. Research

		1. LETE and PIPL riverine habitat selection experiment (Goal 2, Objective 2a)

		2. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 1, Objectives 1a & 1b)





		VI. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE

		A. Section 7 Consultation

		1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover

		2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane

		3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon



		B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species Conservation Act

		1. Raptors

		2. Northern River Otter

		3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid

		4. Platte River Caddis Fly

		5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance

		6. Regal Fritillary



		C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act 

		D. Bald Eagle Act

		E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification

		F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge Permit

		G. County Floodplain Development Permit

		H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance

		I. Good Neighbor Policy



		VII. PUBLIC ACCESS

		A. Education

		B. Recreation



		APPENDIX A – FIGURES



		2011001 Management Plan Figures A-1-A-10

		2011001 Figure A-1

		2011001 Figure A-2

		2011001 Figure A-3

		2011001 Figure A-4

		2011001 Figure A-5

		2011001 Figure A-6

		2011001 Figure A-7

		2011001 Figure A-8

		2011001 Figure A-9

		2011001 Figure A-10








PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 
 


 
 


2012-2017 CONCEPTUAL RESTORATION AND MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 


For  
 


SHOEMAKER ISLAND COMPLEX 
 


 
 


 
Prepared for: 


 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program  


Land Advisory Committee 
 
 


Completion Date: 
 


06/13/2012 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 
 


Table of Contents 
 
I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ......................................................................................................... 1 
II. HABITAT COMPLEX DESCRIPTION ................................................................................... 4 


A. Complex Location .................................................................................................................. 4 
B. Land Interests ......................................................................................................................... 4 
C. Existing Habitat ...................................................................................................................... 4 


1. Complex Habitat .................................................................................................................. 4 
2. Adjacent or Associated Non-Complex Habitat ................................................................... 5 


D. Communication, Coordination, and Responsibilities ............................................................. 5 
1. Program Lands ..................................................................................................................... 5 
2. Other Conservation Lands ................................................................................................... 6 
3. Private Lands ....................................................................................................................... 6 


III. GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY ....................................... 7 
A. Complex-Level Goals and Objectives .................................................................................... 7 


1. General Goals and Objectives ............................................................................................. 7 
2. Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives ..................................................................... 8 
3. Species Habitat Goals and Objectives ............................................................................... 12 
4. Operations and Maintenance Goals and Objectives .......................................................... 16 


IV. MONITORING AND RESEARCH ....................................................................................... 17 
A. Baseline Monitoring ............................................................................................................. 17 


1. Land Cover Analysis ......................................................................................................... 17 
2. Channel LiDAR Project ..................................................................................................... 17 
3. Aerial Photography ............................................................................................................ 17 
4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring ................................................. 17 
5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring ............................................ 17 
6. Species of Interest Surveys ................................................................................................ 18 


B. Research................................................................................................................................ 18 
1. LETE and PIPL riverine habitat selection experiment (Goal 2, Objective 2a) ................. 18 
2. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 3, Objective 3a) .................... 18 
3. FSM experiment (Goal 4, Objective 4a) ........................................................................... 18 


V. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE .................................... 19 
A. Section 7 Consultation.......................................................................................................... 19 


1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover ..................... 19 
2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane......................................... 19 
3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon ........................................... 19 


B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species 
Conservation Act ....................................................................................................................... 20 


1. Raptors ............................................................................................................................... 20 
2. Northern River Otter .......................................................................................................... 20 
3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid ......................................................................................... 20 
4. Platte River Caddisfly ........................................................................................................ 20 
5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance ..................................................... 20 
6. Regal Fritillary ................................................................................................................... 20 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 
 


C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act .................................................................................................... 21 
D. Bald Eagle Act...................................................................................................................... 21 
E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska Department 
of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification ......................................... 21 
F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge 
Permit ........................................................................................................................................ 21 
G. County Floodplain Development Permit .............................................................................. 21 
H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance ....................................................................... 21 
I. Good Neighbor Policy ........................................................................................................... 22 


 
 
APPENDIX A – COMPLEX FIGURES 
 
APPENDIX B – TRACT OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PLANS 
 
APPENDIX C – COMPLEX ANNUAL WORK PLANS







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


1 
 


I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The term “Complex” as referenced in this document refers to a group of land tracts in close 
proximity that are managed together to provide habitat for the Platte River Recovery 
Implementation Program’s (Program) target species. The Shoemaker Island Complex is located 
in the Wood River to Alda bridge segment and so far includes a 1,524 acre property purchased 
by the Program in December of 2010. The property includes approximately 900 acres of wet 
meadow and 2.5 linear miles of main channel habitat. Future land acquisitions will focus on 
execution of management agreements with south-bank landowners to facilitate in-channel 
management, research, and monitoring. Fee title acquisition to be considered where offered. 
 
The Shoemaker Island Complex affords an excellent opportunity to restore and maintain high-
quality target species riverine and wet meadow habitat.  It also affords an opportunity to reduce 
uncertainties about physical process relationships and target species habitat selection and 
productivity through implementation of research, monitoring and Program land-scale adaptive 
management experiments. All of the Complex goals and objectives presented in this plan are 
intended to provide progress towards, or reduce uncertainties associated with, achieving relevant 
overall Program goals, objectives and management objectives, which have been reproduced 
below.  
 


1. Program Goals 
a. Improve and maintain migration habitat for whooping cranes and reproductive 


habitat for least terns and piping plovers 
b. Reduce the likelihood of future listings of other species found in the area 


2. Program Objectives 
a. Protecting, restoring where appropriate, and maintaining 10,000 acres of habitat in 


the central Platte River area between Lexington and Chapman, Nebraska 
3. Management Objectives 


a. Improve production of least terns and piping plovers from the central Platte River. 
i. Increase number of fledged tern and plover chicks 


1. Increase nesting pairs 
2. Increase fledge ratios and reduce chick mortality from causes such 


as flooding, predation, weather, inadequate forage 
ii. Reduce adult mortality 


b. Improve survival of whooping cranes during migration1 
i. Increase availability of whooping crane migration habitat along the central 


Platte River 
c. Within the overall objectives 3.a & 3.b, provide benefits to non-target listed species 


and non-listed species of concern and reduce the likelihood of future listing 
i. Increase availability of habitats for these species (Land Plan “other species of 


concern”) along the central Platte River 
                                                 
1 The Governance Committee has asked the TAC to consider modifying this objective, and the ISAC has been 
supportive of modification.  The GC has not yet acted on a modification, but if such action is taken this objective 
will be updated without need for review or re-approval of the management plan. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


2 
 


Table 1 provides a summary of the specific Program goals and objectives for the Shoemaker 
Island Complex. These items reflect the current Program priority of restoring and maintaining 
target species habitat in a way that is useful in reducing fundamental uncertainties in physical 
process relationships and target species use and productivity. Additional detail is provided for 
each goal and objective in Section III.A of this plan.  
 
Table 1 – Shoemaker Island Complex Goals and Objectives 
 


Goals and Objectives 


Associated 
Priority 


Hypotheses 
Estimated 


Cost 
Goal 1 - Obtain sufficient First-Increment Program land interest in Complex 
  Objective 1a – Execute management agreements in main 
channel N/A $0* 


Goal 2 - Refine  understanding of target bird species riverine habitat requirements   
  Objective 2a – Implement tern and plover riverine habitat 
selection experiment 


S1b,T1, P1, 
TP4d, TP5 $100,000 


Goal 3 – Refine understanding of interaction between tern and plover riverine and 
adjacent non-complex off-channel sand and water (OCSW) nesting habitat. 
  Objective 3a – Maintain and monitor species use and 
productivity on both in-channel and OCSW nesting habitat S1b, T1, P1, TP1 $0** 


Goal 4 – Evaluate the effects of the flow-sediment-mechanical (FSM) management 
strategy on physical processes and channel characteristics. 
  Objective 4a – Implement FSM “Proof of  Concept” 
experiment 


Flow1, Flow3, 
Flow4, Flow5 $200,000 


Goal 5 – Improve sand and water habitat for terns, plovers and whooping cranes.  
  Objective 5a – Create and maintain riverine habitat that 
attempts to conform to Land Plan table 1 habitat criteria 
(will be accomplished via Goal 2 & 3 actions) 


N/A N/A 


Goal 6 – Improve wet meadow/grassland habitat for whooping cranes and other species of 
concern. 
  Objective 6a - Create and maintain wet meadow/grassland 
that conforms to Program habitat criteria N/A $80,000 


  Objective 6b - Improve hydrology in wet meadow areas 
north of Shoemaker Island Road N/A $30,000 


  Objective 6c – Manage grasslands to provide areas of short 
stature vegetation during WC migration N/A 


$15-25/ac cost 
$39,000/yr 


income 
  Objective 6d – Monitor wet meadow hydrology and 
vegetation species composition N/A TBD 


Goal 7 – Provide benefits to other species of concern without compromising ability to 
accomplish target species goals and objectives  
  Objective 7a – Monitor existing Platte River Caddisfly 
population*** N/A N/A 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


3 
 


  Objective 7b – Improve habitat for sandhill cranes. N/A N/A 
Goal 8 – Conduct all activities in adherence with the Program’s Good Neighbor 
Policy. 
  Objective 8a – Emphasize the prevention, as opposed to 
the correction of actions that cause adverse effects N/A N/A 


  Objective 8b – Quickly identify any problems and ensure 
needed corrective actions can be taken in a timely manner N/A N/A 


  Objective 8c – Provide means to cover documented damage 
claims resulting from the actions of the Program  N/A N/A 


  Objective 8d – Demonstrate good land stewardship by 
managing Program lands in accordance with sound wildlife 
management and agricultural practices 


N/A N/A 


 *Compensation in form of Program management actions which also benefit landowner. 
 **Costs for this task are covered as part of the Program’s system-wide annual tern and plover 
monitoring contract 
***Monitoring PRCF on all Program properties performed by UNK student under IMRP budget 
line 
 
A variety of monitoring activities will be conducted in the Complex area (and at nearby non-
complex areas) as part of the system-wide investigations conducted under the Program’s 
Integrated Monitoring and Research Plan (IMRP). These efforts, which are absolutely critical to 
facilitate learning through implementation of management actions, include: 
 


· Land Cover Analysis 
· LiDAR Collection  
· Aerial Photography Acquisition 
· In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring  
· Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring  
· Water quality monitoring 
· Species of Interest Surveys 


 
Further details on IMRP activities are provided in Section IV of this plan. 
 
When implementing management, research, and monitoring activities, the Program must comply 
with a variety of environmental laws, permit requirements and compliance activities. These 
requirements are presented in Section V and will be incorporated into the development/design 
and approval process for all activities contemplated in this plan.  
 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


4 
 


II. HABITAT COMPLEX DESCRIPTION 


A. Complex Location 
The Shoemaker Island Complex (Complex) is located in the Wood River to Alda bridge segment 
in Township 9 North, Range 11 West. The entire Complex is located in Hall County.   Figure A-
1 (located in Appendix A) provides an overview of the conceptual complex layout including 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) property interests and proximity to 
other lands owned and leased by Program participants.   


B. Land Interests 
The Program owns one tract totaling approximately 1,524 acres within the Complex extent 
shown on Figure A-1.  The Platte River Whooping Crane Maintenance Trust (PRWCT), The 
Nature Conservancy (TNC), and Nebraska Game and Parks Commission (NGPC) collectively 
own or lease an additional 2,518 acres in the general proximity. At this time, none of those 
properties are to be managed as part of the Program’s Shoemaker Island Complex. If necessary, 
the Program may approach these entities (as with other neighboring landowners) for 
management agreements for in-channel activities. 


C. Existing Habitat 


1. Complex Habitat 
Table 2 provides the characteristics of Shoemaker Island Complex lands based on Table 1. 
Target Habitat Complex Guidelines, of the Program’s Land Plan.  The characteristics in Table 2 
below are based on existing land cover/use and may change as land classification definitions are 
refined and as restoration work is completed.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


5 
 


Table 2 – Shoemaker Island Complex Habitat Characteristics for Land in Conservation 
Ownership 
 


Classification Characteristics 
Program Ownership Approximately 1,524 acres 


  
Other Conservation 
Ownership 


Approximately 2,518 acres.  Approximately 250 acres of in-
channel area could be pursued for management agreements 
adjacent to Program ownership. 


  
Riverine Habitat   
   Channel Length 2.5 miles 
   Channel Width 600 – 1400 Feet (main channel) 
   Channel Ownership 100% (one bank only)  Approx. 240 acres 
  
Wet Meadow Habitat  
    Proximity  Contiguous to active channel 
    Size Approximately 900 acres 
  
Buffer  
   Size Approximately 130 acres 
   Land Use/Cover Woodland  


2. Adjacent or Associated Non-Complex Habitat 
No non-complex palustrine wetland habitat is associated with this complex. Two adjacent non-
complex off-channel sand and water (OCSW) habitat areas are associated with this complex for 
the purpose of evaluating the interaction between in-channel and off-channel tern and plover 
nesting habitats. The first is a newly constructed 22-acre OCSW site on Tract 2011001. This site 
is located 0.5 miles from the main channel approximately 1.5 miles west of the Shoemaker 
Island Complex. The second is Tract 2011002, a newly acquired 37-acre active sand mining 
operation. This property is located 1.5 miles from the main channel approximately 2 miles east 
of the Shoemaker Island Complex. It currently has little suitable OCSW nesting habitat but will 
be developed into habitat over the next several years.  


D. Communication, Coordination, and Responsibilities 


1. Program Lands  
The Executive Director’s Office (ED Office) is responsible for coordination and implementation 
of restoration and management actions on Program lands. Tract-specific habitat and adaptive 
management objectives and activities are incorporated into this Complex Restoration and 
Management Plan.  Land steward activities are presented in the tract Operations and 
Maintenance Plans located in Appendix B.    







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


6 
 


2. Other Conservation Lands 
The ED Office is responsible for communication and coordination with other conservation land 
owners. All interactions with property owners will be governed by the Program’s Good Neighbor 
Policy. If the Program wishes to implement specific management actions on conservation lands, 
the ED Office will work to develop a management agreement with the conservation owner. The 
agreement will include the actions to be taken, timeframe, responsibilities and other pertinent 
information.  Approximately 250 acres of in-channel property under other conservation 
ownership may be considered for management agreements. 


3. Private Lands 
The ED Office is responsible for communication and coordination with private land owners. All 
interactions with property owners will be governed by the Program’s Good Neighbor Policy. If 
the Program wishes to implement specific management actions on private lands and does not 
desire (or is not able) to negotiate an easement, lease, or purchase, the ED Office will work to 
develop a management agreement with the land owner. The agreement will include the actions to 
be taken, timeframe, responsibilities and other pertinent information.      







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


7 
 


III. GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY 
The following goals and objectives will function as the benchmark for evaluation of ongoing 
land-related actions at the Shoemaker Island Complex.  Planning of Program actions to address 
goals and objectives is done primarily at the complex level; however, because of differences in 
ownership and the types of management agreements, implementation will take place at the tract 
level. This section addresses complex-level actions and the tracts on which they will be 
implemented. While each objective is not repeated in the individual tract Operations and 
Maintenance Plans, it is intended that all objectives, actions, and evaluation will take place on 
identified individual tracts as soon as the Program assumes control – even if the Complex plan as 
a whole cannot be implemented.   
 
This section also provides the strategies and methods for achieving the complex-level goals and 
objectives along with work areas and preliminary timelines and estimates of cost. Complex and 
tract-level implementation activities will be integrated into annual Complex Work Plans that will 
be reviewed by the LAC, TAC and approved by the GC. Work Plans will be appended to this 
Complex Plan annually in Appendix C. 


A. Complex-Level Goals and Objectives 


1. General Goals and Objectives 
 
Ø Goal 1 – Obtain sufficient First-Increment Program land interest in Complex to be 


able to carry out activities to meet the remaining complex-level goals and objectives. 
 


o Objective 1a – Execute management agreements (or other acquisition options) 
with conservation and private landowners as necessary to allow the Program to 
implement necessary restoration, construction, maintenance and 
research/monitoring activities. 


 
§ Strategy – Identify needed scope and extent of acquisition based on 


conceptual design of restoration and research actions. Approach 
landowners with conceptual designs and gauge receptiveness. Proceed to 
final design and agreement negotiation/execution if landowner is 
receptive.  Section C.2. on page 8 of the Program Land Plan provides 
baseline requirements for the content of these agreements.  If landowners 
are not receptive, work will be planned and attempted within the bounds 
of Program ownership.  If available, Program may pursue fee title or 
easement acquisition of necessary tracts. 


 
§ Area – Management agreements (or other acquisition options) will be 


executed on the riverine portion of the Complex not under Program 
control.  
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


8 
 


§ Timeline – Riverine management agreements executed by August 2012.  
Other acquisition methods pursued as available. 


 
§ Costs – Program staff time. Agreement compensation is intended to be in 


the form of management/maintenance activities as opposed to direct 
compensation.  If direct compensation is necessary, the Program will 
alternatively pursue lease or easement arrangements with the landowner. 


 
§ Responsibilities – The Program’s Land Specialist will be responsible for 


initiating coordination with landowners and drafting and execution of 
management agreements. Conceptual management actions and areas to be 
included in the agreements are presented this Complex plan. 


 


2. Adaptive Management Goals and Objectives 
This section contains objectives related to the experimental design of implementation of the 
Program’s Adaptive Management Plan and experiments to be conducted through that plan.  The 
following summarizes major adaptive management experimental design components that may be 
conducted completely or in part within this complex: 


 
1. Bird Response  


a. The objective of this experiment is to reduce uncertainty around key factors that 
influence habitat selection, nest success, and survival for the target species, 
including (but not limited to): island size, island elevation above water, and 
unobstructed view distances.  


 
2. “Paired Design” – River nesting vs. OCSW nesting 


a. The objective of this experiment is to determine differences in nest success and 
productivity, as well as species selection and use, between river nesting and 
OCSW nesting of the target species by offering both types of available habitats in 
close proximity.  


 
3. Flow-Sediment-Mechanical (FSM) “Proof of Concept.” 


a. The objective of this experiment is to assess the ability of Program flow, 
sediment, and mechanical management to create and/or maintain least tern and 
piping plover nesting habitat and whooping crane roosting habitat, as well as 
maintain wide, mobile, braided river channel area.  
 


4. Conservation Monitoring and Directed Research 
a. System-wide Program conservation monitoring protocols (tern and plover, 


whooping crane, geomorphology/in-channel vegetation, water quality) and 
directed research projects (tern and plover foraging habits study, vegetation scour 
research) may occur at this complex based on monitoring and research priorities 
and schedules. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


9 
 


Ø Goal 2 – Utilize Complex to refine Program’s understanding of interior least tern 
(LETE) and piping plover (PIPL) riverine habitat requirements.   


 
o Objective 2a – Test Program System, LETE and PIPL hypotheses related to 


amount and physical characteristics of riverine nesting habitat and its relationship 
to LETE and PIPL occurrence, use and productivity by providing bare sand 
substrate at a range of sizes and heights. (Priority hypotheses S1b,T1, P1, TP4d, 
TP5) 
 
§ Strategy – Design and implement LETE and PIPL riverine habitat 


selection experiment. The experiment will include design, construction 
and maintenance of in-channel nesting islands with two ranges of sizes 
(small/large) and heights (low/high) in the channel as well as target tree 
clearing to increase distance to visual obstructions and predator roost 
habitat. Experimental and engineering design to be developed by Program 
staff and contractors under the guidance of the TAC, AMWG, and GC.  
Final experimental design documents will be attached to this management 
plan when completed.  LETE and PIPL presence, use, and productivity 
will be monitored per the Program’s annual system-wide LETE and PIPL 
monitoring protocol. Annual monitoring data will be used to address 
priority hypotheses.  
 


· Methods – Construction and maintenance of nesting islands will 
be accomplished using methods from Habitat Management 
Methods for Least Terns, Piping Plovers, and Whooping Cranes 
including use of heavy equipment for construction and annual 
application of pre-emergent herbicide and mechanical removal for 
vegetation control. Monitoring methods are presented in the 
Program’s LETE and PIPL monitoring protocol. 


 
§ Area – Construction of riverine LETE and PIPL habitat will occur on 


Program Tract 2010004. The extents of various activities are presented on 
Figure A-2. 
 


§ Timeline – Design and permitting will be accomplished in the summer 
and fall of 2012. Construction will occur during the winter of 2012/2013. 
Monitoring and maintenance will occur annually until at least 2016, at 
which time this Complex plan will be revisited. 


 
§ Costs – A detailed cost estimate for all riverine activities will be 


developed in the fall of 2012 as part of the experimental design. 
Construction costs are expected to be on the order of $100,000. Annual 
maintenance costs are expected to be on the order of $10,000. 


 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


10 
 


§ Responsibilities –Program staff or contractors under the supervision of 
Program staff (in conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) 
are responsible for design, permitting and monitoring. Construction and 
maintenance activities will be bid. 


 
 


Ø Goal 3 – Refine Program’s understanding of interaction between LETE and PIPL 
riverine and off-channel sand and water (OCSW) nesting habitat.  


 
o Objective 3a – Test Program System, LETE and PIPL hypotheses related to bird 


response to habitat development, habitat preference for and productivity on 
riverine versus OCSW nesting habitat. (Priority hypotheses S1b, T1, P1, TP1) 
 
§ Strategy – Monitor LETE and PIPL use and productivity on Program 


riverine habitat and adjacent non-complex OCSW nesting habitat on 
Program Tracts 2011001 and 2011002. Occurrence, use and productivity 
will be monitored per the Program’s LETE and PIPL monitoring protocol. 


 
· Methods – Riverine habitat creation and maintenance methods are 


presented under Objective 2a. Non-complex habitat creation and 
maintenance methods are presented in the operations and 
maintenance plans for those tracts. Monitoring methods are 
presented in the Program’s LETE and PIPL monitoring protocol. 
 


§ Area – See Objective 2a for location of mechanically created islands.  The 
location of the OCSW area on 2011001 is shown on Figure A-2. The 
locations of 2011001 and 2011002 can be seen on Figure A-1. 
 


§ Timeline – Construction of OCSW habitat on 2011001 is to be completed 
in spring 2012.  2011002 is an active sand pit, and habitat creation will be 
ongoing.  See objective 2a for riverine habitat construction. Maintenance 
and monitoring will occur annually.  


 
§ Cost – OCSW construction costs are described in management plans for 


those non-complex tracts.  Riverine habitat construction is covered in 
objective 2a of this plan. 


 
§ Responsibilities –Program staff or contractors under the supervision of 


Program staff are responsible for monitoring. 
 
 
 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


11 
 


Ø Goal 4 – Evaluate the effects of the flow-sediment-mechanical (FSM) management 
strategy on physical processes and channel characteristics. 


 
o Objective 4a – Evaluate ability of FSM management strategy to produce and/or 


maintain habitat that approximates Land Plan table 1 criteria for least terns, piping 
plovers, and whooping cranes. (Priority hypotheses Flow1, Flow3, Flow4, Flow5) 
 
§ Strategy – Implement an FSM proof-of-concept (POC) experiment 


utilizing the implementation design developed for the Elm Creek Complex 
as a template. Experiment components will include 2-D hydraulic and 
sediment transport modeling, mechanical removal of in-channel 
vegetation, and monitoring of geomorphic and vegetation response to 
Program and natural flow events.    
 


· Methods – Vegetation will be removed using methods from 
Habitat Management Methods for Least Terns, Piping Plovers, 
and Whooping Cranes including use of heavy equipment for 
channel clearing and leveling (as dictated by experimental and 
engineering design). Implementation design document, monitoring 
protocol(s), and data analysis will be developed using the ongoing 
FSM POC experiment at the Elm Creek Complex as a template.   


 
§ Area – Reach extending downstream from the west property boundary of 


Tract 2010004 to the east property boundary of the same tract.   
 


§ Timeline – Modeling and development of the implementation design will 
be initiated in the summer of 2012. Vegetation clearing will occur during 
the winter of 2012. The implementation design will define milestones 
and/or deadlines to assess success or failure, or requirements for further 
vegetation control efforts within the duration of the experiment. 


 
§ Cost – Modeling, development of the implementation design, and 


monitoring are expected to cost on the order of $200,000 annually during 
the duration of the project. Annual vegetation removal costs will vary 
depending on the ability of flow to scour vegetation. If in-channel 
vegetation removal becomes necessary, annual costs are expected to be on 
the order of $15,000. Other costs not accounted for within the 
management plan include costs associated with flow releases and sediment 
augmentation activities. 


 
§ Responsibilities - Program staff or contractors under the supervision of 


Program staff (in conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) 
are responsible for design, permitting and monitoring. Construction and 
maintenance activities will be bid. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


12 
 


3. Species Habitat Goals and Objectives 
 
Ø Goal 5 – Improve sand and water habitat for LETE, PIPL and WC. 


 
o Objective 5a – Create and maintain a complex with riverine target bird species 


habitat that approximates Table 1. Target Habitat Complex Guidelines of the 
Program Land Plan, to the extent possible. 
 
§ Strategy – Development and maintenance of sand and water LETE, PIPL 


and WC habitat will be accomplished as part of design and 
implementation of the experiments presented under Goals 2 and 3. 
Methods, area, timeline, costs and responsibilities can be found in the 
same location. 
 


 
Ø Goal 6 – Improve wet meadow/grassland habitat for WC and other species of concern. 


 
o Objective 6a – Create and maintain wet meadow/grassland that conforms (to the 


extent appropriate) to Table 1. Target Habitat Complex Guidelines, of the Land 
Plan and/or other criteria that will be developed by the Wet Meadow Working 
Group, a subgroup of the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC).   


 
§ Strategy – Clear woody vegetation from wet meadow areas and convert 


cropland area to grassland using a local-ecotype seed mix that incorporates 
mesic wet meadow species.   


 
§ Area – All Program wet meadow/grassland and cropland areas within 


complex.  Areas are identified on Figure A-3. 
 


§ Timeline – Woody vegetation removal to take place in 2012. Native 
prairie grass seeding of alfalfa field to commence in fall 2012 or spring 
2013. 


 
§ Cost – Woody vegetation removal costs on the order of $70,000.  Seeding 


for cropland area will cost approximately $10,000.   
 


§ Responsibilities – Design and oversight by Program staff.  Construction 
activities will be bid.   
 


o Objective 6b – Improve hydrology in wet meadow areas north of Shoemaker 
Island Road.  


 
§ Strategy – Clean out road ditches, reroute water in road ditch across wet 


meadow area, remove small berm in wet meadow area north of road.  







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


13 
 


 
§ Area – Along and north of Shoemaker Island Road on tract 2010004. 


 
§ Timeline – Ditch cleanup to be completed in spring 2012.  Alternatives 


for water routing to be investigated in 2012.  Construction to commence in 
2013. 


 
§ Cost – Costs to be developed once specific activities are identified, but are 


expected to be on the order of $30,000. 
 


§ Responsibilities - Conceptual design and costs to be developed by 
Program staff.   Construction activities will be bid.  Program staff will 
initiate coordination with county road department for activities affecting 
the roadway and ditches. 


 
 


o Objective 6c – Manage wet meadow area to provide a diversity of vegetative 
structure with wet meadow area maintained in short stature during each spring 
and fall whooping crane migration.  
 
§ Strategy – Use a combination of livestock grazing, rest, haying, mowing, 


and prescribed fire to provide a diverse mixture of vegetative structure and 
species composition as of March 1 in all years. Timely haying and 
moderately grazed pastures will result in large areas of short stature 
vegetation for crane use. 


 
· Methods – Grazing in combination with haying and prescribed fire 


will be used to manage existing grasslands. Grazing will typically 
be for a 5 month grazing period (May-October) each year at a 
moderate stocking rate. Typical stocking rate will be one animal 
unit (one cow/calf pair or approximate equivalent weight in 
yearling cattle) per 5.5 acres.  Each management unit will be 
evaluated annually and adjustments in stocking rate and timing 
will be made accordingly.  Haying will be coordinated with tenant 
to maximize benefits to target species. Prescribed fire will be 
planned to suppress cool season, invasive vegetation under 
appropriate environmental conditions and fuel loading and 
conducted during mid-March to mid-April. Prescribed fire will be 
implemented on each management unit on a 4 year return interval.  


 
§ Area – All grassland areas of tract 2010004.  Management units identified 


on Figure A-4.  Prescribed fire units and schedule identified on Figure A-
5. 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


14 
 


§ Timeline – Grazing to occur annually.  Prescribed fire to be implemented 
according to the schedule on Figure A-5.   


 
§ Cost – Prescribed fire costs are estimated at $15-25/ acre. A Request for 


Proposals for prescribed fire services will be released in 2012 and 
following years based on need.  Annual grazing and haying income is 
estimated to be $39,000 for 5 month grazing season (May 15-October 15). 


 
§ Responsibilities - Program staff and consultants will provide grazing 


lease oversight.  Contractors under the supervision of Program staff will 
conduct prescribed burns.  Local NRD burn teams may also be utilized 
when available for prescribed burns. 


 
o Objective 6d – Monitor wet meadow condition including hydrology and 


vegetation species composition.  
 
§ Strategy – The Shoemaker Island Complex contains large wet meadow 


grassland areas.  These grasslands should be monitored to assess effects of 
Program management activities; both to ensure the management activities 
are not adversely affecting current function, and to potentially enable 
restoration of other wet meadow areas on Program lands in other bridge 
segments. 


 
· Methods – Methods will be developed by the Wet Meadow 


Working Group and the TAC as part of experimental design, but 
are likely to include groundwater monitoring wells or staff gages, 
regular intensive vegetation surveys, and documentation of 
management activities including grazing timing and intensity.  


 
§ Area – All grassland areas of tract 2010004.   


 
§ Timeline – Monitoring plan to be developed in 2012.  Monitoring to occur 


annually.   
 


§ Cost – Costs will vary based on exact methods and equipment, and will be 
developed in combination with the monitoring plan. 


 
§ Responsibilities – Program staff will coordinate plan development.  


Monitoring may be carried out by Program staff or contractors under the 
supervision of Program staff.   


 
 


 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


15 
 


Ø Goal 7 – Provide benefits to other species of concern without compromising ability to 
accomplish target species goals and objectives.  


 
o Objective 7a – Monitor Platte River Caddisfly (PRCF) population on property. 


  
§ Strategy – At the September 2011 GC meeting, the GC instructed the ED 


Office that no clearing or management should occur in areas where known 
PRCF populations exist, and asked the ISAC to assess Program 
opportunities and implications with regard to the PRCF.  As such, no tree 
clearing or other management will occur unless the ISAC and GC 
recommend further action.  As with other PRCF populations on Program 
properties, this population will be monitored and documented annually. 


 
§ Area – The current known population of PRCF exists in the southeast 


wooded slough portion of tract 2010004.  A 2011 survey also indicated 
presence of PRCF in the northeast corner of tract 2010004. 
 


§ Timeline – Surveys and reports will be completed annually.  
 


§ Cost – N/A 
 


§ Responsibilities – Program staff are responsible for coordination and 
monitoring.  


 
 


o Objective 7b – Improve habitat for sandhill cranes. 
 
§ Strategy – Sandhill crane habitat needs are similar in nature to whooping 


crane habitat needs.  Sandhill cranes are a Program “other species of 
concern” and will benefit through many habitat improvements made for 
whooping cranes (see goals 5 and 6). 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


16 
 


4. Operations and Maintenance Goals and Objectives 
 


· Goal 8 – Conduct all activities in adherence with the Program’s Good Neighbor Policy. 
 


o Objective 8a – Emphasize the prevention, as opposed to the correction of actions 
that cause adverse effects on adjacent landowners or others. 
 
§ Strategy – Prevention efforts will rely on early coordination with 


Complex landowners to identify and address potential negative effects. 
Conceptual design documents will be used as a baseline for discussion of 
actions and identification of potential effects. 
 
 


o Objective 8b – Quickly identify any problems and ensure needed corrective actions 
can be taken in a timely manner.  
 
§ Strategy – Timely identification of existing or potential problems will 


accomplished through robust monitoring of Program actions. Complex-
specific monitoring protocols will be developed as part of the AM 
experimental designs. Monitoring protocols will include “trigger” values 
or conditions that will serve as indicators of potential problems. 


 
 


o Objective 8c – Provide means to cover documented damage claims resulting from 
the actions of the Program or contractors acting on the Program’s behalf. 


 
§ Strategy – The Program and all consultants and contractors planning 


and/or implementing actions will be required to carry appropriate levels of 
liability insurance. The Program may request that contractors name the 
Program as an additional insured on contractor insurance policies.  


 
 


o Objective 8d – Demonstrate good land stewardship by managing Program lands in 
accordance with sound wildlife management and agricultural practices. 
 
§ Strategy – The Program will identify and include wildlife and agricultural 


management practices in tract-level management plans. Management 
practices will be selected based on their ability to provide benefits to 
species habitat, while being as compatible as possible with 
agricultural/farm management, and with other compatible uses in mind. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


17 
 


IV. MONITORING AND RESEARCH 


A. Baseline Monitoring 
A variety of monitoring activities will be conducted in the Complex area (and nearby non-
complex area) as part of the system-wide investigations conducted under the Integrated 
Monitoring and Research Plan (IMRP). Baseline monitoring efforts include: 


1. Land Cover Analysis 
· Objectives – Document pre-Program land cover conditions. Land cover analysis will be 


performed again near the end of the First Increment to document changes in land cover. 
· Hypotheses Links – S1, S1a 
· Timeline – Pre-Program completed in 2007. Next analysis in 2018. 
· Responsibilities – ED Office   


2. Channel LiDAR Project  
· Objectives – Document channel topography annually. 
· Hypotheses Links – S1, S1a, Flow1, Sediment1-4 
· Timeline – Baseline LiDAR collection completed in March of 2009. Collection to 


continue annually under leaf-off and low flow conditions.  
· Responsibilities – Collection and analysis by contractor under supervision of ED Office. 


3. Aerial Photography 
· Purpose – Document annual channel features and vegetation.  
· Hypotheses Links - TP 5, Sediment 3, WC3 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment per protocol.   
· Responsibilities – Data collection performed by contractors under supervision ED 


Office.  Analysis by ED Office. 


4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring 
· Purpose – System-wide analysis of changes/trends in geomorphology and in-channel 


vegetation over time. Correlate Program actions with changes/trends. Rotating panel 
point 12 is located near the center of the complex.  


· Hypotheses Links – Flow1-5, Sediment1-4 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment.   
· Responsibilities – Monitoring performed by contractors under supervision ED Office.   


5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring 
· Purpose - Document WC use, document LETE and PIPL use, nesting pairs, and fledging 


success. 
· Hypotheses Links – T1, P1, TP1-5, WC1 & 3 
· Timeline – Annual during First Increment.   







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


18 
 


· Responsibilities – Monitoring performed by Program staff and/or contractors or 
cooperators under supervision Program staff.   


6. Species of Interest Surveys 
· Purpose - Document habitat for and use of Program properties by “species of concern” 


or other species of interest.  
· Hypotheses Links – S2 
· Timeline – Following acquisition and later, as appropriate, after restoration.    
· Responsibilities – Coordination by ED Office. Surveys by contractors or agency 


personnel. 
 


B. Research 
Research efforts to be conducted in full or part on this complex under the IMRP include: 


1. LETE and PIPL riverine habitat selection experiment (Goal 2, Objective 2a) 
· Purpose - Refine Program’s understanding of interior LETE and PIPL riverine habitat 


needs and test associated AMP priority hypotheses for each species. 
· Hypotheses Links - S1b,T1, P1, TP4d, TP5 
· Timeline – Design and construction in 2012. Monitoring annually.    
· Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of Program staff (in 


conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) are responsible for design, 
permitting and monitoring. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid. 


2. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 3, Objective 3a) 
· Purpose - Determine LETE and PIPL preference for and productivity on riverine versus 


OCSW nesting habitat. 
· Hypotheses Links - S1b, TP1 
· Timeline – Initial design and construction in 2012. Monitoring annually.    
· Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of Program staff (in 


conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) are responsible for design, 
permitting and monitoring. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid. 


3. FSM experiment (Goal 4, Objective 4a) 
· Purpose - Evaluate the ability of the FSM management strategy to maintain acceptable 


riverine habitat for the target bird species. 
· Hypotheses Links - Flow1, Flow3, Flow4, Flow5 
· Timeline – Design and construction in 2012. Monitoring annually.    
· Responsibilities – Program staff or contractors under the supervision of Program staff (in 


conjunction with the appropriate advisory committees) are responsible for design, 
permitting and monitoring. Construction and maintenance activities will be bid. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


19 
 


V. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE 


A. Section 7 Consultation 


1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover 
Habitat improvement activities occurring in the river channel between April 15 and August 15 
will only be conducted in the absence of nesting least terns and piping plovers.  Program Staff 
will insure that a survey for these species is conducted by qualified individuals (e.g. by Program 
staff, contractor, conservation owner) in the area that will be disturbed within three days prior to 
the initiation of activities.  


2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane 
For habitat restoration and land management activities in or within 0.25 miles of the Platte River 
channel occurring between March 23 and May 10, or October 1 and November 15, construction 
shall only take place from one hour following sunrise to two hours prior to sunset unless 
otherwise approved by the Service’s Coordinator of the Whooping Crane Migration Tracking 
Program.  Program staff will notify the Service when Program habitat restoration work will be 
conducted during the above dates from the Highway #283 and Interstate 80 intersection near 
Lexington, Nebraska downstream to Chapman, Nebraska.  
 
Construction or other work crews working in or within 0.25 miles of the channel during the 
above dates will check channel areas for the presence of whooping cranes prior to starting work 
each day, and report the presence of whooping cranes to Program staff.  When whooping cranes 
are discovered in the Platte River valley, either by the Program monitoring crew or the above 
required check by construction or work crews, or are known to be in the valley through other 
sources, including via notification from the Service’s Coordinator, Program staff will confer with 
the Service and will notify construction crews if it is necessary to temporarily halt construction 
activities.   
 
Construction work should be completed as quickly as possible.  Earth moving equipment will be 
moved from the river channel to an upland site located behind a tree line at the end of each work 
day if such features are available on the property.  In the instance that such features are 
unavailable, equipment should be moved to a position at least 0.25 miles away from the channel.  
 


3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon 
Land management activities will not result in incidental take of pallid sturgeon. 
 
 
 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


20 
 


B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species 
Conservation Act 


The Program will work with the USFWS and NGPC to identify potential impacts to state and 
federal species of concern and address them as part of this document.  Program actions to avoid 
or mitigate potential species impacts not addressed in other portions of Section IV are presented 
below. 


1. Raptors 
The Program will conduct raptor surveys for management activities that may affect active raptor 
nests during the period of February 1 through July 15th. If a nest is discovered, that tree will not 
be removed. 


2. Northern River Otter 
The Program will conduct natal den surveys when performing restoration or management actions 
during the period of February 15 to June 15 that may impact river channel or slough banks where 
natal dens may be present. If natal dens are discovered, the Program will coordinate with the 
NGPC to design appropriate buffers. 


3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid 
Projects that will result in the disturbance of native prairies or wet meadows will be surveyed for 
the presence of Western Prairie Fringed Orchid during the flowering period of June 15 through 
July 7th.  If this species is present, activities will be modified to prevent destruction of existing 
plants. 


4. Platte River Caddisfly 
Surveys for Platte River Caddisfly potential habitat and populations will be conducted on all 
Program properties at the time of acquisition, or during the soonest recommended survey period 
after acquisition. If a population is present on the property and restoration or management 
actions may negatively impact the population, the Program will coordinate with USFWS and 
NGPC to determine appropriate methods to avoid or mitigate impacts. 


5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance 
Surveys for Northern Cordgrass Wet Prairie, Northern Sedge Wet Meadow, and Wet Mesic 
Tallgrass Prairie will be conducted on all Program properties during the soonest recommended 
period after acquisition.  If occurrences are found, the Program will coordinate with the USFWS 
and NGPC to determine appropriate methods to avoid or mitigate negative impacts from 
Program management actions.  Additionally, the Program will investigate opportunities to re-
establish these communities if suitable locations are present. 


6. Regal Fritillary 
The Program will coordinate with the USFWS and NGPC to investigate opportunities to 
establish native violet species (Viola spp.) in native grasslands or grassland restorations to 
provide a host species for the regal fritillary and promote its conservation. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


21 
 


C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act  
Land management that involves burning, cutting or mechanical removal of vegetation (with the 
exception of restoration activities on ground that was previously in agricultural crops) will not 
occur between April 15 and July 15 without first doing surveys to insure that no occupied 
migratory bird nest will be destroyed.  
 


D. Bald Eagle Act 
Eagle nests, if established, will not be disturbed and a 330 foot buffer (no access) or 660 foot 
buffer (non mechanical equipment access area) will be maintained during the bald eagle breeding 
season (March – July).  Known eagle roost trees and trees within 330 feet of a known eagle nest 
will not be removed.  Tree removal within the 660 foot buffer and outside the 330 foot buffer 
will not occur during the bald eagle breeding season. 


E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska 
Department of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification 


Prior to commencement of construction work to be accomplished in wetlands or waters of the 
United States, including dredging or placement of fill material, the Program will obtain a 404 
permit and 401 water quality certification. Work in wetlands or waters of the State that are not 
jurisdictional under the Federal Clean Water Act will still need to comply with the Nebraska 
Department of Environmental Quality’s Title 117. 
 


F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge 
Permit 


All construction work that will disturb an area exceeding 1 acre in size will be required to meet 
the requirements of the Environmental Protection Agency NPDES Construction General Permit. 
This permit includes the development of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan.  The Program 
will submit a Notice of Intent a minimum of seven days before commencement of construction 
activities. 
 


G. County Floodplain Development Permit 
All fill placed within the 100-year floodplain will require a floodplain development permit from 
the county where the work is undertaken. In order to obtain a permit, a project must have No-
Rise certification meaning that it will raise the 100-Year Base Flood Elevation (BFE) by less 
than one foot. 
 


H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance 
Projects will require screening for impacts to cultural resources including historic properties. 
Program properties will be submitted to the State Historic Preservation Office for a cultural 
resources screening at the time of acquisition. 







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


22 
 


I. Good Neighbor Policy 
The Program will comply with local, state, and federal laws, and to the extent permitted by such 
laws will be responsible for its actions to the same extent as a private individual under like 
circumstances.







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 


 
 


APPENDIX A – COMPLEX FIGURES







SHOEMAKER ISLAND COMPLEX
AREA MAP


Date: 01/19/12
By: JDB


Figure A-1


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


1
Miles


±
Legend


Audubon
CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Shoemaker Island Complex


Wood River Bridge


Alda Bridge


Interstate 80
2010004


2011001


2011002







SHOEMAKER ISLAND COMPLEX
HABITAT ACTIVITIES


Date: 01/19/12
By: JDB


Figure A-2


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


0.5
Miles


±
Legend


Island Clearing
Tree Clearing


PRRIP
NGPC
PRWCT
TNC


Interstate 80


2010004







SHOEMAKER ISLAND COMPLEX
Pasture Cleanup &


Cropland Conversion
Date: 1/11/12


By: TRT


Figure A-3


±
Legend


2010004
Pasture Cleanup/Tree Clearing
Cropland Conversion


0.5
Mile







West Pasture - 361 AC


North Pasture - 287 AC


East Pasture - 179 AC


West Haymeadow - 124 AC


Cropfield - 51 AC


South meadow - 57 AC


Hay meadow - 54 AC


Hay meadow 
- 30 AC


Hay meadow
 - 12 AC


SHOEMAKER ISLAND COMPLEX
Management Units


Date: 1/11/12


By: TRT


Figure A-4


±Legend
Mangement Units


0.5
Mile







2014


2012


2013


2015


2016


2012


2016


2011


2013


SHOEMAKER ISLAND COMPLEX
Prescribed Fire Schedule


2011-2016
Date: 1/11/12


By: TRT


Figure A-5


±
Legend


2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016


0.5
Mile







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 


 
 


APPENDIX B – TRACT OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PLANS







PRRIP  06/13/2012 
 


 


 
 


APPENDIX C – COMPLEX ANNUAL WORK PLANS 





		Restoration and Management Plan for Shoemaker Island Complex

		I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

		II. HABITAT COMPLEX DESCRIPTION

		A. Complex Location

		B. Land Interests

		C. Existing Habitat

		1. Complex Habitat

		2. Adjacent or Associated Non-Complex Habitat



		D. Communication, Coordination, and Responsibilities

		1. Program Lands 

		2. Other Conservation Lands

		3. Private Lands





		III. GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY

		A. Complex-Level Goals and Objectives

		1. General Goals and Objectives

		3. Species Habitat Goals and Objectives

		4. Operations and Maintenance Goals and Objectives





		IV. MONITORING AND RESEARCH

		A. Baseline Monitoring

		1. Land Cover Analysis

		2. Channel LiDAR Project 

		3. Aerial Photography

		4. In-Channel Geomorphology and Vegetation Monitoring

		5. Least Tern, Piping Plover and Whooping Crane Monitoring

		6. Species of Interest Surveys



		B. Research

		1. LETE and PIPL riverine habitat selection experiment (Goal 2, Objective 2a)

		2. LETE and PIPL riverine versus OCSW experiment (Goal 3, Objective 3a)

		3. FSM experiment (Goal 4, Objective 4a)





		V. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS, PERMITTING AND COMPLIANCE

		A. Section 7 Consultation

		1. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Least Tern and Piping Plover

		2. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Whooping Crane

		3. Measures to Minimize or Eliminate Take of Pallid Sturgeon



		B. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act and Nebraska Non-game and Endangered Species Conservation Act

		1. Raptors

		2. Northern River Otter

		3. Western Prairie Fringed Orchid

		4. Platte River Caddisfly

		5. Vegetation Communities of Conservation Importance

		6. Regal Fritillary



		C. Migratory Bird Treaty Act 

		D. Bald Eagle Act

		E. United States Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 Permitting and Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality Section 401 Water Quality Certification

		F. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Construction Stormwater Discharge Permit

		G. County Floodplain Development Permit

		H. State Historic Preservation Office Clearance

		I. Good Neighbor Policy



		APPENDIX A – COMPLEX FIGURES

		APPENDIX B – TRACT OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PLANS

		APPENDIX C – COMPLEX ANNUAL WORK PLANS



		SI Complex Figures

		SI Complex Figure A-1

		SI Complex Figure A-2

		SI Complex Figure A-3

		SI Complex Figure A-4

		SI Complex Figure A-5








July 8, 2011 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 


Public Access Policy 


 


Office of the Executive Director 


Kearney, Nebraska 


 


I.  Introduction 
Attachment 4 to the Final Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (PRRIP or Program) states 


that the Program will provide public access to fee title Program lands for recreation and educational 


purposes, when and where it is consistent with Program objectives and land use. This directive 


establishes policy for providing the public with meaningful opportunities to access lands owned in fee 


title by the Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation (PRRIF) in support of the Program.  


II. Authorities 
This policy is approved and enacted by the Governance Committee (GC) of PRRIP on June 15, 2011 and 


incorporated into the policies and procedures of the PRRIP dated 10/24/2006 (Attachment 4 Land Plan 


III.B.2 (Public Access)). 


III. Access Considerations 
Public access to PRRIF fee title lands subordinate to the following considerations: 


1. The ecological and biological considerations of the target species as determined by the  


a. Biological Opinion (BO) of the USFWS 


b. The science and policy of the PRRIP and any other relevant governing bodies. 


2. The Nebraska State law(s) governing recreational liability 


3. The Good Neighbor Policy of the PRRIP 


 


IV. Areas Open to Public Access 
The areas available for public access will be reviewed and approved on an annual basis by the PRRIP 


Land Advisory Committee (LAC) based on the following considerations: 


1. Stated guidelines in the program document 


2. Best available ecological and biological data 


3. Coordination with other program activities 


4. Conflicts arising from non-compatible use 


5. Concern for public safety 


6. Emergent issues related to access 


V. Calendar of Access 







July 8, 2011 


The specific needs of Program target species mandate that certain conditions be met in order to benefit 


species and/or habitat.  To meet these conditions, access will have to be restricted during some parts of 


the calendar year and completely prohibited during parts of the calendar year.   These 


restriction/prohibition dates will be determined by the same rules governing areas of access and subject 


to periodic review. A calendar of public access dates is attached to this document as Appendix A.  


 


VI. Compatible Public Uses 
The public activities (compatible uses) that will be permitted on PRRIF fee title lands will be vetted and 


advanced to the GC from the LAC. Final approval will be done by the GC. Once approved they remain in 


effect until rescinded by the GC. The compatibility of potential public uses will be determined by and 


continually evaluated using the following criteria: 


1. Lawfulness 


2. Compliance with stated Program objectives 


3. Exposure to undue risk and liability 


4. In keeping with neighboring land use 


The list of compatible public uses will be reviewed and approved by the GC annually. A list of compatible 


uses is attached to this document as Appendix B.  


VII. Conditions of Access 
Any individual or group wishing to have access to PRRIF fee title lands may only do so with prior written 


permission from the Executive Directors Office (EDO) of PRRIP or its designate.  Permission is conditional 


provided it is in concert with stated areas of access, dates of access and types of access as outlined 


above.  Permission is also contingent upon the individual/organization being in good standing with the 


Program. Standing will be determined by and at the sole discretion of the EDO (or designate).  The EDO 


(or designate) reserves the right to remove any organization and/or individual at will. All use will be day 


use only with no temporary structures or facilities allowed to remain on the properties. See Appendix C 


for day use guidelines. Guidelines for administration of the Program’s Good Neighbor Policy are 


attached as Appendix D. The Program’s public access rules violation protocol is attached as Appendix E.  







July 8, 2011 


Appendix A – Calendar of Access 


 


 


 


Open:  No additional restrictions beyond those outlined in this access policy. 


 


Limited Access:  Certain properties, or areas of properties, will be closed to public access during this 


time.  These areas will be clearly identified by the EDO (or designate). 


 


No Access:  No public access is allowed during this time. 


Appendix B – List of Compatible Uses 


1. mushroom collecting  
2. deer hunting 
3. fishing 
4. bird watching/hiking 
5. turkey hunting 
6. upland game hunting 
5.7. waterfowl hunting 


 
 
Appendix C – Day Use Guidelines 
 


Plan Ahead and Prepare 


 Get information about the use area property boundaries and restricted use areas from the EDO (or 
designate). 


Formatted: Font: Bold


Formatted: Font: Bold







July 8, 2011 


 Know and abide by the list of approved public uses. 
 Keep the Program access permission document on your person at all times. 


 


Fishing and Hunting 


 If fishing is allowed, clean fish at home. 
 If hunting is allowed, all blinds, stands, and other equipment must be packed in and out of the area 


each day. 
 Field dress large game animals well away from trails, water, and parking areas. 


 


Pack It In, Pack It Out  


 Pack out everything you brought in with you. 
 Be a good steward – pick up any litter you may come across and pack it out as well. 


 


Sanitation 


 Bury human waste in catholes 4-8" deep at least 200 feet from water, trails and parking areas. 
 Cover and disguise the cathole. Do not leave toilet paper on the ground. 


 


Campfires 


 Campfires are not allowed on PRRIF property. 


 


Leave What You Find 


 Leave rocks, plants, and archeological artifacts where you find them. 
 Do not disturb or remove scientific monitoring equipment.  


Appendix D – The Program’s Good Neighbor Policy 


Any and all activities described in this policy are subordinate to the tenants of the Good Neighbor 


Policy as described below (taken from the Program’s Land Plan): 


All activities of the Governance Committee, its committees and subcommittees and other 


persons implementing, operating, and maintaining the Program shall be carried out in such a way 


that the Program will be viewed as a “good neighbor” by the residents of central Nebraska and 


any others who might be affected by Program activities. The Program will comply with 


applicable local, state, and federal laws and to the extent permitted by such laws, will be 







July 8, 2011 


responsible for its actions to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances. 


The following principles shall guide the Program to be a good neighbor.  


 


 The Program will emphasize the prevention, as opposed to the correction, of actions that 


cause adverse effects on adjacent landowners or others. Program representatives will talk 


with neighboring landowners and tenants and others as appropriate, and attempt to document 


pre-existing conditions and carefully monitor the effects of Program activities.  


 


 If, notwithstanding all efforts to avoid causing adverse effects, concerns are raised that such 


effects are nevertheless occurring, the Program will have local representatives readily 


accessible so that the nature and cause of any problem can be quickly determined and needed 


corrective actions can be taken in a timely manner.  


 


 The Program will require its contractors to carry appropriate insurance to cover documented 


damage claims resulting from their actions. The Program will make provisions to cover on a 


case-by case basis other documented damages resulting from unintended consequences of the 


Program.  
 


Appendix E – Public Access Rules Violation Protocol 


All user conflicts shall be settled between individual parties and if not settled amicably will result in both 


parties losing all rights to use of PRRIF lands.  


 


Terms of Use shall be described in permitting documentation. Violation of any of those terms shall result 


in immediate revocation of those permissions.  


 


All Program use of the properties shall supersede any individual permitted access. It will be the 


responsibility of the individual to determine if Program activity is occurring in the permitted area.  


 








JulMay 18, 20112 


 


 AGREEMENT 
 


Between the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 


and The Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 
 


This agreement is made on the date of the last signature, between the Platte River Recovery 


Implementation Foundation (herein referred to as PRRIF); the Nebraska Community Foundation, 


Inc. (herein referred to as NCF), representing all signatories to the Platte River Recovery 


Implementation Program (herein referred to as PRRIF or the Program); and the Nebraska Game 


and Parks Commission (herein referred to as the Commission), each sometimes herein referred to 


singularly as “Party” and collectively as “the Parties”, pursuant to Sections 37-301, 37-304, 


Revised Statutes of Nebraska, 1998, 37-303, Revised Statutes of Nebraska, 2000. 


 


WITNESSETH: 


 


WHEREAS, PRRIF has ownership of tracts of land described in Appendix A which are held for 


benefit of signatories to the Program; 


 


WHEREAS, these tracts create public use value and interest for hunting, fishing and related 


purposes; 


 


WHEREAS, PRRIF and Program therefore desire to enter into an agreement with the 


Commission to provide access by written permission for the lands hereinafter described for the 


purpose of hunting, fishing, and other outdoor recreation on said lands, including assistance from 


the Commission with operation of recreational activity on the lands so specified; 


 


WHEREAS, the Commission and Program desire to utilize said PRRIF lands for purposes of 


hunting, fishing and other outdoor recreation thereupon; 


 


WHEREAS, it has been determined to be the advantage of Program to contract with the 


Commission to implement recreational access on said lands; 


 


NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the premises, covenants and 


conditions, herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 


 


A. The Program Governance Committee or its designated representative and the 


Commission shall take the necessary steps to ensure that this area is accessible to the 


public only for purposes of mushroom harvest, deer hunting, upland game hunting, 


waterfowl hunting, fishing, foot access/bird watching and turkey hunting, under the 


control of the Commission. 


 


B. The Commission shall promulgate specific area regulations mutually agreed upon by 


Program Governance Committee or its designated representative and the Commission; 







JulMay 18, 20112 


the Commission shall enforce state statutes and regulations related to hunting, fishing, 


boating, trapping, and specific area regulations governing administration and use of 


properties on Appendix A as necessary and within legal authority.  


 


C. The Commission shall implement recreational access to these properties under guidelines 


set forth in Appendix B and in accordance with the Program Public Access Policy 


(included herein as Appendix C).  


 


D. The Program shall purchase and the Commission shall place appropriate signs guiding, 


directing and restricting public access and use. 


 


E. The Program and PRRIF retain the right of their respective officers, directors, agents, 


employees and permittees, at all times and places, to have full ingress for passage over 


and egress from all of said lands for the purpose of carrying on the operations of the 


Program and PRRIF. 


 


F. PRRIF expressly permits Commission officers, employees, and representatives to enter 


upon the land and water areas, at any time and for any purpose necessary or convenient in 


connection with management and operation of recreational access on these areas.  


Notwithstanding the foregoing, Commission officers, employees and representatives may 


not enter areas closed to public access by the Program (to be defined on maps), except for 


the protection of Whooping Crane, Piping Plover and Interior Least Tern. 


 


G. PRRIF, NCF and Program shall not be responsible for damages to property or injuries 


which may arise from or be incident to the exercise of the privileges herein granted to 


Commission, or for damages to the person of the Commission’s employees. 


 


H. The Commission shall not be responsible for damage to structures and facilities or for 


damages to the property or injuries to the person of Program employees arising from the 


actions of Program employees. 


 


TERMS AND CONDITIONS 


 


A. This Agreement is for a term from the date last signed through June 30, 20122015.  The 


Agreement can be renewed, extended or amended by written agreement signed by all 


Parties to this Agreement.  Any such renewal is subject to funding availability for the 


Program or the Commission. 


 


B. This Agreement may be terminated by any of the Parties with or without cause upon 30 


days written notice by the Party. If this Agreement is terminated, compensation due 


pursuant to this Agreement will be pro-rated in a mutually acceptable fashion. 


 


C. Any contract amendments shall be made in connection with and at the same time as 


renewal of the Agreement. 


 







JulMay 18, 20112 


D. The Program agrees to open approximately 3,000 acres or more of property that is not 


considered open channel and would therefore be open for access during the tern and 


plover restriction period.  Property to be opened each year will be identified in Appendix 


A to the Agreement. 


 


E. The Commission will develop an online registration program to allow the public to 


register and obtain permission slips for access to identified access areas on all or parts of 


properties identified in Appendix A. 


 


F. The Commission agrees to hire or assign an employee to manage the recreational access 


to these properties and to monitor use to ensure compliance with area regulations.  The 


Commission also agrees to provide additional outdoor access support from staff in its 


wildlife, law enforcement, information and education, and other divisions as needed.   


 


G. The Program agrees to pay the Commission $50,000 annually for management and 


operation of recreational access on these properties.  If, after the first year of the 


agreement, the Program opens at least 7,000 acres that are not considered open channel 


and are therefore open for access during the tern and plover restriction period, this annual 


payment would be reduced to $25,000. 


 


H. Commission will submit an invoice to the Program, with the first payment in the amount 


of 50% of the invoice due within 45 days of the Program’s receipt of the invoice and the 


balance due six months following the Program’s receipt of the invoice. 


 


I. Contact information: 


Commission     


Tim McCoy     


Division Administrator    


Nebraska Game and Parks Commission  


2200 N. 33
rd


 Street    


Lincoln, NE 68503     


Phone: 402 471-5511  


   


NCF 


Diane M. Wilson       


Chief Financial and Administrative Officer  


Nebraska Community Foundation 


PO Box 83107 


Lincoln, NE 68501 


Phone: 402 323-7333      


 


Program 


Dr. Jerry F. Kenny  


Executive Director 







JulMay 18, 20112 


4111 4
th


 Avenue, Suite 6 


Kearney, NE 68845 


Phone: 308 237-5728 


Fax: 308 237-4651 


Email: kennyj@headwaterscorp.com 


 


PRRIF 


Diane M. Wilson 


Executive Director  


Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation 


PO Box 83107 


Lincoln, NE 68501 


Phone: 402 323-7333      


 


       


 


In witness thereof, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement effective as of the day and 


year last signed below. 



mailto:kennyj@headwaterscorp.com





JulMay 18, 20112 


Nebraska Community Foundation 


 


 


___________________________________________                     Date:__________________ 


Diane M. Wilson 


Chief Financial and Administrative Officer 


 


 


Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 


 


By: ________________________________________  Date: __________________                                                    


Printed Name: _______________________________ 


 


 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation 


 


____________________________________________  Date: ___________________ 


Diane M. Wilson 


Executive Director   
  
 


  







JulMay 18, 20112 


Appendix A 


 


     Tract Number    Area 


2008001   455 acres 


2009001   180 acres 


2009003   360 acres 


2009004   330 acres 


2009005   200 acres 


2009006   330 acres 


2009007   350 acres 


2009008   450 acres 


*2010001   565 acres 


**2012001   184 acres 


*2012002   718 acres 


____________________________________________ 


 Total 3,2204,122 acres 


* These two areas will have a pilot trial of waterfowl hunting and upland game hunting during the 2012 


season. Adjustments to subsequent years may occur depending upon the outcome of the pilot year. 


** This area will be added after tree clearing and cleanup needed to make the area safe for public use.  







JulMay 18, 20112 


Appendix B 


Recreational Access for Platte River Recovery Implementation Program Properties 


A. The Commission will develop an on-line registration program to allow the public to register 


with their name, address, and other required information.  Once registered they would be 


able to select from available days to access any available site and get a permission slip that 


is only good for that particular day.   


 The permission slip will include a detailed map of the property showing areas that are 


open at all times and areas that are closed during specific parts of the year.  The slip will 


list all allowable activities for that site and the dates allowed for each activity.  


 The permission slip will include a statement that the individual must have any required 


permits for their intended activity and include a liability waiver stating that the 


Commission, PRRIP, and any associated parties are not responsible for any damage 


while the individual is on the property.  Permission slips will also include a statement 


that the permission slip may be cancelled at any time with notification from the 


Commission.   


 The permission slip will contain a signature line that must be signed by the individual to 


be valid, that signature line states that they have all required permits and have read and 


understand the liability waiver.   


 The permission slip will include a liability waiver and must be signed to be a valid 


permission slip.  The person obtaining and signing the permission slip must be 18 or 


older.  The permission slip will be valid for the person named on the permit and one 


other person age 18 or under.  If the person with the permission slip is not the youth’s 


legal guardian then the guardian will also need to sign the permission slip that includes 


the liability waiver. 


 Permission slips will be available for each day throughout the year where some portion 


of the property is available for use.  The number available for each day will be based on 


the maximum number of acres available at any point during the year.  One permission 


slip for access will be available for every 100 acres and one for any additional acres .  


This means a site of 1 – 100 acres will have 1 permission slip per day, a site of 101 – 200 


acres will have 2 permission slips per day, etc.  Since some sites may have unusual or 


individual concerns these numbers may be adjusted up or down with concurrence of 


Program and Commission staff.  Permission slips will be for the entire property open at 


that time, so everyone with permission slips for a specific day will have access to all 


available ground on that tract.  On large properties the area may be divided along easily 


identifiable lines such as roads or fences and treated as multiple tracts to encourage 


better distribution of recreational use.  Splitting of tracts in this manner will be 


conducted only with approval of both the Program and the Commission.  The number of 


permission slips for any site may be adjusted in the first year or future years with 


approval of both the Program and the Commission. 







JulMay 18, 20112 


 Permission slips for all days other than the November rifle deer season will be issued 


through the Commission program on their website.  To maximize the number of people 


with access to these properties throughout the year an individual will be able to reserve 


and get permission slips for up to five dates, as those dates pass they would be able to 


get more permission slips for any available days.  This means that a person would have a 


maximum of five permission slips for the current or future dates at any given time. 


 Because the rifle deer season will likely have the most interest and the primary areas of 


interest will be closed through November 15 the dates of November 16 through the end 


of the rifle deer season allowing someone to reserve five dates would normally allow a 


handful of hunters to have an entire area to themselves for that season.  Instead of the 


standard reservation system during those dates an application system would be used 


where the hunter sends their name, address, and top 3 sites to NGPC during a specified 


application period.  NGPC will then use those requests to randomly issue permission 


slips through a lottery for the dates during the rifle season. Notice of successful drawing 


will be given to successful applicants and a date will be identified to all applicants to 


clarify the fact that if they have not been given notice of successful drawing by the 


identified date they will know they have not been successful in obtaining a permission 


slip for rifle deer season. 


 Areas may be closed temporarily for construction activities or other concerns.  If this 


occurs anyone that already has a permission slip issued for those dates will be notified 


that the area has been closed and will be notified that the permission slip is no longer 


valid.  Closing of areas in this manner will require approval of the Program and 


notification of the Commission at least two weeks prior to closing so any permission slip 


holders can be notified. 


 The Commission will work with PRRIP to create detailed maps to be provided with the 


permission slips for each area.   


 The Commission will work with PRRIP staff to evaluate the effectiveness of this 


recreational access and PRRIP may make changes as needed with input from 


Commission staff. 


 The Commission will work with PRRIP to develop appropriate signage to mark exterior 


boundaries of property and to mark boundaries that are only accessible for a portion of 


the year.  Signs will contain all necessary information, a contact phone number for the 


Commission, and sign language and placement will meet the standards of Nebraska’s 


hunting by written permission statutes.   


 Signs, posts, and hardware for posting the area and for replacement as needed will be 


provided by PRRIP. 


 The initial posting of the property will be done by both the Commission and PRRIP to 


assure that both are aware of property boundaries and boundaries for areas closed 


during portions of the year.  For areas closed during part of the year the boundary may 


be adjusted and exceed the minimum protection to allow for clearer or more effective 


marking of that boundary.  GIS and GPS will be used to locate the areas required to be 







JulMay 18, 20112 


closed and the final boundary line for creation of the maps to be included with the 


permission slips. 


 An annual calendar for recreational opportunity will be based on a period from July 1 to 


June 30 of the following year.  For the first year of this proposal, access will be available 


by September 15 to allow time for posting of properties and development of the 


permission slip program.  After the first year access will be available on a year-round 


basis for approved activities in approved areas. 


 The Commission will be the primary contact for anyone wanting access to this property 


for the approved activities.  Other recreational permission may be granted with 


concurrence of the Commission and PRRIP. 


 PRRIP will notify the Commission of any construction or other activities scheduled on 


these properties that may have impacts to recreational users. 


 


  







JulMay 18, 20112 


Appendix C 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 


Public Access Policy 


 


Office of the Executive Director 


Kearney, Nebraska 


 


I.  Introduction 
Attachment 4 to the Final Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (PRRIP or Program) states 


that the Program will provide public access to fee title Program lands for recreation and educational 


purposes, when and where it is consistent with Program objectives and land use. This directive 


establishes policy for providing the public with meaningful opportunities to access lands owned in fee 


title by the Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation (PRRIF) in support of the Program.  


II. Authorities 
This policy is approved and enacted by the Governance Committee (GC) of PRRIP on June 15, 2011 and 


incorporated into the policies and procedures of the PRRIP dated 10/24/2006 (Attachment 4 Land Plan 


III.B.2 (Public Access)). 


III. Access Considerations 
Public access to PRRIF fee title lands subordinate to the following considerations: 


1. The ecological and biological considerations of the target species as determined by the  


a. Biological Opinion (BO) of the USFWS 


b. The science and policy of the PRRIP and any other relevant governing bodies. 


2. The Nebraska State law(s) governing recreational liability 


3. The Good Neighbor Policy of the PRRIP 


 


IV. Areas Open to Public Access 
The areas available for public access will be reviewed and approved on an annual basis by the PRRIP 


Land Advisory Committee (LAC) based on the following considerations: 


1. Stated guidelines in the program document 


2. Best available ecological and biological data 


3. Coordination with other program activities 


4. Conflicts arising from non-compatible use 







JulMay 18, 20112 


5. Concern for public safety 


6. Emergent issues related to access 


V. Calendar of Access 
The specific needs of Program target species mandate that certain conditions be met in order to benefit 


species and/or habitat.  To meet these conditions, access will have to be restricted during some parts of 


the calendar year and completely prohibited during parts of the calendar year.   These 


restriction/prohibition dates will be determined by the same rules governing areas of access and subject 


to periodic review. A calendar of public access dates is attached to this document as Appendix A.  


 


VI. Compatible Public Uses 
The public activities (compatible uses) that will be permitted on PRRIF fee title lands will be vetted and 


advanced to the GC from the LAC. Final approval will be done by the GC. Once approved they remain in 


effect until rescinded by the GC. The compatibility of potential public uses will be determined by and 


continually evaluated using the following criteria: 


1. Lawfulness 


2. Compliance with stated Program objectives 


3. Exposure to undue risk and liability 


4. In keeping with neighboring land use 


The list of compatible public uses will be reviewed and approved by the GC annually. A list of compatible 


uses is attached to this document as Appendix B.  


VII. Conditions of Access 
Any individual or group wishing to have access to PRRIF fee title lands may only do so with prior written 


permission from the Executive Directors Office (EDO) of PRRIP or its designate.  Permission is conditional 


provided it is in concert with stated areas of access, dates of access and types of access as outlined 


above.  Permission is also contingent upon the individual/organization being in good standing with the 


Program. Standing will be determined by and at the sole discretion of the EDO (or designate).  The EDO 


(or designate) reserves the right to remove any organization and/or individual at will. All use will be day 


use only with no temporary structures or facilities allowed to remain on the properties. See Appendix C 


for day use guidelines. Guidelines for administration of the Program’s Good Neighbor Policy are 


attached as Appendix D. The Program’s public access rules violation protocol is attached as Appendix E.  







JulMay 18, 20112 


Appendix A – Calendar of Access 


 


 


 


Open:  No additional restrictions beyond those outlined in this access policy. 


 


Limited Access:  Certain properties, or areas of properties, will be closed to public access during this 


time.  These areas will be clearly identified by the EDO (or designate). 


 


No Access:  No public access is allowed during this time. 


Appendix B – List of Compatible Uses 


1. mushroom collecting  
2. deer hunting 
3. fishing 
4. bird watching/hiking 
5. turkey hunting 
6. upland game hunting 
5.7. waterfowl hunting  


 
 
Appendix C – Day Use Guidelines 
 


Plan Ahead and Prepare 


 Get information about the use area property boundaries and restricted use areas from the EDO (or 
designate). 


Formatted: Font: Bold


Formatted: Font: Bold







JulMay 18, 20112 


 Know and abide by the list of approved public uses. 
 Keep the Program access permission document on your person at all times. 


 


Fishing and Hunting 


 If fishing is allowed, clean fish at home. 
 If hunting is allowed, all blinds, stands, and other equipment must be packed in and out of the area 


each day. 
 Field dress large game animals well away from trails, water, and parking areas. 


 


Pack It In, Pack It Out  


 Pack out everything you brought in with you. 
 Be a good steward – pick up any litter you may come across and pack it out as well. 


 


Sanitation 


 Bury human waste in catholes 4-8" deep at least 200 feet from water, trails and parking areas. 
 Cover and disguise the cathole. Do not leave toilet paper on the ground. 


 


Campfires 


 Campfires are not allowed on PRRIF property. 


 


Leave What You Find 


 Leave rocks, plants, and archeological artifacts where you find them. 
 Do not disturb or remove scientific monitoring equipment.  


Appendix D – The Program’s Good Neighbor Policy 


Any and all activities described in this policy are subordinate to the tenants of the Good Neighbor 


Policy as described below (taken from the Program’s Land Plan): 


All activities of the Governance Committee, its committees and subcommittees and other 


persons implementing, operating, and maintaining the Program shall be carried out in such a way 


that the Program will be viewed as a “good neighbor” by the residents of central Nebraska and 


any others who might be affected by Program activities. The Program will comply with 


applicable local, state, and federal laws and to the extent permitted by such laws, will be 







JulMay 18, 20112 


responsible for its actions to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances. 


The following principles shall guide the Program to be a good neighbor.  


 


 The Program will emphasize the prevention, as opposed to the correction, of actions that 


cause adverse effects on adjacent landowners or others. Program representatives will talk 


with neighboring landowners and tenants and others as appropriate, and attempt to document 


pre-existing conditions and carefully monitor the effects of Program activities.  


 


 If, notwithstanding all efforts to avoid causing adverse effects, concerns are raised that such 


effects are nevertheless occurring, the Program will have local representatives readily 


accessible so that the nature and cause of any problem can be quickly determined and needed 


corrective actions can be taken in a timely manner.  


 


 The Program will require its contractors to carry appropriate insurance to cover documented 


damage claims resulting from their actions. The Program will make provisions to cover on a 


case-by case basis other documented damages resulting from unintended consequences of the 


Program.  


 


Appendix E – Public Access Rules Violation Protocol 


All user conflicts shall be settled between individual parties and if not settled amicably will result in both 


parties losing all rights to use of PRRIF lands.  


 


Terms of Use shall be described in permitting documentation. Violation of any of those terms shall result 


in immediate revocation of those permissions.  


 


All Program use of the properties shall supersede any individual permitted access. It will be the 


responsibility of the individual to determine if Program activity is occurring in the permitted area.  


 








Memo: 


To:  Governance Committee - GC 


From:   Land Advisory Committee - LAC 


Date:  May 18, 2012 


 


The motion 


 The LAC recommends to the GC the surplus land identified in 2009008 be sold in the following way: 


 


Offer for sale Tracts A and C as identified in the map to the Nebraska Game and Parks 


Commission as a preferred buyer. If negotiations with NGPC fail to result in a contract within 4 


months of the GC approval the property shall be sold at public auction.  


 


Offer Tract B to Mid Nebraska Aggregate in exchange for southerly access to tract A and 


compensation. If tract A and C are sold to the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission this 


buyer is not willing to sell an easement to tract A. If sale of tracts A and C to NGPC occurs it is 


recommended that this parcel be sold at public auction. 


 


Negotiation principles to be considered are found in Appendix 1 and 2. This transaction is to be 


completed within 36 months and one day from GC approval. The deal may be in cash or real estate 


subject to Governance Committee approval.  


  







 


Details: 


 


Bridge Segment    Minden to Gibbon 


Complex/Non Complex   Non Complex 


 


Tract History  


 Date of Purchase    12-28-2009 filed 12-31-2009 in Buffalo County Records 


Zoning    AG 


 Contracts/Agreements   


running with the land  Annual farm with tenant 


 Major Capital  


Improvements   Fence replacement – tree removal along lines 


 Permitted Uses 


      Mining 


      Irrigation or dry land cropping and harvesting hay 


  


Surplus Land Description Map  Attached 


 


Justification for Surplus   


 The plan was to surplus the east portion of the land from the beginning as approved by the 


GC.  







Appendix 1 
 
Irrigation values table  


 
 Unrestricted 
  Maximum Water Saved  
  Going from Irrigated Corn to Dry Corn 
 Water yield/program yield 
  -29.3 acre foot per year 
 Water value 
  $3,500 per acre foot 
 Land Value Change  
Purchase price was $2,105,150.00 
Appraised value is  $2,153,900.00 Value lost due to water loss $285,500.00 
 
Options 


1 Water gone     2 Water with CPNRD   3 Water kept by PRRIF 
Sell land with no restrictions on water Sell water rights before transfer PRRIF keeps water rights 
Value of Property by appraisal   Value of Property by appraisal Value of Property by appraisal 
      -Value of Property w/o water  - Value of Property w/o water 
Final value  $1,186,927.60  +$3,500 X 29.3 = $102,550.00 Final value $901,427.60 
        
Cost  $0   Cost $182,950   Cost $285,500 
Water credit      0   Water credit      0   Water credit 29.3 X discount  


factor for location in reach 







 
Appendix 2 
 
Open versus Preferred buyer justification 
 


Justification narrative:  
Tract 2009008 was acquired fee simple in 2009 through a willing buyer/seller transaction.  The seller made 
clear their desire to sell the property in total.  The  Governance Committee approved these terms and 
acquired this tract with the understanding that some portion of it would be determined to be ‘surplus’ and 
as such would be disposed of through trade or sale following Program guidelines for disposal within three 
years from the time of acquisition.   
After careful vetting by the subcommittees of the Land Advisory Committee it was determined that the 
areas labeled ‘A’ ‘B’ and ‘C’ in the accompanying map would be first offered for sale to preferred buyers 
based on the conditions described above in the memo.   Tract ‘A’ and ‘C’ would be sold fee simple to the 
Nebraska Game and Parks Commission because of its immediate proximity to the Bassway Strip Wildlife 
Management Area.  As shown on the photo Tract ‘B’ would be offered for sale/trade for consideration of 
developing permanent access from the south to Tract ‘A’ as described above. 


 
Term of offer/sale:  


 Tracts ‘A’ and ‘C’ will be offered to NGPC on a 36 month contract (pending successful negotiations) to 
allow for the buyer to clear internal requirements for land acquisition and get appropriate financing in 
order.   


 Tract ‘B’ will be offered to Mid-Nebraska aggregate (pending successful negotiations) subject to a 
binding agreement concerning southerly access is reached and remaining values are compensated 
fully. 


 
Restrictions of sale:   
 


There are no proposed restrictions of sale based on discussion to date.   The proposed buyer of tracts ‘A’ 
and ‘C’ are likely to manage said tracts in a similar fashion to what PRRIP would and as such any further 
restrictions on deed would be time consuming, costly and superfluous.   At this time, pending fiscal 
evaluation, disposition of irrigation values is recommended to be left to be negotiated between parties.    
Tract ‘B’ is restricted only in the attempt to secure southerly access to tract ‘A’ through a negotiated 
trespass easement.  Southerly access will benefit both land owners and reduce attempts at access from 
the west by a great deal.  If access cannot be secured via this transaction, tract ‘B’ may be rejoined with 
tracts A and C in negotiations.  


 
Value      
    


Program objectives:  
The proposed surplus holds no significant value to the objectives of the program in any of the currently 
defined categories. 
 
Fiscal:  
TBD by appraisal (Purchase price was $2,105,150.00) 


 
Appraised value  







Tract A  
With Irrigation  $1,186,927.60  Without Irrigation $  901,427.60 
Tract C   $      48,800.00     $    48,800.00 
 
Tract B   $      58,600.00     $    58,600.00 


 
Total   $1,294,327.60     $1,008,827.60 
 
Portion kept by PRRIF $   859,572.40 
Total Appraised Value $2,153,900.00 


 











 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE MEMORANDUM   
 


 


TO: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 


FROM: EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S OFFICE 


SUBJECT: TRACT 1210 EVALUATION SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION 


DATE: JUNE 5, 2012 


CC: LAND ADVISORY COMMITTEE 


 


I. REQUESTED GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ACTION 
The Land Advisory Committee (LAC) requests that the Governance Committee (GC) approve the 
initiation of formal negotiations for acquisition of tract 1210.  The LAC also requests that the GC assign 
the negotiations to the Executive Director’s Office and provide the Executive Director with instruction on 
acceptable acquisition terms.    


II. LAC RECOMMENDATION 
On April 24, 2012 the LAC voted to accept the evaluation team's recommendation and forward tract 1210 
to the GC with a recommendation to continue with appraisal and negotiations.  Tract 1210 is being 
pursued as complex habitat. 


III. TRACT DESCRIPTION 
Tract 1210 is approximately 242 acres in size and is located in Sections 6 and 7, T-9N, R-10W (Figure A-
1).  The tract is located in the Alda to Grand Island bridge segment, across the river from a portion of The 
Crane Trust’s main holdings (Figure A-2).   


IV.  HABITAT CONSIDERATIONS 
The evaluation team recommends that the entire tract be considered as habitat complex acres.  Tract 1210 
provides wet meadow grassland habitat and quality river channel habitat with little necessary restoration 
efforts.  It is located partially adjacent to Crane Trust land on the opposite side of the river, and in a reach 
of river that has been mechanically maintained for a number of years. 


 







TRACT 1210
BOUNDARY MAP


Date: 04/16/12
By: JDB


Figure A-1


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


0.25
Miles


±
Legend


Tract 1210 Audubon
CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Tract 1210
Approx. 242 Ac.







TRACT 1210
LOCATION MAP


Date: 04/16/12
By: JDB


Figure A-2
1


Miles
±


Legend
Tract 1210 Audubon


CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


Interstate 80


Grand Island/Hwy 281 Exit


Tract 1210


Alda Exit





		Tract 1210 Evaluation Summary

		I. REQUESTED GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ACTION

		II. LAC RECOMMENDATION

		III. TRACT DESCRIPTION

		IV.  HABITAT CONSIDERATIONS



		1210 Figure A-1

		1210 Figure A-2






PRRIP – ED OFFICE MEMORANDUM   
 


 


TO: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 


FROM: EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S OFFICE 


SUBJECT: TRACT 1114 EVALUATION SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION 


DATE: JUNE 5, 2012 


CC: LAND ADVISORY COMMITTEE 


 


I. REQUESTED GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ACTION 
The Land Advisory Committee (LAC) requests that the Governance Committee (GC) approve the 
initiation of formal negotiations for acquisition of tract 1114.  The LAC also requests that the GC assign 
the negotiations to the Executive Director’s Office and provide the Executive Director with instruction on 
acceptable acquisition terms.    


II. LAC RECOMMENDATION 
On April 24, 2012 the LAC voted to accept the evaluation team's recommendation and forward tract 1114 
to the GC with a recommendation to continue with appraisal and negotiations.  Tract 1114 is being 
pursued as non-complex habitat. 


III. TRACT DESCRIPTION 
Tract 1114 is approximately 152 acres in size and is located in Section 32, T-9N, R-19W (Figure A-1).  
The tract is located in the Overton to Elm Creek bridge segment approximately one mile north of the main 
channel of the Platte River.   


IV.  HABITAT CONSIDERATIONS 
The evaluation team recommends that the entire tract be considered as non-complex acres.  Tract 1114 
provides existing palustrine wetland habitat, buffered by cropland, with potential for some expansion.  
Restoration activities could include clearing of scattered woody vegetation from the wetland area, seeding 
the buffer area to native prairie grasses, and removal of a dilapidated barn building on the west boundary.  
If necessary, some improvements to the hydrology of the site could be pursued through modifications of 
the cropfield drainage system and an on-site irrigation reuse pit by redirecting water towards the wetland.  
This tract also includes 51.82 NRD certified irrigated acres. 


 







TRACT 1114
BOUNDARY MAP


Date: 04/16/12
By: JDB


Figure A-1


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


0.1
Miles


±
Legend


Tract 1114 Audubon
CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Tract 1114
Approx. 152 Ac.







TRACT 1114
LOCATION MAP


Date: 04/16/12
By: JDB


Figure A-2
1


Miles
±


Legend
Tract 1114 Audubon


CNPPID
NGPC
NPPD


PRRIP
PRWCT
TNC
Wyoming


Base Layer:  June 2011 PRRIP Aerial Imagery


Interstate 80 Elm Creek Exit


Tract 1114


Overton Exit


Overton


Elm Creek





		Tract 1114 Evaluation Summary

		I. REQUESTED GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ACTION

		II. LAC RECOMMENDATION

		III. TRACT DESCRIPTION

		IV.  HABITAT CONSIDERATIONS



		1114 Figure A-1

		1114 Figure A-2






Memo 


To:  LAC Committee 


From:  Bruce Sackett, Land Specialist Executive Directors Office 


Date:  April 18, 2012 


Re:  2009008 Broadfoot East Pit Pumping Royalty Contract Extension 


 


Broadfoot Sand and Gravel has asked for an extension of the three year royalty 


agreement now entering into the third year. A copy of the agreement is attached. 


Pictures from the year 2010 and 2011 are posted on the website to allow everyone to 


see the progress of this off channel sand and water non-complex area.  


 


The Program will continue to receive an annual royalty for the material removed. All 


other terms of the agreement will remain in place. We have discussed shallow 


dredging of the remaining portion of land in order to complete more finished habitat 


sooner and allow for more opportunity to see nests formed and chicks reared on the 


area.  


 


Staff recommends a rolling three year extension to allow Broadfoot to plan ahead for 


mining operation to match with the timing of shallow dredging. Discussions are in 


the works to determine that projected completion date.  


 


The final design of the remaining mined out area is a long east to west peninsula with 


a narrow access opening at the east end. The outline of the flood irrigated field is the 


designed end point of mining. All land north and east of the flood irrigated field is 


presently being considered for sale by the program in the immediate future. As the 


mining is completed and the operation finishes we plan to fence this area similar to 


the west pit. A road will allow for access around the pit and only program staff or 


contractors will be allowed to access the site.







 
  







 





